
P.T.O. 
 

 
www.staffsmoorlands.gov .uk 

Moorlands House, Stockwell Street, Leek, Staffordshire Moorlands, ST13 6HQ.  Tel:  0345 605 3010 

 

  

 

AGENDA 
for a 

MEETING OF THE CABINET 
Tuesday, 14 February 2023 at 11.00 am  

 Council Chamber, Moorlands House, Leek, ST13 6HQ 
 

Contact Officer: Linden Vernon Email: linden.vernon@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk 
or Tel: 01538 395613 

 
 

Membership 

Councillors:-  

 P. Roberts 
M. Deaville 
J. Aberley 

K. Flunder 
J. Porter 

S. Scalise 
R. Ward 
M. Worthington 

Leader of the Council (Chair) 
Leisure and Sports (Deputy Leader) 
Customer Services 

Tourism 
Climate Change 

Environment 
Communities 
Finance 

 
 

Reports enclosed unless noted otherwise. 
 

1. Apologies  

2. Minutes of the previous meeting (previously circulated) (Pages 5 - 8) 

3. Urgent items of Business, if any (24 hours notice to be provided to the Chairman)  

4. Declarations of Interest, if any  

 1. Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 
2. Other Interests 

5. Matters referred by an Overview and Scrutiny Panel, if any  

You can view the agenda 
online by using a smart 
phone camera and 

scanning the code below: 

 

Public Document Pack



 
 

A G E N D A  (Continued) 
 

 

6. Items requested by Cabinet and/or Non-Cabinet Members in accordance with 
Cabinet Procedure Rules 8.5(b) and (e), if any  

7. Reports of Monitoring Officer and/or Chief Finance Officer, if any  

8. Leader  

8 .1 Forward Plan (Pages 9 - 12) 

8 .2 Developer Contributions Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) (Pages 

13 - 96) 

8 .3 Checkley Neighbourhood Development Plan - Regulation 15 Submission 
(Pages 97 - 220) 

9. Climate Change  

9 .1 Climate Change Six Monthly Update (Pages 221 - 256) 

10. Communities  

10 .1 Empty Property Strategy Update (Pages 257 - 316) 

11. Customer Services  

11 .1 EV Charge Strategy (Pages 317 - 402) 

12. Finance  

12 .1 Revised Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme (Pages 403 - 430) 

12 .2 Council Tax Support Fund 2023-24 (Pages 431 - 434) 

12 .3 Third Quarter Financial, Procurement and Performance Review 2022/23 
(Pages 435 - 478) 

12 .4 2023/24 Budget & Medium Term Financial Plan 2023/24 to 2026/27 (Pages 
479 - 574) 

13. Tourism  

13 .1 Tourism Strategy (Pages 575 - 776) 

14. Exclusion of the Press and Public  

 The Chair to Move:- 
 

“That, pursuant to Section 100A(2) and (4) of the Local Government Act, 
1972, the public be excluded from the meeting in view of the nature of the 

business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings whereby it is likely 
that confidential information as defined in Section 100A (3) of the Act would 

be disclosed to the public in breach of the obligation of confidence or exempt 
information as defined in Section 100 I (1) of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the 
Act would be disclosed to the public by virtue of the Paragraphs indicated.” 

15. Leisure and Sports  

15 .1 Leisure Facilities Improvement Plan and Operating Model Proposals (Pages 

777 - 800) 



 
 

A G E N D A  (Continued) 
 

 

 (Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of 
any particular person (including the authority holding that information) 
) 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

CABINET DECISIONS 
 

TUESDAY, 6 DECEMBER 2022 
 

PRESENT: Councillor P Roberts (Chair)   

 
 Councillors J Aberley, M Deaville, K Flunder, J Porter, S Scalise, 

R Ward and M Worthington 
 
IN ATTEDNANCE: Councillors T Holmes and l Swindlehurst 

 
 

34 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING (PREVIOUSLY CIRCULATED) 
 
DECISION: 

 
That the minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 4 October 2022 be approved 

as a correct record. 
 

35 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST, IF ANY 

 

There were no declarations of interest made. 

 
36 FORWARD PLAN 

 

DECISION: 
 

That the Forward Plan be approved for publication. 
 

37 CONSULTATION AND ENGAGEMENT POLICY 

 

The report proposed a revised approach to conducting consultation and engagement 

across the Council following feedback from the Local Government Association’s 
Corporate Peer Challenge. The report was considered by the Resources Overview 
and Scrutiny Panel on 23 November 2022. 

 

Options considered: 
 

 That the Cabinet approves the proposed focus for corporate consultation and the 

revised Consultation and Engagement Policy (recommended). 
 

 That the Cabinet does not approve the proposed focus for corporate consultation 
and the revised Consultation and Engagement Policy (not recommended). 

 
DECISION:  
 

That the Consultation and Engagement Policy and the proposals made at section 8 
of the report with regards to the conduct of a Residents’ Survey be approved. 

 
 
 

 Page 5

Agenda Item 2



Cabinet - 6 December 2022 
 

38 SECOND QUARTER FINANCIAL, PROCUREMENT AND PERFORMANCE 
REVIEW 2022/23 

 

The purpose of the report was to inform members of the Council’s overall 
performance and financial position for the period ended 30th September (“Second 

Quarter 2022/23”).  The report was considered by the Resources Overview and 
Scrutiny Panel on 23 November 2022. 

 

Options considered: 
 

Detailed analysis was contained within the main body of the report. 

 
DECISION:  
 

That the Second Quarter 2022/23 financial, procurement and performance position 
detailed in Appendices A, B and C and summarised at 3.3 of the covering report be 

noted. 
 

39 UPDATED MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 2023/24 TO 2026/27 

 

The report presented the Council’s updated draft Medium Term Financial Plan 

(MTFP). The MTFP presented the Council’s priorities in the context of the likely 
resources available, providing a financial context to future decision-making. It was 
reflective of the current financial position of the Council part way through the 2022-

23 year and contained a large number of assumptions that would be refined and 
quantified to inform a final version of the MTFP for approval in February 2023. To 

this extent, the report and its contents should be considered indicative.  The report 
was considered by the Resources Overview and Scrutiny Panel on 23 November 
2022. 

 

Options considered: 
 

There were no options to consider at this stage. Options were being developed and 

would be refined to close the financial deficits highlighted in the updated plan. 
 
DECISION:  
 

That the updated draft Medium Term Financial Plan (Appendix A) be approved prior 

to being refined in advance of full approval in February 2023.  
 

40 COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION SCHEME 
 

The purpose of the report was to recommend that the Council approves the 

implementation of a revised Council Tax Reduction Scheme with effect from 1st April 
2023. 

 

Options considered: 
 

The alternative to introducing a new scheme for Council Tax Reduction from 

2023/24 was to leave the existing scheme in place. This would be a short-term 
option; lead to continuation of increasing costs of administration; and in the longer 

term, significantly affect the collection of Council Tax and the effectiveness of the 
scheme to support households within the Council’s area. If the existing scheme 
remained our proposal would be to remove the calculation letter that accompanies Page 6



Cabinet - 6 December 2022 
 

the bill currently and set a monetary limit on the changes to Universal Credit reported 
by the DWP, so that there were fewer changes to Local Council Tax Reduction. In 

addition we would allow using the amount of Income advised by DWP without any 
adjustment, in order to aid automation and increase the allowable time for 
backdating where good cause is shown to 6 months. 

 
It was proposed that the £6,000 capital limit be reviewed and possibly increased to 

£10,000 to minimise the number of people that may receive a reduced level of 
assistance. 
 
DECISION:  
 

That the introduction of  a new income banded / grid scheme for working age 
applicants with effect from 1st April 2023 to reduce the administrative burden placed 
on the Council by the introduction of Universal Credit and to increase the overall 

level of support for the lowest income families be approved, subject to the conduct of 
a review of the £6,000 capital limit with view to this being raised potentially to 

£10,000. 
 

41 EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC 

 
RESOLVED: 

 
That, pursuant to Section 100A(2) and (4) of the Local Government Act, 1972, the 
public be excluded from the meeting in view of the nature of the business to be 

transacted or the nature of the proceedings whereby it is likely that confidential 
information as defined in Section 100A (3) of the Act would be disclosed to the public 

in breach of the obligation of confidence or exempt information as defined in Section 
100 I (1)  of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act would be disclosed to the public by 
virtue of the Paragraphs indicated. 

 
42 APPLICATION FOR WRITE OFF OF NON-RECOVERABLE DEBTS 

 

That Cabinet approved a report that proposed the write off of non-recoverable debts. 
 

 
The meeting closed at 11.20 am 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

_________________________________Chairman  

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

CABINET FORWARD PLAN  
 

February - April 2023 
 
The Forward Plan is a list of decisions the Council’s Cabinet intends to take shortly. 
Some of these decisions are known as ‘Key Decisions.’  The Plan is updated and 
published 28 days before each meeting of the Cabinet and is available, together with all 
public reports referred to, from our website www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk and offices, 
Moorlands House, Stockwell Street, Leek, Staffordshire Moorlands, ST13 6HQ.  Should 
you have any questions regarding these documents please contact the Council’s 
Democratic Services Team via our website . 
 
A key decision is one defined as: 
 

"One likely to result in expenditure or savings which are significant having regard 
to the Council's budget for the service or function to which the decision relates." 

 
 OR 
 

"To be significant in terms of its effect on communities living or working in an 
area comprising two or more District Wards." 

 
Documents relating to matters listed, and which are open to the public, will be available 
five working days before the date of the meeting by visiting the Council’s website 
www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk.  They are also available from our offices – Moorlands 
House, Stockwell Street, Leek Staffordshire Moorlands, ST13 6HQ. Other documents 
relevant to decisions to be taken may be submitted to the decision maker. 
 
Meetings of the Cabinet are held in public.  However, occasionally, some meetings, or 
part of meetings, may need to be held in private due to the content of the reports to be 
discussed (e.g. commercially sensitive or personal information).  This document 
indicates which reports and dates of meetings where this will apply and the reason for 
this.  
 
Five days before a private meeting takes place the Council will publish a further notice of 
its intention to hold a meeting in private.  This will again state why this is necessary and 
give the details of any representations received about why the meeting should be open 
to the public.  This will also include a statement of the Council’s response to any such 
representations. 

 

 

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 8.1

http://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/
http://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/


2 
 

Matter for 
decision 

Key 
decision to 
be made on 

behalf of 
the Council 

Decision 
maker 

Expected 
issue date by 

Relevant 
Portfolio 
Holder 

Relevant 
Overview & 

Scrutiny 
Panel 

 

Documents 
submitted to the 

decision taker for 
consideration 

 

Public/Private 
Report 

Budget and 
Medium Term 

Financial Plan 

No The Cabinet 14 February 
2023 

Cllr Worthington Resources Report of the Executive 
Director (Finance and 

Customer Service) 

Public 

Third Quarter 
Financial, 
Procurement and 

Performance 
Review 2022/23 

Yes The Cabinet 14 February 
2023 

Cllr Worthington Resources Report of the Executive 
Director – Finance and 
Customer Service 

Public 

Climate Change 
Annual Update 

Yes The Cabinet 14 February 
2023 

Cllr Porter Community Report of the Executive 
Director (Place) 

Public 

EV Charge 

Strategy 

Yes The Cabinet 14 February 

2023 

Cllr Aberley Service 

Delivery 

Report of the Executive 

Director (Place) 

Public 

Developer 
Contributions SPD 

Yes The Cabinet 14 February 
2023 

Cllr Roberts and 
Cllr Deaville 

Service 
Delivery 

Report of the Executive 
Director (Place) 

Public 

Checkley 
Neighbourhood 

Development Plan - 
Regulation 15 
Submission 

No The Cabinet 14 February 
2023 

Cllr Roberts  Service 
Delivery 

Report of the Executive 
Director (Place) 

Public 

Tourism Strategy Yes The Cabinet 14 February 
2023 

Cllr Flunder Service 
Delivery 

Report of the Executive 
Director (Place) 

Public 

Empty Property 

Strategy Update 

Yes The Cabinet 14 February 

2023 

Cllr Ward Resources Report of the Executive 

Director (Finance and 
Customer Service) 

Public 

Council Tax 
Support Fund 

2023-24 

Yes The Cabinet 14 February 
2023 

Cllr Worthington Resources Report of the Executive 
Director (Finance and 

Customer Service) 

Public 

Revised Local 
Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme 

Yes The Cabinet 14 February 
2023 

Cllr Worthington Resources Report of the Executive 
Director (Finance and 
Customer Service) 

Public 

P
age 10



3 
 

Matter for 
decision 

Key 
decision to 
be made on 

behalf of 
the Council 

Decision 
maker 

Expected 
issue date by 

Relevant 
Portfolio 
Holder 

Relevant 
Overview & 

Scrutiny 
Panel 

 

Documents 
submitted to the 

decision taker for 
consideration 

 

Public/Private 
Report 

Leisure 
Transformation 

Plan 

Yes The Cabinet 14 February 
2023 

Cllr Deaville Service 
Delivery 

Report of the Executive 
Director (Governance 

and Commissioning) 

Private - Information 
relating to the 

financial or business 
affairs of any 
particular person 

Refresh of 

Communications 
Strategy 

Yes The Cabinet 28 March 2023 Cllr Roberts Resources Report of the Executive 

Director (Governance 
and Commissioning) 

Public 

SMDC Homeless 
Review & Strategy 

Yes The Cabinet 28 March 2023 Cllr Ward Service 
Delivery 

Report of the Executive 
Director (Finance and 

Customer Service) 

Public 

Renters Reform Bill Yes The Cabinet 28 March 2023 Cllr Ward Service 
Delivery 

Report of the Executive 
Director (Finance and 
Customer Service) 

Public 

Council Tax & 

Business Rates 
Relief, Reductions 
and Levies Policy 

Yes The Cabinet 28 March 2023 Cllr Worthington Resources Report of the Executive 

Director (Finance and 
Customer Service) 

Public 

Annual Report Yes The Cabinet 28 March 2023 Cllr Roberts Resources Report of the Chief 

Executive 

Public 

 

 

P
age 11



T
his page is intentionally left blank



  

 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Cabinet 
 

14 February 2023 
 

 

TITLE: 
 

Developer Contributions Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD) 

 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 

 
Councillor Paul Roberts – Leader 
and Councillor Mark Deaville – Deputy 

Leader  
 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

 

Holly Jones – Planning Policy Advisor 
 
WARDS INVOLVED: 

 

 
All wards outside of the Peak District 

National Park  

 

 
Appendices Attached: 
 

Appendix 1 – Draft Developer Contributions Supplementary Planning 
Document (SPD).  
 

Appendix 2 – Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) Screening Report  
 

Appendix 3 - Issues and Options Consultation Statement 

 
 
1. Reason for the Report 
 

1.1 To notify Councillors of the draft Developer Contributions Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD) and plans for public consultation. Feedback on the 
document and plans for consultation is also sought.   

 
2. Recommendation 

2.1 That Cabinet notes the findings of the consultation report and Strategic 
Environmental Assessment Screening Report. 

 

2.2 That Cabinet approves the Supplementary Planning Document and Strategic 

Environmental Assessment Screening Report for public consultation for a 
period of four weeks in May/June 2023. 

 
2.3 That Cabinet authorises the Head of Planning, in association with the Leader 

of the Council, to correct any spelling, grammatical, typological or factual 

errors in the SPD or SEA Screening Report. 
 

 

Page 13

Agenda Item 8.2



  

3. Executive Summary 

 
3.1 Policy SS12 in the adopted Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan (2020) 

identifies the need for a Developer Contributions SPD to provide guidance for 
affordable housing, open space, education, health and other forms of 

infrastructure required to address the impact of development and how 
contributions will be calculated. The SPD will provide the Council with a 
stronger basis to seek developer contributions and will provide officers, 

councillors and developers with clear guidance.  
 

3.2 The Council has appointed consultants, Capita, to assist with the preparation 
of the SPD.  As part of the initial work undertaken, stakeholder engagement 
was carried out with key service areas across the Council including 

Development Management, Legal, Regeneration, Service Commissioning and 
Staffordshire County Council. This led to a first stage consultation between 

24th February and 7th April 2022 where a number of issues and options were 
identified for consideration. A summary of the responses received and how 
these have been taken into account in the draft SPD can be seen in Appendix 

3. 
 

3.3 The draft Developer Contributions SPD sets out details regarding the Council’s 
approach to planning obligations and the types of contributions that will be 
required. A full copy of the draft SPD is attached as Appendix 1. 

 
3.4 It is now proposed to consult on the draft SPD in line with the Regulations and 

the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement for a period of four weeks. 

Details regarding the extent of the consultation are set out in the report below. 
Following a review of responses to the consultation, the Council will then be 

able to consider the adoption of the SPD. The document will become a 
material consideration to relevant planning applications.   

 

 
4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  

 

4.1 The Developer Contributions SPD links to the following corporate key 
priorities: 

 Aim 1: To help create a safer and heathier environment for our 
communities to live and work. Key objectives include an increased supply 

of good quality affordable homes and provision of sports facilities and 
leisure opportunities focused upon improving health. 

 Aim 2: To use resources effectively and provide value for money. A key 
objective is effective use of financial and other resources to ensure value 
for money. 

 Aim 3: To help create a strong economy by supporting further regeneration 
of towns and villages.  

 Aim 4: To protect and improve the environment and respond to the climate 
emergency. Key objectives include meeting the challenges of climate 

change and the provision of quality parks and open spaces. 
  

 
5. Alternative Options 

Page 14



  

 
5.1 The report does not seek a decision from the Delivery Overview & Scrutiny 

Panel. As such, there are no alternative options to consider. 

 
 

 
 
6. Implications 

 
6.1

  

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 

 
None direct. 
 

6.2 Workforce 
 

Officer time allocated towards the preparation and publication of 
the SPD. 
 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 
 

An Equalities Impact Assessment has been completed for this 
project. 
 

6.4 Financial Considerations 
 
The SPD will provide the Council with a stronger basis to seek 

developer contributions. The Council is required to annually publish 
an Infrastructure Funding Statement (IFS) which sets out annual 

income and expenditure relating to developer contributions in 
Staffordshire Moorlands secured through S106 agreements. The 
2020/21 statement can be found as follows:  

https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/media/7049/Staffs-Moorlands-
Infrastructure-Funding-Statement-2020-

21/pdf/Staffs_Moorlands_Infrastructure_Funding_Statement_2020-
21_final.pdf?m=1640005585767 
 

6.5 Legal 
 
The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 makes provision 
for the preparation of Supplementary Planning Documents. 

 

Regulations 11 to 16 of the Town and Country Planning (Local 
Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 set out the procedural 

requirements for their preparation and adoption.  

 

6.6 Climate Change 
 

Policy SD2 of the Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan provides 
support for renewable and low-carbon energy and Policy SD3 
supports further carbon-saving or water-saving measures in both 

new and existing developments. 

Page 15

https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/media/7049/Staffs-Moorlands-Infrastructure-Funding-Statement-2020-21/pdf/Staffs_Moorlands_Infrastructure_Funding_Statement_2020-21_final.pdf?m=1640005585767
https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/media/7049/Staffs-Moorlands-Infrastructure-Funding-Statement-2020-21/pdf/Staffs_Moorlands_Infrastructure_Funding_Statement_2020-21_final.pdf?m=1640005585767
https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/media/7049/Staffs-Moorlands-Infrastructure-Funding-Statement-2020-21/pdf/Staffs_Moorlands_Infrastructure_Funding_Statement_2020-21_final.pdf?m=1640005585767
https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/media/7049/Staffs-Moorlands-Infrastructure-Funding-Statement-2020-21/pdf/Staffs_Moorlands_Infrastructure_Funding_Statement_2020-21_final.pdf?m=1640005585767


  

 
6.7 
 

Consultation 
 

A period of public consultation is proposed in accordance with the 
Council’s Statement of Community Involvement. 

 
6.8 
 

Risk Assessment 
 

S106 contributions are likely to withdrawn by Government as the 
Planning White Paper proposed to abolish the current method of 

securing contributions and replacing it with an “Infrastructure Levy”. 
However, planning reforms at a national level are likely to take 
several years and in the meantime, Government has made it clear 

that LPAs should not pause plan making. The SPD will reflect the 
adopted Local Plan.  

 
The SPD will provide the Council with a stronger basis to seek 
developer contributions and will provide officers, councillors and 

developers with clear guidance. 
 

 
 

Neil W. Rodgers 
Executive Director (Place) 

 
Web Links and 

Background Papers 

Contact details 

Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan –  

https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/media/6155/Adopted-
Local-
Plan/pdf/Adopted_Local_Plan.pdf?m=1601645140880  

 
Staffordshire Moorlands Statement of Community 
Involvement –  

https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/media/357/Statement
-of-Community-Involvement-April-
2016/pdf/SMDC_FINAL_SCI_ADOPTED_13TH_APRIL_2

016.pdf?m=1476799364180 
 
The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) 

(England) Regulations 2012 –  
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/part/5/made 
 

Holly Jones  

Planning Policy Advisor 
holly.jones@highpeak.gov.uk 
 

 
 
7. Detail 

 

7.1 Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) can be prepared by local 

planning authorities to provide guidance to developers, land owners, planning 
agents and the Council on specific planning policies. SPDs are capable of 
being material considerations in the determination of planning applications but 

they do not form part of the statutory development plan. As such, they cannot 
be used to introduce new policies. Outside of the Peak District National Park, 

the statutory development plan in Staffordshire Moorlands consists of the 

Page 16

https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/media/6155/Adopted-Local-Plan/pdf/Adopted_Local_Plan.pdf?m=1601645140880
https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/media/6155/Adopted-Local-Plan/pdf/Adopted_Local_Plan.pdf?m=1601645140880
https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/media/6155/Adopted-Local-Plan/pdf/Adopted_Local_Plan.pdf?m=1601645140880
https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/media/357/Statement-of-Community-Involvement-April-2016/pdf/SMDC_FINAL_SCI_ADOPTED_13TH_APRIL_2016.pdf?m=1476799364180
https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/media/357/Statement-of-Community-Involvement-April-2016/pdf/SMDC_FINAL_SCI_ADOPTED_13TH_APRIL_2016.pdf?m=1476799364180
https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/media/357/Statement-of-Community-Involvement-April-2016/pdf/SMDC_FINAL_SCI_ADOPTED_13TH_APRIL_2016.pdf?m=1476799364180
https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/media/357/Statement-of-Community-Involvement-April-2016/pdf/SMDC_FINAL_SCI_ADOPTED_13TH_APRIL_2016.pdf?m=1476799364180
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/767/part/5/made


  

adopted Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan (2020), the Leekfrith 
Neighbourhood Plan and the minerals and waste plans prepared by 
Staffordshire County Council. 

 
7.2 The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 

set out the requirements for the preparation of SPDs. The National Planning 
Policy Framework and associated guidance acknowledge the role of SPDs in 
providing further guidance for local policies. Regulation 8 (3) states that; “Any 

policies contained in a supplementary planning document must not conflict 
with the adopted development plan”. It is also made clear in the national 

planning practice guidance that SPDs should not add unnecessarily to the 
financial burdens on development. 

 

7.3 SMDC adopted the Local Plan in September 2020. The Local Plan sets out 
the Spatial Strategy, development requirements, site allocations and 

development management policies for the period 2014 to 2033. The plan 
proposes 6,080 new homes and 27ha of employment land over the plan 
period and sets out how it will be distributed between the towns and rural 

areas.   
 

7.4 Policy SS12 in the adopted Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan identifies the 
need for a Developer Contributions SPD to provide guidance for affordable 
housing, open space, education, health and other forms of infrastructure 

required to address the impact of development and how contributions will be 
calculated. The SPD will provide the Council with a stronger basis to seek 
developer contributions and will provide officers, councillors and developers 

with clear guidance. 
 

Consultation on Issues and Options 
 
7.5 The Council has appointed Capita to assist with the preparation of a draft  

SPD.  As part of the initial work undertaken, a series of stakeholder 
engagement was carried out with key service areas across the Council 

including Development Management, Legal, Regeneration, Service 
Commissioning and Staffordshire County Council.  This led to a first stage 
consultation where a number of issues and options were identified for 

consideration and inclusion within the SPD and a consultation event was 
undertaken between 24th February and 7th April 2022.   

 
7.6 Twenty-four responses were received to the issues and options consultation 

which included statutory consultees, developers and members of the public. 

Some comments were submitted by email or letter and other respondents 
utilised the questionnaire which was designed for the consultation. A summary 

of the responses received and how these have been taken into account in the 
draft SPD can be seen in Appendix 3.  

 

Draft Developer Contributions SPD 
 

7.7  The draft Developer Contributions SPD sets out what will be required to 
mitigate or manage the impact of new developments and the financial 
contributions provided by developers to pay for infrastructure to meet the 

Page 17



  

needs of their development. A full copy of the draft SPD is attached as 
Appendix 1.  

 

7.8 The draft SPD sets out the background in terms of legislation, national and 
local planning policy. It provides details of the Council’s approach to developer 

contributions such as: 

 trigger points for payments; 

 how contributions will be index linked over time; 

 viability issues;  

 monitoring fees; and  

 prioritisation of contributions.  
 

7.9 The draft SPD introduces a new requirement which will enable the Council to 
request a monitoring fee for each planning obligation trigger included in the  

Section 106 agreement.  This is a approach enabled by the Community 
Infrastructure Levy (Amendment) (England) (No.2) Regulations 2019  which 
allows fees to be sought from developers where: the sum to be paid fairly and 

reasonably relates in scale and kind to the development; and the sum to be 
paid must not exceed the authority’s estimate of its cost of monitoring the 
development over the lifetime of the planning obligations which relate to the 

development.   
 

7.10 The draft Developer Contributions SPD also provides guidance for key areas 
of infrastructure that will be affected by most major schemes such as: 

 Affordable housing – covering first homes, calculating commuted sums, 

dwelling space standards, vacant building credit and rural exceptions 
sites.  

 Open space, sport and recreation – sets out the requirements for 
different types of open space and outdoor and indoor sports facilities. 

 Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure 

 Retail and Town Centres 

 Health 

 Training and Employment 

 Transport Infrastructure including sustainable travel 

 Education 

 Air Quality 

 Climate Change – including pollution mitigation, electric vehicle 
charging, renewable or low-carbon energy, flood protection and 

sustainable design and construction. 
 

7.11 The draft Developer Contributions SPD is supported by a Strategic 
Environmental Assessment (SEA) screening statement (Appendix 2). Unlike 
Local Plans, SPDs do not require a Sustainability Appraisal. However, in 

exceptional circumstances they may require an SEA unless it is considered 
likely that there will be significant environmental effects. The screening 

determines if such effects are likely and therefore if a SEA is necessary in 
consultation with the statutory bodies, namely; Natural England, the 
Environment Agency and Historic England.  

 

Page 18

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2019/9780111187449
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2019/9780111187449


  

7.12 The SEA screening report concludes that an SEA will not be necessary to 
support the SPD as it is unlikely to lead to any significant environmental 
effects beyond those already assessed through the environmental 

assessments (SEA/SA and HRA) of the Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan. 
The Council has consulted the statutory SEA bodies who have all agreed with 

the Council’s conclusions. The SEA Screening Report will be included as part 
of the consultation on the draft SPD.  

 

7.13 The SPD is now approaching the “public participation” stage. Regulation 12 (b) 
(ii) of The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 

2012 requires that public consultation is undertaken on SPDs for a period not 
less than four weeks. Regulation 35 requires that consultation documents are 
made available at the Council’s principal offices and other relevant locations 

and published on the Council’s website.  
 

7.14 Proposals for consultation should also be in accordance with the Council’s 
own policies for consultation on planning. This is set out in the Staffordshire 
Moorlands Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) which was adopted in 

April 2016. In relation to consultation on SPDs, the SCI sets out the following 
for the Stage 2 – Publication 

 4 week (minimum) formal period for anyone to comment on the plan, 
consultation statement, sustainability appraisal (where applicable) and 
any supporting evidence.  

 Documents made available for inspection at Council’s principal office 
and other appropriate locations and published on the Council’s website. 

 
7.15 Subject to approval by Cabinet, public consultation will commence in 

accordance with the SCI for a period of four weeks. Contacts on the Council’s 

planning policy consultation database will be notified of the consultation. This 
includes organisations and individuals who have requested to be kept 

informed about planning policy documents and organisations listed in the 
Regulations that the Council is required to consult. A press release and social 
media will also be used to raise awareness of the consultation. Details will be 

published on the Council’s website and at Council Offices and libraries. Hard 
copies of the document will also be available on request.  

 
7.16 The Council and its consultants will then review the consultation responses to 

determine if any amendments to the SPD are required. A summary of those 

individuals consulted, issues raised and how they have been addressed will be 
set out in a “consultation statement”. Councillors will then be asked to consider 

any changes to be made and the adoption of the SPD. Following adoption, the 
SPD and an “adoption statement” will be published. The SPD will become a 
material consideration in the determination of relevant planning applications in 

the District. 
 

Summary of key stages 
 

a.  Public consultation: May - June 2023. 

b.  Consideration of consultation feedback, preparation of “consultation 
statement” and revisions made to the SPD if necessary: Summer 2023. 

c.  Council considers adoption of SPD: Summer/Autumn 2023. 

Page 19



  

d.  Publication of SPD and “adoption statement” – SPD becomes a material 
consideration to relevant planning applications in the District.  

 
 

Page 20



1 
 

 
 

 

 

 

Developer Contributions  
Supplementary Planning Document  
DRAFT 
  

Page 21



2 
 

Contents 
Contents ...................................................................................................................................... 2 

1. Introduction.......................................................................................................................... 4 

2. Legislation and Policy ............................................................................................................ 5 

National Planning Policy ............................................................................................................ 5 

Local Planning Policy ................................................................................................................. 6 

Sustainability Appraisal ............................................................................................................. 6 

3. Council Approach to Developer Contributions......................................................................... 6 

Pre-application stage ................................................................................................................ 7 

Planning Applications ................................................................................................................ 7 

Triggers / Payment of Contributions........................................................................................... 7 

Indexation ................................................................................................................................ 7 

Prioritisation of Contributions.................................................................................................... 8 

Viability .................................................................................................................................... 9 

Monitoring ............................................................................................................................. 10 

4. Planning obligations guidance .............................................................................................. 10 

Affordable Housing ................................................................................................................. 11 

First Homes .................................................................................................................... 11 

Calculating Commuted Sums ........................................................................................... 12 

Space Standards for Affordable Housing........................................................................... 12 

Registered Providers ....................................................................................................... 13 

Vacant Building Credit..................................................................................................... 13 

Rural Exceptions Sites...................................................................................................... 14 

Open Space, Sport and Recreation ........................................................................................... 14 

Open Space  .................................................................................................................... 15 

Outdoor Sports and Playing Pitches.................................................................................. 16 

Built Facilities ................................................................................................................. 17 

Informal Recreation ........................................................................................................ 17 

Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure....................................................................................... 17 

Retail and Town Centres.......................................................................................................... 18 

Health .................................................................................................................................... 18 

Training and Employment........................................................................................................ 19 

Transport Infrastructure .......................................................................................................... 19 

Education ............................................................................................................................... 20 

Air Quality .............................................................................................................................. 21 

Page 22



3 
 

Climate Change....................................................................................................................... 21 

Carbon Offsetting ........................................................................................................... 23 

Other Greenhouse Gas Emissions ..................................................................................... 23 

Walking, Cycling and Public Transport Infrastructure ........................................................ 23 

Electric Vehicle Charging ................................................................................................. 23 

Decentralised, Low Carbon and Renewable Energy Networks ............................................ 23 

Flood Protection ............................................................................................................. 23 

Water Quality & Efficiency............................................................................................... 24 

Sustainable Design and Construction................................................................................ 24 

Heritage ................................................................................................................................. 24 

 

Page 23



4 
 

1. Introduction 
1.1. New development plays a key role to meet the changing needs of communities, 

creating new homes, services and employment opportunities for instance. There 
may be resultant impacts on the capacity of local infrastructure such as schools, 
health facilities or community spaces depending on the scale of development and 
existing provision of infrastructure in the area. Local Plans should set out the level 
and type of contributions expected from development. 

1.2. Developer contributions, also known as planning obligations or Section 106 (S106) 
agreements, represent a formal commitment entered into by the developer to 
mitigate the impacts of proposed new development. Developer contributions should 
only be used where it is not possible to address unacceptable impacts through a 
planning condition.  Developer contributions must only be sought where necessary 
to make the development acceptable, directly related to the development and fairly 
and reasonably related to the development. 

1.3. This Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) provides detailed guidance on the 
type and extent of developer contributions that Staffordshire Moorlands District 
Council may seek to secure from development. This document is intended to 
facilitate the developer contribution process between the Council and developers to 
provide transparency on the Council’s approach.  

1.4. The specific areas set out in this document are the most common types of developer 
contributions that are required; however, other infrastructure requirements not 
identified may also be considered necessary in certain circumstances where 
appropriate evidence is apparent, and to mitigate development impact. The Council 
will also work closely with delivery partners to plan for required public service 
infrastructure facilities (NPPF). 

1.5. Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs), whilst not part of the development plan 
itself, are documents which add further detail to the policies in a Local Plan. They 
are capable of being a material consideration in planning decisions and can be used 
to provide further guidance for development on specific sites or on particular issues, 
such as developer contributions. This document will sit alongside the adopted 
Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan 2020 and whilst relating to Local Plan policies, in 
instances where more recent national planning policy or targets have been 
published, the latter may take precedence where appropriate 

1.6. The main purpose of this SPD will be to set out the Council’s approach to the use of 
S106 agreements used to secure developer contributions from new developments. 
This will assist stakeholders in the development process, including planning officers, 
developers, service providers, councillors, and members of the public. More 
specifically, it will:  

• Outline the mechanisms for securing developer contributions and explain the 
relevant legislative and planning policy context within which contributions are 
sought. 

• Explain what is expected of applicants and what the applicant can expect from 
the Council in relation to securing S106 planning agreements. 

• Ensure the developer contributions process is fair, transparent, and applied 
consistently. 

1.7. Formulation of this document has involved various strands of engagement and 
consultation with key stakeholders throughout the process.  

Page 24



5 
 

2. Legislation and Policy 
2.1. The current legislative framework for developer contributions is set out under section 

106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 19901. Developer contributions, or 
planning obligations, can be secured via S106, which are legal agreements between 
the developer and/or landowner, the local planning authority and other service or 
infrastructure providers linked to a proposal or mitigation scheme. Developer 
contributions are legally binding obligations entered into to mitigate the impacts of a 
development proposal and should only be used where it isn’t possible to address the 
unacceptable impacts of development through planning conditions or other statutory 
controls.  

2.2. As set out in the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations 2010 and 
paragraph 57 of the NPPF, S106 obligations should only be used to secure 
infrastructure where all of the following tests are met: 

• necessary to make a development acceptable in planning terms;  

• directly related to a development; and  

• fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development.  
2.3. Developer contributions via S106 can provide via financial contributions for the 

delivery of on or off site mitigation; affordable housing provision; or the direct 
delivery of facilities. For example, contributions made ‘in-kind’ could include a new 
area of green space within a housing scheme, or in the form of a financial 
contribution, provide funding towards the requirement for school places. 

2.4. A Section 278 agreement, which relates to Section 278 of the Highways Act 1982, is 
another form of developer contribution that is specific to works on existing adopted 
highways such as provision of junction improvements or traffic calming measures 
required as a result of development. Section 278 agreements are between the 
developer or landowner and the highway authority (i.e. Staffordshire County Council) 
and are out of` the scope of this SPD. 

National Planning Policy 
2.5. The key purpose of the planning system is to promote sustainable development. The 

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)2 sets out the Government’s planning 
policies for England and how these should be applied.  The NPPF highlights the 
importance of setting out the levels and type of contributions expected from 
development, including affordable housing and other supporting infrastructure such 
as education, health, transport and digital infrastructure. 

2.6. Further guidance is provided by the National Planning Practice Guidance (PPG)3 on 
Planning Obligations and the Use of Planning Conditions. Amongst other matters, 
PPG guidance also outlines the importance of identifying infrastructure that an 
authority intends to fund, the different sources of funding proposed and recording 
this information in an up to date Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP). An Infrastructure 
Funding Statement4 (IFS) is also prepared annually to set out income and 
expenditure relating to developer contributions. The IDP and IFS can be found on 
the Council’s website. 

 
1 https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/section/106  
2 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2 
3 https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance  
4 https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/article/1168/Monitoring  

Page 25

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2010/9780111492390/regulation/122
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1990/8/section/106
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance
https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/article/1168/Monitoring


6 
 

Local Planning Policy 
2.7. Staffordshire Moorlands District Council adopted their Local Plan in September 

2020, setting out the development strategy, strategic and development management 
policies for the District up to 2033. The latest Developer/Landowner Contributions 
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) was adopted in November 2004 and 
precedes the current Local Plan, therefore this SPD provides an update to take 
account of changes within the legislative and policy framework. 

2.8. Policy SS 12 Planning Obligations and Community Infrastructure Levy provides the 
overarching framework for collecting developer contributions, including the 
requirement for new development to agree to the provision of necessary on-site and 
off-site infrastructure before permission is granted. The Local Plan policies are 
supported by an Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP), to set out the specific 
infrastructure requirements needed to support the growth needs of the District.  

2.9. Local authorities are required to demonstrate that supplementary planning 
documents are in conformity with the adopted Local Plan. The Staffordshire 
Moorlands Local Plan and its policies provide the overarching context for this 
document, which sets out more specific details on the Council’s expectations for 
S106 contributions and provides further explanation on the type and level of 
contributions required. Further relevant local documents include other SPDs, 
Council strategies and Neighbourhood Plans, have formed the underpinning 
evidence in preparing this SPD. 

2.10. Biddulph Town Council have been working on a Neighbourhood Plan since 2015 
and consulted on the Regulation 14 draft Plan in 2019. This Plan highlights a 
number of priorities and policies that will be used to guide development in the area 
once made. The Plan specifically refers to the infrastructure requirements of new 
development and priority areas that should be considered in relation to developer 
contributions. 

2.11. Staffordshire County Council is responsible for collecting contributions in relation to 
highways and education. This SPD has also considered the Staffordshire Education 
Infrastructure Contributions Policy which is updated on a regular basis. 

Sustainability Appraisal 
2.12. The 2008 Planning Act and associated regulations removed the requirement for a 

sustainability appraisal to be prepared alongside an SPD and in accordance with the 
legislative framework set out above. Local authorities are still required to screen the 
supplementary planning document to establish whether there will be significant 
effect as defined by the Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) Directive. A 
Screening Statement has been produced to accompany the SPD. 

3. Council Approach to Developer Contributions 
3.1. Developer contributions will be negotiated on a site-by-site basis using the 

information contained within this SPD. The Council will take into account the 
individual characteristics of the site, the availability and quality of the relevant 
infrastructure, which the development of the site will impact. This approach ensures 
that obligations are necessary and directly related to the development from which 
they are sought. The specific areas set out in this document are the most common 
types of developer contributions that are required; however, other infrastructure 
requirements not identified in this document may also be considered necessary in 
certain circumstances where relevant evidence is apparent that demonstrates the 
need to mitigate development impact. 

Page 26



7 
 

Pre-application stage 
3.2. Developers are encouraged to engage with the Council’s planning team at the 

earliest possible time to discuss the likely requirement for contributions and to 
ensure that proposals are policy compliant. Early discussions will ensure that all 
parties are clear on any issues that should be taken into account prior to submitting 
a planning application. If pre-application advice obtained is applied, it should also 
help avoid unnecessary delays once the application is submitted, as highlighted in 
PPG. 

3.3. The pre-application advice service is subject to a fee but long term can save costs 
and/or unnecessary delay by ensuring applications comply with policy and include 
all the relevant information to enable the consultation process and assist the 
decision maker. Further details are available on the Council’s website5. 
Staffordshire County Council also provides a pre-application service which provides 
an early assessment of the likely impact of proposed residential development on 
education and highways infrastructure. 

Planning Applications 
3.4. As mentioned above, discussion on developer contributions should be undertaken at 

the pre-application stage where possible, particularly for larger, more complex 
proposals, which ideally will allow heads of terms to be agreed before the 
submission of an application to help avoid delays later in the application 
determination process. The Council can also provide a precedent S106 agreement 
for applicants as guidance. 

3.5. Once a planning application has been submitted, the Council will liaise with the 
County Council (for major developments of 10 or more dwellings) and other relevant 
stakeholders and discuss with the applicant specific obligations to be sought as 
Section 106 agreements.  

Triggers / Payment of Contributions 
3.6. Financial contributions are payable at specific stages in the development process, 

which are known as trigger points. Examples include ‘prior to commencement’ or 
‘prior to occupation’. During the negotiation stage of the S106 agreement, the trigger 
points for each obligation will be discussed between the developer, the Council and 
the County Council and any other infrastructure providers or consultees involved in 
the S106 agreement. Trigger dates will be included in the S106 agreement and will 
be discussed within each topic area where there may be a specific requirement in 
terms of payment. For example, larger housing developments may require payment 
on completion of a certain number of dwellings, or staged in line with the 
proportional impact of each phase of the development. 

3.7. Infrastructure providers and/or statutory consultees may suggest trigger points when 
submitting their requests for contributions which the Council will then take into 
account when drafting the S106 agreement. The Council will aim to ensure that 
trigger points are viable to the specific stage of the delivery of development. 

3.8. If contributions have not been paid within the agreed time period then late payment 
interest will be charged at rate of 3% above the Bank of England standard base rate. 

Indexation 
3.9. All financial contributions contained in a S106 should be index linked from the 

Committee approval date to the trigger date when the contribution payment is due to 

 
5 https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/article/565/Get-advice-before-making-an-application  

Page 27

https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/209/Get-advice-before-making-an-application
https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/Education/Schoolsandcolleges/PlanningSchoolPlaces/Information-for-developers/Pre-application-advice-service.aspx
https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/article/565/Get-advice-before-making-an-application


8 
 

ensure the real value of developer contributions is maintained up to the date of 
payment. The base date and index will be detailed within the legal agreement. The 
preferred index that will be used is the All Items Group (item reference CHAW) of 
the Retail Prices Index published by HM Government Office of National Statistics. 
During any period when no such index exists, the index which replaces it or is the 
nearest equivalent will be used. 

3.10. For certain types of infrastructure there may be more bespoke information about 
costings that is particularly relevant to a specific project, which could assist in 
informing and evidencing changes to costings. For example, Sport England 
publishes costing for certain types of sports facilities; therefore, if this information is 
available and supported by consultees then it could be used to support costing 
calculations. Contributions should not be less than the amount originally agreed if 
the indexation decreases. 

Prioritisation of Contributions 
3.11. All contributions required, in compliance with national or local policy, will be set out 

as a basis for assessment at pre-application or planning application stage. There 
may be circumstances where the total of all contributions sought might render the 
proposed development un-viable and therefore sufficient contributions cannot be 
made to mitigate the impact of development. As developer contributions are 
considered necessary in order to make the development acceptable in planning 
terms, the Council may then decide to refuse the application and in these 
circumstances, viability is not considered a valid justification. 

3.12. It may however be the case that some developments are not able to viably make 
contributions towards all of the infrastructure that is required but that the benefits of 
development are considered by the Council to outweigh the failure to provide policy 
compliant obligations. In such cases, where there are viability issues, contributions 
may be prioritised by the Council, who will seek to achieve a well-balanced package 
of contributions to best address mitigation. Whilst each case needs to be assessed 
on its own merits, the general approach that will be taken to prioritise contributions is 
outlined below: 

• Critical on and off-site infrastructure needed to achieve the development of 
the site (e.g. highways, open space, sewer/drainage, nutrient mitigation). 

• On-site affordable housing. 

• Contributions for education provision. 

• Biodiversity6 and other green infrastructure, playing pitches /leisure facilities, 
sustainable transport provision directly serving the site. 

• Off-site affordable housing. 

• Other infrastructure not specifically required by the Local Plan but reasonably 
requested by an infrastructure provider / consultee. 

3.13. The contributions will be assessed using the above framework; however, this is on a 
case by case basis and will also relate to priorities outlined in the Local Plan, 
Neighbourhood Plans, Corporate Plan and other supporting Council Strategies. 
There may also be priorities and/or requirements for sub-areas in the District, which 
will be reflected through regular update of the Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP). The 
IDP sets out current provision of infrastructure across the District and the 
infrastructure requirements necessary over the plan period to deliver the level of 

 
6 Under the Environment Act 2021, all planning permissions (with a few exemptions) will be required to deliver 
at least 10% biodiversity net gain from 2023 (date TBC likely Nov/Dec). 

Page 28



9 
 

growth identified. Specifically, it outlines what infrastructure is needed, when it is 
needed, who is responsible for providing it, how much it will cost and how it will be 
funded. The IDP should be seen as an iterative document and will support the SPD 
by providing a regular review and update of infrastructure requirements. 

3.14. A further consideration within the prioritisation process is to assess contributions 
according to their value. This would add a further level of assessment within the 
evaluation to enable the Council flexibility to maximise the overall contribution in 
terms of the most effective way to spend contributions based on their value, 
particularly where viability is an issue (e.g. for some development proposals, the 
Council may consider that contributions below £10,000 may have a more meaningful 
impact when spent on green infrastructure or open space and recreation or towards 
a specific scheme or project identified in the IDP). This assessment would therefore 
be supported by the infrastructure requirements needed to make a development 
proposal acceptable in planning terms and should relate back to the wider policy and 
priorities for required infrastructure, supported by the IDP and where possible, 
agreement with consultees.  

Viability  
3.15. The Council expects development to be delivered in accordance with national and 

local policies, including policies relating to affordable housing and infrastructure 
provision to support growth and development. Provision of supporting infrastructure, 
including affordable housing, is a necessary cost that should be factored into overall 
development costs. The NPPF highlights the expectation that compliance with local 
plan policies setting out developer contributions should assume that the proposal is 
viable. The applicant must demonstrate any particular circumstances to justify the 
need for viability assessment at application stage. The price paid for land is no 
longer an input into viability assessments nor a relevant justification for failing to 
accord with relevant policies in the Plan (see the PPG, guidance on ‘Viability’)7. 

3.16. Where the applicant has reason to believe that there are viability issues they should 
engage with the Council at the earliest stage possible. The Council will seek to 
address any valid concerns by seeking other viability enhancements, such as 
deferring or phasing contribution payments to assist developers when necessary, if it 
is agreed that viability is marginal. To substantiate a claim, the Council will require 
the applicant to appoint on behalf of the Council and the applicant together an 
independent assessor, with instructions to be agreed by the Council in advance, to 
conduct a full financial appraisal with all costs incurred to be paid for by the 
developer. The Council also reserves the right to appoint a suitably qualified person 
to undertake a review if required. 

3.17. Where an applicant is able to robustly demonstrate to the satisfaction of the Council 
that the requirements of a planning obligation would cause a development to be 
unviable the Council will consider whether there is a legitimate planning reason to be 
flexible in seeking developer contributions or whether the need for policy compliance 
infrastructure contributions outweighs the planning benefits in developing the site. 
Further consideration will be given to the prioritisation framework in order to 
determine if the contributions are critical and therefore not acceptable to negotiate, 
or whether there can be further agreement in terms of the level of contribution that 
can viably be provided. 

 
7 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/viability#standard-inputs  

Page 29

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/viability#standard-inputs


10 
 

Monitoring  
3.18. The Community Infrastructure Levy (Amendment) (England) (No.2) Regulations 

2019 allow fees for monitoring obligations to be sought from developers where:  

• the sum to be paid fairly and reasonably relates in scale and kind to the 
development; and 

• the sum to be paid to the authority does not exceed the authority’s estimate 
of its cost of monitoring the development over the lifetime of the planning 
obligations which relate to that development. 

3.19. Fees collected will cover the cost of monitoring and administration of developer 
contributions including: 

• The maintenance and development of the planning obligations monitoring 
database system to assist in the co-ordination of obligation preparation, 
raising invoices, calculation of staged payments, collection, monitoring and 
review.  

• Administration of S106 agreements, including affordable housing 
assessment of applications for discount market sale properties, calculation 
of OMV on disposal of shared ownership properties and resale of discount 
market sale properties and the cost of registering First Homes notifications 
at the Land Registry. 

• The monitoring of trigger points and development progress.  

• Recovery of planning obligations that have not been fulfilled, including any 
necessary enforcement or legal action. 

• Liaison between council service departments and with Derbyshire County 
Council. 

• Preparing the annual Infrastructure Funding Statement, which is a statutory 
requirement under the CIL regulations.  

3.20. Where the Council uses S106 legal agreements to mitigate development proposals, 
it is important that they are monitored to ensure trigger points are adhered to. The 
monitoring fee will normally be £218.83 for every obligation trigger in the S106 
agreement where the contribution is paid to Staffordshire Moorlands District Council. 
The fee will be based upon the occurrence of triggers for compliance of planning 
obligations (rather than each obligation individually). As there is additional time 
spent on residential applications relating to external (resale) valuations and Discount 
Market Sale S106 valuations there is an additional fee of £583.72 per S106 
agreement for residential schemes The monitoring fee is to be paid at completion of 
the S106 legal deed, to enable the council to cover the costs of monitoring the 
commencement of development. The fee will be index linked and periodically 
reviewed to ensure the administrative costs associated with monitoring and 
managing developer contributions are covered by the fee, which is proportionate to 
the complexity of the proposal. This approach is considered a reasonable and fair 
basis to account for officer time to effectively monitor trigger points and carry out the 
tasks outlined above, which need to be done regardless of the size of development. 

3.21. Staffordshire County Council also request monitoring fees for obligations for which it 
is responsible e.g. education and transport.  

4. Planning obligations guidance 
4.1. When considering the impact of proposed development there are certain key areas 

of infrastructure that will be affected by most major schemes. As necessary the 

Page 30

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2019/9780111187449
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukdsi/2019/9780111187449


11 
 

Council will also consider any cumulative impacts of development, if there are 
various phases or a number of proposed developments in the adjacent area. This 
document therefore addresses the evidence, policy justification and scope of 
potential requirements associated with these infrastructure types in each of the 
following sections. As noted, the SPD will not cover every circumstance where 
developer contributions may be sought to make a specific new development 
acceptable in planning terms; however, the most common areas will be outlined in 
as much detail as possible. 

Affordable Housing 
4.2. To support the Government’s objective of significantly boosting the supply of 

housing, the NPPF emphasises the importance of meeting the needs of groups with 
specific housing requirements. Where there is a need for affordable housing, 
planning policies should specify the type of affordable housing required and expect it 
to be met on site unless: 

• off-site provision or an appropriate financial contribution in lieu can be robustly 
justified; and 

• the agreed approach contributes to the objective of creating mixed and balanced 
communities. 

4.3. The Council’s overall approach to affordable housing is set out in Local Plan Policy 
H3 and the supporting text. This policy states that residential developments of 10 
dwellings (or 0.5 ha) or more shall provide 33% affordable housing. Where 
affordable housing is below the requirement, applicants will need to provide 
evidence by way of a financial appraisal. Affordable housing should be provided on 
site, unless in exceptional circumstances when off-site of commuted sums may be 
considered where it will broadly be equivalent in value to on-site provision. 

First Homes 

4.4. The Government’s First Homes scheme came into effect on 28th June 2021, setting 
the national policy requirement for at least 25% of all affordable homes provided by 
developers under S106 agreements to be First Homes. First Homes are a specific 
type of discounted market sale housing that: 

• must be discounted by a minimum of 30% against the market value; 

• are sold to a person(s) meeting the First Home eligibility criteria8; 

• on their first sale, will have a restriction registered on the title at HM Land 
Registry to ensure the discount (at a percentage of market value) and certain 
other restrictions are passed on at each subsequent title transfer; and 

• after the discount has been applied, the first sale must be at a price no higher 
than £250,000. 

4.5. First homes are the Government’s preferred discounted market tenure and should 
therefore be the priority for delivery to meet the minimum requirement of at least 
25% affordable housing. For Staffordshire Moorlands, Policy H3 states that 60% of 
all affordable dwellings should be social/affordable rented housing and the 
remaining 40% intermediate/starter homes. As national policy now requires at least 
25% of all affordable homes delivered by developers under Section 106 agreements 
to be First Homes, this will take precedence, then provision of 15% 
intermediate/starter homes and the remaining 60% will continue to be 
social/affordable rented. Percentages will be rounded to the nearest whole unit with 

 
8 https://www.gov.uk/guidance/first-homes 

Page 31



12 
 

the table below providing a guide to the affordable housing requirements for sites of 
different sizes. 

 
Scale of 
development 
(dwellings) 

Total number of 
Affordable Homes 
required  
(ie. 33% - Policy 
H3) 

First Homes 
(25%) 

Remainder in line with Local 
Plan - Policy H3 (75%) 
Social / 
Affordable 
Rent 
(60%) 

Intermediate / 
Starter 
(15%) 

10 3 1 2 0 
15 5 1 3 1 
20 7 2 4 1 
25 8 2 5 1 
50 17 4 10 3 

100 33 8 20 5 

Calculating Commuted Sums  

4.6. In exceptional circumstances, the Council may accept a commuted sum in lieu of 
on-site provision to facilitate the delivery of affordable housing on an alternative site. 
Financial contributions will be based on the values registered providers ordinarily 
pay to acquire affordable housing. The Open Market Value (OMV) should be the 
value of each whole unit, which reflects the anticipated net achievable price i.e. net 
of any discounts or marketing incentives. Sources of information that should inform 
the OMV are: RICS local valuers; internet research; local estate agents; and 
comparative similar development values.  

4.7. On this basis, commuted sums will normally be calculated at a rate of 40-55% OMV 
for affordable/social rent and approximately 30% for intermediate/starter home, 
which relates to a notional affordable unit in order to reflect the ‘developer subsidy’ 
element of affordable housing provision. 

4.8. To assist in the calculation, the Council will determine what proportion of each house 
type (1,2,3,4 bed house/apartment/bungalow) would be required to be affordable to 
meet Policy H3. As an example only, a site for 15 units gives rise to an affordable 
housing component of five units (2x2 bed and 2x3 bed houses). First Homes will 
always be expected to be delivered on site, which would be one unit on a site of this 
size. The remaining four units would be paid as a financial contribution broken down 
by the remaining tenure split in line with the policy. In this example, 3 rented and 1 
shared ownership unit. If the OMV of a two-bedroom open market property was 
£160,000 and the three bedroom £230,000 the following commuted sum would be 
due: 

• 50% of £160,000 (£80,000 x 2 units) = £160,000 (2 bed affordable rent) 

• 50% of £230,000 = £115,000 (3 bed affordable rent) 

• 30% of £160,000 = £48,000 (2 bed shared ownership) 

• Total Contribution = £343,000 

Space Standards for Affordable Housing 

4.9. Policy H1 (New Housing Development) applies the nationally described space 
standards (NDSS) set out the Technical Housing Standards requirements (DLUHC, 

Page 32



13 
 

2015)9 for internal space within new dwellings across all tenures. Individual dwelling 
types are expressed with reference to the number of bedrooms and the number of 
bedspaces (or people) that can be accommodated within these bedrooms. This 
allows for different combinations of single and double/twin bedrooms to be reflected 
in the minimum Gross Internal Area. The breakdown of the minimum Gross Internal 
Area therefore allows not only for the different combinations of bedroom size, but 
also for varying amounts of additional living, dining, kitchen and storage space; all of 
which are related to the potential occupancy. In order to comply with space 
standards (Policy H1) and maximise the number of affordable housing bedspaces, 
dwellings should aim to provide larger bedrooms to allow greater flexibility and better 
living conditions for their occupants. For example, providing a 2 bedroom, 4 person 
dwelling rather than a 2 bedroom 3 person dwelling; and a 3 bedroom 5 person 
dwelling rather than a 3 bedroom 4 person dwelling. Provision of bedspaces should 
meet the identified needs, as set out in the Strategic Housing Market Assessment 
(SHMA) or successor document, supported by annual monitoring of provision and/or 
latest evidence on housing need. RPs will expect proposals to meet the NDSS; 
therefore, the S106 will require all affordable housing to meet NDSS requirements. 

Registered Providers 

4.10. The Council expects all developers to ensure that they identify a Registered 
Provider (RP)10 to support the delivery of affordable housing on site as soon as 
possible in the development process. If the Council requests, the 
landowner/developer shall endeavour to provide evidence of the financial and 
management capabilities of the proposed Registered Provider(s). RP’s will be 
required to own and manage the affordable housing units directly.  

Vacant Building Credit 

4.11. To support the use of brownfield land, the NPPF makes provision for vacant 
buildings being reused or redeveloped to reduce affordable housing contributions by 
a proportionate amount. Vacant Building Credit (VBC) is designed to encourage this 
type of development for a qualifying building or land to be brought back into use. 
PPG provides further guidance, stating that where a vacant building is brought back 
into any lawful use, or is demolished to be replaced by a new building, the developer 
should be offered a financial credit equivalent to the existing gross floorspace of 
relevant vacant buildings when the local planning authority calculates any affordable 
housing contribution which will be sought.  

4.12. Affordable housing contributions will be sought for any additional increase in 
floorspace, which will be calculated in the same way as any other development. ‘A 
‘credit’ should then be applied which is the equivalent of the gross floorspace of any 
relevant vacant buildings being brought back into use or demolished as part of the 
scheme and deducted from the overall affordable housing contribution calculation 
(PPG). 

4.13. Satisfactory evidence should be provided to demonstrate that the site meets the 
definition of ‘previously developed land’ in the NPPF. VBC will only apply when in 
the Council’s opinion the building has been abandoned, the assessment for which 
will take into consideration the following factors: 

• the condition of the property; 

• the period of non-use; 

 
9 ttps://www.gov.uk/government/publications/technical-housing-standards-nationally-described-space-
standard/technical-housing-standards-nationally-described-space-standard 
10 A provider of affordable housing registered with Homes England pursuant to the Housing and Regeneration 
Act 2008 (or as redefined by any amendment, replacement or re-enactment of such Act 

Page 33



14 
 

• whether there is an intervening use; and  

• any evidence regarding the owner’s intention, including attempts to sell the 
property. 

4.14. The Council will also consider whether the building has been made vacant for the 
sole purpose of redevelopment and may require the applicant to provide records to 
demonstrate that vacancy has arisen for other reasons. Relevant planning history 
will also be assessed to ensure that the building isn’t covered by extant or recently 
expired permission for the same or similar development. 

Rural Exceptions Sites 

4.15. Policies SS8, SS9, SS10 and H1 outline the circumstances to allow for affordable 
housing on rural exception sites that would not normally be released for housing 
development. A S106 used to secure the affordable housing on these sites will 
require the affordable housing to be prioritised for those who can demonstrate local 
need.  ‘Local need’ in the context of this policy, is applied to the following: 

• People who have lived continuously in the village or Parish for at least five years; 

• People who have a strong connection with the village or Parish by birth or 
upbringing or by a previous period of residence; 

• People who need to support their family currently living in the village or Parish or 
are themselves in need of family support; 

• People who are employed in the village or Parish. 

Open Space, Sport and Recreation 
4.16. The NPPF highlights the importance of having access to a network of high quality 

open spaces and opportunities for sport and activity in supporting health and 
wellbeing. The Council will seek to promote the provision of high quality recreational 
open space, indoor and outdoor sports and children’s play facilities throughout the 
District (Policy C2). Residential development of 10 or more dwellings (or of 0.5 ha or 
more) will be expected to make provision or a contribution towards open space, 
sports and recreation facilities in line with the Open Space Study, Playing Pitch 
Strategy and Indoor Sports Facility assessment or successor documents Policy C1 
of the Local Plan also highlights the support of the Council for schemes that will 
protect, retain or enhance community facilities, which includes sports and physical 
activity facilities. 

4.17. There are a number of evidence documents11 that consider the provision of open 
space and recreation and set out areas of need. These are updated periodically but 
currently comprise:- 

• Staffordshire Moorlands Open Space Update Report (2017) 

• Staffordshire Moorlands Open Space Standards Paper (2017) 

• Playing Pitch Strategy Assessment Report (2017) 

• Playing Pitch Strategy and Action Plan (2017) 

• Staffordshire Moorlands Green Infrastructure Strategy (2018) 

• Local Football Facility Plan (2018) 

 
11 The list provided is the latest documents at the time of publishing; however, these may be superseded by 
updated evidence in the future. 

Page 34



15 
 

• Play and Outdoor Facilities Investment and Delivery Plan (2021) 

• Leisure Facilities Plan (2022). 

4.18. The Council’s Service Commissioning team will ensure that obligations sought for 
open space and recreation are based on a tailored approach relevant to each 
development site, using the evidence base provided within the most recent studies 
in order to justify the needs arising, how they are to be met and ensuring that 
requests are reasonably related and proportionate in scale and kind. The IDP will set 
out key priorities and projects identified in the above studies and strategies and will 
be updated as new studies and strategies become available. 

Open Space 

4.19. The 2017 Open Space Study (Standards Paper) identified a total of 236 open space 
sites across Staffordshire Moorlands, equating to over 665 hectares.  However, the 
study also identified a number of shortfalls in quality and accessibility standards 
across the District for different types of open space. In order to maximise 
opportunities to successfully deliver strategic outcomes and consultation with 
Service Commissioning should take place at pre-application stage. Unless agreed 
otherwise with the Council, open space will be provided on site. If agreed, off-site 
provision of part or all the requirements will be provided by means of a commuted 
sum to the Council based on a monetary figure per dwelling. 

4.20. The basis for calculating the level of developer contribution required under Policy C2 
is set out below, setting out how much open space provision (in hectares per 1,000 
people) is needed to strategically serve the Staffordshire Moorlands plan area in the 
future. This assumes the local average occupancy figure of 2.3 per dwelling. 

 

Nature of 
open space 

Provision 
required in 
hectares per 
1,000 
population 

Standard per 
new dwelling 
m2 

Cost per m2 Contribution 
per dwelling 

Amenity 

Greenspace 

0.6 14 To be provided on site by the 

developer. 

Equipped 

children’s play 

0.08 1.8 To be provided on site by the 

developer. 

£83.10 Off-site 

contribution 

£149.60 

Allotments 0.1 2.3 To be provided on site by the 

developer. 

£16.60 Off-site 

contribution 

£38.20 

Page 35



16 
 

Parks and 

Gardens 

0.14 3.2 £23.50 £75.20 

 
4.21. All major developments should incorporate growing areas for residents as part of 

scheme design and where this is not possible a contribution for allotment provision 
off-site will be required in accordance with provision standards outlined. 

4.22. Management and ongoing maintenance of areas of open space and any on-site play 
provision will be the responsibility of the developer. Before the commencement of 
development, the developer will confirm the details of maintenance responsibility 
with the Council. If a management company is chosen to have responsibility 
transferred, details will be required on the company structure, funding mechanisms 
(including any proposed management fees payable by dwelling owners) and 
contingency arrangements should the company cease to operate or exist. If in 
exceptional circumstances, on agreement with the Council, the developer wishes to 
transfer responsibility to the Council, a commuted sum contribution will be collected 
to cover a minimum of a 25 year period, lifecycle costs will contribute towards 
maintenance and day to day costs.  

Outdoor Sports and Playing Pitches 

4.23. The Playing Pitch Strategy Assessment and Action Plan (2017) provides a strategic 
framework which ensures that the provision of outdoor sports facilities meet the local 
needs of existing and future residents within Staffordshire Moorlands. The strategy 
produced in accordance with PPG, provides robust and objective justification for 
future needs throughout the District. It identifies likely demand for pitch sports 
generated from housing growth in the Local Plan, which is set out in the table below.  
 

Pitch Sport Estimated demand by sport (2031) 
Adult football 1.36 match equivalent sessions per week 

Youth football 1.53 match equivalent sessions per week 

Mini soccer 1.04 match equivalent sessions per week 

Rugby Union 0.34 match equivalent sessions per week 

Hockey 0.41 match equivalent sessions per week 

Cricket 48.00 match equivalent sessions per 
season 

 
4.24. The Local Football Facility Plan 2018 identifies opportunities to accurately target 

investment in football facilities across the Staffordshire Moorlands.  
4.25. Contributions towards playing pitches and outdoor sports facilities will be sought 

from residential developments of 10 or more dwellings (or of 0.5 ha or more) to 
ensure that the sporting needs arising from the residents of new developments are 
met where there is a demonstrable need for additional provision. The requirement 
will be considered on a case by case basis. The required level and mix of provision, 
and if this should be provided on or off -site, will be informed by up to date evidence 
from the Sports England Playing Pitch Calculator, Playing Pitch Strategy, Local 
Football Facility Plan and other sports needs assessments and/or any successor 
document(s). 

Page 36



17 
 

Built Facilities 

4.26. Built sports facilities include sports halls, swimming pools and the use of community 
venues for activities. The Council has been working with Sport England in the 
preparation of the Leisure Facilities Plan and has followed the Sport England 
Strategic Outcomes Planning Guidance (SOPG) to undertake demand and supply 
modelling. Developer contributions should be provided where new development will 
increase the demand for such facilities and contributions will be directed to the 
nearest accessible facility to the development. S106 contributions will be assessed 
on a case-by-case basis in consultation with the Service Commissioning team with 
contributions informed by the Sport England facility calculator and the Council’s 
Leisure Facilities Plan and/or any successor document(s).   

Informal Recreation 

4.27. Greenways, woodlands and wildlife sites can provide informal opportunities for play, 
sport and recreation and in some instances these sites may be better placed to 
facilitate those wider experiences than traditional play areas, parks and gardens. 
The Staffordshire Moorlands Green Infrastructure Strategy (May 2018) states that 
the Council will create appropriate access for a wide range of users to enjoy the 
countryside, including improved linkages to, and provision of formal and informal 
recreation opportunities and accessible woodland areas to encouraging walking, 
cycling and horse riding. The canal network is an important recreational facility that 
supports healthier and more active lifestyles. Increased use and footfall generated 
by residential development near waterways can often lead to increased liabilities for 
the Canal and Rivers Trust. It is important to be able to secure developer 
contributions to help maintain the canal infrastructure when it is impacted by 
development, to enhance quality and ease of access. 

Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure 
4.28. The NPPF highlights the need to protect biodiversity, including designated sites, 

priority habitats and wider ecological networks. It promotes the conservation, 
restoration and enhancement of priority habitats and ecological networks, including 
watercourses and priority species.  In accordance with paragraph 174 of the NPPF, 
planning polices, and development decisions should minimise the impacts on and 
provide net gains for biodiversity. 

4.29. Policy C3 Green Infrastructure, sets out the requirements of new development to 
protect and enhance biodiversity and green infrastructure. This includes contribution 
to the creation or enhancement of an integrated network of high quality and multi-
functional green infrastructure. Policy NE1 Biodiversity and Geological Resources 
also underpins the Council’s commitment to conserve and enhance the District’s 
natural assets with positive management and control of development. The policy 
also expects all development to deliver net gain where possible; however, the 
Environment Act 2021 supplements existing legislation and policy to introduce new 
incentives, actions and planning tolls to drive further improvements for nature. A key 
component of the Act is the requirement for development proposals to deliver at 
least 10% improvement to biodiversity. Policy NE1 also sets out the need to meet 
the objectives and targets in the UK and Staffordshire Biodiversity Action Plan, with 
particular reference to increasing grassland and heathland habitats. 

4.30. It is expected that biodiversity and green infrastructure enhancements will generally 
be secured through planning conditions; however, there may be some 
circumstances where it will be necessary to ask for specific mitigation or 
compensation to make a development proposal acceptable as set out in national 
legislation. Policy NE1 seeks to deliver net gains in biodiversity and by engaging 
with stakeholders to outline key requirements to strengthen biodiversity in the 

Page 37



18 
 

District, the IDP can help link objectives, strengthen ecological networks and create 
corridors to ensure effective land management and biodiversity value. In accordance 
with the Environment Act, the developer is required to maintain the enhancement for 
at least 30 years after the completion of works. The habitat should be delivered on-
site; however, where this is not possible offsite contributions or statutory biodiversity 
credits may be applied. The requirements of Environment Act will be implemented 
as mandatory in winter 2023; however, the Council will work with developers to 
proactively encourage that appropriate contributions are sought for Biodiversity Net 
Gain (BNG) in advance of the 2023 date and in accordance with policy NE1. 
Discussions will be informed by the Staffordshire Biodiversity Action Plan and with 
regard to the Staffordshire Moorlands Biodiversity Opportunity Map.  

4.31. The Council’s Climate Change Action Plan, Aiming Low: The Way to Net Zero12, 
also sets out its commitment to mandate implementation of BNG requirements 
through planning. The Council will continue to work with key stakeholders and 
engage as widely as possible to update the IDP which will identify and link priorities 
and objectives, to strengthen ecological networks and create corridors of biodiversity 
value. This should also reflect new evidence such as the Council’s Biodiversity 
Strategy and wider Local Nature Recovery Strategies. 

4.32. Developer contributions will also recognise the maintenance need of established 
sites to manage increased pressures from development additional to any net gains 
made by the development. The NPPF notes the importance of minimising impacts 
on and providing net gains for biodiversity, including establishment of coherent 
ecological networks that are more resilient to current and future pressures. Similarly, 
this is also reflected in the NPPF, with specific regard to impact of development and 
improvement of biodiversity integrated through good design, especially to secure net 
gain or enhance access to nature.  

Retail and Town Centres 
4.33. The NPPF acknowledges the importance of town centres and the key role they play 

at the heart of local communities. It is therefore noted that planning policies should 
take a positive approach to their growth, management and adaptation. The NPPF 
also outlines the preference for locating main town centre uses in town centres 
rather than edge, or out of centre locations. In accordance with this, policy TCR3 of 
the Local Plan also notes that developer contributions may be sought to mitigate 
identified impacts of town centre uses of 200 sq m or more outside of defined 
centres. Contributions will therefore be sought for development that is considered to 
have a detrimental impact on town centres and their overall vitality. 

4.34. Specific measures will be identified and updated within the IDP that can help provide 
better connectivity, accessibility, street furniture, public realm, wayfinding etc to 
promote regeneration and vitality within town centres. Town centre improvements to 
increase accessibility for people with disabilities may also be sought through S106. 

Health  
4.35. The NPPF outlines the importance of promoting healthy and safe communities, 

stating that planning authorities should work with delivery partners to plan for 
required public service infrastructure facilities  

4.36. Facilitating health and well-being is a key theme incorporated throughout the Local 
Plan. Policy SS1 Development Principles, outlines the requirement to provide 
necessary local services including healthcare and associate facilities to promote 
community wellbeing. Each of the area strategies also consider the importance of 

 
12 https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/ClimateChange  

Page 38

https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/ClimateChange


19 
 

increasing provision of heath and community facilities with reference to reducing 
health inequality in certain areas. In addition, a key priority within the corporate plan 
2019 -2023 is to ensure effective health provision.  

4.37. Housing development can add substantially to the demand for health care as it 
generates population growth in given areas. It is important that the planning system 
ensures not only that development creates an environment that supports health and 
wellbeing; but that there should be a reasonable level of developer contributions 
towards the capacity and resilience of health facilities. Additionally, demographic 
factors such as an ageing population and wellbeing needs of the population 
including secondary and specialist support services, should also be considered in 
terms of provision of health infrastructure to support the needs of area. 

4.38. It is important that community meeting spaces and access points are included as 
part of health infrastructure, in recognition of their contribution towards prevention of 
ill health by providing spaces for exercise, health/wellbeing classes or other social 
activities which engender a sense of community and help avoid loneliness. Access 
to provision regarded as social care is also important, including personal care and 
support for individuals, such as home-based care or access to facilities within 
communities for those needing additional care and support (e.g. older adults, those 
living with dementia, working age adults with disabilities). 

4.39. The Council works closely with key stakeholders in the health and wellbeing sector, 
including NHS, the Staffordshire and Stoke-on-Trent Integrated Care System (ICS) 
and Public Health, to ensure a coordinated approach for effective collection of 
developer contributions, including consultation on all major planning applications of 
10 dwellings or more. The primary method of calculating developer contributions will 
consider the likely impact of new population as referred to in HBN11-01: Facilities for 
Primary and Community Care Services13. S106 contributions may be required to 
support construction costs for additional facilities/extension etc or new health 
facilities that may be co-located with other health or social care providers, as 
advised by ICS or relevant health provider. 

Training and Employment 
4.40. It is important that local people have access to develop the skills, knowledge and 

qualifications to support the labour market and therefore equally contribute towards 
the economic growth in the area as well as benefit from the opportunities that comes 
with growth. The NPPF recognises the important role of economic growth to create 
jobs and prosperity.  

4.41. Policy E1 and supporting text in the Local Plan considers the importance of 
supporting the local workforce and economic base, which include improving skills by 
encouraging provision of training programmes, employment support and 
employment access schemes. The Council will work collaboratively with applicants 
and stakeholders to ensure that the needs of the local workforce and businesses are 
met and relevant initiatives are provided for proposals. Staffordshire County Council 
are preparing a Framework Employment and Skills Plan document that will also help 
developers in the preparation of their own proposals. Liaison with the County 
Council’s Head of Employability Skills will be advised at an early stage of the 
process to advise on relevant support. 

Transport Infrastructure  
4.42. The NPPF requires the planning system to promote sustainable travel. It also states 

that transport issues should be considered from the earliest stages of plan making 

 
13 https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/facilities-for-primary-and-community-care-services-hbn-11-01/  

Page 39

https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/facilities-for-primary-and-community-care-services-hbn-11-01/


20 
 

and development proposals. When assessing development proposals, it should be 
ensured that any significant impacts from the development on the transport network, 
or on highway safety can be cost effectively mitigated to an acceptable degree. 
Developments that generate a significant amount of movement will usually be 
required to provide a travel plan. Very large sites may also be required to employ a 
travel plan coordinator for a set period. A contribution towards the County Council 
monitoring of the plan will also be required based on the size of the development.   

4.43. Policy T1 Development and Sustainable Transport seeks to ensure that 
development reduces reliance on the private car and can be safely accessed in a 
sustainable manner. Proposals should minimise the need to travel, particularly by 
unsustainable modes of transport in line with the Integrated Transport Strategy. 
Applicants should also consider how proposals can enhance the existing path 
network in line with the Staffordshire County Council Rights of Way Improvement 
Plan. Developer contributions will be used to deliver transport and accessibility 
improvements required to accord with this policy.  

4.44. Staffordshire County Council are responsible for collecting contributions in relation to 
highways and therefore will be consulted at the earliest stage possible. The majority 
of highways improvements and modifications are secured by planning conditions, in 
consultation with the highways department. Developer contributions sought through 
a Section 106 agreement may be used by the Highway Authority to carry out 
improvements to the highway network to accommodate the development. This 
mechanism can also allow the Highway Authority to seek contributions towards 
travel planning, public transport services, sustainable travel and pedestrian and 
cycle infrastructure, provided that the NPPF planning tests are met. Active and 
sustainable travel have also been considered under the Climate Change section. 

4.45. As agreed by all parties and developers, a fair and proportionate cost is to be 
provided towards highway infrastructure, and this is calculated through the following 
approach outlined by Highways England for each location/junction where mitigation 
is required. Firstly, the cost of each mitigation scheme is determined based on the 
requirements to accommodate the cumulative traffic demands from the Local Plan 
growth strategy for the area and the impacts of the proposed development. The cost 
of improvement is then based proportionately on the impact of the proposal. The 
County Council and National Highways will advise on each application on a case-by-
case basis, in delivering a fair and proportionate developer contribution strategy 
towards highway mitigation.  

Education 
4.46. Schools are a crucial element of local infrastructure and therefore provision of 

school places must be considered alongside the delivery of new homes. The NPPF 
notes the importance of having a sufficient choice of school places available to meet 
the needs of existing and new communities. The NPPF states that local planning 
authorities should:  

• Give great weight to the need to create, expand or alter schools through the 
preparation of plans and decisions on applications; and 

• work with school promoters, delivery partners and statutory bodies to identify and 
resolve key planning issues before applications are submitted. 

4.47. Policy SS1 acknowledges the requirement for new development to contribute 
positively to the social, economic and environmental improvement of Staffordshire 
Moorlands and will work in partnership with other agencies and statutory providers 
to deliver key services such as education. The County Council is the Local 
Education Authority and has the statutory duty for the provision of education. The 
SPD will therefore not set out the County Council’s education infrastructure 

Page 40



21 
 

contributions policy, as the Staffordshire Education Infrastructure Contributions 
Policy14 sets out the approach to identify the impact of new residential development 
on education infrastructure. It also provides the basis for calculating likely education 
infrastructure contributions  

4.48. An important consideration that is particularly relevant for education provision, but 
may apply across other S106 typologies, is the requirement for ‘forward funding’. 
The County Council may need to spend money in advance of receiving S106 
funding in order to meet demand at a specific time.  Accordingly, the S106 may 
provide for contributions due under the agreement to be spent in advance if required 
for the purposes set out in the S106 before the trigger in the S106 is reached to pay 
the money to the County Council. 

Air Quality 
4.49. Air pollution is the largest contributor to the burden of disease from the environment 

which impacts on the whole population. Current evidence indicates that air pollution 
is associated with cardiovascular disease, lung cancer, respiratory disease, asthma 
and stroke. In the Staffordshire Moorlands, the primary source of air pollution is from 
road traffic emissions and two Air Quality Management Area (AQMAs) have been 
declared within the district, in Leek and Cellarhead, due to exceedances of the 
annual mean objective for nitrogen dioxide (NO2) from this source.   

4.50. The impact on air quality is a material consideration in making planning decisions. 
Paragraph 181 of the NPPF highlights that planning decisions should ensure that 
new development in AQMAs is consistent with the Council’s local air quality action 
plan, and local policies should contribute to meeting national objectives for air 
quality.  

4.51. Staffordshire Moorlands District Council‘s Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP) has been 
produced as part of statutory duties required by the Local Air Quality Management 
framework. It outlines the action the Authority will take to improve air quality in 
Staffordshire Moorlands between June 2019 -2024. Larger developments may be 
required to submit an Air Quality Assessment, to determine impacts of the proposal 
and then by providing mitigation measures to offset any identified impacts or by 
making a financial contribution. If a financial or in-kind contribution is deemed 
necessary, a project sum will be identified and agreed on a case-by case basis, 
based on the Air Quality appraisal: damage cost guidance issued by defra.  

4.52. Contributions could relate to the following:  

• Mitigation of construction impacts such as dust control and related emissions. 

• On or off-site monitoring of air pollution. 

• Green travel plans. 

• Measures identified in local Air Quality Action Plans (where relevant). 

• Low emission vehicle refuelling infrastructure. 

• Renewable fuel and energy generation projects. 

• Public transport improvements. 

Climate Change 
4.53. The NPPF outlines the importance of the planning system in shaping places to 

reduce emissions, support renewable and low carbon energy, improve resilience, 
 

14 https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/Education/Schoolsandcolleges/PlanningSchoolPlaces/Information-for-
developers/Planning-policy.aspx  

Page 41

https://uk-air.defra.gov.uk/aqma/local-authorities?la_id=258
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/assess-the-impact-of-air-quality/air-quality-appraisal-damage-cost-guidance
https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/Education/Schoolsandcolleges/PlanningSchoolPlaces/Information-for-developers/Planning-policy.aspx
https://www.staffordshire.gov.uk/Education/Schoolsandcolleges/PlanningSchoolPlaces/Information-for-developers/Planning-policy.aspx


22 
 

support resource efficiency and endorse sustainable design and construction 
methods. Staffordshire Moorlands District Council declared a climate emergency on 
10th July 2019. The declaration commits the Council to become carbon neutral by 
2030, by working with partners across the District and region to address emissions 
from both consumption and production. Since declaring the Climate Emergency, the 
Council has produced the Climate Change Action Plan 2021/2030 (Part 1), which 
outlines the key targets to reach its Net Zero aim by 2030. This includes tackling 
emissions and improving energy efficiency in buildings as well as increasing public 
transport use, cycling and walking, managing waste and looking after the 
environment. Part two of the action plan, Aiming Low: The Way to Net Zero, refers to 
this SPD in terms of its role in securing developer contributions to support climate 
change adaptation and mitigation.  

4.54. Staffordshire County Council have also declared a climate emergency and since the 
commitment to achieve net zero carbon emissions by 2050 was made in July 2019, 
it has produced a Strategic Development Framework. Priority themes for the County 
are waste, air quality, organisational carbon reduction, natural environment and 
behaviour change.  

4.55. There are number of policies in the Local Plan that support a sustainable, low 
carbon future, as well as mitigating against the impacts of climate change such as 
flooding and protection of the natural environment. Policy SS1 states that 
developments will be supported where they secure high quality, sustainable 
environments that contribute effectively to tackling climate change and reduced 
carbon emissions. Policy SD1 also seeks to ensure that development proposals 
adapt to climate change through the sustainable use of resources and good practice 
design, demonstrating energy efficiency, water conservation and sourcing 
sustainable materials.  

4.56. Policies SD2 provides more specific reference to the Council’s approach to endorse 
a low carbon/renewable energy future. The Local Plan supports small and large 
scale renewable or low carbon sources of energy within development proposals if 
there are no significant adverse impacts as outlined within the policy. Further 
sustainability measures in development to support carbon saving or water saving 
measures are outlined in Policy SD3. The Local Plan policies recognise the 
importance of planning in reducing emissions as well as supporting a low energy 
future, to help deliver the key actions of the Net Zero strategy. The Climate Change 
Strategy also recognises that some actions are more effective in producing more 
lasting reductions in emissions. This is known as the Carbon Management 
Hierarchy, which looks at ways of avoiding or mitigating impacts as a preferred 
option to reduction or off-setting. 

4.57. Policy SD4 states that for development proposals that result in pollution, mitigation 
will be sought through the use of planning obligations. Policy SD5 also considers 
flood risk management and appropriate measures that should be taken to ensure 
that potential development does not increase the risk of flooding and natural 
features of the environment can be used to alleviate flooding and the impacts of 
climate change as far as possible. 

4.58. The proposed measures outlined in the following section refer to the main ways that 
developer contributions will be sought to help adapt and mitigate against climate 
change, contributing to the District’s targets and ambition to become carbon neutral 
by 2030, in accordance with the overarching policies and strategies at local, regional 
and national level.  

Page 42



23 
 

Carbon Offsetting 

4.59. Cutting emissions should be the first priority; however, where some emissions are 
hard to avoid, carbon offsetting can be used. Carbon offsetting is based on 
achieving a carbon balance between emissions generated and emissions removed 
from the atmosphere. Carbon sequestration measures that are recommended for 
inclusion in development proposals include tree planting, restoration of improved 
grassland or heather moorland, green walls and roofs (particularly in urban areas) 
and community energy initiatives 

Other Greenhouse Gas Emissions 

4.60. Carbon dioxide is the most abundant of greenhouse gases; however, other gases 
such as methane and nitrous oxide also need to be reduced to limit global warming. 
Key sources of methane in the UK are agriculture, landfill waste, natural gas leakage 
and coal mining, whilst nitrous oxide is produced by agricultural soils, fuel 
combustion (particularly transport) and nitric acid production. Therefore, land use 
associated with these sources will need to consider appropriate action to help 
reduce emissions. 

Walking, Cycling and Public Transport Infrastructure 

4.61. Related to the above measures to improve air quality and in order to promote more 
sustainable transport modes, developments that generate significant demand for 
travel should provide features such as walking/cycle path linkages or improved 
access to public transport. 

Electric Vehicle Charging 

4.62. In order to facilitate new technologies and future proof developments the provision of 
Electric Vehicle Charging Points should be incorporated into the design of residential 
and non-residential development in accordance with Building Regulations15. 

Decentralised, Low Carbon and Renewable Energy Networks 

4.63. In accordance with Policy SD2 and SD3 of the Local Plan, opportunities to meet the 
District's future energy demand through renewable or low-carbon energy sources, 
district heating networks or community energy schemes will be favoured and may be 
supported by developer contributions, particularly for larger developments. 
Developer contributions may also be applicable for renewable energy storage 
infrastructure associated to the development. 

Flood Protection 

4.64. The NPPF outlines some of the key challenges of climate change and flooding. It 
states that planning authorities should take a proactive approach to mitigating and 
adapting to climate change, taking into account the long-term implications for flood 
risk, water supply and demand considerations. 

4.65. Flood risk measures required to mitigate a development proposal should be 
managed on-site by way of S106 agreement or conditions. In some circumstances, 
a Section 106 agreement is the most effective mechanism to ensure mitigation of 
flood risk and drainage issues. These measures may cover design and maintenance 
of sustainable drainage systems (SuDS) or flood management features (Policy 
SD5). The Council will expect any flood management measures to be agreed with 
the Environment Agency (or other relevant authority) and in place prior to occupation 
of the development if required through S106. 

 
15 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/infrastructure-for-charging-electric-vehicles-approved-
document-s 

Page 43

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/infrastructure-for-charging-electric-vehicles-approved-document-s
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/infrastructure-for-charging-electric-vehicles-approved-document-s


24 
 

Water Quality & Efficiency 

4.66. Pollution risks from surface water can be decreased by reducing the volume and 
rate of water entering the sewerage system and watercourse, which can also be 
managed by SuDs. Policy SD4 outlines the requirement for new development to 
mitigate potential adverse impacts of pollution (including 
air/water/noise/vibration/light/ground contamination), which may also be addressed 
by developer contributions. 

4.67. Planning conditions may be applied when granting permission to ensure that water 
quality and resources aren’t compromised. In certain circumstances, if a condition 
cannot effectively mitigate the impact of development, it may be suitable to request 
specific developer contributions to mitigate or compensate the impacts of 
development on this valuable resource. Advice will be sought through consultation 
with relevant statutory bodies to ensure that appropriate measures and contributions 
are provided. 

Sustainable Design and Construction 

4.68. In order to ensure that new development proposals make the fullest contribution to 
minimising greenhouse gas emissions and thermal efficiency, new developments 
will be encouraged to achieve the highest standards of sustainable design and 
construction.  This could encourage measures such as energy assessments, CO2 
reduction, siting and design considerations. Policy SD1 also advocates the use of 
sustainable resources (and associated processes), which includes re-use of 
materials that should be sourced locally when possible. The Local Plan 
implementation and monitoring framework also highlights the importance of S106 as 
a mechanism to reduce the rate of climate change and address impacts of 
development through sustainable construction methods, energy use and design 
(Policies SD1-3). 

Heritage 
4.69. In accordance with Policy DC2, the Council will conserve and enhance heritage 

assets to ensure that new development contributes positively to the character of the 
built and historic environment. Where appropriate, contributions towards the 
conservation, restoration and enhancement of the historic environment and 
archaeological sites and monuments will be sought where an impact affecting a 
heritage asset, including its setting, is directly linked as a consequence of a 
development site and requires mitigation. 

Page 44



SEA Screening Assessment - Developer Contributions SPD

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council - September 2022

Page 45



41 Introduction

62 Legislative Background

83 Developer Contributions SPD

114 Assessment

165 Conclusions

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council - September 2022

SEA Screening Assessment - Developer Contributions SPD

Page 46



Introduction

3Staffordshire Moorlands District Council - September 2022

SEA Screening Assessment - Developer Contributions SPD

Page 47



1 Introduction

1.1 Staffordshire Moorlands District Council has prepared a draft Developer Contributions
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). The Council has prepared this screening
assessment to determine whether the draft SPD should be subject to a Strategic
Environmental Assessment (SEA) in accordance with the Environmental Assessment of
Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 (SEA Regulations).

1.2 The following sections set out the legislative background, details regarding the
Developer Contributions SPD, a screening assessment and the screening conclusions.

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council - September 20224

SEA Screening Assessment - Developer Contributions SPD

Page 48



Legislative Background

5Staffordshire Moorlands District Council - September 2022

SEA Screening Assessment - Developer Contributions SPD

Page 49



2 Legislative Background

2.1 The Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 explain
the process to be followed in undertaking a Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) in
respect of plans and programmes. They require an SEA to be undertaken on any land use
plan or programme "which sets the framework for future development consent of projects".

2.2 A strategic environmental assessment is unlikely to be required where a planning
document deals only with a small area at a local level (regulation 5(6) of the Environmental
Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004), unless it is considered that there
are likely to be significant environmental effects. Screening is used to determine whether
significant environmental effects are likely.

2.3 The Planning Practice Guidance (para. 11-008) offers further guidance and states
that “Supplementary planning documents do not require a sustainability appraisal but may
in exceptional circumstances require a strategic environmental assessment if they are likely
to have significant environmental effects that have not already have been assessed during
the preparation of the relevant strategic policies.”

2.4 In order to screen, it is necessary to determine if a plan will have significant
environmental effects using the criteria set out in Annex II of the SEA Directive and Schedule
I of the SEA Regulations. It is also necessary to consult with the consultation bodies
(Environment Agency, Historic England and Natural England).

2.5 Once the consultation has been undertaken, the responsible authority, which for the
purposes of this screening exercise is Staffordshire Moorlands District Council (the Council)
can determine whether a SEA is required. Within 28 days of its determination, the Council
as the responsible authority must publish a statement, setting out its decision. If it is
determined that a SEA is not required, the statement must include the reasons for this.

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council - September 20226

SEA Screening Assessment - Developer Contributions SPD

Page 50

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/planning-practice-guidance


Developer Contributions SPD

7Staffordshire Moorlands District Council - September 2022

SEA Screening Assessment - Developer Contributions SPD

Page 51



3 Developer Contributions SPD

3.1 The Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan was adopted in September 2020 and sets out
the vision, objectives, policies and site allocations to guide development in the district up to
2033. The Local Plan was subject to Sustainability Appraisal and Habitats Regulations
Assessment (HRA). The Plan and its assessments can be viewed here.

3.2 The HRA assessed the Local Plan during its preparation process for potential effects
on the integrity of the following European designated sites which were agreed with Natural
England.

Peak District Moors (South Pennine Moors Phase 1) SPA
South Pennine Moors SAC
Peak District Dales SAC
Cannock Chase SAC

3.3 There were three HRA reports published during the preparation of the Local Plan. The
HRA addendum concluded that the Local Plan policies either alone or in combination will
not result in an adverse effect on the integrity of any of the European sites. This was reviewed
by Natural England who agreed with the HRA conclusions.

3.4 The National Planning Policy Framework describes SPDs as documents which add
further detail to the policies in the development plan. They can be used to provide further
guidance for development and are capable of being a material consideration in planning
decisions but are not part of the development plan.

The Draft SPD

3.5 Policy SS12 identifies the need for a Developer Contributions SPD to provide guidance
for affordable housing, open space, education, health and other forms of infrastructure
required to address the impact of development and how contributions will be calculated. The
SPD will help ensure that the development proposals make a positive contribution to
sustainable development by providing social, economic and environmental benefits to the
community as a whole that is in line with current local plan policies. In addition, it will also
help to increase understanding of Planning Obligations and provide greater transparency in
how they are applied, thereby enabling developers to take potential costs of proposed
development into account at the earliest opportunity.

3.6 The purpose of the draft SPD is to add further detail to the Local Plan policies and it
is not the intention to introduce new policy. The draft SPD is split into two parts. The first
section sets out the Council's approach to developer contributions and covers administrative
and procedural matters such as:

Pre-application stage
Planning Applications
Triggers and payments of contributions
Indexation
Prioritisation of Contributions
Viability
Monitoring Fees

3.7 The second section covers key areas of infrastructure such as:

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council - September 20228

SEA Screening Assessment - Developer Contributions SPD

Page 52

https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/examination_library


Affordable housing (H3) which provides further detail regarding tenure split, commuted
sums, space standards, vacant building credit and rural exception sites.
Employment skills and training (E1)
Development Principles (SS1) outlines the requirement to provide necessary local
services such as healthcare and education
Sustainable use of resources & renewable/low-carbon energy (SD1 & SD2)
Sustainable measures in development, pollution and flood risk (SD3 - SD5)
Heritage Assets (DC2)
Sustainable Travel (T1)
Mitigation of retail impact on town centres (TCR3)
Open space, sport and recreation (C2) which covers local standards and contributions
for the different typologies.
Biodiversity and green infrastructure (C3 & NE1)

3.8 On adoption, the SPD will form part of the suite of Council planning documents and
will be a material consideration when considering planning applications or planning appeals.

9Staffordshire Moorlands District Council - September 2022

SEA Screening Assessment - Developer Contributions SPD

Page 53



Assessment

10Staffordshire Moorlands District Council - September 2022

SEA Screening Assessment - Developer Contributions SPD

Page 54



4 Assessment

Methodology

4.1 To decide whether the SPD might have significant environmental effects, its potential
scope should be assessed at an early stage against the criteria set out in Schedule 1 to the
Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004. This step by step
process is set out in the Office of the Deputy Prime Minster (2005) A Practical Guide to the
SEA Directiveand can be seen below in Figure 2.

11Staffordshire Moorlands District Council - September 2022

SEA Screening Assessment - Developer Contributions SPD

Page 55

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/7657/practicalguidesea.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/7657/practicalguidesea.pdf


Screening Assessment

4.2 Table 1 below shows the outcomes of each of these steps and how they have been
followed to identify whether a SEA of the SPD is necessary.

ReasonY/NStage

The document will be adopted by Staffordshire Moorlands
District Council as an SPD. The SPD will be a material
consideration in the determination of planning decisions.

Y1. Is the PP (plan or programme)
subject to preparation and/or adoption
by a national, regional or local authority
OR prepared by an authority for
adoption through a legislative procedure
by Parliament or Government? (Art.
2(a))

SPDs are optional; there is no legislative or regulatory
requirement to prepare them. This draft SPD has been
produced to supplement the statutory Local Plan. When
adopted, the SPD will become part of the Council’s suite
of planning documents.

Y2. s the PP required by legislative,
regulatory or administrative provisions?
(Art. 2(a))

The SPD is a town and country planning/land use
document. It provides guidance to help implement the
policies of the Local Plan but does not itself set out new
policy. The policies that the SPDs supplement have been
subject to SA/SEA.

Y3. Is the PP prepared for agriculture,
forestry, fisheries, energy, industry,
transport, waste management, water
management, telecommunications,
tourism, town and country planning or
land use, AND does it set a framework
for future development consent of
projects in Annexes I and II to the EIA
Directive? (Art 3.2(a))

The draft SPD sets out further guidance to supplement
Local Plan policies which apply at a local level whilst the
SPDwill become amaterial consideration when determining
planning applications in the area.

Y5. Does the PP determine the use of
small areas at local level, OR is it a
minor modification of a PP subject to
Art. 3.2? (Art. 3.3)

The purpose of the draft SPD is to provide guidance to
assist in the interpretation of adopted policies in the Local
Plan. The policies to which the SPD relates were subject

N8. Is it likely to have a significant effect
on the environment? (Art. 3.5)

to SEA (incorporated within the Sustainability Appraisal)
through the Local Plan process and no significant negative
effects were predicted.

Table 1 Screening against the SEA Directive

4.3 The criteria set out in Schedule 1 of the Regulations are shown in the table below
alongside the assessment finding in relation to the SPD.

RELATIONSHIP TO THE SPDCRITERIA FROM SCHEDULE 1 OF THE
REGULATIONS

THE CHARACTERISTICS OF PLANS AND PROGRAMMES

The SPD will not set a framework for other projects or
activities. It will provide additional guidance on existing
policies within the Local Plan that have been subject to
SEA concluding no significant negative effects are
expected.

a) the degree to which the plan or programme sets a
framework for projects and other activities, either with
regard to the location, nature, size and operating
conditions or by allocating resources;

The Local Plan includes the adopted policies on which
the SPD will supplement. The SPD will only be able to
expand and provide more guidance on the policies

b) the degree to which the plan or programme influences
other plans and programmes including those in a
hierarchy.

within the Local Plan, and will not be able to introduce

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council - September 202212

SEA Screening Assessment - Developer Contributions SPD

Page 56



RELATIONSHIP TO THE SPDCRITERIA FROM SCHEDULE 1 OF THE
REGULATIONS

new policy. The SPD will be at the bottom of the
hierarchy and will have no influence on the documents
above it.

The SPD will contribute to sustainable development by
providing more detail and guidance to support the
policies within the Local Plan. The Local Plan seeks to

c) the relevance of the plan or programme for the
integration of environmental considerations in particular
with a view to promoting sustainable development;

integrate environmental considerations and has been
the subject of SA (and SEA) which seeks to ensure
sustainable development.

The purpose of the SPD is to provide guidance to assist
in the interpretation of adopted policies in the Local Plan.
The policies to which the SPD relates were subject to

d) environmental problems relevant to the plan or
programme; and

SEA (incorporated within the Sustainability Appraisal)
through the Local Plan process. The SPD will help to
mitigate the impact of development.

The SPD is not proposing development specifically
related to waste management or water management.

e) the relevance of the plan or programme for the
implementation of Community legislation on the
environment (e.g. plans and programmes linked to waste
management or water protection).

CHARACTERISTICS OF THE EFFECTS AND OF THE AREA LIKELY TO BE AFFECTED BY THE SPD

The SPD is likely to remain relevant for the duration of
the plan period (subject to any review of Local Plan in
that time). The anticipated effects on the sustainability
of the district are expected to be positive by providing
guidance to support the implementation of policies.

a) probability, duration, frequency and reversibility of
the effects;

The draft SPD expands upon Local Plan policy and any
significant cumulative effects will therefore be consistent
with those identified for the Local Plan, as assessed
through the Local Plan SA/SEA.

b) cumulative nature of the effects;

Developer contributions will be local to Staffordshire
Moorlands district and such effects were considered
during the preparation of the Local Plan through the SA
and Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA).

c) trans boundary nature of the effects;

The draft PD does not present any risks to human health
or the environment and aim to encourage improvements
in these areas.

d) risks to human health or the environment

The SPD will be applied to all relevant planning
applications in the district, although the effects of the
SPD will be more likely felt at a more local scale (i.e. site
or neighbourhood).

e) magnitude and spatial extent of the effects
(geographical area and size of the population likely to
be affected)

The SPD will not be able to set policy related to specific
land uses. It will only affect the way in
which infrastructure is funded or provided.

f) value and vulnerability of the area likely to be affected
due to:

(i) special natural characteristics or cultural heritage;

(ii) exceeded environmental quality standards or limit
values; or

(iii) intensive land-use.

13Staffordshire Moorlands District Council - September 2022

SEA Screening Assessment - Developer Contributions SPD

Page 57



RELATIONSHIP TO THE SPDCRITERIA FROM SCHEDULE 1 OF THE
REGULATIONS

None identified. Any applications for development will
be required to satisfy the relevant policies for protection
of the character of the area before permission is granted.

g) effects on areas or landscapes which have a
recognised national, Community or international
protection status.

Table 2 Determination of the likely significance of environmental effects

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council - September 202214

SEA Screening Assessment - Developer Contributions SPD

Page 58



Conclusions

15Staffordshire Moorlands District Council - September 2022

SEA Screening Assessment - Developer Contributions SPD

Page 59



5 Conclusions

5.1 Having taken into account the assessment above it is considered that the draft
Developer Contributions SPD is unlikely to lead to any significant environmental effects
beyond those already assessed through the environmental assessments (SEA/SA and HRA)
of the Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan. In line with Regulation 9 of the Environmental
Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004, it is considered that no further
environmental assessment is required.

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council - September 202216

SEA Screening Assessment - Developer Contributions SPD

Page 60



Page 61



SEA Screening Assessment - Developer Contributions SPD

Page 62



 

Summary of responses 

General approach to developer contributions. Question 1a – Approach to Trigger Points 

Consultee 
Name 

Organisation Agree/Disagree/Other Consultee Comments Council Response 

Ralph Butler Staffordshire 
Police, Fire 
and Crime 
Commissioner 

Agree I support the approach to trigger points as a transparent and 
consistent means of considering contributions. 

Support noted 

Phil Murphy Staffordshire 
and Stoke CCG 

Agree (None) Support noted 

Emery 
Planning on 
behalf of 
client 

Bloor Homes Disagree (summary) It is unclear what approach the Council is looking to 
take in regard to trigger points. Examples are given in Appendix 2 
of the Issues and Options Paper which have a fee per trigger point. 
However, there is no clear guidance as to if the Council is looking 
to implement this or to what this sum would be, with the paper 
stating 'the exact amount to charge per obligation trigger is an 
area of work that is still undergoing further research an 
engagement with stakeholders'. The monitoring of trigger points 
and developer contributions should fall within the general duties 
of the LPA as discussed in more detail under the Monitoring 
section of this report. 

Comments noted. Details regarding 
trigger points and monitoring fees are set 
out in the draft SPD. The Community 
Infrastructure Levy (Amendment) 
(England) (No.2) Regulations 2019 allow 
fees for monitoring obligations to be 
sought from developers where:  
•the sum to be paid fairly and reasonably 
relates in scale and kind to the 
development; and 
•the sum to be paid to the authority does 
not exceed the authority’s estimate of its 
cost of monitoring the development over 
the lifetime of the planning obligations 
which relate to that development. 

P
age 63



 

Consultee 
Name 

Organisation Agree/Disagree/Other Consultee Comments Council Response 

Mr Sam 
Pierce 

Persimmon 
Homes (North 
West) 

General comment Persimmon Homes supports the proposal for appropriate trigger 
points for the payment of s106 contributions, which will allow for 
dialogue between the Council, developers and infrastructure 
providers to ensure that contributions are secured at the 
appropriate time and when and where it is needed to mitigate the 
impact of development. It is further recommended that the SPD 
make suitable acknowledgement within the SPD for the phased 
payment of s106 contributions in accordance with agreed 
milestones tied to development progression. This is of particular 
importance on larger schemes were significant upfront 
infrastructure costs are envisioned and where making provision for 
payment of s106 contributions in instalments would significantly 
improve scheme viability. 

Comments noted. The draft SPD sets out 
how triggers points will be agreed, which 
includes negotiation between the 
developer, the Council and any other 
infrastructure providers or consultees 
involved in the S106 agreement.  

Mrs Sarah 
Haydon 

Chief Officer 
Biddulph 
Town Council 

General comment Biddulph Town Council has a Neighbourhood Plan and 
Neighbourhood Development Order, which we hope will be 
adopted in Summer 2022. Within the Neighbourhood Plan 
document, the town has highlighted a number of priorities, which 
should be considered in relation to developer contributions. We 
therefore feel that those areas with adopted (or emerging- Reg 16) 
Plans should form part of the discussion about priorities, trigger 
points, etc. In relation to trigger points, we welcome early and 
ongoing discussion with developers, to ensure that funding is 
appropriately targeted and spent. 

Comments noted. The draft SPD refers to 
the emerging Biddulph Neighbourhood 
Plan.  

Ms Louise 
Eyre 
 

Cheddleton 
Parish Council 
 

No comment 
 

(None) N/A 

Mrs Wendy 
Bannerman 
 

The British 
Horse Society 
 

No comment 
 

(None) N/A 

 

 

 

 

P
age 64



 

Question 1b – Approach to Indexation 

Consultee 
Name  

Organisation Agree/Disagree/Other Consultee Comments Council Response 

Ralph Butler Staffordshire 
Police, Fire 
and Crime 
Commissioner 

Agree (None) Support noted. 

Emery 
Planning of 
behalf of 
client 

Bloor Homes General comment (summary) It is noted that the Issues and Options Paper notes that 
CMPI is more accurate as it reflects the cost of construction materials 
and therefore directly relates to development costs.  Our client (Bloor 
Homes) reserves their position on this matter until further details of 
this are put forward by the Council.  However, there are no objections 
to this in principle. 

Comments noted. The draft SPD 
clarifies that the Retail Prices Index 
published by ONS will be used as this 
will be consistent with the approach 
taken by Staffordshire County Council. 

Phil Murphy Staffordshire 
and Stoke CCG 

General comment The CCGs approach would be to request that any sums are index 
linked to the BCIS All-in Tender Price Indices 

Comments noted. The draft SPD 
clarifies that the Retail Prices Index 
published by ONS will be used but for 
certain types of infrastructure there 
may be more bespoke information 
about costings that is particularly 
relevant to a specific project, which 
could assist in informing and 
evidencing changes to costings.  

Mrs Sarah 
Haydon 

Biddulph 
Town Council 

No comment 
 

(None) N/A 

Mrs Wendy 
Bannerman 

The British 
Horse Society 

No comment 
 

(None) N/A 

Ms Louise 
Eyre 

Cheddleton 
Parish Council 

No comment 
 

(None) N/A 

 

 

P
age 65



 

 

 

Question 1c – Approach to Prioritisation of contributions 

Consultee 
Name  

Organisation Agree/Disagree/Other Consultee Comments Council Response 

Mr Sam 
Pierce 

Persimmon 
Homes (North 
West) 

Option 2 -  sub priority 
groups based on 
critical and desirable 
infrastructure 
identified in the 
Infrastructure 
Development Plan 

PPG is clear that policy requirements should be informed by evidence 
of infrastructure and affordable housing need, and a proportionate 
assessment of viability that takes into account all relevant policies, and 
local and national standards, including the cost implications of the 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and section 106 (10-001-
20190509). Persimmon Homes supports the SPD making provision for 
prioritisation of contributions where scheme viability is challenging. Of 
those proposed options set out by the Council, the Company's 
preference is Option 2 and the publication of a priority list of 
contributions formed by the IDP. It is considered preferential to Option 
1 in that it provides an element of certainty of the scale of s106 
contributions to be sought if viability is challenging and will likely assist 
in viability/developer contribution negotiations being dealt with more 
efficiently rather than the Council's using their discretion on a site by 
site basis. Persimmon Homes reserves the right to make further 
representations concerning the scale of planning obligations and 
would encourage the publication of appropriate evidence base 
documents to review implications on scheme viability. 

The draft SPD states that there may 
be circumstances where the benefits 
of development are considered by 
the Council to outweigh policy 
compliant obligations. Whilst each 
case needs to be assessed on its own 
merits the general approach that will 
be taken to prioritise contributions is 
provided in the draft SPD. This will 
also relate to priorities outlined in the 
Local Plan, Neighbourhood Plans, 
Corporate Plan and other supporting 
Council Strategies. 
 

Phil Murphy Staffordshire 
and Stoke CCG 

Option 2 - sub priority 
groups based on 
critical and desirable 
infrastructure 
identified in the 
Infrastructure 
Development Plan 
 

Prioritising contributions would appear to be the optimal solution to 
allow developers to account for such requirements at the front-end of 
the process, which can then be refined/negotiated at the pre-
application stage.  Provided the LPA retain the flexibility to adjust 
these priorities based upon emerging evidence and can account for 
variation of need across the locality this would seem a rational 
approach. The CCGs would however request that the 'Essential 
Infrastructure' quoted in the categories are set at the same level i.e. all 
fall within the Priority 1a category with the individual stakeholders 
evidencing need on a case by case basis appropriately and decision-
makers applying planning judgement accordingly. 

The draft SPD states that there may 
be circumstances where the benefits 
of development are considered by 
the Council to outweigh policy 
compliant obligations. Whilst each 
case needs to be assessed on its own 
merits the general approach that will 
be taken to prioritise contributions is 
provided in the draft SPD. This will 
also relate to priorities outlined in the 
Local Plan, Neighbourhood Plans, 

P
age 66



 

Consultee 
Name  

Organisation Agree/Disagree/Other Consultee Comments Council Response 

Corporate Plan and other supporting 
Council Strategies. 

Rajvir Bahey 
 

Sport England 
 

Other option - please 
specify below 
 

In relation to the prioritisation of developer contributions it is noted 
and welcomed that playing pitches and open space, recreation and 
sports are listed as an infrastructure type. However, the requirements 
for the aforementioned infrastructure should be informed by an up to 
date evidence base which should be regularly be reviewed on an 
annual basis. The Council's Playing Pitch Strategy (PPS) was produced 
in 2017 and it is not known if an review has taken place to ascertain if 
the document is still up to date (Sport England's Stage E process 
guidance link ) i.e. are the priorities and recommendations the same? 
Sport England recommends that the annual review should be taken 
within 3 years of the PPS being adopted and annually thereafter to 
identify if there any new prioritisations which should be reflected 
within the IDP. If the Council has not undertaken the review of its PPS, 
engaging with the sporting national governing bodies who form 
formed part of the stakeholder group, the document could be 
considered out of date. It is therefore vital clarity is provided as to 
whether such a review has taken place or whether the Council are 
going to produce a new PPS. Should a prioritisation approach be taken 
forward it is vital that requests are based on up to date evidence and 
costings, with monitoring as to the delivery of any identified 
deliverable schemes. This is vital particularly where there are viability 
issues to ensure contributions are not allocated to schemes which are 
not deliverable as opposed to going towards other infrastructure 
provisions (lower down the prioritisation order) which would support 
the development and its residents. 

Comments noted. The draft SPD 
states that there may be 
circumstances where the benefits of 
development are considered by the 
Council to outweigh policy compliant 
obligations. Whilst each case needs to 
be assessed on its own merits the 
general approach that will be taken to 
prioritise contributions is provided in 
the draft SPD. This will also relate to 
priorities outlined in the Local Plan, 
Neighbourhood Plans, Corporate Plan 
and other supporting Council 
Strategies. 
The Council intends to update the PPS 
and incorporate the evidence into the 
Infrastructure Development Plan 
(IDP).  

Kezia 
Taylerson 
 

Historic 
England 
 

Other option - please 
specify below 
 

When considering the prioritisation of contributions from paragraph 
2.7 onwards, when would a situation occur where contributions for 
desirable infrastructure, such as public realm, are sought? Is it not 
likely that monies would always be spent on infrastructure from the 
higher priority levels? 
 

Comments noted. The draft SPD 
allows for a further consideration of 
contributions within the prioritisation 
process based on their value, 
particularly where viability is an issue. 
It also gives further consideration to 
assessing  contributions according to 

P
age 67



 

Consultee 
Name  

Organisation Agree/Disagree/Other Consultee Comments Council Response 

their value to maximise the overall 
contribution. 

James 
Chadwick 
 

Spatial 
Planning 
Policy Officer 
Staffordshire 
County 
Council 
 

Other option - please 
specify below 
 

We support the principle of having a pre-determined structure in place 
to guide decision making on S106 contributions where viability is an 
issue, but the District Council believes there is still merit in bringing 
development forward. The County Council is an infrastructure provider 
in its own right and receives S106 contributions directly from new 
development. The SPD provides an overview of possible Options for 
consideration, but the detail is limited. As such we'd welcome the 
opportunity to explore with you the three options presented in the 
SPD outside of this consultation. In relation to Option 2 at this stage 
we would comment that under Priority 1a the contribution type listed 
as 'Highway Infrastructure' be changed to 'Transport Infrastructure'. 
Whilst the term Highway here does refer to all infrastructure works 
within the highway it could be misinterpreted by the reader as 
favouring works relating to motorised vehicle traffic. The use of 
Transport Infrastructure provides a more nuanced approach and 
broader context to include, for example, infrastructure works for 
cyclists and/or pedestrians. With regard proposed Option 3 there is an 
apparent inconsistency in Table 2. Critical Infrastructure is defined as 
'Infrastructure which must happen to enable growth'. Whereas 
Desirable Infrastructure is defined as 'Infrastructure required for 
sustainable growth'. It is assumed that Critical infrastructure should 
also be defined as enabling sustainable growth. 
 

Comments noted. The draft SPD 
states that there may be 
circumstances where the benefits of 
development are considered by the 
Council to outweigh policy compliant 
obligations. Whilst each case needs to 
be assessed on its own merits the 
general approach that will be taken to 
prioritise contributions is provided in 
the draft SPD. This will also relate to 
priorities outlined in the Local Plan, 
Neighbourhood Plans, Corporate Plan 
and other supporting Council 
Strategies. 
 
The draft SPD refers to ‘Transport 
Infrastructure’ rather than ‘Highway 
Infrastructure’. 

Emery 
Planning on 
behalf of 
client 
 

Bloor Homes 
 

Other option - please 
specify below 
 

(Summary) There appears to be some overlap between the proposed 
options, with all of them relying upon the Infrastructure Delivery Plan 
being updated regularly. By choosing proposed option 2 or 3, the 
Council would be limiting how the developer contributions are spent, 
as what is 'critical' for one development, may not even be desirable for 
another. Whilst it is the aim that the IDP will be frequently updated, 
The Developer Contributions SPD will not have regular updates and 
what is 'critical' when first drafted may not be needed in years to 
come.  Our client (Bloor Homes) would like to be consulted again once 
the Council can provide further information on the preferred method 

Comments noted. The draft SPD 
states that there may be 
circumstances where the benefits of 
development are considered by the 
Council to outweigh policy compliant 
obligations. Whilst each case needs to 
be assessed on its own merits the 
general approach that will be taken to 
prioritise contributions is provided in 
the draft SPD. This will also relate to 

P
age 68



 

Consultee 
Name  

Organisation Agree/Disagree/Other Consultee Comments Council Response 

and how this will be monitored. We believe that the best option for 
the prioritisation of contributions is for each case to be considered 
under its own merits. Also more detail is required on the sub-option 
and how this would interact with the main option. Our client (Bloor 
Homes) reserves their position on this matter. 
 

priorities outlined in the Local Plan, 
Neighbourhood Plans, Corporate Plan 
and other supporting Council 
Strategies. 
 

Mr Richard 
Goodall 
 

 Other option - please 
specify below 
 

With Section 2:11 of your document, type of development will 
influence which contributions are most important, for example a large 
residential development could identify education and affordable 
housing as priorities. This statement of Section 2:11 certainly suits the 
large building firms who can distribute funding whether it is called 
s106 or not for local projects as a just every day occurrence, but the 
bottom line is how much profit can they make from their 
development. The medium and small building firms can not match 
what the 'big boys' consider as loose change for funding contributions. 
Some of the large building firms believe funding local projects gives 
them the opportunity to do what they want with their building 
development, point in question being St. Modwen at Blythe Bridge. 
Yes their funding money has created better facilities at Forsbrook 
Village Hall, but NO affordable housing at their development at Blythe 
Vale. Is that a trade off Staffordshire Moorlands District Council and 
the elected councillor for Blythe Bridge and Forsbrook really wanted? 
Developer contributions need clarity and identification in fulfilling a 
'local' necessity for those developments which they are attached to. 

Comments noted. The draft SPD 
states that there may be 
circumstances where the benefits of 
development are considered by the 
Council to outweigh policy compliant 
obligations. Whilst each case needs to 
be assessed on its own merits the 
general approach that will be taken to 
prioritise contributions is provided in 
the draft SPD. This will also relate to 
priorities outlined in the Local Plan, 
Neighbourhood Plans, Corporate Plan 
and other supporting Council 
Strategies. 
 

Ralph Butler 
 

Staffordshire 
Police, Fire 
and Crime 
Commissioner 
 

Sub-option (add on to 
any of the Options 
above) -  based on the 
value of contribution 
and effectiveness 

(None) Noted. 

Mrs Sarah 
Haydon 
 

Biddulph 
Town Council 
 

Sub-option (add on to 
any of the Options 
above) - based on the 
value of contribution 
and effectiveness; 
Option 2 -  sub priority 

Table 1 should include the following additions:  Priority 1a should 
include sewage/ waste water treatments Priority 2a should include 
Protection of Biodiversity sites Sustainable travel should include cycle 
paths and footpaths It is essential that the LPA engages with the Town 
Council and references the Neighbourhood Plan in any considerations. 
 

Comments noted. The draft SPD 
states that there may be 
circumstances where the benefits of 
development are considered by the 
Council to outweigh policy compliant 
obligations. Whilst each case needs to 

P
age 69



 

Consultee 
Name  

Organisation Agree/Disagree/Other Consultee Comments Council Response 

groups based on 
critical and desirable 
infrastructure 
identified in the 
Infrastructure 
Development Plan 
 

be assessed on its own merits the 
general approach that will be taken to 
prioritise contributions is provided in 
the draft SPD. This will also relate to 
priorities outlined in the Local Plan, 
Neighbourhood Plans, Corporate Plan 
and other supporting Council 
Strategies. 

Mrs Wendy 
Bannerman 

The British 
Horse Society 

No comment 
 

(None) N/A 

Ms Louise 
Eyre 

Cheddleton 
Parish Council 

No comment (None) N/A 

 

Question 1d – Approach to Viability 

Consultee 
Name  

Organisation Agree/Disagree/Other Consultee Comments Council Response 

Ralph Butler 
 

Staffordshire 
Police, Fire 
and Crime 
Commissioner 
 

Agree 
 

(None) Support noted. 
 

Mr David 
Pyner 
 

Highways 
England 
 

Agree 
 

From review of the Issues and Options Paper, National Highways 
support the proposed approach which applicants should take in 
conducting viability assessments for developer contributions. It is 
the responsibility of applicants to understand the scope of their 
site's likely traffic impacts on the highway network, as well as the 
existing conditions of network, such that the likely need for 
mitigation and associated costs can be considered as early as 
possible. Early engagement with National Highways is recommended 
such that we can advise on this matter. 
 

Comments noted. 

James 
Chadwick 
 

Staffordshire 
County 
Council 

Agree 
 

We support the proposal for the SPD to include a formal protocol in 
place to deal with viability issues that arise. 
 

Support noted. 
 

P
age 70



 

Consultee 
Name  

Organisation Agree/Disagree/Other Consultee Comments Council Response 

 

Mrs Sarah 
Haydon 

Biddulph 
Town Council 

Agree 
 

(None) Support noted. 
 

Phil Murphy 
 

Staffordshire 
and Stoke CCG 

Agree 
 

(None) Support noted. 
 

Emery 
Planning on 
behalf of 
client 
 

Bloor Homes 
 

Disagree 
 

(Summary) The Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan and Site 
Allocations Viability Study was utilised as an assessment of the 
overall viability of development in the district, providing a viability 
framework within which to consider the proposed site allocations. It 
was found in the study that many of the sites were not viable, which 
has resulted in few development sites being brought forward in the 
Staffordshire Moorlands 5 Year Housing Land Supply.  The SPD 
should ensure that the proposed options for planning obligations are 
viable and ensure that development that is required to meet local 
needs can take place. It is therefore critical that the Council does not 
pursue contributions through the SPD and Section 106 obligations 
which are out of step with the level of contributions tested at the 
Local Plan stage.  It is noted that the Council do not intend to utilise 
CIL to secure Developer Contributions. Further clarification as to why 
the developer contributions cannot be provided through CIL and 
need to be dealt with separately. This would be an appropriate 
forum for viability to be properly considered at a plan wide level, if 
the Council considers that development can support contributions at 
a higher level than accounted for in the Local Plan viability work. 
 

Comments noted. The draft SPD sets 
out the approach to prioritisation of 
contributions where there are viability 
issues. CIL might be replaced by a new 
single infrastructure levy proposed as 
part of national planning reforms. The 
Local Plan is still reliant on S106 and 
this will be used until the new national 
levy is in place.  

Mrs Wendy 
Bannerman 

The British 
Horse Society 

No comment (None) N/A 

Ms Louise 
Eyre 

Cheddleton 
Parish Council 

No comment (None) N/A 

 

 

 

 

P
age 71



 

Question 1e – Approach to Monitoring Fees 

Consultee 
Name  

Organisation Agree/Disagree/Other Consultee Comments Council Response 

Ralph Butler 
 

Staffordshire 
Police, Fire 
and Crime 
Commissioner 

Agree 
 

(None) Support noted 
 

Mrs Sarah 
Haydon 

Biddulph 
Town Council 

Agree 
 

(None) Support noted 
 

Phil Murphy 
 

Staffordshire 
and Stoke CCG 

Agree 
 

(None) Support noted 
 

Emery 
Planning on 
behalf of 
client 
 

Bloor Homes 
 

Disagree 
 

(Summary) The monitoring of developer contributions should be 
classified as the general duties of the LPA. The payment of a 
monitoring or administration fee is not necessary to make the 
development acceptable in planning terms and therefore should not 
be included in the SPD.  This is supported by a High Court judgement 
of Oxfordshire County Council v Secretary of State for Communities 
and Local Government and others (2015) EWHC 186 (Admin). An 
appeal inspector ruled that several payments in a section 106 
agreement were not necessary to make the development acceptable 
in planning terms. One of the payment obligations that was struck 
out was the obligation to pay a sum to Oxfordshire County Council 
for its costs of administering and monitoring the S106 agreement. 
This decision was then challenged by the County Council, but the 
High Court upheld the decision on the grounds that it was part of the 
Council's functions as a LPA to administer, monitor and enforce 
planning obligations in S106 agreements.  A standardised approach 
to monitoring fees is not appropriate for all development, as found 
within the High Court judgement. Monitoring fees may only be 
appropriate for very large scale developments and the LPA should 
therefore assess each case on an individual basis rather than 
applying a standard approach to monitoring. 

The Community Infrastructure Levy 
(Amendment) (England) (No.2) 
Regulations 2019 allow fees for 
monitoring obligations to be sought 
from developers where:  
•the sum to be paid fairly and 
reasonably relates in scale and kind to 
the development; and 
•the sum to be paid to the authority 
does not exceed the authority’s 
estimate of its cost of monitoring the 
development over the lifetime of the 
planning obligations which relate to 
that development. 

Mr David 
Pyner 
 

Highways 
England 
 

General comment 
 

We have no comments to make on the subject of monitoring and 
administration fees associated with the potential changes to 
developer S106 agreements for developer contributions. 

Comments noted. 

P
age 72



 

Consultee 
Name  

Organisation Agree/Disagree/Other Consultee Comments Council Response 

James 
Chadwick 
 

Staffordshire 
County 
Council 
 

General comment 
 

In relation to the proposals for Monitoring of Obligations it is noted 
that this is still a work in progress. The County Council is also 
required to Monitor Obligations for which it is responsible e.g. 
Education, Transport. Therefore, it would be prudent to engage with 
our Legal Department to understand what the how the County is 
proposing to undertake monitoring of obligations and how it will go 
about collecting contributions to this end from developers. Should it 
transpire that District and County have differing approaches the SPD 
should note this and signpost developers to contact SCC. 

Comments noted. The Council has 
liaised with SCC and the draft SPD 
signposts to the Staffordshire 
Education Infrastructure Contributions 
Policy and Staffordshire County Council 
pre-application advice. 

Mrs Wendy 
Bannerman 

The British 
Horse Society 

No comment 
 

(None) N/A 

Ms Louise 
Eyre 

Cheddleton 
Parish Council 

No comment (None) N/A 

 

Question 2a – Approach to Affordable Housing- Commuted Sum 

Consultee 
Name  

Organisation Agree/Disagree/Other Consultee Comments Council Response 

Ralph Butler Staffordshire 
Police, Fire 
and Crime 
Commissioner 

No comment (None) N/A 

Mrs Sarah 
Haydon 

Biddulph 
Town Council 

No comment 
 

We are happy to comment further after additional modelling work 
(3.5). In the meantime, please note that the Town Council 
preference is that affordable housing should be within the 
designated Town/ Parish boundary. 

Comments noted. 

Mrs Wendy 
Bannerman 

The British 
Horse Society 

No comment 
 

(None) N/A 

Ms Louise 
Eyre 

Cheddleton 
Parish Council 

No comment 
 

(None) N/A 

Phil Murphy 
 

Staffordshire 
and Stoke CCG 

No comment (None) N/A 

Mr Richard 
Goodall 

 No comment (None) N/A 

P
age 73



 

Consultee 
Name  

Organisation Agree/Disagree/Other Consultee Comments Council Response 

Emery 
Planning on 
behalf of 
client 

Bloor Homes 
 

Other option - please 
specify 
 

(summary) As it is unclear how the Council wish to proceed with 
affordable housing contributions, our client will reserve their 
position on this matter until options and costs are brought forward. 
 

Comments noted. 

 

Question 2b – Approach to Vacant building credit 

Consultee 
Name  

Organisation Agree/Disagree/Other Consultee Comments Council Response 

Ralph Butler 
 

Staffordshire 
Police, Fire 
and Crime 
Commissioner 

Agree 
 

(None) Support noted 

Mrs Sarah 
Haydon 

Biddulph 
Town Council 

Agree (None) Support noted. 

Mrs Wendy 
Bannerman 

The British 
Horse Society 

No comment (None) N/A 

Ms Louise 
Eyre 
 

Cheddleton 
Parish Council 

No comment (None) N/A 

Emery 
Planning on 
behalf of 
client 

Bloor Homes 
 

No comment (None) N/A 

Phil Murphy 
 

Staffordshire 
and Stoke CCG 

No comment 
 

(None) N/A 

 

Question 2c – Approach to Open Space, Sport and Recreation 

Consultee 
Name  

Organisation Agree/Disagree/Other Consultee Comments Council Response 

Ralph Butler 
 

Staffordshire 
Police, Fire 

Agree 
 

(None) Support noted. 

P
age 74



 

and Crime 
Commissioner 

Mrs Sarah 
Haydon 

Biddulph 
Town Council 

Agree 
 

p11- Open Space table should make reference to the Neighbourhood 
Plan. Again, we are happy to comment further after additional 
options appraisal work. 

Comments noted. The draft SPD refers 
to the emerging Biddulph 
Neighbourhood Plan. 

Emery 
Planning on 
behalf of 
client 
 

Bloor Homes 
 

Disagree 
 

(Summary) If developer contributions are to be sought for the 
maintenance of open spaces, this would need to be justified as the 
Council is already required to ensure the upkeep of these spaces. 
There may be some situations where this is more relevant than 
others and therefore a standardised approach should not be utilised 
for this.  Further information should be provided by the Council once 
they have looked at the potential options in more detail as it is 
currently unclear how this will be applied. 

Comments noted. The draft SPD states 
that obligations for open space and 
recreation will be based on a tailored 
approach relevant for each 
development site. It also sets out the 
Council’s approach to management 
and maintenance of open spaces.  

Rajvir Bahey 
 

Sport England 
 

Disagree 
 

The document sets out approaches towards requesting contributions 
towards playing pitches with Sport England supportive of the 
approach set out in the PPS. Sport England are not supportive of a 
standards-based approach for identifying the contribution new 
development should make towards new outdoor sports provision. 
We do not consider that such an approach is sufficiently nuanced to 
take account of existing facilities ability to accommodate additional 
demand generated by new development. For example, it may be 
more appropriate to improve or enhance existing facilities to create 
additional capacity to meet the demand from new development 
rather than create new provision. Sport England also welcomes the 
identification of contributions to indoor sports provision to meet 
identified shortfalls in provisions. Sport England's sports facility 
calculator could be utilised as a tool to identifying demand and costs 
for developments which could be incorporated within the SPD. Sport 
England would welcome further consultation on the preferred 
approach once developed. 

Comments noted. A standards-based 
approach has not been included for 
new outdoor sports provision. The SPD 
sets out the Council’s approach to 
outdoor sports provision and indoor 
sports provision.  

Mr Ian 
Dickinson 
 

Canal & River 
Trust 
 

General comment 
 

(summary) Although the SPD acknowledges the importance of having 
access to a network of high-quality open spaces and opportunities for 
sport and activity in supporting healthy lifestyles and communities as 
highlighted in Para 98 of the NPPF, it appears to place greater 
emphasis on either provision of new open spaces/recreational 
facilities or the improvement of existing formal spaces, play areas 
and facilities. The canal network is a less formalised recreational 

Comments noted. The draft SPD 
includes a section on informal 
recreation and that developer 
contributions may be secured where 
new development impacts on canal 
infrastructure. 

P
age 75



 

space but it is nonetheless equally valuable and important in 
supporting healthier and more active lifestyles.  Increased use and 
footfall generated by residential development near waterways can 
often lead to increased liabilities for the Trust. It is important to be 
able to secure developer contributions to help maintain the canal 
infrastructure when it is impacted by development, to enhance 
quality and ease of access. The Staffordshire Moorlands Green 
Infrastructure Strategy (May 2018) supports the enhancement of 
walking routes along the canal network and creation/enhancement 
of linkages with wider walking and cycling networks. We therefore 
consider that the SPD should seek to support these aims by 
acknowledging that developer contributions could be sought for 
canal and towpath improvements.  We consider that such 
contributions would satisfy the tests set out in the CIL regulations 
2010 and Para 56 and 57 of the NPPF, necessary to make a 
development acceptable in planning terms; directly related to a 
development and fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to 
the development.   

Mrs Wendy 
Bannerman 
 

The British 
Horse Society 
 

General comment 
 

The British Horse Society is the UK's largest equestrian Charity, with 
over 117,000 members representing the UK's 3 million horse riders. 
Nationally equestrians have just 22% of the rights of way network 
and are increasingly forced to use busy roads to access 
them.  Between 29.02.2020 and 28.02.2021 1,010 road incidents 
involving horses have been reported to The British Horse Society 46 
horses have died 118 horses have been injured 130 people have 
been injured 45% of riders were victims to road rage or abuse 80% of 
incidents occurred because a vehicle passed by too closely to the 
horse 43% of incidents occurred because a vehicle passed by too 
quickly This illustrates the importance of protecting, improving and 
extending safe off-road provision will help to prevent these numbers 
from increasing in the future. Open Space, Sport and Recreation 
makes no reference to PRoW and other multi-user paths with public 
access. The BHS would welcome further discussion and has detailed 
guidance on these crucial matters to ensure all users are included 
and developers meet requirements of the Equality Act 2010 and 
associated legislation. https://www.bhs.org.uk/advice-and-
information/free-leaflets-and-advice.  

Comments noted. The draft SPD refers 
to informal recreation opportunities 
and improved linkages in order to 
encourage walking, cycling and horse 
riding.  

P
age 76



 

Ms Louise 
Eyre 

Cheddleton 
Parish Council 

No comment 
 

(None) N/A 

Phil Murphy 
 

Staffordshire 
and Stoke CCG 

No comment (None) N/A 

 

Question 2d – Approach to Biodiversity 

Consultee 
Name  

Organisation Agree/Disagree/Other Consultee Comments Council Response 

Ralph Butler 
 

Staffordshire 
Police, Fire 
and Crime 
Commissioner 

Agree (None) Support noted 

Emery 
Planning on 
behalf of 
client 
 

Bloor Homes 
 

Disagree (Summary) The Council does not currently include any planning 
obligations under biodiversity and climate change but with the 
support of an updated IDP the Council aims to achieve at least 10% 
net gain in biodiversity when this cannot be secured via planning 
conditions.  It is noted that the SPD could encourage these measures 
in advance of them becoming a statutory requirement in 2023 
however there is no current policy basis in the adopted development 
plan to justify this being added to the SPD. Furthermore, the 
Environment Act mandates Biodiversity Net Gain and therefore there 
is no requirement for this to be added into the SPD. As this will 
require a deemed planning condition, the requirement for this to be 
added as a planning obligation in the SPD is unclear.  We are unclear 
on the justification behind this approach as the Local Plan does not 
include this policy and therefore cannot be applied prior to 2023 
when it becomes a statutory requirement through the Environment 
Act. 

Comments noted. The requirements of 
the Environment Act will be 
implemented as mandatory in winter 
2023 however the draft SPD states that 
the Council will work with developers 
to proactively encourage that 
appropriate contributions are sought 
for Biodiversity Net Gain in advance of 
the 2023 date.  

James 
Chadwick 
 

Staffordshire 
County 
Council 
 

General comment 
 

It is noted that the SPD makes reference to the SPD including 
measure to ensure that there is provision made to secure developer 
contributions for biodiversity net gain where it is not possible to 
deliver these through development design or planning conditions. It 
is suggested that liaison with the County Ecologist would be prudent 
to understand whether there would be any linkage to Local Nature 
Recovery Strategies, which we are awaiting guidance from DEFRA on 
implementation and confirmation of the responsible authority. 

Comments noted. The draft SPD sets 
out the Council’s approach to 
biodiversity and green infrastructure.  
It states that the Council will continue 
to work with key stakeholders to 
strengthen ecological networks and 
corridors of biodiversity value.  New 
evidence such as the Local Nature 

P
age 77



 

Consultee 
Name  

Organisation Agree/Disagree/Other Consultee Comments Council Response 

Recovery Strategy and the Council’s 
emerging Biodiversity Strategy will also 
inform biodiversity net gain.  

Mrs Sarah 
Haydon 
 

Biddulph 
Town Council 
 

General comment 
 

Reference should be made to the Environment Policies within the 
Neighbourhood Plan. Contributions should be spent within the 
Town/ Parish boundaries.  
 

Comments noted. The draft SPD refers 
to the Biddulph Neighbourhood Plan. 

Mr Ian 
Dickinson 
 

Canal & River 
Trust 
 

General comment 
 

(summary) The canal network and Rudyard Lake both provide 
important wildlife habitats and support a wide range of biodiversity 
and form part of the wider green infrastructure network, with the 
canal network forming a green corridor connecting numerous 
wildlife habitats. Both the canals and Rudyard Lake are 
acknowledged in the Staffordshire Moorlands Green Infrastructure 
Strategy and therefore it is considered that developer contributions 
towards maintaining and enhancing its role as a green infrastructure 
corridor would be justified and capable of meeting the relevant 
tests.  The Trust supports the inclusion of provisions within the SPD 
to allow Developer Contributions to be secured for the delivery of 
Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) and considers that the canal network 
and Rudyard Lake both have a potential role to play in providing 
opportunities for providing off-site BNG funded through developer 
contributions.  

Comments noted. The requirements of 
the Environment Act will be 
implemented as mandatory in winter 
2023 however the draft SPD states that 
the Council will work with developers 
to proactively encourage that 
appropriate contributions are sought 
for Biodiversity Net Gain in advance of 
the 2023 date. 

Ms K Dewey 
 

Staffordshire 
Wildlife Trust 
 

General comment 
 

Thank you for consulting us on this document. We are not able to 
comment in detail at this time, but would welcome further 
discussions with the Forward Planning team regarding the final SPD. 
We support the proposed option to include a requirement within the 
SPD for at least 10% net gain in biodiversity where these cannot be 
secured via planning conditions. Consideration could also be given to 
requiring a higher percentage in certain key areas, identified through 
Nature Recovery Network mapping, for example degraded 
landscapes linking high-value sites. This might be dealt with through 
the planned Biodiversity Strategy; the current SPD should allow for 
future policy detail. Thought will need to be given to which 
developments this will apply to, and how any off-site offsetting could 
be directed towards green infrastructure and biodiversity projects. 

Comments noted. The draft SPD sets 
out the Council’s approach to 
biodiversity and green infrastructure.  
It states that the Council will continue 
to work with key stakeholders to 
strengthen ecological networks and 
corridors of biodiversity value.  New 
evidence will also inform biodiversity 
net gain.  

P
age 78



 

Consultee 
Name  

Organisation Agree/Disagree/Other Consultee Comments Council Response 

Some projects within the Green Infrastructure Strategy would need 
to be developed further and costed, and/or a figure for monetary 
contributions per biodiversity unit determined. Particularly, a 
baseline for council-owned land in terms of biodiversity net gain 
should be an aim. Setting up a register of biodiversity net gain sites, 
and an accounting system would be helpful in readiness for 
mandatory net gain, as well as resourcing staff and training. A 'call 
for sites' for biodiversity mitigation sites would also be a useful 
undertaking. We would value further discussions on how biodiversity 
can be dealt with in this SPD. 

Phil Murphy 
 

Staffordshire 
and Stoke CCG 
 

General comment 
 

The approach to 10% net gain in advance of national requirements is 
understood but where developers can evidence no net loss on site 
and can demonstrably mitigate for any unavoidable losses on site 
but not necessarily achieve 10% gain within the spatial constraints of 
the site, this uplift should not then be prioritised (by way of 
commuted sums) at the expense of other infrastructural 
requirements during this period. 

Comments noted. The requirements of 
the Environment Act will be 
implemented as mandatory in winter 
2023 however the draft SPD states that 
the Council will work with developers 
to proactively encourage that 
appropriate contributions are sought 
for Biodiversity Net Gain in advance of 
the 2023 date. 

Mrs Wendy 
Bannerman 

The British 
Horse Society 

No comment 
 

(None) N/A 

Ms Louise 
Eyre 

Cheddleton 
Parish Council 

No comment 
 

(None) N/A 

 

Question 2e – Approach to Climate Change 

Consultee 
Name  

Organisation Agree/Disagree/Other Consultee Comments Council Response 

Ralph Butler 
 

Staffordshire 
Police, Fire 
and Crime 
Commissioner 

Agree As the responsible body for the Fire and Rescue Service, we 
particularly support the emphasis on flood risk mitigation given the 
increasing proportion of time which the service spends responding 
to flooding incidents. 

Support noted. 

James 
Chadwick 
 

Staffordshire 
County 
Council 

Agree We support the principle of including measures within the SPD to 
ensure a greater level of climate resilience. The options presented 
include areas for which the County Council has responsibility and a 

Comments noted. 

P
age 79



 

Consultee 
Name  

Organisation Agree/Disagree/Other Consultee Comments Council Response 

 role in our capacity as Lead Local Flood Authority and Highway 
Authority. We are willing to assist in preparation of this section of 
the SPD or to provide feedback/comment on any draft wording. 

Mrs Sarah 
Haydon 
 

Biddulph 
Town Council 
 

Agree 
 

Electric Vehicle Charging points should be included within the design 
of all developments, not just major developments. 
 

Comments noted. The draft SPD refers 
to Electric Vehicle Charging points and 
Part S of the Building Regulations that 
came into force on the 15th June 2022. 

Phil Murphy 
 

Staffordshire 
and Stoke CCG 
 

Agree 
 

(None) Support noted 
 

Emery 
Planning on 
behalf of 
client 
 

Bloor Homes 
 

Disagree 
 

(Summary) The Issues and Options paper states that although there 
is no direct reference to developer contributions within the Local 
Plan policy, there is an opportunity to underpin the policy 
requirements with additional detail and specific comments that can 
be provided within a S106 agreement. The viability of providing the 
wide range of proposed options would need to be assessed to 
ensure that development can still come forward despite the 
additional contributions. Our client (Bloor Homes) would like to be 
consulted again on this matter once a clearer approach is outlined. 
There is no reference to developer contributions for climate change 
within Local Plan policy and therefore no basis for these planning 
obligations to be secured. 

Comments noted. The draft SPD sets 
out the Councils approach in a section 
relating to climate change. 

Mr Ian 
Dickinson 
 

Canal & River 
Trust 
 

General comment 
 

(summary) The proposed options identified for supporting measures 
to minimizing the effects of climate change include the provision of 
walking and cycling links in order to promote more sustainable travel 
modes. The canal towpath provides a valuable element although it 
often requires improvement to ensure suitability for year-round use, 
particularly by cyclists. The SPD should consider the role towpath can 
play in this respect and the potential need for improvements to 
ensure it can properly fulfil this role. Again we consider that 
developer contributions for such improvements would be capable of 
meeting the relevant tests (CIL regulations 2010 & NPPF paras 56 
and 57). 

Comments noted. The draft SPD 
includes a section on informal 
recreation and that developer 
contributions may be secured where 
new development impacts on canal 
infrastructure. 

Mrs Wendy 
Bannerman 

The British 
Horse Society 

General comment 
 

3.27 refers to 'provision of cycling and walking links' without 
inclusion of other vulnerable road users, including equestrians. 

Comments noted. The draft SPD refers 
to informal recreation opportunities 

P
age 80



 

Consultee 
Name  

Organisation Agree/Disagree/Other Consultee Comments Council Response 

  Active travel does include equestrians. Jesse Norman in House of 
Commons debate on Road Safety, 5 November 2018: 'We should be 
clear that the cycling and walking strategy may have that name but is 
absolutely targeted at vulnerable road users, including horse-
riders'•. For the reasons given in the response to c. Open space, 
sport and recreation shared routes for all vulnerable road users 
should be provided for in development plans. 
 

and improved linkages in order to 
encourage walking, cycling and horse 
riding. 

Ms Louise 
Eyre 
 

Cheddleton 
Parish Council 
 

No comment 
 

(None) N/A 

 

Question 2f – Approach to Health 

Consultee 
Name  

Organisation Agree/Disagree/Other Consultee Comments Council Response 

Ralph Butler 
 

Staffordshire 
Police, Fire 
and Crime 
Commissioner 
 

Agree 
 

This section should reference Healthy and Safe Communities as per 
NPPF. As such, we strongly believe that policing and fire 
infrastructure should be included in the approach. This definition is 
currently in debate nationally in the context of planning reform. It 
does not simply relate to police buildings but also the vehicles, 
technology and operational equipment that are essential to deliver 
policing services to an expanding local population. 

Comments noted. Planning obligations 
should only be used to secure 
infrastructure where they are 
compliant with the CIL regulations.   
The draft SPD allows for consideration 
of other infrastructure not specifically 
required by the Local Plan but 
reasonably requested by an 
infrastructure provider / consultee.  

Phil Murphy 
 

Staffordshire 
and Stoke CCG 
 

Agree 
 

The need to work collaboratively and feed into strategic estates plan 
is agreed.  It is suggested that the trigger for consultation on cases is 
as follows with a recognised address for consultations moving 
forward as follows: Planning@staffsstokeccgs.nhs.uk.  Applicable 
Policy and Guidance: -National Planning Policy Framework 2021 
(NPPF) -Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) -Healthy and Safe 
Communities -Relevant development plan documents for each LPA 
and associated policy -Health Building Note 11-01: Facilities for 
primary and community care services. Type of infrastructure 
contribution may be required to support: - Construction costs for 

Comments noted. The draft SPD 
includes a section on health 
infrastructure and when S106 
contributions may be required.  

P
age 81



 

Consultee 
Name  

Organisation Agree/Disagree/Other Consultee Comments Council Response 

additional facilities/extensions, adaptations, or alterations including 
all fees, charges and VAT where applicable  - New health facilities 
(these may be co-located with other health or social care providers). 
Trigger for consultation:  - Residential - 10 dwellings or more - 
Applications for the development of concentrated/multi-tenant 
housing such as residential care homes, nursing homes, sheltered 
housing or student accommodation (these will be assessed for their 
impact on the local healthcare functions on a case-by-case basis). 
Form of contributions: - Capital monies to provide new or enhanced 
facilities - Land or buildings may also form all or part of the 
contribution - All on-costs associated with the above. Calculation of 
costs:  The calculation showing the likely impact of the new 
population in terms of the number of additional consultations is 
based on the Department of Health calculation in HBN11-01: 
Facilities for Primary and Community Care Services and this will be 
the primary method for calculating developer contributions. Primary 
contact for consultations Planning@staffsstokeccgs.nhs.uk 

Mrs Sarah 
Haydon 
 

Biddulph 
Town Council 
 

General comment 
 

Health and wellbeing outcomes can also be improved through 
investment in community facilities. This should form part of the 
consideration here. Contributions should be spent within the Town/ 
Parish boundaries. 
 

The draft SPD includes sections on 
sport and recreation and health and 
community facilities. 

Mrs Wendy 
Bannerman 
 

The British 
Horse Society 
 

General comment 
 

Much of the research relating to active travel acknowledges that 
walking and cycling are beneficial leisure activities, not primarily 
commuting methods (Menai et al, 2015; Mouratidis, 2019, etc). 
Equestrian leisure activity also has health benefits: 'Horse riding 
induces physiologically positive effects such as muscle strength, 
balance and psychologically positive changes' (Sung et al, 2015). 
According to BETA two-thirds of equestrians are women and Church 
et al (2010) found 37% of women who are horse riders are over 45 
years of age and over a third would pursue no other physical activity. 
The therapeutic and physical benefits of horse riding and carriage 
driving have been proven for people with disabilities (Favali and 
Milton, 2010). 

Comments noted. The draft SPD refers 
to informal recreation opportunities 
and improved linkages in order to 
encourage walking, cycling and horse 
riding. 

P
age 82



 

Consultee 
Name  

Organisation Agree/Disagree/Other Consultee Comments Council Response 

Emery 
Planning on 
behalf of 
client 
 

Bloor Homes 
 

General comment 
 

Presently, the Council have no set policy for negotiating developer 
contributions towards health, but the NHS / Clinical Commissioning 
Group (CCG) are consulted during the planning application stage. The 
SPD is to include a section on the provision of health to refine this 
process and the Council will continue to work collaboratively with the 
NHS/CCG to support the use of developer contributions. Our client 
(Bloor Homes) reserves their position on this matter until further 
details are provided in relation to options and costs. 

Comments noted. Policy SS1 – 
Development Principles, outlines the 
requirement to provide necessary local 
services including healthcare. The 
draft SPD includes a section on health 
and set out the Council’s approach to 
developer contributions. 

Ms Louise 
Eyre 
 

Cheddleton 
Parish Council 
 

No comment 
 

(None) N/A 

 

Question 2g – Approach to Training and Employment 

Consultee 
Name  

Organisation Agree/Disagree/Other Consultee Comments Council Response 

Emery 
Planning on 
behalf of 
client 
 

Bloor Homes 
 

Disagree 
 

(Summary) This will involve meeting specific needs identified locally 
which would be managed through a Training and Employment 
Management Plan. However, it should be noted that this could cause 
some harm to the viability of achieving development in some 
locations. If there aren't the required skills in certain areas, this will 
lead to a delay in development which could have a positive impact 
on the surrounding local area. Furthermore, there is no policy basis 
to enable the request of developer contributions for training and 
employment. 

Comments noted. Local Plan Policy E1 
states the Council will, where 
appropriate, seek to enter into 
agreements with developers and 
employers to contribute towards 
training programmes and employment 
support and employment access 
schemes. The draft SPD includes a 
section on training and employment. 

Mrs Sarah 
Haydon 

Biddulph 
Town Council 

General comment 
 

Contributions should be spent within the Town/ Parish boundaries. 
 

Comments noted. 

James 
Chadwick 
 

Staffordshire 
County 
Council 
 

Agree 
 

We support the recommendation that the SPD includes coverage for 
Employment and Training. Elsewhere in the County S106 has been 
used to secure Employment and Skills Plans and contributions to 
training and job brokerage schemes. We are preparing a Framework 
Employment and Skills Plan document that should help developers in 
the preparation of their own Plans. It is suggested that liaison with 
our Head of Employability Skills, would be useful to discuss our 
experience elsewhere in the County with such matters, the work we 

Support noted and comments have 
been reflected in the draft SPD which 
refers to the Framework Employment 
and Skills Plan and the additional 
support offered by Staffordshire 
County Council.  

P
age 83



 

Consultee 
Name  

Organisation Agree/Disagree/Other Consultee Comments Council Response 

are presently undertaking in this arena and what role SCC could play 
moving forward. 

Ralph Butler 
 

Staffordshire 
Police, Fire 
and Crime 
Commissioner 
 

Agree 
 

(None) Support noted. 

Mrs Wendy 
Bannerman 
 

The British 
Horse Society 
 

No comment 
 

(None) N/A 

Ms Louise 
Eyre 
 

Cheddleton 
Parish Council 
 

No comment (None) N/A 

Phil Murphy Staffordshire 
and Stoke CCG 
 

No comment 
 

(none) N/A 

 

Question 2h – Approach to Highways 

Consultee 
Name  

Organisation Agree/Disagree/Other Consultee Comments Council Response 

Ralph 
Butler 
 

Staffordshire 
Police, Fire 
and Crime 
Commissioner 

Agree 
 

(None) Support noted. 

Mrs Wendy 
Bannerman 
 

The British 
Horse Society 
 

General comment 
 

As previously stated, sustainable and active travel is not limited to 
walking and cycling. Horse riding is included in the Active Travel 
definition. Jesse Norman MP, Parliamentary Under Secretary of State 
for Transport in a House of Commons debate on Road Safety, 5 
November 2018 (1) stated: 'We should be clear that the cycling and 
walking strategy may have that name but is absolutely targeted at 
vulnerable road users, including horse-riders..... Horse riders are 
vulnerable road users - there is no doubt about that, and there never 
has been - and they have been included in the work we are doing".• 
Developers should reduce reliance on increasingly busy roads by 

Comments noted. The draft SPD refers 
to informal recreation opportunities 
and improved linkages in order to 
encourage walking, cycling and horse 
riding. 

P
age 84



 

Consultee 
Name  

Organisation Agree/Disagree/Other Consultee Comments Council Response 

improving and extending the off road network of bridleways, byways 
and multi-user routes and providing for safe connectivity through 
Pegasus crossings (light controlled crossings accessible to equestrians, 
pedestrians, cyclists, wheelchair users and mobility scooter users), 
under and overpasses. 

Mr David 
Pyner 
 

Highways 
England 
 

General comment 
 

National Highways has been appointed by the Secretary of State for 
Transport as strategic highway company under the provisions of the 
Infrastructure Act 2015 and is the highway authority, traffic authority 
and street authority for the Strategic Road Network (SRN). It is the 
role of National Highways to maintain the safe and efficient operation 
of the SRN whilst acting as a delivery partner to national economic 
growth. In relation to Staffordshire Moorlands District, our principal 
interest is safeguarding the operation of the A50 trunk road, which 
routes through the southern part of the District between Blythe 
Bridge and Uttoxeter. National Highways most recent involvement in 
the Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan was in October 2019 through 
review of the main modifications to the Submission Version. We 
noted the changes to the scale of housing and employment growth 
proposed for the District, and recommended early engagement with 
site promoters to consider development impacts on the A50 and 
advised that the updated growth aspirations be reflected in the 
forthcoming transport analysis. As stated within the Paper under the 
heading of Transport and Accessibility, National Highways support the 
proposal that developments which generate significant demand for 
travel or are likely to have significant transport implications will be 
required to contribute towards transport infrastructure. Historically 
National Highways has developed, along with the support of the 
relevant local planning and highway authorities, developer 
contribution schemes for highway infrastructure required to mitigate 
the cumulative traffic impacts generated by the local authority's 
allocated sites. As agreed by all parties and developers, a fair and 
proportionate cost is to be provided towards highway infrastructure, 
and this is calculated through the following approach for each 
location/junction where mitigation is required: 1. Determine the cost 
of each mitigation scheme required at each location to accommodate 

The comments are noted and have 
been reflected in the Transport 
Infrastructure section of the draft SPD.  

P
age 85



 

Consultee 
Name  

Organisation Agree/Disagree/Other Consultee Comments Council Response 

the cumulative traffic demands from the Local Plan's growth 
aspirations. 2. Determine each specific development site's traffic 
impact on each junction as a proportion of all developments' 
cumulative traffic impact on each junction. 3. Multiply the cost of 
improvement at each junction by each development's proportionate 
impact. More details can be provided on National Highways historic 
and ongoing developer contribution schemes to support Staffordshire 
Moorlands District Council in the development of a fair and 
proportionate developer contribution strategy towards highway 
mitigation. We have no further comments to provide at this stage and 
trust that the above is helpful in the development of the Developer 
Contribution SPD. 

Mrs Sarah 
Haydon 

Biddulph Town 
Council 

General comment 
 

Please refer to the Neighbourhood Plan and the sections on 
infrastructure. 

Comments noted. The draft SPD refers 
to the emerging Biddulph 
Neighbourhood Plan. 

Mrs Julie 
Turner 
 

Staffordshire 
Moorlands 
Bridleways 
Group 
 

General comment 
 

Staffordshire Moorlands Bridleways Group (which is affiliated to the 
British Horse Society) wish the following comments to be taken into 
consideration regarding developer contributions: Only 3% of public 
rights of way in Staffordshire Moorlands District are available for use 
by horse riders, compared to a national average of 22%.  The low level 
of off-road routes available for ridden and driven horses within the 
Staffordshire Moorlands is acknowledged in Staffordshire County 
Council's Rights of Way Improvement Plan.  Staffordshire Moorlands 
Bridleways Group asks that consideration be given to developers 
providing bridleways within large developments, or alternatively, 
providing bridleways in the local vicinity, particularly where a new 
bridleway would link with existing bridleways and/or create circular 
routes. Walkers, cyclists and horse riders can all legally use bridleways 
so a wide variety of users will benefit. Staffordshire Moorlands District 
has a higher than average proportion of heavy good vehicles using 
highways, in view of the number of quarries and associated industries. 
Also - the roads leading to Alton Towers carry a large amount of traffic 
and as many visiting drivers are from urban areas they are not used to 
safe driving methods when passing horses. The provision of additional 

Comments noted. The draft SPD refers 
to informal recreation opportunities 
and improved linkages in order to 
encourage walking, cycling and horse 
riding. 

P
age 86



 

Consultee 
Name  

Organisation Agree/Disagree/Other Consultee Comments Council Response 

bridleways will increase the safety of both horse riders and cyclists 
that currently have to use the ordinary roads. 

James 
Chadwick 
 

Staffordshire 
County Council 
 

General comment 
 

The Options paper does not appear to make any specific 
recommendations in relation to Transport and Accessibility. 
Paragraphs 3.37-3.39 are factually correct and we will seek to secure 
S106 contributions towards transport infrastructure improvements 
and/or to promote sustainable travel where necessary. At this point it 
is unclear what content the SPD may contain in relation to Transport 
and Accessibility but we will happily work with you or review any draft 
text as you prepare the final version of the SPD. 

Comments noted. The draft SPD 
includes a section on transport 
infrastructure which includes 
sustainable travel. 

Ms Louise 
Eyre 
 

Cheddleton 
Parish Council 
 

No comment 
 

(None) N/A 

Emery 
Planning 
on behalf 
of client 

Bloor Homes 
 

No comment 
 

(None) N/A 

Phil 
Murphy 

Staffordshire 
and Stoke CCG 

No comment 
 

(None) N/A 

 

Question 2i – Approach to Education 

Consultee 
Name  

Organisation Agree/Disagree/Other Consultee Comments Council Response 

Emery 
Planning 
on behalf 
of client 
 

Bloor Homes 
 

Disagree 
 

(Summary) It is noted that the SPD will not set out the County 
Council's Education infrastructure contributions policy but instead 
applicants will be sign-posted where to refer to this separately.  It is 
important to note our concerns in relation to how contributions are 
calculated under the Staffordshire Education Infrastructure 
Contributions Policy. The costs per pupil place have increased 
significantly. We do not consider that the updated figures are justified 
and they appear to be much higher than the figures being applied in 
other local authority areas. It is also not clear how this sits with the 
viability work which underpins the adopted Local Plan.  This is 
displayed in the Education Contributions Request Note prepared by 

The draft SPD will direct applicants 
to the County Council's published 
Education Infrastructure 
Contributions Policy so that the most 
up to date version can be accessed. 
Staffordshire County Council as the 
Local Education Authority sets out 
the context and calculations for 
collecting contributions and 
developers are advised to contact 

P
age 87



 

Consultee 
Name  

Organisation Agree/Disagree/Other Consultee Comments Council Response 

EFM for Land at Froghall Road, Cheadle. The sum requested by 
Staffordshire County Council cannot be considered to be CIL 
compliant in terms of being 'fairly and reasonably related in scale and 
kind to the development'. This is supported by a National 
Benchmarking exercise and an average taken from other local 
authorities displaying a significantly lower contribution cost than that 
under the Staffordshire Education Infrastructure Contributions Policy.  

the pre-application advice service for 
further information.  

James 
Chadwick 
 

Staffordshire 
County Council 
 

Agree 
 

We agree with the proposed approach that the SPD will direct 
applicants to refer to the County Council's published Education 
Infrastructure Contributions Policy separately. 

Support noted. 
 

 

Question 3 – Other areas you consider the SPD should cover? 

Consultee 
Name  

Organisation Consultee Comments Council Response 

Emery 
Planning 
on behalf 
of client 

Bloor Homes 
 

(summary) Bloor Homes Ltd welcome the preparation of the SPD to 
provide clarity on how planning obligations will be sought and how 
contributions will be utilised. However  - Would like further 
clarification as to why many of the matters are not being dealt with 
through CIL Regulations. - Not possible to comment on many of the 
matters addressed within the Issues and Options paper until further 
details of costs and options are brought forward. - Wish to be 
consulted throughout the drafting of the SPD when issues 
surrounding the lack of clarity and connections to the policy basis 
have been clarified. 

Comments noted. CIL might be replaced by a new single 
infrastructure levy proposed as part of national planning 
reforms. The Local Plan is still reliant on S106 and this will be 
used until the new national levy is in place. 

Mr Sam 
Pierce 
 

Persimmon 
Homes (North 
West) 
 

(summary) Thank you for providing Persimmon Homes (North West) 
Ltd with the opportunity to make comments. Persimmon has 
significant recent experience of delivering new homes within 
Cheadle. It is considered important that the Council seek the views of 
the development industry in the plan-making process, particularly 
when seeking to introduce new planning policies or obligations 
which may impact development viability and the Councils ability to 
achieve its housing requirement. Persimmon Homes does have some 
procedural concerns as to how the updated SPD is being introduced. 
The PPG continues that it is not appropriate for plan-makers to set 

Comments noted. The Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan 
was prepared under the transitional arrangements set out in 
para 214 of the 2019 Framework which states that the 
policies in the previous Framework published in 2012 will 
apply for the purpose of examining plans, where those plans 
were submitted on or before 24 January 2019. 
The draft SPD sets out the current legislative framework and 
states that developer contributions should only be used 
where it isn’t possible to address the unacceptable impacts of 

P
age 88



 

Consultee 
Name  

Organisation Consultee Comments Council Response 

out new formulaic approaches to planning obligations in 
supplementary planning documents or supporting evidence base 
documents, as these would not be subject to examination [23b-004-
20190901].  The Company is concerned that in proposing to 
introduce revised planning obligations and possible further financial 
burden on housing development through the SPD, which has not 
been subject to the level of scrutiny afforded by the examination 
process, full consideration has not been given to the impact on 
scheme viability and developers ability to bring developments 
forward viably to meet identified housing needs. The Company 
consider that any new or additional planning obligations should be 
considered as part of a future Local Plan review and subject to full 
viability appraisal. Use of Planning Obligations Notwithstanding the 
above, as set out at paragraph 1.9 and 2.7 of the SPD, the National 
Planning Policy Framework [the Framework] sets out that planning 
obligations should only be used where it is not possible to address 
unacceptable impacts arising from a development through a 
planning condition. Planning Practice Guidance [PPG] is clear that 
planning obligations may only constitute a reason for granting 
planning permission if they "meet the tests that they are necessary 
to make the development acceptable in planning terms. They must 
be: ï‚· Necessary to make the development acceptable in planning 
terms; ï‚· Directly related to the development; and ï‚· Fairly and 
reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. As per the 
Framework and PPG, the use of planning obligations should only be 
considered if it not possible to address an unacceptable impact via 
planning conditions; it should be a pre-requisite that the Council 
ensure and provide appropriate justification as part of the pre-
application/decision-making process that a contributions is justified 
and can't otherwise be dealt with via condition, and meets the 
necessary tests set out in regulation 122 of CIL. 

development through planning conditions or other statutory 
controls.  
The draft SPD states that there may be circumstances where 
the benefits of development are considered by the Council to 
outweigh policy compliant obligations. Whilst each case 
needs to be assessed on its own merits the general approach 
that will be taken to prioritise contributions is provided in the 
draft SPD. This will also relate to priorities outlined in the 
Local Plan, Neighbourhood Plans, Corporate Plan and other 
supporting Council Strategies. 
The Community Infrastructure Levy (Amendment) (England) 
(No.2) Regulations 2019 allow fees for monitoring obligations 
to be sought from developers where:  
•the sum to be paid fairly and reasonably relates in scale and 
kind to the development; and 
•the sum to be paid to the authority does not exceed the 
authority’s estimate of its cost of monitoring the 
development over the lifetime of the planning obligations 
which relate to that development 

Mr Ian 
Dickinson 
 

Canal & River 
Trust 
 

(summary) The Canal & River Trust is owner, operator and 
Navigation Authority for some 17km of the Caldon Canal and 4km of 
the Leek Branch of the Caldon Canal. We also own and operate 
Rudyard Lake which is a reservoir providing a water supply for the 

Comments noted. The draft SPD includes a section on 
informal recreation and that developer contributions may be 
secured where new development impacts on canal 
infrastructure. 

P
age 89



 

Consultee 
Name  

Organisation Consultee Comments Council Response 

Caldon Canal.  Our waterways contribute to the health and wellbeing 
of local communities and as a historic, natural and cultural asset 
form part of the green-blue infrastructure network. Inland 
waterways can help to stimulate regional, sub-regional and local 
economies. The canals in Staffordshire Moorlands, and particularly 
Rudyard Lake provide attraction that also contribute to the local 
tourist and visitor economy.  Canal towpaths offer a sustainable, 
traffic-free route for walkers and cyclists and also encourage 
healthier lifestyles and improve the overall health and wellbeing of 
local communities. As such they contribute significantly towards 
achieving a number of policy objectives. It is important to ensure 
that potentially harmful impacts on the Trust's assets and 
infrastructure from new developments are avoided or mitigated. 
Impacts can arise from increased numbers of people using the canal 
and towpath network which often necessitates improvements to 
towpath surfaces to cope with increased footfall and/or alterations 
to access points to facilitate easier use by people with differing levels 
of mobility. The Trust therefore considers that an up-to-date SPD on 
Developer Contributions will be beneficial in ensuring that there is a 
clear and consistent approach to securing appropriate contributions 
to mitigate the impact of development where existing infrastructure 
is inadequate to meet the demands generated by it.  In order to 
ensure that harmful impacts on our assets and infrastructure can be 
mitigated we consider that it is important that the SPD acknowledges 
the multi-functional roles that waterways can play and supports the 
principle of seeking appropriate contributions to support these roles 
where relevant to new developments. This will enable them to 
contribute more fully to the health and well-being of communities 
through benefits such as biodiversity, conservation and recreation. 

Mr Richard 
Goodall 
 

 From sustainable travel to better sports areas have to be high-lighted 
which all part of essential infrastructure for communities. Are 
building projects committed to this mantra consistently or only when 
it is convenient. At Forsbrook Village Hall better sporting area and 
changing rooms have been funded, but you must remember the loss 
of part of Blythe Bridge High School playing field for development to 

Comments noted. The main purpose of the draft SPD is to set 
out the Council’s approach to the use of S106 agreements 
used to secure developer contributions from new 
developments. It outlines the mechanisms for securing 
developer contributions, explains what is expected of 
applicants and what the applicant can expect from the 

P
age 90



 

Consultee 
Name  

Organisation Consultee Comments Council Response 

balance the difference. Developer contributions require more 
research and fairer opportunity for small, medium and large 
building  projects to produce the desirable infrastructure that people 
want. 
 

Council in relation to securing S106 planning agreements. It 
also will ensure that the process is fair, transparent and 
applied consistently. 

Mr Phil 
Darby 
 

 After years of fighting off the proposed development of housing on 
Green Belt farmland between Folly Lane and Rock End we are now 
informed that SMDC are once more considering going against the 
wishes of residents and general public to grant the building of houses 
on this land. All of the reasons for the previous refusal of permission 
still apply and you must surely understand that there will be 
enormous objection to any further proposal as well as to the plans to 
increase the size (and associated problems) of the AP Proteins site. It 
would appear that SMDC have little or no regard for Council Tax 
Paying residents but are very supportive  of Building Developers and 
large Commercial concerns whose ultimate goals are simply 
increased profits for themselves. Listen to the people you are 
supposed to serve. 

The Issues and Options document is a technical paper 
regarding developer contributions. The responses to the 
consultation have been used to inform a draft Developer 
Contributions SPD. It does not propose sites or land for 
development. 

Charles 
David Bode 
 

 Ball Haye Green playing field. It is several years since Ball Haye Green 
FC were evicted from their base ground behind Ball Haye Green 
Workingmans Club. Since that time their facilities which took many 
dedicated manhours and labour to achieve have being trashed. I 
understand that the initial planning application was rejected on 
various issues, and as the (community asset) status on the ground 
will soon be lifted, what happens next.? I ask this question in light of 
conflicting government guidance a) a need for more affordable 
housing b) a dire need for playing field space and community 
involvement in sport. I have witnessed in my 70 years involvement 
with BHGFC a dramatic depletion of community involvement in local 
football. Most of this stems from the schools who have sold off 
playing fields and have replaced football, cricket etc with other 
subjects etc. We have lost 90% of our local community involvement 
in football already, and the loss of this Ball Haye Green facility is 
certainly bringing local football involvement nearer to extinction. We 
need strong leadership from our local council to save this facility and 

The draft SPD sets out the Council’s approach for qualifying 
residential development to make provision or a contribution 
towards provision of open space, sports and recreation 
facilities which are necessary and reasonably related in form 
and scale in accordance with the recommendations set out in 
the various open space, sport and recreation studies. It does 
not propose land for development or refer to specific sites.  

P
age 91



 

Consultee 
Name  

Organisation Consultee Comments Council Response 

help to turn things around, and quickly! I know the government are 
advising Staffs Moorlands Council to save these facilities, what is the 
delay? 
 

Adele 
Metcalfe 
 

Community 
Policy Planner 
Peak District 
National Park 
Authority 

I confirm that the PDNP has no comments with regards to this. 
 

Comments noted. 

Ms Anita 
Williams 
 

 I see from your plans once again that we are in the same stage again 
after these plans have been turned down. What has changed! What 
a waste of time and ratepayers money. 

The Issues and Options document is a technical paper 
regarding developer contributions. The responses to the 
consultation have been used to inform a draft Developer 
Contributions SPD. It does not propose sites or land for 
development. 

James 
Aberley 
 

 In response to the issues and options for the developer contributions 
SPD. I think the important thing is from the public's perception the 
whole scheme isn't abused. In that, developers who promise to 
deliver some community benefit either financial or provision of 
facilities etc, should be asked to lodge the money for that up front 
with SMDC so that they can't just back out of it later and scale down 
the requirements which seems to happen in the majority of cases. 
Same goes for affordable housing, if a certain % of a scheme is 
designated for that, then they should build in contingency money to 
make sure that they can actually achieve that up front rather than 
change it later as it gives SMDC planning a bad name! 
 

Comments noted. The main purpose of the draft SPD is to set 
out the Council’s approach to the use of S106 agreements 
used to secure developer contributions from new 
developments. It outlines the mechanisms for securing 
developer contributions, explains what is expected of 
applicants and what the applicant can expect from the 
Council in relation to securing S106 planning agreements. It 
also will ensure that the process is fair, transparent and 
applied consistently. 

Kezia 
Taylerson 
 

 Many thanks for consulting Historic England on the above 
consultation. We have limited comments to raise on this 
consultation and we look forward to working with the Council as 
they develop their Local Plan documents. We would request the 
inclusion of heritage as a form of infrastructure that could benefit 
from planning obligations, including but not exhaustive to, 
opportunities to better reveal the significance of heritage assets 
through public realm works, public art and interpretation, improved 
walking and cycleways which create better access and appreciation 

Comments noted. The draft SPD includes a section on 
heritage which sets out where developer contributions may 
be sought.  

P
age 92



 

Consultee 
Name  

Organisation Consultee Comments Council Response 

of heritage, improvement works in conservation areas, heritage at 
risk works etc.  This could link to your Local Plan Spatial Objective 8 
which seeks enhancement opportunities for heritage and Local Plan 
Policy DC2 Historic Environment.  We are happy to liaise with you to 
discuss appropriate wording. If you have any questions on how 
Historic England can engage in the preparation of local plan 
documents, please contact us. 
 

Ms 
Melanie 
Lindsley 
 

The Coal 
Authority 
 

Our records indicate that within the Staffordshire Moorlands area 
there recorded coal mining features present at surface and shallow 
depth including; mine entries, recorded workings and mine gas 
sites.  These features pose a potential risk to surface stability and 
public safety.  The Coal Authority's records also indicate that surface 
coal resource is present in the area, although this should not be 
taken to imply that mineral extraction would be economically viable, 
technically feasible or environmentally acceptable. As you will be 
aware those authorities with responsibility for minerals planning and 
safeguarding will have identified where they consider minerals of 
national importance are present in your area and related policy 
considerations.  As part of the planning process consideration should 
be given to such advice in respect of the indicated surface coal 
resource. It is noted that this current consultation relates to a 
Developer Contributions SPD (Issues and Options) and I can confirm 
that the Planning team at the Coal Authority has no specific 
comments to make on this document. 
 

Comments noted. 

Ms Louise 
Eyre 
 

Cheddleton 
Parish Council 
 

Parish Council discussed the SPD and do approve of the document as 
this does tighten certain loop holes in areas of climate change and 
viability for affordable housing so support this being implemented. 

Support noted. 

 Severn Trent 
 

Thank you for the opportunity to comment on your consultation, we 
do not currently have any specific comments to make on your plan. 
Please keep us informed when your plans are further developed 
when we will be able to offer more detailed comments and advice. 
(Summary) A position statement states that where more detail is 
provided on site allocations Severn Trent will provide specific 

Comments noted. 

P
age 93



 

Consultee 
Name  

Organisation Consultee Comments Council Response 

comments. Some general guidelines and relevant policy wording is 
provided for the following: Wastewater Strategy Surface Water 
Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) Blue Green Infrastructure 
Water Quality and Resources Water Quality; and  Developer 
Enquiries. 
 

Mrs Wendy 
Bannerman 
 

The British 
Horse Society 
 

The Staffordshire ROWIP states that ˜There are many existing 
longstanding problems due to past development not accommodating 
or severing the path network. The emphasis is on ensuring that such 
events do not recur by improving the availability of rights of way 
information and communication with potential developers and local 
planning authorities. New development plans provide opportunities 
to improve and extend the network for the shared enjoyment of 
equestrians, cyclists and pedestrians. DEFRA has recorded a 
population of 9,775 horses just in the immediate postcode areas of 
the Staffordshire Moorlands district (2021). BETA (2021) data shows 
that each horse owned equates to a contribution of £5,548 to the 
economy giving a total of £354,231,700 per annum. Resources to 
manage a well-used and growing off-road network are needed. The 
Rights of Way and Definitive Map services within Derbyshire are 
limited which could lead to delays in maintenance, enforcement and 
determination of routes and off-road provision which is not recorded 
on the Definitive Map such as greenways and multi-user routes will 
require resources additionally.  

Comments noted. The draft SPD refers to informal recreation 
opportunities and improved linkages in order to encourage 
walking, cycling and horse riding. 

 Natural 
England 
 

While we welcome this opportunity to give our views, the topic this 
Supplementary Planning Document covers is unlikely to have major 
effects on the natural environment, but may nonetheless have some 
effects. We therefore do not wish to provide specific comments, 
but advise you to consider the following issues (summary): Green 
Infrastructure - SPD could consider making provision for Green 
Infrastructure (GI) within development which should be in-line with 
the GI strategy. The PPG provides more detail on GI. It is one of the 
most effective tools available to us in managing environmental risks 
such as flooding and heat waves. Greener neighbourhoods and 
improved access to nature can also improve public health and quality 

Comments noted. The draft developer contributions SPD sets 
out the Council’s approach to Green Infrastructure and 
Biodiversity. The Council has also undertaken a SEA Screening 
Assessment which concludes that significant effects on the 
environment are unlikely to occur and therefore further 
assessment is not required to be undertaken. Natural England 
as one of the SEA bodies has been consulted and concurs 
with the Council’s assessment.  

P
age 94



 

Consultee 
Name  

Organisation Consultee Comments Council Response 

of life and reduce environmental inequalities. Sets out examples of 
ways to retrofit green infrastructure in urban 
environments.  Biodiversity enhancement - This SPD could consider 
incorporating features which are beneficial to wildlife within 
development, in line with paragraph 118 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework. Landscape enhancement - The SPD may provide 
opportunities to enhance the character and local distinctiveness of 
the surrounding natural and built environment; use natural 
resources more sustainably; and bring benefits for the local 
community.  SEA - SPD requires a Strategic Environmental 
Assessment only in exceptional circumstances as set out in the 
Planning Practice Guidance. While SPDs are unlikely to give rise to 
likely significant effects on European Sites, they should be considered 
as a plan under the Habitats Regulations in the same way as any 
other plan or project. If your SPD requires a Strategic 
Environmental Assessment or Habitats Regulation Assessment, you 
are required to consult us at certain stages as set out in the Planning 
Practice Guidance. 

Dr Simon 
Elsdon 
 

 With the best will in the world it is impossible to pick up any sense of 
what specifically we are being asked to comment on. Endless 
sections and subsections spread across a bewildering number of 
documents feels like tick boxing for central government and/or way 
of sneaking plans past us 

The Issues and Options document is a technical paper 
regarding developer contributions. The responses to the 
consultation have been used to inform a draft Developer 
Contributions SPD. It does not propose sites or land for 
development. 

Mr John 
Williams 
 

 (Summary) Unconvinced about the need for the document which is 
being prepared by consultants. The document is difficult to work 
through due to the many parts that make up the report. It is similar 
to a document which was produced in 2015. Response refers to a 
Cheddleton Appraisal Matrix and land identified by CD002-3 which is 
located in the Green Belt. Staffordshire Moorlands Council Members 
have previously rejected proposals on this site. The Planning 
Department seems intent in pursuing the need for development on 
this land. It is considered that the Council should not be spending 
money on report and guidance which are inappropriate and 
subjective.  

The Issues and Options document is a technical paper 
regarding developer contributions. The responses to the 
consultation have been used to inform a draft Developer 
Contributions SPD. It does not propose sites or land for 
development.  

 

P
age 95



T
his page is intentionally left blank



  

 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Cabinet 
 

14 February 2023 
 

 

TITLE: 
 

Checkley Neighbourhood Development Plan 
- Regulation 15 Submission 

 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 

 
Councillor Paul Roberts - Council Leader  

 

CONTACT OFFICER: 
 

Holly Jones – Planning Policy Adviser 
 
WARDS INVOLVED: 

 

 

Checkley  

 

 
Appendices Attached  
 

Appendix 1 – Draft Checkley Neighbourhood Plan 
Appendix 2 – Checkley Basic Conditions Statement 
Appendix 3 – Checkley consultation Statement 

 
1. Reason for the Report 

 

1.1 To consider the Draft (Regulation 15) version of the Checkley Neighbourhood 
Plan to determine whether it has followed the proper legal process and that 

the legal requirements for consultation have been followed.  
 
2. Recommendation 

2.1 That Cabinet approves the Draft Checkley Neighbourhood Development Plan 
for public consultation for a six week period (Regulation 16). 

 
2.2 That Cabinet approves the commencement of the appointment of an Examiner 

and prepares to organise the independent examination. 
 
 
3. Executive Summary 

 

3.1 The Checkley Neighbourhood Plan Area was designated on 16 February 
2016. A pre-submission consultation (Regulation 14) took place between 11 
February to 25 March 2022 and a revised pre-submission consultation took 

place between 3 June to 15 July 2022. 
 

3.2 The Neighbourhood Plan sets out planning policies for the Checkley 
Neighbourhood Area concerning; housing, business and employment, 
community facilities and assets, place design and environment and transport. 

It also includes infrastructure priorities.  

Page 97

Agenda Item 8.3



  

 
 

4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  

 

4.1 The Checkley Neighbourhood Plan broadly supports part of the aims of the 

following from the Staffordshire Moorlands Corporate Plan. Aim 1 – To help 
create a safer and healthier environment for our communities to live and work, 
and Aim 3 – To help create a strong economy by supporting further 

regeneration of towns and villages. 
 

 
5. Alternative Options 

 

5.1 Where the draft Neighbourhood Plan submitted to the local planning authority 
meets the requirements in the legislation, the authority must publicise the 

neighbourhood plan for a minimum of six weeks, invite representations, notify 
any consultation body referred to in the consultation statement and send the 
draft Neighbourhood plan to independent examination. The local planning has 

to consider the submission documents and conclude whether the proper 
process has been followed and the legal requirements for pre-submission 

consultation have been carried out.  
 
5.2 If the local planning authority concludes that this has been done, they are 

required to launch the Regulation 16 consultation on behalf of the 
Neighbourhood Plan group/forum. There is not an alternative, unless the 
process had not been followed correctly. If this were the case, then the local 

planning authority would advise those preparing the Neighbourhood Plan that 
the requirements have not been met and that they would need to remedy this 

and resubmit.  
 
 
6. Implications 

 

6.1
  

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
 
No direct implications.  

 
6.2 Workforce 

 
No direct implications. 
 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 
 

An Equalities Impact Assessment has been completed. 
 

6.4 Financial Considerations 

 
Local planning Authorities can claim £20,000 once they have 

issued a decision statement detailing their intention to send a 
Neighbourhood Plan to referendum. This stage has yet to be 
reached, though the funding can be used to help meet the cost of 

Page 98



  

holding the referendum and the Examiner’s fees.  
 

6.5 Legal 

 
The Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as 

amended) define the requirements for neighbourhood planning 
under the provisions of sections 61E, 61F, 61G, 61K, 61L, 61M 
and 71A of, and paragraphs 1, 4, 7, 8, 10, 11, 12 and 15 of 

Schedule 4B and paragraphs 3 and 11 of Schedule 4C to, the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990, and sections 38A, 38B and 

122(1) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 

 

6.6 Climate Change 
 

It is considered that the Checkley Neighbourhood Plan will make a 
positive contribution in respect of its policies relating to the 
environment.  

 
6.7 

 

Consultation 

 
The Neighbourhood Plan has been subject to formal consultation in 
accordance with Regulation 14 of the Neighbourhood Plan. It is 

proposed that a six week period of consultation commence under 
Regulation 16.  
 

6.8 
 

Risk Assessment 
 

Risks are considered in section 7.  

 

Neil Rodgers 
Executive Director (Place) 

 
Web Links and 
Background Papers 

Contact details 

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/neighbourhood-planning--
2#key-stages-in-neighbourhood-planning 
 

https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/media/395/Checkley-
Neighbourhood-Plan-
Area/pdf/Map_Checkley_Neighbourhood_Area.pdf?m=14

76958820677 
 
 

Holly Jones 
 
holly.jones@highpeak.gov.uk 

 

 
7. Detail 
 

7.1 Checkley Parish was designated as a Neigbourhood Area by Staffordshire 
Moorlands on 16 February 2016.  

 
7.2 The Checkley Neighbourhood Plan has been prepared in accordance with the 

Neigbourhood Plan regulations. The submission documents include  

 

Page 99

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/neighbourhood-planning--2#key-stages-in-neighbourhood-planning
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/neighbourhood-planning--2#key-stages-in-neighbourhood-planning
https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/media/395/Checkley-Neighbourhood-Plan-Area/pdf/Map_Checkley_Neighbourhood_Area.pdf?m=1476958820677
https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/media/395/Checkley-Neighbourhood-Plan-Area/pdf/Map_Checkley_Neighbourhood_Area.pdf?m=1476958820677
https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/media/395/Checkley-Neighbourhood-Plan-Area/pdf/Map_Checkley_Neighbourhood_Area.pdf?m=1476958820677
https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/media/395/Checkley-Neighbourhood-Plan-Area/pdf/Map_Checkley_Neighbourhood_Area.pdf?m=1476958820677


  

 A map to show the area to which the plan relates 

 A consultation statement 

 The draft Neighbourhood Plan 

 Basic conditions statement 
 

These documents have been checked for compliance in line with the 
Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as amended) and the 

necessary documentation has been submitted.  
 
7.3  The map provided correctly identifies the area to which the plan relates and 

conforms with the original designation. The consultation statement 
appropriately includes details of the people and organisations consulted about 

the proposed Neighbourhood Plan, how they were consulted and a summary 
of the main issues and how these have been addressed.  

 

7.4 The draft neighbourhood plan has been submitted by the qualifying body. At 
this stage there is no requirement to comment on the details of the 

Neighbourhood Plan. Officers will prepare a response under the Regulation 16 
consultation. 

 

7.5 The basic conditions statement explains how the plan has regard to the 
National Planning Policy Framework, how the plan contributes to sustainable 

development and is in general conformity with strategic policies in the adopted 
Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan. It also confirms how the plan meets other 
legal requirements. The statement adequately addresses these points and the 

submission material is considered to be acceptable and fulfils the requirement.  
 

7.6 In addition to the responsibility for checking the submission and hosting the 
consultation, the responsibility for appointing an examiner and arranging the 
independent examination also lies with the local planning authority. The 

appointment will be agreed with the Neighbourhood Plan group.  
 

7.7 It is incumbent upon the local planning authority to reach a decision on 
whether the necessary submission documents have been provided and that 
the correct process has been followed. Failure to reach a decision would halt 

the progress of the Neighbourhood Plan.   
 

7.8 The above information supports the recommendations set out in section 2.  
 

 

Page 100



 

 Page 101



 1 

 

Table of Contents 

1.0 Introduction ................................................................................................................................. 3 

2.0 Vision and Aims ............................................................................................................................ 5 

3.0 About the Parish ........................................................................................................................... 8 

3.1 Strategic Context ................................................................................................................................... 8 

3.2 Socio- Economic Context ..................................................................................................................... 12 

3.3 Land Use ............................................................................................................................................. 13 

3.4 Housing Stock and Housing Needs Assessment..................................................................................... 14 

3.5 Property Prices .................................................................................................................................... 15 

3.6 Land Prices .......................................................................................................................................... 15 

3.7 Community Facilities ........................................................................................................................... 16 

3.8 Traffic and Infrastructure ..................................................................................................................... 16 

3.9 Environment ....................................................................................................................................... 19 

4.0 Community and Stakeholder Engagement .................................................................................. 29 

4.1 Overview of Community Engagement .................................................................................................. 29 

4.2 Activities ............................................................................................................................................. 30 

4.3 Key Outcomes and Issues .................................................................................................................... 31 

5.0 Policies for Checkley Parish Neighbourhood Area ........................................................................ 33 

5.1 Housing ...................................................................................................................................... 34 
HSG1: Housing and Site Allocations ........................................................................................................................................ 38 
HSG2: Housing Mix .................................................................................................................................................................. 43 

5.2 Business and Employment ................................................................................................................... 44 
EMP1: Upper Tean High Street ............................................................................................................................................... 47 
EMP2: Heritage-Led Regeneration .......................................................................................................................................... 48 
EMP3: Rural Business Diversity and Growth .......................................................................................................................... 49 

5.3 Community Facilities and Assets .......................................................................................................... 50 
COM1: Community, Sport and Recreational Facilities ........................................................................................................... 53 
LGS1: Local Green Space .......................................................................................................................................................... 54 

5.4 Place, Design and Environment ............................................................................................................ 57 
DES1: Design ............................................................................................................................................................................ 61 
DES2: Infill ................................................................................................................................................................................ 63 
DES3: Landscape and Rural Character .................................................................................................................................... 64 
DES4: Conservation Areas ....................................................................................................................................................... 68 

5.5 Transport ............................................................................................................................................ 69 
TRA1: Transport ....................................................................................................................................................................... 71 

6.0 Infrastructure Priorities .............................................................................................................. 73 

7.0 Green Development Guidance Note ............................................................................................ 75 
 

Page 102



 2 

 

 

Introduction  

Page 103



 3 

1.0 Introduction  

 

The Parish of Checkley was designated a Neighbourhood Area on the 16th of February 2016. The designated area 

includes the villages of Upper Tean, Lower Tean, Checkley and Hollington and the hamlet of Fole and their rural 

surroundings. This Neighbourhood Development Plan aims to make the Parish of Checkley an even better place to be, 

now and for future generations. The Checkley Parish Neighbourhood Development Plan, referred to hereafter as “This 

Neighbourhood Plan” throughout this document, will cover the period of 2021 to 2035 and will form part of the 

statutory development plan for the designated area, together with the adopted Local Plan September 2020. Planning 

applications must be determined in accordance with the statutory development plan unless material considerations 

indicate otherwise.  

 

The Neighbourhood Plan process enables communities to shape where they live, to have an input how development 

takes place by influencing the type, quality, and location of a development. Ensuring that changes come along with a 

local benefit. 

 

This Neighbourhood Plan has been prepared by residents, stakeholders and members of the Checkley Parish Council 

working as part of a Neighbourhood Planning Steering Group assisted by individual residents’ groups from each of the 

four main villages and with support from Urban Vision Enterprise CIC and Staffordshire Moorlands District Council.  

The plan has involved several key steps and is based on extensive research and influenced by robust engagement with 

residents and stakeholders (see Stakeholder Engagement Section). 

 

This Neighbourhood Plan will continue to be monitored by the Steering Group and Checkley Parish Council 

throughout the Plan period to 2035.  Monitoring will include: 

• planning decisions to see how the plan is being used in practice; 

• any changes in national policy, guidance or legislation;  

• any changes in or local plan policy or guidance; and 

• any other changes in the Neighbourhood Area (social, economic and environmental).  

 

The plan will be reviewed and updated if and when necessary, a regular report will be prepared on the monitoring.  

 

 

 

  

Page 104



 4 

 

Vision and Aims  

Page 105



 5 

2.0 Vision and Aims 

 

 VISION 

In 2035 Checkley Parish, will still be a tranquil, safe environment with a strong community spirit whilst keeping the 

individuality of four separate villages all with their own historical feel and setting.  

Upper Tean High Street is thriving in both daytime and evening, and the appearance of the High Street reflects that. 

Checkley Parish remains a parish with a distinct identity sitting in a rural setting. Development has served to improve 

access to the countryside surrounding Checkley Parish, which itself is protected from inappropriate development. 

This means that more Checkley Parish residents can continue to enjoy the countryside. 

 AIMS 

 HOUSING 

Ensure future housing responds to the local needs and supports sustainability. With sympathetic development 

including a mixture of affordable housing and retirement properties, with a primary focus on brown field sites, to 

preserve the visual attractive character of the landscape and high-quality agricultural land. 

 TRANSPORT 

Promote safer streets by encouraging traffic calming, accessibility to transport links and sensitive parking solutions. 

 BUSINESS 

Continue to encourage a range of commercial and community activities and services by preserving local facilities and 

organisations and supporting appropriate farm diversification. 

 LEISURE AND RECREATION 

Encourage the provision of open space to improve leisure and recreational facilities for residents of all ages. Inspire 

a safe environment for young children to play in, and protect existing assets such as village halls, schools and other 

community buildings and green spaces and spaces used for community events. 

 ENVIRONMENT 

Protect our distinctive landscape and wildlife to preserve the rural feel. 

 

 

Page 106



 6 

Great Wood Hall, 
Upper Tean

St John's Church, 
Hollington

St Mary's and All 
Saints, Checkley

The River Tean

 DESIGN AND HERITAGE 

Ensure all development opportunities are sustainable and in keeping with the historical and rural character of our 

individual villages. 

 

  

Page 107



 7 

 

About the Parish  

Page 108



 8 

3.0 About the Parish 

3.1 Strategic Context 

Checkley Parish is in the southwest corner of the administrative area of Staffordshire Moorlands. It is one of the largest 

parishes in the Staffordshire Moorlands. The parish consists of four main villages (see introductions below), and the 

hamlet of Fole. All surrounded by an historical, attractive, and diverse rural landscape of high visual sensitivity. The 

land area of the parish is 22 square kilometres, it has a population of 4,829 (UK Office for National Statistics estimate 

December 2020) and over 2,000 households. 

 

The parish is crisscrossed by footpaths and bridleways giving access to river, woodland, and hilltop walks. The parish 

is also one of the gateways through to The Peak District National Park and valley of the River Churnet sharing landscape 

characteristics with both. There are 58 listings of buildings and structures for the Parish of Checkley. The parish has 

two conservation areas, the largest village conservation area in the Staffordshire Moorlands in Upper Tean and the 

whole of the village of Checkley. There are three scheduled monuments in the parish area, the bowl barrow in Lower 

Tean, 3 Saxon Crosses in Checkley Churchyard and Blithewood medieval moated site in the far south west. Alton 

Towers theme park is just to the northeast of the northern parish boundary. There is a new golf course and country 

club just outside the parish. 

 

Upper Tean – An Introduction to the Village 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The largest village in the Parish of Checkley and the largest village in the southern part of the Staffordshire Moorlands, 

a district of considerable natural diversity and beauty known locally as "the best kept secret in England".  Upper Tean 

sits in the valley of the River Tean surrounded by hills rising in the east to 234m. The village was first recorded in the 

Domesday book and received a market charter in 1355, the layout of the village is little changed from medieval times. 

Today the village is defined by its historic built environment, green spaces, rural surroundings, and views. The centre 

of the village is a designated conservation area, overall, the village and immediate outskirts has no less than 20 listed 

buildings or structures including the nationally important Grade II * buildings of New Tean Hall Mill dating from the 

mid to late 18th century and Tean Hall dating from 1613 in the reign of James 1st. Both buildings uniquely sitting 

alongside each other. The Romans passed this way, their road passing through the village to and from Little Chester 

(Derby) and Chesterton.   

Page 109



 9 

 

The natural environment, rural setting and sense of place as a Staffordshire Moorlands village are cherished by 

villagers and visitors alike, another unique aspect of the village is a trout river running through the centre, 

promenading and dog walking along this beautiful stretch of river is probably the most inclusive outdoor activity in 

the village. Recently enhanced by the introduction of a new “Access for All” all weather pathway/promenade crossing 

Tean Recreation Ground, previously inaccessible to parents with buggies, residents in wheelchairs.  

 

The village has facilities commensurate with size including green spaces, play areas, a network of public footpaths, 

village hall including meeting rooms, three churches, Anglican, Roman Catholic and Methodist all with associated 

church halls or meeting space, a performing arts venue, doctors and a range of shops including a pharmacy/chemist 

incorporating a post office, chiropodist, prepared food outlets, three pre-school nurseries, two primary schools, village 

car park with recycling facilities, two public houses and accommodation for visitors comprising bed and breakfast and 

self-catering. 

 

Lower Tean – An Introduction to the Village 

Lower Tean is a small village in a predominantly rural area, situated 

at the bottom of a valley with the River Tean running through it. The 

village is dissected by the A522, the main road between the larger 

market towns of Cheadle and Uttoxeter. There is the small 

conservation village Checkley one mile to the east and the larger 

village of Upper Tean one mile to the west. All the villages have a 

distinct separate identity. 

 

Most of the housing within Lower Tean dates from the 1960’s to present day. However, at its heart are many listed 

buildings including the village pub, the local farm, and surrounding cottages, and two Georgian Dower houses. There 

is an ancient, listed bridge over the River Tean, and to the northwest of the village is a scheduled monument, a 3500-

year-old burial mound, a rare type being constructed on an artificial platform. The village is surrounded by open 

farmland. There are attractive valley open views all around the village. To the north of the village and within ¼ mile of 

its boundary is the grade 1 listed gothic mansion The Heath House, now a private home, but previously used in many 

TV productions. 

 

There are few amenities, however there is a popular village pub, and a small industrial yard which houses several small 

businesses including a garage. More amenities are to be found in Upper Tean, and a local school, church, community 

centre and two pubs in Checkley, together with the local cricket club situated between the village of Checkley and 

Lower Tean. There is a good selection of public footpaths, and a local beauty spot known as The Mill Pond situated on 

the River Tean, this being a popular spot with the villagers. 

 

Page 110



 10 

Hollington – An Introduction to the Village 

Hollington is a dispersed village in northern Staffordshire, with 

historic roots going back as far as the late roman period. The villages 

current condition is in large part due to the village’s recent history as 

a moorland farming community, small scale specialist stone 

extraction and its habitats of historic woodland, moorland and 

pastoral land and their historic management types. 

 

At the villages height there was a rich community milieu with associated industry which shows in the names found in 

the village, Buttermilk Hill for example. The village was supported by a post office, a village hall, 2 long serving pubs, 

school, a church and 2 chapels, butchers and multiple shops. At one point was on a bus route and there are traces of 

market gardens and coppice management within the village boundaries. Of these community assets only the pubs, 

church and village hall remain.  

 

The village is in, structure, a low density highly rural conurbation, made up predominately of detached and semi-

detached quarry and small holding structures. In character, the housing stock are largely constructed in the local stone 

with an average age of 150 years, are simplistic farm type house in vernacular and feature small similarly characterised 

supporting out buildings. The age of most of the village buildings can be linked to the church (Grade II Listing) which 

was founded in 1861, however the village itself is much older. 

 

Hollington is linear in out lay, with most housing stock placed within short distance of the road leaving grazing land 

and woodland to the rear of the housing, The most central part of the village is near to the former post office and 

village hall, this is highly typical of this part of Staffordshire and for hamlets which developed around historic resources 

that required transport. 

 

Of significance to the character of the village are the high numbers of dry-stone walls, well developed trees adjacent 

to the roads, the biodiversity reservoirs found in the hedging that frames the village and the use of local stone in 

building construction. Further, the topography of the village is unique in that it shows traces of small-scale quarrying 

which can be traced back as far as the 1600’s, a short walk reveals a landscape of ancient industry reclaimed in many 

parts by woodland. Of further value to the village is the woodland which encloses some of the most varied terrain, 

this woodland can be found on maps as far back as 1700, it shows signs of mass extraction during the war and older 

coppice management, due to this it has a multitude of habitats within its structure, with its two most common habitat 

types being that of low nutrient, acid oak and of low nutrient bog. The woodland itself was part of a much larger 

woodland which forms most of the Churnet valley drainage basin and once covered most, if not all, of the village 

historically. 

 

Page 111



 11 

Today, Quarrying still takes place in the village but is increasingly unviable with large areas of land left derelict once 

extraction has ended. Farming in the village is still undertaken but likewise, has decreased in scale in recent years with 

higher grazing land turning more moor like and increasingly open and exposed in character. 

 

The village now is capitalising on its proximity to Alton Towers, its calm, pastoral appearance and woodland walks and 

using these as a draw for tourism, a growing aspect of village life. However, the village lacks a critical mass to be self-

sustaining.  

 

Checkley – An Introduction to the Village 

Checkley is a small historic village is within a designated 

conservation area. Mainly the village, is tightly clustered around the 

parish church.  

 

The road from Uttoxeter to Cheadle originally passed through the 

village, and the present road the A522 bypasses the village to the 

north. The A50 corridor lies to the south. The proximity of the two 

main road does not detract from the village’s rural and tranquil character. The village overlooks the valley of the 

River Tean to the south. 

 

 The Grade 1 listed Church of St Mary occupies a very commanding elevated position in the northern part of the 

conservation area. The tower is substantial and, largely of Norman date. The churchyard contains 3 Saxon crosses “an 

astonishing heritage for a village church” according to Arthur Mee in The King’s England Staffordshire. Rectory Farm 

is the focus of the south part of the conservation area 

 

Although the historic buildings of the village predominate, including 10 listed buildings, there are some modern 

developments at Badgers Hollow and Cranberry Avenue to the west of the village, and St. Mary’s Close to the east, 

they do not, however, intrude heavily on the setting of the village.  

 

The village has a school, a community centre, a play area, and a public house. 

 

Major Transport Routes and Links 

The main road passing through the parish is the A522 Cheadle to Uttoxeter, the parish is on the Ordnance Survey 

Explorer 259 map entitled Derby, Ashbourne and Cheadle. The centre of Cheadle (the nearest town) is within a mile 

and a half of the parish boundary where it crosses the A522 at Teanford. Uttoxeter is just over three miles from the 

parish boundary where it crosses the A522 at Fole. 

 

Page 112



 12 

Access to the A50 is outside the parish at Blythe Bridge. To the west leading on to the M6 and Uttoxeter to the east 

leading onto the M1 and towards East Midlands Airport. 

 

The A50 Growth Corridor projects are part of a multi-million-pound Government investment. The aim to: 

• cut congestion; 

• address safety concerns; 

• support local businesses; 

• create more jobs and opportunities for Staffordshire people. 

 

However, the establishment in recent years of two JCB factories adjacent to the A50 and the Golf & Country Club at 

Rocester, have increased traffic throughout Checkley Parish, particularly when the A50 is closed. Furthermore, 

Hollington & Checkley are used by drivers during peak periods to avoid congestion on main roads. 

 

The main Stoke on Trent to Derby/Nottingham railway line runs through the parish, access to this service is outside 

the parish at Blythe Bridge to the west leading on to the west coastline and Uttoxeter to the east leading onto east 

coastline. 

 

The parish has two bus services, the number 32/Kingfisher Uttoxeter to Cheadle and into the Potteries and a twice 

daily bus to Leek, the administrative Centre for The Staffordshire Moorlands. 

 

 

3.2 Socio- Economic Context 

The 2011 Census data population profile of Checkley Parish is as follows: - 

Age Range Number in Parish Population % of Parish Population 

0 - 17 907 19 

18 - 64 2746 57 

64+ 1176 24 

 

The largest employers in the parish are represented by companies carrying out quarrying operations. Other large 

employers are just outside the parish, JCB and the other sources of employment for residents of the parish towards 

the Potteries to the west and Uttoxeter and Derby to the East. The parish is a residential commuter base for these 

employers. 

 

There are also smaller companies employing locally and providing direct services to the local community including 

those operating from the small cluster of business units to the west side of Upper Tean. Other employment within the 

parish includes local service providers, retail outlets and hospitality.  

Page 113



 13 

3.3 Land Use  

The Parish of Checkley covers a land area in the region of 22 square kilometres or 8.5 square miles representing 5440 

acres or 2200 hectares.  

 

By far the most predominant land use is farming, 70% of the total area of the parish comprises farmland of open fields 

or woodland. Pockets of the woodland not actively managed as commercial woodland could be considered to be 

natural or semi natural particularly adjacent to Winnothdale, southeast of the working quarries in the north of the 

parish and areas of woodland around the village of Hollington.  

 

A further 16% is made up of the country estates of Heath House and Broadgate Hall, the outdoor pursuits area north 

of the Heath House Estate and the 46-acre Quarry Walk Lodges and Camping Park at Coppice Lane (again in the north 

of the parish).  

 

The latter categories including the natural or semi natural woodland represent areas of land use that in the main part 

would or could be available for outdoor leisure and health benefitting pursuits. The newer outdoor pursuits are 

represented (paintballing, quad biking) as are traditional country sporting pursuits (particularly at Broadgate Hall) 

 

The remaining land use representing 14% of the parish area in part would come under the national umbrella category 

of land use known as Built Up Urban, 7% housing including associated green urban spaces (less than 1%), educational, 

religious, health, retail and other commercial buildings and spaces, 1% industrial and the remaining 6% active (or non-

active) quarrying for sand and gravel. In terms of planning this land use does not come within the remit if this plan. 

The longer-term prospects for redevelopment of the worked-out quarries in years to come could leave the parish with 

the legacy of a natural or semi natural environment which would considerably increase the land use available for 

outdoor pursuits. 

 

The land use percentages included above are derived from an exercise completed on 7th January 2018 by a member 

of the Checkley Parish Steering Group involving the analysis of each 1-kilometrre square in whole or part covering the 

Neighbourhood Development Plan area on Ordinance Survey maps Explorer 258 Stoke-on-Trent & Newcastle-under-

Lyme, Biddulph and Stone and Explorer 259 Derby, Uttoxeter, Ashbourne & Cheadle. 

 

Tourism and Leisure 

The parish offers tourism and leisure activities commensurate with access to an attractive and diverse rural landscape, 

walking, outdoor pursuits, adventure pursuits, horse riding, fishing, cycling and play. There are numerous green spaces 

to enjoy including gardens, play areas, picnic spots including a picnic site, sports fields and pitches including a cricket 

ground. 

 

Page 114



 14 

The historical sites within the parish also offer significant interest to residents and visitors There are 58 listings of 

buildings and structures in the Parish of Checkley. 

 

Related Bed and Breakfast and self-catering accommodation servicing these activities is available for visiting friends 

and family and tourists from outside the parish.  

 

The parish is one of the gateways to the Peak District and the valley of the River Churnet, both close by its northern 

boundaries. The parish is also close to Alton Towers and the new Golf Club and Country Club near to Rocester. 

 

 

3.4 Housing Stock and Housing Needs Assessment 

The housing stock ranges from 1-bedroom apartments through to 5+ bedroom detached houses, in age ranging from 

the 17th century through to the early 21st century new build. The stock includes conversions of existing farming and 

industrial buildings into domestic dwellings, most notably the New Tean Mills apartments.  

 

Tenure of the stock is a mix of rented affordable housing, privately rented and owner occupied. There is limited 

provision in the affordable housing or private sector of sheltered homes for older or vulnerable residents.  

 

Sales data relating to owner occupied housing over the last 20 years would suggest that the predominant housing type 

is owner occupied detached, followed by semidetached housing, possibly combined in excess of 70% of the owner-

occupied stock.  

 

Market to exchange sales data from the prior to the 2019 pandemic indicated that the fastest selling sector is 1- and 

2-bedroom apartments and terraced dwellings suggesting that this housing in terms of property types, value, 

affordability and size is in most or highest demand. The demand at the other end of the housing type range, detached 

properties appears was reasonable with lower demand based upon market to exchange time for semi-detached 

housing.  Intuitively, and in addition to the high demand for "first-time" affordable properties, the limited amount of 

housing specifically for older or vulnerable residents, sheltered or adaptable housing would place this type of housing 

at the upper end of housing need in the parish. 

  

The lower demand for 3 bedroomed and above detached and semidetached property is supported in part by the 

current lack of exchanges for land with planning (outline or detailed) for this type of property. Currently there are 2 

sites for new housing estates available and not acquired by developers. 

 

Demand for affordable housing is difficult to assess, although the Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 

commissioned report, Strategic Housing Market Assessment and Housing Needs Study (MAHN) 2014 (updated 2017), 

Page 115



 15 

indicates that for the Moorlands current stock is below projected demand. The affordable housing allocation in the 

New Tean Mills development however was not taken up, the apartments were subsequently privately marketed. 

 

The MAHN study is broadly in accord with the above commentary relating to need or need, stating that based on the 

characteristics of existing and new residents in the Staffordshire Moorlands District in the period up to 2031, there 

would be a need for the following: - 

 

1. An increase in the need for 1 and 2-bed apartments / houses /bungalows, particularly in the social rented 

sector 

2. A static need for (3)/4 bed semi-detached and detached houses/bungalows. 

3. A very substantial increased need for housing with care, particularly residential care; and also, a need for more 

sheltered housing. 

 

 

3.5 Property Prices 

Property price data for the parish villages in comparison with The Moorlands and based upon the UK Land Registry 

Data (October 2017) indicate that across the parish in the Tean villages are comparable in the main part with the 

general picture for the whole of the Staffordshire Moorlands District, offering within the parish more affordable first-

time buyer options. 

 

Property prices in the smaller villages of Checkley and Hollington are generally higher, reflecting the mix of property 

types, sizes, more isolated rural location, and the relatively limited availability.  

 

 

3.6 Land Prices 

The Department for Communities and Local Government's information releases on land prices for post permission 

residential land value provide estimates for each Local Authority. In the parish post planning valuation, based upon 

development land marketed value suggested, prior to the 2019 pandemic, post planning parish valuations more than 

the average Staffordshire Moorlands Government figure.  

 

Establishing farmland values or prices is difficult, land is not currently changing ownership in the parish, "good 

grassland" in the adjacent Alton parish appears to have sold recently for a sum in the region of £24,000 per hectare, 

well above the average for England and Wales published in 2017 by The Royal institution of Chartered Surveyors for 

pastureland of £16,567 per hectare. Possibly an indicator of the high quality of the farmland in the general area 

including Checkley Parish. 

 

Page 116



 16 

3.7 Community Facilities 

The Neighbourhood Area has a range of community facilities and services considered fundamental to 

assuring a good quality of life. A list of the current community facilities is set out in the policies section of 

this Neighbourhood Plan. 

 

 

3.8 Traffic and Infrastructure 

Traffic data is available from 2 sources for the A522 Cheadle to Uttoxeter/A50, the main primary route running through 

the parish and crossing from the northwest to southeast. 

 

In 2015 Staffordshire County Council published a Transport Study Report for Cheadle Town Centre, this report offered 

details of traffic counts for traffic travelling out of Cheadle on the A522 towards Upper Tean. Peak time flows (0800-

0900 and 1700-1800) on a 5-day average basis ranged from 395 to 552 vehicles each hour. 

 

The Ministry of Transport has a traffic count point id 6524 just southeast of Fole, this count point for 2016 indicates 

an average daily flow of vehicles at over 5,000. Just under 300 of these vehicles being classed as Heavy Goods Vehicles. 

Data from the Community Speed Watch volunteers in Hollington suggest that speeding is evident at peak times, as is 

an increase in volume of traffic passing through the village on unclassified roads. 

 

The Neighbourhood Area, in particular Upper Tean, is also affected by HGV movements to and from The Croxden 

Quarry, currently 968 movements per week. This is the approved route through to the A50 

 

See also Critical and Key Junctions in the policies section of this Neighbourhood Plan. 

 

Infrastructure 

The local road network in the parish comprises numerous unclassified roads connecting with the A522 Cheadle to 

Uttoxeter which provides links to the A50 and access to the wider motorway network to the east (M1). In the west of 

the parish there is a classified unnumbered link to the A521 to Blythe Bridge, this also links to the A50 and the wider 

motorway network to the west (M6) 

 

Much of the parish is north of the A50 corridor, the southwest extremity of the parish however stretches a little way 

to the south of the A50. The A50 is currently the busiest east/west route in the north midlands, usage has significantly 

increased since first construction. A large stretch of the A50 passing through the parish and to the south of the parish 

is constructed with a high audibility surface which would not meet current standards for acceptable audibility. 

 

Page 117



 17 

The roads through the parish, classified and unclassified also serve several major factories and office sites and to a 

lesser degree Alton Towers and the Peak District. 

 

Infrastructure Deficiencies 

The deficiencies in the infrastructure are well rehearsed and at the time of writing this report would appear to be on-

going.  

 

Mitigation of unacceptable noise levels from the A50 would be a major priority for most residents in the south of the 

parish.  

 

No discernible improvements were made to the roads through the parish which after construction were always going 

to form the main link routes through to the A50 from in the main the north. Residents would welcome a study to 

assess the ability of these roads to perform this on-going function. 

 

In common with other areas potholes, some potentially dangerous are an issue. 

 

Road safety at open meetings and drop-ins arranged to assist in formulation of this Neighbourhood Plan was by far 

the area of most concern for residents. Particularly linked to junctions, pedestrian crossings, and speeding traffic.  

 

This Neighbourhood Plan identifies critical junctions in the policies section. Main junctions under pressure from traffic 

flow throughout each day, currently a concern in term of coping with volume and safety. Consideration of any impact 

on these junctions during the planning process is of significant importance to our local communities. 

 

One such example is the junction between the A522 and the High Street, in the centre of Upper Tean. A Tarmac report 

in 2010 – Croxden Quarry: Part B – Environmental Statement WA Ref: ST11571-RPT-001 – 8 TRAFFIC ASSESSMENT 

Paragraph 8.2.14 page 8/4 stated "The junction between the A522 and the High Street, in the centre of Upper Tean, 

is a simple priority junction, with priority given to vehicles on the High Street. All vehicles approaching from the north 

should stop at the junction. The layout of the junction is confined by the surrounding development restricting visibility 

for vehicles approaching the junction from the north. This restricted layout occasionally results in delays and 

difficulties for the longest vehicles, in particular when two large opposing vehicles meet in the junction".  

 

A zebra crossing to mitigate the danger of pedestrians crossing at this point is also mentioned but to date is not in 

place. Pedestrians parking at the village car park must cross New Road at this junction, their visibility is restricted from 

the north or south depending upon which side of the road they are crossing from. There are dropped kerbs at this 

point but no markings on the road, worryingly this unmarked crossing point is no more than a few seconds away from 

unobservable on-coming traffic turning into New Road; it is probably in terms of safety the most important deficiency 

to address. 

Page 118



 18 

 

Paragraph 8.2.13. Also highlighted, that towards the centre of Upper Tean the footpath narrows down, and house 

frontages are close to the road edge. Another issue for residents with mobility or visibility difficulties, and shop owners 

alike is the lack of drop-off points by the shops in High Street, Upper Tean. The alternative is for residents or visitors 

with mobility or visibility difficulties to park in the village car park and attempt a crossing of the road to the shops at 

the New Road Junction. 

 

Also identified in this Neighbourhood plan are key junctions, under pressure from traffic flow during peak rush hour 

period, including traffic flow at shift changes to and from the large-scale production facilities of JCB. These smaller 

junctions are currently a concern in terms of coping at these times with volume and with regards to safety. 

Consideration of any impact on these junctions during the planning process would also be important to our local 

communities. 

 

One example of a key junction is the junction in the centre of Hollington, this has very restricted visibility, a safety 

concern exacerbated by the speeding traffic identified by the Speed Watch group and high usage during peak times, 

at volumes not normally associated with the narrow unclassified lanes passing through a small rural village.  

 

There are no permanent speed mitigation measures such as fixed cameras in the parish, this is in direct contrast to 

villages on main or primary routes in the north of the Staffordshire Moorlands District Council administrative area. 

Anecdotally speeding is an issue across the parish, particularly through the villages. The residents of Hollington have 

factual evidence of the same. Also anecdotally, but no less valid, is the number of residents who have experienced 

transgressing of the pedestrian crossing in High Street, Upper Tean by motorists (possibly due to speeding) when the 

green light for pedestrians is clearly indicating it is safe to cross. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 119



 19 

3.9 Environment  

Rural Look and Feel – Quality of Environment 

Conservation is a high priority within our parish, from hedgerows to trees, protecting the countryside and open 

surroundings is a key factor when assessing potential sites. 

 

The distinctive landscape, river valley and hill top views, agricultural land, walks and rides are highly valued by all who 

live within Checkley Parish, The residents wish to preserve the distinctive landscape and wildlife. 

 

The villages along the valley of the River Tean lie within three landscape areas, sandstone valleys, sandstone uplands 

and farmland slopes. The village of Hollington is celebrated for its quarries of freestone, with which many historical 

churches in the county have been built and more recently the new Coventry Cathedral. The use 

of Hollington sandstone for the new Coventry Cathedral provided an element of unity between the old and new 

buildings. The foundation stone of the new cathedral was laid by Elizabeth II on 23 March 1956. 

 

The extensive public consultation on the plan identified that maintaining the rural look and feel of the villages and the 

parish was of paramount importance. A large part this maintaining the existing setting, views being the key element. 

During the planning process the impact of any implications on setting should be a key consideration including pre-

application consultation with the Parish Council and the local community in accordance with National Planning Policy 

Framework recommendations.  

 

Each individual village group has worked with their communities to establish the views that define their individual 

villages and setting. Views that are key to setting, locally important and it is deemed should attract protection within 

the planning process. To this end the individual village groups have produced a document detailing their locally 

important views, supported by photographic evidence.  

 

The villages in the valley of the River Tean currently enjoy views of the hill tops on either side of the river valley, these 

are currently not impacted upon by development, are beautiful and define our rural setting for these villages. There 

are also opportunities for views at river valley level. The hilltop village of Hollington benefits from sweeping and far-

reaching views. 

 

Upper Tean 

Opportunities to view the River Tean in a natural setting are becoming more limited. The most recent planning 

approval for a new housing estate alongside the river on Cheadle Road is an example of development impacting 

previously enjoyed river views. For the community of Upper Tean the remaining views of the river from within the 

village boundary are locally important. After completion of the Cheadle Road development one of the last remaining 

views with public access across the river with a natural setting backdrop will be from the foot bridge on the east side 

Page 120



 20 

of The Recreation Ground and looking across from the Tean Hall Mills Development. Similarly looking out from the 

village and down onto the village the setting is defined by the natural and unspoiled fields, woodland and open 

countryside of the valley high ground and hill tops. All visually sensitive landscapes. Any impact on these natural 

landscape high level views would significantly deter from the village’s valley setting and quiet enjoyment of the same 

by current and future generations of villagers. 

 

Lower Tean and Checkley 

The village group has identified: - 

 

The view from Heath House Lane encompasses rolling valley views from the edge of the settlement of Lower Tean 

including the 3500 Bronze Age burial mound situated in a prominent position. English Heritage state that it was 

meant to be viewed. 

 

A view from the edge of the settlement of Lower Tean shows valley views across the river valley softened by native 

hedgerow and small wooded areas, and established housing of Heybridge Gardens to the west. It is a favourite of 

the village marked with a bench to enjoy the view. 

 

This view across rolling gentle valley field gives an open feel to the settlement of Lower Tean. Vowed through the trees 

at the top of the valley is the Grade 1 listed gothic mansion of The Heath House, which has string historic ties to Lower 

Tean and Checkley. A sense of historic context sat atop of rolling fields. 

 

Views taking in the much-loved Mill Pond used by all the village daily for walking socialising or just quiet 

contemplation.  

 

Hollington 

The views of local importance identified the extensive views from their hilltop village as key to the setting and sense 

of place in Hollington: - 

 

* Both sides of the Main Road through the village 

* Both sides of Quarry Bank 

* Both Sides of Firbob 

* Both Sides of Fole Lane 

 

The National Planning Policy Framework July 2021 (NPPF July 2021) states ‘the planning system should contribute to 

and enhance the natural and local environment by protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, geological 

conservation interests and soils.' 

 

Page 121



 21 

Staffordshire Moorlands Green Infrastructure Plan identifies the landscape of the parish north of the A50 as Landscape 

of High Visual Sensitivity (Map A.6 Landscape Setting and Green Belt).  

 

Environmental Issues 

Flooding has affected each village within our parish, and continues to do so, a flood defense scheme was placed within 

Upper Tean and Lower Tean, however flooding is still an issue with these defenses in place, leaving at times some 

roads impassable, recreational areas and agricultural land submerged. 

 

The NPPF July 2021 refers to meeting the challenge of climate change including the statement ‘Local planning 

authorities should adopt proactive strategies to mitigate and adapt to climate change, taking full account of flood risk, 

water supply and demand considerations.'  

 

The statement is fully supported and endorsed by Checkley Parish Council in their response to the climate change 

emergency posted on their website in 2021 and this Neighbourhood Plan. 

 

As part of the process of producing the Neighbourhood Plan the specialist Flooding Team of Staffordshire County 

Council has been consulted. The Parish Council will in 2022 take up their offer of to work up a plan deliverable by The 

Parish Council that would support and promote flood mitigation. We would like to manage the risk of flooding by using 

the governments recommended solutions providing landscaping to manage and store water, by promoting the use of 

sustainable drainage systems and by Planting trees to help to create green spaces, these can store water, and provide 

shade for people and wildlife. 

 

In all 4 villages are prone to flooding, we have several zone 3 flooding areas as well as zone 1 and 2 areas, these can 

be found on http://flood-map-for-planning.service.gov.uk 

 

History, Heritage and Special Designations 

The historical sites within the Parish of Checkley reflect the main historical periods of English history.  Preservation of 

these sites for future generations is paramount to retaining links with the past and continuing to educate, inform, and 

maintain the character, distinctiveness, and sense of place of the parish.  

 

There are 58 listings of buildings and structures for the parish of Checkley which represents 72 individual buildings or 

structures when considering that some of the national listings are made up of small groups of buildings or structures. 

20 in Upper Tean, 15 in Lower Tean, 11 associated with Heath House between the two Tean villages, 14 in Checkley, 

9 in Hollington and 3 in Fole. All merit preservation and conservation, as do those historical buildings, structures and 

monuments that remain unlisted or scheduled, however some examples of note include: -  

 

Page 122



 22 

• The Grade 1 listed Church of St Mary in Checkley (Grade I buildings are of exceptional interest, only 2.5% of 

listed buildings are Grade I) and the associated scheduled Saxon Crosses described by Arthur Mee in The King's 

England Staffordshire as an "astonishing heritage for a village churchyard" 

• The Grade II* New Tean Hall Mill in Upper Tean (Grade II* buildings are particularly important buildings of 

more than special interest, only 5.8% of listed buildings are Grade II*). Described by Robert Sherlock in The 

Industrial Archaeology of Staffordshire as "the greatest single monument to the textile industry in 

Staffordshire" 

• The Grade II* Tean Hall also in Upper Tean 

• The Grade II* Heath House between Upper Tean and Lower Tean.  

• The Grade II listed dwelling at 2 Hollington Road Upper Tean and the unlisted dwelling at 5 The Island Upper 

Tean both with timber cruck frames indicating 17th century origins 

• ll of the buildings, structures and monuments in the Upper Tean and Checkley Conservation Areas - listed, 

scheduled or not 

• Three Grade II listed bridges over the River Tean - Hey Bridge, Fole Bridge and the footbridge at Lower Tean  

• Within Lower Tean the Bronze age mound designated as a scheduled monument, evidence suggests there is 

potential for below ground archaeological deposits. 

 

In addition to the special designations above the following indicate the rich heritage and historical character/nature 

of the parish: -  

 

• Historic parklands of Heath House 500m East of Upper Tean and Oakhill west of Upper Tean. 

• The Ancient Woodland used by many locals called Huntley wood situated 700m Northwest of Upper Tean. 

• Two historic farmsteads survive within the parish, one named midway farm reflecting its location between 

Upper Tean and Lower Tean. 

• In 1355 the village of Tean was granted a market charter by the lord of manor. 

• The village of Hollington is well known for quarrying of red and white Hollington stone, which has been used 

for centuries. 

• The Parish contains a significant number of Heritage assets, which contribute to the history of the area. The 

National Record of the Historic Environment contains records on the archaeology and buildings of England 

within our parish. 

 

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Conservation Officers have recommended the incorporation of distinctive 

and well-preserved historic buildings onto a local list to assist the long-term conservation of the local distinctiveness 

and sense of place of Upper Tean, this could be adopted as an objective to cover the whole parish. 

 

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council has also identified the importance of the presence of fields with medieval 

ridge and furrow earthworks and surviving mature hedgerows in post medieval enclosure, there is an opportunity here 

Page 123



 23 

to conserve these under the umbrella of a zone or zones in a Green Infrastructure Plan for the District. Including in 

addition any areas of relict parkland such as the parkland identified at Oakhill in Upper Tean and ancient semi natural 

parkland or natural trees and woodland throughout the parish. 

 

Any designated historic heritage assets in the parish and their surroundings, both above and below the ground 

including listed buildings, and any scheduled monuments or conservation areas should be preserved and enhanced 

for their historic significance and their importance to local distinctiveness and character. 

 

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council is currently reviewing the Upper Tean Conservation Area. 

 

The Residents of our Parish place a high value on the quality of the natural environment and wish to continue to 

protect their precious heritage and look forward to enhanced protection from this review. 

 

Local Green Spaces 

There are many green spaces within the parish, each village having their own green spaces.  

 

See Policies Section for detail of green spaces identified following completion of and green space audit, subsequently 

distributed stakeholders (including Staffordshire Moorlands District Council) and community consultation. 

 

The community consultation showed how much these green spaces are valued and used, and how important it is to 

protect them for future use. 

 

Our objective is to preserve all green spaces and where possible look to expand and improve. 

 

Community Facilities 

The following provides more detail in terms of the types of community facilities currently in the Neighbourhood Area:- 

 

Commercial - Retail  

• A range of shops including 2 convenience stores (one attached to Petrol Station), hairdressers, chemist, 

florist, garden centre - Upper Tean  

 

Commercial - Food and Drink/Entertainment 

• The White Hart Upper Tean, The Dog and Partridge Lower Tean, The New Broom and Red Lion Checkley, The 

Raddle Inn Hollington all serving food/meals, two further public houses serving drinks and a number 

providing live music and quiz nights 

 

Commercial - Prepared Food and Ethnic Cuisine Page 124



 24 

• Fish and Chip Shop, Chinese Food Takeaway, Bake Shop - Upper Tean 

 

Commercial - Other 

• Quarries supplying Hollington Stone 

 

Services 

• Doctors, pharmacy, chiropodist, post office, petrol station, public conveniences, village car park and 

recycling facilities - Upper Tean 

• Recycling facilities – Great Wood Hall Upper Tean 

• 2 New community library points in Upper Tean, book exchange schemes throughout the parish 

• A range of other professional and trade services 

• Self catering accommodation for visiting friends, family and tourists 

 

Transit/Public Transport 

• No railway station - nearest Railway Station Blythe Bridge - 3 miles (no Bus Service or other public transport 

link) 

• Bus Service Route 32 Hanley to Uttoxeter (First Bus) serving Upper tean. Lower Tean, Checkley and Fole and 

D & G Route 30 Upper Tean to Leek (limited and under review with withdrawal possible) 

 

Indoor Community/Civic 

• Parish Council Office - Upper Tean 

• Mobile Library  

• Youth Club Hut - Upper Tean 

 

Cultural 

• Performing Arts Venue/Theatre - Upper Tean 

• History/Heritage Room - Upper Tean 

• War Memorials including World War II aircraft crash memorial in Riverside Road - Upper Tean 

 

Community Space 

• Places of Worship - 5 Churches; 3 Anglican, 1 Roman Catholic, 1 Methodist 

• Church Halls and Church Meeting Spaces - 3 in Upper Tean 

• Villages Halls with car parks Hollington and Upper Tean.  

• Community Centre with car park Checkley 

• Meeting rooms and Function Rooms in Village Halls and Public Houses 

Page 125



 25 

• Green Spaces as identified in the Green Space Audit July 2018 including Outdoor spaces for village events 

including Checkley Cricket Ground, Childrens’ 3 play areas, 2 community gardens (one in the early stages of 

development, picnic Area in Hollington 

• Community space available for indoor recreation, exercise and fitness classes, music, singing, WI and hobby 

clubs 

• Football pitch in Upper Tean and Checkley Cricket Club/Grounds 

• Community Orchard, Well Meadow Gardens Upper Tean 

• Staffordshire Moorlands countryside - a network of footpaths, bridleways, country lanes for walking, horse 

riding and cycling 

• River and Pool Fishing - the River Tean is a recognised trout fishing river 

 

  

Page 126



 26 

Community Facilities Map  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 127



 27 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 128



 28 

 

Community and 

Stakeholder Engagement   

Page 129



 29 

4.0 Community and Stakeholder Engagement  

4.1 Overview of Community Engagement 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Consultation and Evidence Building 

Questionnaire created and distributed to every 

household.  Questionnaire could also be completed 

online via Parish website or Survey Monkey. 

Questionnaires were also taken out to the 

community for completion at pop up outdoor stalls, in 

Upper Tean High Street, at Checkley Cricket Club 

and the Hollington Show 

Designation and Raising Awareness Steering 

group formed, individual village groups formed, 

scoping workshops attended, branding and posters 

created. 

Vision and Objective Development 

The Steering Group analysed data collated evidence to draft the Vision and Objectives 

document. 

Page 130



 30 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4.2 Activities  

Non-statutory community and stakeholder engagement (like the questionnaire). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Draft Plan Creation 

Policies were drafted and local residents and stakeholders were invited to come along and 

view them. 

Additional Stakeholder Engagement 

Pop up engagement tables could be found at most village events including School Fayres, 

Village Fetes and Christmas lights events.  We also held pop up engagement tables outside the 

local Co-op, with a local WI and churches bake sale and arranged a youth sports open day to 

engage our younger residents.  We also provided regular updates on social media and links to 

our website. 

Page 131



 31 

4.3 Key Outcomes and Issues 

The Survey was completed and returned by 384 residents, stakeholders etc.  Below outlines from which villages within 

the parish they reside. 

 

The following are the top responses to questions asked on the questionnaire: 

 

What do you like about where you live? 

• Countryside/Rural Location, Views & Wildlife 

• Friendly Village and Community 

• Peaceful 

 

What do you dislike about where you live? 

• Speed of traffic 

• The amount of new and proposed new housing developments 

• Lack of shops and amenities 

 

How would you improve where you live? 

• Encourage the development of brown field sites and not green space and surrounding countryside 

• Traffic calming 

• Improved facilities for children and youth 

 

 

 

 

 

  

216

35 31

63

39

0

50

100

150

200

250

Upper Tean (inc 
Threapwood)

Lower Tean Holington (inc 
Winnothdale)

Checkley & Fole Stakeholders

Area Responses

Page 132



 32 

 

 

Policies  

Page 133



 33 

5.0 Policies for Checkley Parish Neighbourhood Area 

The policies in the Checkley Neighbourhood Plan are based on evidence gathered from official statistics and existing 

publications. Key evidence is listed in the Schedule of Evidence at the end of this plan.   

 

In addition, local surveys, views, comments and ideas expressed by the local community have been taken into account. 

The consultation process and the responses received from the local community and key stakeholders are summarised 

in the Section headed Stakeholder and Community Engagement in this Neighbourhood Plan. 

 

The policies in this Neighbourhood Plan seek to deliver the aspirations and needs of the local community, within the 

framework of meeting the basic conditions and other legal requirements.  The policies are structured as follows: 

 

1. Purpose; 

2. Rationale/Evidence; 

3. Policy; 

4. Interpretation; 

 

  

Page 134



 34 

5.1 Housing 

 

Purpose  

To support residential development to meet local needs in sustainable locations.  

 

Rational and Evidence 

National Planning Policy 

To meet the Basic Conditions for Neighbourhood Plans for housing that it must have appropriate regard to national 

policy, contribute to the achievement of sustainable development and achieve general conformity with strategic local 

policy. 

 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), July 2021 requires Neighbourhood Plans to set out a positive vision 

for the future of the local area and planning policies to guide decisions on planning applications. This Neighbourhood 

Plan has been written having regard to national planning policy and guidance. Paragraph 8 of the NPPF identifies a 

main objective with regard housing, b)  a social objective – to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by 

ensuring that a sufficient number and range of homes can be provided to meet the needs of present and future 

generations; and by fostering a well-designed and safe built environment, accessibility to services and open spaces 

that reflect current and future needs and support communities’ health, social and cultural well-being. This 

Neighbourhood Plan has been written having regard to national basic conditions, planning policy and guidance, 

strategic local policy. Including site allocation criteria placing NPPF paragraph 8 b) as a key element of the decision-

making process. 

 

The rationale of the criteria therefore is to respond to The NPPF statement that it is important that a sufficient amount 

and variety of land for housing can come forward.  A sufficient supply and mix of deliverable sites are expected.  

 

The NPPF establishes that  

 

• The needs of groups with specific housing requirements are addressed. 

• The size, type and tenure of housing needed for different groups in the community should be reflected in 

planning policies. 

• Affordable housing should be provided that contribute to creating mixed and balanced communities. 

 

Policies should promote an effective use of land in meeting the need for homes, while safeguarding the environment. 

Policies should set out a clear strategy that makes as much use as possible of brownfield land.  The NPPF establishes 

that substantial weight is given to the value of using brownfield land within settlements for homes.   

Page 135



 35 

 

The NPPF recognises that small and medium sized sites can make an important contribution to meeting the housing 

requirement of an area and that neighbourhood planning groups should consider the opportunities for allocating such 

sites suitable for housing in their area.   

 

The NPPF promotes the protection and enhancement of valued landscapes and recognises the intrinsic character and 

beauty of the countryside. 

 

Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan 

The Local Plan allows for limited development of Checkley Parish which is appropriate in scale in a rural area. 

 

Policy SS 1 Development Principles establishes that development and use of land should contribute positively to social, 

economic, and environmental improvement in terms of delivering a mix of types and tenures of quality, affordable 

homes, to meet need.  This should maintain locally distinctive character of individual towns and villages and their 

settings. 

 

Policy SS2 the hierarchy of settlements indicates where future growth will be focused.  The neighbourhood area 

includes the following policy areas: 

 

Rural Area Larger Villages, Policy SS8 (Larger Villages Area Strategy) identifies 12 larger villages of which Upper Tean 

is included.  It states that these villages will retain and enhance their role as rural service centres, “providing for the 

bulk of the housing requirement of the rural areas and also for employment needs of a scale and type appropriate to 

each settlement having regard to infrastructure capacity and character.”  

 

Rural Area Smaller Villages, Policy SS9 (Smaller Villages Area Strategy) identifies 29 smaller villages, which includes 

Checkley, Lower Tean and Hollington.  It supports “appropriate development which enhances community vitality or 

meets a social or economic need of the settlement or hinterland is encouraged.” 

 

Other Rural Areas comprise the countryside outside of the settlement boundaries.  Policy SS10 recognises these areas 

will “provide only for development which has an essential need to be located in the countryside, supports the rural 

diversification and sustainability of the rural areas, promotes sustainable tourism or enhances the countryside.” 

 

Policy SS4 Strategic Housing and Employment Land Supply allocates the housing number of 50 in Checkley Parish for 

the period 2019 to 2033.  This would be delivered through a combination of the strategic site allocation reference 

UT019 in Upper Tean identified as potentially suitable for 15 new homes and proposed site allocations within this 

Neighbourhood Plan.  

 

Page 136



 36 

The Plan recognises that housing for special groups will also be needed to meet the future increase in older people 

and the needs of those with specialist requirements.  

 

Policy H1 - New Housing Development establishes that new housing development should provide for a mix of housing 

sizes, types and tenure and for special groups.  

 

Policy H 3 Affordable Housing sets out that residential developments of 10 dwellings (or 0.5ha) or more shall provide 

33% affordable housing and will provide a mix of housing in terms of size, type and tenure.  The policy establishes that 

affordable housing should be designed as an integral part of developments and be ‘tenure blind’. 

 

There is also a level of growth that will directly impact on Upper Tean Village, although it is outside the Neighbourhood 

Area.  The following plan illustrates potential growth outside the settlement boundary and Neighbourhood Area.  

However in urban design terms, it creates an extension to Upper Tean village.  Whilst these potential new residents 

will identify as being within Upper Tean, the Neighbourhood Plan will not apply to this area as its outside the 

Neighbourhood Area.  

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100018384.¯
Key

Proposed Settlement boundary Checkley Parish Neighbourhood plan

Settlement Boundary

Upper Tean

Page 137



 37 

Checkley Parish Council Site Selection Report February 2021 

This report considered a range of data, technical reports, results from the Checkley Parish Council call for sites and site 

selection process to identify where new residential development in the parish should be located to support the 

sustainability of the rural settlements.    The conclusions of this report, following consultation have been applied to 

policy HSG1 Housing and Site Allocations.    

 

The intention of HSG1 is to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by identifying a sufficient number and 

range of homes to meet the needs of present and future generations; allocation criteria clearly aligning with NPPF 

paragraph 8 b) housing located in a safe built environment, accessibility to services, open spaces and public transport.  

 

  

Page 138



 38 

HSG1: Housing and Site Allocations 

1. The following settlement boundaries are defined by this neighbourhood plan (see plans on the following 

pages):  

a. Checkley 

b. Lower Tean 

c. Upper Tean 

 

2. The following sites are allocated for residential development (see plans on the following pages): 

a. Fole Dairy, Uttoxeter Road, Fole 

b. Tearne House, Quarry Bank 

 

3. In addition to sites allocated in the Local Plan, and sites allocated by this policy, residential development 

will be supported in the following locations: 

a. Within the settlement boundaries defined in this policy including infill sites; 

b. Infill sites in accordance with policy DES2; 

c. Brownfield sites (including homesteads). 

 

4. residential development must not encroach into the rural parts of the area, defined as outside development 

boundaries to avoid any compromise to open and green character or the landscape setting or separation of 

the different settlements.  

 

Interpretation 

The settlement boundaries for Checkley, Lower Tean and Upper Tean and site allocations are shown on the plans on 

the following pages. 

 

Paragraph 4 of the policy augments Policies H1, SS8, SS9 and SS10 of the adopted Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan, 

September 2020.  

 

The policy sets out sustainable locations for housing development, including through defining settlement boundaries 

and making site allocations. In addition, it protects the rural character of the area. It is recognised that there could be 

exception sites in the rural area in brownfield locations, and these would be considered against policy H3 of the 

Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan September 2020.   

 

  

Page 139



 39 

Checkley Settlement Boundary 

 

'This map
 is reprod

uced from
 

Ordnance
 Survey m

aterial w
ith 

the permi
ssion of O

rdnance
 

Survey on
 behalf o

f the 
Controller

 of Her M
ajesty's 

Stationery
 Office. 

Crown Co
pyright.  

Unauthor
ised repro

duction 
infringes 

Crown co
pyright 

and may 
lead to pr

osecution
 

or civil pro
ceedings

.  
License N

o. 10001
8384.200

6.'  

©
 C

ro
w

n
 c

o
p

y
rig

h
t a

n
d

 d
a
ta

b
a

s
e
 rig

h
ts

 2
0
2

0
 O

rd
n

a
n

c
e
 S

u
rv

e
y
 1

0
0

0
1

8
3

8
4

.
¯

K
e

y

P
ro

p
o

s
e

d
 S

e
ttle

m
e

n
t

b
o

u
n

d
a

ry
 C

h
e

c
k
le

y
 P

a
ris

h
N

e
ig

h
b
o

u
rh

o
o

d
 p

la
n

C
h

e
c

k
le

y

¯

Page 140



 40 

Lower Tean Settlement Boundary 

 

'This map is reproduced
 from 

Ordnance Survey mate
rial with 

the permission of Ordn
ance 

Survey on behalf of the
 

Controller of Her Majes
ty's 

Stationery Office. Crown Copyright.  Unauthorised reproduc
tion 

infringes Crown copyrig
ht 

and may lead to prosec
ution 

or civil proceedings.  License No. 100018384
.2006.'  

©
 C

ro
w

n
 c

o
p

y
rig

h
t a

n
d
 d

a
ta

b
a

s
e

 rig
h

ts
 2

0
2

0
 O

rd
n

a
n

c
e

 S
u

rv
e
y
 1

0
0

0
1

8
3

8
4

.

K̄
e
y

P
ro

p
o

s
e

d
 S

e
ttle

m
e

n
t b

o
u

n
d

a
ry

 C
h

e
c
k
le

y
 P

a
ris

h
 N

e
ig

h
b

o
u

rh
o

o
d

 p
la

n

L
o

w
e

r T
e
a

n

Page 141



 41 

Upper Tean Settlement Boundary 

  

Page 142



 42 

Fole Dairy Site Allocation Plan 

 

 

 

 

Tearne House, Quarry Bank, Site Allocation Plan 

 

 

 

  

 
Location Plan Scale 1 : 1250

X X X X X X

CDM 2015

ELEMENT/OPERATION IDENTIFIED HAZARDS

WHERE THE ABOVE IS BLANK -

NO UNUSUAL RISKS HAVE BEEN IDENTIFIED

RISK LEGEND

PROHIBITIVE ACITON

WARNING

COMPULSORY ACTION

INFORMATION

UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE BELOW, EDGE (THE DESIGNER) HAS NOT IDENTIFIED

ANY SIGNIFICANT RISK ASSOCIATED WITH THE DESIGN INTENT SHOWN ON THIS

DRAWING WHICH COULD NOT BE MANAGED SAFELY BY A COMPETENT

CONTRACTOR.

WHERE WE HAVE IDENTIFIED RISKS BELOW, REFER TO THE PROJECT RISK

ASSESSMENTS ISSUED WITH DESIGN CALCULATIONS.

Rev. Revision Description

Client:

62 Carter Street

01889 568056

Title:

Drawn by: Date: Index No.:

Scales:

Drawing No: Revision

DateDrn

A.J.S.

Uttoxeter

01889 569805Staffs. ST14 8EU

Tel:

Fax:

Structural Design

Mr R Oldham

Tearne Quarry, Hollington

Stoke-on-Trent, ST10 4HR

Proposed Residential Development:

Location Plan

JG February 2018

A2561 - 020

As Shown    Paper Size A1

 
Location Plan Scale 1 : 1250

X X X X X X

CDM 2015

ELEMENT/OPERATION IDENTIFIED HAZARDS

WHERE THE ABOVE IS BLANK -

NO UNUSUAL RISKS HAVE BEEN IDENTIFIED

RISK LEGEND

PROHIBITIVE ACITON

WARNING

COMPULSORY ACTION

INFORMATION

UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE BELOW, EDGE (THE DESIGNER) HAS NOT IDENTIFIED

ANY SIGNIFICANT RISK ASSOCIATED WITH THE DESIGN INTENT SHOWN ON THIS

DRAWING WHICH COULD NOT BE MANAGED SAFELY BY A COMPETENT

CONTRACTOR.

WHERE WE HAVE IDENTIFIED RISKS BELOW, REFER TO THE PROJECT RISK

ASSESSMENTS ISSUED WITH DESIGN CALCULATIONS.

Rev. Revision Description

Client:

62 Carter Street

01889 568056

Title:

Drawn by: Date: Index No.:

Scales:

Drawing No: Revision

DateDrn

A.J.S.

Uttoxeter

01889 569805Staffs. ST14 8EU

Tel:

Fax:

Structural Design

Mr R Oldham

Tearne Quarry, Hollington

Stoke-on-Trent, ST10 4HR

Proposed Residential Development:

Location Plan

JG February 2018

A2561 - 020

As Shown    Paper Size A1

Page 143



 43 

HSG2: Housing Mix 

1. Residential developments should include a balanced mix of house types, based on evidence of local need, 

including:  

a. Smaller houses suitable for first-time buyers or those wishing to downsize; 

b.  Accommodation suitable for older or disabled persons or those requiring specialist care. 

 

2. Affordable housing, including First Homes, must be an integral part of the development and be of a similar 

specification, so as to be tenure blind. 

 

Interpretation 

It is acknowledged that the policy does not seek to modify the affordable housing requirements in the Local Plan H1 

in terms of numbers. However, it does make clear that affordable housing must be provided as an integral part of new 

development, rather than making financial contributions for affordable housing elsewhere.  

 

  

Page 144



 44 

5.2 Business and Employment  

 

Purpose  

To encourage the re-use of heritage assets in the neighbourhood area and promote active ground floor uses in Upper 

Tean.   

 

To encourage more visitors to Checkley parish and promote tourism 

 

Rational and Evidence 

National Planning Policy 

 

Paragraph 8 of National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), July 2021 requires Neighbourhood Plans to set out a 

positive vision for the future of the local area with an overarching objective; a) an economic objective – to help build 

a strong, responsive and competitive economy. 

 

The NPPF puts town centres at the heart of communities, Checkley Parish does not by definition include a town, 

however Upper Tean is a large village with commercial and retail activity serving the whole of the parish. This 

Neighbourhood Plan is written to reflect where possible the progressive approach the NPPF puts forward regarding 

business and employment, and to this end supports:- 

 

• Sustainable growth that does not compromise the character of Upper Tean 

• Diversity. 

• Acknowledges changes in leisure and retailing. 

• Supports appropriate uses and allow a suitable mix of uses. 

 

The NPPF recognises that heritage assets should be conserved.  It promotes a positive strategy for the conservation of 

the historic environment that considers: 

 

• Sustaining the significance of heritage assets, and putting them to viable uses consistent with their 

conservation. 

• Opportunities to secure historic environment’s contribution to the character of a place. 

 

National policy emphasises the importance of protecting designated heritage assets, whilst recognising that a more 

balanced approach would be appropriate for non-designated assets. The NPPF also seeks to preserve those elements 

of the setting (e.g. views) that make a positive contribution to an asset. 

 
Page 145



 45 

The NPPF calls for significant weight to be placed on the need to support economic growth and productivity.  Emphasis 

is placed on an approach that allows an area to build on its strengths, counter any weaknesses and address the 

challenges of the future.  A clear vision and strategy which positively and proactively encourages sustainable economic 

growth, having regard to local circumstances and the specific locational requirements of different sectors is 

encouraged. 

 

Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan 

Policy SS8 Larger Village Area Strategy seeks to sensitively retain and enhance their role as service centres by 

addressing a number of specific social, economic and environment challenges, the policy allows for development or 

redevelopment of land to come forward which is appropriate to the Spatial Strategy and character of each settlement. 

The amount and nature of development will be dependent on the development capacity of individual settlements and 

the availability of suitable sites. 

 

Policy SS9 Smaller Villages Area Strategy seeks to meet limited employment needs by enabling small-scale new 

employment development provided that new development reflects special character and  

heritage. 

 

Policy SS10 Other Rural Area Strategy Rural Areas supports the rural diversification and sustainability of the rural areas, 

promotes sustainable tourism or enhances the countryside and places considerable emphasis on tourism. This is 

identified in the spatial strategy and the Sustainable Community Strategy as a major opportunity to sustain the rural 

economy and strengthen the role of the District within the region and North Staffordshire. 

 

Policy DC2 The Historic Environment seeks to ensure that sites and areas of particular heritage value are both 

safeguarded for the future and, where possible, enhanced both for their own heritage merits and as part of wider 

heritage regeneration proposals. The policy requirements apply to all types of development. 

 

Policy E1 New Employment Development sets out that proposals should help maintain an appropriate range of 

employment premises and sites in terms of their scale, location and type.  The policy promtes the sustainable 

redevelopment, intensification or improvement of existing employment sites provided it would not have an 

unacceptable impact on character or appearance.   Further, the policy supports schemes involving the re-use of rural 

buildings for commercial enterprise, including tourism uses. 

 

Policy E4 Tourism and Cultural Development establishes that new tourism and cultural development should be 

developed in locations that offer: 

 

• Good connectivity with other tourist destinations and amenities; or  

• Locations in or close to settlements where local services, facilities and public transport are available. 

Page 146



 46 

 

The policy indicates that developments in other locations may be supported where a rural location can be justified.  

 

The policy continues by establishing that new accommodation, attractions and facilities should  

 

• be of a quality, scale and character compatible with the local area,  

• protect the residential amenity of the area,  

• enhance heritage, landscape and biodiversity, and 

• not harm interests of acknowledged importance. 

 

  

Page 147



 47 

EMP1: Upper Tean High Street 

1. Ground floor frontage units in the Upper Tean High Street settlement should remain in commercial or 

community uses open to the public, to complement or enhance and not harm the vitality of the village 

centre.  

 

2. Shopfronts should be retained for ground floor frontage units in the Upper Tean High Street settlement. 

 

Interpretation 

The policy enables diversification of the retail centre and recognises the importance of complementary uses. Suitable 

uses would include those falling in Use Class E and other town centre-type activities 

 

 

 

  

Page 148



 48 

EMP2: Heritage-Led Regeneration  

1. The reuse and creative adaptation of statutorily protected and non-designated heritage assets will be 

supported, including diversification of historic farmsteads, commercial buildings, places of worship and 

educational buildings.  

 

2. Schemes involving heritage assets should: 

a) Preserve or enhance the heritage asset and its setting; 

b) Use of high-quality and durable materials for any conversion or extension. 

 

Interpretation 

Complementing the existing structure is not necessarily about imitation but can include well-designed contemporary 

interventions. High-quality materials could include well-finished and durable modern materials: brick, slate, tile or 

stone, (high quality durable materials as opposed to for example timber cladding) or authentic historic materials, 

including authentic vernacular materials such as Staffordshire Blues and scalloped or fish-scale roof tiles. It would not 

include ‘mock’ traditional materials, such as standard concrete roof tiles. Particular attention should be paid to the 

weathering properties of materials.  

 

This policy seeks to enable rural diversification through the use of heritage assts and should be applied to all forms of 

development.  

 

The policy should be helpful in the consideration of the special duties in the Planning (Listed Buildings and 

Conservation Areas) Act 1990 relating to listed buildings and conservation areas. 

 

 

  

Page 149



 49 

EMP3: Rural Business Diversity and Growth 

1. Development to support rural enterprise and tourism will be supported in the following locations: 

a. In or immediately adjacent to existing village settlements or settlement boundaries; 

b. Conversion and diversification of homesteads or farms; 

c. Extension of enhancement of existing businesses, including pubs, and village shops; 

d. Brownfield sites. 

 

2. Support for such development is subject to there being no significant adverse impact on the amenities of 

nearby residential properties or landscape character. 

 

Interpretation 

This is an enabling policy, to encourage expansion of visitor accommodation and facilities. In considering impacts on 

the amenities of nearby residents, additional vehicle movements should be considered.  The potential for noise to 

travel along the valley should be taken into account in applying the policy. 

 

Development to support rural enterprise and tourism could include holiday-let accommodation, visitor attractions and 

visitor facilities. 

 

The Local Plan September 2020 Policies SS2, SS8, SS9 and SS10 set out the level of development appropriate within a 

settlement hierarchy, Larger Villages, Smaller Villages, Other Rural Areas. 

 

Transport impacts - see policy TRA1 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 150



 50 

5.3 Community Facilities and Assets  

 

Purpose  

To protect key Local Green Spaces within the neighbourhood area. To ensure the provision of a range of community 

facilities in the neighbourhood area.  

 

Rationale and Evidence 

National Planning Policy 

 

This Neighbourhood Plan is written with the aim of reflecting national and local strategic planning policy and objectives 

regarding community facilities and assets. The rationale in support of achieving this has been to identify essential 

community facilities and assets as a platform for promoting and supporting these and reflect in the Neighbourhood 

Plan the NPPF objectives to achieve healthy, inclusive and safe places that: 

 

• Provide and retain community facilities (such as local shops, meeting places, sports venues, cultural buildings 

and pubs). 

• Resist the unnecessary loss of valued facilities and services. 

• Promote social interaction. 

• Enable healthy lifestyles. 

 

The NPPF establishes that the designation of land as Local Green Space through neighbourhood plans allows 

communities to protect green areas of particular importance.  Local Green Space must be  

 

• In reasonably close proximity to the community it serves. 

• Demonstrably special to a local community with local significance. 

• Local in character.  

 

The NPPF sets out that development within a Local Green Space should be consistent with those for Green Belts. There 

are no green belt areas within the parish, there are however significant landscape settings of high visual sensitivity, 

high natural value, important landscape settings to settlements as identified in Staffordshire Moorlands Green 

Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands May 2018. The Neighbourhood Plan is written to offer 

Local Green Spaces and important landscapes protection consistent with Green Belt. In addition, protected views are 

identified within the plan. 

 

 

Page 151



 51 

Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan 

The Local Plan recognises that community facilities play an important role in community life  

 

Policy SS8 Larger Villages Area Strategy seeks to Retain and enhance their role as rural service centres by enabling 

appropriate development which supports and increases the range and quality of community facilities available to the 

rural areas; Protecting community facilities where loss would be deemed to reduce the community's ability to meet 

it's day to day needs. 

 

Policy SS9 Smaller Villages Area Strategy establishes that Checkley shall provide for appropriate development which 

enhances community vitality or meets a social or economic need of the settlement and its hinterland. The policy seeks 

to protect services and facilities which are essential to sustain rural living.  It supports the implementation of the Green 

Infrastructure Strategy and Local Green Spaces 

 

Policy SS10 Other Rural Areas supports the rural diversification and sustainability of the rural areas, promotes 

sustainable tourism or enhances the countryside including allowing community facilities where that need cannot be 

met in a settlement within the hierarchy. In such cases the development should be in a sustainable location close to 

an existing serviced settlement. 

 

Policy C1 Creating Sustainable Communities support proposals that protect, retain or enhance existing community 

facilities or provide new facilities. The policy also resists the loss of community facilities. 

 

Policy C2 Recreation and Open Space promotes the provision of high quality recreational open space by implementing 

and supporting schemes that will protect, provide and improve the quantity, quality and accessibility of open space, 

indoor and outdoor sports and children’s play facilities throughout the district. Residential developments of 10 

dwellings (or 0.5ha) will be expected to make provision, or a contribution towards provision of open space, sports and 

recreation facilities which are necessary and reasonably related in form and scale. 

 

Policy DC4 Local Green Space refers to the protection from inappropriate development of Local Green Spaces 

 

Policy SS12 Planning Obligations & Community Levy states that development proposals will be required to provide, or 

meet the reasonable costs of providing, the on-site and off-site infrastructure, facilities and/or mitigation necessary 

through the appropriate use of planning obligations and/or conditions. 

 

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council, Open Space Study, October 2017  

The study is referred to in policy C2 identified deficiencies and surplus open space provision, forming part of the local 

plan evidence base to inform open space provision.  It summarised that there were identified shortfalls in rural areas 

such as Cheadle Parish for parks and gardens, allotment provision and play provision.  Where new residential 

Page 152



 52 

development is created this should be a consideration of the design.  Whilst the viability of delivering on-site provision 

may not be achievable, development proposals should demonstrate how they provide safe and accessible routes to 

reduce car journeys to access existing or new facilities.   

 

The Open Space Study in Table 4.2.2 identifies the walking guidelines for play provision which should be applied to 

inform future development. 

 

(Pg 20, Open Space Study, Staffordshire Moorlands District Council, October 2017)  

 

Checkley Parish Neighbourhood Plan Local Green Space Audit July 2018  

The audit carried out by The Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group identified the spaces designated in this 

Neighbourhood Plan. All of the spaces are in close proximity to the community it serves, demonstrably special to our 

local community with local significance and are local in character.  

 

Checkley Parish Neighbourhood Plan – Local Green Spaces Steering Groups Review 

September 2021 

This is a review by individual steering groups of the green spaces identified in the Local Green Space Audit July 2018 

against the criteria set out in the NPPF last updated July 2021.  Local Green Space must be  

 

• In reasonably close proximity to the community it serves. 

• Demonstrably special to a local community with local significance. 

• Local in character.  

 

 

  

Page 153



 53 

COM1: Community, Sport and Recreational Facilities 

1. New community facilities will be supported, providing there is no significant adverse impact on the 

amenities of any nearby residential properties or landscape character 

 

2. Development proposals that would involve the loss of an existing community facilities will only be 

supported where a similar replacement facility is being provided in close proximity or nearby or it can be 

demonstrated that the community use is no longer needed or viable.   

 

3. Residential development should be supported by a balanced range of play, sport and recreational facilities, 

based on analysis of the capacity of existing facilities and the additional demand created by new 

development.   

 

Interpretation  

This is an enabling policy for new community facilities and to ensure that the range of community facilities in the area 

remains undiminished. Such facilities could include medical and other community uses. The adopted Local Plan 

September 2020 Policies C1 and SS12 provides details of the types of community facilities covered by this policy. 

 

 

The policy also requires consideration of the need for play, sport and recreational facilities to support new-build 

residential development.  These should be located in close proximity to the community they serve or be safely and 

easily accessible.  For larger developments of 10 dwellings or more in-development play areas should be included in 

accordance with the recommendations of Play England. 

 

  

Page 154



 54 

LGS1: Local Green Space 

1. The following spaces are designated as Local Green Spaces: 

 

LGS1: Barnfield Road, Barnfield Road; 

LGS2: St Thomas’ Catholic School Playing Field, Parklands Road; 

LGS3: Greatwood Primary School Playing Field, Vicarage Road; 

LGS4: Well Meadow Gardens, Old Road; 

LGS5: Vicarage Road, Vicarage Road; 

LGS6: Vicarage Crescent, Vicarage Crescent; 

LGS7: Hollington Picnic Area, Main Road; 

LGS8: Broadmore Wood, Quarry Road; 

LGS9: Checkley Cricket Club, Uttoxeter Road; 

LGS10: Checkley Play Area, Uttoxeter Road; 

LGS11: The Tumulus, Heath House Lane; 

LGS12: The Old Burial Ground, New Road; 

LGS13: Ryecroft Close, Ryecrost Close; 

LGS14: Hutchinson Memorial CoE School Playing Field, Uttoxeter Road. 

 

2. Development should not encroach on Local Green Spaces or have any adverse impact on its amenity, safety 

or accessibility.  

 

3. In exceptional circumstances small-scale development may be allowed where it enhances the community 

use of the space and does not compromise the open and green character.  

 

Interpretation 

This policy designates and protects Local Green Spaces. 

 
 

LGS1: Barnfield Road LGS2: St Thomas’ Catholic School Playing Field 

Page 155



 55 

  

LGS3: Greatwood Primary School Playing Field LGS4: Well Meadow Gardens 

  

LGS5: Vicarage Road LGS6: Vicarage Crescent 

 
 

LGS7: Hollington Picnic Area LGS8: Broadmore Wood 

  

LGS9: Checkley Cricket Club LGS10: Checkley Play Area 

Page 156



 56 

 
 

LGS11: The Tumulus LGS12: The Old Burial Ground 

 
 

LGS13: Ryecroft Close LGS14: Hutchinson Memorial CoE School Playing Field 

  

Page 157



 57 

5.4 Place, Design and Environment 

 

Purpose  

To protect the green, natural and historic environment of Checkley Parish.  Encourage well-designed development and 

to meet the challenges of climate change.  

 

Rationale and Evidence 

National Planning Policy 

One of the basic intentions for this Neighbourhood Plan is to support and define where possible conditions and criteria 

for the achievement of sustainable development. One of the key principles of the NPPF (paragraph 11) is the 

presumption in favour of sustainable development. Sustainability has wide ranging social, economic and 

environmental element, within this Neighbourhood Plan we intend to ensure the sustainability of any new 

development. The intention is to achieve growth across the Neighbourhood Area of Checkley Parish that is not be to 

the detriment or loss of Local Green Spaces, landscape and settings by siting potential developments on identified 

locations. This Neighbourhood Plan promotes the re-use of existing buildings and brownfield sites. 

 

Paragraph 8 of the NPPF identifies the overarching objective; c) an environmental objective – to contribute to 

protecting and enhancing our natural, built and historic environment; including making effective use of land, helping 

to improve biodiversity, use natural resources prudently, minimise waste and pollution, and mitigate and adapt to 

climate change, including moving to a low carbon economy.” This Neighbourhood Plan has been written with 

reference to and having regard to this national planning policy and guidance and local policy and guidance. 

 

The NPPF makes clear that creating high quality buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and 

development process should achieve. Good design: 

 

• Supports sustainable development.  

• Creates better places. 

• Helps make development acceptable to communities.  

 

Critically, the NPPF establishes that neighbourhood plans can play an important role in identifying the special qualities 

of an area and explaining how this should be reflected in development. 

 

The NPPF wants to ensure that developments: 

 

• Add to the quality of an area. 

• Are attractive. Page 158



 58 

• Are sympathetic to local character, including the surrounding built environment and landscape setting. 

• Establish a strong sense of place that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health and well-

being. 

 

Critically, good design requirements should not discourage innovation or change in the built environment. 

 

The National Design Guide (2021) establishes that well-designed places have ten characteristics. These are:  

1. Context – enhances surroundings. 

2. Identity – attractive and distinctive. 

3. Built form – a coherent pattern of 

development. 

4. Movement – accessible and easy to 

move around. 

5. Nature – enhanced and optimised. 

6. Public spaces – safe, social and 

inclusive. 

7. Uses – mixed and integrated. 

8. Homes and buildings – functional, 

healthy and sustainable. 

9. Resources – efficient and resilient. 

10. Lifespan – made to last. 

Page 159



 

59 

National policy promotes the protection and enhancement of valued landscapes, sites of environmental significance.  

It seeks net gains for biodiversity. 

 

Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan 

The Local Plan promotes local distinctiveness by means of good design and the conservation, protection and 

enhancement of historic, environmental and cultural assets.  The Plan promotes a high standard of design that is locally 

distinctive and reinforces unique character. 

 

Policy DC1 Design Considerations establishes that development shall be well designed and reinforce local 

distinctiveness by positively contributing to and complementing the special character and heritage of the area through: 

 

• Being of a high quality and adding value, incorporating creativity, detailing and materials appropriate to the 

character of the area. 

• Being designed to respect the site and its surroundings and promote a positive sense of place and identity 

through its scale, height, density, layout, siting, landscaping, character and appearance. 

• Provide for safe and satisfactory access and make a contribution to meeting the parking requirement arising 

from necessary car use. 

• Requiring new developments to be well integrated for car, pedestrian and cycle use. 

 

Policy DC2 The Historic Environment promotes development which sustains, respects or enhances the character or 

heritage of an area. 

 

Policy SD 5 Flood Risk seeks to follow a sequential approach to the management of flood risk. New development will 

be guided to the areas with the lowest risk of current and future flooding where this is viable and compatible with 

other polices aimed at achieving a sustainable pattern of development. In addition, the policy states that all applicable 

development must be subject to a site-specific flood risk assessment which demonstrates that the development has 

been designed to be flood resilient and resistant and safe for its users for the lifetime of the development 

 

Policy T1 Development & Sustainable Transport to promote and support development which reduces reliance on the 

private car for travel journeys, reduces the need to travel generally and accommodates residual development traffic 

in line with the Integrated Transport Strategy. This will be achieved by: 1. Ensuring that all new development is located 

where the highway network can satisfactorily accommodate traffic generated by the development or can be improved 

as part of the development. 2. Ensuring that major development is located in areas that are accessible by sustainable 

travel modes or can be made accessible as part of the proposal. 

 

Policy DC3 Landscape & Settlement Setting states the Council will protect and, where possible, enhance local 

landscape and the setting of settlements in the Staffordshire Moorlands. Page 160



 

60 

 

Policy NE1 Biodiversity & Geological Resources seeks to conserve and enhance by positive management and strict 

control of development the biodiversity and geological resources of the District and neighbouring areas having regard 

to relevant ecological evidence.  

 

Green Infrastructure Strategic Network for Staffordshire Moorlands 2018 

• Forming part of the evidence base to the adopted local plan, this strategy includes clear objectives.  In 

particular, paragraphs 1 to 27 and within the body of the document it identifies where development may 

impact upon the strategy in the Parish of Checkley.  Through the neighbourhood plan the policies aims to 

protect the identified green infrastructure assets that have been mapped within the neighbourhood area.  

These include Landscape setting (as shown on Map A.6), Historical Landscapes (as shown on Map A 7), 

Historical Environment (as shown on Map A 8) Phase 1 Habitats (as shown on Map A.11), Priority Habitats (as 

shown on Map A.12) Staffordshire Moorlands Biodiversity Opportunity Sites (as shown on Map B.1). 

 

 

  

Page 161



 

61 

DES1: Design   

1. Development must be well designed and sustainable, comprising distinctive and site-specific design, 

and meeting the following requirements of this policy, proportionate to the scale and nature of the 

scheme. 

 

2. Development must complement the surrounding townscape in terms of scale, height, massing, spacing, 

and degree of set-back from streets. 

 

3. Development must support active travel and create attractive, safe and convenient environments for 

pedestrians and cyclists, including: 

a. Streets and spaces overlooked by active building frontages, to create natural surveillance: 

b. Safe and accessible routes on foot, by wheelchair and bicycle to local services, facilities, green 

spaces and public transport. 

 

4. Parking should be well designed, as an integral part of development, including: 

a) Providing a mix of car-parking provision as an integral part of the layout, so that it does not 

dominate the streets and spaces.  

b) Ensuring parking provision within the curtilage of each dwelling should be proportionate to the 

size of the property. 

 

5. Use of local or recycled materials, or materials and construction with superior environmental 

performance is encouraged. 

 

6. Innovative architectural and building design will be particularly welcomed, especially where it involves 

superior environmental performance. 

 

7. The layout of developments should respond to views and landmarks in the design layout and location 

of the development. 

 

8. Development should have no adverse impact from drainage of surface water and should:  

a. Provide permeable hard surfaces, to allow water to drain away; 

b. Take opportunities to incorporate Sustainable Urban Drainage into landscape design.  

 

 

 

 
Page 162



 

62 

Interpretation 

Responding to the policy requires analysis of the specific site and its context of the wider area.  Design and access 

statements submitted with planning applications should include such analysis and make clear how the requirements 

of this policy have been met.   

 

The layout of developments should respond to views and landmarks by orientating streets to provide a vista. 

 

Planning applications should make clear how NPPF’s encouragement for community engagement has been met, 

recognising that this is a material consideration. Community engagement should be focused on the pre-design stage, 

so that the community’s knowledge informs the design process. Late-stage engagement, focused on narrow and 

subjective aesthetic matters, offers little opportunity to influence the fundamental characteristics of a scheme.  

 

 

  

Page 163



 

63 

DES2: Infill 

1. Residential development for small infill sites must be designed to: 

a. Complement the townscape character of the street, meeting the requirements of Policy DES1 

b. Avoid the appearance of over-development or development disproportionate in scale to 

surrounding properties or involving loss of garden space or creation of inadequate gaps between 

buildings.  

2. Development will not be infill where it involves the loss of public open space. 

 

Interpretation 

The policy should be applied together with Policy HSG1 points 3 and 4 and Policy DES1 of this Neighbourhood Plan to 

guide the design of infill development.  

 

 

  

Page 164



 

64 

DES3: Landscape and Rural Character 

1. Development must complement the rural character of the area and preserve or enhance wildlife habitats, 

ecology, local landscape character, and landscape features (see Plans Checkley Parish Green Infrastructure, 

Distribution of Known Priority Habitats and Landscape Setting), including: 

a. Trees, hedgerows, semi-natural broad woodland, ancient woodland and other woodland; 

b. The river Tean corridor and other water features; 

c. Nature Conservation Sites  

d. Sites of Biological Importance (Broadgatehall Drumble, Greatgate Wood); 

e. Landscape with High Visual Sensitivity;  

f. Priority Habitats and Local Wildlife Sites. 

 

2. Development should take opportunities to create biodiversity net gain, including:  

a. Tree planting using local native species and landscape design; 

b. Enhancement of Biodiversity Action Sites (The Wing Drumble, Ferneyhill, Broadmoor Wood and 

Quarry, Yardhouse Farm Meadow). 

 

3. High quality boundary treatments must be provided for new-build development to reflect the rural 

character, including hedges and low stone or brick walls. Within Hollington Village, use of Hollington Stone 

for boundary treatments is strongly encouraged.  

 

4. On the edges of the four villages, a sensitive transition must be provided between the built area and open 

countryside, through high-quality landscaping and boundary treatments. 

 

Interpretation 

 

This policy provides protection for landscape character, habitats, and landscape features. In the application of clause 

1 of the policy, particular attention should be paid to the impacts of large-scale interventions, such as solar farms. In 

addition, the cumulative impacts of different development s should be considered.   

 

Clause 4 of the policy seeks to ensure high quality landscape treatment of development boundaries adjacent to the 

rural landscape, for example avoiding urbanisation through the use of close-boarded fences or other hard edges.   

 

 

 

 

 

Page 165



 

65 

Plan: Checkley Parish Green Infrastructure   

 
Page 166



 

66 

Plan: Distribution of Known Priority Habitats  

 

 

L
e

g
e

n
d

C
h

e
c
k
le

y
 P

a
ri

s
h

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 h

a
b

it
a

ts

A
c
id

ic
 G

ra
s
s
la

n
d

C
a

lc
a

re
o

u
s
 G

ra
s
s
la

n
d

N
e

u
tr

a
l 
G

ra
s
s
la

n
d

N
e

u
tr

a
l 
G

ra
s
s
la

n
d

/F
e

n
 M

a
rs

h
 S

w
a

m
p

H
e

a
th

la
n

d
s

H
e

a
th

la
n

d
s
/A

c
id

 G
ra

s
s
la

n
d

B
ro

a
d

le
a

v
e

d
 W

o
o

d
la

n
d

s

B
ro

a
d

le
a

v
e

d
 &

 M
ix

e
d

 W
o

o
d

la
n

d
s

©
 C

ro
w

n
 c

o
p

y
ri

g
h

t 
a

n
d

 d
a

ta
b

a
s
e

 r
ig

h
ts

 2
0

2
2

 O
rd

n
a

n
c
e

 S
u

rv
e

y
 1

0
0

0
1

8
3

8
4

.

D
is

tr
ib

u
ti
o

n
 o

f 
k
n

o
w

n
 p

ri
o

ri
ty

 h
a

b
it
a

ts

Page 167



 

67 

Plan: Landscape Setting  

 

 

L
a

n
d

s
c
a

p
e

 s
e

tt
in

g
 a

n
d

 G
re

e
n

 B
e

lt

©
 C

ro
w

n
 c

o
p

y
ri

g
h

t 
a

n
d

 d
a

ta
b

a
s
e

 r
ig

h
ts

 2
0

2
2

 O
rd

n
a

n
c
e

 S
u

rv
e

y
 1

0
0

0
1

8
3

8
4

.

L
e

g
e

n
d

C
h
e

c
k
le

y
 P

a
ri

s
h

G
re

e
n
 B

e
lt

H
ig

h
 N

a
t,

 C
u
lt
, 
C

h
a
r 

S
e
n

s
it
iv

it
y

H
ig

h
 V

is
u

a
l 
S

e
n
s
it
iv

it
y

Im
p

o
rt

a
n

t 
la

n
d

s
c
a

p
e
 s

e
tt
in

g
 t

o
 s

e
tt

le
m

e
n

ts

Page 168



 

68 

 

DES4: Conservation Areas  

 

1. Development in the Checkley Conservation Areas should complement the following characteristics: 

a. The predominantly two or three-storey height of properties; 

b. The informal layout; 

c. Use of hedges as boundary treatments; 

d. The focal point provided by the church and churchyard. 

 

2. Development in the Upper Tean Conservation Area should complement the following characteristics:  

a. Continuous blocks with rear-of-pavement frontages; 

b. Architectural diversity based on various periods of construction; 

c. Staffordshire blue brick pavements. 

 

Interpretation 

The purpose of the policy is to highlight key characteristics of the conservation areas. The policies should not be 

interpreted to imply stylistic imitation, but to highlight key townscape characteristics.  

 

 

  

Page 169



 

69 

5.5 Transport 

 

Purpose  

To support a balanced range of travel, to reduce car journeys and promote more sustainable live-work 

patterns.  

 

Rationale and Evidence 

National Planning Policy 

The policies in this Neighbourhood Plan encourage and support the provision of safe walking and cycling routes in 

accordance with the NPPF. Achievement of safe routes into and out of new developments is the intention of the 

related sections of housing policies herein. The plan also intends to highlight critical road junctions known by local 

residents to be potentially hazardous for motorists and pedestrians with the aim of promoting and encouraging safety 

improvement whilst at the same time ensuring where possible new sustainable development locations do not cause 

further pressure on these junctions. 

 

The NPPF promotes sustainable transport.  It stresses:  

 

• Walking, cycling and public transport use. 

• Patterns of movement, streets, parking and other transport considerations are integral to the design of 

schemes. 

 

Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan 

The Local Plan aims to reduce the need to travel or make it safer and easier to travel by sustainable forms of transport.  

It seeks to manage travel demand in an effective and sustainable way, while improving the range of choice and 

responding to the needs of residents, workers and visitors. 

 

Policy T1 Development and Sustainable Transport supports development that reduces reliance on the private car for 

travel journeys, reduces the need to travel generally and accommodates residual development traffic.  Policy T2 Other 

Sustainable Transport Measures supports measures which promote better accessibility, create safer roads, reduce the 

impact of traffic, or facilitate highway improvements. 

 

 

 

 

 Page 170



 

70 

Staffordshire Moorlands District Integrated Transport Strategy 2018 

This sets out the priorities for spending on potential infrastructure.  The strategy also makes clear that new 

development should promote Active Travel (walking and cycling) and that new housing should be supported by high 

quality transport.   

 

The transport overview plan recognises the MHN as ‘local Roads’ classification which earlier it identifies the A522 as 

taking between 330-521 HGV vehicles in a 12-hour period.  This demonstrates the large volume of traffic moving 

through a key route through the Neighbourhood Area.   

 

 

  

Page 171



 

71 

TRA1: Transport 

1. Development should be supported by a balanced transport provision, proportionate to the scale and nature 

of the development. This should incorporate sustainable transport and active travel options including: 

 

a) giving priority to the needs of pedestrians and cyclists, including links to surround path networks 

and open spaces, meeting the requirements of Policy DES1; 

b) providing secure and covered cycle storage, Including for all new dwellings. 

 

2. Regard should be made to combined impacts of all new development on traffic safety and congestion at the 

following critical junctions: - 

 

1 - New Road/ High Street, Upper Tean;   

2 - Hollington Road/ Uttoxeter Road, Upper Tean;   

 

3. Where highway improvements are required to enable development: 

a. the needs of pedestrians should be prioritised in their design; 

b. they should have no significant adverse impact on the local rural and historic environments.  

 

 

Interpretation 

The Plan / Map above outlining shows all the critical junctions in the parish, where there is a particular concern over 

traffic safety and congestion. These junctions will be paid particular attention in applying this policy.  

 

Applying this policy will require consideration of the impact of the new development, together with the combined 

impact of other approved developments. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 172



 

72 

Maps of Critical Road Junctions 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

1 

 
2 

 

3 

 

Page 173



 

73 

6.0 Infrastructure Priorities  
 

Priorities for spending infrastructure monies are:  

 

• Highway Safety Improvement to the Key junctions listed in Policy TRA1; 

• Improvement of existing footpath and cycle routes and provision or provision of new links to community 

facilities.  

 

  

Page 174



 

74 

 

Green Guidance Note  

Page 175



 

75 

7.0 Green Development Guidance Note 

This is a guidance note for developers on green design. It is an informal note, so includes non-planning matters. 

However, use of the guidance may help in achieving compliance with the policies of the neighbourhood plan, in 

particular those relating to design and landscape.  

Development should achieve a biodiversity net gain.  

 

Green Building Design 

Carbon neutral development is a key goal. Ways of achieving this can include:  

• superior insultation properties and airtightness; 

• natural ventilation and air flow (for warmer months); 

• use of local, low-embodied energy or recycled materials; 

• green, brown and living roofs; 

• orientation to maximise passive solar gain; 

• rainwater capture, storage and reuse (grey water); 

• use of LED or other low wattage lighting; 

• space to dry clothes outside; 

• natural ventilation; 

• bins for recycling.  

 

Traditional local materials include red brick, stone dressing, and plain clay roof tiles.  

 

Green Landscape Design 

Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems (SUDS) should be incorporated into the landscape design. This includes green 

spaces for residential developments. The incorporation of landscaping to provide water management and green 

spaces is encouraged. 

Hard surfacing should be minimised and be designed to be water permeable.  

Use of traditional hedges for boundary treatments creates a greener environment and enhances the historic and rural 

character of the area. 

 

Local Plant and Tree Species 

Details of local species … 

Staffs Wildlife Trust might be able to help with this. 

 

 
Page 176



 

76 

Wildlife Measures 

Design features to support wildlife include: 

 

• Bat and bird boxes and bricks (owl, raptors, house sparrow, house-martin, swift, woodpecker) 

• Hedgehog gaps in fences  

• Badger routes 

• Wildlife connectivity via grass verges and footpath edges 

• Meadow edge grasses and wildflowers, bee friendly desirable 

• Reed beds 

 

Green Energy 

Local green energy schemes can include small wind turbines, ground source heat pumps, thermal solar collectors, 

photovoltaics, biomass and other technologies. There has to be careful consideration of the impact of such schemes 

on historic and rural character, so the location and design of such facilities needs careful consideration. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Page 177



 

77 

 
Page 178



Checkley Neighbourhood Area

© Crown copyright and database rights 2015 Ordnance Survey 100018384.

P
age 179



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

CHECKLEY  
NEIGHBOURHOOD 
PLAN  
 
BASIC CONDITIONS 
STATEMENT 

 

Page 181



1 | P a g e  

Contents 
1 Introduction .......................................................................................................................................... 2 

1.1 Purpose of the Report ........................................................................................................................ 2 

2 Meeting Legal Requirements ..................................................................................................................... 3 

2.1 The Basic Conditions .......................................................................................................................... 3 

2.2 General Legal Requirements ............................................................................................................... 3 

3 SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT ................................................................................................................ 4 

3.1 Dimensions of Sustainable Development ............................................................................................. 4 

3.2 Delivering Growth ........................................................................................................................... 4 

3.3 Ensuring Growth is Sustainable .......................................................................................................... 4 

3.3 Achieving Sustainable Development .................................................................................................... 5 

4 NATIONAL POLICY AND GUIDANCE ............................................................................................................. 5 

4.1 Having Regard to National Policy and Guidance ................................................................................... 5 

4.2 NPPF Policy Areas ............................................................................................................................. 6 

5 LOCAL POLICY ......................................................................................................................................... 9 

5.1 General Conformity ........................................................................................................................ 9 

5.2 Strategic Policies ............................................................................................................................. 9 

5.3 Policy Comparison ........................................................................................................................ 10 

6. EU OBLIGATIONS AND HUMAN RIGHTS ................................................................................................... 11 

6.1 Strategic Environmental Assessment ................................................................................................ 11 

6.2 Habitat Regulations Assessment ...................................................................................................... 12 

6.3 EU Obligations .............................................................................................................................. 12 

6.4 Human Rights ................................................................................................................................ 12 

Appendix 1 - Screening Outcomes ................................................................................................................... 13 

I. Appendix - Strategic Environmental Assessment ................................................................................... 13 

II. Appendix - Habitat Regulations Assessment ......................................................................................... 13 

Appendix 2 - Equalities Assessment ................................................................................................................ 14 

Equalities Assessment .................................................................................................................................. 14 

I. Legal Requirements .......................................................................................................................... 14 

III. Impact on Protected Characteristics ................................................................................................. 16 

IV. Conclusion .................................................................................................................................. 17 

Page 182



2 | P a g e  

1 Introduction 

 
1.1 Purpose of the Report 

 

This is a Basic Conditions Statement, prepared to accompany the submission of the Checkley Parish 

Neighbourhood Development Plan. 

The statement explains how the Checkley Parish Neighbourhood Development Plan meets the basic 

conditions and other legal requirements. 

Page 183



3 | P a g e  

2 Meeting Legal Requirements 
 
2.1 The Basic Conditions 

The basic conditions that neighbourhood plans must meet are as follows: 

• must be appropriate having regard to national policy; 
 

• must contribute to the achievement of sustainable development; 

• must be in general conformity with the strategic policies in the development plan for the local area; and 
 

• must be compatible with EU obligations. 
 
 

In addition, the plan must meet requirements of human rights law. 
 
 

Regulations specify an additional basic condition that a plan does not breach the requirements of Chapter 8 of 

Part 6 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017, which set out the habitat regulation 

assessment process for land use plans, including consideration of the effect on habitats sites. 

 

The following chapters of this statement deal with the basic conditions in more detail. 
 
 

2.2 General Legal Requirements 

 
Qualifying Body 

The draft plan proposal is being submitted by Checkley Parish Council, which is the qualifying body. 
 
 

The Neighbourhood Development Plan 

The draft plan proposal relates to the use and development of land and has been prepared in accordance 

with the statutory requirements and processes set out in the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 

amended), Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) and the Neighbourhood Planning 

Regulations 2012 (as amended). 

Basic conditions are set out in paragraph 8 (2) of schedule to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
 
 

Period of Effect 

The draft plan proposal states the period for which it is to have effect is from the day it is made to the end of 
31st December 2035.   

 
 

Excluded Development 

The draft plan proposal does not deal with mineral extraction, waste development, nationally significant 

infrastructure or any other matters set out in Section 61K of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

 
 

Neighbourhood Area 

The draft plan proposal relates to the Checkley Parish Neighbourhood Area and to no other area. There are 

no other neighbourhood plans relating to the Checkley Parish Neighbourhood Area. 

Page 184



4 | P a g e  

3 SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT 

 
3.1 Dimensions of Sustainable Development 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 2021 states that sustainable development has economic, 

social and environmental dimensions. 

The draft plan proposal takes a balanced approach to enabling growth, but also considering economic, social 

and environmental sustainability. 

 

3.2 Delivering Growth 
The draft plan proposal seeks to deliver growth through the following means: 

 

Site Allocations: The plan supports and identifies where housing development is sustainable (Policy HSG1). 
 
 

Meeting Local Need: Policy HSG1 identifies the village settlement boundaries as sustainable locations for 

housing development and outlying brownfield sites. Policy HSG2 identifies the housing mix, including priority 

tenures to meet local need. 

 

Effective Growth: The plan recognises that growth depends on the achievement of good design (Policies 

DES1, DES2, DES3 and DES4). 

 

Transport Provision: The plan requires a balanced range of transport provision (Policy TRA1). 
 
 

Employment: The plan supports the provision of new and expanded employment and community facilities 

(Policies EMP1, EMP2 and EMP3). 

 

 
3.3 Ensuring Growth is Sustainable 

The draft plan proposal addresses sustainability in the following ways: 
 
 

Housing Mix and Standards: The plan requires affordable housing to be delivered locally and sets other 

requirements for new housing, including giving priority to the needs of pedestrians and cyclists including 

links to surrounding path networks and open spaces and providing secure and covered cycle storage facilities 

(Policies HSG2, DES1, DES2, DES3, DES4 and TRA1). 

 

Natural Environment: The plan protects the natural environment and identifies local natural features of 

particular value (Policy DES3). 

 

Local Green Space: The plan designates and protects spaces of special community value Local Green Spaces 

(Policy LGS1). 

 

Impacts of Drainage: The designates that surface water drainage from new developments should have no 

adverse impact (Policy DES1). 

Page 185



5 | P a g e  

Sustainable Design and Character: The importance of design to achieving sustainable growth is recognised 

and specific aspects of sustainable design are set out (Policy DES1). Local character is also addressed (Policies 

DES3 and DES4). 

 

Heritage: The plan identifies key heritage settings, adding a local dimension to national policy on heritage 

(Policy EMP2). 

 

Sustainable Transport: The plan requires sustainable forms of transport to be considered and highlights 

critical junction congestion points on the highway network for infrastructure improvements, (Policy TRA1). 

 
 

3.3 Achieving Sustainable Development 
The combination of policies enabling growth and those addressing economic, social and environmental 

sustainability mean that the plan will help to achieve sustainable development. This takes account of the 

needs of current and future generations. 

 
 

4 NATIONAL POLICY AND GUIDANCE 
 
4.1 Having Regard to National Policy and Guidance 

The draft plan proposal has had regard to the National Planning Policy Framework July 2021 (NPPF) and 

Planning Practice Guidance (PPG). 

 

The central theme of the NPPF is the presumption in favour of sustainable development. Three overarching 

objectives are stated for achieving sustainable development in Paragraph 8: 

 

a) an economic objective … 
 

b) a social objective … 

c) an environmental objective … 
 
 

Paragraph 9 states: 
 
 

“these objectives should be delivered through the preparation and implementation of plans and the 

application of the policies in this Framework…” 

 

 
The Checkley Parish Neighbourhood Development draft plan proposal has the following overall vision and 

aims: 

A vision that In 2035 Checkley Parish, will still be a tranquil, safe environment with a strong community spirit 

whilst keeping the individuality of four separate villages all with their own historical feel. 

Upper Tean High Street is thriving in both daytime and evening, and the appearance of the High Street 

reflects that. 

Checkley Parish remains a parish with a distinct identity sitting in a rural setting. 

Page 186



6 | P a g e  

Development has served to improve access to the countryside surrounding Checkley Parish, which itself is 

protected from inappropriate development. This means that more Checkley Parish residents can continue to 

enjoy the countryside. 

Achieved by the following aims: - 

1. Ensure future housing responds to the local needs and supports sustainability. With sympathetic 

development including a mixture of affordable housing and retirement properties, with a primary focus on 

brown field sites, to preserve the visual attractive character of the landscape and high-quality agricultural 

land. (HOUSING) 

2. Promote safer streets by encouraging traffic calming, accessibility to transport links and sensitive parking 

solutions. (TRANSPORT) 

3. Continue to encourage a range of commercial and community activities and services by preserving local 

facilities and organisations and supporting the appropriate farm diversification. (BUSINESS) 

4. Encourage the provision of open space to improve leisure and recreational facilities for residents of all ages. 

Inspire a safe environment for young children to play in and protect existing assets such as village halls, 

schools and other community buildings and spaces used for community events. (LEISURE AND RECREATION) 

5. Protect our distinctive landscape and wildlife to preserve the rural feel. (ENVIRONMENT) 

6. Ensure all development opportunities are sustainable and in keeping with the historical and rural character 

of our individual villages. (DESIGN AND HERITAGE) 

The neighbourhood development draft plan is based on a range of evidence, in line with planning practice 

guidance. This includes evidence on housing need, the natural and historic environments, transport, flood 

risk, and other economic, social and environmental factors. 

Rigorous selection processes were undertaken for the selection and allocation of Local Green Spaces for 

designation. These processes are set out in the consultation statement and Local Green Space evidence 

document. 

4.2 NPPF Policy Areas 

 
NPPF Aims and Policies Checkley Parish 

Development draft Plan 
Aims 

Checkley Parish 

Development draft Plan 
Policies 

Delivering a sufficient supply of homes 

 
“… to support the 

Government’s objective of significantly 

boosting the supply of homes, it is important 

that a sufficient amount and variety of land 

can come forward where it is needed … 

 
… that the needs of groups with specific 

housing requirements are addressed …” 

Aim set out for Housing Policies HSG1 and HSG2 deal 

with sustainable locations, 

housing mix and standards to 

meet local need. 

Page 187



7 | P a g e  

Building a strong, competitive Economy 

 
“planning policies should … set 

out a clear economic vision and strategy 

which positively and proactively encourages 

sustainable economic growth…” 

 
This includes consideration of 

economic and investment strategy, 

infrastructure, and 

flexibility to changing practices. 

Aims set out for 

Business and Leisure 

and Recreation 

Policies EM1, EMP2 and 

EMP3 support new and 

expanded employment and 

community facilities. COM1 

focuses on community 

facilities. 

Promoting healthy and safe Communities 

 
“planning policies and decisions should aim 

to achieve healthy, inclusive and safe places 

…” 

 
This includes consideration of 

social interaction, safety and 

accessibility, healthy 

lifestyles. 

Aims set out for 

Transport, Business, 

Leisure and Recreation 

and Design and Heritage 

Policy TRA1 focuses on giving 

priority to pedestrians and 

cyclists. Policies EMP1, EMP2 

and EMP31 support new and 

expanded employment. 

COM1 focuses on community 

facilities. 

 
Policy LGS1 designates and 

protects Local Green Spaces. 

 
Policy DES1 deals with 

safety and accessibility in 

design. 

Chapter 9. Promoting sustainable transport 

 
“transport issues should be 

considered from the earliest 

stages of plan-making and 

development proposals …” 

 
This includes consideration of 

impacts of development, 

existing and proposed 

infrastructure, promotion of 

walking, cycling, and public 

transport, environmental 

impacts, and movement, streets, and 

parking in the design of schemes. 

Aims set out for 

Transport and Design 

and Heritage 

Policies DES1 and TRA1 deal 

with sustainable transport 

and accessibility, including 

supporting walking, cycling 

and public transport 

 
Policy TRA1 deals with 

impact of developments on 

existing infrastructure and 

proposed infrastructure 

Chapter 11. Making effective use of land 

 
“Planning policies and decisions should 

promote an effective use of land in meeting 

the need for homes and other uses, while 

safeguarding and improving the 

environment and ensuring safe and healthy 

living conditions …” 

 

This includes promotion of mixed use to 

achieve environmental net-gain, using 

Aims set out for 

Housing, Business, 

Leisure and Recreation, 

Environment and Design 

and Heritage 

Policy HSG1 identifies 

sustainable locations for 

housing development 

including brownfield sites. 

 
Policy EMP1, EMP2 and 

EMP3 support employment 

through change of use and 

mixed use in existing built 

locations 

Page 188



8 | P a g e  

undeveloped land for alternative uses, using 

brownfield land and underutilised land and 

buildings, use of airspace. 

 Policy COM1 supports new 

community facilities 

 
Policy LGS1 designates and 

protects Local Green Spaces. 
 

Policy DES3 deals with 

safeguarding and improving 

the environment 

Chapter 12. Achieving well-designed places 

 
“plans should, at the most appropriate level, 

set out a clear design vision and 

expectations, so that applicants have as 

much certainty as possible about what is 

likely to be acceptable … 

 
… Neighbourhood Planning 

groups can play an important role in 

identifying the special qualities of each area 

and explaining how this should be reflected 

in development, both through their own 

plans and engaging in the production of 

design policy, guidance and codes by local 

planning authorities and developers …”. 

 
This includes consideration of function, 

attractiveness, character, sense of place, 

optimising potential, safety, inclusivity, 

accessibility. 

Aims set out for 

Housing and Design and 

Heritage 

Policy HSG1 deals with 

encroachment of residential 

developments. 

 
Policies DES1, DES2, and 

DES3 provide details of 

design expectations for new 

developments Policy DES4 

includes reference to special 

qualities of specific areas 

 
The draft plan also includes a 

Green Development 

Guidance Note (Part 7) 

Chapter 14. Meeting the challenge of 

climate change, flooding and coastal 

change 

 
“the planning system should support the 

transition to a low carbon future in a 

changing climate, taking full account of 

flood risk and coastal change …” 
 

This includes consideration of flood risk, 

resilience to climate change, and promoting 

a low carbon economy. 

Aims set out for 

Transport and Design 

and Heritage 

Sustainable design is 

addressed in Policy DES1. 

 
Balanced and sustainable 

transport provision is 

required and provision of 

secure cycle storage in policy 

TRA1. 

Chapter 15. Conserving and enhancing the 

natural environment 

 
“planning policies and decisions should 

contribute to and enhance the natural and 

local environment …” 

 
This includes consideration of protection of 

valued landscapes, intrinsic character, 

biodiversity net-gain, pollution, mitigation. 

Aims set out for Leisure 

and Recreation, 

Environment and Design 

and Heritage 

Policy DES3 relates directly 

to the protection of the 

natural environment, adding 

a local dimension. 

 
Policy LGS designates Local 

Green Space that are 

demonstrably special, some 

of which include natural 

habitats and contribute to 

biodiversity. 

Page 189



9 | P a g e  

Chapter 16. Conserving and enhancing the 

historic environment 

 
“plans should set out a positive strategy for 

the conservation and enjoyment of the 

historic environment, including heritage 

assets most at risk through neglect, decay 

or other threats …” 

 
This includes consideration of sustaining or 

enhancing heritage assets, wider social, 

economic and cultural benefits, contribution 

of new development, and character of 

place. 

Aims set out for 

Business and Design and 

Heritage 

Policy EMP2: deals with 

heritage-led regeneration 

 

 
Policy DES2 provides a local 

dimension to heritage policy, 

including identification of key 

settings. 

 
Policy DES1 deals with design 

and local character. 

 

 

5 LOCAL POLICY 
 
 

5.1 Strategic Policies 
Neighbourhood Plans should be tested against adopted strategic local policies. 

Strategic local policy is contained within the Staffordshire Moorlands Adopted Local Plan 2014 – 2033 

adopted 9th September 2020. 

The relevant strategic policies in adopted local plan for the purpose of meeting the basic conditions are: 
 

• C1 Creating Sustainable Communities 

• C2 Recreation and Open Space 

• DC1 Design Considerations 

• DC2 The Historic Environment 

• DC3 Landscape and Setting 

• DC4 Local Green Space 

• E1 New Employment Development 

• E4 Tourism and Cultural Development 

• H1 New Housing Development 

• H3 Affordable Housing 

• E1 New Employment Development 

• SD5 Flood Risk 

• SS1 Development Principles 

• SS2 Hierarchy of Settlements 

• SS8 Larger Villages Strategy 

• SS9 Smaller Villages Area Strategy 

• SS10 Other Rural Areas Strategy 

• SS12 Planning Obligations and Community Levy 

• T1 Development and Sustainable Transport 

 

5.2 General Conformity 

It should be noted that general conformity relates to the policies of the neighbourhood plan taken as a 

whole, considered against the strategic local policies taken as a whole. 

The draft plan proposal has been drafted against the context of strategic local policies and taken as a whole, 

does not undermine and helps to deliver the spatial strategy of the adopted Local Plan.   

Page 190



10 | P a g e  

5.3 Policy Comparison 
The Checkley Neighbourhood Development Plan policies have been drafted to complement and add 
local character and other detail to the corresponding Local Plan Policies.  The following table maps 
together corresponding policies.  

 

Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan Adopted 
September 2020, Strategic Policies. 

Checkley Parish Neighbourhood Development draft 

Plan Policies 

C1 Creating Sustainable Communities COM1: Community, Sport and Recreational Facilities 
 

LGS1: Local Green Spaces 

C2 Recreation and Open Space COM1: Community, Sport and Recreational Facilities 
 

LGS1: Local Green Spaces 

DC1 Design Considerations DES1: Design 
 

DES2: Infill 

DC2 The Historic Environment EMP2: Heritage-Led Regeneration 

DES2: Infill 

DES4: Conservation Areas 

DC3 Landscape and Setting DES3: Landscape and Rural Character 

DC4 Local Green Space LGS1: Local Green Space 

E1 New Employment Development EMP1: Upper Tean High Street 

EMP2: Heritage-Led Regeneration 

EMP3: Rural Business Diversity and Growth 

E4 Tourism and Cultural Development EMP3: Rural Business Diversity and Growth 
 

TRA1: Transport 

H1 New Housing Development HSG1: Housing and Site Allocation 
 

HSG1: Housing and Site Allocation 

H3 Affordable Housing HSG1: Housing and Site Allocation 

NE1 Biodiversity & Geological Resources DES3: Landscape and Rural Character 

SD5 Flood Risk DES1: Design 

SS1 Development Principles HSG2: Housing Mix 

SS2 Hierarchy of Settlements HSG1: Housing and Site Allocation 
 

EMP3: Rural Business Diversity and Growth 

Page 191



11 | P a g e  

SS4 Strategic Housing and Employment Land 

Supply 

HSG1: Housing and Site Allocation 

SS8 Larger Villages Strategy HSG1: Housing and Site Allocation 
 

EMP3: Rural Business Diversity and Growth 
 

COM1: Community, Sport and Recreational Facilities 

LGS1: Local Green Space 

SS9 Smaller Villages Area Strategy HSG1: Housing and Site Allocation 
 

EMP3: Rural Business Diversity and Growth 

COM1: Community, Sport and Recreational Facilities 

LGS1: Local Green Space 

SS10 Other Rural Areas Strategy HSG1: Housing and Site Allocation 
 

EMP3: Rural Business Diversity and Growth 

SS12 Planning Obligations and Community 

Levy 

COM1: Community, Sport and Recreational Facilities 

T1 Development and Sustainable Transport COM1: Community, Sport and Recreational Facilities 

DES1: Design 

TRA1: Transport 

T2 Development and Sustainable Transport COM1: Community, Sport and Recreational Facilities 

DES1: Design 

TRA1: Transport 

 

 

6. EU OBLIGATIONS AND HUMAN RIGHTS 

6.1 Strategic Environmental Assessment 
The plan has been screened for Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA).  This included consultation with 
national statutory bodies. Natural England, the Environment Agency and Historic England responded 
and indicated that the plan would not have significant environmental impacts or affect a European 
site.  

In the conclusions section of the SEA report paragraph 6.2 states – It is considered that the Checkley 

Neighbourhood Development Plan is unlikely to lead to any significant environmental effects beyond those 

already assessed through the environmental assessments (SEA/SA and HRA) of the SMDC Local Plan. 

In line with regulation 9 of the Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 , it is 

therefore considered that no further environmental assessment is required. Appendix 1 includes a copy of 

the screening report and forms part of the draft plan submission.   

Page 192



12 | P a g e  

6.2 Habitat Regulations Assessment 
The plan has been screened for Habitat Regulation Assessment (HRA). 

 

As a result of the assessment carried section 4 of the screening assessment report it was conclude in 

paragraph 6.3 that it is considered unlikely that any significant environmental effects will occur as a result of 

implementation of policies and proposals set out in the draft Checkley Neighbourhood Development Plan. 

Natural England have been consulted on the report and agree with these conclusions. 

HRA Stage 1 Screening Outcome – paragraph 6.4 states that the Checkley Neighbourhood Development plan 

does not require further HRA work to be undertaken. 

Appendix 1 includes a copy of the screening report and forms part of the draft plan submission. 
 
 

6.3 EU Obligations 
Given the above screening outcomes, which take account of the responses of national statutory bodies, the 

draft plan proposal meets the basic conditions relating to not breaching EU obligations and Chapter 8 of Part 

6 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017. 

 

 
6.4 Human Rights 

The draft plan proposal is a result of extensive engagement with the local community and stakeholders, from 

the earliest stages of the process. This has informed the content of the draft plan. Further details can be 

found in the Consultation Statement. 

 
 

An equalities assessment is included at Appendix 2. This indicates that the plan would have positive impacts 

for people with protected characteristics. The draft plan proposal meets human rights requirements. 

Page 193



13 | P a g e  

Appendix 1 - Screening Outcomes 

I. Appendix - Strategic Environmental Assessment 
The following is an extract from the Checkley Parish Strategic Environmental Assessment Screening Report 

October 2021. 
 

 

Full report can be viewed on the below link: 

https://www.dropbox.com/s/izul0fdropzo75z/SEA%20Screening%20Assessment%20Checkley%20NP%20fina 

l%20report.pdf?dl=0 

 
 

II. Appendix - Habitat Regulations Assessment 

The following is an extract from the Checkley Parish Habitat Regulation Assessment Report October 2021. 
 

 
 

Full report can be viewed on the below link: 

https://www.dropbox.com/s/69h7yc3xy2e2i2b/HRA%20Screening%20Assessment%20Checkley%20NP%20fi 

nal%20report.pdf?dl=0 

Page 194

https://www.dropbox.com/s/izul0fdropzo75z/SEA%20Screening%20Assessment%20Checkley%20NP%20final%20report.pdf?dl=0
https://www.dropbox.com/s/izul0fdropzo75z/SEA%20Screening%20Assessment%20Checkley%20NP%20final%20report.pdf?dl=0
https://www.dropbox.com/s/69h7yc3xy2e2i2b/HRA%20Screening%20Assessment%20Checkley%20NP%20final%20report.pdf?dl=0
https://www.dropbox.com/s/69h7yc3xy2e2i2b/HRA%20Screening%20Assessment%20Checkley%20NP%20final%20report.pdf?dl=0


14 | P a g e  

Appendix 2 - Equalities Assessment 
 

I. Legal Requirements 

II. Checkley Parish General Population Characteristics 

III. Impacts on Protected Characteristics 

IV. Conclusion 
 

Equalities Assessment 

I. Legal Requirements 
The Equality Act 2010 places a duty on all public authorities in the exercise of their functions to have regard to 

the need to eliminate discrimination, to advance equality of opportunity, and to foster good relations 

between persons who have a “protected characteristic” and those who do not. Protected characteristics are 

defined in the Equality Act as age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or 

belief, sex, and sexual orientation. 

An Equalities Assessment is a systematic analysis of a policy or policies in order to scrutinise the potential for 

an adverse impact on a particular group or community, in particularly those with a protected characteristic. 

An assessment has been made on whether the Checkley Parish Neighbourhood Development Draft Plan has 

a positive, negative or neutral impact on each of the protected characteristics. If the impact is negative, this 

is given a high, medium or low assessment. The following describes these: 

Impact Description High A significant potential impact, risk of exposure, history of complaints, no mitigating 

measures in place etc. 

Impact Description Medium Some potential impact exists, some mitigating measures are in place, poor 

evidence. 

Impact Description Low Almost no relevancy to the process, e.g. an area that is very much legislation-led. 

Page 195



15 | P a g e  

II. Checkley Parish General Population Characteristics 

These may be sourced in detail in the report which covers the characteristics of people and households in 

Checkley Parish in Staffordshire Moorlands (GSS code E04009032). Figures are sourced from the 2011 

Census key statistics (link below) 

https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/localarea?compare=E04009032 
 

This link provides details of the age structure of the parish and Ethnic Groups who live in the parish. 
 

 

Page 196

https://www.nomisweb.co.uk/reports/localarea?compare=E04009032


16 | P a g e  

 
 

III. Impact on Protected Characteristics 
• Age: The plan seeks to accommodate housing need and growth (Policies HSG1 and HSG2). This will 

help to ensure that housing provision caters for all ages, including younger people seeking housing 

for the first time, and older people looking to downsize by requiring that housing proposals properly 

address identified local needs. Policy EPM1 relates to the centre of Upper Tean village and 

encourages a range of uses to support the sustainability of the community providing local facilities 

including retail, food, community, medical, cultural or business. This provides opportunity for 

employment to a range of people and provides services at the centre of Upper Tean village, 

accessible to the immediate and wider community. Policies EMP2, EMP3 and COM1 encourages a 

range of uses to support the sustainability of the community across the whole parish. Policy DES1 

Page 197



17 | P a g e  

requires good design, including for people of a range of mobility’s. The impact on all ages will be 

positive. 

• Disability: The needs of persons who are disabled or who have limited mobility are addressed in 

Policies DES1 and TRA1, which seek to create a well-designed and accessible environment. Policy 

HSG2 requires new housing to meet identified local needs, Policies EMP1, EMP2, EMP3 and COM1 

will help to enable local employment, and Policies LGS1, DES3, and DES4, will enable improvement 

to the local environment. Policy TRA1 will encourage the provision and improved infrastructure to 

support improved public transport services or access too. The impact on people with disabilities will 

be positive. 

• Maternity and Pregnancy: Key issues for people who are pregnant or who have young children are 

access to appropriate housing, flexible employment, and community facilities. Policies HSG1, HSG2, 

DES1, EMP1, COM1 and TRA1 will enable this. The impact on people who are pregnant or have young 

children will be positive.  

• Race: A very small proportion of the population of Checkley parish are from non-white ethnic 

groups. For the most part, the plan will have an equal impact on the local population regardless of 

race. A public realm designed with safety and accessibility in mind will minimise opportunities for 

hate crime (there is no evidence that this is a problem in the Neighbourhood Area). Policy DES1 

seeks to create well designed development, which includes safety considerations. The impact will be 

positive on people of all races. 

• Sex (Gender): The Neighbourhood Development draft Plan contains no specific policies or proposals 

for any particular gender. The policies have been written to provide equal opportunity to any gender 

in respect of the provision of development and access to facilities. No gender is disadvantaged by 

any of the policies and proposals in the Neighbourhood Development draft Plan. People will benefit 

equally from the implementation of the Neighbourhood Development draft Plan. This includes 

people with prams or pushchairs. The impact will be positive for all genders. Religion, Gender Re- 

assignment, Sexual orientation: The Neighbourhood Development draft Plan cannot directly address 

the social attitudes that underpin hate crimes. However, it does seek to provide a well-designed and 

safe built environment for all. The impact will be positive on all people, regardless of religion or 

LGBT+ status. 

 
 

IV. Conclusion 
The Neighbourhood Development draft Plan provides a strategy for the development of the Neighbourhood 

Area, and a range of policies and proposals, which will result in positive benefits for the local community, 

including those with protected characteristics. 

Page 198



18 | P a g e  

Contact 

 
Checkley Parish Council 

Greatwood Hall 

Hollington Road 

Tean 

Staffordshire 

ST10 4JY 

 

Checkleyparishcouncil.co.uk 

hello@checkleyparishcouncil.co.uk 

01538 528118 

 
 

Page 199

mailto:hello@checkleyparishcouncil.co.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

  

 
 

A parish or town council must produce a consultation statement to accompany the draft plan proposal when 
formally submitting the document to the Local Planning Authority as set out in the neighbourhood planning 

regulations 2015 (2). 

26th September 2022 

Page 201



1 | P a g e  
 

Contents 
1. Introduction ....................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 2 

2. Summary of Community Engagement .............................................................................................................................................................................................................. 3 

2.1  Approach to community engagement ...................................................................................................................................................................................................... 3 

2.2  What was done? ........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 3 

2.3  Who was targeted? ................................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 8 

2.4  Outcomes / Feedback ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 8 

3. First Pre-Submission Consultation (Regulation 14) .......................................................................................................................................................................................... 9 

3.1  How the Consultation Was Undertaken ................................................................................................................................................................................................... 9 

3.2  Statutory Consultees ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 10 

3.3  Issues ........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 15 

4. Second Pre-Submission Consultation (Regulation 14) ................................................................................................................................................................................... 15 

4.1  How the Consultation Was Undertaken ................................................................................................................................................................................................. 15 

4.2  Statutory Consultees ............................................................................................................................................................................................................................... 16 

4.3  Issues ........................................................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 16 

5. Responses to Representations ........................................................................................................................................................................................................................ 16 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 202



2 | P a g e  
 

1. Introduction 
 

This Consultation Statement accompanies the submission of the Checkley Parish Neighbourhood Development Plan 2021-2035.  

It summarises the community engagement programme and the Regulation 14 consultation that were undertaken.  

It shows how the requirements of Regulations 14 and 15 of the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations 2012 (as amended) have been satisfied. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 203



3 | P a g e  
 

2. Summary of Community Engagement 
 

2.1  Approach to community engagement 
 

Checkley Parish Council developed a programme of community and stakeholder engagement which has been used to guide 
the process of producing the Neighbourhood Development Plan. The Parish Council recognises that the Neighbourhood 
Development Plan must reflect the needs of the community and the locality. 

Accordingly, the Parish Council has sought to communicate with residents in a timely and effective manner and to inform 
and actively engage with them throughout the process of producing the Neighbourhood Development Plan. The 
community engagement carried out in producing the draft Neighbourhood Development Plan is summarised in the 
community engagement table, found on the following pages. 

 

2.2  What was done? 
 

To achieve the varied community engagement the Parish Council has used a wide range of communication methods 
including open meetings, a dedicated webpage on the Parish Councils website (www.checkleyparishcouncil.co.uk/ndp), 
drop in events, stand at village events, social media such as Facebook pages and groups, variety of leaflets and several large 
banners at prominent positions in all the villages.  

In addition, specially printed questionnaires were circulated to all households in the parish at the detailed community 
consultation stage.  This questionnaire was also available online via Survey Monkey.  

The Neighbourhood Development Plan has undertaken the following statutory consultation as part of the process: 

 Publicity of the Neighbourhood Area 
 Pre-submission consultation 
 Publicity following submission (to be done by Local Planning Authority) 

 
 
 

Page 204



4 | P a g e  
 

DATE METHOD / ACTION PURPOSE 
February 2016 Held a residents meeting in order to establish the NP Steering Group 

made up of Parish Councillors and local residents. 
To enable a programme of community engagement to inform, scope 
and shape of the NP. 

April 2016 Dedicated webpage established on Parish website - 
www.checkleyparishcouncil.co.uk/ndp 
And Facebook page Upper Tean Residents Association to support. 

To publicise the development of the 
Neighbourhood Plan process and keep local residents and interested 
parties informed of progress. 

May 2016 Steering group members and stakeholders finalised questionnaire. To enable questionnaire final questions, layout, distribution and 
community engagement. 

June 2016  February 
2017 

Community questionnaire. 
 
 
Attendance at various village events 
Including: 

 Sports Day at the Wentlows Playing Fields  
 Hollington Village Fair, Hollington 
 Checkley Fair at the Cricket Club 
 Mid-Summer Madness at Great Wood Primary School  
 Church Cake Sale outside Coop on the High Street. 

 
Publicity across: 

 Local newspapers 
 Dedicated webpage - www.checkleyparishcouncil.co.uk/ndp 
 Various resident groups and parish councils Facebook pages 

and groups 
 Leaflets put through all residents doors  
 Posters in shop windows and key community buildings 
 Questionnaire was available for completion through Survey 

Monkey or downloadable - 
www.checkleyparishcouncil.co.uk/wp-
content/uploads/2019/05/What-do-you-like-about-where-
you-live.pdf  

To gain detailed information from the community and stakeholders 
regarding key issues to help shape priorities, policies and the vision 
statement. 

February  March 
2017 

Analysis of the detailed community consultation questionnaire. The data has been analysed and the 
findings used to inform the writing of the Neighbourhood Plan and 
policies. 
 

Page 205



5 | P a g e  
 

The response rate was 384 questionnaires completed during the 
consultation period. 

March 2017 Stakeholder Policy Engagement 
 
The Parish Council Clerk wrote to stakeholders inviting them to a 
meeting at Greatwood Hall.   
 
Meeting was also advertised on dedicated webpage 
(www.checkleyparishcouncil.co.uk/ndp) and across social media 
channels. 

To obtain input and feedback from 
stakeholders to inform the writing of the Neighbourhood Plan. 

April  July 2017  
 
Draft Policy Public Engagement Drop-in sessions held: 
 

 Greatwood Hall, Tean 
 Hollington Village Hall, Hollington 
 Checkley Community Centre, Checkley 

To obtain input and feedback from 
Stakeholders and residents to inform the writing of the 
Neighbourhood Plan. 

October  November 
2017 

Call for Housing Sites 
 
The Parish Council Clerk wrote to local landowners inviting them to 
drop-in sessions at: 
 

 Greatwood Hall, Tean 
 Checkley Cricket Club, Checkley 

 
Forms could also be download from the dedicated webpage. 

Nomination of sites to be included in the Neighbourhood area. 

February 2018 Farming Diversity Policy 
 
The Parish Council Clerk wrote to local farmers inviting them to drop-
in session at: 
 

 Greatwood Hall, Tean 

To ascertain interest in creating a rural business diversification policy. 

August 2018 Draft Selection Criteria and Local Green Space consultation. 
 
Local Green Space: 

To obtain comments and feedback about the designation of sites as 
Local Green Spaces and Draft Selection Criteria from landowners, 
occupiers, users, the community and Staffordshire Moorlands District 
Council. 

Page 206



6 | P a g e  
 

The Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group invited feedback on 
designated sites from landowners, stakeholder and local residents. 
 
Publicity across: 

 Local newspaper 
 Posters in local shops 
 Dedicated webpage - www.checkleyparishcouncil.co.uk/ndp 
 Social media channels 

 
 
Draft Selection Criteria: 
The Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group invited feedback from 
landowners, stakeholder and local residents. 
 
Publicity across: 

 Local newspaper 
 Posters in local shops 
 Dedicated webpage - www.checkleyparishcouncil.co.uk/ndp 
 Social media channels 

 

February 2019 Further consultation for the revised Draft Selection Criteria. 
 
 

To obtain comments and feedback to revised criteria to reflect 
relevant issues identified by comments from landowners, 
stakeholders and the community after the previous consultation. 

April 2019 
 

To score nominated sites against the agreed Selection Criteria. 

December 2020 Checkley Parish Council agreed to commission Urban Vision to write 
  

January  February 
2021 

Growth Strategy Consultation 
 
The Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group invited feedback from 
landowners, stakeholder and the local community. 
 
Publicity across: 

 Local newspaper 
 Posters in local shops 
 Dedicated webpage - www.checkleyparishcouncil.co.uk/ndp 
 Social media channels 

To obtain comments and feedback about the growth strategy from 
landowners, occupiers, stakeholders and the community. 
 

Page 207



7 | P a g e  
 

11th February  25th 
March 2022 

Formal consultation on the draft Neighbourhood Development Plan 
took place from Friday 11th February 2022 at 12 noon to Friday 25th 
March 2022 at 12 noon in accordance with Regulation- 14, Town and 
Country Planning, England Neighbourhood Planning (General) 
Regulation 2012. This was a six-week statutory consultation period. 

Regulation 14 

3rd June  15th July 
2022 

Second formal consultation on the draft Neighbourhood Development 
Plan took place from Friday 3rd June 2022 at 12 noon to Friday 15th 
July 2022 at 12 noon in accordance with Regulation- 14, Town and 
Country Planning, England Neighbourhood Planning (General) 
Regulation 2012. This was a six-week statutory consultation period. 

Revised Regulation 14 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 208



8 | P a g e  
 

2.3  Who was targeted? 
 

To achieve the varied community engagement the Neighbourhood Plan Steering Group and Parish Council has used a wide range of communication methods including 
open meetings, a dedicated webpage (www.checkleyparishcouncil.co.uk/ndp), pop-ups, stand at village events, social media such as the Facebook page, Checkley Parish 
Council - Tean, Checkley & Hollington and Upper Tean Residents association.  Also, local Facebook community groups, several banners at prominent positions in the 
villages, posters in shops and local community buildings, local newspaper press releases and local radio. In addition, specially printed questionnaires were circulated to all 
households in the parish at the detailed community consultation stage.  Meetings and consultations have also been printed on parish marketing material. 

 

2.4  Outcomes / Feedback 
 

Initial consultations and publicity were carried out for the Neighbourhood Development Plan at the start of the process in February 2017. This involved resident meetings in 
the 4 different villages to create a Neighbourhood Steering Group made up of the local community, stakeholders and Parish Councillors.  A consultation questionnaire, 
including various pop-ups from June 2016  February 2017  to focus on, confirm and expand upon, the key issues identified. The results of the questionnaire informed the 
drafting of the Neighbourhood Plan.  

A report showing an analysis of the results was made available on the website at the following link: 

https://www.dropbox.com/s/qrzbmqx2dekwlwt/Survey%20Responses%20Report%20-%20v08.03.17.pdf?dl=0 

As a result of the community engagement the key issues and themes for the Neighbourhood Development Plan were identified and from these the vision and aims were 
formed. Below is a SWOT analysis of the main issues raised through the process. 

Strengths Weaknesses 
 Rural character of the parish including views 

and wildlife 
 Green and open spaces 
 Sense of community 
 Conservation area, historic buildings and village 

history 
 Facilities including GP surgery, various village 

halls, shops and good local schools 
 Village safety and low crime rate 
 Road links to M6 and M1 

 Lack of amenities  
 Lack of facilities for young children and 

teenagers 
 The New Road / High Street junction is 

dangerous for pedestrians and unable to cope 
with volume of traffic 

 The Breech Lane / Cheadle Road junction is 
dangerous with very poor visibility 

 Speed, volume of traffic, size of vehicles and 
pedestrian safety 

Page 209



9 | P a g e  
 

 Free parking  Poor road, pavement maintenance and 
narrowing / lack of footpaths 

 Visual impact and noise pollution from A50 
 Poor transport links 
 A50 diversion 
 Parking on High Street 
 Amount of new housing 

Opportunity Threats 
 Safeguard rural character and local green 

spaces 
 Preserve and enhance the heritage and historic 

buildings 
 Encourage sustainable development according 

to evidenced need in appropriate locations with 
good design 

 Increase and improve sports and recreation 
facilities 

 Facilitate improvements to critical road 
junction 

 Identify suitable measures to manage/calm 
traffic 

 Enhance current play areas and green space 
 Create a mix of housing types  affordable, 

family homes and bungalows in allocated areas 

 Existing facilities are at or approaching capacity 
so unable to cope with new developments 

 Development resulting in loss of important 
rural views or in or near the conservation area 
damaging the character of the area 

 Additional development adding to already busy 
roads 

 Accidents / fatalities due to speed of traffic and 
size of vehicles 

 Losing diminishing transport links 

 

3. First Pre-Submission Consultation (Regulation 14) 
 

3.1  How the Consultation Was Undertaken 
 

Formal consultation on the draft Neighbourhood Development Plan took place from Friday 11th February 2022 at 12 noon to Friday 25th March 2022 at 12 noon in 
accordance with Regulation-14, Town and Country Planning, England Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulation 2012. This was a six-week statutory consultation period. 

The consultation was widely publicised including the following: 

Page 210



10 | P a g e  
 

 Poster were placed in local shops, pubs and community buildings providing details of the consultation and how the plan could be viewed and responded to. 
 The plan was available to download together with a consultation form on the Checkley Parish Council dedicated consultation webpage 

www.checkleyparishcouncil.co.uk/regulation-14-consultation  
 Press release was sent to local newspapers and radio stations. 
 Statutory consultees were written to by post and/or email (see list in the next section) 
 Hard copies of the plan together with details about the consultation process and response forms were on display to view and respond at the following locations: 

o  Greatwood Hall, Upper Tean 
o Dog and Partridge Pub, Lower Tean 
o Checkley Community Centre  Checkley 
o The Raddle Inn, Hollington 

 Neighbourhood Steering Group support by Checkley Parish Council held viewing pop-up events at: 
o 23rd February 2022  Pop up session with Cllr Bell at Greatwood Hall  10:30am  Noon 
o 9th March 2022  Pop up session with Cllr Bell at Greatwood Hall  10:30am  Noon 
o 16th March 2022  Pop up session with Cllr Bell at Greatwood Hall  6:30pm  8pm 
o 17th March 2022  Pop up session with Lower Tean & Checkley Residents Association at Checkley Cricket Club  6pm  9pm 
o 20th March 2022  Pop up session with Lower Tean & Checkley Residents Association at Checkley Cricket Club  3pm  5pm 
o 23rd March 2022  Pop up session with Cllr Bell at Greatwood Hall  10:30am  Noon 

The consultation period including all community drop in events were post Covid-19, so procedures were followed in accordance with government guidelines. 

Responses were invited by various methods - by email to hello@checkleyparishcouncil.co.uk, by post / or by hand to Clerk to Checkley Parish Council, Greatwood Hall, 
Hollington Road, Upper Tean, Staffordshire, ST10 4JY. 

 

3.2  Statutory Consultees 
 

The following statutory consultees provided by Staffordshire Moorlands District Council were consulted: 

ORGANISATION ADDRESS EMAIL 
Local Authorities   
East Staffordshire Borough Council 
Staffordshire County Council 
 
 

 
 

planningpolicy@eaststaffsbc.gov.uk 
catherine.mann@staffordshire.gov.uk 
denise.vittorino@staffordshire.gov.uk 
annabel.chell@staffordshire.gov.uk 

Page 211



11 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Staffordshire County Council (Highways) 
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
 
 
 
Peak District National Park 
City Of Stoke On Trent Council 
Newcastle-under-Lyme Borough Council 
Stafford Borough Council 
Cheshire East Borough Council 
High Peak Borough Council 
Derbyshire County Council 
Derbyshire Dales District Council 

mike.winks@staffordshire.gov.uk 
mark.parkinson@staffordshire.gov.uk 
james.chadwick@staffordshire.gov.uk 
michelle.budgen@staffordshire.gov.uk 
laura.cunningham@staffordshire.gov.uk 
lee.wells@staffordshire.gov.uk 
nick.dawson@staffordshire.gov.uk 
forward.plans@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk 
james.chadwick@staffordshire.gov.uk 
Pippa.Home@highpeak.gov.uk 
Mark.James@highpeak.gov.uk 
adele.metcalfe@peakdistrict.gov.uk 
thomas.lewis@stoke.gov.uk 
Jemma.March@newcastle-staffs.gov.uk 
ayendole@staffordbc.gov.uk 
localplan@cheshireeast.gov.uk 
ldf@highpeak.gov.uk 
planningpolicy@derbyshire.gov.uk 
mike.hase@derbyshiredales.gov.uk 

Parish Councils   
Alton Parish Council 
Bagnall Parish Council 
Biddulph Town Council 
Blore With Swinscoe Parish 
Bosley Parish Council 
Bradnop Parish Council 
Brown Edge Parish Council 
Caverswall Parish Council 
Cheadle Town Council 
Cheddleton Parish Council 
Congleton Town Council 
Consall Parish Council 
Cotton Parish Council 
Croxden Parish Council 
Denstone Parish Council 
Dilhorne Parish Council 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

clerkapc@gmail.com 
bagnallpc@gmail.com 
office@biddulph-tc.gov.uk 
janetnash@gmail.com 
bosley-pc@outlook.com 
shelia.knott@sky.com 
clerk@brownedge-pc.gov.uk 
clerk@caverswall.staffslc.gov.uk 
info@cheadletowncouncil.com 
louise.eyre.cheddletonpc@sky.com 
info@congleton-tc.gov.uk 
consallparishcouncil@hotmail.co.uk 
cottonparishcouncil@hotmail.com 
croxdenparishclerk@gmail.com 
parishcouncil@denstonevillage.org.uk 
clerk@dilhorne.staffslc.gov.uk 

Page 212



12 | P a g e  
 

Draycott Parish Council 
Endon Parish Council 
Farley Parish Council 
Forsbrook Parish Council 
Fulford Parish Council 
Heathylee Parish Council 
Heaton Parish Council 
Hilderstone Parish Council 
Hollinsclough Parish Council 
Horton Parish Council 
Ilam Parish Counci 
Ipstones Parish Council 
Kidsgrove Town Council 
Kingsley Parish Council 
Leek Parish Council 
Leekfrith Parish Council 
Longsdon Parish Council 
Newbold Astbury-cum-Moreton  
Parish Council 
Mayfield Parish Council 
Oakamoor Parish Council 
Odd Rode Parish Council 
Okeover Parish Meeting 
 
 
Onecote Parish Council 
Quarnford Parish Council 
Rushton Parish Council 
Stanton Parish Council 
Tittesworth Parish Council 
Waterhouses Parish Council 
Werrington Parish Council 
Wincle Parish Council 
Wootton Parish Council 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Mrs Hails, The Bank Hollinsclough Buxton Derbyshire SK17 
0RH 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Ms Bridgett, Bridge House, Hanging Bridge, Ashbourne, 
DE6 2BN 

draycottparishcouncil@gmail.com 
clerkatendon9@gmail.com 
farleyparishcouncil@hotmail.com 
clerk@forsbrookparishcouncil.org.uk 
stephen_beck@btconnect.com 
heathylee.clerk@gmail.com 
june.sherratt@hotmail.com 
clerk@hilderstone.staffslc.gov.uk 
 
susanclulow62@gmail.com 
clerk@ilamparishcouncil.co.uk 
ipstonespc@hotmail.co.uk 
townclerk@kidsgrovetowncouncil.gov.uk 
kingsleyparishcouncil@hotmail.com 
julie.taylor@leektowncouncil.co.uk 
june.sherratt@hotmail.com 
clerk@longsdonpc.org.uk 
clerk@astbury-parish.org.uk 
 
clerk.mayfieldpc@gmail.com 
oakamoorparishcouncil@hotmail.com 
oddrodeclerk@gmail.com 
 
 
 
onecotepc1@gmail.com 
swmde52@yahoo.co.uk  
june.sherratt@hotmail.com 
eldergreave@gmail.com 
clerk@tittesworth-pc.gov.uk 
waterhousespcclerk@yahoo.co.uk 
werringtonparish@gmail.com 
john.weston@zen.co.uk 
clerk@woottonparishcouncil.gov.uk 

Other Consultees   
British Telecommunications PLC  Paul.bimson@bt.com 

Page 213



13 | P a g e  
 

Coal Authority 
Homes England 
Natural England 
Environment Agency 
Environment Agency 
Environment Agency 
 
Historic England 
Historic England 
Network Rail 
Highways England 
Highways England 
Marine Management 
North Staffs CCG 
North Staffs and Stoke on Trent CCG 
Healthwatch Staffordshire 
Support Staffordshire (Staffordshire Moorlands) 
National Grid Gas - Distribution Network  
National Grid  
National Grid  
Office of Road and Rail 
United Utilities 
Severn Trent 
Severn Trent 
Western Power 
Western Power 
CPRE Staffordshire 
CPRE Staffordshire 
Staffordshire Wildlife Trust 
EE 
EON Energy 
 
 
Energy Networks Association 
NFU 
NPower 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Newstead Court Sherwood Park Little Oak Drive 
Nottingham NG15 0DR 
 
 
 
 

planningconsultation@coal.gov.uk 
enquiries@homesengland.gov.uk 
Consultations@naturalengland.org.uk 
Anne-Marie.McLaughlin@environment-agency.gov.uk 
swwmplanning@environment-agency.gov.uk 
westmidsplanning@environment-agency.gov.uk 
midlands@HistoricEngland.org.uk 
peter.boland@HistoricEngland.org.uk 
TownPlanningLNW@networkrail.co.uk 
ODArea9Staffordshire@highwaysengland.co.uk 
David.Pyner@highwaysengland.co.uk 
info@marinemanagement.org.uk 
phil@pjbassociates.com 
mark.seaton@northstaffs.nhs.uk 
mark.seaton@northstaffs.nhs.uk 
enquiries@healthwatchstaffordshire.co.uk 
Staffordshiremoorlands@supportstaffordshire.org.uk 
planprotection@nationalgrid.com 
nationalgrid.uk@avisomyoung.com 
box.landacquisitions@nationalgrid.com 
dutytocooperate@orr.gsi.gov.uk 
planning.liaison@uuplc.co.uk 
growth.development@severntrent.co.uk 
Jack.Robin-son@severn-trent.co.u-k  
wpdnewsupp-liesmids@w-esternpowe-r.co.uk 
ibrown@westernpower.co.uk 
protect@cprestaffordshire.org.uk 
CPRE@staffordshire.gov.uk 
planning@staffs-wildlife.org.uk 
public.affairs@ee.co.uk 
 
 
info@energynetworks.org 
sarah.faulkner@nfu.org.uk 
connectplus@npower.com 
jane.evans@three.co.uk 

Page 214



14 | P a g e  
 

THREE 
Vodafone and O2 
Virgin Media 
United Utilities Water Limited 
Peak District Local Nature Partnership 
Department for Transport 
Stoke on Trent and Staffordshire LEP 
Staffordshire Chambers of Commerce 
 
Friends Families & Travellers 
National Federation of Gypsy Liaison Groups 
The Traveller Movement 

 
PO Box 333 Matrix Court Swansea SA7 9ZJ 
 
 
 
 
 
Sarah Williams, Commerce House, Festival Park, Stoke on 
Trent, ST1 5BE 

EMF.Enquiries@ctil.co.uk 
 
 
planning.liaison@uuplc.co.uk 
LNP@peakdistrict.gov.uk 
dft@dft.gov.uk 
contactus@stokestaffslep.org.uk 
 
 
fft@gypsy-traveller.org 
dglgplanning@hotmail.co.uk 
info@travellermovement.org.uk 

Local Stakeholders   
Churches Together Tean 
 
 
Christ Church 
Checkley Church 
Tean Christian Fellowship 
Christchurch 
Tean Traders 
Tean Youth Club 
 
Greatwood Hall Committee 
 
Checkley Community Centre 
SCC & SMDC Councillor 
Great Wood Primary School 
St Thomas Primary School 
Hutchinson Memorial Sch 

 barrydavies2@btinternet.com 
ann.thorley10@gmail.com 
john.smith1948@yahoo.co.uk 
janetsidaway@yahoo.com) 
irene.smith0@btinternet.com 
rachellyons246@btinternet.com 
joecant214@gmail.com 
teanfordbandb@googlemail.com 
helen@smytheman.co.uk 
denisewheatphoto@gmail.com 
helen@smytheman.co.uk 
denisewheatphoto@gmail.com 
checkleycommunity@gmail.com 
mark.deaville@staffordshire.gov.uk  
badamson@tmpf.staffs.sch.uk 
office@st-thomas-tean.staffs.sch.uk 
office@hutchinson.staffs.sch.uk 

Local Nominated Site Landowners  james.hollyman@harrislamb.com 
maryamos@sky.com 
pete.wilkinson@checkley.staffslc.gov.uk 
colin.pearce@checkley.staffslc.gov.uk 
gavin@gcifs.co.uk 
johnbevan@worldonline.co.uk 

Page 215



15 | P a g e  
 

pa.fuller@btinternet.com 
richard@teanleysfarm.co.uk 
richard@ranco.co.uk 

 

3.3  Issues 
 

Due to comments received by Staffordshire Moorlands District Council regarding the Local Green Space part of the draft plan the decision to amend the plan and go back 
out to consultation for Regulation 14 was taken. 

Comments from the first Regulation 14 consultation can be found on Checkley Parish Council website: 

https://www.dropbox.com/s/rfviwhxhzy46vwn/Consultation%20Feb-Mar%2022%20Responses%20-%20Regulation%2014.pdf?dl=0  

 

4. Second Pre-Submission Consultation (Regulation 14) 
 

4.1  How the Consultation Was Undertaken 
 

Formal consultation on the draft Neighbourhood Development Plan took place from Friday 3rd June 2022 at 12 noon to Friday 15th July 2022 at 12 noon in accordance with 
Regulation-14, Town and Country Planning, England Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulation 2012. This was a six-week statutory consultation period. 

The consultation was widely publicised as outlined in section 3.1 about however it including the following: 

 Neighbourhood Steering Group support by Checkley Parish Council held viewing pop-up events at: 
o 5th June 2022  Picnic in the Park, Tean Recreational Ground  throughout the day. 
o 15th June 2022  Greatwood Hall, Tean  6:30pm  7:30pm 
o 22nd June 2022  Greatwood Hall, Tean  6:30pm  7:30pm 
o 29th June 2022  Greatwood Hall, Tean  6:30pm  7:30pm 
o 12th July 2022  Greatwood Hall, Tean  6:30pm  7:30pm 
o 9th June 2022  Checkley Cricket Club  5pm  6pm 

The consultation period including all community drop in events were post Covid-19, so procedures were followed in accordance with government guidelines. 

Page 216



16 | P a g e  
 

Responses were invited by various methods - by email to hello@checkleyparishcouncil.co.uk, by post / or by hand to Clerk to Checkley Parish Council, Greatwood Hall, 
Hollington Road, Upper Tean, Staffordshire, ST10 4JY. 

 

4.2  Statutory Consultees 
 

Same consultees were consulted as outlined in section 3.2 

 4.3  Issues 
 

The main issues and concerns raised by the persons consulted and how these issues and concerns have been considered and, where relevant, addressed in modifications to 
the proposed neighbourhood development plan are set out in the next part of this statement. 

 

5. Responses to Representations 
 

Date Submitted Representation Response to Consultation Actions 
16/06/2022 Peak District National Park 

I confirm that the Authority has no comments and wishes the 
group all the best with their Neighbourhood Plan. 

Comments noted No action required 

16/06/2022 Staffordshire County Council 
We have reviewed the document and have no further 
comments to make over those made at the last round of public 
consultation. 

Comments noted: Please see round one response for details 
and actions. 
https://bit.ly/3BJPHrP  

No further action 
required. 

01/07/20022 National Highways 
We understand that changes have been made to the Local 
Green Space section of the NDP. Based on our review, we have 
no further comments since the previous consultation, and our 
previous comments remain valid as set out below. (see letter) 

Comments noted: Please see round one response for details 
and actions. 
https://bit.ly/3BJPHrP 

No further action 
required. 

01/07/2022 Environment Agency Comments noted No action required 

Page 217



17 | P a g e  
 

We have reviewed the draft Checkley Parish Neighbourhood 
Development Plan (NDP) (2021 to 2035) and associated 

 
We note the presence of floodplain from the River Tean 
(designated main river) and ordinary watercourses within the 
NDP boundary. Source Protection Zones, designated for the 
protection of groundwater sources used to supply drinking 
water, cover a majority of the NDP area. There are also historic 
landfills within the NDP boundary according to our records. 
(see letter for more info) 

23/06/2022 Historic England 
Our previous comments on the earlier consultation remain 
entirely relevant, that is: 

document and the vision, aims and objectives set out in it. 
We particularly commend the thorough approach taken to 
identifying the distinctive local characteristics of the varying 
settlements of the Parish and the emphasis placed upon the 
conservation of their local distinctiveness through good 
building design that is sustainable. The protection afforded to 
locally significant buildings, farmsteads and landscape 
character including archaeological remains, green space and 
important views is equally to be applauded 

Comments noted: Please see round one responses for 
details and actions. 

No further action 
required. 

14/07/2022 Pegasus Group - Keepmoat Homes 
We wanted to respond to the Neighbourhood Plan 
consultation to confirm our support for the broad aims, the 
vision and the objectives of the Plan in the context of our 
proposals for new housing in Upper Tean. 
Our specific comments are detailed (see letter) 

Comments noted No action required 

15/07/2022 Natural England 
Natural England does not have any specific comments on the 
draft Checkley Neighbourhood 
Plan. 
However, we refer you to the attached annex which covers the 
issues and opportunities that should be 
considered when preparing a Neighbourhood Plan. (see letter) 

Comments noted No action required 

Page 218



18 | P a g e  
 

15/07/2022 SMDC  Pippa Home 
I commented on the previous regulation 14 consultation and I 
would refer you back to those 
comments. 
I note you have removed LGS1, LGS2 and LGS3 and policy 
COM2 Infrastructure Priorities. 
Additionally the settlement boundary for Upper Tean no 
longer includes the site with 
permission outside the Neighbourhood Plan area. 

Comments noted: Please see round one responses for 
details and actions. 

No further action 
required. 

 

Page 219



This page is intentionally left blank



  

 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Cabinet 
14 February 2023 

 

 
TITLE: 

 
Climate Change Six Monthly Update 

 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 

 
Councillor Joe Porter - Portfolio Holder for 

Climate Change 
 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

 
David Smith - Head of Communities and 

Climate Change 
 
WARDS INVOLVED: 

 

 

All 

 

 
Appendices Attached – Appendix A: Update; Appendix B: Delivery of 2019 
Undertakings. 

 
 
1. Reason for the Report 

 

1.1 The Council’s committed to provide an annual report and a six-month update 

report on progress made towards delivery of its Climate Change Strategy. The 
annual report was presented to Committee in July 2022. This report provides a 
six-monthly update and focuses on identifying priority activities for 2023 to 

2024. 
 
2. Recommendation 

 

2.1 That Cabinet: 

 note the contents of the report and progress to date, and 

 approve the priority activities for 2023/2024. 

 
3. Executive Summary 

 
3.1 The Council approved its Climate Change Plan (Aiming Low: The Way to Net 

Zero 2021 to 2030) in December 2021. The plan was independently reviewed 

by Climate Emergency UK, who awarded it a score of 87%: the second 
highest score by a district council in the country. The Council achieved 

maximum marks for “commitment and integration”, “community engagement 
and communications”, “co-benefits”, “diversity and social inclusion” and 
“education, skills and training”. 

 
3.2 The Council committed to providing regular updates on delivery of the 

Council’s Climate Change Strategy and an annual report to the Council’s 

Page 221

Agenda Item 9.1



  

Community Overview and Scrutiny Panel (COSP) on the progress towards 
delivering the plan. 

 

3.3 The first annual report was presented to the COSP on 11 July 2022. The 
report highlighted a wide-range of activities that had taken place over the 

previous 12 months: 
 

 Employed a dedicated Climate Change and Biodiversity Officer,  

 Formed the Moorlands Green Network, Parish Council Climate Change 
Forum, and developing a youth engagement strategy. 

 Introduced a Community Climate Change Fund 
 Established a Climate Change and Biodiversity Delivery Group 
 Planted 22 community orchards. 

 Trialled and subsequentially introduced using waste hydrogenated 
vegetable oil in Council fleet vehicles. The trial showed that CO2 

emissions could be reduced by up to 88% per annum was possible, 
reducing emissions from 553 tonnes annually to approximately 67 
tonnes. Monitoring of tailpipe emissions revealed CO2 emission 

reductions of 9.5%, NOx by 31% and PN by 44%. 
 Trained Heads of Service and Climate Champions in Carbon Literacy, 

resulting in Council being awarded the bronze accreditation by the 
Carbon Literacy Project (the first Council to achieve this in Staffordshire). 

 Completed energy and water reviews of all Council buildings. 

 
3.4 The next annual update will be presented in July 2023. This report provides an 

update on delivery of the plan and focuses mainly on setting priorities for 

2023/2024. 
 

3.5 An earlier version of the report was considered by the Communities Overview 
& Scrutiny Panel (COSP) on 16 January 2023. This report summarises, and 
responds to, the main points raised at that meeting. 

 
3.6 Appendix A provides detail of progress since the annual report was presented 

in July 2022. The next annual report will be published in July 2023 (subject to 
scheduling of Committee meetings for the next municipal year). 

 

3.7 Key activities outlined in the interim report at Appendix A include: 
 

 A review of the EV charging delivery options was presented to the 
Community Overview and Scrutiny Panel on the 16th Jan 2023, where it 

was recommended that the Council should pursue a direct delivery 
model that sees the Council retain direct control over installation of EV 
infrastructure and its operation. A delivery plan is being prepared to roll 

out EV charging facilities based on the strategic priorities identified in the 
EV strategy for Staffordshire Moorlands. 

 The Council funded 12 local climate and nature projects through its 
Community Climate Change Fund. 

 Introduction of a revised procurement strategy to embed sustainability 

and low carbon considerations into decision making for the procurement 
of goods, services and works. 

Page 222



  

 Working with Staffordshire Wildlife Trust to develop a Plan For Nature 
and to submit a bid to the National Lottery’s Climate Action Fund. 

 Lighting surveys at Moorlands House  

 Energy audits of the Council's estate 

 Replacement of the public realm lighting in Staffordshire Moorlands that 

the district council have responsibility for with LED lighting 

 Successful application to the Government’s Public Sector 

Decarbonisation Scheme (PSDS) for a £1.9m project to replace the 
traditional fossil fuel heating systems with a new air source heat pump 

system, combined with the installation of solar panels to the roof of the 
building of Biddulph Valley Leisure Centre 

 Replacing the contract for the Council’s electricity supply to ensure that 

100% comes from renewable sources (eg solar, wind and hydro, but not 
biomass) from 2024, which will result in zero emissions for electricity. 

 
3.8 Appendix B provides an assessment of the delivery of the undertakings that 

were given by the Council when declaring a climate change emergency in 

2019. 
 

3.9 Discussions with the Portfolio Holder, at the Communities Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel and with key stakeholders, including Moorlands Climate Action, have 
(re)emphasised the importance of targeting our limited resources on the areas 

where we can have the greatest impact.  
 

3.10 Our Climate Change Plan, which was acknowledged by Climate Emergency 
UK to be one of the best in the country, is based upon our 7 Ways to Net Zero 
approach. A short video that explains the Council’s approach can be found on 

our website or at https://youtu.be/D9B64fGchq8.  
 

3.11 We have recognised the need to concentrate our efforts and in 2023/2024 we 
are proposing to focus on three key areas: 
 

• The Way We Live, and zeroing in on domestic energy, 
• The Way We Look After our Environment, and 

• The Way We Can Help Change to Occur, zeroing in on working with 
young people. 

 

3.12 A focus on domestic energy provides opportunities to reduce domestic 
emissions and supports work taking place to respond to the cost-of-living crisis 

which has, in part, been fuelled by the volatility in the energy markets. 
 
3.13 A focus on nature initiatives responds to the community consultation that was 

carried out prior to the introduction of the Climate Change Plan, and which 
emphasised the importance that our communities place on nature and their 

local environment. It supports delivery of biodiversity requirements introduced 
by the Environment Act 2020; builds upon strong relationship with nature-
focussed groups including Staffordshire Wildlife Trust; and reflects the local 

geography with our abundance of natural assets. 
 

3.14 A focus on engagement with young people will help to further raise awareness 
of climate change, encourage local democratic participation, involve young 

Page 223



  

people in volunteering and project work, and provide young people with useful 
life skills and experience. 

 

 
4. How this report links to Corporate Priorities 

 
4.1 This report supports delivery of Aim 4 of the Corporate Plan: “To protect and 

improve the environment, and respond to the climate emergency”. The focus 

on domestic energy from a climate change perspective also has a co-benefit / 
ancillary benefit for fuel poverty, health and cost of living, which helps to 

deliver priorities under Aim 1 of the Corporate Plan: “To help create a safer 
and healthier environment for our communities to live and work”. 

 

 
5. Alternative Options 

 

5.1 None identified  
 
6. Implications 

 

a. Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
 
None 

 
b. Workforce 

 

Delivery of the plan is co-ordinated through the internal Climate Change and 
Biodiversity Delivery Group. Heads of Service are responsible for highlighting 

workforce issues within their objectives in the plan.  
 
 

c. Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 
 

None 
 

d. Financial Considerations 

 
The plan forms a programme of discrete projects. Some of which need to be 

scoped to understand the requirements. Financial implications would be 
considered within each project.  
 

e. Legal 
 

Local Authorities do not have a statutory obligation to respond to climate 
change.  
 

f. Climate Change 
 

The plan sets out the aims of the work programme for 2023 / 2024 to deliver 
the Climate Change Plan.   
 

Page 224



  

g. Consultation 
 
Discussions to inform this report have taken place at the Communities 

Overview & Scrutiny Panel, in meetings with partners such as Moorlands 
Climate Action, and at County Level under the Staffordshire Sustainability 

Board. 
 

h. Risk Assessment 

 
None. 

 
Neil Rodgers 

Executive Director (Place) 

 
Web Links and 

Background Papers 

 

Contact details 

Aiming Low Summary  
 
Annual Report 2021/22 
Climate Change Action Plan Part  1  
 
Climate Change Action Plan 2021 to 2030 
Part 2 
 

 

David Smith 

Head of Communities and Climate Change 
david.smith@highpeak.gov.uk 
 

7. Detail 

 

7.1  The Council approved its Climate Change Plan (Aiming Low: The Way to Net 
Zero 2021 to 2030) in December 2021. The plan was independently reviewed 

by Climate Emergency UK, who awarded it a score of 87%: the second 
highest score by a district council in the country. The Council achieved 
maximum marks for “commitment and integration”, “community engagement 

and communications”, “co-benefits”, “diversity and social inclusion” and 
“education, skills and training”. 

 
7.2 The Council committed to providing regular updates on delivery of the 

Council’s Climate Change Strategy and an annual report to the Council’s 

Community Overview and Scrutiny Panel (COSP) on the progress that has 
been made towards delivering the plan. 

 
7.3 The first annual report was presented to the COSP on 11 July 2022. The 

report highlighted a wide-range of activities that had taken place over the 

previous 12 months: 
 

 Employed a dedicated Climate Change and Biodiversity Officer,  
 Formed the Moorlands Green Network, Parish Council Climate Change 

Forum, and developing a youth engagement strategy. 

 Introduced a Community Climate Change Fund 
 Established a Climate Change and Biodiversity Delivery Group 

 Planted 22 community orchards. 

Page 225

https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/media/7479/Climate-change-summary/pdf/SM_Climate_change_summary_a.pdf?m=1664285554910
https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/media/7481/Annual-climate-change-report-2021---2022/pdf/Appendix_A_1_Climate_Change_Annual_Report_FINAL.pdf?m=1661161213473
https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/media/6671/Climate-change-action-plan/pdf/SM_Climate_change_plan.pdf?m=1625822514590
https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/media/6894/Climate-change-action-plan-part-2/pdf/SM_Climate_change_plan_part_2.pdf?m=1650458962257
https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/media/6894/Climate-change-action-plan-part-2/pdf/SM_Climate_change_plan_part_2.pdf?m=1650458962257


  

 Trialled and subsequentially introduced using waste hydrogenated 
vegetable oil in Council fleet vehicles. The trial showed that CO2 
emissions could be reduced by up to 88% per annum was possible, 

reducing emissions from 553 tonnes annually to approximately 67 
tonnes. Monitoring of tailpipe emissions revealed CO2 emission 

reductions of 9.5%, NOx by 31% and PN by 44%. 
 The trial also confirmed there were no detrimental effects to the engines 

nor effect on mpg, demonstrating that HVO is safe to use. 

 Trained Heads of Service and Climate Champions in Carbon Literacy, 
resulting in Council being awarded the bronze accreditation by the 

Carbon Literacy Project (the first Council to achieve this in Staffordshire). 
 Completed energy and water reviews of all Council buildings. 

 

7.4 The next annual update will be presented in July 2023. This report provides 
interim information on delivery of the plan but focuses mainly on setting 

priorities for 2023/2024. 
 
7.5 Discussions with the Portfolio Holder, at the Communities Overview & Scrutiny 

Panel and with key stakeholders, including Moorlands Climate Action, have 
(re)emphasised the importance of targeting our limited resources on the areas 

where we can have the greatest impact.  
 
7.6 Our Climate Change Strategy, which was acknowledged by Climate 

Emergency UK to be one of the best in the country, is based upon our 7 Ways 
to Net Zero approach. A short video that explains the Council’s approach can 
be found on our website or at https://youtu.be/D9B64fGchq8.  

 
7.7 We have recognised the need to concentrate our efforts and in 2023/24 we 

are proposing to focus on three key areas: 
 

 The Way We Live, and zeroing-in on domestic energy, 

 The Way We Look After our Environment, and 

 The Way We Can Help Change to Occur, zeroing-in on working with 

young people. 
 

Feedback from Overview and Scrutiny 
 

7.8 The COSP considered a report on delivery of the Climate Change Plan at its 
meeting on 16 January 2023. The discussion was wide ranging and can be 
usefully grouped as follows: 

 
a) Assessment against the 2019 declaration of a climate change emergency 

b) Performance management 
c) Town and Country Planning 
d) Reducing carbon emissions from the Council’s buildings, 

e) The procurement of ‘green electricity’ for the Council 
f) Your Housing Group action to reduce emissions. 

 

7.9 Members of Moorlands Climate Action (MCA) distributed a document in the 
Council Chamber immediately prior to the COSP, which asked Councillors to 

consider several points. Neither Officers nor Members of the Committee had 

Page 226

https://youtu.be/D9B64fGchq8


  

advanced sight of the document, nor had they been forewarned that it would 
be distributed. This was unfortunate since members of the Cabinet met with 
representatives of MCA on Thursday 12 January 2023 without the document 

being mentioned. In addition to raising concerns about the openness of the 
meetings with MCA, the approach denied an opportunity for a detailed and 

direct discussion with MCA about their thoughts and made it impossible to 
provide a full response to the document at the COSP meeting. 

 
8 Update on Delivery of the Climate Change Plan and Priorities for 

2023/2024 

 
Interim Update 
 

8.1. The annual report on progress against delivering the Climate Change plan 
was considered by the Council in July 2022. Appendix A provides detail of 

progress since then. The next annual report will be published in July 2023 
(subject to scheduling of Committee meetings for the next municipal year). 

 

8.2 Key activities outlined in the interim report at Appendix A include: 
 

 A review of the EV charging delivery options was presented to the 
Community Overview and Scrutiny Panel on the 16th Jan 2023, where it 
was recommended that the Council should pursue a direct delivery 

model that sees the Council retain direct control over installation of EV 
infrastructure and its operation. A delivery plan is being prepared to roll 

out EV charging facilities based on the strategic priorities identified in the 
EV strategy for Staffordshire Moorlands. 

 Introduction of a revised procurement strategy to embed sustainability 

and low carbon considerations into decision making for the procurement 
of goods, services and works. 

 Working with Staffordshire Wildlife Trust to develop a Plan For Nature 

 Lighting surveys at Moorlands House.  

 Energy audits of the Council's estate. 

 Replacement of the public realm lighting in Staffordshire Moorlands that 

the district council have responsibility for with LED lighting. 

 Successful application to the Government’s Public Sector 
Decarbonisation Scheme (PSDS) for a £1.9m project to replace the 

traditional fossil fuel heating systems with a new air source heat pump 
system, combined with the installation of solar panels to the roof of the 

building of Biddulph Valley Leisure Centre. 

 Replacing the contract for the Council’s electricity supply to ensure that 
100% comes from renewable sources (eg solar, wind and hydro, but not 

biomass) from 2024, which will result in zero emissions for electricity. 

 An emissions performance framework is being developed and will evolve 

as more data is readily available through partners and procurement 
conditions.  

 
Priorities 
 

8.3. Discussions with the Portfolio Holder, at the Communities Overview & Scrutiny 
Panel and with key stakeholders, including Moorlands Climate Action, have 

Page 227



  

(re)emphasised the importance of targeting our limited resources on the areas 
where we can have the greatest impact.  

 

8.4 Our Climate Change Strategy, which was acknowledged by Climate 
Emergency UK to be one of the best in the country, is based upon our 7 Ways 

to Net Zero approach. You can find a short video that explains our approach 
on our website or at https://youtu.be/D9B64fGchq8.  

 

8.5 We have recognised the need to concentrate our efforts and in 2023/2024 we 
are proposing to focus on three key areas: 

 

 The Way We Live, and zeroing in on domestic energy, 

 The Way We Look After our Environment, and 

 The Way We Can Help Change to Occur, spotlighting working with young 
people. 

 
8.6 This is in addition to on-going work to reduce the Council’s direct emissions, 

support for community groups, and other core Council activity that contribute 
towards the climate change plan.  

 

8.7 The Council is recruiting a new Biodiversity Officer post to support this 
prioritisation. This new Officer will focus on ‘The Way we Look After our 

Environment’, which will free up some time for our Climate Change Officer to 
increase her focus on the domestic energy agenda. It is likely that the officers 
will support each other to deliver the work with young people. 

 

 The Way We Live (Domestic energy) 

 
8.8 In 2018, Staffordshire Moorlands’ in-boundary emissions totalled 905 ktCO2e. 

The majority resulted from buildings (61%), on-road transport (19%) and 

livestock (22%). Around 20% of building emissions came from residential 
buildings.1 

 
8.9 A focus on domestic energy provides opportunities to reduce domestic 

emissions and supports work taking place to respond to the cost-of-living crisis 

which has, in part, been fuelled by the volatility in the energy markets.  
 

8.10 In 2023/2024 we will: 
 

Support with energy bills  

 Support roll-out of the Fuel Bank that the Council has introduced in 
partnership with the Fuel Bank Foundation and Beat The Cold. This 

provides an important safety net for people on pre-payment meters 
(PPMs) who have been, or are at risk of, self-disconnection. In addition to 
access to emergency credit, the scheme also provides advice on 

reducing energy use and budgeting. The wrap around advice service can 
support benefits check to maximise income.  

 Continue to fund Beat The Cold to provide energy saving, money and 
debt advice. 

                                                 
1
 SCATTER CITIES data are currently being updated 

Page 228

https://youtu.be/D9B64fGchq8


  

Energy Efficiency Measures.  

 Explore options for encouraging retrofitting; 

 Support delivery of the ECO42 grant scheme and other emerging 

schemes (eg (Home Upgrade Grant: Phase 2 (HUG2), and ECO Plus) 
with partners such as Beat The Cold. We will use information held by our 

Revenues and Benefits Service to identify eligible residents and contact 
them to encourage take-up. We also want to establish a GP referral 
pathway. 

 publicise Retrofit Academy training offer for West Midlands residents for 
PAS2035;  

 publicise opportunities for local businesses to expand services to support 
the retrofit and renewable supply and skills; 

 engage with businesses to explore opportunities for self-funding retrofit 
service for private owners; 

 scope the potential for a programme of bulk buying photovoltaic (solar 
panels) in partnership with other local authorities.  

Social Housing. 

 Engage with Your Housing to implement their energy targets of “EPC C 
by 2030”. 

Private Rented Sector. 

 We will enforce Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards (MEES) in the 

private rented sector. 
Communication. 

 Signpost people to energy saving advice and schemes, and related 

information. 
Partnership working. 

 Review our arrangements with Beat The Cold and Staffordshire Warmer 
Homes Partnership to maximise the benefits for our residents. 

 

 The Way We Look After Our Environment 
 

8.11 According to the World Bank, nature-based solutions (NbS): 

 can provide around 37% of the global mitigation needed until 2030 to 

achieve the targets of the Paris Agreement3;  

 play a key role in climate change adaptation and building resilience in 
landscapes and communities, and 

 provide a cost-effective way of addressing climate change while also 
addressing biodiversity and land degradation (thereby addressing several 

problems at once). 
 

                                                 
2
 The Energy Company Obligation (ECO), is a government energy efficiency scheme for Great Britain, 

administered by Ofgem. This scheme is now in its 4th iteration. ECO4 will be a four-year scheme from 
1 April 2022 to 31 March 2026. The main objective of ECO4 is to improve the energy efficiency of 
housing stock occupied by low income and vulnerable households. One route that can be used to 

identify these households is ‘ECO4 Flexibility’ (ECO4 Flex). Under ECO4 Flex, a participating Local 
Authority, can refer private tenure households that it considers to be living in fuel poverty or on a low 
income and vulnerable to the effects of living in a cold home. 
3
 The Paris Agreement is a legally binding international treaty on climate change. It was adopted by 

196 Parties at COP 21 in Paris, on 12 December 2015 and entered into force on 4 November 2016.  
Its goal is to limit global warming to well below 2, preferably to 1.5 degrees Celsius, compared to pre-

industrial levels. 

Page 229



  

8.12 A 2021 report by the International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN) 
and the UN Environment Programme summarised the major studies into the 
mitigation potential of nature-based solutions and reported that NbS across all 

land-based ecosystems could result in removals of between 5-11.7GtCO2e 
per year by 2030 and between 10-18GtCO2e per year by 2050. 

 
8.13 The Council carried out a public consultation on attitudes to climate change to 

assist in the development of its Climate Change Plan. When asked about their 

concerns about the impact of climate change, the top responses were: 
• “loss of animals, plants, habitats and biodiversity” (93% concerned, of 

which 63% were very concerned), 
• “extreme weather” (91% and 63%), 
• “environment destruction” (90% and 52%), and 

• “species extinction” (87% and 47%).  
 

8.14 In another question, 73% of our residents told us that “protecting our green 
spaces, habitats and wildlife” was very important (and a further 17% said that 
it was quite important). 

 
8.15 We know that the local environment is important to our residents, and it is one 

of the key things that attracts visitors to the area. This is also reflected in the 
large number of nature-focused community groups in the area that focus on 
many different areas of interest including, but certainly not limited to, White 

Peak Farmers4 and Churnet Valley Farmers5, the Back Dane Trust6, Swifts of 
Leek, Staffordshire Wildlife Trust Local Group (Leek)7, Biddulph in Bloom8, 
and the Caldon and Uttoxeter Canals Trust9. 

 
8.16 As well as supporting climate change mitigation and adaption, NbS has the 

potential to deliver a range of other co-benefits which, according to the 
intervention, include water management; urban regeneration; social cohesion; 
economic opportunities and green jobs; green space management, air quality, 

and public heath and well-being. 
 

8.17 Many of these co-benefits have strong links to other areas of Council 
responsibility including economic and physical regeneration, management of 
our parks and open spaces, pollution control, and sport and physical activity. 

 
8.18 In addition to the above benefits, a focus on nature supports the Council’s 

delivery of biodiversity requirements introduced by the Environment Act 2020 
and reflects the local geography with our abundance of natural assets. 

 

 
 

 
 

                                                 
4
 www.whitepeakfarmers.org.uk/ 

5
 https://churnet-valley.guide/organisation/churnet-valley-farmers 

6
 https://backdane.co.uk/ 

7
 www.staffs-wildlife.org.uk/get-involved/adults/local-groups 

8
 www.biddulph.co.uk/biddulph-in-bloom/ 

9
 www.cuct.org.uk/ 

Page 230



  

8.19 In 2023/24 we will: 
 

 Develop and deliver a Plan for Nature with Staffordshire Wildlife Trust to 

guide actions to be taken by the District Council and others to halt and 
reverse the decline of the natural world across the district by 2030. 

 Prepare for the new Biodiversity Net Gain duty10. 

 Work with Staffordshire Wildlife Trust to submit, and hopefully then 

deliver, a bid to the National Lottery’s Climate Action Fund for a project 
that uses nature to encourage more community-led climate action. The 
emerging aims of the project are to: 

 Support the community to improve selected green spaces 

 Provide training, equipment and support to individuals and groups 

within the community to enable them to collect evidence through 
citizen science on how best to manage green spaces 

 Empower individuals across the Staffordshire Moorlands to enact 
change on green space management 

 Increase people’s connection to nature by giving them the 

opportunities to be involved in habitat restoration and data 
collection 

 Combine art and nature, using the power of storytelling to capture 
people’s imaginations and help educate on the importance of the 

environment in our everyday lives (linking to Outside – the Creative 
People and Places Project that is funded by the Arts Council 
England). 

 
How We Can Help Change To Occur (Young People) 

 
8.20 Local authorities11 have powers or influence over roughly a third of emissions 

in their local areas and UK100 estimate that local authorities are responsible 

for around 6% of emissions. Our Climate Change Plan recognises that more 
than half of the emissions cuts needed rely on people and businesses taking 

up low-carbon solutions. It is therefore crucial that we continue to encourage 
our residents, and businesses, to reduce their own carbon footprints. 

 

8.21 A focus on engagement with young people will help to further raise awareness 
of climate change, encourage local democratic participation, involve young 

people in volunteering and project work, and provide young people with useful 
life skills and experience. 

 

8.22 We have been working with Staffordshire Council of Voluntary Youth Services 
(SCVYS) to develop an innovative youth engagement project that began in 
January 2023. This is designed to be a 3-year project (to be reviewed at the 

end of the first year) incorporating three main elements: 
 

 Raising knowledge and awareness. The project will support up to 10 

local organisations, including schools, colleges, alternative education 

                                                 
10

 Schedule 14 of the Environment Act 2021: 
www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2021/30/schedule/14/enacted 
11

 For Staffordshire Moorlands, the local authorities are Staffordshire Moorlands District Council, 

Staffordshire County Council, and the Peak District National Park Authority.  

Page 231



  

providers, youth organisations, uniformed groups, etc. to undertake an 
awareness raising session around Climate Change. This will hopefully 
lead to the creation of a network to enable the sharing of information, 

advice and guidance including best practice, practical ideas and 
promotion of wider engagement and/or volunteering opportunities to 

increase local access. 
 Promoting local democracy. The project will include an Annual Climate 

Change Parliamentary Style Youth Debate in SMDC Chamber for 

approximately 40 young people. The project will work with young people 
in advance of the debate to raise their levels of knowledge, awareness 

and confidence to speak/act in relation to Climate Change. 
 Taking action. The project will provide support for up to 10 schools / 

youth organisations to carry out practical projects led by young people 

and / or increased Volunteering by young people that make a real 
difference to their locality. Where appropriate, project funding could be 

accessed via the County Council or District Councils’ Climate Change 
Funds. 

 

8.23 In 2023/2024 we will: 
 

 Deliver our youth engagement project with SCVYS. 

 Work alongside other partners such as OUTSIDE and Staffordshire 

Wildlife Trust to develop other ways of encouraging further involvement 
by young people in the climate change and nature agendas. 

 Continue to provide and promote the Moorlands Community Climate 

Action Fund. 

 Continue to bring voluntary groups together in our Moorlands Green 

Network meetings. 

 Continue to regularly promote climate change and nature action through 

our website, social media channels and face-to-face. 
 
Response to Points Raised at Overview and Scrutiny 

 
a) Assessment of the 2019 undertakings to support the declaration of 

a climate change emergency 

 
8.24 The MCA document that was distributed to Overview and Scrutiny members 

before their meeting on 16 January 2023 looked back to the climate 
emergency declaration of 10 July 2019. This was an important moment for the 

Council and MCA played an important, leading role in lobbying for, and 
ultimately helping to formulate, the declaration that pledged action towards 
making the Staffordshire Moorlands carbon neutral by 2030. The MCA 

document provided MCA’s thoughts on the delivery of the undertakings made 
in 2019 to support the declaration of a climate emergency. MCA felt that the 

Council had met two of its undertakings (numbers 1 and 4 on the table at 
Appendix B), had partially delivered two other (numbers 3 and 5 on the table) 
and had failed to deliver one (number 2 on the table). No evidence was 

provided to support MCA’s ratings. 
 

8.25 Much has of course changed locally, nationally and internationally since 2019. 
It is important that we continue to move forward and the report presented at 

Page 232



  

the COSP on 16 January sought to consider the delivery of the Councils 
Climate Change plan for 2021 to 2030 and, most critically, to look forward 
towards priorities for 2023/2024. However; in response to the focus on the 

2019 declaration at the meeting, for completeness and to provide a conclusion 
to the 2019 undertakings; the Council presents an evidence-based 

assessment at Appendix B. 
 

b) Performance management 

 
8.26 The Council’s approach to measuring and setting emissions targets was 

scored 4 out of 5 in an independent review by Climate Emergency UK12. 
However, the Council recognised in its Climate Change Plan that it needed to 
further develop its approach to target setting including milestones for action. 

This is consistent with the Council’s stated value that we will “Base our 
decision-making on science and best practice wherever possible”. 

 
8.27 The Council has been developing its approach to performance’ management 

over the last 12-months. The suggested prioritisation, and the recruitment of a 

new Biodiversity Officer, will provide the ability to fast-track and finalise this 
work. 

8.28 Local authority reporting on emissions is voluntary and approaches vary 
between councils. It is our intention to use an amended form of the 
Greenhouse Gas Accounting Tool (GGAT) that has been developed by Local 
Partnerships working with the LGA. The tool is designed to provide a 

straightforward and consistent approach for councils seeking to calculate their 
own carbon baseline. The tool produces summary tables and charts to help 

local authorities understand their most significant sources of emissions, which 
can then be used to prioritise actions to reduce carbon emissions. Councils 
are also able to benchmark their emissions with other councils to understand 

how their performance compares with their peers. 

8.29 The GGAT now incorporates the use of water. We had already decided tyo 
account for this in our carbon monitoring. 

8.30 We will be using 2019/2020 as a baseline, corresponding to the declaration of 

the climate change emergency, and we will report against the GGAT in the 
annual updates from July 2023. However, we can provide some initial 
information as follows: 

 Carbon emission from energy used in buildings in 2021/2022 has 
decreased overall by 26% 

 Staff travel with grey fleet (private cars used by staff for Council duties) 

has decreased by 63% 

 Use of Hydrogenated Vegetable Oil in waste collection vehicles could 

result in carbon emission reduction of 88%.  

 We are working with primary delivery partners to provide management 

information to feed into the foot printing tool.  

                                                 
12

 https://councilclimatescorecards.uk/scoring/district/  

Page 233



  

8.31 The GGAT will allow Councillors to monitor and scrutinise the Council’s 
delivery of its climate change action. It will also allow improved internal 
monitoring by Council Services and, importantly, it will assist with target 

setting. 

8.32 When declaring a Climate Change emergency, the Council adopted the target 
of achieving Net Zero by 2030 that had been recommended by Moorlands 

Climate Action. This was unanimously supported by Councillors. As shown in 
the following table, this is amongst the most ambitious targets in Staffordshire. 
The table also shows a variation in approach across Staffordshire: with some 

Council’s only setting targets for Council emissions, some setting the same 
target for Council and District-wide emissions, and some setting different 

targets for Council and District-wide emissions. 

Council Net Zero Target Date Coverage Climate 
Emergency UK 

Total Score
†
 

United Kingdom 2050 UK-wide N/A 

Staffordshire County 
Council 

2050 Council emissions 24% 

Staffordshire 

Moorlands District 
2030 

Council and 

District emissions 
87% 

Stafford Borough 
Council 

2040 Council emissions 37% 

South Staffordshire 

District Council 
2050 

Council and District 

emissions 
34% 

Newcastle Borough 

Council 

2030 
 

2050 

Council emissions 
 
District emissions 

30% 

East Staffordshire 

Borough Council 
2040 Council emissions 24% 

Lichfield District Council 
2035 

 
2050 

Council emissions 
 
District emissions 

0%
††

 

Tamworth Borough 

Council 
2050 Council emissions 0%

††
 

Cannock Chase District 
Council 

2030 
Council and District 
emissions 

0%
††

 

Stoke-on-Trent City 
Council 

None set Not applicable 0%
††

 

† 
Climate Emergency UK assessed plans according to 28 questions across nine sections, 

based on the expert-approved checklist for Council Action Plans. Each council was 
marked against these criteria and given a right to reply before the scores underwent a 
final audit. This work was completed between June and December 2021.  

††
 Council did not have an action plan when all plans were assessed on 20th September 

2021 

 

8.33 Cannock Chase District Council commissioned AECOM in 2020 to create a 
costed action plan, which was delivered at the end of 2022. This excellent 
piece of work provides many useful lessons for other councils and was 

referenced in the document submitted by MCA to COSP Committee 
Members. The AECOM work and covering report were considered by 

Cannock Chase District Council’s Cabinet on 12 December 202213. The 
following points and findings are instructive: 

                                                 
13

 www.cannockchasedc.gov.uk/sites/default/files/full_papers_ -_cabinet_201222_public_copy.pdf 

Page 234



  

 The capital investment required to make the entire [Cannock Chase] 
district carbon neutral by 2030 is approximately £4.7 billion 

 £21M of investment in mobilising, enabling, feasibility and commissioning 

costs would be required across the public and private sector between 
2022/2023 and 2030 (£10M from the private sector and £11.3M from the 

public sector). 

 It would not be possible for the [Cannock Chase District] Council to 

allocate the (on average) £1.3m additional financial burden per annum 
from within existing resources. 

 The scale and pace required, and remaining timeframe for the district to 

become Net Zero are not considered achievable for the [Cannock Chase 
District] Council, its partners, or its stakeholders. 

 There are three main blockers to the [Cannock Chase District] Council’s 
2030 district wide ambition: Finance (Public and Private); Manufacturing, 

Supply Chains and Technology; Scale and Pace. 

 One of the areas with the greatest impact potential across the county and 
district is the coming together of all the Staffordshire councils’ as the 

Staffordshire Sustainability Board. 
 

8.34 As a result of this comprehensive, informative, and praiseworthy study, 
Cannock Chase District Council is amending its approach and is now 
proposing to: 

 work on decarbonising the whole organisation to become carbon neutral 
by 2030 (replacing its previous target that sought to also achieve Net 

Zero district-wide by 2030). 

 look to align with other Staffordshire council’s or regional bodies, in a 

single (existing or new) countywide target. 

 Use the AECOM costed action plan as an ongoing project reference 
document / catalogue and as a monitoring tool. 

 Develop a strategy for the [Cannock Chase] District Council to reach net 
carbon zero by 2030. 

 
8.35 In many cases, local reductions on emissions rely upon the implementation of 

the national Net Zero Strategy that was published in October 202114. Several 

of these measures are not scheduled to begin until 2030 or later, eg: 

 Fully decarbonise our power system by 2035. 

 Deliver 5 GW of hydrogen production capacity by 2030, whilst halving 
emissions from oil and gas. 

 Set a path to all new heating appliances in homes and workplaces from 
2035 being low carbon. 

 End the sale of new petrol and diesel cars by 2030. 

 all cars must be fully zero emissions capable by 2035. 
 

8.36 Much has changed since the declaration of a climate change emergency in 
2019 including new national strategies, and legislation; greater cross-Council 

working within Staffordshire; and an increase in the Council’s own skills, 
knowledge, experience and capacity. 

 

                                                 
14

 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/net-zero-strategy 

Page 235



  

8.37 In light of the discussion in this section, the Council may wish to take the 
opportunity to review the district-wide target that was proposed and accepted 
in 2019. There is a growing consensus that this target was not science-based 

and that it is not achievable district-wide. The Council could consider reviewing 
the target as part of the 2023 annual report with the aim of ensuring that the 

Council is working towards a target that it is science-led, achievable and 
consistent with the approach of other key partners within Staffordshire. It is 
suggested that this review only covers the district-wide target and that the 

current 2030 target for Council emissions is retained. 
 

c) Town and Country Planning 

 
8.38 The issue of reopening the Local Plan and developing a supplementary 

planning document has been debated by Councillors on several occasions. 
For example, a motion to “re-open[s] the relevant sections of the Local Plan 

and reviews it at the earliest opportunity in order that it can meet its clear and 
pressing climate change emergency commitments” was debated at the 
meeting of the Council on 8th December 2021. At this meeting, Members 

debated the motion in considerable detail and discussed the ability to review 
individual aspects of the Local Plan, the need to deliver the current Local Plan, 

and the Government review of the planning framework and supplementary 
planning documents. The motion was put to a vote but was lost. 

 

8.39 The Council’s Climate Change Plan committed to produce a Developer 
Contributions Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). This SPD which, 
amongst other things, provides further detail to developers around biodiversity 

and green infrastructure was presented to the Service Delivery Overview & 
Scrutiny Panel on 25 January 2023.  

 
8.40 The Climate Change Plan also committed to introducing a locally focussed 

Climate Change and Sustainable Design Supplementary Planning Document 

or Guidance in 2023. 
 

d) Reducing carbon emissions from the Council’s buildings 

 
8.41 The District Council has commissioned energy audits to 

 

 Identify a range of options at each public building for energy 

improvement measures that reduce energy costs and produce carbon 

savings to inform the councils’ asset management strategy. 

 Provide capital cost estimates for the installation of these measures, 

projected return on investment (including “payback” periods) and 

projected carbon savings for each investment option.  

 Identify any revenue implications (positive or negative) that may be 

required to move to greener options.  

 Highlight any opportunities for both councils to generate revenue by 

investing in energy projects at the public buildings. 

 

Page 236



  

8.42 The energy surveys covered Moorlands House, Biddulph Town Hall, 
Buttermarket and Trestle Market Hall, Fowlchurch Depot, Council-owned 
Leisure Centres, Pavilions and Industrial Estates, Public Conveniences and 

Cemeteries. 
 

8.43 The Council is now developing its Asset Management Plan, which will present 
a strategy for taking the recommendations from both the energy surveys and 
from condition surveys forward. As Neil mentions it includes costings for 

capital and revenue works for the plan period and then beyond. The Plan will 
be brought forward for consideration by Elected Members in the next 

municipal year. 
8.44 Work is on-going to replace the public realm lighting in Staffordshire 

Moorlands that the district council have responsibility for with LED lighting with 

an expected completion by end of March 2023. The total cost of this work is 
£134k but it is anticipated that the reduction in energy costs will mean that the 

cost will be recouped over a 5-year period. The project should deliver a saving 
of 1,476,982 Kwh over 10 years, which gives an estimated cost saving of £ 
215,514.39 over 10 years. The annual CO2e saving is calculated to be 31.36 

tonnes based on UK Government GHG Conversion Factors for Company 
Reporting 2021. 

 
8.45 Lighting surveys at Moorlands House have been completed by Infinity Norse 

and for the Council is now considering options for progressing this work, which 

may involve a phased programme over a number of years given the 
substantial costs involved.  

 

8.46 A plan to improve the Councils Leisure Centres in Biddulph, Cheadle and Leek 
is currently being developed that includes a key focus on reducing emissions 

from the centre. Energy audits have been completed at each of the centres 
and this information has been used to inform what projects would be most 
advantageous to deliver in the future and help inform day to day operations. 

The improvements identified are wide ranging and include those achieved 
through minor changes to the way centres are operated, delivery of internal 

upgrades to items such as lighting, pool covers and plant equipment, through 
to major capital works such as replacement of heating systems and the 
introduction of solar technology.  

 
8.47 Parkwood operate the centres on the Councils behalf and included information 

on carbon reduction and utility management in their annual report to the 
Service Delivery Overview & Scrutiny Panel on 16 March 2022. Parkwood 
reported a 289, 844 kWh reduction in gas consumption (amounting to a 

reduction in emissions of 53.33tCO2e) and a 245,250 kWh reduction in 
electricity consumption (amounting to a reduction in emissions of 62.78tCO2e). 

Actions that had been implemented by Parkwood included: 
 

 Half hourly data loggers fitted to review detailed usage 

 Out of hours energy assessments completed 

 BMS systems reviewed and software upgraded to ensure savings made 

 LEDs installed in most areas now and ongoing programme of 
replacement 

 Energy wardens and energy action plans at all centres 

Page 237



  

 Variable speed drives (VSD’s) on pumps to reduce overnight usage 

 Staff training on utility management now part of induction process 
 

8.48 In October 2022, officers used findings from the energy audits to submit an 
application to the Government’s Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme 

(PSDS) for £1.9m towards a project to replace the traditional fossil fuel heating 
systems with a new air source heat pump system, combined with the 
installation of solar panels to the roof of the building of Biddulph Valley Leisure 

Centre. In January 2023, the Council received confirmation that this bid was 
successful and is now working through the relevant procurement and detailed 

design process to deliver this project by Spring 2024. Once complete, the 
project could save up to 300 tonnes of carbon - a significant contribution 
towards the Councils climate change aspirations.   

 
8.49 The Council was successful in its application to the Levelling Up Fund for 

funding to improve Brough Park Leisure Centre, the Nicholson Institute Leek 
Market Hall. All aspects of the bid, but most notably the improvements to the 
leisure centre, will have a positive impact on energy efficiency. Detailed design 

work will take place over the next couple of months and further information will 
be shared with members at that stage.  

 
e) The procurement of ‘green electricity’ for the Council 

 

8.50 The Council was notified by ESPO15 of the introduction of a new electricity 
framework for 2024 to 2028. The Council was required to indicate whether or 

not it wished to renew its framework arrangement by the end of January 2023. 
The Portfolio Holders considered a report outlining the Council’s options on 13 
January 2023. Following further clarifications of the options, it was agreed that 

the Council would sign up to the ESPO/Total Energies Pure Green Tariff 
 

8.51 Under this tariff, the Council’s electricity consumption is matched kilowatt for 
kilowatt with 100% UK renewable sources (eg solar, wind and hydro, but not 
biomass) resulting in zero emissions for electricity under the GHG Protocol 

Corporate Standards, Scope 2, as the electricity will be allocated relevant 
Renewable Energy Guarantee of Origin (REGO) certificates. This delivers a 

key action in the Council’s Climate Change action plan and will make a 
significant impact on the Council’s Net Zero aspirations and support renewable 
electricity more broadly. 

 
f) Your Housing Group action to reduce emissions 

 
8.52 Your Housing Group (YHG) presented to the COSP on 16 January 2023. A 

report was submitted in advance and this included an energy efficiency update 

and information on YHG’s ‘damp and mould’ project.  
 

8.53 YHG are aiming to achieve a minimum EPC rating of C across their entire 
housing portfolio by 2030. YHG estimate that 1,960 properties in the district 
will require improvements to bring them up to target (this number may change 

as further surveying and validation is carried out) 

                                                 
15

 ESPO is a public sector-owned professional buying organisation 

Page 238



  

 
8.54 YHG have appointed an Energy and Sustainability Manager to lead on service 

delivery and improvements in this area. YHG have adopted a sector-wide 

recognised approach of ‘fabric first’ improvements that predominantly includes 
improving the insulation and draft proofing of properties as the first step 

towards decarbonisation. To facilitate this, in the past 12 months YHG have 
appointed a specialist senior manager into the Asset Team, and also procured 
and mobilised an energy intelligence system to help create and model the 

most efficient and effective way for YHG to comply with the EPC C 2030 and 
Net Zero 2050 targets.  

 

8.55 YHG has recently approved its first sustainability strategy, which includes key 

strategic aims such as ensuring specific focus on:  
 

 biodiversity / ecology; 

 climate risk; 

 energy efficiency;  

 responsible sourcing; 

 supply chain / procurement;  

 transport;  

 waste; and  

 water. 
 

8.56 In 2022 YHG and delivery partners carried out installations to around 1500 
properties across the Northwest and surrounding regions utilising ECO3 

funding totalling £1.3m. Only a small percentage (around 7%) were in 
Staffordshire Moorlands due to eligibility criteria. The ECO3 funding stream 
has now expired and YHG are working to continue with improvement works 

into 2023/024 with ECO4 funding, and any other funding streams which are 
currently in development.  

 
8.57 1960 of the 2726 properties in the district have a band D EPC rating (the 

national average) or below, but only 137 are in band E-F. Those properties in 

bands E-F will see works carried out very early into our programme of works 
which we expect to commence later this year.  

 
8.58 Council Officers will engage with the new Energy and Sustainability Manager 

to support improvements in the district. YHG have also made recent changes 

at senior management level and have committed to review their approach to 
engaging with the Council and the Council's members, particularly those with 

significant stock holdings within their wards. 
 

Page 239



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

 

AIMING LOW: THE WAY TO NET ZERO 

 

Interim Update February 2023 
 

  

Introduction ................................................................................................................................. 2 

General ........................................................................................................................................ 2 

How we live.................................................................................................................................. 4 

How we travel .............................................................................................................................. 5 

How we work ............................................................................................................................... 6 

How we make energy ................................................................................................................. 10 

How we look after our environment ............................................................................................ 10 

How we manage waste ............................................................................................................... 11 

How we help change occur.......................................................................................................... 12 

 

Page 241



 

2 
 

Introduction  
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council introduced a plan to support the reduction of carbon 

emissions across the district in 2021. The plan, which was acknowledged by Climate Emergency UK 
to be one of the best in the country, is based upon our 7 Ways to Net Zero approach.  

The plan follows 7 themes of how we: 

 Live 

 Travel 

 Work 

 Make energy 

 Look after our environment 

 Manage waste 

 Help change occur.  

A short video that explains the Council’s approach can be found on our website or at 
https://youtu.be/D9B64fGchq8.  

In addition, the Council is an active member of the Staffordshire County Sustainability Board and has 
pledges to deliver objectives in tandem with the other districts, boroughs and the county.  

The council are members of the UK 100 Climate organisation which is a network for ambitious 

councils demonstrating leadership in the climate mitigation aims.  

Climate Emergency UK have established a scorecard to rank local authority activities in cli mate 

mitigation and adaptation. The new scoring methodology for 2023 has been drafted and published.  
We will respond to this when requested.  

General 
The actions for 2023 all have overarching principles which will ensure we are well placed to access 
opportunities.  

The first principle is engagement and communications internally as an organisation, external to 

service providers and partners, with community groups, businesses and residents.  

Keeping up to date with emerging legislation implications and opportunities. Consulting where 
appropriate on the development of policy and implementation of mechanisms. 

Responding to opportunities with funding/partners and to respond to legislation changes which will 

support the delivery of the plan and co-benefits. Establish appropriate working groups to develop 

opportunities and scoping.  

Making use of existing programmes which mutually benefit partners and our objectives. Examples 
would be energy saving programmes, Moors for the Future, RSPB or Wildlife Trust campaigns.  

We need to better understand gaps in what we can and can’t do and where we can influence or 

enable. Consideration needs to be given as to how to address the gaps and what associated skills, 

costs, capacity, lobbying etc might be needed. 

The strands of the plan are overseen by the Climate Change and Biodiversity Delivery Group with 
Heads of Service working together.

Page 242

https://www.uk100.org/about
https://councilclimatescorecards.uk/methodology/


 

3 
 

P
age 243



 

4 
 

How we live 
The council recognises the contribution from heating and 

power of homes to district-wide carbon emissions.  Retrofitting 

existing homes to improve energy efficiency has potential co-

benefits of reduced costs, emissions and improving the health 
of the householders. 

In addition, energy costs have increased exponentially in the 

last year contributing to a cost-of-living crisis for householders 

and pressurising businesses with excessive overheads leading 

to compounding material costs. This has plummeted more 

people into fuel poverty.  

The complexity and scale of retrofitting the district’s housing 

has several pathways with varying dependencies and barriers.  

Various previous and existing schemes have been implemented through national funding 

programmes. The district benefits from our collaboration with Staffordshire Warmer Homes to 
access and programme manage several of those schemes. 

Current programmes offer energy efficiency and some renewable installations to low-income 

households. The council is working with Beat the Cold to actively target households which may 

benefit. In quarters 1 to 3 2022, Beat the Cold helped over 240 households in Staffordshire 

Moorlands. The cumulative uplift of energy and water related benefits was over £62,750. This does 

not include any energy and water savings resulting through building fabric grant signpost or 
behaviour change support.  

The council await national guidance on implementation on a scheme announced in the budget to 

offer partly funded installations to council tax bands A-D regardless of household income. This fund 

aims to target several groups and the council will use our data to actively target those who may 
benefit.  

The budget also announced a national advice programme which we hope to be able to engage with.  

Officers have been working with Local Government Association’s Retrofit Programme, Retrofit 

Academy and Keele University to support delivery of a more holistic approach to domestic energy 

considerations. Some housing officers are embarking on PAS 2035 awareness training which is the 
standard for energy retrofit assessment.  

It is intended to map the tenure, archetypes, access to gas grid, Energy Performance Certificates, 
and finance mechanism to identify the pathways to retrofit. 

This will include assessing self-funding options and whether we can support the stimulate of a 

market. The Prosperity Fund could be an opportunity to address the skills gap in information and 
technical installation of measures to support households. 

Financial mechanisms need to be explored and assessed as part of the pathway mapping exercise.  

Social Housing in Staffordshire Moorlands is mostly through Your Housing. The average EPC rating 

for the portfolio is D and they have a target for all properties to reach a minimum C rating by 2030. , 

focussing on the worse performing properties as a priority. They are actively assessing property data 

Staffordshire Moorlands Housing (2021) 

Total dwellings 45,068 

Social Housing 3,834 

Valid Energy Performance Certificates 
19,904 (44% housing stock) 

Rated D-G 14,249 

Potential C or above 13,637 

https://sustenic.co.uk/lgs/my-data/  

 

Page 244

https://sustenic.co.uk/lgs/my-data/


 

5 
 

with potential funding streams to support meeting those targets.  

Private rented properties must have a minimum EPC rating of E. This applies to new and existing lets. 

The council’s licencing team is responsible for monitoring this. Some of the national funding 

programmes can be accessed by landlords, however, this cannot be used to meet the statutory 
minimum. 

Monitoring overall improvements on energy performance of domestic properties has a data lag time 

of around 2 years. We are able to monitor the success of some of the programmes when a new EPC 

is created after the installation. However, in most cases this i s would not be required making overall 
timely monitoring prohibitive.  

Supplementary Planning Guidance or similar is due to be developed in 2023. As part of the Alliance, 

the council have been working with Derbyshire authorities to deliver a toolkit for cl imate change 

considerations in planning. The learning and outputs from this work will be used to inform 
developing a proposal for Staffordshire Moorlands. 

This will be used for new planning applications to support informed choices.  

How we travel  
The Energy Saving Trust has assessed the fleet used to deliver council services. Whilst some of the 

recommendations are embedded into planned phasing out of fleet, some of the advice was not 

wholly suitable as not agnostic in technology recommendations. Being a rural district, electric 

vehicles are not holistically the “go to” solution yet. The commissioning team and partners will 
continue to explore options as technology develops.  

Some of the larger vehicles such as bin lorries, can use a lower emissions fuel derived from waste 

Hydrogenated Vegetable Oil (HVO) which has been implemented. The trial indicated that operations 

could result in 88% less carbon emissions. Reducing emissions from 553 tonnes CO2e to 67.  

Tailpipe emissions were also monitored as part of the trial. The results clearly indicate that all 

emissions have been lowered substantially in those vehicles using HVO compared to those using 
diesel. CO²  emissions reduced by 9.5% and NOx by 31% and PN by 44%. 

The trial also confirmed there were no detrimental effects to the engines nor effect on mpg, 

demonstrating that HVO is safe to use. 

Grey Fleet is when staff use personal vehicles for Council business. Being a rural district and many 

officers working across the Alliance, public transport and active travel methods are not always 
suitable.  

Staff Mileage is apportioned across the Alliance. The figures are for the “grey fleet” where staff use 

their own vehicles for work purposes and record mileage. Carbon intensity coefficients have been 
taken from the Local Government Association carbon accounting tool.  

The COVID lockdown and working from home for many staff reduced the mileage initially. Some of 

the working from home practices have remained with continued use of virtual meetings and through 

the ‘Agile’ ways of working adoption. The table below shows the annual mileage since 2019/2020 
which we are using as our baseline year. 

 

Page 245



 

6 
 

Staff Mileage Grey Fleet  
Total 

Mileage  
Variance on 

Baseline tCO2e Variance on Baseline 

2019/2020 12,296   3.49   

2020/2021 3,964 68% 1.10 68% 

2021/2022 4,716 62% 1.29 63% 

 

Teams do informally encourage carsharing. Schemes to explore mechanisms to improve and adopt 
as a common behaviour are being considered. 

The council are exploring a salary sacrifice scheme for interested staff to move to an electric vehicle. 

In addition, charge points are planned for sites.  

Remote meetings are now commonplace without presenteeism culture as before COVID. This has 
pros and cons to cross team engagement and is not appropriate for all roles.  

We actively work with Staffordshire County Council on travel programmes including the county wide 

Electric Vehicle charging strategy. We also have our own charging strategy which will be completed 
and ready to implement soon.  

We are active partners of Air Aware who work with schools and other bodies to support active travel 

and reduce idling of vehicles.  

We have a dedicated officer working in the community to support active travel to engage in nature. 

A co-benefit of this is that people would adopt active travel for short commutes and journeys and 
not just for leisure and wellbeing.  

How we work 
Energy and water in buildings is monitored through the fiscal meters. The figures below are 

absolute, annual, total estate figures. They have not been rationalised to account for fluctuations in 

weather, building use, acquisitions, disposals or retrofit measures. As the data is for the buildings, it 
does not account for areas which are used by other organisations such as parts of Moorlands House.  

The figures demonstrate a significant overall decrease in kilowatt-hours, even post pandemic. The 

carbon intensity of electricity is decreasing annually due to decarbonisation of the grid nationally.  

The carbon intensity coefficients are taken from the latest version of the Local Government 

Association tool (Jan 2023). This is the same methodology used across Staf fordshire councils and 
standard practice nationally.   

 

 

 

 

 

Page 246



 

7 
 

Electricity Annual MWh 

Variance on 

Baseline kWh tCO2e 

Variance on Baseline 

tCO2e 

2019/2020 697   178   

2020/2021 621 11% 145 19% 

2021/2022 592 15% 126 29% 

 

 

Electricity consumption (Megawatt-hours) has reduced by 15% since the baseline year. The carbon 
emissions have reduced by 29% (tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent).  

Gas  Annual MWh 

Variance on Baseline 

kWh tCO2e 

Variance on Baseline 

tCO2e 

2019/2020 1,319   242   

2020/2021 1,068 19% 196 19% 

2021/2022 1,012 23% 185 24% 

 

 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

2019/2020 2020/2021 2021/2022

SMDC Electricity Use  

Annual MWh tCO2e

Page 247



 

8 
 

 

Gas consumption has reduced by 23% since the baseline year. The resulting emissions reduction is 
24%.  

Total Energy in 
Buildings 

Annual 
MWh 

Variance on 
Baseline kWh tCO2e 

Variance on Baseline 
tCO2e 

2019/2020 2,016   420   

2020/2021 1,689 16% 341 19% 

2021/2022 1,604 20% 311 26% 

 

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

2019/2020 2020/2021 2021/2022

SMDC Gas 

Annual MWh tCO2e

Page 248



 

9 
 

 

Overall energy used has reduced by 20% and the resultant carbon dioxide emissions have reduced 
by 26%. 

These figures do not include the emissions from outsourced services of  Parkwood, AES, NEC payroll 

services and other procured services.  

Systems are being put in place to request this data from primary delivery partners and collate the 
findings on a regular basis.  

Water figures are difficult to analyse due to the inherent issues with metering and billing water. 
Some resource may be required to analyse the data we have and rectify any issues.  

Following energy assessment of the majority of our building portfolio, the council’s new  Asset 

Management plan will include energy and water efficiency technologies, revised operation schedules 

and potentially renewable energy in our own buildings. The use of some corporate buildings is being 

assessed to optimise functionality. Our strategic partners are all on board with monitoring and 

reducing their building emissions.  

Moorlands House will have new LED external and internal lighting in the next few months.  

An application to the Public Sector Carbonisation Fund has been made for funding to improve energy 
efficiency and add  renewable generation to one of our leisure centres. 

The council applied to the Low Carbon Skills Fund for support in developing bespoke, holistic site 

specific decarbonisation reports. Unfortunately, owing to the mechanisms of the fund, the 

application was received too late to meet the first round.  However, the exercise was useful and will 
help us apply for any future opportunities.  

The council’s revised procurement strategy has been designed to embed sustainability and low 

carbon considerations into decision making for the procurement of goods, services and works.   

Environmental Sustainability is one of the key focus areas of the strategy and has specific actions to 

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

2019/2020 2020/2021 2021/2022

Energy in Buildings  

Annual MWh tCO2e

Page 249



 

10 
 

deliver against. The strategy will be rolled out during 2023/24 across all service areas and elected 

members.  We will also work closely with the Council’s Joint Venture companies to support delivery 

of key environmental actions included in the strategy. 

A network of climate champions will engage with services to support energy and water saving and 
waste minimisation.  

UK Shared Prosperity Fund of up to £3.4m has been allocated to Staffordshire Moorlands. 

The UKSPF is part of the national Levelling Up agenda and is based on three investment priorities:  

 Communities and place 

 Supporting local business 

 People and skills 

The fund will be governed by a newly formed board to lead on the prioritisation of initiatives. Green 
jobs and supporting the skills shortages to deliver climate initiatives shall be considered as 
deliverables within the programme. 

We will continue to promote training and funding opportunities to business community including 
membership of the Staffordshire Business Environmental Network 

Procurement will work closely with the Council’s local supply chain to encourage and support actions  

to reduce their carbon footprint in our local areas. 

How we make energy 
As part of the Asset Management Plan, the council buildings have had light touch assessments of 

potential energy generation.  

These provide an indication of what is possible but did not consider in-depth technical requirements 
(e.g. structural integrity, network capacity, asbestos, wiring or metering upgrades).  

Further work to consider off site potential for generation should be explored.  

Some of the domestic energy funding will provide some home solar panels (photovoltaics). However, 
exploring opportunities to upscale the uptake is required.  

Our website includes signposting to renewable energy schemes such as approved installers and 

organisations to support community energy development projects.  

How we look after our environment  
The management of our country park sites has now transferred to Staffordshire Wildlife Trust. 

Having experts on biodiversity and community engagement with greatly improve the ecosystems on 
these sites, whilst supporting communities to engage with them.  

We have also commissioned the Staffordshire Wildlife Trust to develop a “Plan for Nature”. This will 

assess opportunities to improve biodiversity on sites owned by SMDC and others. This will provide a 

biodiversity strategy with a bank of potential sites to prioritise, enhance the green infrastructure, 

increase tree cover and use to respond to funding opportunities. It will also prepare us for the 

incoming Biodiversity Net Gain legislation and provide some ready scoped opportunities for 

Page 250

https://www.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/article/7389/3.4m-to-help-the-Moorlands-prosper


 

11 
 

potential S106 funding.  

The project with the Wildlife Trust has already identified some potential projects to improve rural 

green corridors working with some of our community groups on a joint funding application. If our 

application is successful, this will form part of our work for 2023/24. 

Our collaboration with Staffordshire County Council and the other districts and boroughs in the 

county, could result in a parallel commitment through the sustainability board to pledge to 
particular activities in the next year. This is to be decided at the next sustainability board meeting.  

The county has overall responsibility for the Nature Recovery Strategy. Our work on the Plan for 

Nature will dovetail into this overall objective.  

A strategy for our parks and open spaces is planned for 2023/24. Park management plans will be 

developed for those sites which are substantial enough to require them with our smaller sites having 

maintenance plans produced, where appropriate. Staffordshire Wildlife Trust has taken on the 

management of 11 of our nature reserves which will  improve the management of the sites, enhance 
the biodiversity and draw in community volunteers.  

Our Green Network of community groups and the community fund have both been established, 

amongst other things, to support communities enhance nature in their area. This includes the 
development of new or expanding orchards and native tree planting.  

We  have a dedicated member of staff who is able to support groups with nature walks, which can 

improve health & wellbeing of participants and increase appreciation for nature and the outdoors. 

Walking is also a key action to help reduce short car journeys – active travel can help reduce 
emissions and car use by encouraging people to walk to school, work and local amenities.   

We are actively engaging with the new Arts Council funded programme ‘Outside’ which combines 

engagement with nature and wellbeing with arts, culture and heritage  in Staffordshire Moorlands. 

Working together, we can benefit from their vast experience and creativity to sustain and embed 

engagement and appreciation of nature.  This will support the long term objectives of our Plan for 

Nature.   

How we manage waste  
Staffordshire Moorlands has historically good rates of recycling. New Resource and Waste Strategy 

(RAWS) may lead to changing service delivery. Changes will be communicated through the AES 

dedicated communications and engagement team. The RAWS implementation will also inform the 

Staffordshire joint waste strategy review.  

The county-wide Joint Waste Board has joined with the Staffordshire Sustainability Board which we 
are active members of.  

We continue to support community groups to enhance recycling and waste avoidance through make 

do and mend, repair cafes and re-use initiatives. Our community fund and the green network is 

accessible to groups needing some help to set up an initiative.  

Our new procurement strategy will, set clear standards in our specifications to reduce or eliminate 

the impact on the environment, including removing single use plastics and stipulate sustainably 
sourced materials as an alternative. 

Replacement Fleet strategy procurements include provision for alternative ‘options’ as part of the 

Page 251

https://www.staffs-wildlife.org.uk/news/charity-sets-sights-wilder-staffordshire-moorlands


 

12 
 

tender process e.g. alternative fuels, electric vehicles. The Council’s  waste vehicles used by our 

strategic partners Alliance Environmental Services Ltd  now operate on hydrogenated vegetable oil 

which reduces the greenhouse gas emissions and has other benefits for air quality. 

How we help change occur  
All council reports have climate change listed as a consideration.  

The council has achieved the Carbon Literacy Bronze award. More training is planned in the spring to 
raise the award to silver.   

A shorter awareness raising training programme for new starts and councillors is to be developed.  

A cross council network of climate champions has been set up to support embedding service specific 

climate considerations across the operations. This network is embryonic and is to be developed over 

the coming months.  

From this network, we will establish improved engagement to join up the good practice across the 

council activities and communicate outwardly. 

We will continue to support community groups to build capacity and resilience through peer-to-peer 

sharing and some project/operational funding. We will use examples to demonstrate to other 

groups how to. We will also try to re-engage parish and town councils to take action with climate 

activities.  

As a council we are active members, partners or subscribers of several relevant peer groups, 

including Local Government Association, UK100 and APSE. We can use these networks to share and 
learn good practice and to influence others. 

The Climate Change and Nature Community Fund is a small fund set up by the Council with match 

funding from AES. The grants are awarded to community groups for projects with enhance nature or 

support our climate change plans. The grants are assessed by a panel of external partners with one 

council officer. The grant runs on a rolling programme allowing groups to apply for more than one 

initiative or to allow time for groups to formulate ideas.  

Since inception, the fund has awarded 12 grants to groups, totalling over £6000. A round has just 
closed and the panel will assess these applications shortly.  

Projects range from supporting community buildings with energy efficiency and generation, nature 

walks linked to wellbeing and awareness, supporting allotments and a nature based sculpture 

working with a mental health creative group and recycled materials. The applicant groups range 
from small nascent, place-based  groups to well established district wide groups. 

 

Page 252



Appendix B: The Council’s Delivery of Undertaking Given in 2019 When Declaring a Climate Change Emergency  

 
Undertaking Evidence Assessment 

1 Start working with partners across the district 

and region towards making the Staffordshire 
Moorlands carbon neutral by 2030, taking 
into account emissions from both production 

and consumption. 

The Council has developed and supported a range of effective partnership 

arrangements. This includes active membership of UK100
1
 at a national 

level, involvement with various County-wide organisations and 
partnerships (including the Staffordshire Sustainability Board), and the 

Council has developed the Staffordshire Moorlands Green Network at 
district-level. 

Achieved 

2 Call on the Government to provide guidance, 
powers and resources to make carbon 

neutrality possible by writing to local MPs and 
all relevant government departments. 

The Council is a member of UK100 and supports their work in lobbying 
government and others for climate action. Amongst other things, UK100 is 

the secretariat for the All Party Parliamentary Groups (APPGs) on 
Sustainable Finance’ and Air Pollution. UK100 also holds an annual 
parliamentary reception to lobby on behalf of its membership for action 

towards achieving Net Zero. The APPG brings together a wide range of 
professions to build political consensus for what’s needed in the finance 
sector to reach Net Zero.  

 
At a more local level, the meeting of the Council on 2 December 2020, the 
Council unanimously carried a motion to “call upon the Government  to 

introduce an outright ban on the practice of peatland and vegetation 
burning and to ensure the protection of peatlands across the UK for the 
sake of future generations”. 

 
The Council also unanimously passed a motion at its meeting on 8 
December 2021 to “ lobby our two Members of Parliament to ask them to: 

i) raise with the Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing and 
Communities the need to make it a Statutory Duty for all local authorities 
to create and deliver a climate change action plan, and ii) to give local 

authorities the powers and resources to deliver these plans [in line with 
national policies].” 
 

The Council also responds to relevant Government Consultations, eg 
“DEFRA Waste Consultation” (Cabinet Delegated Decision 22 June 
2021), “National Planning Policy Framework Consultation” (19/4/2018) 

 

Achieved 

                                                 
1
 https://www.uk100.org/about 

P
age 253

https://www.uk100.org/about


3 Requests that the Chair of the Community 
Overview and Scrutiny Panel establishes a 
sub committee to undertake detailed 

research into the effects of climate change in 
the District, to include consideration of all 
relevant data and monitoring information 

available, and to involve evidence from 
relevant stakeholders, with a view to 
recommending to the Council an effective, 

achievable and costed plan of actions to 
address climate change within the 
Staffordshire Moorlands. 

As detailed in the Cabinet report from 7 December 2021 and COSP report 
of 8 November 2021, the Council went beyond this undertaking and also 
established working groups to look at district greenhouse gas emissions 

from Council activity, travel and transport, housing, industry, agriculture, 
land use and biodiversity, waste, and energy production. These working 
groups gathered evidence from many outside agencies and experts to 

identify actions that could reduce emissions.   
 
The recommendations from the Working Groups were reported at 

Appendix A of the report “SMDC Draft Climate Change Part 2 Plan” that 
was considered by COSP on 15 November 2021. 
 

The aim of these task-and-finish groups was to inform the creation of a 
Climate Change Plan for the district. This plan was adopted by the Council 
in December 2021. 

 
The plan was subsequently independently reviewed by Climate 
Emergency UK, who gave the plan an overall score of 87%: the 2

nd
 

highest score by a district council in the country
2
.  

 
Notably, the Council was awarded full marks in several categories 

including “commitment and integration”, and “community engagement and 
communications”. The Council was also scored 4 out of 5 for “measuring 
and setting emissions targets”. 

Achieved 

4 Ensure that all Council Bodies and Scrutiny 

Panels consider the impact of climate change 
and the environment when making decisions 
and reviewing Council policies and 

strategies. 

Every Council decision-making report includes a section that considers 

the implications for climate change. This has been in place since the 
declaration of the climate emergency in 2019. Before that date, all reports 
required authors to comment on the impact on sustainability.  

Achieved 

5 Review progress made on an annual basis 
via Scrutiny and Full Council. 
 

The first annual report was presented to the COSP on 11 July 2022 and 
six-month interim report on 16 January 2023. Further updates were 
regularly provided to COSP during 2022/23, including updates on specific 

projects and activities, eg “Update on the Levels of Pollution and the Air 
Quality Action Plan” (12/7/21), “Climate Change and Council Building 
(LED Lighting)” (17/10/2022), “Plan for Nature” (14/11/22), “Wildfire Public 

Spaces Protection Order” (23 November 2020). 

Achieved 

                                                 
2
 https://councilclimatescorecards.uk/scoring/district/  

P
age 254



The Council’s approach is to embed climate action across the authority. 
As such, reports that deliver the Council’s climate change ambitions will 
be considered by other Council committees: 

 Service Delivery Overview & Scrutiny Panel: “Green Infrastructure 
Strategy Delivery Plan Update” (27 January 2021), question on 
external LED lighting (14 July 2021) “SMDC Electric Vehicle Charge 

Point Strategy” (25 January 2023) 
 

 Resources “Community Orchard Scheme” (23 June 2021), question 
about Moorlands House energy costs (20 July 2022) 

 

 Licensing & Regulatory Committee “Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle 
Licensing Policy Review – Response to Consultation (Emissions 

Proposals)” (11 November 2022). 
 

Reports are also issued, where appropriate, as Cabinet delegated 

decisions, eg “Leisure Transformation De-risking Surveys and 
Decarbonisation Project” (23 December 2022) “Outcomes of Alternative 
Fuel Trial” (11 February 2022), “Energy Company Obligation – Revised 

Statement of Intent” (14 July 2021), “Community Orchards” (28 May 
2021), “Climate Change Fund” (28 May 2021). 
 

The Council also issues Information Digests where no decision is 
required: “Ongoing costs of the Community Orchards Scheme” (23 
November 2022), “Environment Act 2021” (17 August 2022) “Climate 

Change Update” (3 June 2020),  

 
 

P
age 255



T
his page is intentionally left blank



  

STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

Cabinet 

 
14 February 2023 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 Appendix A: Empty Homes Network report  

Appendix B: Empty Homes Working Group Action Plan   
Appendix C: Enforced Sales Policy 

 
1. Reason for the Report 
 

1.1 To advise the Cabinet of progress in relation to the Empty Property Strategy.   

 
2. Recommendation 

2.1 That the contents of the report be noted and the Action Plan (Appendix B), 
Enforced Sales Policy (Appendix C) and additional staff resource and capacity 

(Empty Homes Officer) be approved.  
 

2.2 That the removal of the discount for empty and unoccupied properties s7.3.3 

and the removal of the uninhabitable discount s7.3.4 be approved. 
 

2.3 That the Council Tax premium on second homes outlined s7.3.9 and the 
empty property premium for properties that have remained empty for 1 year 
s7.3.10 be adopted. 

 
3. Executive Summary 

 
3.1 Empty homes are a wasted resource at a time when there is increasing 

pressure to address housing and homelessness need. 

 
3.2 There has been a decline in empty properties and those empty for more than 6 

months as a proportion of housing stock. However Staffordshire Moorlands 
shows a higher percentage compared with national figures for total empty and 
those empty for more than 6 months. 

 
3.3 The cross service Empty Homes Working Group recently undertook a service 

review ‘health check’ with the Empty Homes Network (EHN). 

TITLE: Empty Property Strategy Update 
 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER:  Councillor Ross Ward – Portfolio Holder  
    for Communities 
 

CONTACT OFFICER: Martin Owen – Executive Director Finance 
and Customer Services 

 
WARDS INVOLVED:  Non-Specific 

Page 257

Agenda Item 10.1



  

Recommendations within the EHN Service Review report (Appendix A) are to 
be taken forward as outlined in the Empty Homes Action Plan (Appendix B). 

3.4 Changes are recommended to council tax discounts and premiums. The 

removal of the 3 month 100% discount for unoccupied and unfurnished 
properties, and the 12 month 50% reduction for uninhabitable properties. In 

line with proposals within the Levelling Up and Regeneration Bill 2022; 
adoption of the Council Tax premium on second homes and the empty 
property premium for properties that have remained empty for 1 year. 

 
3.5 An Empty Homes Officer would provide a vital role in advising and supporting 

owners of empty homes to explore options and bring homes back into use. 
 
4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  

 

4.1 The strategy contributes to the Corporate Plan 2019-23 aim of helping to 

create a safer and healthier environment for our communities to live and work. 
 
4.2 A reduction in the number of empty properties generates income as part of the 

New Homes Bonus scheme. 
 
5. Options and Analysis 
 

5.1 Option 1- Proceed with the recommendations to approve the Empty Property 

Working Group Action Plan (Appendix B) and additional staff resource and 
capacity (Empty Homes Officer) – Recommended 

 
5.2 Option 2- Not to proceed with the recommendation – not recommended. The 

Action Plan focuses activity and without a dedicated resource the council lacks 

the capacity to support owners of empty homes and bring homes back into 
use. 

 
6. Implications 

 

6.1
  

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
A reduction of empty properties is proven to have a positive impact 
and improve the quality of an area and assist in the reduction of 

vandalism and anti-social behaviour. 
 

6.2 Workforce 
Additional staff resource, outlined under s6.4 financial 
considerations  

 
6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 

The report has been prepared in line with Council policies 
 

6.4 Financial Considerations.  

The proposed changes to empty homes discount and second 
home premiums as detailed in section 7.3, will have a 

positive effect on receipts in the Collection Fund. 
The appointment of an Empty Homes Officer is likely to have a 

positive effect on the number of empty properties in the 

Page 258



  

District and thereby increase the amount of New Homes 
Bonus received in funding by the Authority. 

It should be noted that there is a risk that changes to the New 

Homes Bonus scheme will remove the benefits under the 
scheme associated with the reduction in empty property 

numbers. 
Provision has been made in the Medium Term Financial Plan for 

the creation of an Empty Homes Officer on a fixed term 

contract. 
 

6.5 Legal 
There are no specific implications to this report.  
 

6.6 Sustainability 
There are no specific implications to this report  

 
6.7 
 

Internal and External Consultation 
Consultation undertaken with internal Council departments 

6.8 
 

Risk Assessment 
There are no specific implications to this report 

 
Martin Owen 

Executive Director (Finance and Customer Services) 

 
Web Links and 

Background Papers 
 Location Contact details 

Cabinet report 

5/12/17: ‘Empty 
Property Strategy’  
Delegated decision 

report 2018/15E: 
1/3/2019 ‘Empty 

Homes Update: 
funding opportunity 
with EPIC’ 

Information Digest  
29/4/2020 ‘Empty 

Property Progress 
Update’ 

Website ‘agenda & minutes’  

agenda pack 
 
 

 

Helen Core 

Head of Housing Services 
Helen.core@staffordshiremo
orlands.gov.uk 

 
 
Joanne Wheeldon 

Head of Revenues & 
Benefits 
joanne.wheeldon@staffordsh

iremoorlands.gov.uk 

 

 
7. Background and Detail 
 

7.1  Local context  
 

7.1.1 Making the best use of existing stock and bringing empty homes back into use 

is fundamental to meeting housing need, it is not just a case of building new 
homes. Empty homes are a wasted resource at a time when there is pressure 

on housing stock to address housing and homelessness need. They can also 

Page 259

https://democracy.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=137&MId=775&Ver=4
https://democracy.staffsmoorlands.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=137&MId=775&Ver=4
mailto:Helen.core@staffordshiremoorlands.gov.uk
mailto:Helen.core@staffordshiremoorlands.gov.uk
mailto:joanne.wheeldon@staffordshiremoorlands.gov.uk
mailto:joanne.wheeldon@staffordshiremoorlands.gov.uk


  

create problems for neighbours and the wider community such as disputes, 
blight, property deterioration and discourage inward investment. 

 

7.1.2 Empty homes can generally be categorised as either transitional vacancies in 
a housing market or more problematic, inactive in the housing market and 

empty for over six months. The Empty Property Strategy 2017 targets for 
action properties empty for over six months and empty property complaints. 
The Environmental Health service deal responsively with empty property 

complaints and these properties may have been empty for more or less than 
six months. 

 
7.1.3 The reasons why a property may be empty can be varied and often complex. 

These may include death or ill health of an owner, the property being subject 

to probate process or other legal disputes. An owner may be unable or 
unwilling to let or sell a property or inherited and not know what to do. 

 
7.1.4 National and local empty property statistics are provided below. These show 

that locally, with the exception of 2022, there has been a decline in empty 

properties and those empty for more than 6 months as a proportion of housing 
stock. However Staffordshire Moorlands shows a higher percentage compared 

with national figures for total empty (2.02% v 1.90%) and those empty for more 
than 6 months (1.42% v 1.02%). 
 

  
Total 

Dwellings 

Total 

empty 
homes 

Empty 
more 

than 6 

months 

% total 

dwellings 
empty  

 % total 
dwellings 

empty 
more than 
6 months 

% empty 
homes, 

empty for 
more than 
6 month 

2017 24,076,200 454,558 216,932 1.89 0.90 48 

2018 24,298,200 472,918 227,953 1.95 0.94 48 

2019 24,549,014 482,896 237,594 1.97 0.97 49 

2020 24,761,613 480,106 278,470 1.94 1.12 50 

2021 24,987,468 468,070 246,644 1.87 0.99 53 

2022 25,225,481 479,079 257,331 1.90 1.02 54 

             Fig 1: National empty statistics 

 

  
Total 

Dwellings 

Total 
Empty 
Homes 

Empty 
more 

than 6 
months 

% Total 
dwellings 

empty  

% total 

dwellings 
empty 

more than 

6 months 

% empty 

homes, 
empty for 
more than 

6 month 

2017 43,932 1,162 635 2.64 1.45 55 

2018 44,030 1,188 814 2.70 1.85 69 

2019 44,170 1,099 715 2.49 1.62 65 

2020 44,295 1,025 776 2.31 1.75 76 

2021 44,410 899 605 2.02 1.36 67 

2022 44,644 925 638 2.07 1.42 70 

                      Fig 2: SMDC empty statistics 

 

 

Page 260



  

 
        Fig 3: National and local comparison 

 
            Fig 4: SMDC empty properties empty more than 6 months 

 
 

7.2 Empty Homes Network (EHN) service review 
 

7.2.1 The cross service Empty Homes Working Group review delivery of the Empty 

Property Strategy 2017 and recently undertook a service review ‘health check’ 
with the Empty Homes Network (EHN). EHN provide support to empty 

property practitioners including practical, operational and experience based 
training and consultancy to local authorities. The service review was 
undertaken to develop approaches and processes, share best practice and 

make recommendations to inform our ability to cost effectively bring empty 
properties back into use. 

 
7.2.2 Recommendations within the EHN Service Review report (Appendix A) are to 

be taken forward as outlined in the Empty Homes Action Plan (Appendix B). 

 
7.2.3 The report considers available tools and incentives to bring properties back 

into use. This includes policy relating to empty property Council Tax discount 
and premiums. 

 
7.3    Council Tax policy  
 

7.3.1 In accordance with powers granted under the Rating (Property in Common 
Occupation) and Council Tax Act 2018, the empty property Council Tax 
Premium requires, subject to other exemptions and discounts, empty property 

owners to pay 100% premium on top of the  standard council tax bill after two 
years,  200% after five years and 300% after 10. The table below shows that 

22% of empty properties are charged a premium and between 2017 and 2022 

0.00

0.50

1.00

1.50

2.00

2.50

3.00

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

National % Total empty National % empty more than 6 months

SMDC % Total Empty SMDC % empty more than 6 months

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

1,400

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

Total Empty Homes Empty more than 6 months

Page 261



  

the proportion charged has reduced by 80 (-26.5%). 
 

  

Properties 
charged 

premium 
(2yr+) 

Empty 
for 2 to 
5 years 

Empty 
for 5 to 

10 
years 

Empty 

for 
more 

than 10 

years 

% total 
empties 

charged 
premium 

% 

empty 
6m+ 

charged 

premium 

2017 283 283 24.35 44.57 

2018 306 306 25.76 37.59 

2019 294 294 26.75 41.12 

2020 245 136 109 27.25 31.57 

2021 200 107 41 52 22.25 33.06 

2022 208 120 48 40 22.49 32.6 

        Fig 5: Council Tax premium 
 

7.3.2 Changes are recommended to council tax discounts and premiums, enabling 
the removal of the 3 month 100% discount for unoccupied and unfurnished 
properties, and the 12 month 50% reduction for uninhabitable properties. 

Information below models the impact of recommended changes. 
 

7.3.3 There are currently 129 properties which are unoccupied and unfurnished and 
qualify for a 100% discount for a period between 0-3 months. This discount 
starts from when the property was last occupied and became unfurnished. If 

this discount was to be removed completely, the estimated savings using 
current figures would be approximately £71,000.  
 

7.3.4 In respect of properties that are currently uninhabitable and undergoing  
major or structural renovations, there are 77 properties in receipt  

of this discount, which can be granted for a period of 0-12 months.  
Again using current figures, if this discount was removed completely, the 

estimated savings would be approximately £45,000. 
 
7.3.5 In order to make the above changes, a decision would need to be made prior 

to the financial year in which the changes would take place; recommended 
from 1 April 2024. There is also the requirement to publish a notice of the 

determination in at least one newspaper, circulating in the area within 21 days 
of the determination. 
 

7.3.6 In addition to making changes to current discounts, the Government as part of 
the Levelling Up and Regeneration Bill in May 2022, have proposed legislation 

that includes more options for council tax premiums to be introduced on empty 
properties and second homes nationally. If the Bill receives Royal Assent, the 
proposed changes would come into effect from 1 April, 2024. 
 

7.3.7 In terms of levy for unoccupied/furnished properties (second homes), a new 
Section (11)(C) is being inserted in the Local Government Finance Act 1992. 

The proposed section specifies the maximum premium as 100% and states 
that a first determination must be made at least one year before the beginning 

of the financial year to which it relates. 
 

7.3.8 If the District Council wishes to adopt changes outlined in the Bill with regards    

to the premium for second homes, it is required to confirm its decision before 1 

Page 262



  

April 2023 and publish notice of the determination in at least one newspaper 
circulating in the area within 21 days of the determination. If a decision is not 
made by this date then the premium can only be applied from 1 April 2025. 
 

7.3.9 It is recommended that the proposal to charge a premium on second homes is 
adopted and applied to properties meeting the qualifying criteria with the 

amount set in the relevant legislation, when set, up to a maximum of 100%. 
If the proposed maximum premium was applied to the current number of 

second homes currently 239 properties, this would create additional income of 
around £444,000. 
 

7.3.10 Within the same Bill, proposes changes from 1 April 2024 to reduce the 
number of years in which a premium can be applied to empty and substantially 

unfurnished properties from 2 years to 1 year. It is therefore recommended, in 
line with the proposed actions of this report, to bring empty homes back into 
use, that the premium of 100% is applied  from 1 April 2024. A decision for the 

empty home premium can be made prior to the financial year in which the 
change will take place. As with other changes, there is the requirement to 

publish a notice of the determination in at least one newspaper circulating in 
the area within 21 days of the determination. 
If the proposed maximum premium of 100% was applied to the current number 

of empty and unoccupied homes, currently 182 properties, this would create 
additional income of around £292,000. 

 
7.4 Working with owners of empty homes 
 

7.4.1 Council Tax premiums, discounts and exemptions are only one tool available 
to councils concerned about empty homes. Other initiatives targeted at 

encouraging empty home owners to return their property to use include a 
former purchase and repair scheme with EPIC housing association which is no 
longer available. Home Repairs Assistance grant for empty property owners is 

available, however there is limited uptake with only 5 grants issued in the last 
3 years and only 1 related to an empty dwelling. Actions in Appendix B include 

the review and expansion of available options for owners; including initiatives 
such as grants, loans, available energy efficiency support and free options. 

 

7.4.2   Several recommendations concern additional resource and capacity. There is 
limited capacity within the Environmental Health service to deal proactively 

with empty properties. Reactively 20-30 complaints a year are addressed, with 
minimal formal action undertaken when it is essential to address public health, 
safety and nuisance issues. For instance enforcement notices are served 

relating to waste/ rubbish, vermin and to secure premises, with works 
undertaken in default and recharged as necessary. However they do not 

require an owner to occupy, rent, sell or deal with an empty property and result 
in a property brought back into use. 

 

7.4.3 Many councils employ a dedicated post, typically an Empty Homes Officer, 
and EHN recommendations relate to an Empty Homes Officer and Council 

Tax Visiting Officer. An Empty Homes Officer would develop an empty homes 
database to prioritise and monitor progress as part of a case management 
approach working with empty property owners. An officer can spend time 

Page 263



  

understanding the reasons why a property is empty and the barriers to 
bringing it back into use. They are able to work with the owner to support them 
to unravel complexities and start to remove the barriers. They play a vital role 

in advising and supporting owners to explore options, helping to publicise the 
premiums, sign post services to assist owners (how to engage an estate 

agent, get planning permission, building control services etc.), produce 
newsletters, develop strategies to support owners e.g. selling, helping to 
engage private buyers, taking property to auction etc. 

 
7.4.4 In a previous survey of empty property owners, when asked for information 

about what might encourage them to bring the property back into use, those 
that responded to suggested options, indicated. Assistance related to ‘repairs/ 
renovation’ (40%), including loans and grants assistance (22%), management 

service and advice to manage repairs/ renovations. Assistance related to 
‘renting’ (20%) with advice on becoming a landlord, finding a tenant, 

guaranteed rental income/ leasing and specifically EPC regulations. 20% 
suggest assistance related to ‘sale’ and finding a buyer/ selling. A further 20% 
suggest assistance related to ‘planning’ matters, including planning advice/ 

permission resolution and listed buildings. 
 

7.4.5 Without a dedicated resource the council lacks the capacity to properly 
support owners of empty homes and this can place strain on the Council Tax 
service and Environmental Health service. Subject to Members’ approval, it is 

therefore proposed that the Council recruits an Empty Homes Officer to work 
with owners of empty homes. 

 

7.4.6 An Empty Homes Officer will progress engagement and enforcement, allow for 
the more intensive work of progressing with stricter enforcement tools where 

required to address empty and derelict homes. Policies focusing on Enforced 
Sales, Empty Dwelling Management Orders and Compulsory Purchase Orders 
will strengthen the councils position through negotiation with owners. The 

Enforced Sales Policy (Appendix 3) would better place the Council to pursue 
the forced sales of properties where local land charges have accrued. 

 
7.4.7 The Empty Homes Officer could also support the Council’s climate change 

objectives, for instance advising on energy efficiency upgrades and 

compliance with Minimum Energy Efficiency Standards (MEES) for properties 
available for rent. 

 
7.4.8 The New Homes Bonus (NHB) is a government grant scheme that forms part 

of the Council’s overall base funding. The scheme currently includes a one-off 

financial reward for every long term empty home (over 6 months) brought back 
into use. Any reduction in the number of empty homes gives rise to additional 

NHB payable in the following year, which would help offset the costs of an 
Empty Homes Officer. It should be noted that the scheme is currently under 
review and there is a risk that a future replacement scheme may not include 

reward for reduction in empty property numbers. Provision has been made in 
the Medium Term Financial Plan for the creation of an Empty Homes Officer 

on a fixed term. 
 
7.4.9 Many actions within the Action Plan take into consideration and are subject to 

Page 264



  

the recruitment of an Empty Homes Officer (EPO). An updated Empty 
Property Strategy, with an updated view on local and national context, 
enforcement, policy direction and initiatives will be developed in order to 

comprehensively outline approach and available assistance. 
 

 
  
 

 

Page 265



This page is intentionally left blank



Empty Homes
Service Review 2022

P
age 267



Produced by: The Empty Homes Network

Copyright: Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

Published: September 2022

Document Version: Draft 2.0

P
age 268



Contents
Introduction 4
Why Empty Homes Matter 5

Current Policy & Practice 6
Empty Homes Statistics 7
Council Tax & Revenue 9

Capacity Grid 10

Homelessness & Temporary Accommodation 11

Political Appetite & Empty Homes Strategy 12

Current Operational Capacity, Policy & Process 13

Progressing Policy & Practice 16
Appetite, Enforcement & Publicity 17

Empty Homes Database 19

Reporting, Monitoring and Scoring 20

Process & Application 21
Developing Options for Owners 22

Additional Resource & Capacity 23

Summary of Recommendations 25
Recommendations Overview 26

Recommendation Implications 28

Routes to Implementation 29

Summary 31

Appendices 32

P
age 269



4

Introduction

The empty homes service review 2022 has been commissioned by Staffordshire Moorlands District Council

and completed by The Empty Homes Network. The aim of this review is to provide feedback and guidance on

a variety of aspects relating to the current processes, procedures and strategic direction of empty homes work

across the District, with a view to improving the delivery, efficiency and investigative approach to casework.

Whilst the overarching aim of the empty homes service is to support and assist owners in returning their

properties to use, this review outlines a number of key practical approaches that can be adopted by

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council in order to improve their operational and strategic processes, and

subsequently benefit key stakeholders such as the Council’s customers, staff, and empty home owners.

By assessing the current capacity and operational delivery of the service, this review gains an overall

appreciation of current practices throughout the customer journey, primarily from the point of view as a council

officer dealing with a subject property.

With a thorough understanding of the statistics, current service delivery and processes adopted by

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council, the service review aims to pinpoint key areas of focus for the council

in order to develop and improve their operational procedures, enabling them to both increase deliverable

capacity, but also to achieve a successful and sustainable model from which returning empty homes to

prolonged use can be attained.

The review concludes by offering a summary of recommendations, from which the local authority will be able to

enhance and develop their empty homes service which is in place to support those who seek the guidance and

advice to return their empty home to use, but also tackles those who may be reluctant to engage in making the

best use of their assets and property.

P
age 270



5

Why Empty Homes Matter

Empty homes are an issue across the UK. Irrespective of their reasons for becoming empty, properties left

empty for significant periods of time are not only a waste of a limited resource at a time when the country is

desperately seeking to increase its housing supply, but they also create blight, degradation, encourage crime

and discourage inward investment.

According to statistics released by Central Government in October 2021, over 468,000 homes were classed as

empty across England, with 247,631 of those being reported as long-term empty having been vacant for six

months or longer. Whilst many of these are yet to have reached a stage of deterioration that prompts concern

or encourages decline, every empty home removes a property from the housing market, and with it the

opportunity for those on social housing registers to be housed, first time buyers to purchase, or those looking to

move upwards on the property ladder.

Whilst the issue affects all towns and cities across the UK, empty homes come in all forms, shapes and sizes.

Affecting inner cities, suburbs and rural areas, properties can be left empty to deteriorate for years, often

decades, prior to the owners being encouraged and sometimes forced to bring them back into use. Being

varied in their condition and location, also means being varied in the approach to return them to occupation

with no one-size-fits-all solution. Whilst local authorities are best placed to encourage and enforce action in

dealing with empty properties, is not a statutory function however, and therefore councils are able to determine

for themselves whether resources are best put to use in dealing with them, or alternative corporate priorities.

With the probate process, lack of available finance, becoming an accidental landlord and market speculation

often cited as reasons behind why properties become and remain empty, it is widely considered that for a

property to remain vacant for over six months, there must be underlying issues being experienced by those

involved, meaning the tools and options available to councils in order to deal with them must often be as wide

and as varied as the number itself.

P
age 271



Empty Homes Service Review 2022

Current Policy & Practice

P
age 272



7

Empty Homes Statistics

0.00

0.50

1.00

1.50

2.00

2.50

3.00

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Staffordshire Moorlands vs National 
Average

(% Total Empty Homes)

SMDC % Total Empty National Average

0.00

0.50

1.00

1.50

2.00

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Staffordshire Moorlands vs National 
Average

(% Long Term Empty Homes)

SMDC % Long Term Empty Homes National Average

Total 
Number of 
Dwellings

Total 
Empty 
Homes

Total Long-
Term Empty 
Homes

% Total 
Empty

% Long-
Term 
Empty

2017 43,932 1,162 635 2.64% 1.45%

2018 44,030 1,188 814 2.70% 1.85%

2019 44,170 1,099 715 2.49% 1.62%

2020 44,295 1,025 776 2.31% 1.75%

2021 44,410 899 605 2.02% 1.36%

Total 
Number of 
Dwellings

Total 
Empty 
Homes

Total Long-
Term Empty 
Homes

% Total 
Empty

% Long-
Term 
Empty

2017 24.07m 454,558 216,921 1.89% 0.90%

2018 24.29m 472,918 227,953 1.95% 0.94%

2019 24.54m 482,896 237,594 1.97% 0.97%

2020 24.76m 480,106 278,470 1.94% 1.12%

2021 24.98m 468,070 247,631 1.87% 0.99%

National Statistics

Staffordshire Moorlands DC Statistics

Source: Council Taxbase Statistics 2021: www.gov.uk/government/statistics/council-taxbase-2021-in-england 

Source: Council Taxbase Statistics 2021: www.gov.uk/government/statistics/council-taxbase-2021-in-england 

P
age 273



8

From a national perspective, the numbers of empty homes have fluctuated significantly over the past five

years, reaching a height of 482,896 total empty homes (where properties empty for less than six months are

included) in 2019. Whilst this number has declined over the following two years, possibly as a result of the

COVID pandemic, to 468,070, numbers still haven’t reduced to the levels shown in 2017 of 454,558. As a

percentage, the most recent statistics show that 1.87% of the country’s housing stock is reported as being

empty when based on the total number of dwellings across England.

When focusing on the country’s long-term empty homes (those empty for a minimum of six months), national

figures show a five year high of 278,470 in 2020, but a significant reduction of over thirty thousand to 247,631

in 2021. Similar to the figures shown and reported for total empty homes, this reduction doesn’t match the five

year low of 216,921 in 2017, with the national average of long-term empty homes against total housing stock

being at 0.99%. 2017 however, reported a five year low of 0.90% of homes being long term empty, against

total housing stock.

Locally, Staffordshire Moorlands has seen a relatively steady decline in the number of total empty homes over

the past past years, falling from 1,162 in 2017, to 899 in 2021. Despite the relatively significant difference of an

approximate 25% reduction, the percentage of total empty homes against the housing stock numbers locally

has only seen a 0.62% fall, from 2.64% in 2017 to 2.02% in 2021.

Bucking the national trend however, Staffordshire Moorlands have seen their long-term empty homes figures

drop to below levels seen in 2017, against a backdrop of a significant rise in 2018, and subsequent steady

reduction through to the lowest figures seen in five years.

However, despite the success seen in the reduction of total and long-term empty homes numbers through to

2021, Staffordshire Moorlands are still reporting higher than average numbers in both indicators, when

compared with the national average in percentage of total empty (1.87% v 2.02%), and percentage of long-

term empty homes (0.99% v 1.36%).

P
age 274



9

Council Tax Discounts & The Empty Homes Premium

As of 1st April 2013, central government afforded local authorities the opportunity to adapt their schedule of

discounts and exemptions in relation to empty homes. Where owners of empty homes were previously able

to request discounts or reductions, the ability to do so and at what level of discount were altered in order to

allow local authorities to set local levels under the Localism Act. This enabled local authorities to alter their

schedule of discounts and exemptions with regards to empty and uninhabitable homes locally.

Currently, Staffordshire Moorlands offer a maximum three-month discount of 100% of council tax charged

when a property becomes unoccupied, with the full charge is then payable. The property is then recorded as

empty until such time that the owner informs the council of a change in circumstance or occupancy. Upon

submission of relevant evidence, Staffordshire Moorlands also offers 50% discount for owners whose property

is undergoing major or structural repairs for a maximum of a twelve months. Both the three-month empty and

twelve-month uninhabitable discounts have been adopted by the local authority, although these could be

removed entirely under the powers afforded by the Localism Act.

Properties 
charged EH 
Premium

% of Total 
EH charged 
EH Premium

% of LTE 
charged EH 
Premium

2017 283 24.3% 44%

2018 306 25.7% 37.6%

2019 294 26.7% 41%

2020 245 28.6% 31.6%

2021 200 22.2% 33%

At the time of the changes in council tax reductions and exemptions, the Empty Homes Premium

was also introduced allowing councils to charge varying levels of penalty dependent on the length of

time a property had remained empty. Starting at 100% of the annual charge for those empty over 2

years, this rises to 200% where a property has been unoccupied for over 5 years. This level has

further increased in recent years, to apply a premium charge of an additional 300% for properties

empty over 10 years. Whilst there are some allowances and circumstances where these charges and

premiums can be waived, there is a thorough application process where documentary evidence is

required in order to have the premium removed.

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council currently have 200 properties being charged the empty

homes premium, representing 33% of all long-term empty homes. Whilst this has dropped significantly

from 44% in 2017, it still means a third of all long-term empty homes in across the district have been

vacant for two years or more.

Empty Homes Premium Statistics

Source: Council Taxbase Statistics 2021: www.gov.uk/government/
statistics/council-taxbase-2021-in-england 

P
age 275

http://www.gov.uk/government/


10

Capacity Grid

In recent years, Staffordshire Moorlands have employed an external organisation, Capacity Grid, to conduct

an annual review of the local authority’s empty homes statistics. The annual review, often carried out in the

months leading up to the submission of the Council Taxbase report in October, allows Capacity Grid access to

information held by Revenues & Benefits to enable the cross referencing of empty homes data with various

other information sources. Other sources of information used include the electoral register, utility usage

information, the national census and credit files.

If throughout the cross referencing of information, a property is found to be occupied, the empty property

notifier on the council tax system can subsequently be remove and property taken off the list. As a result, the

reduction in number of empty homes ensures that the local authority maximise their rewards for the New

Homes Bonus, of which the net available and usable housing stock is one of the key criteria. Once completed,

Capacity Grid are remunerated through a percentage of the New Homes Bonus reward for the total properties

that are returned to use.

This process, although potentially financially rewarding for the council, is simply a case of data matching and

cleansing, with no support, assistance or guidance given to empty home owners whose property continues to

remain empty. Whilst the process is often advised for local authorities where empty homes work is not carried

out, the financial sums paid for the review are substantial and would handsomely cover the cost of a

permanent empty homes officer, who, with the same information and monthly monitoring, could replicate such

review for the same benefit to the local authority.

On the basis that the local authority were to employ a dedicated empty homes officer, albeit on an initial part-

time basis, a comprehensive database, regular and cyclical data cleansing, and a process of ongoing

monitoring and contact with owners, would enable the authority to carry out an identical exercise at zero cost.

The officer would be able to couple this work with a programme or support and assistance to those owners

who are in need of help or build on cases in order to progress engagement and enforcement action.

P
age 276



11

Homelessness & Temporary Accommodation

A natural and logical correlation often suggested as a potential solution to the growing housing problem, is

that of the numbers of empty homes, and those households classed as being homeless, or on the housing

register.

When considered against a figure of 605 empty homes reported in October 2021, it is a reasonable

suggestion that the number of empty homes could in some way contribute to supporting those who have

found themselves homeless or on the housing register or placed in temporary accommodation. Of the

statistics shown, 31 households were reported to have spent some time in temporary accommodation in the

year 21/22, with this number dropping to fifteen so far in 22/23. Similarly, 29 households were placed into bed

and breakfast accommodation throughout 21/22, with this figure being 16 so far in 22/23.

As of the 31st August 2022, there had been 4 households placed in temporary accommodation for 6 weeks or

more,Total 
households 
in 
temporary 
accom 
(TA).

Total 
households 
in TA 6+ 
weeks
(42 days) 

Total 
households 
in B&B 
accom.

Total 
families 
placed in 
B&B 
accom.

Total 
families 
placed in 
B&B 6+ 
weeks 
(42 days)

2021/22 50 31 29 7 2

2022/23 28 15 16 5 0

As at 
31/08/2022 9 4 5 3 0

*Households may be placed in multiple temporary placements. For instance, B&B initially then 
alternative TA subsequently.

more, and 0 families that had been in B&B accommodation for 6 weeks

plus. These types of accommodation provisions contributed to a net

spend £11,004.77 for the local authority in 2021/21 once income from

housing benefit had been taken into account, Whilst this could be seen

as a minimal amount when compared to other local authorities or when

set against budgetary provisions, it still represents a significant spend on

alternative accommodation for those in need, whilst a wasted resource

lies unused across the district.

Whilst it is appreciated that with even should all empty homes be

brought back into use, there will still be a requirement to provide such

temporary provision for those in need, it should be considered that the current numbers of empty homes,

could provide a more cost effective and sustainable solution for temporary accommodation provision, for the

local authority, either through lease agreements with private owners, or arrangements with existing partners.

P
age 277



Political Appetite & Empty Homes Strategy

Compiled in conjunction with High Peak Borough Council, Staffordshire Moorlands launched their most recent

empty property strategy in 2017. With a purpose of outlining the current empty homes position both nationally

and locally, the strategy aimed to set out the Council’s future plans to effectively monitor, review and tackle the

issue. Contributing to the wider corporate priorities within the corporate plan, in aiming to help create a safer

and healthier environment for local communities, the empty homes strategy 2017 also links to other strategic

objectives and policies, such as the Corporate Plan, and Private Sector Housing Renewal Assistance Policy

2022.

Setting out the Council’s aims in dealing with Empty Homes, the Strategy sought to bring privately owned

empty homes back into active use, raise awareness of the issue locally, improve housing conditions and

prevent deterioration of the built environment. By providing support and assistance to both those effected

negatively by empty homes, and the owners themselves, Staffordshire Moorlands took significant steps in

acknowledging the importance and positive impact that work to return empty homes to use can have.

Along with the development and implementation of the strategy, a cross service and cross departmental

empty homes working group was formed to continually review the local council’s involvement and progress

with empty homes cases, and to share experience and practice in supporting each other.

The strategy was reinforced with the Empty Property Strategy Progress Report presented to the Resources

Overview & Scrutiny Panel in April 2020, where progress in relation to the 2017 strategy was reported. Further

outlining the benefits of empty homes work, the report also presented the findings an owner survey carried

out, in which it was found that 88% of empty property across the district is privately owned by individuals, and

the remining 12% by companies or businesses. Whilst the reasons behind why the properties remained

vacant were varied, the support and appetite shown both through the adoption of the strategy and approval of

the review, shows that there is an appetite and appreciation that the council’s response and process through

to occupation, requires input, involvement and support from colleagues, that is equally varied.
12

P
age 278



13

Current Operational Capacity, Policy & Process

Current capacity and resource limitations mean that Staffordshire Moorlands employ a largely reactive

approach to their empty homes work. Receiving approximately 20-30 complaints regarding empty homes

annually, officer’s time and other work commitments mean that proactively pursuing empty homes in line with

their strategy of 2017 has been limited. That said, Staffordshire Moorlands are conscious that working to

pursue the owners of empty homes is not a statutory function, and therefore councils are not bound by

legislation in having to provide such service. However, it is fully recognised that such work is significantly

positive and beneficial to residents and communities, and therefore an active approach through a targeted

empty homes strategy, serves to make positive steps and progress where feasibly possible.

Upon receipt or notification of an empty property, officers currently apply a scoring matrix to determine the

severity of empty property, but also the impact on the residents and complainant. This matrix assessment

considers and scores through a variety criteria, including the property particulars, the length of time empty,

visual impact on the amenity of an area, and nuisance caused or associated with the property. The resulting

overall score then determines the level of action required, be it low, medium or high, with the complainant then

informed of the outcome. A Low score results in no action being taken, a Medium score means the council will

attempt to locate and encourage the owners and monitor, with a High score resulting in a more formal and

targeted approach in order to have specific items or complaints addressed. Those with a higher matrix score

are more likely to result in action such as an Enforced Sale, Compulsory Purchase Order, or Empty Dwelling

Management Order, however, these must be preceded with a significant amount of work with attempts to work

with the owner through assistance and negotiation, to bring the property back into habitable use.

Once received and scored, empty properties brought to the attention of officers are then loaded onto the local

authority’s Flare CMS System for monitoring and review. These case files are monitored, reviewed and

assessed dependent on their level of scoring, and remain open until the required works or specifics are

completed, meaning that they are active indefinitely, until such time that a property becomes occupied.

P
age 279



14

The current first point of reference for many residents wishing to refer a complaint to the local authority, as

well as empty home owners looking for information and support provided, is the Council’s website and

dedicated pages relating to Empty Properties. As a neighbour or complainant, the council offers the option to

report an empty home through the submission of an online form, which is then directed to the environmental

health department. This allows details of the property and the effect that it is having to be shared and reported,

although not anonymously should the complainant require. Information is also available for complainants as to

why empty homes become and remain empty, as well as why the council are interested in returning them to

use.

The information for owners however is little more sporadic, spread over a number of pages both under the title

of empty homes, but also within the pages for Business, and Investing in Staffordshire Moorlands. Although

outlining the benefits and options in returning properties to use, the website doesn’t have a first point of

call/contact for owners, whereby it would encourage them to get in touch to seek advice or support. Whilst

also having a page dedicated to the explanation of the enforcement powers available to the local authority, it

could possibly be better served to have these amalgamated into a single page/source, that enables a ‘carrot &

stick’ approach.

As a result of the matrix scoring and assessment, council officers then have a number of template letters from

which they will attempt to contact the owner and explain that the council have concerns about their property,

or that there are works required in order to satisfy the issue outlined in the complaint. Dependent on the

severity and urgency of the matter, a relevant contact letter will be chosen and adapted to suit the

circumstances. The council also respond in writing to complainants using a standard letter, to inform them of

the result of the scoring matrix, and to inform them as to whether any further action will be taken.

Accompanying the letters sent to empty home owners, the council have produced a useful flier outlining the

penalties that would apply to them through the empty homes premium, should their property remain empty for

over two years. An eye catching, simple and effective document, it outlines the financial implications of

maintaining an empty property in respect of the council tax charges very succinctly.

P
age 280



Staffordshire Moorlands employ an extremely measured approach when it comes to the pursuit of

enforcement against empty homes and their owners.

Outlined in the Empty Homes Strategy of 2017, in response to 33 complaints received about properties during

the year 2018/19, 9 enforcement notices were served relating to issues such as public health, safety and

nuisance including waste, rubbish and the securing of premises. Whilst this is an extremely positive response

as a ratio of notices served to complaints received, they should only be seen as successful interventions if

they ultimately result in the property becoming occupied once more. Whilst improvement notices are an

effective tool in the legislative options available for officers, in most cases they are prescriptive and definite in

terms of what is required and by when of an owner, when it comes to dealing with a particular issue or defect.

They don’t, however, prescribe or require the owner to occupy, rent, sell or deal with a property, to the extent

where the property would subsequently be removed from the database held of empty homes.

Whilst the local authority have been active in pursuing and serving improvement notices on empty properties,

the more intensive work of progressing with stricter enforcement tools has not been as prevalent. A draft

Enforced Sales Policy was produced in 2020, whereby if approved, the council would be better placed to

pursue the forced sales of properties where local land charges had been accrued. The council have also

previously progressed an Empty Dwelling Management Order application through to a successful conclusion,

only to find that the financial constraints and modelling required would lead to a negative bottom line as a

result. That said however, this proves further that there is evidential appetite to pursue, and enforce where

required, empty and derelict homes across the District that are proving problematic and troublesome to locals.

In recent years, Staffordshire Moorlands have employed several initiatives targeted at encouraging empty

homes owners to return their properties to use. These include EPIC, through a lease and repair scheme,

supporting owners through the council’s Home Repairs Assistance Grant Scheme, and through initiatives

intended for other primary users, such disabled facilities adaptations, and the Call B4 You Serve service,

targeted at those wishing to live independently, and private sector landlords respectively. The local authority

has also been proactive in encouraging the promotion of the VAT reduction on refurbishments, for property

empty for over two years. 15

P
age 281



Empty Homes Service Review 2022

Progressing Policy & Practice

P
age 282



17

Appetite, Enforcement & Publicity

Whilst the aim of this service review is to primarily provide practical guidance and recommendations to

ongoing operational activities associated with Staffordshire Moorland’s empty homes service, it is both

acknowledged and appreciated that several of the points raised will require both political and corporate support

to be approved and implemented. That considered however, it would be remiss of this review to omit or reject

feasible options for the consideration of the local authority that would ultimately develop and enhance the

service as is currently. Having displayed a recent appetite for the progression of empty homes work, it is

hoped that this review, and these recommendations, will be given thought and due consideration for the

progression of both the service, but also with the intention of its ultimate purpose of enabling the return to use

of further empty homes across Staffordshire Moorland’s District authority.

Underpinning the direction and purpose of empty homes work, is the Council’s Empty Homes Strategy. A

strong outline of the current and national context, the reasons behind why empty homes become and remain

vacant, as well as why the council get involved, can provide solid and strategic reasoning as to why

Staffordshire Moorlands are willing to take and pursue enforcement action. Having been originally written in

2017, consideration should be given to a refresh of the current strategy, in order to account for changes to

local and national context, as well as the updated view on enforcement, policy direction and initiatives. Bringing

the strategy in line with current corporate policy and direction, it would be recommended that the strategy

should be refreshed on a cyclical basis every three to five years, in line with similar procedures adopted by

other local authorities. In doing so this will provide an anchor to empty homes work carried out by existing and

future officers, and a reference point for staff, complainants and empty home owners alike.

In tandem with a refresh of the empty homes strategy, Staffordshire Moorlands should seek to adopt stand

alone enforcement documents, such as the Enforced Sale Policy drafted in 2020. Policies in line with the

overall strategy focusing on Enforced Sales, Empty Dwelling Management Orders and Compulsory Purchase

Orders, will not only strengthen the council’s position through negotiation with owners, but give officers the

backing and support required to significantly change the empty homes landscape for the better.

P
age 283



A recommendation requiring corporate and members support, would be the adoption of further changes to the

current Council Tax discounts and exemptions bringing Staffordshire Moorlands in line with other local

authorities. Further discouraging vacancy and working within council tax legislation limitations imposed, it would

be recommended that the council consider removing both the 3-month, 100% discount for unoccupied and

unfurnished properties, along with the 12 month, 50% discount applicable to uninhabitable properties.

Whilst the empty homes premium levels have been adopted to their fullest, the aforementioned discounts allow

the impression that the council are satisfied that properties are able to be left empty, or uninhabitable, for a

given period. Removing these discounts not only gives the message that any period of vacancy should not be

acceptable, but subconsciously focuses the mind of the owner. To go further, it was announced as part of the

Queen’s speech that the government intends to introduce the Levelling Up and Regeneration Bill, currently

progressing through the House of Commons. The Bill, if approved, described the following changes to be

introduced; A new discretionary 100% council tax premium on second homes held for over a year, and allowing

councils to apply a council tax premium of up to 100% on homes which have been empty 12 months. The bill

requires authorities to have a minimum period of 12 months between making its first determination and the

financial year in which it takes effect, meaning that billing authorities may be able to charge the premium on

second homes in 2024/25. However, approval should be granted by the authority by Spring 2023. It would also

be recommended, that this be put forward for Council approval at the earliest opportunity.

In order to improve lines of communication and exposure of the service, this review proposes minor changes to

the council’s website, in order to condense the information available. Relocating the pages to fit under the

’Housing” heading, the Empty Homes page should be a single source of information for both complainants and

owners. Within the page, the ‘reporting form’ can be held, ‘reasons for the council’s involvement,’ ‘options for

owners’ and ‘Our Enforcement Options’ listed, as well as other relevant documents, policies and strategies.

Further tools such as a ‘cost calculator’, showing owners the costs of retaining an empty home, could also be

developed. Coupled with this, discussions should begin with the internal and external communications teams in

order to publicise the service, and to formulate a strategy of communication through media outlets to encourage

the reporting of empty homes, and for owners to engage. If timed correctly, publicity surrounding Empty Homes

Week (usually held in February), could provide additional exposure in order to build support locally.
18

P
age 284

https://emptyhomespartnership.scot/calculator-cost-of-an-empty-home/


19

Empty Homes Database

Key to the development and progression of the empty homes service delivered by Staffordshire Moorlands,

would be the recommendation to implement a working empty homes database. Built, maintained and

amended through a simple MS Excel spreadsheet, a database can be used to monitor case progress, store

key information regarding the owner and involvement, as well as providing statistical analysis on current

empties, properties brought back into use, and monthly reports for senior officers and elected members.

Through building on the existing positive relationship with the council tax department, the supply of a monthly

report will enable officers to build an initial database of all empty properties in the local authority area, and

subsequently maintain this using the information supplied. It would be recommended that the database be

broken down into seven working categories (tabs), with two of these to record the information on properties

brought back into use (those that have been brought back into use with the local authority’s intervention, and

those without). The other five would hold information on properties that are Empty, but exempt from Council

Tax, and the remaining four categorized as, priority properties, probate cases, properties owned by housing

associations or companies, and those who are privately owned by individuals. This method of recording and

maintaining a database is crucial for a number of operational reasons, primarily to support the work of the

officer(s) involved. Not only working as a point of reference for any interaction with an owner or complainant, it

allows for quick and efficient compilation of an annual mailshot to all empty home owners at the point of a data

cleanse, prior to the Council Taxbase submission, and for colleagues to instantly be informed of any case

progress. The final category would be those each month, reported to be empty, and exempt from council tax.

In essence, the priority properties should be classed as those which are the longest empty, most complained

about and in the worst condition, and form the highest priority of the local authority to be dealt with. Those

within the probate category are those that have been through the process, and have now had probate granted.

The remaining two categories are based on the ownership of the property, be that of registered providers or

private individuals, but all properties categorised in such a way that allows for them to be treated and dealt

with in a planned and strategic way.

P
age 285



Reporting, Monitoring and Scoring

From the compilation and monthly update of an active database, the ability to monitor, review and progress

cases within current officer capacity should be increased. After an initial period of intensive work to establish

the database and its maintenance process, a monthly review and refresh using the most up to date council tax

data will be sufficient to ensure that both casework and wider statistics can be tracked and managed.

From a reporting and monitoring perspective, all properties that are referred as a complaint to the service

should be transferred or added to the ‘priority’ list whilst under investigation, and through to its conclusion. If

this means the transfer of a property from the ‘Probate’ or other categories, then this should be carried out to

avoid a duplicate database entries. Whilst work is ongoing to trace, inform and negotiate with the owner, the

case specific knowledge base is built to include a number of aspects, including but not limited to: Empty Date,

Empty Address, Priority Score, Liable Start Date, Empty Address 2,3,4, Empty Postcode, CTax Description,

Ctax Bill & Arrears, Parish, Ward, Letters Sent, Letter Sent Date, Last Contact Date, Next Steps, Possible

Enforcement Route, Owner Name, Owner Address, Owner Address 2,3,4, Owner Postcode, Rightmove Link,

Zoopla Link, Planning App. Link, Phone Number, Email Address, Complainant Name, Complainant Contact

Details, Financial Circumstance (mortgages, charges etc.), Other Officer involvement. This then allows an

accurate and updated picture of a property and owner’s circumstances to be available at a moment’s notice.

With the current team’s capacity limiting the ability to proactively progress empty homes work, this method of

holding information and categorising empty homes allows their time efforts and pursuit of owners to be as

efficient and measured as possible. Upon receipt of a complaint, the current process means that a scoring

matrix is carried out on visiting the property subject to the complaint, and it is recommended that this exercise

is amended to a more streamlined, desk-based survey. Currently seeking to score on a series of 15 questions,

a revised matrix will score seven criteria based on information that should be available to hand at the time of

receiving a complaint. These areas of focus are: Length of Time Empty, Location, Special Interest, General

Condition, Unwanted Attention, Debts Owed to the Local Authority, and owner interaction. Upon receiving a

score, the property is then given its rating and standing amongst the other properties held on the ‘priority list’.
20

P
age 286



Processes & Application
Once in place, a comprehensive and active database of all empty properties across the district will enable the

officers to progressively monitor, review and update information relating to empty homes, and create accurate

and definitive reporting methods for the purposes of senior management, elected members, and their relevant

constitutional documents. However, the theory and practice behind compiling a database in this way, gives the

officers a more effective and direct approach to engaging with and encouraging empty home owners.

By categorising owners and their properties, communication and support can be targeted and delivered in a

more effective way, by way of mailshots to all owners on the database, or simply a select few dependent on

their circumstances, situation, or criteria as laid out within the database format. In doing so, the data cleansing

process of all empty homes, recommended to be carried out annually throughout September and October, can

be completed with a view to achieving significant results both in terms of the reduction in empty homes, but

also through the rewards offered by the New Homes Bonus.

If and when capacity permits, it would also be recommended that the local authority carries out an initial 3-

stage letter process of contacting empty home owners. Irrespective of prior involvement or contact, every

empty home owner will be contacted through the process, with this also being used to ascertain their reasons

for allowing the property to remain empty, but also their plans and intentions going forward.

Compiled and sent in batches of 75, the first letter, outlines the council’s empty homes strategy, options and

benefits of bringing the property back into use, and encourages a response to the council to determine if any

help or assistance can be provided. Owners are then given 31 days to respond. Those who don’t engage are

then contacted a second time, as soon as possible after the initial deadline, through a second letter which

again offers support, but also outlines the council’s renewed enforcement options. Again given 31 days to

respond, after which a third letter is sent to which an increased level of pressure is applied, with the council

now concerned about the property in question. This would be expected to gain approximately an 87.5%

response rate over the course of the complete exercise (529 responses from 605 owners, on current statistics),

based on experience of conducting identical processes for other authorities. 21

P
age 287



Developing Options for Owners

Whilst Staffordshire Moorlands have been successful in their application of improvement notices in recent

years, the wider process of encouraging empty home owners to bring their property back into use must include

a suite of options that can enable the promotion of the service, and provide a suitable solution to the hurdles

being experienced by the owners. As mentioned previously, it could be suggested that if there are over 600

long-term empty homes across the district, then over 600 solutions would be required. Put simply, every

property, owner, circumstance and problem faced is different and individual, and the solutions required need to

be as individually tailored to meet the needs and requirements of the owners.

Firstly, it would be recommended that all existing and historical initiatives should be appraised and assessed

for their relevance in today’s property market and financial climate. Loans, grants, energy efficiency support

and national funding programmes should all be considered as to whether they would be suitable both for the

owners across Staffordshire Moorlands, but also on their deliverability and suitability when it comes to the

financial capability of the local authority. Should loan or grant funding be currently available, an exercise

should be carried out as to where this would most suitably be used, either in terms of the locality of properties

or the size and suitability for use within the social housing or temporary accommodation sector.

The local authority should also look to build on their free options to owners, whether this be by offering time,

knowledge, relevant contacts or links to external partners such as estate agents or building contractors.

Developing an investors list, offering a key-holding service, providing VAT reduction letters, offering links to

internal colleagues such as planning, as well as property appraisals for the sale or rental market, are all cost

neutral options for the local authority to offer, and these should be listed and developed in conjunction with the

empty homes working group.

Once a comprehensive suite of options is built and developed, the council should then look to develop an

information booklet or leaflet, outlining their support and tools to owners, in order for them to include this within

mailshots, the annual data cleanse programme, or within the annual council tax booklet sent to residents.
22

P
age 288



23

Additional Resource & Capacity

With the aim of this review seeking to improve operational procedures and processes, it would be expected

that even with many of the recommendations thus far being implemented, that the council would continue to

maintain its reactive approach to empty homes work. With this in mind, the review also recommends that the

authority strongly consider increasing their operational resource to provide a dedicated empty homes officer in

order to give the service the attention and focus required in order to take significantly positive steps into

reducing the number of empty homes, and dealing with the most problematic of properties.

By employing a part-time resource of as little as one day per week, the benefits to the authority and the

programme of empty homes work would be significant in a number of ways. This would allow Staffordshire

Moorlands to drastically increase the statistical monitoring of empty homes, and provide a proactive and

investigative respose into complaints of empty homes. This resource would also be able to progressively focus

on casework and the persistent encouragement targeting empty home owners, which where lacking, allows

owners the opportunity to leave their property empty without recourse. This casework will inevitably build

towards more stricter enforcement action, which at the time of application, is often not required due to the

intensive nature of the pressure applied beforehand.

In building the resource to support the service, the work carried out through attempts to return empty homes to

use will not only result positively within the communities, encourage betterment and investment, but also lead

to a positive reputational impact that the council are willing, and acting, on taking the issue of empty homes

seriously.

Furthermore, Staffordshire Moorlands could look to increase its wider support for the empty homes service and

Revenue and Benefits teams, by reintroducing the role of the visiting officer within the Council Tax team.

Focusing on income maximisation and compliance, this role could support the empty homes officer throughout

the data cleanse process, by conducting visits to ensure occupancy or vacancy, but also to conduct cyclical

reviews of the empty homes premium, single person discount application, and second home criteria.

P
age 289



24

Whilst it is understandable that the implementation of such roles, or the authorisation to recruit will of course

have a financial implication, especially at a time where local authority budgets are stretched to capacity.

Throughout the process of this review however, two potential funding streams have been identified that would

enable Staffordshire Moorlands to consider the increase in resource capacity. These would come in the form

of a revised approach to the employment of the annual Capacity Grid empty homes review, and through

revised Council Tax discounts and premiums.

Should the recommendation be followed through that would see the removal of the current 3-month and 12-

month council tax discounts for empty and uninhabitable homes, the revenue this would generate would be

more than sufficient to cover any additional resource, as well as generating further income for the local

authority. The ringfencing of this income, potentially in conjunction with that generated by the empty homes

premium, would not only be an innovative approach not taken by many local authorities, but also ensure that

significant steps can be made to bring large numbers of empty homes back into use. With current figures

showing that around 200 properties are being charged the empty homes premium, the income generated from

this when used to underpin empty homes work, would be a benchmark for other local authorities to follow in

terms of their funding mechanism for empty homes work.

Alternatively, the local authority could consider using the equivalent spend used to employ Capacity Grid to

conduct their annual empty homes review, in order to fund the additional resource for both the dedicated

empty homes officer, as well as a Council Tax visiting officer. Whilst it is appreciated that the revenue

generated through the New Homes Bonus is significant, through following the recommendations within this

review, the local authority will be able not only replicate their process and rewards, but also work towards

encouraging the empty home owners who have been reluctant to engage.

Through thorough data cleansing, consistent and regular monitoring of the statistics, a collaborative approach

by two additional resources, potentially both part-time, will not only enable Staffordshire Moorlands to continue

to receive the benefits of the New Homes Bonus allocations, but also to increase their data accuracy and

casework progression, to see the numbers reduced further, and council tax compliance and revenue

increased.

P
age 290



Empty Homes Service Review 2022

Summary of Recommendations

P
age 291



Recommendations Overview

• A renewed Empty Homes Strategy to follow on from that published in 2017, will allow the council to

update members and senior management on the local and national context, and give foundation and

support to the pursuit of empty homes work (Priority: High, Cost: Low, Benefit: High)

• The creation and adoption of an Enforced Sales, Compulsory Purchase Order and Empty

Dwelling Management Order policies will enable the council to outline their stricter enforcement

plans, to see the numbers of empty homes returned to use increase (Priority: Low, Cost: Low, Benefit: Med)

• Adopt changes to council tax discounts and exemptions, enabling the removal of the 3-month

100% discount for unoccupied and unfurnished properties, and the 12-month 50% reduction for

uninhabitable properties, and to begin the process of adopting further changes to take effect from April

2023, and April 2024. (Priority: High, Cost: Low, Benefit: High)

• Minor changes to the website, in order to bring all empty homes information for owners and

complainants onto a single page. (Priority: Med, Cost: Low, Benefit: High)

• Through a stronger working relationship with Revenues & Benefits, develop a working comprehensive

empty homes database for the storage of information concerning empty homes, and to enable the

reporting of accurate and informative statistics on a monthly basis (Priority: High, Cost: Low, Benefit: High)

• To categorise and prioritise the empty homes database, and upload all priority cases as open

and ongoing files on the Flare CMS system (Priority: High, Cost: Low, Benefit: High)

• To implement a revised scoring matrix for properties only categorised as a priority, and to result in a

prioritised list for the local authority to focus and target their efforts (Priority: High, Cost: Low, Benefit: High)

• To conduct an initial three stage letter process whereby all empty home owners are contacted, in

order to build property and owner profiles, and gauge level of engagement with majority of the database
(Priority: High, Cost: Low, Benefit: High) 26

P
age 292



• To increase officer capacity to conduct an annual data cleanse, through mailshots, visits and owner

engagement, therefore replacing the need to employ a third-party review (Priority: Med, Cost: Med, Benefit: High)

• To revisit all current and active initiative programmes such as loans and grant schemes, and

determine their relevance in today’s climate in terms of the feasibility, but to ascertain whether they can be

amended or adapted to suit the needs of the empty home owner (Priority: Low, Cost: Low, Benefit: High)

• Collate, develop and build a suite of cost-effective initiatives for the local authority to offer

owners of empty property, and promote these through the appropriate channels (Priority: Low, Cost: Med,
Benefit: Med)

• To develop an options booklet/leaflet that can be included within mailshots and correspondence

with empty home owners, promoted through media and communications streams and promoted as a

stand-alone document on the council’s empty homes webpage (Priority: High, Cost: Low, Benefit: High)

• To consider the ringfencing of income generated through the Empty Homes Premium to employ

dedicated officer on a limited part-time, and or, begin offering tailored loan/grant assistance to empty home

owners (Priority: Med, Cost: Med, Benefit: Med)

• To consider adopting a comprehensive proactive approach to empty homes, and using the equivalent

funding spent on the empty homes review carried out by Capacity Grid to employ a dedicated

resource on an initial part-time basis, with a view to expanding the role to a permanent position based on

success and results (Priority: High, Cost: Low, Benefit: High)

• To consider adopting an additional comprehensive approach to council tax income generation and

compliance, by using the equivalent funding spent on the empty homes review carried out by Capacity Grid

on employing a dedicated resource to act as a council tax visiting officer, specifically tasked

with income maximisation and compliance in reviewing empty homes, the empty homes premium, single

person discount and second homes. (Priority: High, Cost: Low, Benefit: High)
27

P
age 293



Recommendation Implications
The recommendations proposed by the review are given with the intention of developing the empty homes

service as a whole, and therefore includes aspect which may not prove to be immediate priorities of the

council. For this reason, each of the recommendations has been given a Low, Medium or High rating in terms

of its priority, for the council to consider in the immediate future, of its costs associated with the

recommendation, and for the resulting benefit of the service as a whole if implemented.

Whilst it may be ideal to implement all of the recommendations at the earliest opportunity, consideration has of

course got to be given to the costs of doing so, as well as the political will and appetite to direct resources to an

area that is not currently a statutory function. Many of the recommendations can be implemented by existing

staff members and officers, without the need for additional resource being employed. However, this is likely to

come at a detriment to other services provided by the team, with their current role meaning their time is spent

in other areas of work.

With the financial benefits of removing council tax discounts and increasing the ability to employ the empty

homes premium being evident, a case has to be made for the social and economic benefits of bringing empty

homes back into use. Whilst it is the role and purpose of an empty homes officer to reduce the number of

empty dwellings, in doing so the likelihood and ability to charge a premium for the council tax of those

properties will of course reduce if the officer is successful. However, the rate and frequency of vacancy, as well

as the turnover of property to becoming liable for the premium is such, that there will always be a need to offer

a proactive and developing service.

Increasing the capacity of an officer, through to employing additional resource can significantly enhance the

ability of the council to offer, develop and maintain a sustainable empty homes service, whilst not being an

expensive option. A comparative council, with relatively similar statistics of empty homes, employ a part-time

officer at 22.5 hours per week, on a salary of circa £16,000. This investment, has led to over 50 long-term

problematic empty homes brought back into use with council intervention, with minimal enforcement action and

without the need for additional resources such as loans, grants and financial assistance. 28

P
age 294



Route to Implementation (limited potential to increase resource)
The recommendations proposed by this review have highlighted ways in which Staffordshire Moorlands District
Council are able to build on their current operational capacity to deliver a positive and successful empty homes
service. However, it is appreciated that the ability to implement many of these successfully may depend on officer
capacity, and the ability to increase resources should the council deem it appropriate to do so. The
recommendations are therefore listed below, should the authority not be in a position currently to increase

resources. The initial recommendations are considered as strategic, and would likely require the involvement of

housing strategy and officer level staff, as well as corporate consideration through to cabinet and council

approval.
• A renewed Empty Homes Strategy (Priority: High, Cost: Low, Benefit: High)

• Adopt changes to council tax discounts and exemptions (Priority: High, Cost: Low, Benefit: High)

• To revisit all current and active initiative programmes (Priority: Low, Cost: Low, Benefit: High)
• Develop and build a suite of cost-effective initiatives (Priority: Low, Cost: Med, Benefit: Med)

• To develop an options booklet/leaflet (Priority: High, Cost: Low, Benefit: High)

The following recommendations would be implemented by the current operational staff and teams, and would

not likely need the approval of cabinet or council members. Consideration should be given however, for the

initial time taken for some of the recommendations, as this would likely mean capacity to fulfill other duties

would be reduced.
• develop a working comprehensive empty homes database (Priority: High, Cost: Low, Benefit: High)

• To implement a revised scoring matrix (Priority: High, Cost: Low, Benefit: High)

• categorise and prioritise the empty homes database (Priority: High, Cost: Low, Benefit: High
• To conduct three stage letter process (Priority: High, Cost: Low, Benefit: High)

• Minor changes to the website (Priority: Med, Cost: Low, Benefit: High)

• To increase officer capacity to conduct an annual data cleanse (Priority: Med, Cost: Med, Benefit: High)

The remaining recommendations would be held for consideration at a later date:
• ringfencing of income through Empty Homes Premium Priority: Med, Cost: Med, Benefit: Med)
• employ a dedicated resource on an initial part-time basis (Priority: High, Cost: Low, Benefit: High)

• employ dedicated resource as a council tax visiting officer (Priority: High, Cost: Low, Benefit: High)
• The creation of Enforcement Policies (Priority: Low, Cost: Low, Benefit: Med) 29

P
age 295



30

Route to Implementation (potential to increase resource)
Should Staffordshire Moorlands be in a position to consider the increase in resources to focus on Empty

Homes work across the District, the recommendations put forward by this review would be laid out slightly

differently, with a view to focusing efforts on increasing the resource as a priority. This would allow the new

staff member(s) to develop their knowledge, understanding and backgournd of the area of empty homes, but

predominantly for them to be involved in the development of the tools and incentives for which they will use to

encourage owners of empty homes. The initial recommendations are considered as strategic, and would likely

require the involvement of housing strategy and officer level staff, as well as corporate consideration through to

cabinet and council approval.

• A renewed Empty Homes Strategy (Priority: High, Cost: Low, Benefit: High)
• Adopt changes to council tax discounts and exemptions (Priority: High, Cost: Low, Benefit: High)

• employ a dedicated resource on an initial part-time basis (Priority: High, Cost: Low, Benefit: High)
• employ dedicated resource as a council tax visiting officer (Priority: High, Cost: Low, Benefit: High)
• To revisit all current and active initiative programmes (Priority: Low, Cost: Low, Benefit: High)

The following recommendations would be implemented by the current operational staff and teams, and would not likely

need the approval of cabinet or council members. Consideration should be given however, for the initial time taken for

some of the recommendations, as this would likely mean capacity to fulfill other duties would be reduced.
• Develop and build a suite of cost-effective initiatives (Priority: Low, Cost: Med, Benefit: Med)
• To develop an options booklet/leaflet (Priority: High, Cost: Low, Benefit: High)
• Minor changes to the website (Priority: Med, Cost: Low, Benefit: High)

• To implement a revised scoring matrix (Priority: High, Cost: Low, Benefit: High)
• develop a working comprehensive empty homes database (Priority: High, Cost: Low, Benefit: High)

• categorise and prioritise the empty homes database (Priority: High, Cost: Low, Benefit: High
• To conduct three stage letter process (Priority: High, Cost: Low, Benefit: High)

The remaining recommendations would be held for consideration at a later date, but can be developed

alongside the new staff in the earlier stages of their role developing:
• The creation of Enforced Sales, Compulsory Purchase Order and Empty Dwelling Management Order

policies (Priority: Low, Cost: Low, Benefit: Med)
• Ringfencing of income generated through the Empty Homes Premium Priority: Med, Cost: Med, Benefit: Med)

P
age 296



Summary

This empty homes service review has sought to gain an understanding and appreciation of the current

landscape of the empty homes service provided by Staffordshire Moorlands District Council, and to provide

operational recommendations from which the local authority are able to consider, develop and enhance their

current service for the betterment of their customers, officers and empty home owners.

Whilst the number of long-term empty homes has seen a steady decline in the past four years to just over 600,

200 of those, a third, still represents a large portion of properties that have been empty for a significant period

of time, of over two years. Although generating additional revenue for the authority through the empty homes

premium, it would be much preferred to see these operating as habitable dwellings, in into ongoing use.

Current capacity and procedural limitations mean it has been difficult for officers to made significant strides in

both reducing the number of long-term empty homes, but also in tackling the longest empty and most

problematic properties through intensive and targeted casework, which is often needed over a sustained length

of time. This is not a criticism of them however, as council priorities and focus has often meant that efforts have

been focused on more statutory functions, of which empty homes work is not.

By implementing a number of key procedural recommendations, and by considering further a number of

proposals that would enable the council to switch from a reactive to proactive approach, Staffordshire

Moorlands would be well placed to further their empty homes work, operational capacity, and progress a

number of difficult and problematic empty homes cases through to enforcement, and a satisfactory conclusion.

Through the recommendations contained in this review, it is hoped that Staffordshire Moorlands District

Council will be able to take measured, progressive steps towards a more proactive approach to empty homes

work, and the benefits of doing so will not only be felt through the statistics and the return of empty homes to

use, but also within the communities that those properties currently sit.

31

P
age 297



32

Appendices
(A1) Free options for owners of empty homes

- Sale appraisal through local estate agents

- Rental appraisal through local estate agents

- Refurbishment work/cost appraisal through local tradesmen and contractors

- Consultation with the Council for full inspection/house survey

- Financial incentives / Loans / Grants through energy companies or central government

- Reduction in VAT on refurbishments of property empty for over 2 years

- Time, knowledge and experience of local authority staff

(A2) Free tools for local authorities to employ
- Matchmaking with local investors / purchasers

- Consultation with the owner at the property

- Consultation with the owner at Council offices to understand personal circumstances

- Arrange meetings with planning / enforcement colleagues

- Key holding service, for owners who live away from the area

- Meeting contractors / agents on site on behalf of the owner

- Financial appraisal of personal circumstances, if potential solutions identified

- VAT reduction letter/certificate

- Partnerships with local estate, letting and auction agents for a reduction in sale/rental fees if

referred through the authority

- Links to trusted tradesmen used by the authority

- Owner ‘Leg Work’, in contacting relevant parties to obtain a valuation, quote, or sale / rental

appraisal

- Offer to conduct meter readings/collect mail, if the owner is unable to attend, and it would help

progress a case through to resolution

- Sale brokering to a private investor/buyer, and then handed over to their legal representatives

P
age 298



33

(B1) Financial options for owners of empty homes
- Loans, grants and assistance schemes offered by the local authority

- Remortgage of the property to cover any remedial works

- Remortgage of their main residence /other property to cover remedial works

- Central government assistance schemes (e.g Green Deal, LAD / HUG Funding)

- Funding schemes offered by energy / home improvement companies (EON)

- Use of savings to carry out remedial works

- Private loans offered by banks

- Rent to rent deals with investors / landlords

- Bridging loans

- Delayed completion private sale with an investor / builder locally

- National loan funds where applicable and available (None currently known)

- Legal assistance where title or land registration is disputed

- Financial advice from a professional, should financing options not be available

- Equity release schemes

(B2) Financial options for local authorities
- Empty Homes specific loans

- Lease and repair schemes

- Long lease options with guaranteed rent set at LHA rates

- Low interest loans

- Recyclable funding schemes

- Funding schemes for case specific examples (Better Care Fund eg)

- Financing for specialist projects (eg Syrian Refugee Scheme, Homes for Ukraine etc)

- Voluntary EDMOs

- Works in default through enforcement measures

P
age 299



34

(C) Revised Scoring Matrix

 

OFFICIAL 

Empty Homes Assessment Scoring Sheet 

 
 

 
 
 
 

Criteria 

Classification 

Score 

 

Time Empty 

 

 
< 1 year 

1-2 years 

2-5 years 

5-10 years 

> 10 years 

 

0 
5 
10 
15 
20 

 
Location 

 

 
Extremely isolated with no access 

Isolated property with access 

Rural residential area 

Urban residential neighbourhood 

Prominent position 

 

0 
5 
10 
15 
20 

 

Special Interest 

 

 
Listed Building 

Located in a Conservation Area 

 

 
10 

5 
 

 

General Condition 

 

 
Well maintained 

Acceptable for surrounding area 

Noticeably empty/unattractive 

Extremely unsightly/detrimental to the area 

 

0 
5 
10 
20 

 

Unwanted attention 

 

Attracting criminal activity such as graffiti, fl
y tipping, 

vandalism, anti-social behaviour 

20 

 

Debts Owed to 

Rushcliffe Borough 

Council 
 

 
No outstanding monies owed 

< £500 

£500 - £2000 

£2000 - £5000 

>£5000 

 

0 
5 
10 
15 
20 

 

Owner Interaction 

 

 
High level of cooperation 

Average level of contact & efforts made 

Minimal contact & little efforts made 

No contact/untraceable/no efforts made 

 

0 
5 
10 
20 

 

Total Score 

 

Red / Amber / Green 

 

 OFFICIAL 

Empty Homes Scoring and Rating System 
 
Each empty home identified will be assessed using a scoring sheet which considers various criteria. The 

result of this assessment is that the property will be placed in a category which determines the priority level 

it is given and the subsequent course of action taken.  
 
Properties will be reassessed when necessary / new information is obtained to ensure they remain situated 

in the correct categories and the correct level of priority is given. 
  
The categories will be classified as follows:   
 
RED – (scores 50 or over)  
Cases which fall into this category will be prioritised. All avenues will be explored with the owner to return 

their property to use in a way that suits their own needs, the needs of the community and the Council. Where 

assistance is refused and the owner is unwilling to cooperate, all enforcement options will be considered to 

establish the most appropriate course of action.  
AMBER - (scores 25 - 49)  
Cases which fall into this category will be considered a lower priority than those in the Red category. 

Resources will still be invested in these cases and officers will work with owners in an attempt to prevent 

empty homes from deteriorating and being reassessed to a higher category. Where necessary, enforcement 

options will be employed if considered the most appropriate course of action. Cases in this category will be 

monitored on a more frequent basis than those properties which fall within the Green category and will be 

reassessed where necessary.   
GREEN - (scores less than 25)  
Cases which fall into this category will be given a lower priority for action, but owners will be contacted and 

offered any assistance they may need to return their property back into use. These properties will be 

monitored for any change and reassessed where necessary. 
 

 

P
age 300



35

(D) Three stages letter templates

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

Dear <XXXX>, 
 

Re: Property at <XXXX>, <XXXX>, <XXXX>, <XXXX>. 

 
We wrote to you on <XX/XX/XXXX> and <XX/XX/XXXX>, but we still have not received a reply.  

 
This property is now causing the council concern as it has been registered on our Empty Property Database for a 

considerable period of time and is one that our Council Tax Department has confirmed has been registered as 

unoccupied since <XX/XX/XXXX>. (Please note: A property will remain registered as empty, unless the owner has 

advised the Council Tax Department otherwise.) 

 
We are continuing to contact you in line with Government guidance which requires local authorities to develop and 

implement strategies to work with owners of empty property to help them bring them back into use as homes.  

 

Please let us know how you intend to bring this property back into use. 

 

IMPORTANT – PLEASE DO NOT IGNORE THIS LETTER 

 
We make it our priority to work with owners of empty properties providing advice, help and funding where appropriate 

(see enclosed fact sheet).  However, if the council is unable to engage with owners, despite repeated attempts to do 

so, we will consider further action to ensure the re-use and reoccupation of the property. This may include making 

recommendations for a range of enforcement action under current legislation, including an Empty Dwelling 

Management Order (EDMO), whereby control of the property is given to the local authority, an enforced sale, 

or the serving of a compulsory purchase order (CPO). 

 
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council is committed to bringing empty properties back into use so, if we haven’t 

heard from you by <XX/XX/XXXX>, this property will automatically be assessed for priority and any further action will 

be decided based on that assessment. 

 
Yours sincerely, 

 
 

 
 

 
Empty Homes Officer 

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 

When telephoning, please ask for: 

 

Telephone No: 

 

Email: 

 

 
Our Reference: XXXX  

 

Date: XXXX 

 

 

 

 

 
<XXXX> <XXXX> <XXXX> <XXXX> 

 

 
 
  

 

Dear XXXX, 
 
 
Re: Property at XXXX. 
 
We wrote to you on XX/XX/XXXX but we do not appear to have received a reply.   
 
This property has now been registered on the council’s Empty Property Database for some time and is one of several that our Council Tax Department has told us are currently registered as having been unoccupied since XX/XX/XXXX. It is therefore important that you let us know as soon as possible how you intend to bring this property back into use. 
 
If you are not sure how to do this, we would welcome the chance to help.  A copy of the fact sheet sent previously is enclosed and we can provide further information as required.   
 
We would remind you that there are many reasons why bringing an empty property back into use is extremely beneficial:  
• To reduce your costs (council tax, insurance and maintenance bills) 
• To generate a regular rental income or a capital sum if you want to sell.   
• To provide a valuable resource helping the current housing shortage in the Borough.   
• To provide a home for somebody.  
• To reduce deterioration of the property and avoid problems for the community 

 
PLEASE CONTACT US   
 
If your property is no longer empty or you already have plans in place to return your property to use, please let us know and we will update our records. Under current legislation there are no Council Tax discounts for unoccupied properties so Council Tax systems will not automatically update when a property becomes reoccupied. A property will remain registered as empty, unless the owner has advised the Council Tax Department otherwise.  Please note: It is a requirement under Council Tax regulations that owners provide information on who occupies a property.  
 
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council is committed to bringing empty properties back into use, so if we haven’t heard from you by XX/XX/XXXX we will contact you a final time before considering any further options or action.  
Yours sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
Empty Homes Officer 
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 

When telephoning, please ask for:  
Telephone No:  
Email:  
 
Our Reference: XXXX 

 
 

Date: XXXX  
  

<XXXX> 
<XXXX> 
<XXXX> 
<XXXX> 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
Dear <XXXX>, 

 
Re: Property at <XXXX>, <XXXX>, <XXXX>, <XXXX>. 

 
Our records show that the property at the above address has been unoccupied since <XX/XX/XXXX> and that 

you are the owner, or that you act on behalf of the owner.   

 
In line with Government guidance, Staffordshire Moorlands District Council has developed an Empty Homes 

Strategy working to bring privately owned empty property back into use as homes in the District. We maintain 

a record of identified empty properties, and your property is currently on this database. Our aim is to work with 

owners of empty properties to help bring them back into use, and we offer a range of advice and assistance 

to achieve this.   

 
There are many reasons why it is in the owner’s interest to bring an empty property back into use: 

• 
To reduce your costs (council tax, insurance and maintenance bills) 

• 
To generate a regular rental income or a capital sum if you want to sell  

• 
To provide a valuable resource helping the current housing shortage in the Borough  

• 
To provide a home for somebody and their family 

• 
To reduce deterioration of the property and avoid problems for the community 

 
CAN WE HELP? 

Whatever the reason your property has become empty, get in touch with us as there may be ways we can 

work together. You can telephone or e-mail us. Enclosed is an information fact sheet which outlines the 

council’s empty homes strategy, and some of the options available in dealing with empty homes. 

 
If your property is no longer empty or you already have plans for bringing your property back into use, please 

let us know so we can update our records, and see if we can still help in any way. 

 
Whatever the reason your property has become empty, we are writing to let you know that we want to 

help and look forward to hearing from you so that we can work together. 

 
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council is committed to bringing empty properties back into use, so if we 

haven’t heard from you by <XX/XX/XXXX> we will contact you again.  

 
Yours sincerely, 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Empty Homes Officer 

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 

When telephoning, please ask for: 
 

Telephone No: 

 

Email: 

 

 
Our Reference: <XXXX> 

 
 

Date: <XX/XX/XXXX> 
 

 
 
 

 

<XXXX> 

<XXXX> 

<XXXX> 

<XXXX> 

<XXXX> 

P
age 301



36

(E) Example fliers and mail accompaniments

Contact our Advice Service today 

for help turning your empty house 

into a home againCall: 0344 515 1941
Email: emptyhomes@shelter.org.uk

Here's how our Scottish Empty Homes

Advice Service can help -

VAT
We can advise if you 

qualify for reduced rate 

VAT on renovation works

FundingWe can check if your 
council offers specific 

empty homes funding

Merchant discounts
We can help you 

access discounts with 

certain merchants

Council Tax
We can advise on 

exemptions, discounts 
and the unoccupied premium

Benefits of
Carlisle City Council
Empty Property Grant Scheme

£

£
£

£255,000
Grants Issued in Carlisle 
2013-14 valued at £255,000

Properties back into use 54 
of which 9 are new homes

54 £ Generating £1.4m of business into the 
local economy

£1.4 million

Creating 19 full 
time equivalent local jobs

19

Creating the potential to house 
168 people168

Maintaining the value of surrounding properties
Reducing crime and anti-social behaviour

Private landlords receiving a 
rental income of £5,000/year

£5,000
£

The 
picture 
can't be 
displaye
d.

The 
picture 
can't be 
displaye
d.

 

 

OFFICIAL 

 

Rushcliffe
 Borough Council is committe

d to bringing empty propertie
s back into use, and does this through 

encouraging and supportin
g empty home owners, through its Empty Homes Strategy. The Empty Homes Officer 

is here to work with owners, providing them with advice, support a
nd assistance in returning their p

roperty to 

use. Enforcement action can also be considered where there seems to be no reasonable prospect of th
e property 

returning to occupation. This information sheet gives an outline of the Council’s strategy, and provides some 

options and useful information for dealing with empty homes. 

An empty property can have a detrim
ental effect on the surrounding area and community, as it is

 more likely to 

attra
ct anti-social behaviour, p

ests and crim
e to a neighbourhood. They can also have a damaging effect on 

property values in the street or local area. The owners of empty propertie
s often live elsewhere, and are unaware 

of th
e issues effecting the property and neighbours. In addition to this, there is acute housing shortage across the 

country, leading to an increased need to build on Greenfield sites. The Council believes that if y
ou own a property, 

you also have responsibility
 for it.

 

Owning an empty property costs you money, whether th
is be through a mortgage, council ta

x or utility
 bills, house 

insurance or general maintenance and repair bills. If o
ccupied, the property could provide a regular re

ntal income 

which would cover such bills, or a capital sum if y
ou wanted to sell it.

 Your property could also provide a valuable 

housing resource for someone in need in the Borough. Every property in the Borough brought back into use 

provides a home for somebody, and if le
ft empty for significant periods of tim

e, are more likely to attra
ct squatters 

and anti-social behaviour, th
erefore costing you more money. There are a number of options available to owners 

of empty homes that would see their propertie
s re-occupied. 

Whether to
 be occupied by you as the owner, p

ut on the open market fo
r sale or subsequently let on the rental 

market, b
ringing the property up to the Decent and Safe Homes Standard is one option available. In order to

 

achieve this, there is help and assistance available with the following: 

- Reduced VAT on the refurbishment of Empty Homes 

There are a number of tax breaks available for people refurbishing empty homes, convertin
g property fro

m office 

space to residential accommodation and for fla
ts above shops. For more information, call HM Revenue & Customs 

national advice service on 0845 010 900, or 0845 9000 444. Our Empty Homes Officer can also offer help and 

guidance on these. 

- Planning Advice 

If you decide to undertake a refurbishment or major works to the property, you may need to get building control 

approval or planning permission. It c
an be worthwhile getting advice from the Council’s planning team prior to 

work commencing, or prior to
 submittin

g a planning application. Information on planning guidelines, pre-planning 

advice and the application process can be found on the Council’s website, or by contacting the Planning 

Departm
ent directly on 0115 981 9911. 

Information for owners of Empty Properties 

Why do the Council get Involved? 

Refurbishing the property 

The benefits of bringing a property back into use 

P
age 302



The Empty Homes Network
PO Box 1431
Peterborough

United Kingdom
PE2 2US

www.ehnetwork.org.uk

P
age 303



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Empty Homes Action Plan

Number EHN Recommendation Priority Cost Benefit Officer Response
Responsible 
Officer Dec‐22 Jan‐23 Feb‐23 Mar‐23 Apr‐23 May‐23 Jun‐23 Jul‐23 Aug‐23 Sep‐23 Oct‐23 Nov‐23 Dec‐23 Apr‐24

1

A renewed Empty Homes Strategy to follow on from that published in 2017, 
will allow the council to update members and senior management on the local 
and national context, and give foundation and support to the pursuit of empty 
homes work

High Low High

A renewed Strategy will be developed following 
the consideration of other recommendations 
and initiatives, in order to comprehensively 
outline approach and available assistance. 

Housing Strategy 
Officer / EPO

x

2

The creation and adoption of an Enforced Sales, Compulsory Purchase Order 
and Empty Dwelling Management Order policies will enable the council to 
outline their stricter enforcement plans, to see the numbers of empty homes 
returned to use increase

Low Low Med

Existing draft Enforced Sales Policy to be 
included in Resources Panel report 8.2.23 for 
approval

Senior Officer EH x

3

Adopt changes to council tax discounts and exemptions, enabling the removal 
of the 3‐month100% discount for unoccupied and unfurnished properties, and 
the 12‐month 50% reduction for uninhabitable properties, and to begin the 
process of adopting further changes to take effect from April 2023, and April 
2024

High Low High

Figures modelling the impact of proposed 
changes to be included in Resources Panel 
report 8.2.23. With outline of any notice or 
consultation requirements and implementation 
April 2024.

Head of Revenues 
& Benefits x x

4
Minor changes to the website, in order to bring all empty homes information 
for owners and complainants onto a single page Med Low High

Recommended changes to be made, with 
options booklet/leaflet (recommendation 12)

Housing Strategy 
Officer / Senior 
Officer EH/ EPO

x

5

Through a stronger working relationship with Revenues & Benefits, develop a 
working comprehensive empty homes database for the storage of information 
concerning empty homes, and to enable the reporting of accurate and 
informative statistics on a monthly basis

High Low High

An area of work requiring additional officer 
capacity, to be developed following EPO 
appointment.

 EPO x

6
To categorise and prioritise the empty homes database, and upload all priority 
cases as open and ongoing files on the Flare CMS system High Low High

An area of work requiring additional officer 
capacity, to be developed following EPO 
appointment.

EPO x

7
To implement a revised scoring matrix for properties only categorised as a 
priority, and to result in a prioritised list for the local authority to focus and 
target their efforts

High Low High
Scoring matrix content has been reviewed. 
Weighting/ scoring to be reviewed following 
appointment of  additional officer EPO capacity

Senior Officer EH/ 
EPO x

8
To conduct an initial three stage letter process whereby all empty home 
owners are contacted, in order to build property and owner profiles, and 
gauge level of engagement with majority of the database

High Low High
Initial letters have been reviewed and updated.  
Empty home owners to be contacted subject to 
additional officer EPO capacity. 

Senior Officer EH / 
EPO x x

9
To increase officer capacity to conduct an annual data cleanse, through 
mailshots, visits and owner engagement, therefore replacing the need to 
employ a third‐party review

Med Med High
Proposal for council tax visiting officer to be 
included in council tax service review

Head of Revenues 
& Benefits  x

10

To revisit all current and active initiative programmes such as loans and grant 
schemes, and determine their relevance in today’s climate in terms of the 
feasibility, but to ascertain whether they can be amended or adapted to suit 
the needs of the empty home owner  Low Low High

Internal existing initiative, the Home Repairs 
Assistance grant, to be reviewed following EPO 
appointment for them to be involved in the 
development of the tools and incentives for 
which they will use with empty home owners.

Senior Officer EH/ 
Housing Strategy 
Officer/ EPO

x

11

Collate, develop and build a suite of cost effective initiatives for the local 
authority to offer owners of empty property, and promote these through 
appropriate channels. 

Low Med Med

Internal initiatives and external opportunities 
(i.e. energy efficiency grants) to be reviewed and 
collated to form a comprehensive guide 
following EPO appointment for them to be 
involved in development of tools and incentives 
they will use with empty property owners. 
Adoption of new initiatives, for instance loan 
scheme, would require member approval and  
implementation.

Senior Officer EH/ 
Climate Change 
Officer/ Housing 
Strategy Officer / 

EPO

x

12

To develop an options booklet/leaflet that can be included within mailshots 
and correspondence with empty home owners, promoted through media and 
communications streams and promoted as a stand‐alone document on the 
council’s empty homes webpage 

High Low High

Booklet/ leaflet to be developed for addition to 
website, updated as required for instance to 
reflect recommendation 11. Additionally 
information to be included within March 2023 
annual Council Tax billing.

Housing Strategy 
Officer / Senior 
Officer EH/ EPO

x x

13

To consider the ringfencing of income generated through the Empty Homes 
Premium to employ dedicated officer on a limited part‐time, and or, begin 
offering tailored loan/grant assistance to empty homeowners Med Med Med

Proposal for additional officer resource EPO, to 
be included in Resources Panel report 8.2.23.         
Separate proposals to be made regarding 
tailored loan/ grant initiatives (following 
recommendation 11)

Head of Revenues 
& Benefits/ Senior 
Officer EH/ EPO/ 
Housing Strategy 

Officer 

x x

14

To consider adopting a comprehensive proactive approach to empty homes, 
and using the equivalent funding spent on the empty homes review carried out 
by Capacity Grid to employ a dedicated resource on an initial part‐time basis, 
with a view to expanding the role to a permanent position based on success 
and results

High Low High

Proposal for additional officer capacity, EPO, to 
be included in Resources Panel report 8.2.23. 
Proposal for council tax visiting officer to be 
included in council tax service review

Senior Officer EH/ 
Head of Revenues 

& Benefits 
x

15

To consider adopting an additional comprehensive approach to council tax 
income generation and compliance, by using the equivalent funding spent on 
the empty homes review carried out by Capacity Grid on employing a 
dedicated resource to act as a council tax visiting officer, specifically tasked 
with income maximisation and compliance in reviewing empty homes, the 
empty homes premium, single person discount and second homes

High Low High

Proposal for council tax visiting officer to be 
included in council tax service review

Head of Revenues 
& Benefits

x

P
age 305



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 1 

 

 

 

 

STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT 

COUNCIL 

 

 

ENFORCED SALES POLICY 
 

 

 

 

January 2023 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 307



 

 2 

 

 

1.0 Introduction 

The aim of the Enforced Sales Policy (ESP) is to provide a service that is consistent, 

transparent and proportionally targeted at long term empty properties in order to: 

 bring empty homes back into the useful housing stock 

 reduce the impact on the environment and neighbouring occupants  

 reduce debt owed to the authority 

Empty homes are currently considered to be an important issue nationally and are often 

associated with neighbourhood decline and can attract anti social behaviour, crime and 

arson. Empty properties can also attract and create nuisance such as fly tipping, criminal 

damage; disrepair and dampness bringing about a negative impact on adjoining properties 

and their occupants.  

2.0 Background 

2.1 What are the benefits of adopting an Enforced Sale Policy? 

I. Social benefits 

Empty properties can have an adverse impact on people’s quality of life in a number of 

ways. Perceptions of the safeness, cleanliness and quality of an area can be affected by the 

existence of derelict or neglected properties. Long term empty homes can become the 

target of vandalism and other forms of anti-social behaviour and minor crime. In extreme 

cases, derelict properties can affect the housing market within a particular area. 

By selling a property that is in a poor condition to a new owner there is  a likelihood the new 

owner will refurbish the property which will in turn increase the chances that it will become 

occupied once again, eliminating the adverse impact the property is having on the local 

community.   

Furthermore, empty homes are a wasted housing resource; when refurbished they will 

provide a home to a family in need of housing in the city at a time of increasing  social 

housing waiting lists and low levels of new developments. 

II. Financial benefits 

Debts owed to the Council can, if not managed effectively, reduce the level and quality of 

services the Council is able to deliver. However, debts which are financial charges and which 

could otherwise prove impossible to recover can be discharged out of the proceeds of sale 

when using the ESP. 

Page 308



 

 3 

Furthermore, the very prospect of having the property sold can bring about the payment of 

the debt by the owner. It is believed that the recovery of debts registered against long term 

empty homes will be far more successful with the use, or potential use, of the ESP than if 

the normal debt recovery process is used.  

There will also be a reduction in expenditure on services which deal with the problems 

usually found at long term empty homes, such as clearance of fly tipping; boarding up 

properties open to access; dealing with rat infestation due to accumulations of rubbish and 

responding to complaints from neighbours of long term empty homes.  

Owners of properties, in particular, property companies, are more likely to discharge their 

debt to the council once they become aware of the council’s ESP or, may deal with the 

nuisance; that is undertaking the required works prior to the service of a statutory notice 

and keep their properties in a reasonable state of repair to avoid the ESP, therefore 

reducing the time which the local authority spends on dealing with nuisance issues.  

III. Environmental benefits 

The use of this Policy will contribute towards improving the condition of private sector 

housing stock within the district. 

The re occupation of long term empty homes will not only improve the visual appearance of 

properties concerned but, also the area as it will also reduce the opportunity for fly tipping; 

theft; squatting and other forms of crime and anti social behaviour usually experienced at 

the site of long term empty homes. This is more likely to make an area more desirable and 

assist in the housing market of the area.   

IV. The ESP is more expedient than a Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO) 

Generally, a Compulsory Purchase Order takes a minimum of 18 months to complete. 

Furthermore, certain statutory criteria need to be established in order to use this 

procedure. In comparison, whilst using the ESP it is anticipated that, on average, a sale could 

be achieved within 10 months from the date instructions are received by the Legal Section, 

subject to no challenges from the owner of the property.  

In order to utilise the procedure, recovery can occur when the normal debt recovery process 

can go no further. This procedure can be used once Revenue Services have raised the 

invoice, and sent reminders and if the debt remains unpaid, a letter is sent out informing 

the owner that bailiffs and/or court action is to be pursued.  

3.0.  Criteria for enforcing the sale of a long term empty property  

This is something each local authority has to consider in accordance with their aims and 

objectives. 

At present we will adopt the following criteria: 

Page 309



 

 4 

I. The total debt on the property should exceed £300 

II. The property has to be a long term empty property, i.e empty for over 6 months 

III. The property has to be registered with the Land Registry, 

IV. The necessary Enforcement Notices and documentation have been served. 

 

If the above criteria are not satisfied then we may consider the CPO route. 

However, if there is a derelict empty property causing a major problem, such as being 

subjected to repeated arson attacks, where it does not meet the above criteria and the 

owner cannot be traced, or is refusing to cooperate, the use of this policy would be 

considered. It is important to remember that the smaller the debt, the greater the 

justification needed for using this policy. 

It is considered that a property owner who remains reluctant   to address his debts tends to 

become far more cooperative when the forced sale of his property is a real prospect. The 

ESP can therefore be used as a supplement to the normal debt recovery process. 

4.0 Fundamental Considerations 

4.1 Does the Act give the right of an enforced sale? 
 
In order to make use of this procedure, the first consideration is whether the Act under 
which the default works were carried out confers the necessary rights and powers to enable 
the Council to enforce a sale. In other words, does the relevant Act provide that the 
expenses incurred become a charge upon the property local or otherwise? 

 
Attached at Appendix A is a list of the statutes which create a charge on a property in the 

case of works carried out in default by the Council. This list is not exhaustive. 
 

If the relevant statute creates a charge on the property and thereby confers a power of sale 
under the Law of Property Act 1925 then, the ESP may be used.  In most cases, the Council’s 

charge will take priority over any earlier charges, including a mortgagee’s charge. However 
this will need to be considered at the outset because, if the Council’s charge does not take 

priority then pursuing an enforced sale may not be financially viable.  
 

If the statute(s) does not create a charge then, it will be necessary to consider whether 
Section 7 of the Local Land Charges Act 1975 applies. If it does, the policy may still be used 
as the charge will be registered on the Local Land Charges Register but this may not take 
priority over existing charges. As noted above, the existence of any prior charges and the 
quality of the offending party’s title are major considerations when deciding whether to use 

the policy in such circumstances. 
 

If none of the above applies then the procedure cannot be used and consideration will be 
given to making a Compulsory Purchase Order or continuing to pursue the matter via the 

authority’s normal debt recovery process.  
 

 

Page 310



 

 5 

 
4.2 The Human Rights Act 

When considering whether or not to exercise the ESP, consideration must be given and 

documented in relation to the Human Rights Act 1998. Selling property belonging to a third 

party engages Article 8 of the Act namely; “the right to respect for... private and family life.. 

home and correspondence..” . Further, Article 1 of Protocol 1, namely “..the peaceful 

enjoyment of possessions..” is also engaged. As such, interference is only permitted if such 

action is considered proportionate. The individual’s property rights have to be balanced 

against the general benefits to the community if the property were to be brought back into 

use. 

A statement which sets out the  reasons  as to why (in any given case) it is proportionate, in 

accordance with the Act, to invoke the ESP should, be a matter of record on the particular 

file and, should also be set out in any correspondence to the owner.    

4.3 The Limitation Act 

The power to utilise the ESP is time limited by section 20 of the Limitation Act 1980. This 

states that no action can be bought to recover a sum of money secured by a charge on a 

property after a period of 12 years from the date on which the right to receive the money 

accrued. In other words, the normal rule is that the 12 years will run from the date when 

the expense has occurred. As the ESP uses various statues there may however be some 

exceptions to the norm. Advice should be sought from the in-house legal team if there is any 

doubt. 

5.0 Authorisations  

It is proposed that the Executive delegates to the Director of People – Adult and 

Neighbourhood Services the power to institute the ESP, in consultation with the Assistant 

Director of Legal Services, and for a resolution to be issued and delivered to the Land 

Registry which details the following:- 

 the statutory provisions; 

 the service of the necessary notices; 

 what work was done and when; 

 the registration of the charge in the register of local land charges, 

 a claim to priority over all estates and interest (if legal powers) 

The resolution will be prepared by the in-house legal team and done under seal. The 

appropriate written authorisation of the Director of People – Adult and Neighbourhood 

Services (or such officer to whom the Director has sub delegated his authority) should form 

part of the file sent to the Assistant Director of Legal Services. 

Page 311



 

 6 

 

6.0 Summary of the Enforced Sale Procedure 

An ESP Operating Procedures will be developed with the co-operation of relevant partners, 

as follows; 

 

 Empty Homes Team 

 Legal Services 

 Revenue Services 

 Property Services 

As stated earlier, the basis for using the ESP is where the relevant statute confers a power of 

sale or where there is a financial charge registered in Part 2 of the Local Land Charges 

Register . 

The first step in commencing the ESP, (providing the file has been checked by Legal Services 

and the requisite authority has been given by the Director of People in consultation with the 

Head of Legal Services), is the service of a legal notice under Section 103(I) of the Law of 

Property Act 1925. The S103 Notice will be prepared and served by the in-house Legal Team. 

The power of sale cannot be exercised until this Notice has been served. This Notice must 

require the payment of the outstanding debt and give a period of no less than 3 months 

from the date of service of the Notice. The Notice must be served on the owner of the 

property at which the previous Default Notice was served. It will also be necessary to serve 

a copy of the Notice on any other chargee. 

If the outstanding debt is paid as a result of the S103 Notice then, the ESP cannot be used.  

If, after the three month period the debt remains outstanding then, an application can be 

made to the Land Registry for registration of the charge and, where possible, claiming 

priority over all other charges. The Legal Team will make the above application. 

When the Charge has been registered and the Charge Certificate has been returned then 

the property can be marketed for sale. It is good practise however, to send another letter to 

the owner and any other chargee to warn that the charge is to be enforced. It is anticipated 

that this process will take approximately 10 months to complete.  

In any subsequent sale, reasonable care should be taken to ensure that a fair price for the 

property is obtained. It is likely that sale by auction will achieve this.  Thus, our preferred 

method of sale will be by way of auction. This is considered the safest and quickest method 

of disposal as, it will enable the Council to accept the highest bid for the property and 

reduce any risks of a claim that the property was sold for a lesser than market price. 

If, following the recovery of the Council’s charges (including its legal and sale costs) and any 

other outstanding charges, such as mortgagee or utility charges, if there remains any 

Page 312



 

 7 

balance then, this will (where the identity and location of the owner is known) be paid to 

him/her. In cases where the Council has not been able to identify or locate the owner the 

remaining balance will be paid into an interest bearing account or an application can be 

made to have the monies paid into Court. 

 The Council’s Estates Team will be responsible for marketing the property and the Council’s 

Legal Team will be responsible for completing the sale of the property and dispensing of the 

charges.  

The Empty Homes Team will be responsible for making contact with the new owner to 

ensure that the property is brought back into use as soon as possible. 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 313



 

 8 

LIST OF RELEVANT STATUTES UNDER WHICH USE OF ESP CAN BE CONSIDERED APPENDIX 1 

ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH LEGISLATION 

Public Health Act 1936 Section 45 -Work to WC closets 

Section 83 - Filthy or verminous premises 

Prevention of Damage by Pests Act 1949 Sec 4- Rats and mice 

Public Health Act 1961 Section-17 - Work to drains 

Local Govt. (Misc.Provs.) Act 1976 Sec 33- Restore Services 

Sec 35-Private sewer 

Building Act 1984 

 

Sec 59- Drainage, 

Sec 60- Soil vent pipes, 

Sec 76- Defective premises, 

Sec 84- Yards. 

Environmental Protection Act 1990 Sec 80-Statutory nuisance 

Housing Act 2004 

 

Sec 11-Improvement Notice 

Sec 12- Improvement Notice 

Sec 40- Emergency remedial action 

Sec 49- Enforcement action 

Sec 50- Recovery of charges under Section- 49 

above. 

PLANNING, BUILDING CONTROL & HIGHWAYS LEGISLATION 

Highways Act 1980 Sec 154-hedges and trees, 

Sec 165-unfenced land 

Building Act 1984 Sec 77/78 –Dangerous buildings 

Town & Country Planning Act 1990 Sec 215- Untidy state of land 

Sec 172- Planning breach. 

Page 314



 

 9 

 

Page 315



This page is intentionally left blank



 

  

 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Cabinet 
 

14 February 2023 
 

 

TITLE: 
 

SMDC Electric Vehicle Charge Point Strategy  
 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 

 

Councillor J Aberley 
 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

 
Kash Dhadwar – Car Parks Contracts Officer 

 
WARDS INVOLVED: 
 

 
(All Wards); 

 
 

Appendices Attached:  
 
Appendix 1: SMDC Draft EVCP Strategy  

Appendix 2: SMDC Draft EVCP Delivery Report 

 
 
1. Reason for the Report 
 

1.1 To present the newly drafted Electric Vehicle Charge Point (EVCP) Strategy to 
members and to provide an update on the delivery plan and progress to date.  

 

2. Recommendation 

2.1 That Cabinet approves the adoption of the strategy. 

 
2.2 That the Cabinet approves the delivery plan.  

 

 
3. Executive Summary 

 
Climate change is widely recognised as the biggest environmental concern 
now confronting humanity and SMDC has acknowledged this by making it one 

of its five guiding outcomes in its Sustainable Community Strategy. 2022 has 
officially been declared the hottest year on record. 

 
To help produce the strategy SMDC commissioned Amey to: develop an EV 
Charging Strategy and delivery plan; identify a suitable delivery/operating 

model; produce a technical specification to procure a suitable partner; engage 
with potential operators, and assist with assessment of tenders received. 

 
 
 

Page 317

Agenda Item 11.1



 

  

4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  
 

4.1 Aim four of the Corporate Plan 2019-2023 includes the objective of 

undertaking a review of SMDC car parks with regards to implementing a 
revised strategy. 

 
 Adoption of EV is within the SMDC Climate Change Action Plan.  

 

 
5. Alternative Options 

 
5.1 Option 1: To approve the strategy as set out in appendix 1. Recommended. 

Adoption of the strategy will allow for the implementation of the 

recommendations set out in section 2 above.   
 

5.2 Option 2: Not to approve the strategy will prevent the delivery and roll out of 
EVCPs across the District. Not Recommended.  

 

 
6. Implications 

 
6.1
  

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
 

The car parks are “Park Mark” accredited by the BPA (British 
Parking Association) to ensure safety. The approval of the strategy 
will not affect the levels of safety across the safety aspects and aim 

to minimise any vandalism. Installation of any EVCPs will be 
completed in line with the safety recommendations.  

 
 

6.2 Workforce 

 
Not applicable. Delivery of this project will be undertaken within the 

Council’s existing resource.  
 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 

 
An equalities and diversity impact assessment has been 

undertaken.   
 
 

6.4 Financial Considerations 
 

 
The strategy makes recommendations about assessing the 
business case for the different operating models across the roll out 

of EVCPs. Different models will have different implication for the 
council’s revenue and capital budgets. Any decisions in regard to 

the preferred model adopted will need to consider the financial 
business case. 
 

Page 318



 

  

The Council has identified a capital budget of £200,000 for the 
investment in EVCPs should capital funds be required.  
 

 
 

6.5 Two operational/commercial models have been recommended: 
 
Model Description Key 

Considerations 
Risks 

Own and 

Operate 

SMDC applies for 

ORCS funding and 
provides 40% capital 

required. 

SMDC tenders for a 

chargepoint Operator 
to install 

chargepoints  

SMDC own the 

Chargepoints (gov. 
funding)  

SMDC takes revenue  

 

This model would 

involve SMDC 
appointing a supplier 

to deliver and 
manage the 

chargepoint 
infrastructure for a 

set period with all 
revenue being 

retained.  

Funding for all 

capital costs would 
fall to the SMDC  

On-going 
maintenance costs 

would fall to SMDC  

Updates to 

technology both 
hardware and 

software are the 
council’s 

responsibility  

Any key 

performance 
indicators and or 

contractual service 
level agreements 

may be difficult to 
enforce 

Match 

Funding 
SMDC applies for 

ORCS funding and 
agrees with third 

parties (i.e., operator) 
the split of the 

remaining 40%  

This could also be 

achieved if 
government funding 

is not available, but 
the Council and the 

operator agree to 
match funding 

Likely to reduce the 

revenue received 
and limit the overall 

influence SMDC can 
exert on the facility   

SMDC shares risks 
with the third party 

Reduced revenue 

share  

Contractual and 

financial 
arrangements may 

not suit all 
suppliers and so 

the pool of 
available partners 

is reduced 

Partners require 

confidence that 
revenue will be 

achieved in any 
locations  

 

 
6.6 Climate Change 

 

The base case findings identify the Council’s aspirations regarding 
climate change and the importance of the move to net zero. 

Supporting the transition to electronic vehicles (EVs) is an 
important part of this work. The strategy cites the importance of 
ensuing that the right type of chargers are rolled out in the right 

locations and that SMDC use their carparking assets to support the 
County Council to ensure a consistent approach across car parks 

and highways.  EV Charging on car parks is discussed in section 8 
below.  
 

Page 319



 

  

 
6.7 
 

Consultation 
 

As part of the development of the strategy Amey have undertaken 
a number of consultation meetings with key stakeholders, notable 

internal services and SCC to determine the appropriate locations 
and types of EVCP that are recommended.  
 

Public consultation was undertaken as part of the SMDC Parking 
review that was carried out in 2020/2021 by Parking Matters.  

 
 

6.8 

 

Risk Assessment 

 
Delivery and roll out of EVCPs will be managed by way of the 

Council’s risk management procedures for projects. The 
Procurement Team will be involved to provide the necessary 
support. The risks will be updated frequently and reported at both 

transformation board and Risk Management Group. 
 

 
 

Neil Rodgers 

Executive Director (Place) 

 
Web Links and 

Background Papers 

Contact details 

 

SMDC car parking – base case findings report 

Kash Dhadwar 

Car Parks Contracts Officer 
kash.dhadwar@highpeak.gov.uk 
 

 
 

  

Page 320



 

  

7. Background 

 

7.1 In early 2022 the Council completed the SMDC Parking Strategy which 

included a number of actions to improve the service. As part of the wide 

consultation that was competed for the Car Parking Strategy, it was noted that 

there are limited EV charging options across the District, not only on the 

council’s car parks but also across other public sector, private and community 

land owners. There was a strong desire to ensure that EV owners were 

supported in the district by providing more charging options. This position is 

also backed up the by the Council’s climate change action plan, which also 

confirms the importance of supporting electric vehicle ownership in order to 

transition to a more carbon neutral district. In addition the council has been 

supporting the “air aware” proposals where increasing EV use will seek to 

improve air quality.  

 

 The Council’s Parking Strategy also noted the importance of ensuring that the 

council took a phased approach to delivering charging infrastructure for EVs. 

Not only is the EV installation equipment itself a significant capital investment, 

ensuring the right types of charging equipment are available in the right 

locations is critical to the success of aspirations for EV take up.  

 

 In the interim the Council has been involved in a wider county project to look at 

the roll of out of EV led by Staffordshire County Council (SCC). However 

despite initial hopes that SCC would look to take a strong lead on a county 

wide network approach, this has not come to fruition within the district’s 

aspirational timescales. Additionally, SCC had particular focus on areas of 

higher EV ownership in more urbanised areas/districts, which indicated that 

SMDC, with its more rural and market town focused geography could 

potentially not fulfil as many criteria and risked being overlooked. SMDC has 

unique challenges with regards to encouraging the use and adoption of EVs 

by its residents, communities and also its visitors. 

 

 EV ownership and infrastructure is a quickly evolving picture and SMDC noted 

a skills and understanding gap that needed to be overcome to develop its own 

strategy. In conjunction with SCC it was agreed that Amey, SCC’s consultants, 

would be commissioned through SCC’s framework to deliver a bespoke piece 

of work for SMDC that built onto the findings of the work that had been 

undertaken for SCC.  

 

 Amey have been commissioned to deliver the following Phases:  

 

1. Development of an EV Charging Strategy & Delivery Plan that will look at 

national and local policies, funding, technology, commercial models and 

carry out demand analysis. 

Page 321



 

  

2. Identify a suitable delivery model having considered the cost of installation, 

demand on the grid which involves liaison with Western Power Distribution 

(now called National Grid), funding applications from Government and 

potential operators. 

3. Produce a specification in order to procure a suitable partner for delivery of 

the service; as the speed at which chargers can increase mileage will 

encourage more usage. 

4. Assistance with submitting the funding application and assessment of 

tenders received. This task has yet to be completed and will likely to be 

incorporated into Phase 5. 

 

7.2 Development of the EV Strategy 

 

The drafted EV strategy is attached as appendix 1. This strategy forms the 

basis on which the Council can now make informed decisions about how EV 

infrastructure is rolled out over the next 5 years. The strategy has taken 

account of the following critical areas: 

 

1. Policy and funding options 

2. Market review of the options and technology available 

3. Different commercial models available to the council 

4. Use cases for EV charging such as taxi service 

5. Pricing models – so the council can determine impacts on its own budgets 

but also importantly the costs to the end user 

6. Demand Analysis – this is a data driven approach to determine where the 

focus should be in order to achieve maximum utilisation of the equipment. 

Amey have used a number of different data sources and mapping 

techniques to determine locations and types of infrastructure that will 

maximise the impact.  

7. A vision for the Council, that delivers the council objectives but aligns with 

SCC’s vision.  

8. Ensuring that suitable solutions for back office management of the 

equipment exist through engagement with operators. 

 

 

7.3 The Delivery Plan 

 

The drafted Delivery Plan is attached in appendix 2. The Delivery Plan was 

first drafted in October 2022 and the timetable has now been updated to 

reflect this. In addition Amey have been requested to help SMDC to install the 

EV chargers in its car parks; as such they have outlined a timetable to project 

manage the installation which is shown in Section 5 (page 12) as phases 5, 6 

and 7. 

 

Page 322



 

  

Whilst the strategy document sets out the vision, objectives, strategic context 

and the data that drives the decision making, the delivery plan is a shorter 

document that states the six key actions for the Council to implement.  

1. Engagement – For stakeholders to understand and provide feedback 

2. Feasibility – To understand what can be delivered realistically 

3. Funding – To determine how it will be paid for 

4. Procurement - to determine best value for the Council and its stakeholders 

5. Mobilisation – to determine how it will be delivered 

6. Evaluation – feedback and analysis to ensure what the project has 

delivered is successful 

 

A number of these key actions have now been completed. Section 5 of the 

delivery report sets out the timetable for actions. The main work packages that 

are complete are the stakeholder engagement, business review and funding 

options. Since the drafting of the delivery plan, it because clear that an early 

market engagement in advance of the formal procurement exercise would be 

advisable. This was needed to be able to determine the type of contracts 

available in the market that might be preferable to the council. This 

engagement work is now complete. 

 

The delivery plan indicated the car parks that will be prioritised for which types 

of chargers within a first phase of delivery. This is set out on page 5 of the 

delivery plan. 

 

Much of the cost of installation is linked to bringing high voltage electricity 

supplies needed for rapid charging, into the desired locations. National Grid 

(Western Power Distribution) is the Distribution Network Operator (DNO - 

electricity company) within the district, and Amey have been engaging with 

them already to determine feasibility and likely costs of the provision of 

electricity supply to the priority locations. This early engagement will aid our 

subsequent applications for grant funding and the speed in which orders may 

be made with the DNO once the locations and types of chargers are finalised 

between the Council and its preferred delivery partner.  

 

7.4 Contractual Model Options 

 

 The expectation is that the model that will be in place is match funding through 

ORCS and chargepoint operators. This will provide the ability for clear input 

from SMDC and ensure the Council’s objectives are met.  

 

 

7.5  Next Steps 

  

 Seek approval to commission Amey to help deliver Phases 5, 6 and 7 of the 

EV Chargepoint project subject to their charges being acceptable to SMDC. 

Page 323



 

  

 

Amey have drafted the specification for the procurement of a delivery partner 

and this may be advertised through a suitable framework or open tender with 

the aid of the Council’s Procurement Team. The timescales for the 

procurement process are: 

 

 Tender Period: Qtr 1 2023 (dependant on sign off and commencement of 

Phase 5 through commissioning Amey). The anticipated tender period will be 

8 weeks from issuing the tender.  

  Award of Contract: end of Qtr 1 start of Qtr 2 2023 

 Cabinet Report for Award of Contract (This may be required depending on the 

value of the final contract awarded).  

 

Within the procurement specification, the Council will be explicit in relation to 

the timescales for any lead in times, installation and go live. It is anticipated 

that there will be a phased approach and the Council can use this to prioritise 

certain areas first. Once the timescales are confirmed the Council can 

undertake a communications piece to inform our residents, local business and 

other customers of the Council’s project.  

 

In the interim, a number of applications to OZEV (Office for Zero Emissions 

Vehicles) have been drafted under the ORCS (Off street residential charging 

Scheme) funding pot. These will be ready to submit once the Council has 

completed its engagement with the providers in the market and the DNO.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 324



 

 

Public Electric Vehicle Charging 
Infrastructure Strategy 

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 

CO07100360 / V1.0 –Final  

14/10/2022

Page 325



 

1 
 

30/09/2022 Document Control Sheet 

Project Name: Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 

Project Number: CO07100360 

Report Title: 
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Public Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure 
Strategy 

Report Number: V1.0 –Final 

 

Issue 
Status/Amendment 

Prepared Reviewed Approved 

V1.0 Draft 

Name: Rachael North, 
Francesco Manca 

Signature: RN, FM 

 

 

Date: 12/09/22 

Name:  

 

Signature:  

 

 

Date:  

Name: Emily Gould 

 

Signature: EG 

 

 

Date: 23/09/2022  

V1.1 Draft 

Name: Rachael North, 
Francesco Manca 

 

Signature: RN, FM 

 

Date: 28/09/2022 

Name: Paul Rose 

 

Signature: PR 

 

 

Date: 29/09/2022 

Name: Emily Gould 

 

Signature:  

 

 

Date: 29/09/2022 

V1.2 Draft 

Name: Rachael North, 
Francesco Manca 

 

Signature: RN, FM 

 

Date: 30/09/2022 

Name:  

 

Signature:  

 

 

Date:  

Name: Emily Gould 

 

Signature: EG 

 

 

Date: 30/09/2022 

V1.0 Final 

Name: Rachael North, 
Francesco Manca 

 

Signature:  RN, FM 

 

Date: 13/10/2022  

Name:  

 

Signature:  

 

 

Date:  

Name: Emily, Gould 

 

Signature: EG 

 

 

Date: 14/10/2022 

 

Page 326



 

2 
 

Executive Summary 

Transportation is a significant factor in the current climate concerns. The UK Government 
acknowledged this in June 2019 and stated goals for the transportation system to achieve net zero by 

2050. The sale of new gasoline and diesel vehicles will be prohibited by 2030, according to a 

declaration made in November 2020. These are the first steps toward switching to environmentally 
friendly modes of transportation, and increased EV use will help achieve net zero. However, further 

measures, such as the development of a diffused and reliable EV charging infrastructure all over the 

country, will be required to encourage the removal of all gasoline and diesel vehicles. 

In line with the government's goals, counties and districts across the UK are taking action to combat 

climate change. Specifically, in the West Midlands, Staffordshire County Council developed an EV 
charging infrastructure strategy in accordance with the policies set in their Local Transport Plan 

(2011-2026) and Climate Change Action Plan (2021-2025) to guarantee the accessibility of 

chargepoints around Staffordshire County.  

In the meantime, Staffordshire Moorlands District Council declared a climate emergency in 2019 and 

has committed to achieving net zero by 2030. As set in their Climate Change Action Plan (2021-2030), 

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council intends to promote EV adoption and support the development 

of the County's EV charging strategy with an infrastructure plan for the district. 

To accomplish this, the possible modal shift that the new EV charging infrastructure could bring is 

taken into account. Following the guiding directions of the Staffordshire County Council strategy, the 
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council strategy addresses the local level implications and 

requirements of EV charging infrastructure. This strategy supports Staffordshire Moorlands District 

Council's efforts to achieve net zero emissions by 2030. With a data-led assessment of potential 
charging solutions across the region, Amey Consulting will support Staffordshire Moorlands’ objective 

of assisting EV users by analysing the requirement for accessible chargepoints around the district and 
assisting local governments, residents, businesses, or other individuals wanting to build chargepoints, 

by offering information and guidance.  

This document analyses various aspects related to EV charging demand including policy, funding and 
technology that will impact the charging infrastructure network. The strategy identifies five types of 

charging solutions: EV charging hubs, EV forecourts, on street charging, residential off street 

charging, and off street charging. For the purpose of guiding strategic decision-making, this document 
examines the present and predicted demand in areas dedicated to touristic activities and in the large 

rural areas that characterise the district. The document also suggests general areas in the 
Staffordshire Moorlands that should be taken into account for charging infrastructure, along with the 

best options for meeting both the present and future demand. 

  

Page 327



 

3 
 

Contents 

Tables ....................................................................................................................................... 4 

Figures ...................................................................................................................................... 4 

1. Glossary of Terms ............................................................................................................. 6 

2. Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Vision and Objectives ...................................... 7 

3. EV Charging Context ......................................................................................................... 9 

3.1. Context of Staffordshire Moorlands' current charging and car ownership ................................ 9 

3.2. Midlands Connect .............................................................................................................. 15 

3.3. Policy and Funding ............................................................................................................ 16 

4. Demand Analysis ............................................................................................................ 20 

4.1. Introduction ..................................................................................................................... 20 

4.2. Methodology ..................................................................................................................... 20 

4.3. Staffordshire County Demand Analysis Overview ................................................................. 24 

4.4. Staffordshire Moorlands Demand Analysis .......................................................................... 25 

5. Potential Charging Network ........................................................................................... 35 

5.1. Council Car Park Network .................................................................................................. 36 

6. Technology and Market Review ..................................................................................... 45 

6.1. Overview .......................................................................................................................... 45 

6.2. EV Charging Solutions ....................................................................................................... 45 

6.3. EV charging infrastructure, battery, and solar panels innovation .......................................... 48 

7. Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Use Cases ...................................................... 49 

8. Commercial Models ........................................................................................................ 53 

8.1. Model assessment ............................................................................................................. 53 

8.2. Pricing Models .................................................................................................................. 55 

9. Recommendations .......................................................................................................... 57 

9.1. Engagement ..................................................................................................................... 57 

9.2. Feasibility ......................................................................................................................... 57 

9.3. Funding ............................................................................................................................ 57 

9.4. Operators ......................................................................................................................... 58 

9.5. Monitoring ........................................................................................................................ 58 

9.6. Review ............................................................................................................................. 58 

10. References .................................................................................................................... 59 

Appendix A: National Policies ............................................................................................. 60 

 

 

 

Page 328



 

4 
 

Tables 

Table 1 - Licensed total vehicles and cars, Q1 2022 (source: DfT [1] and DfT [2]) ....................... 10 

Table 2 - Percentage of total cars, petrol & diesel cars, battery electric cars and Plug-in hybrid 

electric cars, Q1 2022 .............................................................................................................. 11 

Table 3 - Number of licensed ULEVs by type, fuel and keepership in Staffordshire Moorlands, Q1 

2022 (source: DfT [2]) ............................................................................................................. 12 
Table 4 - EV charging statistics, Jul 22 ...................................................................................... 13 

Table 5 - Access to parking street in Staffordshire County .......................................................... 15 

Table 6 - Midlands Connect MC region forecasts ........................................................................ 15 
Table 7 - Policies review - Local Policies .................................................................................... 17 

Table 8 - Baseline Demographic Data........................................................................................ 21 

Table 9 - Mosaic Groups with EV propensity .............................................................................. 32 

Table 10 - Staffordshire Moorlands Mosaic groups ..................................................................... 32 

Table 11 - Staffordshire Moorlands Data for network location ..................................................... 34 

Table 12 - Groups used for cluster analysis ............................................................................... 36 
Table 13 - Car Park Location and Phase .................................................................................... 38 

Table 14 - Commercial Models .................................................................................................. 54 

Table 15 - Chargepoint operators and costs .............................................................................. 56 

Table 16 - National EV policies ................................................................................................. 60 

Figures 

Figure 1 - Comparison between Petrol & diesel, BEV, and PHEV cars, Q1 2022 ............................ 10 

Figure 2 - Percentage of petrol & diesel cars, battery electric cars and Plug-in hybrid electric cars VS 

total number of cars, Q1 2022 .................................................................................................. 11 
Figure 3 - ULEV cars registration from 2015 Q1 to 2022 Q1; focus on Staffordshire and 

Staffordshire Moorlands ........................................................................................................... 12 

Figure 4 - Total charging devices - focus on Staffordshire and Staffordshire Moorlands ................ 14 
Figure 5 - Example of infrastructure layers from GIS .................................................................. 22 

Figure 6 - LSOA boundaries and OA population centroids ........................................................... 23 

Figure 7 - Staffordshire County Propensity for EV Use ................................................................ 24 
Figure 8 – EV Usage Propensity for Touristic Activities in Staffordshire Moorlands ........................ 26 

Figure 9 – LSOAs with Highest EV Usage Propensity for Touristic Activities .................................. 26 

Figure 10 - EV Usage Propensity for Residents In Rural Locations, Staffordshire Moorlands .......... 28 
Figure 11 - LSOAs with Highest EV Usage Propensity for Residents In Rural Locations ................. 28 

Figure 12 – EV Usage Propensity Staffordshire Moorlands .......................................................... 30 

Figure 13 - LSOAs with Highest EV Usage Propensity ................................................................. 30 
Figure 14 - Mosaic groups in Staffordshire Moorlands ................................................................ 31 

Figure 15 - Charging Hierarchy ................................................................................................. 35 

Figure 16 - Council Car Park Methodology ................................................................................. 36 

Figure 17 - Staffordshire Moorlands Council Car Parks (All Phases) ............................................. 39 

Figure 18 - Public chargepoints ................................................................................................. 40 

Figure 19 - Off Street Residential and Public on street chargepoints ............................................ 41 

Figure 20 - Staffordshire Moorlands full charging network .......................................................... 42 

Figure 21 - Detailed image of Leek chargepoints ....................................................................... 43 

Figure 22 - Detailed image of Hartington chargepoints ............................................................... 44 

Figure 23 - Example of an accessible chargepoint ...................................................................... 46 

Figure 24 - Example of accessible parking bays ......................................................................... 46 

Figure 25 - Example of good practice lightening ........................................................................ 47 
Figure 26 - Pop-Up Chargepoint ............................................................................................... 47 

Page 329

https://ameygroup.sharepoint.com/sites/AmeyStratCon/OfferingsAndStrategy/Mobility/Projects/Staffordshire%20Moorlands%20EV%20Strategy/500%20WIP/Reporting/SM-Public-EV-Charging-Strategy-V1_Final_15.09.22.docx#_Toc116561761


 

5 
 

Figure 27 - Example of solar for EV charging                                                                           49 

Figure 28 - Example of solar energy storage system .................................................................. 49 
  

Page 330



 

6 
 

1. Glossary of Terms 

BEV – Battery Electric Vehicle 

Chargepoints – The physical devices that deliver electricity to EVs 

DNO – Distribution Network Operator (electricity companies) 

EV – Electric Vehicle 

EV Forecourt – Fuel stations that include chargepoints  

EV Charging Hub – Fast, rapid, or ultra-rapid chargepoints at a specifically designed location 

Hybrid – A vehicle that combines an electric motor supporting an Internal Combustion Engine  

ICE – Internal Combustion Engine (usually petrol or diesel) 

kW / kWh – Kilowatt / kilowatt hour – measure of power 

Off street Charging – Chargepoints in car parks 

On street Charging – Chargepoints located on streets 

PHEVs – Plug-in hybrid electric vehicle 

Residential Off street Charging – Private chargepoints installed by users at their residence 

Smart Charging – This refers to electric vehicles and chargepoints sharing a data connection 

SCC - Staffordshire County Council  

SMDC – Staffordshire Moorlands District Council  

ULEV – Ultra low emission vehicle 

User – Electric vehicle owner or user and chargepoint user 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 331



 

7 
 

2. Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Vision and 
Objectives 

In July 2019, Staffordshire Moorlands District Council (SMDC) acknowledge the severe impact that 
climate change could have both within the region and across the world. To reflect this a climate 

emergency was declared which highlighted the responsibility of all businesses, residents, and 

institutions to reduce carbon emissions. Developing the council’s commitment to this in 2021 
confirmed they would achieve net zero by 2030. A key element identified to achieve this is the 

reduction of carbon emissions through transport in the region. Active and integrated transport is an 
area of focus but the council acknowledges that for many travelling by car is essential. The council 

sees itself as having an important role in supporting the transition to EVs.  

SMDC is committed to creating an environment where the transition to EVs is sustainable and 
equitable across the region. To achieve this, the council sees the installation of chargepoints in council 

car parks as an important step to take in providing charging solutions in a range of locations. The 

council understands there is a varied environment and will endeavour to ensure that chargepoint 
installation is not solely led by the commercial sector. In addition, SMDC understands that local 

communities often understand their needs and requirements best and will commit to engaging with 

and supporting local communities in understanding how they can access charging solutions.  

The technological enhancements in vehicles and charging technology are fast-moving, as such the 

council will endeavour to future-proof the charging network by encouraging minimum charging 
speeds of 7kW and supporting the installation of cable routes for easy expansion of the number of 

chargepoints.  

SMDC understands that installation in its car parks falls within its responsibility however to achieve a 

comprehensive charging network it will need the support of residents, workplaces, chargepoint 
operators and Staffordshire County Council. SMDC will continue to engage with stakeholders across 

these groups to achieve this.  

To support the initial steps in the transition to EVs, SMDC has commissioned Amey Consulting to 
create a Public Electric Vehicle (EV) Charging Infrastructure Strategy, which has the broader 

objectives of: 

- improving air quality (i.e. improving the health of individuals through improved air quality)  

- promoting changes toward sustainable and environmentally friendly behaviours. 

This strategy explores how the council can enable the development of the charging infrastructure 
across the district. The strategy seeks to ensure residents and businesses can safely and reliably 

access EV charging infrastructure in line with the needs of the stakeholders and their Local Transport 
Plan policies. This strategy is created to support Staffordshire Moorlands’s vision of supporting EV 

users with accessible chargepoints across the district and supporting the local authorities, residents, 
businesses, or others looking to install chargepoints, providing information and guidance. Particular 

attention has been given to touristic and rural areas, which characterise the economy and the 

demographic composition of the district.  

The document addresses major local and UK policies and regulations that affect charging 
requirements as well as public EV charging infrastructure. Amey Consulting will also look into local 

funding, procurement, and delivery techniques, as well as any possible business models that could 

work for the council. 

In line with the council's broader net zero policy, the second component of the strategy is to 

determine the expected current and future demand for EV charging infrastructure throughout 
Staffordshire Moorlands. The propensity to use EVs has been mapped through the demand analysis, 

serving as the foundation for choosing the locations for EV charging infrastructure and contributing to 

create the future implementation and action plan. 

Page 332



 

8 
 

SMDC and Amey have met and held review workshops with the various internal SMDC stakeholders to 
assist in the delivery of the strategy. By doing this, it was possible to make sure that the long-term 

strategy and implementation plans incorporated the needs of the councils and the users. To make 
sure that iterative input has been integrated into this report, review sessions and other meetings have 

been organised. 

 

  

Page 333



 

9 
 

3. EV Charging Context 

3.1. Context of Staffordshire Moorlands' current charging and car ownership 

Climate change is widely recognised as the biggest environmental concern now confronting humanity 
and SMDC has acknowledged this by making it one of its five guiding outcomes in its Sustainable 

Community Strategy. By declaring a climate change emergency in 2019, SMDC also acknowledges in 

its Climate Change Action Plan (CCAP) that steps must be taken to reduce the council's carbon output. 
The council is committed to achieving net zero carbon emissions by 2030 and the plan sets out how 

the authority will work towards achieving its carbon emissions target in the whole District. The 
adoption of EVs and the decarbonisation of transportation in Staffordshire Moorlands are essential 

components in the fight against climate change. This is recognised both by the County and District 

authorities. 

In the 2011–2026 Local Transport Plan Staffordshire County Council (SCC) emphasises the need for 
less reliance on private vehicles and supports active travel as well as alternative modes, but it also 

recognises that many people will continue to choose to travel by car, especially those with reduced 
access to other modes of transport. Reducing road transport emissions and their effects on the 

highway will: 

▪ promote alternatives to private motor vehicles 

▪ promote the use of low-emitting vehicles and vehicle efficiency 

▪ lead by example and reduce road transport emissions 

▪ improve the resilience of the transport network to changing climatic conditions 

Moreover, the EV uptake and infrastructure development are considered a major goal of Staffordshire 

County’s 2021-2025 CCAP as well as Staffordshire Moorlands District’s 2021–2030 CCAP. Specifically, 

according to the latter, Staffordshire Moorlands District will encourage and support the uptake of EVs 
and supports the development of the County EV chargepoint strategy and installation plan for the 

district. The accessibility of chargepoints around Staffordshire County and, consequently, Staffordshire 
Moorlands District can be a key factor in promoting the expansion of EV use while also assisting the 

rural community and supporting more sustainable tourism.  

3.1.1 ULEV ownership 

The demand for EVs in the UK is constantly growing [1] [2]. More than 440,000 Battery Electric 
Vehicles (BEVs) and 330,000 Plug-in Hybrid Electric Vehicles (PHEVs) are on UK roads at the end of 

March 2022, which is equivalent to 1.3% and 1% of the total number of cars in the UK. However, the 

EV uptake varies significantly across the country [1] [2]. Table 1 and Table 2 outline the fuel type of 

licensed vehicles from UK-wide to within Staffordshire Moorlands. 

In Staffordshire Moorlands, there are approximately 53,000 petrol and diesel cars, and approximately 

570 registered cars which are Ultra Low Emission Vehicles (ULEV). This means that only 1% of the 
cars are ULEVs - 0.54% are BEVs and 0.48% are PHEVs. It is important to notice that Staffordshire 

Moorlands is the district in Staffordshire with the smallest share of BEVs and PHEVs.  

Figure 3 shows that the EV uptake in Staffordshire Moorlands seems also much slower compared to 

the rest of the County. 

 

 

 

 

Page 334



 

10 
 

Table 1 - Licensed total vehicles and cars, Q1 2022 (source: DfT [1] and DfT [2]) 

Location Total (All 
Vehicles) 

Total (Cars) Petrol & 
Diesel 
(Cars) 

ULEV (Cars) BEV 
(Cars) 

PHEV 
(Cars) 

United 
Kingdom 

40,366,300 32,937,790 31,102,799 789,713 441,167 338,755 

England 33,344,467 27,216,047 25,602,930 707,182 394,333 304,115 

West Midlands 3,553,327 2,882,347 2,756,267 51,287 30,617 20,028 

Staffordshire 590,228 472,087 454,599 6,084 3,279 2,705 

Staffordshire 
Moorlands 

71,876 54,865 53,019 572 299 264 

Cannock Chase 70,004 53,653 51,961 625 341 279 

East 
Staffordshire 

81,576 63,560 61,216 796 415 365 

Lichfield 74,099 60,867 58,211 1,106 638 446 

Newcastle 

Under Lyme 
73,738 61,555 59,379 659 363 286 

South 
Staffordshire 

77,616 62,821 60,474 804 426 359 

Stafford 92,231 75,009 71,942 1,049 553 484 

Tamworth 48,951 39,703 38,344 473 244 222 

 

Figure 1 - Comparison between petrol & diesel, BEV, and PHEV cars, Q1 2022 

 

 

Page 335



 

11 
 

Table 2 - Percentage of total cars, petrol & diesel cars, battery electric cars and Plug-in hybrid electric cars, Q1 2022 

Location 
% Of Total Cars 

VS Total Vehicles 

% Of Petrol & 
Diesel Cars VS 

Total Cars 

% Of BEV 
(Cars) VS Total 

Cars 

% Of PHEV (Cars) 
VS Total Cars 

United Kingdom 81.6% 94.4% 1.3% 1.0% 

England 81.6% 94.1% 1.4% 1.1% 

West Midlands 81.1% 95.6% 1.1% 0.7% 

Staffordshire 80.0% 96.3% 0.7% 0.6% 

Staffordshire 
Moorlands 

76.33% 96.64% 0.54% 0.48% 

Cannock Chase 76.6% 96.8% 0.6% 0.5% 

East Staffordshire 77.9% 96.3% 0.7% 0.6% 

Lichfield 82.1% 95.6% 1.0% 0.7% 

Newcastle Under 

Lyme 
83.5% 96.5% 0.6% 0.5% 

South Staffordshire 80.9% 96.3% 0.7% 0.6% 

Stafford 81.3% 95.9% 0.7% 0.6% 

Tamworth 81.1% 96.6% 0.6% 0.6% 

 

Figure 2 - Percentage of petrol & diesel cars, battery electric cars and Plug-in hybrid electric cars VS total number of cars, Q1 
2022 

Page 336



 

12 
 

Figure 3 - ULEV cars registration from 2015 Q1 to 2022 Q1; focus on Staffordshire and Staffordshire Moorlands 

 

Table 3 shows that 97% of ULEVs on Staffordshire Moorlands roads are cars which are mainly 
BEVs(52%) and PHEVs – petrol (45%) and mainly privately owned (84% private vs 16% company). 

Given the high percentage of private low]-emission cars, the EV charging strategy will initially 
prioritise this type of user demand. However, the low-emission cars that are company-owned and 

may well include taxis and private hire vehicles are starting to be a consistent portion of licensed 

ULEVs and should also be considered in the charging solutions. 

There are very few ULEVs (3%) that are not cars, i.e. battery electric light good vehicles and 

motorcycles. No ULEV busses and coaches or heavy good vehicles are present on Staffordshire 

Moorlands roads. 

Table 3 - Number of licensed ULEVs by type, fuel and keepership in Staffordshire Moorlands, Q1 2022 (source: DfT [2]) 

Staffordshire 
Moorlands 

Ultra-Low Emission 
Total 

Battery electric Plug-in hybrid 
electric (diesel) 

Plug-in hybrid 
electric (petrol) 

C
o
m

p
a
n
y
 

P
ri
v
a
te

 

T
o
ta

l 

C
o
m

p
a
n
y
 

P
ri
v
a
te

 

T
o
ta

l 

C
o
m

p
a
n
y
 

P
ri
v
a
te

 

T
o
ta

l 

C
o
m

p
a
n
y
 

P
ri
v
a
te

 

T
o
ta

l 

Buses and 
coaches 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Cars 94 478 572 59 240 299 1 5 6 34 224 258 

Heavy goods 
vehicles 

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Light goods 

vehicles 
3 2 5 3 2 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Motorcycles 0 13 13 0 13 13 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Other vehicles 0 1 1 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Total 97 494 591 62 256 318 1 5 6 34 224 258 

Page 337



 

13 
 

3.1.2 Chargepoint infrastructure 

In line with the growth in EV demand in the UK, there has also been a steep increase in chargepoints 
across the UK from 2019 onwards. This increase can be observed by looking at the number of 

chargepoints at the end of July 2022 (Table 4), when there were 32,011 chargepoints across the UK, 
which shows a 31% increase in the number of charging devices since July 2021 (Table 4). As the 

number of EVs grows, retailers, supermarkets and other public-facing organisations with car parks 
look to partner with chargepoint suppliers and provide their customers and visitors with the required 

charging [3]. Demand for EV charging by 2030 could well be at around 300,000 chargepoints all over 

the country [4] and between 21,988 – 77,533 in the Midlands region (as explained below in section 

3.2). 

However, whilst the number of chargepoints grows dramatically across the country, Staffordshire and 

Staffordshire Moorlands are not following the same trend as their increase is rather seen in Figure 4 
suggests that the number of chargepoints in Staffordshire Moorlands is not following the steady 

increase that we can observe in Staffordshire. The number of chargepoints needs to increase in order 

to contribute to Staffordshire Moorlands reaching their net zero ambitions. 

Table 4 - EV charging statistics, Jul 22  

Location Total public 

charging 
devices 

Total public rapid 

charging devices 
(25kW+) 

Public rapid 

chargers as a 

% of total 
public charging 
devices 

Charging 

devices per 

100,000 
population 

UK 32,011 5,974 18.7% 47.7 

England 27,502 4,965 18.1% 48.6 

West Midlands 2,156 583 27.0% 36.2 

Staffordshire 279 124 44.4% 31.6 

Staffordshire 
Moorlands 

12 2 16.7% 12.2 

Cannock Chase 32 11 34.4% 31.5 

East Staffordshire 45 17 37.8% 37.2 

Lichfield 20 5 25.0% 18.9 

Newcastle Under 
Lyme 

47 23 48.9% 36.3 

South Staffordshire 53 30 56.6% 47.2 

Stafford 55 32 58.2% 39.9 

Tamworth 15 4 26.7% 19.5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 338



 

14 
 

Figure 4 - Total charging devices - focus on Staffordshire and Staffordshire Moorlands 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

At present, any resident living in Staffordshire Moorlands can consider installing a chargepoint on their 

own private property (private on street charging points are currently not available). A maximum of 

£350 or 75% off the cost to buy and install a socket, whichever amount is lower, is offered under a 

government programme to help residents with the initial installation costs of EV charging stations [5].  

There is a significant proportion of residents in Staffordshire Moorlands who do not have off street 

access, and for these residents, most of the on street parking is currently outside of the catchment 
area for public EV charge points (greater than a 5-minute walk). According to research by Ordnance 

Survey, Zap-Map and Field Dynamics [6], among the councils in Staffordshire, Staffordshire Moorlands 
District has the highest percentage (80%) of households with access to off street parking. On the 

other hand, only 5% of those without off street parking live less than a 5-minute walk from a public 

charging station (Table 5). A public chargepoint infrastructure network should give priority to 
strategies that allow the 8,256 households, which are without off street parking and are not within 5 

minutes walk of a public charge, to have an equitable and accessible network. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 339



 

15 
 

Table 5 - Access to parking street in Staffordshire County 

Council Percentage of households with 
access to off street parking 

Percentage of households 
within a 5-minute walk of a 

public charger 

Staffordshire Moorlands 80% 5% 

Cannock Chase 80% 5.7% 

East Staffordshire 68% 5.6% 

Lichfield 76% 14% 

Newcastle Under Lyme 76% 3% 

South Staffordshire 77% 4.8% 

Stafford 75% 7.7% 

Tamworth 71% 4.6% 

3.2. Midlands Connect 

Midlands Connect recognises the importance of EVs and EV infrastructure in the decarbonisation 

effort. The Midlands Connect (MC) report "Supercharging the Midlands" [7] provides direction and 

principles to promote the region's accelerated uptake and deployment of EV charging infrastructure. It 
summarises the major conclusions and analyses from their study of the MC region (Table 6). The 

baseline data and forecasts for 2025 and 2030 are presented in the report. In order to assist local 
authorities in locating and establishing economically viable rural mobility hubs, MC also plans to 

publish their "Rural Mobility Hub Guidance and Toolkit." This could inspire fresh concepts in 2022 for 

how rural public transportation might be redesigned in light of increased digital connectivity and rural 

community demands [8]. 

Table 6 - Midlands Connect MC region forecasts 

EVs registered Baseline 2020 2025 2030 

Scenario 1 – slow uptake 44,909 344,951 1,304,156 

% EV 0.74% 5.6% 20.9% 

Scenario 3 – accelerated uptake 44,909 642,762 2,527,845 

% EV 0.74% 10.5% 40.6% 

Chargepoints forecast 2,174 (Jan 2021) 9,915 – 25,703 21,988 – 77,533 

 

Within “Supercharging the Midlands” strategy, the identification of optimum locations for charging 

infrastructure has been recognised as a critical component of the deployment of a charging network, 

where locations have a variety of needs, ensuring that those residents who do not have off street 

parking options are still able to access chargepoints. 

For the greatest impact in meeting requirements for supporting those who wish to switch to EVs, the 

Local Authorities should support:  

- the installation of chargepoints at workplaces or retail parks,  

- the improvement in EV catchment of on street parking, 

- the installation chargepoints in council-owned and managed car parks.  

This could help the local councils to ensure the futureproofing of their infrastructure, providing 

chargepoints as the demand continues to increase.  

Page 340



 

16 
 

As part of a wider £450 million scheme, the UK government launched in August 2022 a new pilot 
programme (the Local EV Infrastructure (LEVI) pilot programme) to improve drivers' access to electric 

vehicle charging stations across the nation in collaboration with local authorities and businesses. 
Midlands Connect also intends to continue support through the creation of an EV forum, interaction 

with Distribution Network Operators (DNO), and planning tools. The private sector has continued to 

expand charging networks around the UK, including in supermarket parking lots and retail parks, in 
addition to the government's ongoing initiatives. However, this number is still very low within 

Staffordshire Moorlands. 

3.3. Policy and Funding  

Investment in charging infrastructure has grown steadily over the past five years, and policies 
recognising the crucial role that charging infrastructure plays in the continued adoption of EVs have 

also been adopted. An investment of £500 million was made in the Rapid Charging Fund, which was 
announced as part of the March 2020 budget, to fund the expansion of a high-powered charging 

network throughout the UK. As part of the funding announcement, specific goals and targets for the 

UK's charging infrastructure were also made public such as the plan for each motorway service area 
in the UK to have six high-powered open access charge points by 2023. Although it is anticipated that 

demand for charging infrastructure would continue to rise, the implementation of these policies seeks 

to ensure that this future demand will be met.  

Staffordshire Moorlands District can use the charging policies and funds to assist them to achieve 

their net zero goals by 2030. The development and expansion of Staffordshire Moorlands' EV charging 
infrastructure are fundamental for both the personal use of EVs and the transition of businesses and 

workplaces to electric vehicles. The new regulation, which bans the sale of new gasoline and diesel 

vehicles in the UK beginning of 2030, will accelerate the transition to low-carbon alternatives. 

The policies and funding that are and will continue to have the greatest impact on Staffordshire 

Moorlands' short- and long-term EV network ambitions are described in this section of the strategy.  

In Table 7 local policies have been reviewed and the charging solutions and determined whether the 

public or private sectors are responsible for meeting the requirements. Although not all the reviewed 
policies mention EV charging as a possible solution to reduce emissions and carbon impact, the 

importance of EV charging implementation has been discussed for each of them. 

Moreover, as the local policies are all linked and in accordance with the central government strategy, 
a detailed review of national policies and funding has also been undertaken and presented in the 

Appendix, Table 16. This is concentrated on five major impact areas: 

▪ Chargepoint technology – specifications for the charge point technology or where the policy 

supports the development of new technology 

▪ Chargepoint installation – specifications on installation either on the number of charge-

points available or the locations 

▪ Commercial requirements – specifications for the operators or support for operators 

▪ Building regulations – guidance on how charge-points should be incorporated into planning 

and planning decisions  

▪ Consumer protections – specifications as to what operators and charge-points must provide 

to consumers 

In addition to these five important areas, we have again highlighted the chargepoint infrastructure 

solutions, and any funding available to support achieving the policy objectives. SMDC will be able to 

adhere to both internal and national policy with continued financing; the council should work to assist 

government consultations to make sure Staffordshire Moorlands recognition should come. 

  

Page 341



 

17 
 

Table 7 - Policies review - Local Policies 

Policy Title Summary Date of 

publication 

Charge-point impact Key Considerations Chargepoint 

solution  

Funding Opportunities Timeframe 

Local Policies 

Sustainable Community 
Strategy for 
Staffordshire 2008 – 
2023 

The Sustainable Community Strategy at the county 
level is the overarching plan for promoting and 
improving economic, social, and environmental 
well-being.  

No mention of EV use to reduce CO2. 

2008 (?) • Reducing the overall 
carbon impact 

•Need to include EV strategy in the broad 
and general strategic vision about people, 
places, and environment 

• Off street 
• On street 
• EV Forecourts 
• EV Charging Hubs 

 Medium – 2 - 5 
years + 

Local Area Agreement 
for Staffordshire 2008 -
2011 

The LAA is based on the priorities set out in the 
Sustainable Community Strategy (above) and 
translates them into targets to increase 
Staffordshire people’s quality of life by improving 
local services and economic prosperity. It is a 
three-year agreement comprising priorities which 
have been agreed upon by local partners across 

Staffordshire and by the central Government. 

Two sections of the agreement talk about 
improving access to services and facilities by public 
transport, walking and cycling and show the per 
capita CO2 emissions. Staffs Moorlands is the 
second main contributor to CO2 emissions in the 
county. 

No mention of EV use to reduce CO2. 

2008 (?) • Reducing car emissions  

• Reducing the overall 
carbon impact 

• Promoting sustainable travel modes to 
reduce the reliance on private cars to 
access services and facilities (i.e., 
hospitals) 

• Need to consider EVs among sustainable 
travel modes in future Local Area 

Agreement 

• Off street 
• On street 
• EV Forecourts 
• EV Charging Hubs 

 Short – less than 
2 years 

Staffordshire Local 
Transport plan 2011-
2026 

The plan sets out the County Council’s proposals 
for transport provision in the county, including 
walking, cycling, public transport, car-based travel, 
and freight, together with the management and 
maintenance of local roads and footways.  

2011 • Investigating measures 
that will encourage the 
use of low-emitting 
vehicles such as the 
development of EV 
charging points. 

• Replacing council 
vehicles (when required) 
with ones that are less 
polluting and more fuel 
efficient, wherever 
possible. 

• Reviewing council staff 
car parking facilities 

• Encouraging public 
transport operators that 
when replacing vehicles, 
they consider purchasing 
lower-emitting vehicles.  

• Promoting (and running) schemes that 
encourage the uptake of smarter travel 
modes 

• Introducing Traffic Regulation orders 
(such as clear zones, low-emission zones, 
and no stopping/parking zones) 

• Encouraging all owners of the transport 
network to manage, maintain and develop 
with climate change in mind.  

 

 

• Off street 
• On street 
• EV Forecourts 
• EV Charging Hubs 

• On street Residential Chargepoint 
Scheme 

Medium – 2 - 5 
years  

Staffordshire Moorlands 
Sustainable Community 
Strategy 2007 - 2020 

Broad strategy covering sustainable improvement 
in the social, economic, and environmental 
conditions of Staffordshire Moorlands. It includes 

the following outcomes: investing in children and 
young people, supporting the quality of community 
life (i.e. improving safety), coping with the ageing 
population and exclusion, enhancing economic 
regeneration, protecting the environment, and 
responding to the threat of climate change.   

For the last two outcomes, it is considered of 
particular importance to improve public transport 
and transport links (accessibility) and reduce 
reliance on cars.  

No mention of EV use to reduce CO2. 

June 2008 • Investigating measures 
that will encourage the 
use of low-emitting 

vehicles 

• Reducing car emissions  

• Reducing the overall 
carbon impact 

• Promoting sustainable travel modes to 
reduce the reliance and growth of car 
travel to work 

• Improving public transport to 
commuters with more frequent and 
accessible service, especially in adjoining 
districts 

• Need to include EV charging plan in 
future Sustainable Community Strategy 

• Off street 
• On street 
• EV Forecourts 

• EV Charging Hubs 

• Purchase zero-emission buses fund 
and demand responsive travel fund for 
rural areas (1. Bus Recovery Grant -

transformational finding – and 2. Bus 
Service Operators Grant, only available 
to LTAs committed to entering into 
Enhanced Partnerships or started the 
statutory process of franchising 
services) 

Short – less than 
2 years 

P
age 342



 

18 
 

Policy Title Summary Date of 

publication 

Charge-point impact Key Considerations Chargepoint 

solution 

Funding Opportunities Timeframe 

Staffordshire Moorlands 
District Integrated 
Transport Strategy 2011 
- 2026 

Staffordshire Moorlands District sets out a series of 
community and strategic priorities. Significant 
importance is given to the maintenance of the 
highway network, the reduction of road casualties, 
the improvement of public transport to guarantee 
accessibility to areas with employment, housing 
and tourism growth, and the provision of 
sustainable transport such as walking and cycling. 

No mention of EV use to reduce CO2. 

November 2011 • Investigating measures 
that will encourage the 
use of low-emitting 
vehicles 

• Reducing vehicle 
emissions 

• Encouraging public 
transport operators to 
consider purchasing 
lower-emitting vehicles 
when replacing vehicles. 

• Promoting (and running) schemes that 
encourage the take up of sustainable 
transport 

• Improving further pedestrian and cycle 
infrastructures  

• Encouraging all owners of the transport 
network to manage, maintain and develop 
with climate change in mind  

• Need to better understand rural car park 
use 

• Maximising opportunities to bid for 
Department for Transport funding, 
including PT fund (e.g. Bus Back Better), 
workplace charging fund (at SCC 

buildings) and on street residential 
charging fund 

• Off street 
• On street 
• EV Forecourts 
• EV Charging Hubs 

• Purchase zero-emission buses fund 
and demand responsive travel fund for 
rural areas 

• Improve active-travel infrastructures 
(Levelling Up Fund round 2) 

Short – less than 
2 years 

Staffordshire Moorlands 
District Parking Strategy    
2021 - 2026 

The strategy sets out the management directions to 
meet the needs of residents, businesses and 
visitors given the high dependency on car use and 
limited travel choices within the district. 

Analysis of off street car parks illustrates limited 
payment options and no available electric vehicle 
charging points. Public consultation shows that 
more innovative payment methods should be 
implemented and EV charging would likely be used 
by people considering buying an EV. In SM, the 
number of EVs is only 1% of the total vehicles 
registered in the district. 

July 2021 • Investigating measures 
that will encourage the 
use of electric vehicles 

• Increasing the number 
of Electric Vehicle (EV) 
charging points in the car 
parks 

 

 

 

  

• Promoting (and running) schemes that 
encourage the take up of EVs 

• Work with the county and neighbouring 
districts to develop an EVCP strategy and 
system which minimises ongoing revenue 
commitment 

• Employ a measured roll-out, that keeps 
pace with demand  

• Possibility to provide overnight charging 
for those without off street parking 

• Off street 
 

• On street Residential Charge Point 
Scheme 

• Local EV Infrastructure Fund 

• Workplace Charging Scheme (?) 

Medium – 2 - 5 
years 

Staffordshire Moorlands 
Climate Change Action 
Plan 2021 - 2030 

 

In line with the commitment of the SCC to the 
climate change agenda by declaring a climate 

change emergency in 2019, SMDC committed to 

achieve net zero carbon emissions by 2030. The 
plan sets out how the authority will work towards 
achieving its carbon emissions target in the whole 
District and will be revised dynamically. 

Part1: how the council achieves net zero target 

Part2: how the council will help the whole District 
to achieve a net zero target 

November 2021 • Supporting the 
increased use of EV 
vehicles (still around 1%) 

• Running all fleet council 
vehicles on green fuels by 
2030 

• Reducing vehicle 
emissions  

• Reducing the overall 
carbon impact 

 

• Reducing business miles, switching 
travel modes (developments of well-
connected bus routes and walking and 
cycling networks) and promoting the use 
of EVs 

• Considering options to support or 
incentivise green alternatives 

• Running awareness campaigns 

• Monitoring CO2e to deliver a Paris-
aligned carbon budget  

• Putting climate change at the heart of 
the authorities’ decision-making (consider 
the promotion of cycling and walking 
routes during the development of all 
Masterplans). 

• Off street 
• On street 
• EV Forecourts 
• EV Charging Hubs 

• Purchase zero-emission buses fund 
and demand responsive travel fund for 
rural areas 

• On street Residential Charge Point 
Scheme 

• Rapid charging fund (?) 

• Local EV Infrastructure Fund 

• Workplace Charging Scheme 

Medium – 2 - 5 

years 

Staffordshire Moorlands 

Green Infrastructure 
Strategy 

The strategy outlines the establishment of 

strategically planned networks aimed at connecting 
already existing and newly proposed green spaces 
with green corridors crossing towns, villages, and 
rural areas. Multi-functional benefits for nearby 
communities, businesses, tourists, and the 
environment can be realised through the upkeep, 
improvement, and expansion of these green 
infrastructures. 

No mention of EV use to reduce CO2. 

 

 

May 2018 • Investigating measures 

that will encourage the 
use of low-emitting 
vehicles 

• Reducing car emissions  

• Reducing the overall 
carbon impact 

• Encouraging all owners of the transport 

network to manage, maintain and develop 
with climate change in mind 

• Promoting (and running) schemes that 
encourage the take up of sustainable 
transport 

• Off street 

• On street 
• EV Forecourts 
• EV Charging Hubs 

 Medium – 2 - 5 

years 

P
age 343



 

19 
 

Policy Title Summary Date of 

publication 

Charge-point impact Key Considerations Chargepoint 

solution 

Funding Opportunities Timeframe 

Infrastructure Delivery 
Plan 

The goal of this plan is to evaluate the 
infrastructure's capability and quality as well as its 
ability to meet the predicted demand across the 
large villages and towns included in the Core 
Strategy. 

No mention of EV use to reduce CO2. 

July 2016 • Investigating measures 
that will encourage the 
use of electric vehicles 

• Increasing the number 
of Electric Vehicle (EV) 
charging points in the car 
parks 

• Encouraging all owners of the transport 
network to manage, maintain and develop 
with climate change in mind 

• Promoting (and running) schemes that 
encourage the take up of sustainable 
transport 

• Off street 
• On street 
• EV Forecourts 
• EV Charging Hubs 

  

Taxi Licensing Policy 
Review Consultation 

The report proposes an approach to consultation 
for the review of the Council’s Taxi and Private Hire 
Policy regarding Vehicle Emissions/Air Quality, 
CCTV, General Legislation and Best Practice. 
Regarding Vehicle Emissions/Air Quality, the 
consultation concerns the inclusion of taxi 
emissions standards.  

April 2022 • Encouraging taxi 
operators that when 
replacing vehicles, they 
consider purchasing 
lower-emitting vehicles. 

• Promoting (and running) schemes that 
encourage the uptake of smarter travel 
modes 

• Encouraging all owners of the transport 
network to manage, maintain and develop 
with climate change in mind.  

 

• Off street 
• On street 
• EV Forecourts 
• EV Charging Hubs 

 Short – less than 
2 years 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 344



 

20 
 

4. Demand Analysis 

4.1. Introduction 

It is widely acknowledged that the potential switch to EVs is directly linked to the charging 
infrastructure availability and, at the same time, the charging infrastructure need is strictly correlated 

to the increase in the number of EVs and the potential future demand for this fuel type.  

The focus of demand analysis is, therefore, to identify through a data-driven approach those areas 

with the highest propensity to utilise EVs. In addition to the identification of the highest propensity 
areas, the demand analysis allows for individual council objectives to be analysed within the context 

of charging infrastructure and EV uptake supporting the council in meeting these objectives. An 
example of this would be the objective of encouraging lower carbon tourism journeys across the 

district. This objective could be achieved through encouraging journeys to be made by a variety of 

modes and ensuring key tourist locations have charging infrastructure.  

SMDC’s objectives for EV charging infrastructure consider three key factors: 

1. EV usage propensity for touristic activities  

Promoting lower carbon travel options for tourists visiting Staffordshire Moorlands and local 

tourists is a key objective of SMDC. The council understands the economic importance but also 

the potential impact that tourism can have on the net zero objectives.  

2. EV usage propensity for residents in rural locations 

In the transition to net zero SMDC understands that there is a potential if charging 

infrastructure is driven by commercial operators only rural locations will potentially be less 
prioritised. The council sees it as critical that a charging network in Staffordshire Moorlands 

supports all residents in moving to EVs. 

3. General propensity to use EV in the District 

SMDC is aware that there is a high proportion of car owners across the region and that the 
transition to EV is relatively low. Range anxiety and lack of charging infrastructure are 

identified barriers to switching to EVs. The council wants to support those who have a 

propensity to use EVs to do so. 

From these objectives, the three individual profiles were developed, and analysis completed to assess 

the demand.  

The remainder of this section first illustrates the methodology used to perform the demand analysis. 

Secondly, it gives a short overview of the demand analysis for SCC. The SCC charging infrastructure 
strategy was completed with input from all districts and outlines the potential for a charging network 

across the county. The demand analysis in the SCC strategy was completed at a high level with the 
objective to show the potential of a charging network for the county. The SCC  strategy is guiding the 

direction for chargepoint installation and highlights the support SCC has for the individual districts 

assessing their individual chargepoint requirements. The final section outlines the Staffordshire 
Moorlands District Council demand analysis and outlines the insights that have been gained through 

the more detailed data led approach and the potential for EV uptake in the region.  

4.2. Methodology 

To analyse areas of high propensity and key areas that can support wider council objectives two 
types of demographic data are utilised. Firstly, baseline data such as census data which provides the 

initial insight into the residents across the region. The second is behavioural data which gives insights 
of the typical behaviours of residents across the region. These data sets are analysed at an LSOA 

Page 345



 

21 
 

(Lower Layer Super Output Area) level1. GIS (Geographical Information System) is used as the tool 
for completing analysis allowing a variety of data sets to be geographically referenced, combined, and 

layered. 

These data sets are used to develop profiles of those most likely to support the objectives. Table 8 
outlines the baseline demographic profile for those who have the highest propensity to use EVs as 

personal vehicles. Across the region, each individual LSOA is assessed against the target demographic 
profiles. From the individual LSOA assessment, a region-wide analysis is completed to identify for the 

region the ranking from low to high propensity.  

Once the baseline data is assessed the behavioural insights are layered into the analysis through GIS. 

Mosaic data2 is the primary data source for behavioural data. The behavioural data is input into GIS 
and assessed with reference to the baseline data outlined in Table 8. The results from this analysis 

are the identification of areas where there is a likelihood for residents to be receptive to EVs. This 
behavioural data also provides insight into levers that could be utilised in areas where residents may 

be less receptive to EVs.  

The output of the completed demand analysis is a map that identifies target LSOAs based on the 
objectives of the district. From this demand analysis locations of chargepoints can be identified 

through a detailed assessment of the infrastructure within the LSOA such as car parks, fuel stations, 

potential electrical capacity, potential developments, and a high-level desk-based assessment of the 
type of housing stock and access to off street parking. Figure 5 illustrates the way in which different 

infrastructure is displayed and analysed in GIS. Figure 6 outlines the boundaries of the 94 LSOAs 
within Staffordshire Moorlands when identifying the charging infrastructure solution OA3 population 

centroids were used to identify the population centres within the LSOA from where the desktop 

assessment and detailed GIS assessment were completed.  

Table 8 - Baseline Demographic Data 

Data  Target  Reason  

Age  

25-33 being the most ideal 

ranges 

Those between these ages are the most 

likely to adopt new technology. 

Household income  

Minimum of £25k The current cost of an EV can be 
prohibitive to lower incomes, but the 
funding available to support purchases of 
EVs supports this - as a minimum. 

Household access to a car  

Minimum one car SMDC is looking to support the transition 
to EV but is also looking to support a 
modal shift away from car use. 

Household employment status  

Employed or a third-level student Those in employment are more likely to 
be commuting by car in the districts and 
boroughs, whilst students are likely to 
generate charging demand in the future. 

 
 

1 which is a geographical region of 1500 people used to ensure a standardised analysis 
2 Mosaic is a geodemographic profiling tool which classifies residential postcodes into one of 15 Groups and 66 
Types. It is based on data from Experian, Census (2011), Electoral Roll, Council Tax valuations, house sale 
prices, self-reported lifestyle surveys, OFCOM data and other consumer information which is aggregated to 
provide composite personas of the types of adults living in an area and an accurate understanding of the 
lifestyles and behaviours of households 
3 which is a geographical region built of clusters of postcodes with LSOAs 

Page 346



 

22 
 

Figure 5 - Example of infrastructure layers from GIS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 347



 

23 
 

Figure 6 - LSOA boundaries and OA population centroids 

 

P
age 348



 

24 
 

4.3. Staffordshire County Demand Analysis Overview 

In 2022 Staffordshire County Council (SCC) completed a Public EV Charging Infrastructure Strategy. 
The aim of this strategy was to support the county’s Net Zero objectives and provide a baseline 

analysis of the potential for EV charging infrastructure.  

To achieve this a high-level demand analysis was completed. This analysis used a profile of those 
residents most likely to have the capacity to switch to EVs based on the current cost of EVs and 

without increasing car ownership across the County. Figure 7 is the propensity map that was the 

result of this analysis.  

This county analysis has been used as the baseline for the detailed demand analysis completed for 

Staffordshire Moorlands. To achieve a charging network that best supports users understanding the 

propensity across the County will be key to optimising chargepoint use.  

Figure 7 - Staffordshire County Propensity for EV Use 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 349



 

25 
 

The propensity map of Staffordshire Moorlands that was produced during the county strategy Figure 
7 differs from the maps that are shown in the next section (4.4). The reason is that the analysis is 

based on relative levels of demand. Doing the analysis at the county level is going to present a 
different picture because the demand of Staffordshire Moorlands is relative to other 

boroughs/districts. Moreover, the analysis at the district level contains more details and variables to 

identify the ranks and address the objectives set with SMCD. The results of this demand analysis are 

therefore more targeted and accurate. 

4.4. Staffordshire Moorlands Demand Analysis 

As explained in section 4.1 and section 4.2 above the demand analysis to support the development of 

charging infrastructure in Staffordshire Moorlands District is driven by three objectives related to 

tourism, residents in rural locations and propensity to use EVs. 

In accordance with these objectives, three different analyses are based on specific parameters and 

criteria. In accordance with these objectives, target criteria based on each objective were developed 
and an analysis was completed to assess potential demand based on these criteria for the individual 

objectives.  

4.4.1 EV Usage Propensity for Touristic Activities 

In order to identify potential high-demand areas related to EV Usage for Touristic Activities, the 
analysis and identify the potential of areas for high demand for charging related to tourism high-

demand areas, the profile criteria assess the density of tourist attractions, tourist accommodations 

and public car parks. Local residents who would also potentially visit these attractions were 
considered through the baseline demographic data of residents' age and access to a car to identify 

those who would have the potential to become EV users. The assessment aimed to not only identify 
potential tourism or leisure locations used by those visiting the area but also to support the transition 

to EV within Staffordshire Moorlands.  

The completion of the tourism demand assessment highlighted several key regions that could benefit 
from the installation of chargepoints. Figure 8 shows the levels of EV use propensity for touristic 

activities across Staffordshire Moorlands. The areas showing high propensity are spread across those 

that would be considered rural tourist destinations driven by attractions such as parks and 
accommodation types such as campsites and caravan parks. A key area identified includes Alton 

Towers which has initial plans to install chargepoints but will likely see a growth in the number of EVs 

visiting.  

Figure 9 outlines the regions that are within 80-100% high EV use propensity for touristic activities 

within Staffordshire Moorlands. Staffordshire Moorlands Council understands the importance of 
tourism to the region and when considering the charging network where public charging solutions 

would support EV travel by tourists visiting attractions.   

 

Page 350



 

26 
 

 Figure 8 – EV Usage Propensity for Touristic Activities in Staffordshire Moorlands 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 9 – LSOAs with Highest EV Usage Propensity for Touristic Activities 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 351



 

27 
 

4.4.2 EV Usage Propensity for Residents in Rural Locations 

The identification of potential regions with residents facing the known challenges of rurality was 
assessed by an analysis of distance to work, mode of commute, access to amenities and population 

density. The baseline demographic data considered the age and access to a car of residents. Access 
to a car and access to amenities are key considerations within the assessment of rural locations. 

Commonly those who live in rural locations will have access to more than one vehicle and require to 
travel longer distances for amenities. This offers an opportunity to engage with these residents with 

regards to switching one or more vehicles to an EV. To achieve this a charging network needs to be 

in place to provide residents in these locations confidence in their ability to switch. 

Figure 10 outlines the rural propensity across Staffordshire Moorlands. The nature of Staffordshire 
Moorlands means that there are large areas across the region that would require consideration of 

charging infrastructure with the lens of rural residents’ requirements. When identifying potential 
chargepoint solutions the specific journey types and key destinations will be considered to ensure a 

robust charging network.  

Figure 11 outlines the regions that are within 80-100% high EV use propensity for residents in rural 
locations within Staffordshire Moorlands. Within these areas, assessment has been completed to 

identify where installation of chargepoints at off street locations such as council car parks is most 

suitable and areas where installation at amenities such as supermarkets or retail would be the most 

appropriate chargepoint solution. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 352



 

28 
 

Figure 10 - EV Usage Propensity for Residents In Rural Locations, Staffordshire Moorlands 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 11 - LSOAs with Highest EV Usage Propensity for Residents In Rural Locations  

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 353



 

29 
 

4.4.3 General propensity to use EVs in the District 

To identify regions with a high propensity to use EVs in detail a baseline demographic data was 
assessed age, household income, access to a car and employment. In addition to the baseline, 

demographic data access to amenities and mode of commute were assessed. The propensity to use 
EVs takes into account the current EV market, cost and the type and distance of journeys being 

made. Therefore the areas highlighted are those likely to have the highest appeal to commercial 

operators and have the highest potential to switch to EVs in the near future with engagement.  

Figure 12 outlines the EV propensity across Staffordshire Moorlands. There are a variety of types of 

locations identified as having high propensity. There are several areas identified that would be 

considered rural and this is likely due to income and access to a car in these areas. In addition, 

several urban areas have also been identified which correlates to the current data on EV owners.   

Figure 13 outlines the regions that are within 80-100% high propensity to use EV within Staffordshire 

Moorlands. Chargepoint solutions have been reviewed here to identify the potential for residential 
chargepoint solutions such as off street residential and where this is not feasible in on street 

residential. In addition, the assessment of journey types and destinations means that the suggested 

charging network would also support this user group to access public chargepoints across the region.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 354



 

30 
 

Figure 12 – EV Usage Propensity Staffordshire Moorlands 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 13 - LSOAs with Highest EV Usage Propensity 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 355



 

31 
 

4.4.4 Mosaic Group Analysis 

In addition to the EV use propensity analysis, Mosaic group analysis provides insight into the 
behaviour drivers behind travel choices and the incentives or levers that could be used in particular 

areas to increase the uptake of EVs. 

Figure 14 illustrates the spread of all Mosaic groups across the Staffordshire Moorlands and can be 
used to guide the messaging in EV engagement to be targeted to the particular groups. The four 

Mosaic groups that have behaviours and attitudes making them likely to adopt EV are outlined in 

Table 9. 

Figure 14 - Mosaic groups in Staffordshire Moorlands 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 356



 

32 
 

Table 9 - Mosaic Groups with EV propensity 

Mosaic Group  Key Features  Key Attitudes impacting EV Use 

Rental Hubs  
▪ Young singles and home 

sharers  

▪ Rent flats  

▪ Primarily do not own a car  

▪ Above average awareness of carbon emissions   

▪ Above average support of car sharing and interest in 
EVs  

▪ Classify the adequacy of their income as difficult and 
very difficult  

▪ High utilisation of transport and navigation apps  

Aspiring 
Homemakers  

▪ Families with young children  

▪ High outstanding mortgages  

▪ Likely to have two cars  

▪ Slightly above average awareness of carbon emissions  

▪ Slightly above average support of car sharing and 
interest in EVs  

▪ Classify the adequacy of their income as difficult  

▪ High utilisation of transport and navigation apps  

City Prosperity  
▪ Urban areas  

▪ High value flats  

▪ High income  

▪ Cosmopolitan lifestyles  

▪ High-tech homes  

▪ Uber passengers  

▪ Primarily do not own a car  

▪ Above average support of car sharing   

▪ Above average awareness of carbon emissions   

▪ High utilisation of transport and navigation apps  

▪ Classify the adequacy of their income as very difficult  

Transient Renters  
▪ Young singles and home 

sharers  

▪ Millennials  

▪ Rent low value terraces  

▪ Primarily do not own a car  

▪ Above average support of car sharing   

▪ Classify the adequacy of their income as difficult and 
very difficult  

▪ Above average utilisation of public transport  

However, in Staffordshire Moorlands there are a variety of Mosaic groups and there are key 

differences in groups located in the urban areas and the rural areas. The attitudes and features of the 

most common groups in Stafford Moorlands groups are outlined in Table 10. 

Table 10 - Staffordshire Moorlands Mosaic groups 

Mosaic Group Key Features Key Attitudes Impacting EV Use 

Country Living  
▪ Live in rural locations 

▪ Own old, detached houses 

▪ Aged 66 plus 

▪ Use of technology is low  

▪ Above average ownership and use/ownership of low 
emission vehicles 

▪ Above average awareness of CO2 emissions  

▪ Above average of impact of climate change 

▪ Classify the adequacy of their income as comfortable 

Rural Reality   
▪ Live in rural locations 

▪ Aged 56 – 65 

▪ Own their own homes, likely 
semi-detached 

▪ Use of technology is low 

▪ Above average use/ownership of diesel vehicles 

▪ Below average buy-in to EVs 

▪ Slightly above average awareness of the impact of 
climate change 

▪ Slightly above average awareness of CO2 emissions 

▪ Classify the adequacy of their income as very difficult 

Senior Security  
▪ Retired and established in the 

community 

▪ Aged 66 plus 

▪ Own their own homes, likely 
semi-detached 

▪ Use of technology is very low 

▪ Above average use/ownership of low emission vehicles 

▪ Less than average use/ownership diesel vehicles 

▪ Below average awareness of the impact of climate 
change 

▪ Below average awareness of CO2 emissions 

▪ Classify the adequacy of their income as comfortable 

Page 357



 

33 
 

The three groups identified in Table 10 offer both opportunities and challenges to the adoption of EVs 
across Staffordshire Moorlands. Both Country Living and Senior Security already have a disposition 

towards using, if not already, using EVs. The potential for engagement and improving the charging 
network supporting their transition is high. The Rural Reality group classify the adequacy of their 

income as difficult which, with the existing cost of EVs, could make switching challenging due to the 

current cost of EVs. However, the provision of affordable charging solutions and engagement on the 

potential of second-hand EVs would enhance this group’s ability to switch to EVs.  

The groups highlighted in the table above are not the only groups making up the residents of 

Staffordshire Moorland but are the groups with the highest number in the region. Therefore there are 
also opportunities to engage with the groups identified in Table 9 who are predominantly residents in 

the urban centres of Staffordshire Moorlands. 

4.4.5 Demand Analysis Findings 

The analysis across Staffordshire Moorlands has highlighted several key locations that should be 
considered for charging infrastructure solutions either due to current demand or to future-proof the 

charging network for increased EV use across Staffordshire Moorlands.  

The areas showing high EV use propensity for touristic activities are spread across those that would 
be considered rural tourist destinations. The propensity, in this case, is therefore driven by attractions 

such as parks and accommodation types such as campsites and caravan parks (e.g. Alton Towers).  

Moreover, the district is characterised by a large portion of residents in rural areas. The best-suited 
places for the installation of chargepoints are existing council parking lots and amenities such as 

supermarkets and retail. Also, given the nature of properties, there is high potential for off street 

charging. 

Also, looking at the general propensity to use EVs in the District by considering age, household 

income, access to a car, employment, access to amenities and mode of commute, the several rural 

areas identified are likely to be correlated to income and access to a car of residents while the several 

urban areas that have also been identified correlates to the current data on EV owners. 

Chargepoint options have to be considered in order to determine where on street residential 

chargepoints are practical and where off street residential chargepoints are more practical. According 
to the analysis of journey types and destinations, the suggested charging network would enable high 

propensity EV users to employ public charging stations all across the area. 

Some similarities can be observed between the EV usage propensity for touristic activities and the 
general propensity to use EVs in the district. The high propensity areas related to these two different 

objectives are indeed overlapping in the North-eastern and Eastern regions of the district. “Access to 

car”, a variable with high weight in the scoring process of both objectives, might be one of the 
reasons for this overlap. However, it is also possible that the potential users are not the same and 

similarities in the maps lead to a simplification of the allocation of the charging infrastructures. 

Also, some locations link to one or more of the three objectives. When locating chargepoint solutions 
the objectives were reviewed as well as the additional datasets outlined in Table 11 to ensure the 

most appropriate charging solution(s) were located. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 358



 

34 
 

Table 11 - Staffordshire Moorlands Data for network location 

Data Reason 

WPD capacity map 
Establish the location of existing sub-stations and potential 
electrical capacity 

Car parks 
SMDC car parks potential chargepoint locations within 

council control 

Key Employers 
Potential workplace locations and journey drivers within the 
LSOA. 

Planning applications 

Establish growth in the area and opportunity for growth of 
off street and off street residential charging in line with new 
policy requirements for chargepoint installation in new 
developments 

Decarbonisation 
Establish locations within Staffordshire Moorlands that need 
support in decarbonisation 

Finally, the Mosaic analysis highlights the different composition of the population between urban and 
rural areas of the district. Given their behaviour and attitudes, residents of urban areas (typically 

younger, high-tech users with an awareness of carbon emission) have a higher propensity to use EVs 
than people living in rural areas (older, low use of technology, low income). The fact that people 

living in rural areas are the majority in Staffordshire Moorlands might challenge the future increase of 
EVs. However, the engagement and new opportunities (i.e. second-hand EVs to reduce the price, 

increase in vehicle range and in public chargepoints) would help enhance this group’s ability to switch 

to EVs. 

 

 

  

Page 359



 

35 
 

5. Potential Charging Network 

The detailed demand analysis provided the data-led insight that SMDC required to map a potential 
charging network for the region. The network takes into account the three key objectives (tourism, 

rural residents, and propensity to use EV) and has reviewed locations and outlined a potential 

chargepoint solution.  

Figure 17 to Figure 19 details the five charging solutions that have been located across the region. 
Two solutions, residential off street and on street, primarily address the charging infrastructure need 

for at-home charging. The remaining three solutions support users who reside in Staffordshire 

Moorlands and are travelling to the location and also potential users visiting.  

The network outlined in Figure 20 to Figure 22 would meet the current and potential demand of the 

region as the number of EVs increases. However, the council acknowledges that as there is growth 
both in chargepoints available and EVs this will need to be reviewed and updated based on new data 

available.  

From the demand analysis and identification of chargepoint solutions, a charging hierarchy for 
Staffordshire Moorlands has been developed. The charging hierarchy outlines the charging solutions 

that should be prioritised for initial installation and engagement. The two highest priority charging 

solutions within Staffordshire Moorlands from the hierarchy are off street residential and off street 
charging. Off street residential charging can be supported through engagement with potential users 

in identified areas of high propensity. Off street charging includes the installation of chargepoints at 
council car parks which is planned to be completed in a phased approach. A phased approach based 

upon the demand has allowed for a number of SMDC car parks to be identified for chargepoint 

installation in the first phase. The further phases will be identified after analysis has been completed 
on the phase one chargepoint use.  There is also an opportunity to engage with stakeholders in 

locations identified for off street charging to support further installation. The hierarchy outlined in 
Figure 15 is an assessment for the district that builds upon SCC charging hierarchy. The SCC charging 

hierarchy took a full region approach to a potential network and the solutions required. SMDC 

acknowledges the challenges faced within the local area. To face these challenges, SCC recognises 
that the region will require broader support to facilitate the expansion of the charging infrastructure 

and is committed to help SMDC in the continuing growth of a charging network. 

Figure 15 - Charging Hierarchy 

 

 

Page 360



 

36 
 

5.1. Council Car Park Network 

The Council is committed to supporting the transition to EVs by taking responsibility for installation of 
chargepoints in council car parks. To ensure efficient installation across the 28 car parks the Council 

will take a phased approach to this installation. Data-led analysis was completed to determine the car 

parks that would be included in phase one, two and three.  

5.1.1 Methodology 

The different phases of the EV charging implementation are led by a data-driven approach that 

enables us to categorise the car parks and helps determine the most suitable locations in each phase. 
This approach includes cluster analysis to identify car parks with similar characteristics and spatial 

analysis to see where the car parks are located and better prioritise their implementation. 

 

The goal of cluster analysis is to organise the car parks into groups that are more similar to one 

another than to car parks in other groups (or clusters).  

The variables characterising the car parks that have been used to generate the clusters are:  

▪ The score of EV Usage Propensity for Touristic Activities in Staffordshire Moorlands 

▪ The score of EV Usage Propensity for Residents in Rural Locations in Staffordshire Moorlands 

▪ The score of General propensity to use EVs in Staffordshire Moorlands 

▪ Number of available spaces in the car parks  

▪ Population Density in the LSOAs 

▪ Level of Deprivation in the LSOAs 

The car parks have been clustered into three groups with the following characteristics shown in : 

Table 12 - Groups used for cluster analysis 

Groups EV Usage 
Propensity 

for Touristic 
Activities 

EV Usage 
Propensity for 

Residents in 
Rural Locations 

General 
propensity to 
use EVs 

Number of 
Spaces 

Population 
Density 

Level of 
Deprivation  

1 Medium Low High Medium High High 

2 Low High Low Low Medium Low 

3 High Medium Medium High Low Medium 

Group 1 car parks are characterised by areas with a high general propensity to use EVs, high 

population density and a high level of deprivation. Group 2 are small car parks characterised by high 

1. Cluster Analysis 

2. Spatial Analysis 

3. Car Park Selection 

Figure 16 - Council Car Park Methodology 

Page 361



 

37 
 

EV usage propensity for residents in rural locations and low multiple deprivation index. Group 3 are 
large car parks in areas with high EV usage propensity for touristic activities. Most of the car parks 

belonging to Group 1 are located in the town centres of Leek (the majority), in the town centre of 
Biddulph and Blythe Bridge. The car parks belonging to Group 2 are located in Blythe Bridge and 

Forsbrook area. Finally, the car parks belonging to Group 3 are located in Cheadle, Leek, Upper Tean, 

Oakamoor and Butterton areas. The spatial location of the car parks by groups is shown in Figure 17. 
The installation phases have been developed by looking at the information from the cluster analysis 

and the spatial location of the car parks in order to provide appropriate coverage during the different 

phases. 

5.1.2 Installation Phases 

The implementation phases for all car parks are shown in Table 13. Phase one includes in total nine 

car parks. First, it takes in car parks in Group 1 located in Leek (2 car parks), Biddulph (1 car park) 
and Blythe Bridge (1 car park). These types of car parks are characterised by the high general 

propensity to use EVs, the high population density, the high level of deprivation and a good number 
of spaces. Moreover, phase one also includes four car parks in Group 2, located in Leek (2), Cheadle 

(2) and Butterton (2). These car parks are characterised by a large number of spaces, high EV usage 

propensity for touristic activities and medium general EV use propensity and medium EV use 

propensity for residents in rural locations. There is 

As demand grows the remaining car parks would be assessed and chargepoints installed as required.  

However, exploring the information from cluster analysis and locations, it is suggested for phase two 

to expand the coverage in Leek with 6 car parks belonging to Group 1, a car park in Forsbrook 
belonging to Group 2 to guarantee rural residents of this area a second off-street public EV charging 

infrastructure and a car park in Upper Tean (which is isolated and far from possible public charging 

infrastructure) which belongs to Group 3.  

The remaining car parks in Oakamoor (1 car park, Group 3), Forsbrook (1 car park, Group 2), Blythe 

Bridge (1 car park, Group 2) and Leek (7 car parks, Group 1) are suggested to be implemented in 

phase three when a good coverage will be provided. 

The implementation phases that have been currently identified are based on the current data 

available. Once the first phase of chargepoints has been installed there will be a process for 

monitoring their use. This additional data should be taken into account before the remaining phases 
are completed and as required car parks within the second and third phases revised in order to satisfy 

the demand.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 362



 

38 
 

Table 13 - Car Park Location and Phase 

Car Park Location Post Code Phase  

Brook Street ST13 5JE 1 

Moorlands House ST13 6HQ 1 

Queen Street ST13 6LS 1 

West Street ST13 8AA 1 

Tape Street ST1 1EU 1 

Well Street ST1 1EY 1 

Wharf Road ST8 6AG 1 

Uttoxeter Road East ST11 9QA 1 

Wetton ST13 7ST 1 

Buxton Road ST13 5JE 2 

High Street ST13 5DZ 2 

Silk Street ST13 6DS 2 

Smithfield North ST13 5JW 2 

Smithfield South ST13 5JP 2 

Stockwell Street ST13 6HD 2 

Vicarage Road ST13 6AS 2 

Old Road, Tean ST1 4EG 2 

Forsbrook ST11 9BY 2 

Joliffe Street ST13 5LH 3 

Market Place ST13 5HH 3 

Market Street East ST13 6HZ 3 

Market Street West ST13 6HX 3 

Regent Street ST13 6LU 3 

St Edward Street ST13 5DR 3 

Chapel Street ST11 9DA 3 

Uttoxeter Road West ST11 9JR 3 

Oakamoor, Cheadle ST1 3AE 3 

Angle Street, Leek ST13 8AJ 3 

 

Page 363



 

39 
 

Figure 17 - Staffordshire Moorlands Council Car Parks (All Phases) 

 

 

Figure 17 outlines all car parks owned by SMDC. Based on cluster and spatial analysis, 9 car parks have been identified for Phase 1 chargepoint installation.  

 

 

P
age 364



 

40 
 

 

Figure 18 - Public chargepoints 

  

Figure 18 illustrates the potential public charging network. Based on the strategic road network a charging hub has been identified and in addition to the council car parks a number of other public car parks in high demand areas have been mapped

P
age 365



 

41 
 

 

Figure 19 - Off Street Residential and Public on street chargepoints 

 

Figure 19 demonstrates the residentially focussed charging solutions. These are marked by 500-metre scaled points. An initial desk-top survey of these areas was completed to identify the potential for off street residential chargepoints for example on 

users’ driveways. In areas where the desktop survey did not identify a high proportion of accommodation that would allow this a suggested public on street solution was marked which could include pop-up or lamppost chargepoints. 

P
age 366



 

42 
 

 

Figure 20 - Staffordshire Moorlands full charging network 

 

Figure 20 outlines the full charging network including residential and public charging solutions.  

 

 

P
age 367



 

43 
 

 

Figure 21 - Detailed image of Leek chargepoints 

 

Figure 21 is a detailed image of the charging solution in and around Leek. Highlighting the exiting chargepoints as well as the potential areas for public and residential charging solutions to be installed.  

P
age 368



 

44 
 

 

Figure 22 - Detailed image of Hartington chargepoints 

 

Figure 22 provides a comparison to Leek in the more rural location of Hartington. However, the potential network still considers the requirement for both public and residential chargepoints. 

P
age 369



 

45 
 

6. Technology and Market Review 

6.1. Overview 

When considering the improvements seen in the charging technology these have primarily been 
driven by private companies looking to provide charging infrastructure or provide and operate 

charging networks across the UK. As there is no standardised terminology across charging 

infrastructure and individual manufacturer or operator definitions can be unique a base understanding 

of the types of technology available is key.  

SCC has provided a detailed analysis of the technology and market in their Public Electric Vehicle 

Charging Infrastructure Strategy which can be found at XXXXXXX.  

SMDC has also conducted a review of charging solutions focussed specifically on accessibility and 
renewable energy for electricity provision. This will ensure the widest number of users can access the 

charging network and to increase the positive impact of charging infrastructure through the use of 

renewable energy sources.  

6.2. EV Charging Solutions 

There are also a number of innovations and recent market entrants that provide unique propositions. 

As policy on accessibility is published it is expected that there will be growth in the solutions offered 

across the market. There is also continued growth of renewable energy such as solar being 
incorporated when charging solutions are installed. The technology across the electric vehicle and 

charging market is fast-paced in its evolution and will likely see barriers such as concerns over range 

be addressed quickly in the move to net zero.   

Accessibility in charging 

As there is continued growth in the charging network across the UK and an increase in the funding 

available for the installation of chargepoints consideration needs to be given to ensuring accessibility 

is a key consideration.  

Ensuring accessibility can encompass a number of challenges faced by users. For example ensuring 

chargepoints are located and lit to ensure the safety of users, consistency across chargepoints and 
providing space between chargepoints. This space is critical for those with accessibility challenges to 

be able to utilise chargepoints. In addition when considering larger vehicles such as vans or 

ambulances a larger amount of space will be needed.  

The charity Motability is working with the Department for Transport (DfT) to establish standards for 

chargepoints through the commissioning of the British Standards Institution (BSI). These standards 

will outline guidance on kerb heights, space between bollards and the height of chargepoints. In 
addition, there will be clear definitions to be used with regards to accessibility to ensure users can 

identify chargepoints that meet their requirements.  

The key areas for consideration for users with accessibility requirements are: 

▪ Often vehicles that meet the accessibility requirements of users require side and rear access 

and therefore parking bay width and length need to be considered. 

▪ Users of chargepoints need to be able to access the sockets and the displays. In addition to the 

height of the sockets and displays how these are accessed such as the kerb height and 

materials at the base should not just consider the aesthetics.  

▪ The cables used for charging are often tethered and can be heavy; this can cause challenges in 

using the chargepoints.  

▪ In order to use a chargepoint, it is crucial for users to be able to identify chargepoints that 

meet their requirements through signage and markings.  

Page 370



 

46 
 

▪ In using a chargepoint being able to see both the bay and display is key. Lighting is also a 

critical factor in users feeling safe when using chargepoints, particularly at night. 

Figure 23 and Figure 24 outline the key considerations when installing and procuring chargepoints 

that provide access to all. Figure 25Figure 25 demonstrates the importance of lightening in car parks 
to ensure users feel safe, particularly when installing chargepoints as more time will be spent in the 

car park. Figure 26Figure 26 is an example of a pop-up chargepoint which is a helpful tool for 

reducing street clutter in areas where on street chargepoints will be needed. 

Figure 23 - Example of an accessible chargepoint 

, 

Source: Motability 

Figure 24 - Example of accessible parking bays 

 

Source: Inclusive Mobility A Guide to Best Practice on Access to Pedestrian and Transport Infrastructure  

 

 

 

 

Page 371



 

47 
 

Figure 25 - Example of good practice lightening 

 

Source: MMA Consultancy 

Figure 26 - Pop-Up Chargepoint 

 

Source: Urban Electric 

There are still challenges in providing accessible chargepoints with limited infrastructure available in 
the current market. However, as the sector continues to develop and standards are in place it is 

anticipated there will be more options available. With regards to parking pays, signage and lighting 

Page 372



 

48 
 

Staffordshire Moorlands will take these into consideration prior to installation of any charging solution 

and ensure that a proportion of charging points meets a minimum accessibility standard.  

6.3. EV charging infrastructure, battery, and solar panels innovation 

When assessing the charging solution the advances in batter technology and potential complementary 

technologies are key to ensuring that the charging infrastructure will meet the demand of the future 

and complement the wider decarbonisation objectives.  

A key user barrier that is often identified with regards to switching to EVs is concerned with the range 

of vehicles. Current battery technology has the longest range at approximately 300 miles and an 
average range of 190 miles. For most users, these ranges would facilitate most standard journeys. 

These ranges can be more challenging if vehicles are used for work purposes and vans often have a 

shorter range. The range of batteries is an area of continued research and development this research 
includes improvements in the existing lithium-ion batteries to increase their capacity and lifespan. 

Other research is exploring entirely new battery types such as solid-state batteries which improve 
conductivity and in turn produce EVs with longer ranges and are able to support even faster charging. 

It is likely that there will be a continued focus on improving existing lithium-ion batteries with new 
batteries being a focus for further in the future. The expected improvements in terms of speed of 

charging will be a key consideration for SMDC when considering how to future-proof charging 

infrastructure and as such fast-charging solutions should be considered as a minimum standard for 

chargepoints  

In addition to battery technology consideration to the generation of electricity at chargepoints 

through solar will ensure further decarbonisation in Staffordshire Moorlands. There are two potential 
solar charging opportunities. Users who have the opportunity to install residential chargepoints could 

consider the installation of solar panels to generate electricity both for their residential needs and to 

be used for charging. Public chargepoints across Staffordshire Moorlands could consider a larger-scale 
solar panel installation to generate electricity. This could be achieved through the installation of solar 

carports on a solar panel farm depending on the location of the charging solution.  

Solar carports would provide stand-alone electrical generation and vehicle shelter with a chargepoint 
accessible. The electricity generated has no direct cost to access and offers the opportunity to reduce 

costs for charging depending on the commercial model.  

Larger scale solar farms can be installed in a variety of locations for example on the roofs of car parks 
or ground-mounted on available land within the region. The installation of a large-scale solar farm 

offers an opportunity to utilise battery storage for potential excess electricity that has been 
generated. By utilising a battery storage system electricity can be supplied during evenings or when 

weather conditions are not optimum for solar generation. 

The manner in which electricity is generated for use in charging infrastructure will be considered 

across potential charging solutions within Staffordshire Moorlands. As the market and options 
continue to expand and improve the council will ensure it is monitoring and reflecting on potential 

solutions for residents across the region. 

Page 373



 

49 
 

Figure 27 - Example of solar for EV charging    Figure 28 - Example of solar energy storage system 

Source: JoJuSolar    

7. Staffordshire Moorlands District Council Use Cases 

As part of this strategy, the district engaged with five key internal stakeholders who have an interest 

in EV and chargepoint use either for their own operations, the public or their customers.  

The below use cases outline the current position and engagement the individual departments have 

with EVs and charging infrastructure, the plans for future engagement or policy and the challenges 
the departments or their stakeholders perceive with switching to EV use and the installation of the 

required charging solutions.  

Page 374



 

50 
 

 

 

Tourism and Leisure  

The car parks at tourism and leisure facilities are currently owned by the council but managed and 

operated by a third party. The existing contract is shortly coming to an end and will require a 

review of the potential management companies available. All car parks are free of charge. 

Currently no chargepoints are available and there is no plan to install charging infrastructure as 

the operator is not investing on it. The access to funding for chargepoint installation in car parks 
could be considered in the future. However, the stakeholders demand for evidence based and a 

commercial business model before considering such option. They are also willing to engage with a 

questionnaire to understand their needs/future needs for charging and lay the foundations for the 

business model. 

There are currently developing plans for two leisure centres in Leek and Cheadle. A central 

consideration in these developments will be sustainability. Energy generation through solar, 
improved insulation and EV charging solutions will all be considered. Furthermore, the new 

Cheadle Leisure Centre will be located a 5 minute walk from a car park in the city centre.  

Most visitors to both leisure and tourism facilities drive and park for a minimum of an hour. This 
provides an opportunity for fast chargers to be utilised by users of these car parks. Due to the 

leisure facilities’ locations often in close proximity to other council car parks and the fact that 95% 

of visitors come from around 1 mile radius, the required demand will need to be assessed to 

ensure the highest utilisation of chargepoints. 

Source: Robert Wilk (Principal Officer, Leisure & Recreation) 

Planning 

In 2020 the Local Plan was adopted to assess applications. Within this there is a reference to 
Transport T2 which states that Staffordshire Moorlands District Council are supportive of 

developers who wish to install their own chargepoints. The Local Plan and related policies are 

reviewed every five years and with the council ambitions for net zero and the increase in EVs the 

Planning Team are aware that charging infrastructure will need to be further considered.  

According to the UK Government policy, the Building Regulation Part S establishes a requirement 

that all new homes and current homes undergoing substantial modifications (of 10 or more 
households) have charging stations for electric vehicles that may be placed on their associated 

parking spaces at that residence. The minimum power required is of 7kW. This would be reviewed 

by the building regulation officers who would review that this is being adhered too.  

When the planning department monitors and evaluated planning applications the number of 

developments with planned EV charging infrastructure can be reviewed.  

Currently the type of chargepoint infrastructure is not specified by the planning department. The 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) is in draft form and will reference EV charging 

infrastructure and will be linked to the county strategy. 

Source: Mark James (Principal Planning Officer) 

Page 375



 

51 
 

 

Parking 

The 32 car parks currently owned and operated by Staffordshire Moorlands District Council are 

majority located in Leek but there are car parks across the region and in rural locations. The car 
parks have been mapped in Figure 17. The car parks provide 1,701 car parking spaces in total 

with 144 of these being free. 

The users of these car parks generally park for one and up to two hours and therefore fast 
charging solutions would be prioritised and with plans to install new parking machines to accept 

contactless payments it would be planned for chargepoints to also accept this payment method.  

In addition, the Council has considered other key aspects of chargepoint installation: 

▪ Situating chargepoints in or near to disabled bays would increase accessibility 

▪ Installing cabling without chargepoints will be considered to allow easy installation of new 

chargepoints 

▪ Marking of bays and clear signage will be employed when chargepoints are installed 

▪ Priority will be given to chargepoints that employ dynamic load baring to allow power share 

▪ Traffic regulation orders will be reviewed to ensure that chargepoints remain available for 

users when needed 

Across the car parks owned by Staffordshire Moorlands District Council there is no charging 
infrastructure currently installed. Analysis within the Public EV Charging Infrastructure Strategy 

has identified car parks with demand for charging solutions and the Council will be reviewing the 

process for installation. 

Source: Kash Dhadwar (Car Parks Contracts Officer) 

Page 376



 

52 
 

 

Housing – Your Housing Group 

There are nearly 3,000 properties, including detached, semi-detached and flats, provided by Your 

Housing Group across Staffordshire Moorlands. 

In line with UK Government strategies, the Building Regulation Part S establishes a requirement 
that all new residential building with associated parking must have access to electric vehicle 

charge points. This applies to new residential and non-residential buildings, buildings undergoing 
a material change of use to dwellings, residential and non-residential buildings undergoing a 

major renovation with 10 or more dwelling, mixed-use buildings that are either new or 

undergoing a major renovation. 

The number of Your Housing residents with EVs is currently low however as more EVs are 
purchased there will be engagement with residents to sign-post to relevant information on EVs 

and charging infrastructure. For those residents in housing that do not have chargepoints it will 
be the resident’s responsibility to responsibility of installation, subject to consent being granted 

and providing a certificate of installation. For the installation, the resident has to get approval and 
contact a certified technician to complete the work. Subsequently, Your Housing Group will check 

that the installation is properly done.  

There are key barriers for the residents including accessibility to parking which there is a high 

demand for, residents who are in flats where there is communal parking and therefore the shared 
electricity supply and the costs for residents to install infrastructure and purchase an EV in the 

first instance.  

Currently it is not feasible for chargepoints to be installed by Your Housing Group as the landlord 
due to the cost of installation. The cost and current available funding is a challenge for both 

residents and Your Housing Group.  

Source: Aaron Hammersley (Head of Housing) & Dave Lovatt (Housing Officer)  

Page 377



 

53 
 

 

Through the use case engagement key themes were raised across the stakeholders with regards to 
the role and reasonability of SMDC in the installation of chargepoints, the management and 

maintenance of chargepoints and the challenges faced by residents and businesses in the switch to 
EV. These have been taken into account with regards to the recommendations and next steps of 

SMDC. Critically SMDC will engage and support the installation of charging infrastructure across the 
district by communicating with residents about the options available for switching to EV, liaising with 

relevant stakeholders, and installing chargepoints where needed in SMDC car parks.   

8. Commercial Models 

8.1. Model assessment 

Table 14 outlines the five common commercial models considered for public charging solutions. These 

models can be utilised both by the council and by workplaces or other institutions exploring the 

potential for charging infrastructure at these locations.  

For SMDC the key locations for chargepoint installation will be their car parks, this provides an 

opportunity to apply for UK Government funding. In this instance, an agreement could be reached 

between the council and operator to see the remaining costs be shared. To ensure a return on 
investment for the region the council will ensure that potential revenue from chargepoints is assessed 

in detail prior to a final commercial model agreement being made.   

Taxi & Private Hire 

There are currently 68 taxi & private hire vehicles registered by SMDC, including 46 Hackney cabs 

and 22 private hire vehicles. Currently the licensing requirements focus on mileage and not the 
age or fuel type of the vehicle. At first application the vehicle must have less 75,000 and once the 

mileage reaches 300,000 the vehicle must be retired. 

Currently the fleet is predominantly vehicles from 2015 with a few hybrid vehicles.  

The types of journeys made tend to be short bursts of intense journeys rather than longer 
journeys. For drivers considering switching to EV the key consideration is the facility to use fast 

chargers to top-up father than long periods of charging. 

There is currently a consultation in progress with Taxi and Private Hire with regards to moving to 
lower emission vehicles. The consultation is gathering opinion on introducing new licensing 

requirements from 1st April 2024; all vehicles will be at least one of: 

▪ Euro 4 petrol 

▪ Euro 6 diesel 

▪ Hybrid or EV 

Leek Link is the biggest operator with a fleet of 25-30 vehicles which drivers use rather than own. 
They also have their own compound and could potential install their own chargepoints at the site. 

However, the lack of funding available would still mean a large capital investment.  

Due to the nature of transportation across Staffordshire Moorlands the Taxi and Private Hire fleet 
are a key mode of transport. During and after the pandemic it has faced challenges and with lack 

of funding available there is no current plan for a deadline for a full EV fleet.  

Source: Mike Towers (Senior Officer Housing, Public, Health & Licensing) & Alicia Patterson (Head 

of Environmental Health) 

Page 378



 

54 
 

Table 14 - Commercial Models 

Model  Description  Key Considerations  Advantages Disadvantages 

Own and 
operate  

▪ Local Authority tenders for a Chargepoint Operator 
to install chargepoints  

▪ LA own the Chargepoints (gov. funding)  

▪ LA takes revenue  

▪ LA pays CPO to maintain Chargepoints.  

▪ This model would involve SMDC appointing a supplier to deliver and 
manage the chargepoint infrastructure for a set period with all revenue 
being retained  

▪ All revenue is retained by council  

▪ Locations selected by the council  

▪ Streamline procurement   

▪ UK Government has established procurement 
frameworks to expedite process and encourage supplier 
confidence   

▪ Funding would need to be identified  

▪ On-going maintenance costs  

▪ Updates to technology are the council’s 
responsibility   

▪ Any key performance indicators and or 
contractual service level agreements may be 
difficult to enforce    

Match 
funding  

▪ The OZEV grant offers 60% of the funding for 
eligible costs.   

▪ The remaining 40% will need to be provided by 
the council or a third party i.e., CPO 

▪ This could also be achieved if government funding 
is not available, but the Council and the operator 
agree to match funding 

▪ Likely to reduce the revenue received and limiting the overall SMDC 
can exert on the facility   

▪ Partner ownership incentivises better provision, improved 
quality of service for users  

▪ Reduced risk and responsibility for maintenance costs  

▪ The chargepoints can be futureproofed depending on 
the partnership agreement 

▪ Reduced revenue share  

▪ Contractual and financial arrangements may 
not suit all suppliers and so pool of available 
partners is reduced 

▪ Partners require confidence that revenue will 

be achieved in any locations  

Concession 
framework  

▪ The operational costs and risks are shared in part 
or completely with the operator   

▪ This model is often a revenue share    

▪ SMDC safeguard their resources and revenue but then must accept 
diminished input in determining facility locations   

▪ This approach is best suited where demand is proven, or operators 
are confident of a return on investment  

▪ Reduced risk and responsibility for maintenance costs  

▪ The chargepoints can be futureproofed depending on 
the partnership agreement  

▪ Depending on the agreement council may retain 
ownership of the chargepoints or electrical connections  

▪ Operators require confidence that revenue 
will be achieved and therefore locations 
would need to be agreed  

▪ Delivery can be slowed due to negotiations 
and the time to make a contractual award  

▪ Reduced revenue share  

Land rental  ▪ Private sector investment, installing, maintaining 
the chargepoints while paying rent to the LA (or 
other) for land   

▪ Revenue for SMDC would solely be from the land rental which would 
reduce some risks. However, operators would look to ensure demand 

▪ Reduced risk and responsibility for maintenance costs  

▪ Agreed revenue through rent  

▪ Operators require confidence that revenue 
will be achieved and therefore locations 
would need to be agreed  

▪ Delivery can be slowed due to negotiations  

Leasing/ 

hosting  

▪ Chargepoints leased to the LA for a monthly fee   ▪ Provides control of location to SMDC and maintenance to the operator 

▪ SMDC would not receive any revenue and would need to decide if 
monthly fee would be covered by cost to users 

▪ Reduced risk and responsibility for maintenance costs  

▪ The chargepoints can be futureproofed depending on 
the leasing agreement  

▪ Locations selected by the council  

▪ No revenue shares  

▪ Delivery can be slowed due to negotiations 
and the time to make a contractual award  

▪ Expected that the monthly cost would need 
to be covered by charges to users  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 379



 

55 
 

8.2. Pricing Models 

There are approximately 53 chargepoint operators currently providing charging infrastructure across 
the UK. The variety of chargepoint operators provides a range of models for accessing chargepoints 

and costs for charging. From September 2022 the UK Government will enact a policy that ensures 
that each chargepoint accepts contactless payments. In addition to a pay-as-you-go model, there are 

also operators who provide a membership model as well which can provide discounts.  

Table 15 outlines five operators providing services across the UK. There is a variety of operators 
outlined to demonstrate the widest section of the market currently. To provide a comprehensive 

comparison of operators both within SMDC and across the UK. The majority of operators will have a 

banded costing depending on the charging speed and those utilising renewable energy generation for 

powering the chargepoints do have a higher cost.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 380



 

56 
 

Table 15 - Chargepoint operators and costs 

Chargepoint Operator Operator Details Key Considerations Charging Speed Cost 

PodPoint Formed in 2009 175,000 charging points have been 
sold across the UK and have installed 7,300+ public 
charging bays.  

Provider of chargepoints at two supermarket chains 7kW – 75k Tesco chargepoints – Free 

Lidl - £0.40 p/kWh 

Fast-£0.15p p/kwh Rapid - £0.28p/kWh  

New Motion New Motion is owned by Shell, company’s UK base 
is in London, but New Motion started out in the 
Netherlands.  

London based operation 11kW – 50kW Fast  - £0.20p p/kWh - £0.25p/kWh  

Rapid - £0.20p p/kWh - £0.25p/kWh may be 
different depending on location  

 

Connection fee at some chargepoints £0.30-
£0.35p 

VendElectric Provided by Rolec Services a leader in outdoor 

electrical equipment with 10 years’ experience 
in the EV industry. There are 15,369 

chargepoints across the VendElectric network.  

Long-term experience with outdoor electrical 

equipment means they have a detailed 
procurement and testing programme for 

products. 

3kW – 50kW 
Slow - £0.15p p/kWh  

Fast - £0.20p/kWh  

Rapid - £0.36p/kWh  

Mer 
Mer is a European EV charging company 
owned by Statkraft. Statkraft is a Norwegian 

state-owned utility company, committed to 
play a leading role in the development of 

renewable energy Through our extensive 
experience within renewable energy and 

electric mobility, Mer combines their expertise 

to provide chargepoint electricity. 

Experienced renewable energy provider 7kW – 50kW Fast - £0.39p p/kwh Rapid - £0.55p/kWh  

Osprey Charging Osprey focuses on rapid charging to provide 
drivers with a UK-wide public rapid charging 

network.  

Provide only rapid charging 22kW – 150kW 
Fast - £0.66p p/kWh 

Rapid - £1.00/kWh 

BP Pulse BP Pulse currently has over 9,000 

chargepoints across the UK which includes 
3,000 rapid and ultra-rapid chargepoints. BP 

pulse is an end-to-end manufacturer and 
operator of charging infrastructure. 

The only fully integrated end-to-end 

manufacturer and operator of charging 
infrastructure in the UK. 

7kW – 150kW 
Fast – £0.57p p/ kWh 

Rapid –£0.65p/kWh 

Ultra-rapid –£0.69p/kWh  

Non-members 

 

Fast – £0.44p p/kWh 

Rapid - £0.55p/kWh 

Ultra-rapid- £0.55p/kWh  

Members Subscription costs £7.85pm. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 381



 

57 
 

9. Recommendations 

SMDC is clear on its decarbonisation objectives and aims to be net zero by 2030 and the strategy 
aims to support and drive forward the uptake of EVs in the region. The strategy will be used to create 

a network for charging infrastructure and enable steps to be taken towards achieving net zero by 

2030. As EV use grows in the region the data-led approach should be updated to review the 

requirements for further charging infrastructure and the progress towards decarbonisation.  

To support the implementation of the strategy and the continued journey towards a future-proofed 

charging network we present the following recommendations.  

9.1. Engagement  

When implementing the strategy, it is crucial that residents, current and potential EV users and other 
key stakeholders are brought on the journey. Achieving this engagement is key and can be achieved 

in a variety of ways from specific engagement and communication programmes to meeting with 
internal stakeholders at SMDC. By improving stakeholders' and residents' understanding of EVs, 

charging infrastructure and SMDC's role in developing a charging network the confidence in making 

the switch to EVs can be enhanced  

We would recommend that SMDC engage with internal and external stakeholders such as developers, 
businesses, and landowners at key points during implementation. In addition, consideration should be 

given to implementing an engagement plan with residents to support the increased use of EVs. 

9.2. Feasibility  

The demand analysis has identified locations based on SMDC objectives and relative levels of 
demand. Before any chargepoint is installed we would recommend detailed feasibility be completed at 

each site. This would include:  

▪ Site visits   

▪ Electrical feasibility study  

▪ Civil feasibility study  

▪ Detailed analysis of the users in the area  

▪ Detailed assessment of installation cost (Bill of Quantities)   

▪ Adhering to standardised installation processes (The IET Code of Practice for Electric Vehicle 

Charging Equipment Installation)  

9.3. Funding 

When implementing the strategy SMDC should continue to review the funding that is available to 
support installation at SMDC car parks. The Department for Transport and the Office for Zero 

Emission Vehicles commit new funding to EV infrastructure on an annual basis. In addition where 

possible SMDC should act within the 2022 financial year to access the current funding available.  

The council should also look to ensure relevant stakeholders are kept up to date on the funding that 

is available to them for purchasing EVs and for charging infrastructure.  

As part of the funding, SMDC should consider the commercial model the council would prefer to 

implement for chargepoints in its own car parks. There is a potential opportunity for SMDC to 
enhance revenue to the council through the chargepoints. We would recommend that SMDC engages 

with several potential operators to assess potential partners. Given the current funding available for 
chargepoint installation at council car parks there is an opportunity for SMDC to access revenue from 

the installation of chargepoints which we would recommend exploring. 

Page 382



 

58 
 

9.4. Operators 

It is likely that there will continue to be a variety of chargepoint operators with Staffordshire 
Moorlands. In order to ensure confidence in the network, it is important that users' expectations are 

met with regards to both technology and customer service. As with any type of service provision 
users’ rights will be protected and Ofgem continues to ensure these rights and protections meet with 

new chargepoint services. We would recommend that where possible the council engage with 

operators in the region to ensure they follow best practices.  

9.5. Monitoring 

Monitoring the chargepoint network will allow SMDC to understand the use of chargepoints and to 
track the demand in specific locations. This data should then feed into further analysis to enhance the 

existing chargepoints or to expand the network. We would recommend that SMDC ensure that a 

monitoring system is in place.  

9.6. Review 

Technology across the EV and EV charging infrastructure market continues to evolve as does user 

demand, journey types and travel behaviours. As these technologies change and as there is a growth 
in EV users, Staffordshire Moorlands should review this strategy. A complete strategy review should 

be completed in 2025 and an update to the demand analysis completed when the 2021 census data 

is available. 

  

Page 383



 

59 
 

10. References 

 

[1]  Department for Transport, “Licensed Vehicles, table VEH0105 - end of Q1, March 2022,” 2022. 

[Online]. [Accessed 10 August 2022]. 

[2]  Department for Transport, “Licensed Vehicles, table VEH0142 - end of Q1, March 2022,” 2022. 

[Online]. [Accessed 10 August 2022]. 

[3]  Department for Trasport, “Electric vehicle charging device statistics, Tab EVCD_01a/b,” 2022. 

[Online]. Available: https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/electric-vehicle-charging-device-

statistics-july-2022/electric-vehicle-charging-device-statistics-july-2022. [Accessed 10 August 

2022]. 

[4]  Zap-Map, “Government announces tenfold expansion in charge points by 2030,” 2022. [Online]. 

Available: https://www.zap-map.com/government-announces-tenfold-expansion-in-charge-

points-by-2030/. [Accessed 19 08 2022]. 

[5]  Office for Zero Emission Vehicles, “Grant schemes for electric vehicle charging infrastructure,” 

2022. [Online]. Available: https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/government-grants-for-

low-emission-vehicles. [Accessed 27 09 2022]. 

[6]  Field Dynamics and Zap-Map, “National Map of EV Charge Point Coverage,” 2022. [Online]. 

Available: https://onstreetcharging.acceleratedinsightplatform.com/. [Accessed 19 08 2022]. 

[7]  M. Connect, “Supercharging the Midlands,” 2021. [Online]. Available: 

https://www.midlandsconnect.uk/publications/supercharging-the-midlands/. [Accessed 19 08 

2022]. 

[8]  M. Connect, “Fairer, greener, stronger: A Strategic Transport Plan for the Midlands,” 2022. 

[Online]. Available: https://www.midlandsconnect.uk/media/1868/mc-stp-doc_digital.pdf. 

[Accessed 19 08 2022]. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 384



 

60 
 

Appendix A: National Policies 

Table 16 - National EV policies 

Policy Title Summary 
Date of 

publication 
Charge-point impact Key Considerations 

Chargepoint 
solution 

Funding Opportunities Timeframe 

Reducing emissions 
from road 
transport: Road to 
Zero Strategy - 
GOV.UK 
(www.gov.uk) 

The Government's long-term 
strategy to transition to zero 
emission road transport 

2018 • New street lighting columns to include charging 
points. 
• Highway Infrastructure Code of Practice and the 
Network Management of Traffic Equipment Code of 
Practice – that highway authorities refer to as part of 
the management and maintenance of their assets – 
to include a section on the benefits of introducing EV 
lamppost chargepoints.  

• A cohesive, integrated, and affordable net zero public 
transport network, designed for the needs of the 
passenger, will empower consumers to make sustainable 
end-to-end journeys and enable inclusive mobility. 
• Clean Air Zone cities should continue to be used as a 
tool to achieve net zero.  

 • On street Residential Chargepoint 
Scheme (ORCS) for local authorities 
• EV Charging Infrastructure Investment 
Fund 
• Tax and grant support increasing EV 
uptake 
• EVHS grant 

Medium - 2 - 5 
years 

Automated and 
Electric Vehicles 

Act 2018 

Regulation of consumer 
experience of charging 
infrastructure, including 
requirements and 
prohibitions 

2018 • Regulations may impose requirements on operators 
of public charging or refuelling points in connection 
with— 
(a)the method of payment or other way by which 
access to the use of public charging or refuelling 
points may be obtained; 
(b)performance, maintenance and availability of 
public charging or refuelling points; 
(c)the components of public charging or refuelling 
points that provide the means by which vehicles 
connect to chargepoints. 

• The information considered likely to be useful to 
consumers and users or potential users of the 
chargepoint, for example information about— 
(a) the location of the chargepoint and its operating 
hours, (b) available charging or refuelling options, (c) 
the cost of obtaining access to the use of the 
chargepoint, (d)the method of payment or other way by 
which access to the use of the point may be obtained, 
(e)means of connection to the point, (f) whether the 
point is in working order, and (g) whether the point is in 
use. 
• Building regulations may require operators to— 
(a) provide a prescribed method of payment or 
verification for obtaining access to the use of public 
charging or refuelling points; (b) co-operate with each 
other for the purposes of a requirement imposed by the 
regulations (for example, by sharing facilities or 
information); (c) take prescribed steps for the purposes 

of such a requirement (for example, to provide 
information to a prescribed person). 

• Off street 
• On street 
• EV Forecourts 
• EV Charging Hubs 

 Short - under 
two years 

EV Charging in 
Residential and 
Non-Residential 
Buildings  

The Government proposal on 
charging requirements for 
residential and non-
residential buildings 

2019 • Every residential building undergoing major 
renovation with more than 10 car parking spaces to 
have cable routes for electric vehicle chargepoints in 
every car parking space.   
• Every new non-residential building and every non-
residential building undergoing a major renovation 
with more than 10 car parking spaces to have one 
chargepoint and cable routes for an electric vehicle 
chargepoint for one in five spaces. 
• A requirement of at least one chargepoint in 
existing non-residential buildings with more than 20 
spaces, applicable from 2025.  

• Within Building Regulations, the government will apply 
a requirement for cable routes to be installed in all 
residential buildings with more than 10 parking spaces 
undergoing major renovation, with some exemptions. 
• The Government will lay down requirements for the 
installation of a minimum number of chargepoints in all 
existing non-residential buildings with more than 20 
parking spaces. This requirement must be set by March 
2020 and will come into force by 1st Jan 2025. 

• Off street 
• On street 

• OZEV  Short - under 
two years 

Future of mobility: 
urban strategy - 
GOV.UK 
(www.gov.uk) 

Outlining the benefits, the 
Government wants to see 
from mobility innovation. 

2019 • New modes of transport and new mobility services 
must be safe and secure by design. 
• Mass transit must remain fundamental to an 
efficient transport system. 

•The marketplace for mobility must be open to stimulate 
innovation and give the best deal to consumers. 
• The commercial benefits of innovation in mobility must 
be available to all parts of the UK and all of society. 
• New mobility services must be designed to operate as 
part of an integrated transport system combining public, 
private and multiple modes for transport users. 
• Data from new mobility services must be shared where 
appropriate to improve choice and the operation of the 
transport system. 

• Off street 
• On street 
• EV Forecourts 
• EV Charging Hubs 

• £90 million of funding in Future Mobility 
Zones. 
• Unspecified support of the automotive 
industry to adapt, by continuing to fund 
the research and development of low 
carbon technologies. 

Medium - 2 - 5 
years 

P
age 385

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/reducing-emissions-from-road-transport-road-to-zero-strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/reducing-emissions-from-road-transport-road-to-zero-strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/reducing-emissions-from-road-transport-road-to-zero-strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/reducing-emissions-from-road-transport-road-to-zero-strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/reducing-emissions-from-road-transport-road-to-zero-strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/reducing-emissions-from-road-transport-road-to-zero-strategy
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2018/18/contents/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2018/18/contents/enacted
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2018/18/contents/enacted
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/electric-vehicle-chargepoints-in-residential-and-non-residential-buildings
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/electric-vehicle-chargepoints-in-residential-and-non-residential-buildings
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/electric-vehicle-chargepoints-in-residential-and-non-residential-buildings
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/electric-vehicle-chargepoints-in-residential-and-non-residential-buildings
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/future-of-mobility-urban-strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/future-of-mobility-urban-strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/future-of-mobility-urban-strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/future-of-mobility-urban-strategy


 

61 
 

Policy Title Summary 
Date of 

publication 
Charge-point impact Key Considerations 

Chargepoint 
solution 

Funding Opportunities Timeframe 

• Preparing the urban environment, through publishing 
Building Regulations guidance to support local decisions 
about the design and allocation of urban space. 

Workplace 
Charging Scheme 
(WCS) 

The scheme is a voucher-
based scheme providing 
support towards the cost of 
the purchase and installation 
of chargepoints up to 75% of 
the costs and capped at £350 
for each socket. 

2020 • The minimum technical specification for the 
Workplace Charging Scheme has been updated. 
Chargepoint models under ‘fast DC’ with a charging 
output greater than 3.5kW and not greater than 
22kW are now eligible.  

  • 75% of chargepoint costs up to £350 
per chargepoint and maximum 40 
chargepoints. 

 

Transport 
Decarbonisation 
Plan  

The plan that follows on from 
Decarbonising transport 
published in March 2020 
which set out the scale of 
reductions from transport 
needed to deliver the carbon 
budgets and net zero. The 
plan now sets out the 
commitments and actions 
made to decarbonise the UK 
transport system. 

2021 • A driver should never be more than 25 miles away 
from a rapid (50kW) chargepoint anywhere along 
England’s motorways and major A roads. 

• The Energy White Paper sets out framework to 
ensure that there is investment to power transition 
to EVs. 

• Ofgem is currently reviewing the ways EV charging 
infrastructure is allocated and has recently published a 
consultation proposing that all network reinforcement 
costs should be socialised across electricity bill payers, 
rather than falling on the individual connecting 
consumer.  
• The National Model Design Code sets out a process for 
developing local design codes and guides, with 
supporting design guidance on movement and public 
spaces including streets. It outlines an expectation that 
development should consist of a well-connected network 
of streets with good public transport and an emphasis 
on active travel modes including walking and cycling.  
• Manual for Streets aligns with these principles and is 
routinely used for plan making and decision taking to 
secure better outcomes for our streets and public realm.  

• Off street 
• On street 
• EV Forecourts 
• EV Charging Hubs 

• £120 million in zero emission buses 
through the Zero Emission Bus Regional 
Areas scheme 
• £50 million provided through the All-
Electric Bus Town or City scheme  
• £1.3 billion to accelerate the roll out of 
charging infrastructure  
• £1.3 billion over the next four years for 
charging 
• A new £90 million Local EV 
Infrastructure Fund, opening in 2022,  
• £880 million Air Quality Grant 
• £4.8 billion Levelling-Up Fund 
•  £1.5 billion between April 2015 to 
March 2021 to support the early market 
and remove barriers to EV ownership and 
£2.8 billion package of measures to 
support the switch to clean vehicles 
• £1 billion to build an internationally 
competitive electric vehicle supply chain 
at pace and scale in the UK. 
• £582 million for new vehicle grants until 
2022-23. 
• £1.5 billion - Transport decarbonisation 
R&D investment by mode  
• £1.5 billion - Transport decarbonisation 
R&D investment by strategic priority 

Medium - 2 - 5 
years 

EV Smart Charging The Government published 
its final response to the 
electric vehicle smart 
charging consultation that 
was closed in May 2020. 

2021 • Smart charging technology will be required of all 
new chargepoints, phase one focuses on domestic 
and some workplace charge-points. 

 

 

• Interoperability allowing consumers to switch 
chargepoint operators will be required in Phase Two. 
• Data share across operators is being explored for 
commercial opportunities by Government. 

• Off street 
• On street 

 Short - under 
two years 

Ofgem EV Strategy  Ofgem is the energy 
regulator and has launched a 
strategy aimed at supporting 
EV infrastructure and 
technology while ensuring 
consumers are protected. 

2021 • Support will be given to ensure the network 
capacity is in place to support the required charging 
infrastructure. 
• Costs to large electric consumers such as EV 
charging infrastructure to be brought down when 
reinforcement is required. 

• Support the development of vehicle-to-grid 
technologies where EV owners can earn money 
exporting electricity back to the grid. 
• Support the adoption of EVs by working with the 
sector to ensure the widest range of products, tariffs 
and services are available.  

• Off street 
• On street 
• EV Forecourts 
• EV Charging Hubs 

 

Long - 5 years 
+ 

P
age 386

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/transport-decarbonisation-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/transport-decarbonisation-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/transport-decarbonisation-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/electric-vehicle-smart-charging
https://transportandenergy.com/2021/09/06/ofgem-launches-ev-strategy/


 

62 
 

Policy Title Summary 
Date of 

publication 
Charge-point impact Key Considerations 

Chargepoint 
solution 

Funding Opportunities Timeframe 

Net Zero Strategy: 
Build Back Greener 

The strategy outlines the 
steps to be taken to cut 
emissions, take advantage of 
economic opportunities and 
support private investment. 

2021 • By early 2030s 25% of cars will be electric which 
will require a charging network to support. 
• Later in 2021 an EV infrastructure strategy will be 
published. 
• Support developments in smart charging. 

• Support the move to EV for goods deliveries. 
• In decarbonising the transport sector new employment 
opportunities will be created. 
• Local Transport Plans will set out place-based 
strategies for improving transport networks with focus 
on carbon reduction and a move to net zero. 
• Ensure consumers have access to the required 
technologies. 

• Off street 
• On street 
• EV Forecourts 
• EV Charging Hubs 

• £620 million for zero emission vehicle 
grants and EV Infrastructure, including 
further funding for local EV 
Infrastructure, with a focus on local on 
street residential charging 
• Allocating a further £350 million from 
the up to £1 billion Automotive 
Transformation Fund (ATF) to support 
the electrification of UK vehicles and their 
supply chains 
• £70 million to roll out home, on street, 
and workplace chargepoints 

Long - 5 years 
+ 

Rapid Charging 
Fund 

The Rapid Charging Fund 
(RCF) will support motorway 

and major A road service 
operators prepare for net 
zero. 

2021 • By 2023, to have at least 6 high-powered, open-
access chargepoints (150-350 kW capable) at 

motorway service areas in England. 
• By 2030, we expect around 2,500 high-powered, 
open-access chargepoints across England’s 
motorways and major A roads. 
• By 2035, we expect around 6,000 high-powered, 
open-access chargepoints across England’s 
motorways and major A roads. 

  • EV Charging Hubs • Fund £950 million Long - 5 years 
+ 

The Ten Point Plan 
for a Green 
Industrial 
Revolution 

The Ten Point Plan outlines 
key areas of focus and 
targets for the continued 
development to net zero. 

2021 • Targeted support on rapid charging points on 
motorways and major roads. 

• In 2021 a Green Paper was to be published which 
outlines the post-EU emissions regulations. 

• A focus on building the EV manufacturing industry in 
the UK 

• Off street 
• On street 
• EV Forecourts 
• EV Charging Hubs 

  Long - 5 years 
+ 

Future of transport: 
regulatory review: 
zero emission 
vehicles  

The reviews aim to address 
outdated transport policies. 
The review is seeking views 
on the introduction of 
requirements to 
chargepoints. 

2021 • Statuary obligation to provide charging 
infrastructure. 

• Requirements to install chargepoints in non-
residential car parks. 

• New powers supporting the delivery of the rapid 
charging fund. 

• Requirements to improve the experience for 
electric vehicle consumers. 

• The review will consult on whose duty it will be to 
enact the legislation. This may be local authorities, 
chargepoint operators or energy companies. 

• Provision of the chargepoints will likely fall on the 

landowners. 

• Accessibility and safety will be key consideration within 
the user experience. 

 

• Off street  Short – under 
two years 

Plug-in Grant 
Scheme 

From December 2021 the 
grant scheme for zero-
emission vehicles was 
updated to target less 
expensive models. 

2021 • There will be £1,500 for vehicles under £32,000 
with vehicles that are wheelchair accessible being 
prioritised with a higher grant. 

• There are also changes to the Plug-in Van Grant 
making the scheme more sustainable. 

• The aim of the changes to the grant is to increase the 
speed of EV uptake. This will have an impact on the 
charging infrastructure requirements. 

 

• Off street 
• On street 
• EV Forecourts 
• EV Charging Hubs 

• Fund £620 million Short – under 
two years 

Taking Charge: The 
Electric Vehicle 
Infrastructure 
Strategy 

The strategy combines the 
aims, objectives and funding 
provided by the UK 
Government. 

2022 Outlining the continues support and objectives for 
charging infrastructure across the UK. 

• Outline the strategic aims and objectives of the UK 
Government for charging infrastructure. 

• Off street 
• On street 
• EV Forecourts 
• EV Charging Hubs 

• £450 million Local EV Infrastructure 
Fund (LEVI)  

• A further £50 million in LEVI funding 
local delivery support  
• £950 million rapid charging fund 

Long - 5 years 
+ 

 

 

 

P
age 387

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1026655/net-zero-strategy.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/1026655/net-zero-strategy.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/rapid-charging-fund
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/rapid-charging-fund
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/936567/10_POINT_PLAN_BOOKLET.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/936567/10_POINT_PLAN_BOOKLET.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/936567/10_POINT_PLAN_BOOKLET.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/936567/10_POINT_PLAN_BOOKLET.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/936567/10_POINT_PLAN_BOOKLET.pdf


T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

EV Charging Infrastructure Delivery Plan 

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 

CO07100360 / V1 Final  

08/11/2022 
 

Page 389



 

Project Name: Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Document Title: EV Charging Infrastructure Delivery Plan  

Document Control Sheet 

Project Name: Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 

Project Number: CO07100360 

Report Title: EV Charging Infrastructure Delivery Plan 

Report Number: V1 Final 

 

Issue 

Status/Amendment 
Prepared Reviewed Approved 

V1.0 Draft 

Name:  

North, Rachael 

Signature: RN 

 

 

Date: 01/06/2022 

Name:  

 

Signature:  

 

 

Date:  

Name:  

Gould, Emily 

Signature: EG 

 

 

Date: 16/09/2022 

V1.1 Draft 

Name: North, Rachael 

 

Signature: RN 

 

 

Date: 30/09/2022 

Name:  

 

Signature:  

 

 

Date:  

Name: Gould, Emily 

 

Signature: EG 

 

 

Date: 30/09/2022 

V1 Final 

Name: North, Rachael 

 

Signature: RN 

 

 

Date: 14/10/2022 

Name:  

 

Signature:  

 

 

Date:  

Name: Gould, Emily 

 

Signature:  EG 

 

 

Date: 08/11/2022 

V1.0 Update 

Name: North, Rachael 

 

Signature: RN 

 

 

Date: 09/01/20233 

Name:  

 

Signature:  

 

 

Date:  

Name:  

 

Signature:  

 

 

Date:  

V1.1 Update 

Name: North, Rachael 

 

Signature: RN 

 

 

Date: 25/01/20233 

  

 

Page 390



 

Project Name: Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Document Title: EV Charging Infrastructure Delivery Plan 1 

Contents 

1. Introduction ............................................................................................................................... 2 

2. EV Charging Infrastructure Strategy Delivery Plan ................................................................... 3 

2.1. Funding ....................................................................................................................................... 3 

2.2. Procurement and Installation ......................................................................................................... 3 

2.3. Engagement ................................................................................................................................. 4 

3. Installation Phases and Costs .................................................................................................... 4 

4. Commercial Models .................................................................................................................. 10 

5. Public EV Charging Infrastructure Strategy Delivery Timetable ............................................. 12 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 391



 

Project Name: Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Document Title: EV Charging Infrastructure Delivery Plan 2 

1. Introduction 

Staffordshire County Council (SCC) has recently published a county-wide EV charging infrastructure strategy, 
as part of this Staffordshire Moorlands District Council (SMDC) was engaged with, along with the other 

districts and boroughs, and the opportunities to develop a  charging network across Staffordshire was 
discussed. Since July 2019, SMDC acknowledged the impact of climate change and understands the 

challenges within Staffordshire Moorlands with regards to residents switching to EVs. Reflecting on this 

SMDC, with the support of SCC, has developed a district level EV Charging Infrastructure Strategy that 
reviews the potential and unique nature of the district. Within this SMDC has acknowledged its role in 

supporting the installation of chargepoints in its own car parks as well as engaging and supporting 
installation across the region. A delivery plan has been developed to ensure an efficient and successful 

implementation of the SMDC strategy and to ensure chargepoint installation at council car parks. 

The council is committed to achieving net zero by 2030 and understands that supporting the decarbonisation 
of transport is critical to this. The decarbonisation of transport will need to consider all forms of transport 

across the district, however, the initial focus will be on privately owned cars. Where needed Staffordshire 

Moorlands District Council will support the installation of charging infrastructure and will lead on the 
installation in their own car parks. However, the council also considers public transport and active travel to 

be important transport modes as alternative low carbon modes for residents and will therefore continue to 
review and support transport developments where they support decarbonisation. Staffordshire Moorlands 

District Council has committed to a data-led and phased approach to the EV Charging Infrastructure Strategy 

that ensures the growing charging network meets the existing demand requirements and will also match 
future demand. In taking a data-led approach the Council commits that as further data is available through 

installation, chargepoint use and updated census data the strategy will be updated.   

There are six key actions for the implementation of the EV Charging Infrastructure Strategy, these are: 

1. Engagement  

2. Feasibility  

3. Funding  

4. Procurement  

5. Mobilisation  

6. Evaluation  

Actions such as engagement will ensure that stakeholders across the region including residents, landowners, 

businesses, and staff have the opportunity to understand and provide feedback. Feasibility, funding, and 
procurement actions will ensure the optimum locations and funding streams are located and any operators 

procured fully meet the council’s requirements. And finally, monitoring and evaluation will be critical to the 
data-led approach the council is taking and to update the strategy in the future. Section 2 outlines the full 

breakdown of actions to be taken section 3 provides the three phases of the proposed installation, charging 

technology and installation costs. Section 4 outlines the commercial models that the council should consider 

and section 5 is the delivery programme. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 392



 

Project Name: Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Document Title: EV Charging Infrastructure Delivery Plan 3 

2. EV Charging Infrastructure Strategy Delivery Plan 

2.1. Funding 

In implementing the strategy, SMDC will look to utilise relevant funding from UK Government, the 
Department for Transport and Office for Zero Emission Vehicles. In addition to this form of funding, SMDC 

will also explore the commercial partnership opportunities which may be applicable. 

To achieve this SMDC will: 

Action Timescale – 2022/23 

Assess any new funding that is released in the new financial 
year, for example, the replacement of the On-street Residential 
Chargepoint Scheme (ORCS) or the ‘LEVI’ funding that is 

pending publication 

If applicable apply by Q4 2022 and on-going till Q2 2023 

Identify additional funding where necessary to contribute to 
grants i.e., ORCS additional funding 

If applicable by Q4 2022 

 

2.2. Procurement and Installation 

Through the data-led demand, assessment locations have been identified based on demand and high-level 

infrastructure analysis. Before any chargepoint solution is installed detailed feasibility at each proposed site 

is required which would confirm location and solution suitability. 

SMDC will outline a clear procurement process for chargepoints at locations on council land and will engage 

with operators to assess the level of interest in installing chargepoints across Staffordshire Moorlands. In 
addition, the council will engage with SCC with regards to their procurement strategy such as potential 

framework arrangements. 

To achieve this SMDC will: 

Action Timescale – 2022-2023 

Liaise with chargepoint operators and create a market 
analysis 

By Q4 2022 

Identify procurement route By Q4 2022 

Determine the commercial and operating model for the 
council chargepoints 

By Q4 2022 

Consider the technical requirements including key 
performance indicators 

By Q3 2022 

Liaise with the distribution network operator where 
necessary 

By Q4 2022 

Procure initial council chargepoints By Q4 2022 

Appoint an installer and install the initial chargepoints By end of Q1 2023 

Review new Government guidance and update planning 
guidance  

By end of Q1 2023 

 

Page 393



 

Project Name: Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Document Title: EV Charging Infrastructure Delivery Plan 4 

2.3. Engagement 

SMDC understand the critical nature of engaging with residents and local stakeholders regularly to receive 

feedback on the deployment and expansion of a chargepoint network. To achieve this the council will ensure 

that residents have access to informative material about EVs and charging infrastructure and are encouraged 

to transition to EVs.  

Local stakeholders will be engaged with where appropriate and engagement with neighbouring regions will 

be undertaken to explore opportunities to coordinate efforts to have a positive impact on users.  

To achieve this SMDC will: 

Action Timescale – 2022-2023 

Engage with Staffordshire County Council Ongoing, but key engagement to be completed by end of Q4 

Review and engage with local stakeholders such as property 
developers, vehicle dealerships, key workplaces, special 
interest groups 

Ongoing, but key groups to be engaged by Q4 

Create, design, and plan a communication strategy regarding 
the installations 

By end of Q1 2023 

Disseminate communications By end of Q1 2023 

Review and update the strategy reflecting evidence gathered 
from new data sets and usage of installed chargepoints 

2023 

 

3. Installation Phases and Costs 

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council will take responsibility for ensuring the transition to EVs through the 
installation of charging infrastructure at council car parks. The approach to installation will be phased and 

the phases have been identified by a data-driven approach that categorises the car parks and determines 

the most suitable locations.  

The initial analysis was to group car parks with similar variables which are:  

▪ The score of EV Usage Propensity for Touristic Activities in Staffordshire Moorlands  

▪ The score of EV Usage Propensity for Residents in Rural Locations in Staffordshire Moorlands  
▪ The score of General propensity to use EVs in Staffordshire Moorlands  

▪ Number of available spaces in the car parks,   
▪ Population Density in the LSOAs  

▪ Level of Deprivation in the LSOAs  

Once the grouping exercise was completed the car parks were mapped and based on this spatial analysis of 

the groups three phases have been identified. Table 1 outlines all the council car parks and the phase of 

installation.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 394



 

Project Name: Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Document Title: EV Charging Infrastructure Delivery Plan 5 

Table 1 - Council Car Parks and Associated Phases 

Car Park Location  Post Code  Phase   

Brook Street  ST13 5JE  1  

Moorlands House  ST13 6HQ  1  

Queen Street  ST13 6LS  1  

West Street  ST13 8AA  1  

Tape Street  ST1 1EU  1  

Well Street  ST1 1EY  1  

Wharf Road  ST8 6AG  1  

Uttoxeter Road East  ST11 9QA  1  

Wetton  ST13 7ST  1  

Buxton Road  ST13 5JE  2  

High Street  ST13 5DZ  2  

Silk Street  ST13 6DS  2  

Smithfield North  ST13 5JW  2  

Smithfield South  ST13 5JP  2  

Stockwell Street  ST13 6HD  2  

Vicarage Road  ST13 6AS  2  

Old Road, Tean  ST1 4EG  2  

Forsbrook  ST11 9BY  2  

Joliffe Street  ST13 5LH  3  

Market Place  ST13 5HH  3  

Market Street East  ST13 6HZ  3  

Market Street West  ST13 6HX  3  

Regent Street  ST13 6LU  3  

St Edward Street  ST13 5DR  3  

Chapel Street  ST11 9DA  3  

Uttoxeter Road West  ST11 9JR  3  

Oakamoor, Cheadle  ST1 3AE  3  

Angle Street, Leek  ST13 8AJ  3  

When choosing the chargepoint technology to be installed there are two key types of chargepoint that will 

be considered wall mounted (Figure 1) and ground mounted (Figure 2). This charging technology aligns with 

ORCS requirements and will be applicable to car park locations, subject to feasibility.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 395



 

Project Name: Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Document Title: EV Charging Infrastructure Delivery Plan 6 

 

Figure 1 - Wall Mounted Twin Chargepoint 

 

Source: ChargePoint 

Figure 2 - Ground Mounted Twin Chargepoint 

 

Source: ChargePoint 

Depending on the chargepoint technology chosen there are cost implications and for costs these have been 

divided into wall mounted and ground mounted. It is likely that for Phase One there will be a mix of these 

chargepoints.  

The number of chargepoints to be installed in phase one car parks has been calculated on two factors: (i) 

the current number of EVs and (ii) to support the growth of uptake. The current percentage of EVs in 

Page 396



 

Project Name: Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Document Title: EV Charging Infrastructure Delivery Plan 7 

Staffordshire Moorlands is 1%1. Based on this Phase One should be the installation of chargepoints in either 

2% or 5% of the parking spaces. Based on charging demand installation in 2% of spaces would meet 

existing and small-scale growth in demand. Installation in 5% of spaces would ensure the futureproofing of 

the council car park network.  

Table 2 provides cost for chargepoint installation across Phase One and at the 2% and 5% levels of wall 

mounted chargepoints. Table 3 provides the cost for chargepoint installation across phase one and at the 

2% and 5% levels of ground mounted chargepoints.  

The council will apply for DfT funding through the on-street residential chargepoint scheme (ORCS) which 

provides funding to local authorities for chargepoint installation in council car parks. ORCS will provide 60% 
of the capital funding for the installation and chargepoint. The costs for the installation and chargepoints in 

Table 2 and Table 3 have been collated from the “Making The Right Connections General Procurement 

Guidance For Electric Vehicle Chargepoints UK EVSE”2 and “Energy Savings Trust guidance”3. Exact costings 
will only be available once a feasibility study is completed to understand the groundwork and any electrical 

connection enhancements. Therefore, the costings shown in the tables are banded into high and low to 
provide insight into the total costs for installation, the 60% capital funding amount and the remaining 40% 

capital required. Depending on the commercial model and potential capital investment from operators and 

the council is where the required 40% can be provided. 

 

 

 

 
1 Department for Transport, “Licensed Vehicles, table VEH0105 - end of Q1, March 2022,” 2022. [Online]. 
2htts://www.r-e-a.net/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/Updated-UK-EVSE-Procurement-Guide.pdf 
 
3 EST0038-01-Procuring-Electric-Vehicle-Charging-Guide-03.pdf (energysavingtrust.org.uk) 

Page 397

https://www.r-e-a.net/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/Updated-UK-EVSE-Procurement-Guide.pdf
https://energysavingtrust.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/EST0038-01-Procuring-Electric-Vehicle-Charging-Guide-03.pdf


 

Project Name: Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Document Title: EV Charging Infrastructure Delivery Plan 8 

Table 2 – Approximate cost of wall mounted chargepoints 

Car Park Phase Post-
code 

Spaces Disabled No 
Chargepoints 
2% spaces 

No 
Chargepoints 
5% spaces 

Cost Low 
2% 
spaces 

Cost Low 
5% spaces 

Cost High 
2% spaces 

Cost High 
5%spaces 

Brook Street 1 ST13 5JE 84 4 2 4 £5,400.00 £10,800.00 £11,400.00 £22,800.00 

Moorlands House 1 ST13 6HQ 94 2 2 5 £5,400.00 £13,500.00 £11,400.00 £28,500.00 

Queen Street 1 ST13 6LS 16 1 1 1 £2,700.00 £2,700.00 £5,700.00 £5,700.00 

Tape Street 1 ST10 1EU 385 11 8 19 £21,600.00 £51,300.00 £45,600.00 £108,300.00 

Uttoxeter Road East 1 ST11 9QA 7 1 1 1 £2,700.00 £2,700.00 £5,700.00 £5,700.00 

Well Street 1 ST10 1EY 192 11 4 10 £10,800.00 £27,000.00 £22,800.00 £57,000.00 

West Street 1 ST13 8AA 9 0 1 1 £2,700.00 £2,700.00 £5,700.00 £5,700.00 

Wetton 1 ST13 7ST 25 0 1 1 £2,700.00 £2,700.00 £5,700.00 £5,700.00 

Wharf Road 1 ST8 6AG 137 10 3 7 £8,100.00 £18,900.00 £17,100.00 £39,900.00 
       

£62,100.00 £132,300.00 £131,100.00 £279,300.00       

OZEV 60% £37,260.00 £79,380.00 £78,660.00 £167,580.00       

Funded 40% £24,840.00 £52,920.00 £52,440.00 £111,720.00 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 398



 

Project Name: Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Document Title: EV Charging Infrastructure Delivery Plan 9 

 

Table 3 – Approximate cost of ground mounted chargepoints 

 

Car Park Phase Post-
code 

Spaces Disabled No 

Chargepoints 
2% spaces 

No 

Chargepoints 
5% spaces 

Cost Low 

2% 
spaces 

Cost Low 
5% spaces 

Cost High 
2% spaces 

Cost High 

5% spaces 

Brook Street 1 ST13 5JE 84 4 2 4 £5,400.00 £10,800.00 £16,000.00 £32,000.00 

Moorlands House 1 ST13 6HQ 94 2 2 5 £5,400.00 £13,500.00 £16,000.00 £40,000.00 

Queen Street 1 ST13 6LS 16 1 1 1 £2,700.00 £2,700.00 £8,000.00 £8,000.00 

Tape Street 1 ST10 1EU 385 11 8 19 £21,600.00 £51,300.00 £64,000.00 £152,000.00 

Uttoxeter Road East 1 ST11 9QA 7 1 1 1 £2,700.00 £2,700.00 £8,000.00 £8,000.00 

Well Street 1 ST10 1EY 192 11 4 10 £10,800.00 £27,000.00 £32,000.00 £80,000.00 

West Street 1 ST13 8AA 9 0 1 1 £2,700.00 £2,700.00 £8,000.00 £8,000.00 

Wetton 1 ST13 7ST 25 0 1 1 £2,700.00 £2,700.00 £8,000.00 £8,000.00 

Wharf Road 1 ST8 6AG 137 10 3 7 £8,100.00 £18,900.00 £24,000.00 £56,000.00        

£62,100.00 £132,300.00 £184,000.00 £392,000.00       

OZEV 60% £37,260.00 £79,380.00 £110,400.00 £235,200.00       

Funded 40% £24,840.00 £52,920.00 £73,600.00 £156,800.00 

P
age 399



 

Project Name: Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Document Title: EV Charging Infrastructure Delivery Plan 10 

4. Commercial Models 

When deciding on the commercial model there are two initial factors to consider: the requirement for 
the council to receive revenue from the chargepoints and the level of capital investment the council 

intends to provide. Based on an understanding that accessing potential revenue is a key consideration 

for the council and they wish to maintain some influence over the locations, two potential models 
have been identified in Table 4. In the first model, the council owns and operates the chargepoints. 

This would require the full 40% capital investment from the council, with the 60% from ORCS 
funding, and there would be a contract in place with the chargepoint operator to supply and manage 

the chargepoints likely for a fee.  

In the second model, the council partners with an operator with a match funding agreement. This 
could generate a reduction in the percentage of capital investment required and there would be a 

split in the revenue between the council and the operator. ORCS funding could still be used for 60% 

of the capital funding and the council and operator would agree how the remaining 40% would be 

split.  

Table 4 provides further details of the models and the potential advantages and disadvantages.  

 

Page 400



 

Project Name: Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Document Title: EV Charging Infrastructure Delivery Plan 11 

Table 4 - Commercial Models 

Model  Description  Key Considerations  Advantages Disadvantages 

Own and 
operate  

▪ SMDC applies for ORCS funding 
and provides 40% capital 
required. 

▪ SMDC tenders for a chargepoint 
Operator to install chargepoints  

▪ SMDC own the Chargepoints 

(gov. funding)  

▪ SMDC takes revenue  

▪ SMDC pays operator to maintain 
and manage chargepoints.  

▪ This model would involve SMDC appointing a 
supplier to deliver and manage the chargepoint 
infrastructure for a set period with all revenue 
being retained.  

▪ All revenue is retained by SMDC  

▪ Locations selected by the SMDC  

▪ Streamline procurement  

▪ UK Government has established 
procurement frameworks to expedite 
the process and encourage supplier 

confidence  

▪ Funding would need to be 
identified  

▪ On-going maintenance costs  

▪ Updates to technology are the 
council’s responsibility  

▪ Any key performance 
indicators and or contractual 
service level agreements may 
be difficult to enforce 

Match 
funding  

▪ SMDC applies for ORCS funding 
and agrees with third parties (i.e., 
operator) the split of the 
remaining 40%  

▪ This could also be achieved if 
government funding is not 

available, but the Council and the 
operator agree to match funding 

▪ Likely to reduce the revenue received and limit 
the overall influence SMDC can exert on the 
facility   

▪ SMDC shares risks with the third party 

▪ Partner ownership incentivises better 
provision and improves quality of 
service for users  

▪ Reduced risk and responsibility for 
maintenance costs  

▪ The chargepoints can be 

futureproofed depending on the 
partnership agreement 

▪ Reduced revenue share  

▪ Contractual and financial 
arrangements may not suit all 
suppliers and so the pool of 
available partners is reduced 

▪ Partners require confidence 

that revenue will be achieved 
in any locations  

 

P
age 401



 

Project Name: Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Document Title: EV Charging Infrastructure Delivery Plan 12 

5. Public EV Charging Infrastructure Strategy Delivery Timetable 

The below timetable outlines the high-level actions for SMDC with regards to chargepoint installation across the remainder of 2022 and throughout 2023 to ensure the delivery of a charging network and to re-assess, review, and update 

the strategies.  

 

2023 

 

Action 

Stakeholder Engagement 

Business and commercial 
reviews 

Feasibility Studies 
Conducted 

 

Funding 

Mobilisation and 
installation 

 

Evaluation of chargepoint 
utilisation 

Update to strategy 
including demand analysis 

Q2 
Apr – June  

Q1 
Jan – March  

Q3 
July – Sept  

Q4 
Oct – Nov  

Initialisation 

(Phase 4-5) 

Monitoring 
and 
Evaluation 

(Phase 7) 

Mobilisation 

(Phase 6) 

2022 

 

Strategy Development Conception 

(Phase 1-3) 

Q3 
July – Sept  

Q4 
Oct – Nov  

P
age 402



  

 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
Resources Overview & Scrutiny 

 
 8th February 2023 

 
 

 
TITLE: 

 
Revised Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

 
EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: 

 
Councillor Worthington - Portfolio Holder for 

Finance 
 

CONTACT OFFICER: 
 

Martin Owen – Executive Director (Finance and 
Customer Services) 

Joanne Wheeldon - Head of Revenues and Benefits 
 

WARDS INVOLVED: 
 

 

Non-Specific 

 
 
 

1. Reason for the Report 
 

 

1.1 Following the approval to implement a banding scheme by The Cabinet on the 6 th 
December 2022, the purpose of this report is to provide an update to sections 6.3, 

7.18, 7.19 (m) and to recommend Full Council approves the implementation of a 
revised Council Tax Reduction Scheme with effect from 1st April 2023. 
 

1.2 Each year the Council is required to review its Council Tax Reduction Scheme in 
accordance with the requirements of the schedule 1A of the Local  Government 
Finance Act 1992 and to either maintain the scheme or replace it. 

 
1.3 Council Tax Reduction (CTR) was introduced from 1 April 2013 when it replaced the 

Central Government funded Council Tax Benefit regime. From its inception, the 

funding available to the Council from government has reduced year on year. 
 

1.4 It is now essential that the Council makes changes to the CTR scheme for working age 
applicants in order to reduce the significant administrative burden placed on the 

Council by the introduction of Universal Credit and also to provide a scheme that is 
more supportive to those households on the lowest incomes. 

 
1.5 The changes proposed affect only applicants who are of working age and the scheme 

for pension age applicants is not affected in any way. The rules for all pension age 
applicants are prescribed by Central Government. 

 

Page 403

Agenda Item 12.1



  

1.6 This report recommends that the Council adopts a new scheme for working age 
applicants with effect from 1st April 2023 in respect of the 2023/24 financial year. 

 

 
2. Recommendation 

2.1  The Council is asked to approve the amendments in section 7.18, 7.19 (m) and the 
introduction of a new income banded / grid scheme for working age applicants with 
effect from 1st April 2023, to increase the overall level of support for the lowest 
income families and reduce the administrative burden placed on the Council by the 
introduction of Universal Credit. 

 
  

3. Executive Summary 
  
3.1 Council Tax Reduction (CTR) was introduced by Central Government in April 2013 as a 

replacement for the Council Tax Benefit scheme administered on behalf of the 

Department for Work and Pensions (DWP). As part of the introduction, the 
Government: 

 Placed the duty to create a local scheme for Working Age applicants with 
billing authorities; 

 Reduced initial funding by the equivalent of ten per cent from the levels paid 
through benefit subsidy to authorities under the previous Council Tax Benefit 
scheme; and 

 Prescribed that persons of Pension age would be dealt with under regulations 
set by Central Government and not the authorities’ local scheme.   

Page 404



  

3.2 Since that time, funding for the Council Tax Reduction scheme has been 
amalgamated into other Central Government grants paid to Local Authorities and 
within the Business Rates Retention regime. It is now generally accepted that it is not 
possible to identify the amount of funding actually provided from Central 
Government sources. 
 

3.3 The current Council Tax Reduction scheme administered by the Council is effectively 
divided into two; with pension age applicants receiving support under the rules 
prescribed by Central Government, and the scheme for working age applicants being 
determined solely by the local authority.  

 
3.4 Pensioners, subject to their income, can receive up to 100 per cent support towards 

their Council Tax. The Council has no power to change the level of support provided 
to pensioners and, therefore, any changes to the level of CTR can only be made to the 

working age scheme. 
 

3.5 When Council Tax Reduction was introduced in 2013, for working age applicants, the 
Council broadly adopted the previous means tested Council Tax Benefit scheme as 

the basis of awarding support. Due to the reduction in funding from Central 
Government, the Council also required working age applicants, even those on the 

lowest income, to pay a minimum payment of 8.5%.  
 

3.6 Since that time, only slight changes have been made to bring the scheme into line 
with either Housing Benefit or Universal Credit. These have been relatively minor, 

and a more fundamental change is now required. 
 

 

4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  
 

4.1  Aim 1 -  Financial inclusion. Review LCTR Scheme 
 

5. Alternative Options 
 
5.1 The alternative to introducing a new scheme for Council Tax Reduction from 2023/24 

is to leave the existing scheme in place. This would be a short-term option; lead to 
continuation of increasing costs of administration; and in the longer term, 
significantly affect the collection of Council Tax and the effectiveness of the scheme 
to support households within the Council’s area. If the existing scheme remains, our 
proposal would be to remove the calculation letter that accompanies the bill and set 
a monetary limit on the changes to Universal Credit reported by the DWP, so that 
there are fewer changes to Local Council Tax Reduction. In addition, we would allow 
using the amount of Income advised by DWP without any adjustment, in order to aid 
automation and increase the allowable time for backdating where good cause is 
shown to 6 months. 

 

6. Implications 
 

Page 405



  

6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
 None 
 
6.2 Workforce 

The recommended scheme will provide a modern, more efficient scheme which will 
be more straightforward to administer for staff to administer. 

 
6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 

The move to the new scheme will either have a neutral or positive affect to the 
majority of working age claimants. From initial modelling, 2,945 claimants will receive 
more support than under the previous scheme. 

Following the change in capital from £6,000 to £10,000 the number of claimants 
who may receive less support than with the current scheme has reduced from 
142 to 127. The increase in capital will result in additional cost of around £14,000.  

The remaining cases will be available to apply for further support through the 
Council’s Exceptional Hardship Fund and the Council will look to contact each 

household prior to the implementation of the new scheme to offer further 
support if required.  

The revised scheme will not present barriers for disadvantaged or protected 
groups from applying for Council Tax Support. 

 

. Fi 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
6.4 Financial implications  

The current Council Tax Reduction scheme costs approximately £4.72m which is 
borne by the Council’s Collection Fund. Costs are shared between the Council and the 

Major Precepting Authorities in the following proportions. The cost to the Council for 
implementing a banding scheme have been factored into the Medium Term Financial 

Plan. 
 
• District Council 11.3% 
• Staffordshire County Council 71.9% 
• Police and Crime Commissioner 12.7% 
• Fire and Rescue Service 4.1%  

Whilst the approach and ‘shape’ of the scheme is changing, the overall intention will 
be to provide additional support to those households on the very lowest incomes.  

There is no intention to reduce the level of support available to other households  and, 
based on current modelling, were the new scheme to be in place at the current time, 

the costs would be £5.25m. 

Page 406



  

Financial modelling has been, and will continue to be, undertaken throughout the 
current financial year. 

Whilst the expected costs of the scheme for 2023/24 will be slightly higher, the overall 

level of Council Tax Reduction as a proportion of the Council Tax Base has reduced year 
on year since 2013 as shown below in table below. The proposed changes for 2023/24 

would still represent a significant reduction in the proportion of costs in real terms 
compared to the original Council Tax Reduction level: 

 
6.5 

Staffs Moorlands 
2013 
£m 

2021 
£m 

2022 
£m 

Gross CT Liability 56.5 75.8  78.6 

CTR 4.8 4.8 4.8 

Percentage 8.5% 6.3% 6.1% 

 

Council Tax Reduction now represents a significantly smaller percentage of the 
Council Tax base.  

 
6.6  Irrespective of the recommended increase in additional support to be provided to 

low income households, it is expected that the overall costs of the scheme in terms 
of its percentage of the gross liability will continue to reduce year on year from 2023 

onwards. 
  

6.7 Legal 
  Schedule 1A (3) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, states: 

Before making a scheme, the authority must: 
• consult any major precepting authority which has power to issue a precept to it,  

• publish a draft scheme in such manner as it thinks fit, and 
• consult such other persons as it considers are likely to have an interest in the 
operation of the scheme. 

 

 
6.8  Consultation 

A full consultation has been undertaken in line with the statutory requirements. Each 
of the major preceptors have been asked for their input and their responses are 
included within Appendix A. 

 
A full analysis of the public consultation is included within Appendix B and it should 
be noted that consultees overwhelming agreed with all of the proposed changes to 
the scheme. 

  

 
6.9  Risk Assessment 

None 

 

Page 407



  

  

  

     Martin Owen 
Executive Director (Finance & Customer Services) 

 
Web Links and 
Background Papers 

Contact details 

 Joanne Wheeldon 
Head of Revenues and Benefits  
joanne.wheeldon@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

7. Details   
 

The main issues with the current scheme 
 

7.1 There are several issues with the current scheme that will need addressing if the 
system is to continue to provide effective support to low-income taxpayers and also 

if the Council is able to provide the service in an efficient manner. The main issues 
are as follows: 

• The need to increase the support available to low-income households and assist in 
 the overall collection of Council Tax; 
• The introduction of Universal Credit for working age applicants; and 
• A much-needed simplification of the scheme. 

 

7.2 Each of the above are examined in detail below: 
 

The need to assist low-income households and assist in the collection 
of Council Tax 

Page 408



  

 
7.3 Since 2013, with the introduction of Council Tax Reduction, most authorities, 

including the Council, have required all working age applicants to pay a minimum 
payment. In the case of Staffordshire Moorlands this was set at 8.5%. Under the 
previous scheme (Council Tax Benefit), support could have been provided up to a 
100% level and almost 75% of working age applicants would not have been required 
to pay any Council Tax at all. 

 
7.4 There is a strong view within a large number of authorities that there should be an 

increase in the level of support to those households on the lowest of incomes. This  
view has gained momentum over the past few years but has been reinforced since 
the COVID-19 crisis and the cost of living crisis, both of which have had a major effect 
on incomes generally. 
 

7.5 Whilst the principle of all working age households paying ‘something’ was initially  
thought to be an approach that would be central to the design of Council Tax 

Reduction, the reality is that, since its introduction, low-income taxpayers and the 
poorest households have been unable to pay the balance leading to additional costs, 

court, and enforcement action and, in some cases, the amounts demanded have 
been written off as uncollectable. 

 
7.6 The costs of administration of these cases by the Council has increased significantly 

over the years. These costs are borne solely by the Council. With the difficulties  
experienced, the relatively low level of payment and the high administration costs  

incurred, it no longer makes the amounts economically viable to collect. 
Notwithstanding the negative effects to those poorest households. 

 
 
Council Tax Reduction and the roll out of Universal Credit 

 
7.7 The introduction of Universal Credit within the area has, as experienced in all other 

areas, brought several significant challenges to both the administration of Council  
Tax Reduction and the collection of Council Tax generally. All Councils have 
experienced the following: 
• The reluctance of Universal Credit claimants to make a prompt claim for Council  
Tax Reduction leading to a loss in entitlement; 
• A high number of changes to Universal Credit cases are received from the 
Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) requiring a change to Council Tax 
Reduction entitlement. On average, 40% of Universal Credit claimants have between 

eight and twelve changes in entitlement per annum. These changes result 
in amendments to Council Tax liability, the re-calculation of instalments, delays, 

and the demonstrable loss in collection; and 
• The increased costs of administration through multiple changes with significant 

additional staff and staff time being needed. 
 

7.8 The existing means tested Council Tax Reduction scheme, which is too 
reactive to change, will not be viable in the longer term now that Universal Credit has  

Page 409



  

been rolled out fully within the area and the increase in the number of Universal 
Credit claimants due to the rises. 
 

7.9 It should also be noted that the DWP is also moving all existing Income Based 
Jobseeker’s Allowance, Income Support and Tax Credit cases across to Universal 
Credit by 2024 with the remaining cases (Income Related Employment and Support 
Allowance) moving to Universal Credit by 2028. In effect, this move will increase the 
number of Universal Credit cases in the District by almost 50%. 
 

7.10 The move to a new, future proofed, more efficient Council Tax Reduction scheme 
from 2024 is now imperative. 

 

The need for a simplified approach to the Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme. 

 
7.11 Notwithstanding the effects of Universal Credit, the existing scheme is based on an 

‘old fashioned;’ means-tested benefit scheme. It has major defects namely: 

• It is complex for customers to understand and is based on a complex calculation of  
entitlement; 

• The administration for staff is complex, with staff having to request significant 
amounts of information from applicants; 

• Staff have to undergo significant training to be proficient in processing claims; 
• The timescales for processing applications is lengthy, mainly due to the complexity 
and evidence required to support the applications; and 
• The administration of the scheme is costly when compared to other discounts for 
Council Tax. 
 

7.12 Clearly, there is a need now to simplify the scheme, not only to mitigate the effects of 
Universal Credit, but also make it easier for customers to make a claim and to reduce 
the costs of administration. 
 

The recommended approach for the 2023/24 Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme 

 
7.13 In view of the problems being experienced with the current scheme, it is  

recommended that a new approach be taken from 2023/24. The new approach 
fundamentally redesigns the scheme to address all the issues highlighted and in 
particular; 

(a) The level of support available to the poorest households: 
(b) The problems with the introduction of full-service Universal Credit; and 

(c) The significant increase in administration costs due to the high level of changes  
received in respect of Universal Credit; 

 
7.14 The new scheme has been subject to a full consultation with the public and the major 

precepting authorities in line with legislative requirements. 
 

7.15 The responses from the major preceptors (Staffordshire County Council and the 
Staffordshire Police and Fire Commissioner) are attached within Appendix A and an 

Page 410



  

analysis of the public consultation (which concluded on 25th November 2022) is 
attached within Appendix B. 
 

7.16 It should be noted that the Council has received favourable responses  to the new 
approach from the major preceptors and in the case of the public consultation, a 
majority positive response has been received in respect of all of the changes 
proposed. 
(For information, 60.98% were in favour of introducing the new scheme with 17.07% 
against and 21.95% stating no preference). 
 

7.17 If the recommendations are accepted by the Council, the new scheme will take effect 
from 1st April 2023. 
 

7.18 The recommended new scheme has several key features as follows: 

• More support will be given to those households on the lowest of incomes than in 
the current scheme; and 

• The current means - tested schemes will be replaced by a simple income grid model 
as shown below.  

Following on from the increase in allowances from the DWP that take effect from 1st 
April 2023, the banding grid will be updated to take into account these increases. 

Work is underway in modelling the changes in order to ensure that claimants do not 
lose out as a result. The final grid will be submitted to Full Council for approval on 

22nd February 2023.  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Bandings 

Discount 
Band 

Discount 
Single 

Person   

Single 
person 

with one 
child 

Single 
person 

with two or 
more children 

Couple 
Couple with 

one child 

Couple 
with two or 

more children 

Weekly income ranges 

Band 1* 100% 
£0 - 

£95.00 
£0 - 

£160.00 
£0 - 

£220.00  
£0-£140.00 £0 -£205.00 

£0 - 
£260.00  

Band 2 75% 
£95.01 

- 

£155.00 

£160.01 -
£220.00 

£220.01 - 
£290.00 

£140.01 - 
£210.00 

£205.01 - 
£270.00 

£260.01 -
£330.00  

Band 3 50% 
£155.01 

-

£190.00 

£220.01 - 

£255.00 

£290.01– 

£345.00 

£210.01 -

£260.00 

£270.01 – 

£310.00 
£330.01 -£390.00 

Band 4 25% 
£190.01 

- 

£255.01 - 

£290.00 

£345.01 – 

£400.00 

£260.01 

£310.00 

£310.01 - 

£360.00 
£390.01 -£430.00 

Page 411



  

£235.00 

  0% 
Over 

£235.00 
Over 

£290.00 
Over £400.00 Over £310.00 Over £360.00 Over £430.00  

 
7.19 The following paragraphs provide more detail on the operation of the new scheme: 
 

(a) the highest level of discount will be at a maximum level of liability (100%), Band 
1, and all current applicants that are in receipt of a ‘*passported benefit’ such as  
Income Support, Jobseeker’s Allowance (Income Based) and Employment and 

Support Allowance (Income Related) will receive maximum discount; 
 

(b) All other discount levels are based on the applicant’s and partner’s, (where they 
have one) net weekly income; 

 
(c) The scheme allows for variation in household size with the levels of income per 

band increasing where an applicant has a partner, and / or dependents; 
 

(d) There will be no charges made where an applicant had non-dependents living 
with them. This is a significant change and means that the administration of the 

scheme will be more straightforward whilst also protecting low-income families 
where adult sons and daughters for example remain at home; 

 
(e) To encourage work, a standard £25 per week disregard will be provided against 

all earnings This will take the place of the current standard disregards and 
additional earnings disregards. Where a family also receives a childcare disregard 

(for childcare costs not paid for by Central Government schemes), the income 
levels in the ‘grid scheme’ are set at a higher rate; 
 
(f) Disability benefits such as Disability Living Allowance and Personal Independence 
Allowance will continue to be disregarded; 
 
(g) Where any applicant, their partner or dependent child(ren) are disabled, a 
further disregard of £50 per week will be given, thereby maintaining the current 
level of support to those with disabilities; 
 
(h) Carer’s Allowance and the Support Component of Employment and Support 

Allowance will be disregarded; 
 

(i) Child benefit and Child Maintenance will be disregarded; 
 

(j) An amount in respect of the housing element, within Universal credit will be 
disregarded; 

 
(k) The total disregard on war pensions and war disablement pensions will continue; 

 
(l) Extended payments will be removed; and 

 
(m) The capital limit of £10,000 with no tariff (or assumed income) being applied. Any 

Page 412



  

applicant who has capital above that level will not qualify. 
 

How the new scheme will address the problems with the current 
Council Tax Reduction 

 
7.20 With the simplicity of the proposed new scheme and by taking a more ‘Council Tax  

discount approach’, it will address the problems associated with the increased 
administration caused by failings in the current scheme and Universal Credit as 

follows: 
 

(a) The scheme will require a simplified claiming process. All applicants will see a 
significant reduction in the claiming process and, where possible, Council Tax 

Reduction will be awarded automatically. For Universal Credit applicants any 
Universal Credit data received from the Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) 

will be automatically be treated as a claim for Council Tax Reduction. Where 

information is received from DWP, the entitlement to Council Tax Reduction will  
be processed automatically without the need to request further information from 

the taxpayer. These changes will have the following distinct advantages namely: 
 

(i) Speed of processing – all claims will be able to be calculated promptly and 
largely automatically without the need to request further information which 

inevitably leads to delays; 
 

(ii) Maximising entitlement to every applicant. As there will no requirement for 
Universal Credit applicants to apply separately for Council Tax Reduction, and 

for all other applicants, the claiming process will be simplified significantly.  
Entitlement to Council Tax Reduction will be maximised with a reduced risk of 

loss of discount or the need for backdating; 
 

(iii) Maintenance of collection rates – the new scheme will avoid constant changes 
in discount, the need for multiple changes in instalments and therefore assist 
in maintaining the high collection rates currently achieved. The increased level 
of discount will assist all those applicants on the lowest levels of income, again 
improving the overall collection rate; 
 
(b) The income bands are sufficiently wide to avoid constant changes in discount . 
The current Council Tax Reduction scheme is very reactive and will alter even if the 
overall change to the person’s liability is small. This is leading to constant changes  
in Council Tax liability, the need to recalculate monthly instalments and the 
requirement to issue a large number of Council Tax demands. The effect of this is  
that Council Tax collection is reduced. The new scheme, with its simplified income 
banding approach will have the following advantages: 
 
(i) Only significant changes in income will affect the level of discount awarded; 

(ii) Council Taxpayers who receive Council Tax Reduction will not receive multiple 
Council Tax demands and adjustments to their instalments; and 
(iii) The new scheme is designed to reflect a more modern approach, where any 

discount changes it will be effective from the day of the change rather than the 

Page 413



  

Monday of the following week. 
 

Transition to the new scheme and the Exceptional Hardship Scheme 
 

7.21 In deciding on any new scheme, the Council must be mindful that any change in 
scheme or a transition to a new scheme may have result in a change to the 

entitlement of certain applicants. Inevitably, with any change in scheme, there will be 
some winners and losers although the proposed scheme has been designed to 

protect the most vulnerable. From modelling based on current values, approximately 
2,803 of applicants will receive either the same or more support and only 142 will 

receive are reduced level of assistance. 
 

7.22 To mitigate this, the new scheme will contain additional provisions to protect 
individuals who experience exceptional hardship. Where any applicant is likely to 

experience exceptional hardship, they will be encouraged to apply for an exceptional  

hardship payment. The Council will consider all applications for exceptional hardship 
on an individual basis, taking into account available income and essential outgoings.  

Where appropriate further support will be given to the applicant. 
 

7.23 This approach will enable individual applicants to be dealt with in a fair and equitable 
manner. The Exceptional Hardship Scheme will form part of the Council Tax 

Reduction Scheme and fall to be paid through the Collection Fund. 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

  

Page 414



  

Appendix A 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Responses from Major Preceptors 
 
 
 

 

Staffordshire Police, Crime and Fire Commissioner  
Agree with the implementation of a banding scheme - notice received via email 24.11.22 
 
Staffordshire County Council  
Agree with the implementation of a banding scheme - notice received via email 29.11.22 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 415



  

 
Appendix B 

 
Staffordshire Moorlands - Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme 2023/24 Consultation 
 
1. Background to the Consultation 

 

1. I have read the background information about the Council Tax Reduction Scheme: This 
question must be answered before you can continue.  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Yes   
 

100.00% 75 

2 No 
 

0.00% 0 

 

answered 75 

skipped 0 

 
2. Part 1 – The introduction of an Income Grid scheme to replace the current scheme 
for all applicants of working age  
 

2. Do you agree with introducing an income-based banded discount scheme?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Yes   
 

60.98% 25 

2 No   
 

17.07% 7 

3 Don't Know   
 

21.95% 9 

 

answered 41 

skipped 34 

 

3. If you disagree with introducing an income-banded scheme please explain why and 
what alternative would you propose?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Open-Ended Question 100.00% 9 

1 I think the £6000 is a low  figure as a capital f igure, is this capital f igure their bank account or their property also 

if this is so it w ill still leave a lot of people struggling 

2 Just because someone is earning more, doesn't mean they should have to pay more. They have w orked hard to 

get w hat they have. 

Where people have signif icant reasons for living somew here these should be taken into consideration.  

3 This document is far too diff icult to understand 

Page 416



  

3. If you disagree with introducing an income-banded scheme please explain why and 
what alternative would you propose?  

4 keep things as they are currently 

5 No money to spare and it w ould not benefit me as per usual I’m left unable to claim anything so w hy should I 

sponsor others 

6 I don't feel your intentions are in plain enough English for us regular folks to understand, based on w hat you 

have said our family w ould be w orse off by having to pay an extra 16.5% Council Tax. I'm disabled and my 

partner earns £190 a w eek, w e get w ork and child tax credits, and I get PIP. Basicly after bills w ere living on 

nothing, and I don't think You Really Have. A Clue What Is Actually Going On In The Community And How  Even 

People Working 2 or more full time jobs can not afford to live, they are just existing.  

 

Personally, Council Tax Should Be Abolished, And Added To Income Tax. You Should Then Be Paid By Central 

Government.  

 

The other option could be that you use the millions of pounds w orth of hardship payments that you Do not 

advertise but you get every year, any you get to keep of you don't pay them out, Use That To Pay Off The extra 

On The C/Tax That Is Ow ed after discounts. 

7 Is this based on the income of the total household eg children, friends w ho w ork, living under one roof, or just 

applicant and partner?  

8 If people choose to have children they should support them and take care of them. Introducing further support is 

just encouraging people not to w ork, plenty in biddulph can w ork or do the minimum of w ork to claim full 

benefits. The council needs to keep an eye on people claiming as alot of them are w orking the system even 

w orking for cash in hand or claiming their living alone but aren't. If  the system is open for abuse I w ill alw ays be 

abused and giving them more it'll see claims go up. 

9 - it is unclear from the above w hether or not Universal Credit is included as income w ithin the banding limits - I 

presume that it is, if  so then disregarding the Housing Element is a good idea (as Housing Benefit w as never 

treated as income) 

- you say there w ill be 'w inners and losers' - it w ould have been better to have given some example calculations 

to show  how  this w ill w ork in practice, w ho w ill the w inner/losers be 

introducing a Banding System is not necessarily a bad thing - but more information needs to be provided 

regarding the 'cost' analysis - w ill there be more people receiving council tax reduction/w ill the expenditure be 

higher or low er 
 

 

answered 9 

skipped 66 

 
3. Part 2 - Introducing a capital limit of £6,000. Where applicants have capital in 

excess of £6,000 no discount will be awarded. Any capital less than £6,000 will be 
ignored; 
 

4. Do you agree with this change to the scheme?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Yes   
 

56.76% 21 

2 No   
 

24.32% 9 

3 Don't Know   
 

18.92% 7 

 

answered 37 

skipped 38 

 

Page 417



  

5. If you disagree please explain why and what alternative would you propose?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Open-Ended Question 100.00% 10 

1 As previously said I think £6000 is a low  figure 

2 No limit should be placed on savings. Many early retirees are self funding their daily living via these savings 

rather than claiming from the gov. They should not be penised for being independent, but should be helped just 

as much as someone w ho is not w orking and claiming benefits.  

3 Level too low  

4 the threshold isn’t high enough in this economic situation  

5 It might unfairly punish low  income pensioners w ho are using their savings to survive. I agree w ith a capital limit 

but 6k is too low  

6 We don't have Any Savings, But Sone People Will Not Get Gov Pentagon's at retirement.  

 

They instead save there Money For When They Retire. The £6000 Limit you are looking to impos e w ith destroy 

any chance of a comfortable Retirement, and should not in anyw ay be any of the councils businesses. That's 

as bad as getting old people to dell there life long home to pay for care in a substandard care home 

7 I don't know  w hat the limit is at moment and there is w orking couples out there w ith higher mortgage rates 

heating bills w ho have less savings w hat about helping the w orking.  

8 I believe the threshold is too low , £10000, I think is more suitable.  

9 They'll just hide money somew here to keep below  the 6k are the council that nieve.  

10 there are claimants on UC w hose position 'mirrors' those on 'legacy' benefits such as IBESA, IS, IBJSA but 

they have had to claim UC instead as their claims began after their area became part of UC - it w ould be unfair 

to these claimants if  there position w ith regards to Council Tax Reduction w as to different to those on 'legacy' 

benefits. Also under 'managed migration' to UC those on IBESA, IS, IBJSA w ill at some stage be moving over 

to UC, w hich w ould mean that they w ould be entitled to CTR even if they have over £6000 on 'legacy benefits' 

but if  they have to move to UC they w ill then not be entitled to CTR 

this w ill affect client w ho have had a change of circumstances i.e. have been w orking but have had to give up 

w ork due to health issues 

the scheme should still reflect the capital rules w hich apply to Universal Credit and other benefits i.e. tariff  

income 
 

 

answered 10 

skipped 65 

 
4. Part 3 – Removing the requirement for any non-dependant deductions  

 

6. Do you agree with this change to the scheme?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Yes   
 

34.29% 12 

2 No   
 

28.57% 10 

3 Don't Know   
 

37.14% 13 

 

answered 35 

skipped 40 

 

Page 418



  

7. If you disagree please explain why and what alternative would you propose?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Open-Ended Question 100.00% 7 

1 All w orking adults should contribute to household bills, therefore they should be expected to contribute to 

council tax payments 

2 The scheme could be unfair if  for example a household had w orking nondependants in it compare to a 

household w ith nondependants on benefits or studying. It may be fairer to have a f ixed nondependant charge 

for w orking nondependants and direct the money saved through this measure to households completely reliant 

on benefits. 

3 The w hole house income should be included. All adults use services the council's provide 

4 The scheme should take into account the income of all adults in a household to calculate any support provided 

by the local authority.  

Many households now  have adult children living at home in paid employment as they can't afford to live 

independently, a proportion of this income should be included in any calculations to assess support from the 

scheme.  

5 If the cost olis likely to be greater than the benefit, it not a good f inancial decision.  

6 All household income should be accounted for a a person could have 2 adult children living w ith them on full 

time w ell paid jobs but still screw ing over the system.  

7 - having a deduction for a 'non-dependant' is reasonable - it teaches a 'non-dependant' w ith an income that they 

need to contribute to the household costs 

 

- it w ould be better if  there w as a set rate of 'non-dependant' deduction as applies to the 'housing cost element' 

of Universal Credit - including exceptions as per UC rules - mirroring UC in this w ay w ould make it easier for 

people to understand. 

 

- Alternatively there could be few  'bands  

-  
 

 

answered 7 

skipped 68 

 
5. Part 4 – Disregarding the housing element of Universal Credit  

 

8. Do you agree with this change to the scheme?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Yes   
 

61.76% 21 

2 No   
 

23.53% 8 

3 Don't Know   
 

14.71% 5 

 

answered 34 

skipped 41 

 

9. If you disagree please explain why and what alternative would you propose?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

Page 419



  

9. If you disagree please explain why and what alternative would you propose?  

1 Open-Ended Question 100.00% 6 

1 If you count savings as a w ay to deduct entitlement, you should fairly assess all income including benefits.  

An income based scheme is totally unfair and unequal. All of your residents should be treated fairly and equally.  

2 Some w ill never w ork as everthing is paid for them. 

3 All benefits should be included as they may be getting more in benefits and qualify than a person w ho doesn’t 

get any benefits and doesn’t  

4 If claiments are recieving rent benefit it should be included as income 

5 Stop giving handouts, all this cost of living crisis could be sorted by people cutting back on non essentials, 

people are still smoking drinking and going out and then going food banks to get food for their kids, see it in 

biddulph all the time 

6 Housing Benefit w as never taken into account as income w hen assessing Council Tax Reduction and the 

'housing cost' element in UC is their equivalent of Housing Benefit 
 

 

answered 6 

skipped 69 

 
6. Part 5 – Removing the current earnings disregards and replacing them with a 

standard disregard for all working applicants  
 

10. Do you agree with this change to the scheme?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Yes   
 

58.82% 20 

2 No   
 

20.59% 7 

3 Don't Know   
 

20.59% 7 

 

answered 34 

skipped 41 

 

11. If you disagree please explain why and what alternative would you propose?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Open-Ended Question 100.00% 6 

1 No one can live on £25 a w eek. It doesn't seem to make a signif icant difference 

2 The changes w ould increase the costs of benefits being paid 

3 The current differentials in disregards are fairer as they make distinctions betw een w orking couples, single 

people and lone parents, w hich directs help tow ards those w ho have greater needs. The proposed flat rate of 

£25 w ill also cost more. 

4 The system clearly needs to be simplif ied, but the cap should be low er than £25.00 in order to try to reduce the 

risk of an increase in the overall cost of the scheme.  

5 Give them nothing, get them into w ork their is enough jobs out their  

6 Agree - it is simple and encourages people to increase their earnings as w ill provide a higher disregard for many 

Page 420



  

11. If you disagree please explain why and what alternative would you propose?  

claimanats 
 

 

answered 6 

skipped 69 

 
 

7. Part 6 – Removing the Extended Payment provision  
 

12. Do you agree with this change to the scheme?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Yes   
 

61.76% 21 

2 No   
 

17.65% 6 

3 Don't know   
 

20.59% 7 

 

answered 34 

skipped 41 

 

13. If you disagree, please explain why and what alternative would you propose?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Open-Ended Question 100.00% 6 

1 Legacy benefits recipients did not receive the uplif t of £20 a w eek  

But everyone should be treated the same on benefits  

2 Those people deserve my help and gratitude  

3 Individuals should be encouraged to w ork and not penalised for it. 

4 The negatives outw eigh the positives 

5 Shopping vouchers should be handed out instead of cash payments as its spent on drink fags and drugs w hen 

w ill the council goverment see this  

6 - as a person moving into w ork may have a w ait of up to a month before they are paid it is likely this could lead 

to claimants getting into council tax arrears  

 

- it make a move into w ork less attractive 
 

 

answered 6 

skipped 69 

 

 
8. Part 7 – Any new claim or change in circumstances which changes Council Tax 
Reduction entitlement will be made from the date on which the change occurs, 

(rather than on a weekly basis as at present)  
 

Page 421



  

14. Do you agree with this change to the scheme?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Yes   
 

82.35% 28 

2 No   
 

5.88% 2 

3 Don't Know   
 

11.76% 4 

 

answered 34 

skipped 41 

 

15. If you disagree, please explain why and what alternative would you propose?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Open-Ended Question 100.00% 1 

1 Agree - but claimants w ill need to be issued w ith clearly understandable decisions  
 

 

answered 1 

skipped 74 

 

9. Part 8 – Protecting disabled persons by disregarding Personal Independence 
Payments or Disability Living Allowance and providing a further weekly disregard of 

£50 where the applicant, partner or dependant is disabled  
 

16. Do you agree with this change to the scheme?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Yes   
 

72.73% 24 

2 No   
 

12.12% 4 

3 Don't Know   
 

15.15% 5 

 

answered 33 

skipped 42 

 

17. If you disagree please explain why and what alternative would you propose?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Open-Ended Question 100.00% 4 

1 They have already been given money to live on. 

2 Benefits should be included in any calculation as not everybody w ho claims them are in a low  earning job 

Page 422



  

17. If you disagree please explain why and what alternative would you propose?  

3 The low est rate of DLA is presently £24.25, and the mobility component of PIP is £24.45, but these benefits give 

access to 100% benefit from the council tax support scheme and potentially 100's of pounds? I understand the 

council is trying to simplify the scheme so they can reduce staff ing costs, but support should be proportionate 

dependent on need.  

4 All money should be included as a couple w ho w ork 40 hours each a w eek paying for everything themselves 

w ith no reduction can be alot w orse off than someone playing the system using kids as disability gains 
 

 

answered 4 

skipped 71 

 
10. Part 9 – Disregarding Carer's Allowance and the Support Component of the 

Employment and Support Allowance  
 

18. Do you agree with this change to the scheme?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Yes   
 

72.73% 24 

2 No   
 

15.15% 5 

3 Don't Know   
 

12.12% 4 

 

answered 33 

skipped 42 

 

19. If you disagree please explain why and what alternative would you propose?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Open-Ended Question 100.00% 4 

1 Benefits already been paid to help w ith vost of living. 

2 Carers are able bodied so should be included  

3 A lot of the suggested changes to the scheme suggest there might be a 'slight increase in the overall cost of the 

scheme'. All these 'slight increases' add up and may result in additional costs to residents w ho have to pay full 

council tax.  

4 Definitely not as people w ork and claim carers allow ance and just don't declare it, banks should be closely 

monitored to see w hat money is going in and have people out their actually checking that carers are actually 

caring and not going out w orking cash in hand.  
 

 

answered 4 

skipped 71 

 

11. Part 10 – Continuing to protect War Pensioners by disregarding War Pensions or 
War Disablement pensions in full and by enabling up to 100% support to be granted 
in some cases  

 

Page 423



  

20. Do you agree with this proposal?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Yes   
 

84.85% 28 

2 No   
 

3.03% 1 

3 Don't know   
 

12.12% 4 

 

answered 33 

skipped 42 

 

21. If you disagree please explain why and what alternative would you propose?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Open-Ended Question 100.00% 2 

1 Broadly agree, but if  this proposal replicates current provisions, w hy w ould it cause a potential increase in the 

cost of the scheme? 

2 These people are w hy w e still have a English speaking country, they or their partners put their lives on the line 

to protect us, now  are probably thinking w hy did they bother w ith all the crap this country is going through and 

been milked by so many.  
 

 

answered 2 

skipped 73 

 
12. Alternatives to changing the Council Tax Reduction Scheme  
 

22. Please use this space to make any other comments on the proposed scheme.  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Open-Ended Question 100.00% 9 

1 I think that if  this scheme if it w orks correctly sounds good, I feel that the vulnerable people are being looked 

after , and this is really important at this time. How ever its the application of this new  scheme that is important.  

2 The benefit breakdow n needs to be simplif ied as it's a complex statement to read at times  

Helping those w ho have reduced income due to disability etc should be priority  

3 Means test everything so it makes it a level playing f ield  

4 No need to change anything 

5 Your scheme looks more complex and adds administrative costs. Which you haven't included. Using the 

universal scheme is more streamlined targeted and saves reinventing the w heel. Targeted grants w here people 

can apply w ould seem more sensible.  

6 I am disappointed that there are no specif ic f igures included in this consultation, it's very vague about the impact 

the changes w ill have to the actual budget and how  much it w ill have to increase to cover the proposals. I w ould 

remind the council that everyone on f ixed incomes is being squeezed by the cost-of-living crisis not just those 

on benefits. 

7 It seems w ell thought out.  

Page 424



  

22. Please use this space to make any other comments on the proposed scheme.  

8 Keep the original scheme as w e don't need more cost to hard w orking families, people need to get out to w ork. I 

know  people w ho go to w ork for a couple of months before Xmas just for Christmas money and still claim 

benefits all year round, abuse w ill just increase. I'd remove alot of benefits due to the fact you can claim for the 

smallest thing and get aw ay w ith it. Like I've got a stick to help me w alk then see the same person running dow n 

a street, OMG w ake up and see w hat people are doing 

9 the scheme appears to be reasonable how ever w ithout examples of how  claimants under the current scheme 

w ould be affected then it is impossible to compare the tw o and see how  many w inners/losers there w ould be 

and w hat the cost analysis is 

 

it does seem to be easier to administer 
 

 

answered 9 

skipped 66 

 

23. Please use the space below if you would like the Council to consider any other 

options (please state).  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Open-Ended Question 100.00% 7 

1 I think you have covered most a part from, w hich this is meant w ith no disrespect to the council at all but 

grandparents w ho have had to give up their jobs and have an special guardianship for looking after their 

grandchildren need a lot more help , I have a private pension w hich I had to release early to be able to make 

sure there is money for my grandchild , this is used in the calculations and I feel that this is unfair as in some 

cases the court asks you not to w ork as the child w ill need extra support emotionally, but I am alw ays penalis ed 

for this . The cost of him in foster care w ould be far more that my pension small pension but it’s still used . 

Please could you disregard all , or maybe a percentage of this amount. 

2 Advertise support and assistance for all those w ho are " vulnerable customers/ residents " 

Not all help is accessible and the household support scheme isn't very clear  

3 There is not many homes w ith solar panels in leek eg ,w hy???help w ith those things  

4 The w orking person w ill have to pay more council tax on top of everything else gas, electricity.,mortgages fuel to 

get to w ork its hard for them as w ell, w hy not be fare and give reductions to all or freeze it for a year.  

5 Consider automatic backdating of aw ards to the f irst date of liability or the 1st April, w hichever is later, to remove 

bureaucracy around considering backdating requests and to prevent claimants w ho do not fully understand the 

system missing out on entitlement. 

 

Consider having a discretionary pot of money w hich can be aw arded to claimants in hardship or w here the 

simplif ication of the scheme results in unforeseen unfairness. (This may require reducing some other aw ards 

slightly but w ould provide the potential to deal w ith unforeseen issues w hich may arise, particularly in the f irst 

year of running the new  scheme.) 

6 I w ould prefer that each individual across the country is levied a x % on income they earn to put tow ards local 

authority services based on population size.  

7 Pay for more investigators and reduce the cost of payments, then if someone is in need of support money is 

available but f irstly checking they aint got a 65inch tv, satellite TV, Internet, 40 fags a day and a ltr of vodka 

being consumed as things like that are a luxury, aslong as their in a house and can keep w arm and have f ood 

their f ine, the extra money w ill be w asted on luxury. Some w orking people can't afford takeaw ays, go out, they 

struggle day to day but don't moan about it its called life and they just get on w ith it as they don't w ant to be a 

drain on society. 
 

 

answered 7 

skipped 68 

 

Page 425



  

24. If you have any further comments or questions to make regarding the Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme that you haven't had opportunity to raise elsewhere, please use the 
space below.  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Open-Ended Question 100.00% 4 

1 If this could be made know  not just on the internet as everyone cannot or does not have access to it, but by 

letter and w idely advertised. Also someone at the one stop shops around the three tow ns and mobile w alk ins in 

the rural areas. There are so many people w ho may be Eligible and if these changes don’t get to people they 

w ill miss out, or they might just need it explaining to them. Internet is not alw ays the best w ay a personal 

conversation is something that helps much more than that or a piece of paper they don’t understand and just 

goes in the bin. 

2 If they are able to w ork they should. As a single parent i w ork pay child care but get no help w ith council tax 

apart from 25% single reduction. Should help the ones that w ant to w ork. 

3 You really need to be Einstein to understand this document. I doubt many in the Moorlands w ill understand half 

the questions. Total w aste if time and money 

4 With regards to Decision Letters these need to be clear and easy to understand by claimants - a scheme based 

on Banding may make this happen.  

At the moment they are not easy to understand 
 

 

answered 4 

skipped 71 

 
13. About You  

 

25. Are you completing this form on behalf of an organisation or group?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Yes   
 

3.13% 1 

2 No   
 

96.88% 31 

 

answered 32 

skipped 43 

 
 

If yes, please tell us the name of the organisation/group and add any other comments you 
wish to make.   

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Open-Ended Question 100.00% 1 

1 Daw n Keates, Supervisor 

Citizens Advice Cheadle 

 

It w ould have been nice to have bee consulted on these changes formally as advise clients on, and assist w ith 

making claims for all benefits, including Council Tax Reduction - I only 'stumbled across' the consultation w hen 

looking on the w ebsite for some information for a client 
 

 

answered 1 

skipped 74 

Page 426



  

 
 
14. Questions for Individuals  
 

26. Do you live in the Staffordshire Moorlands District Council area?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Yes   
 

100.00% 31 

2 No 
 

0.00% 0 

 

answered 31 

skipped 44 

 

27. Are you currently receiving Council Tax Reduction?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Yes   
 

29.03% 9 

2 No   
 

70.97% 22 

 

answered 31 

skipped 44 

 
 

28. Are you or your partner in work or self-employed?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Yes   
 

61.29% 19 

2 No   
 

38.71% 12 

 

answered 31 

skipped 44 

 

29. Are you liable to pay Council Tax?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Yes   
 

100.00% 31 

2 No 
 

0.00% 0 

 

answered 31 

skipped 44 

Page 427



  

 

30. Are you currently serving in the Armed Forces?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Yes 
 

0.00% 0 

2 No   
 

100.00% 29 

 

answered 29 

skipped 46 

 

 

31. What is your gender?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Male   
 

35.48% 11 

2 Female   
 

54.84% 17 

3 Non-Binary 
 

0.00% 0 

4 Prefer not to say   
 

9.68% 3 

 

answered 31 

skipped 44 

 

32. What is your age?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 18-24 
 

0.00% 0 

2 25-34 
 

0.00% 0 

3 35-44   
 

16.13% 5 

4 45-54   
 

35.48% 11 

5 55-64   
 

22.58% 7 

6 65-74   
 

16.13% 5 

7 75-84 
 

0.00% 0 

8 85+ 
 

0.00% 0 

9 Prefer not to say   
 

9.68% 3 

 

answered 31 

skipped 44 

 
 

Page 428



  

33. Disability: Are your day to day activities limited because of a health problem or 
disability which has lasted, or is expected to last, at least 12 months?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Yes   
 

25.81% 8 

2 No   
 

67.74% 21 

3 Don't know 
 

0.00% 0 

4 Prefer not to say   
 

6.45% 2 

 

answered 31 

skipped 44 

 

34. Ethnic Origin: What is your ethnic group?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Prefer not to say 
 

0.00% 0 

2 White British   
 

96.55% 28 

3 White Irish   
 

3.45% 1 

4 
White Gypsy or Irish 
Traveller  

0.00% 0 

5 
Any other White 
background  

0.00% 0 

6 
Mixed/Multiple ethnic 
groups - White & Black 
African 

 
0.00% 0 

7 
Mixed/Multiple ethnic 
groups - White & Black 
Caribbean 

 
0.00% 0 

8 
Mixed/Multiple ethnic 
groups - White & Asian  

0.00% 0 

9 
Any other multi mixed 
background  

0.00% 0 

10 
Asian or Asian British 
Pakistani  

0.00% 0 

11 
Asian or Asian British 
Indian  

0.00% 0 

12 
Asian or Asian British 
Bangladeshi  

0.00% 0 

13 
Asian or Asian British 
Chinese  

0.00% 0 

14 
Any other Asian 
background  

0.00% 0 

15 Black African 
 

0.00% 0 

16 British Caribbean 
 

0.00% 0 

17 Black British 
 

0.00% 0 

18 Any other Black 
 

0.00% 0 

Page 429



  

34. Ethnic Origin: What is your ethnic group?  

background 

 

answered 29 

skipped 46 

 

35. Other ethnic group?  

Answer Choices 
Response 
Percent 

Response 
Total 

1 Open-Ended Question 100.00% 1 

1 Human being of only tw o kind male or female not one of these made up new  age kinds and a Christian  
 

 

answered 1 

skipped 74 

 

Page 430



  

 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
Cabinet 

 
14 February 2023 

  
 

 
TITLE: 

 
Council Tax Support Fund 2023-24 

 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 

 

Councillor Cllr Worthington - Portfolio Holder 
for Finance 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

 
Martin Owen – Executive Director (Finance 
and Customer Services) 

Joanne Wheeldon - Head of Revenues and 
Benefits 

 
WARDS INVOLVED: 
 

 
Non Specific 

 
 

 
1. Reason for the Report 
 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to advise the Cabinet of the details surrounding 
the Council Tax Support Fund Scheme 2023-24 announced by Government in 

December 2022.  
 

2. Recommendation 

2.1  That Cabinet approve the award of up to £25.00 to reduce council tax bills for 
vulnerable households on Local Council Tax Support (LCTS ) s7.1 and to 

direct the remaining funding during 2023-24 in line with the proposal at s8.1. 
  
3. Executive Summary 

 

3.1 Recognising the impact of rising bills, the Government is distributing £100 

million of new grant funding in 2023-24 for local authorities to support 
economically vulnerable households in their area with council tax bills. 

3.2 Government expects local authorities to use the majority of the funding 
allocations to reduce council tax bills for current working age and pension age 

Local Council Tax Support (LCTS) claimants by up to £25. 

3.3 The remaining fund can be used to further support vulnerable households with 
council tax bills. 

Page 431

Agenda Item 12.2



  

3.4 The reduction will be automatically applied to council tax bills for 2023-24. 

 
4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  
 

4.1  Aim 1 - Financial inclusion.  

 
5. Alternative Options 

 No other reasonable options given the tight parameters and small amounts of 
money 
  

6. Implications 
 

6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
 None 
 

6.2 Workforce 
The delivery of a further government scheme will have some impact on 

resource. 
 
6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment  

The report has been prepared in line with Council policies 
  
6.4 Financial implications  

Funding of £123,103 will be provided by Central Government to deliver the 
scheme via a grant under section 31 of the Local Government Act 2003. 

 
6.7 Legal 

Funding will be delivered using discretionary powers using s13A(1)(c) of the 

Local Government Finance Act 1992. 
 

6.8  Internal and External Consultation 
 Internal consultation with members 
  

6.9  Risk Assessment 
None 

 
     Martin Owen 

Executive Director (Finance & Customer Services) 

 

 

Web Links and 
Background Papers 

Contact details 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/council -tax-
support-fund-guidance/council-tax-support-fund-guidance 

Joanne Wheeldon 
Head of Revenues and Benefits  
joanne.wheeldon@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk 

 
 
 

 

Page 432



  

 
7.  Details 

   

7.1 Funding is being allocated to councils based on their share of local council tax 
support claimants according to the latest data. The Council, as expected by 

government, will use the majority of its funding allocations to reduce bills for 
current working age and pension age Local Council Tax Support (LCTS) 

claimants by up to £25.  
Councils can use their remaining allocation as they see fit, to support 
vulnerable households with council tax bills. 

7.2 Local authorities are expected to use their grant allocation to fund further 
reductions in the council tax liability of individuals receiving LCTS with an 

outstanding council tax liability, by up to £25. They are also able to use a 
proportion of their allocations to determine their own local approaches to 
supporting economically vulnerable households with council tax bills. 

7.3 The discount will apply to current LCTS claimants that have an outstanding 
council tax liability for the 2023-24 financial year. The funding will be delivered 

this year using their discretionary powers under s13A(1)(c) of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992. 

7.4  Where a taxpayer’s liability for 2023-24 is, following the application of council 

tax support, less than £25, their liability will be reduced to nil. Where a 
taxpayer’s liability for 2023-24 is nil, no reduction to the council tax bill will be 

available and those bills should not be credited. 

7.5 There will be no need for any recipient of LCTS to make a separate claim for a 
reduction under this scheme. The local authority will assess who is eligible for 

support and apply the discount automatically. 

7.6 Council tax reductions will be applied from the beginning of the 2023-24 

financial year for existing LCTS recipients and discounts will be reflected in 
council tax bills issued in March 2023.  

7.7 The Council will provide information about the scheme on its website and 

through social media. 

7.8 It is the Government’s intention that any assistance provided from the Council 

Tax Support Fund will not affect the eligibility of recipients for other benefits. 

8.  Discretionary Support  

8.1 The Council will deliver this funding using it’s discretionary powers under 

s13A(1)(c) of the Local Government Finance Act 1992. In order to continue 
supporting vulnerable households with council tax bills, it is recommended that 

any remaining funding following the main award of up to £25 will be spent as 
follows: 

Page 433



  

 A top up to the original award, for those households in receipt of LCTR  

 An award of up to £25 for new claimants within the financial year 2023-24 and 
a top up where further support is needed. 

8.2 As the Council is implementing a Council Tax Reduction Banding Scheme 

from 1.4.23 and increasing current support, it is not yet able to estimate the 
amount of funding that will be spent on reducing the council tax bill and the 

amount of remaining funding left. The Council will therefore revisit it’s 
discretionary approach at intervals during the financial year, in order to ensure 
expenditure for 2023-24 remains within its allocation. 

9. Monitoring and reporting requirements 

9.1 As requested by Government the Council will  maintain a record of support 

provided. In particular, we will ensure that we are able to monitor and report on 
the level of expenditure provided to LCTS claimants through the provision of 
additional discounts. We will also maintain records of the mechanisms and 

levels of support provided through discretionary schemes. 

9.2 The Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities will undertake a 

quarterly DELTA collection exercise to monitor implementation progress. The 
Council will ensure it puts in place arrangements to support this data collection 
process. 

10. New burdens 

10.1 The Government recognises that the implementation of this policy will place an 

additional burden on local authorities, in particular the requirement to purchase 
software to deliver the support via council tax accounts plus additional demand 
on resource. In accordance with the new burdens doctrine, the Government 

will conduct an assessment of the expected reasonable additional costs 
associated with the implementation of the policy. 

Page 434



  

 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Cabinet 
 

14 February 2023 
 

 

TITLE: 
 

Third Quarter Financial, Procurement & 
Performance Review 2022/23 

 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 

 
Cllr M Worthington - Portfolio Holder for 
Finance 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

 
Keith Pointon - Head of Finance 

Tanya Cooper – Head of OD and 
Transformation 

 

WARDS INVOLVED: 
 

 

Non Specific 

 
Appendices Attached  

 Appendix A (2022/23) – Third Quarter (Financial Report) 

 Appendix B (2022/23) – Third Quarter (Procurement Report)  

 Appendix C (2022/23) – Third Quarter (Performance Report) 

 
 
1. Reason for the Report 

 

1.1    The purpose of this report is to inform members of the Council’s overall 

performance and financial position for the period ended 31st December (“Third 
Quarter 2022/23”). 

 
2. Recommendation 

2.1 It is recommended that the Cabinet:  
 

 Note the Third Quarter 2022/23 financial, procurement and performance 
position detailed in Appendices A, B and C and summarised at 3.3 of this 

covering report. 
 
3. Executive Summary 

 
3.1 This report summarises the Council’s financial, procurement and performance 

position after considering service activity up to the end of the Third Quarter 
(i.e. 31st December 2022).  

 

3.2 Detailed analysis is provided in Appendix A (Finance), Appendix B 
(Procurement) and Appendix C (Performance).  

 
3.3 The position can be summarised as follows: 

 

Page 435

Agenda Item 12.3



  

Subject Headline Reference 

Finance The Finance headlines for the Third Quarter are: 

Performance against Budget 

 At the Third Quarter stage the General Fund projected outturn for 
2022/23 is an underspend of £20,430. 

Efficiency Programme 

 There is no new savings target in the 2022/23 budget. It is 
anticipated that the shortfall in savings brought forward from 2021/22  
will be delivered in the year. 

Capital Programme 

 The revised Capital Programme budget for 2022/23 is £4.68 million 
including the carry forward of capital underspends from 2021/22.  
The projected outturn for the year at Quarter Three is £2.41 million, 
an underspend of £2.27 million compared to budget. 

Treasury Management 

 Cash investments held at 31 December 2022 totalled £23.8 million. 

 Council borrowing at 31 December 2022 totals £7.6 million.  
 The Council’s net interest income receipts for the year is forecast to  

exceed the budget by £0.407 million at the Quarter Three stage. 

Revenue Collection 

 82.62% of Council Tax was collected by 31 December 2022 
compared to 83.07% for the same period last year. 

 81.42% of Business Rates was collected by 31 December 2022 
compared to 76.34% for the same period last year. 

 At the end of the Second Quarter debt that was over 60 days old 
was £13,796 which compares with £46,727 at 31 December 2021.  

 

Appendix A 

Procurement The Procurement headlines for the Third Quarter are: 

 9 procurement activities were completed.  

 The Procurement forward plan included 53 procurement activities for 
completion in 2022/23 (either SMDC only or joint). 

 At the 31 December 2022, 41% of procurement activity undertaken 
was on the forward plan. 
 

Appendix B  

Performance The Performance headlines for the Third Quarter are: 

 69% of the key performance indicators on track. 
Appendix C 

 

 
 

 

Page 436



  

4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  
 

4.1 The successful delivery of all corporate priorities is dependent upon the 

effective management of performance and financial resources, which is the 
subject of this report. 

 
 

5. Alternative Options 

 
5.1 Detailed Analysis is contained within the main body of the Report 

 
6. Implications 

 

6.1
  

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
None 

 
6.2 Workforce 

None 

 
6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 

This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's 
Equality and Diversity policies. 
 

6.4 Financial Considerations 
There are substantial financial considerations contained throughout 
the report. 

 
 

6.5 Legal 
None 
 

6.6 Climate Change 
None 

 
6.7 
 

Consultation 
None 

6.8 
 

Risk Assessment 
There are a number of risks to the financial position presented, 
which are identified and explained in the financial report attached 

at Appendix A 
 

MARTIN OWEN 
Executive Director (Finance and Customer Services) 

 
Web Links and 
Background Papers 

 

Contact details 

Report appendices A-C Keith Pointon 
Head of Finance 

keith.pointon@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk 
 

Page 437



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 
  

 

APPENDIX A 

 

 
 

2022/23 
 

Third Quarter  
 Financial  
Review 

 
  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 439



2 
 

1.      Background and Introduction 

 
1.1. In accordance with the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules and 

recommended good practice, a quarterly financial report is presented to 
members. This is the third report for 2022/23. 

 
1.2. The report summarises overall financial performance for 2022/23 with 

particular emphasis on the key sources of financial risk to the Council. 

Specific considerations are as follows: 
 

 General Fund Revenue Account (Section 2) – considers budgetary 

performance on the General Account by looking at variations in 
income and expenditure and the funding received by the Council.  

 

 Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme (Section 3) – considers 

progress in achieving the efficiency and rationalisation savings 
forecast for 2022/23.  

 

 Collaborative arrangements (Section 4) – highlights the 

performance of the Council’s Joint Venture companies: Alliance 

Environmental Services Ltd and Alliance Norse Ltd. 
 

 Capital Programme (Section 5) – provides an update to Members on 

progress against the Council’s capital plan. 
 

 Treasury Management (Section 6) – sets out the key statistics in 

terms of investments and borrowings. 
 

 Revenue Collection (Section 7) – considers progress-to-date in 

collecting the Council Tax, Business Rates and Sundry Debts. 
 

Page 440



3 
 

2. General Fund Revenue Account 
 

2.1. This section of the report considers the financial performance of the 

General Fund Revenue Account against budget by setting out variations 
in income and expenditure and funding received by the Council.  

Service 
2022/23 
Budget 

Projected 
Outturn 
2022/23 

Variance 

Contribution 
to (Use of) 
Earmarked 
Reserves  

Net 
Variance 

  £ £ £ £ £ 

Alliance Leadership Team 51,780 40,770 (11,010) 0 (11,010) 

Audit 9,940 9,940 0 0 0 

ICT 713,760 751,710 37,950 (2,700) 35,250 

Human Resources 52,360 165,700 113,340 (50,000) 63,340 

Member Services 354,980 331,980 (23,000) 0 (23,000) 

Property Services 738,540 969,850 231,310 0 231,310 

Benefits (243,160) (100,970) 142,190 0 142,190 

Planning Applications (386,310) (682,630) (296,320) 0 (296,320) 

Building Control 54,510 47,010 (7,500) 0 (7,500) 

Customer Services 134,780 64,130 (70,650) 0 (70,650) 

Legal Services 64,520 99,520 35,000 0 35,000 

Electoral Services 82,790 67,790 (15,000) 9,390 (5,610) 

Licensing and Land Charges (210,970) (207,650) 3,320 0 3,320 

Regeneration 65,450 90,450 25,000 0 25,000 

Communities and Cultural 153,830 148,830 (5,000) (32,000) (37,000) 

Housing Strategy 24,660 24,660 0 0 0 

Transformation 6,760 41,710 34,950 0 34,950 
Community Safety and 

Enforcement 151,050 143,050 (8,000) 0 (8,000) 

Finance & Procurement 133,610 132,060 (1,550) 0 (1,550) 

Revenues (303,120) (265,140) 37,980 0 37,980 

Corporate Finance* 6,203,630 6,550,690 347,060 (89,060) 258,000 

Waste Collection 1,816,590 1,956,520 139,930 0 139,930 

Street Scene 399,620 448,700 49,080 0 49,080 

Leisure Services 186,220 167,400 (18,820) (10,000) (28,820) 

Horticulture 563,990 602,150 38,160 (7,700) 30,460 

Environmental Health (24,660) (22,200) 2,460 0 2,460 

            

Net Total of Services 10,795,150 11,576,030 780,880   598,810 

            

Net Interest 19,920 (357,510) (377,430)   (377,430) 

  10,815,070   11,218,520  403,450 (182,070) 221,380 

Funding:           

- external (9,998,840) (10,240,650) (241,810)   (241,810) 
- reserves contribution 
to/(from):           

      general contingency 98,050 98,050 0    

      earmarked - business rates (906,580) (906,580) 0 
 

 

      earmarked - general (7,700) (189,770) (182,070) 182,070 0 

            
            
            

Projected (Surplus)/Deficit 0 (20,430) (20,430) 
 

(20,430) 
            

* Staff budgets are budgeted w ithin Corporate Finance currently. 

Page 441



4 
 

 

2.2. A revenue budget of £10,792,890 was set for 2022/23. In accordance with 
Financial Procedure Rules, the roll forward of £22,180 in unused budgets from 

2021/22 has been authorised. This was made up of: 

 

 Planning (£14,650): in respect of the development of the Local Plan in 

2021/22 
 Policy (£3,330) 

 Risk Management (£4,200): in respect of Member Initiative funds to 

applied in 2021/22. 

 
 This brings the 2022/23 budget to £10,815,070. 
 

2.3. The table above shows how this budget has been allocated to services. 
 

2.4. The Q3 projected outturn on the General Fund Revenue Account for the year 
is £11,218,520. This represents a projected overspend for the year of 

£403,450. However, £182,070 is funded from the use of earmarked reserves, 
reducing the overspend to £221,380.   
 

2.5. There are two areas of significant underspend (>£50,000): 
 

 Planning Applications (£296,320 underspend) – Application fee income 

is projected to exceed expectations. 
 Customer Services (£70,650 underspend) – sustainable savings on 

postage and printing are being realised following improved working 
practices compounded by the natural effect of agile working.  

 
2.6. There are five areas of significant overspend (>£50,000): 

 
 

 Human Resources (HR) (£63,340 overspend) – one-off spend of 

£75,000 and ongoing spend of £50,000 on consultancy for HR and 

Organisational Development (OD) strategies to be part funded by the 
drawdown of a £50,000 reserve held for OD strategy; partially offset by a 
small underspend on training. 

 Property (£231,310 overspend) – Impact of increased utility costs from 

1st October (£35,000); increased cleaning and caretaking costs arising 

before the start of the Norse contract (£70,000); underspend on DCC 
repairs for first quarter (£20,000) shortfall on car park income due to 
change in parking behaviour (£130,000). 

 Benefits (£142,190 overspend) – In the previous year there was an 

increase in the contribution to the Council’s provision against not 

recovering benefits retrospectively judged to have been overpaid to 
claimants; a similar level is forecast this year due to the current economic 

climate (£100,000).  This is compounded by the levels of subsidy accruing 
against benefits paid during the year (£42,190). 

 Corporate Finance (£258,000 overspend) – Additional employee costs 

(£238,000) including shortfall on the provision in the MTFP for the 2022/23 
pay award and other staffing costs;  plus repayment of Additional 

Restriction Grant Funding (£89,060) further described in paragraph 2.9. 

Page 442



5 
 

 Waste Collection (£139,930 overspend) – this is a combination of trade 

waste net overspend of £20,000; domestic recycling credit shortfall of 

£16,000; AES pay award and fuel inflation, partially offset by a recycling 
income rebate, net overspend of £130,000; offset by de minimus vehicle 
sales of an aggregate £26,000 which will be set aside to fund future 

vehicle purchases. 
    

2.7. Inflationary pressures across all other services, including partner organisations, 
are being monitored and will be reported in future quarterly reports should these 
crystalise into significant overspends during the remainder of the year. 

 
2.8. Net interest costs, as detailed in section 6, are expected to generate £377,430 

more income than budgeted. 
 

2.9. The level of funding anticipated for the year is £423,880 above that budgeted 

due to the following: 
 

 External Funding: (£241,810) 
 

 Business Rates Retention: 
o The levy payment saving is £95,410 greater than anticipated at budget 

setting through being a member of the Staffordshire Business Rates 

pool. This is subject to change as an element of the levy saving is 
dependent on all members of the pool. 

o £146,100 additional s31 grants are expected to be received to 
compensate for the cost of the Covid Additional Relief Fund Grants to 
businesses awarded during the year in relation to the 2021-22 

financial year. As there is no overall deficit on the Business Rates 
Collection Fund forecast at the end of 2022-23, there is no 

requirement to put this aside in to reserves at the end of the year. 
 

Movement of Reserves: (£189,770) 
 

 Additional Restriction Grant Funding of £89,060 is due to be returned to 
central government as this was not allocated in the various schemes in 
operation prior to 31st March 2022. 

 Other Earmarked (net £100,710 additional contribution): These reserves 
exist to match available funding with future projects and activities.  Often 

it is not possible to anticipate when eligible spend will occur and so as 
the year progresses services will identify projects and schemes where 
earmarked reserves can be applied. To date, across the authority net 

contribution into these reserves amounts to £100,710 more than 
nominally anticipated at the beginning of the year. 

 
3. Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme 

 

3.1. This section of the report considers the financial performance of the 
Council’s Efficiency and Rationalisation Programme in 2022/23. 

 
3.2. The current Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy was approved by 

Members in February 2017 and was due to finish in 2021/22. It had the effect 

of both reducing expenditure and increasing income. The need to grow 
income is now more of a priority as the Council moves more towards being 

Page 443



6 
 

self-financing (that is, not reliant on direct government funding such as 
revenue support grant). 
 

3.3. The strategy was developed with the underlying principles of protecting 
frontline service delivery. It is also intended that the strategy is a tool to 

enable the Council to ensure that its service spending is determined by the 
established priorities set out in the Corporate Plan. It focused primarily on 
major procurements, the asset management plan, growth, income generation 

and rationalisation.  
 

3.4. Whilst the strategy was largely delivered, a savings target of £100k has been 
incorporated into Year 4 of the 2022/23 MTFP approved in February. These 
savings, largely reflecting good housekeeping around new procurements and 

recommissioning and delivery is not scheduled for delivery until 2025/26.  
 

3.5. In conjunction with stakeholders, the outputs of an ‘Ideas Lab’ exercise 
undertaken during the Autumn of 2022 are being developed and early 
expectations of the outputs of this to produce a new strategy are being 

incorporated into the MTFP to be approved in February 2023.   
 

3.6. The Authority carries a longstanding reserve earmarked to support the 
Efficiency Strategy, which can be drawn on to offset one-off costs of 
delivering the efficiency programme, such as redundancy costs. The reserve 

stands at £493,000. It has not been necessary to draw on this reserve in 
previous years so it remains intact to underwrite performance against future 

savings targets in the Efficiency Programme. 
 
4. Collaborative Arrangements 

 
Alliance Environmental Services  

4.1. Alliance Environmental Services Ltd (AES) delivers waste, fleet, street 
cleansing and grounds maintenance services to both Staffordshire Moorlands 
District and High Peak Borough Councils. The Councils are shareholders of 

the company along with Ansa, which is a wholly owned subsidiary of Cheshire 
East Council. 

 
4.2. AES’s management fee and impact on this Council’s budget is summarised 

below: 
 
 

2022-23 £ 

    AES contract budget 4,484,540 

    
AES base management fee 4,566,990 

Efficiency Rebate (25,000) 

Allocation of Joint Operation loss 24,620 

Contract pressures/ (savings):  

- Pay award 158,000 

- Fuel inflation 149,000 

- Recycling Rebate (222,000) 

- Other (Fleet and Bins equipment) 61,000 

Page 444



7 
 

2022-23 £ 

Net contract cost 4,712,610 

  

 Variance 228,070 

 

4.3. The AES business plan for all services being delivered to the Council during 
2022/23 includes a budgeted management fee of £4,566,990. The Council will 

also take a share of the total AES forecast efficiency target which is repayable 
to the Council at the end of the year and is allocated against the management 
fee costs. 

 
4.4. Under accounting standards, AES’s financial performance is incorporated in to 

the Councils’ single entity statements as a ‘Joint Operation’ as opposed to 
separate group accounts being reported.  The loss is therefore apportioned 
between the two Councils and the respective services in line with the input of 

original budgeted resources from each department and is offset against the 
management fee costs. 

 
4.5. The forecast outturn now includes various contract pressures and savings: the 

pay award was estimated in line with the Council’s expectations at budget 

setting, this has now been updated to an additional cost of £158,000; the 
impact of inflation on fuel and red diesel is forecast as £149,000 additional 

cost; plus other increases related to fleet and bin provision of £61,000; these 
are offset by the current estimate of a rebate (£222,000) of improved recycling 
income due to an increased basket of goods rate in the market. 

 
Alliance Norse Limited 

4.6. A Joint Venture has been created between Norse Commercial Services 
Limited (a trading arm of the Norse Group which is wholly owned by Norfolk 
County Council) (75% ownership), Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 

(12.5% ownership) and High Peak Borough Council (12.5% ownership) to 
deliver housing repairs, capital investment and facilities management services 

across the Councils’ property assets. Phase 1 of the project to deliver 
corporate cleaning and caretaking service went live on 1st April 2022; and 
phase 2 for the delivery of the remainder of the services on 4th July 2022. 

 
4.7. The Councils are paying on account under the Service Agreement for the first 

pro-rata financial year for both phases from July 2022 to March 2023. These 
figures are included in the revenue and capital outturns within this report. 
These amounts will be reconciled at year end against the actual payments 

due and the Councils’ share of profits from the arrangement. 
 

SMDC £ 

   General fund capital including overheads 782,270 

  

General fund repairs 118,153 

Cleaning and caretaking 463,515 

Overheads 33,779 

  

Page 445



8 
 

SMDC £ 

 Total 1,397,717 

 

4.8. More detail around the performance of the company and the impact on the 
financial outturns will be included in future reports. 

 
5.  Capital Programme  
 

5.1. This section of the report provides an update to members on the Council’s 
Capital Programme. 

 
5.2. The table below shows a high level (service) summary of the General Fund 

Capital Programme position at 31st December 2022; further detail – on a 

scheme by scheme basis – is contained in Annex A: 

 

  
2022/23 

Approved 
Budget  

Q3 
Changes  

2022/23 Revised  
Budget 

2022/23 
Expected 
Out-Turn  

2022-23 
Expected 
Variance  

  £ £ £ £ £ 

Housing Standards 1,521,200              -    1,521,200 1,121,200 (400,000) 

Property Services 844,550              -    844,550 275,490 (569,060) 
ICT 48,050              -    48,050 68,040 19,990 

Leisure Services 428,640              -    428,640 155,870 (272,770) 
Fleet Management  691,220              -    691,220 451,190 (240,030) 
CCTV 56,140              -    56,140 56,140   
Community  200,000              -    200,000 200,000 (240,030) 

Regeneration 892,030              -    892,030 84,030 (808,000) 
Total 4,681,830              -    4,681,830 2,411,960 (2,269,870) 

Funding:-           

External  Contributions 1,517,940              -    1,517,940  1,117,940  (400,000) 
Capital Receipts 71,000              -    71,000       69,000  (2,000) 

Revenue  Reserves              -                 -                 -          65,000  65,000 
Earmarked Reserves        56,140               -          56,140        56,140                 -    

Borrowing 3,036,750              -    3,036,750 1,103,880 (1,932,870) 

Total 4,681,830              -    4,681,830 2,411,960 (2,269,870) 

Page 446



9 
 

5.3. The 2022/23 General Fund Capital Budget as updated and approved by 
Members on 23rd November  2022 was set at £4,681,830; no changes have 
been made during quarter three.  

5.4. As part of the update of the Medium Term Financial Plan the Capital 
Programme has been reviewed, re-profiled and updated to reflect the latest 

position in terms of capital projections to 31st March 2027. As a result, the 
current year’s programme is anticipated to record an underspend of 
£2,269,870. This is due to a number of projects which are behind schedule 

which have now been reprofiled into future years these include works within 
the Asset Management Plan (£569,060); re-scheduling of delivery of Birchall 

Leisure projects (£313,610); regeneration of Cheadle & Leek Markets 
(£808,000); and the timing of Fleet purchases (£240,030). 

5.5. Consequently, overall capital funding which is expected to be applied to the 

2022/23 Capital Programme is lower than forecast, reflecting the revised 
timing of capital spend, resulting in a reduced borrowing requirement of 

£1,932,870 against the revised budget. 

 
 

6. Treasury Management 

 

6.1. This section of the report sets out the key treasury management statistics in 
relation to the Council’s investments and borrowings. This report comprises a 
high level treasury management summary.  The Audit and Accounts 

Committee receives detailed operational updates on treasury management. 
 

Investments 
 

6.2. Cash Investments held on the 31st December 2022 totalled £23.8million. 

Interest earned on these investments up to the end of the second quarter 
totalled £271,820 and the average level of funds available for investment was 
£23.9million. 

 

6.3. The Council budgeted to receive £79,390 in investment income in 2022/23 

under the expectation that the Bank of England base rate would only reach 
0.75% by the end of the financial year. However, interest rates have increased 
during the year following the base rate rise to 1.00% (from 0.75%) in May 

2022, to 1.25% in June, to 1.75% in August, to 2.25% in September, to 3.00% 
in November, and again to 3.50% in December, therefore a surplus of 

£329,430 is currently anticipated against the budget. 
 

Capital loan (Service investment – Housing) 

 

Page 447



10 
 

6.4. The Council has made a £10milllion capital loan (service investment – 
housing) to Your Housing Limited to support the maintenance of and provision 
of affordable housing within the Staffordshire Moorlands District. The loan has 

a maturity of 10 years (due February 2032). Interest is chargeable at 3.07% 
(including a 0.80% risk premium), therefore £307,000 is receivable in the year. 

This is a small shortfall of £1,000 against the budget. Borrowing costs of 
£214,350 to support this are included in the borrowing costs forecast outturn 
below. 

 
Borrowing 

 
6.5. External borrowing outstanding as at 31st December 2022 was £7.6million 

following the repayment of £5million of Local Authority loans. 
 

6.6. The Council budgeted to incur £407,310 in net interest charges in 2022/23. 

This included new borrowing of £2.5million mid-year to fund the capital 
programme. No new borrowing is now expected to take place during the year, 
therefore borrowing costs are currently forecast to be underspent by £49,000. 

 
7. Revenue Collection 

 
7.1. This section of the report details progress to date in collecting the Council Tax, 

Business Rates and Sundry Debt. 

 
7.2. The Quarter Three collection rate was as follows: 

 

 Council Tax – 82.62% of Council Tax was collected by 31st December 
2022, compared to 83.07% for the same period in 2021/22, and 83.03% in 

2020/21. 

 Business Rates – 81.42% of Business Rates was collected by 31st 

December 2022, compared to 76.34% for the same period in 2021/22, and 
80.61% in 2020/21. 

o This is caused by the fluctuation in payment plans for large 

RV hereditaments in receipt of changing levels of relief 
between the years. This is expected to equalise in the 

coming months. 

 
7.3 At the end of quarter three the value of sundry debt that was over 60 days old 

was £13,796 which compares with £46,727 at 31st December 2021.   
 

  

Page 448



11 
 

           
          Annex A  

Capital Schemes 
2022/23 

Approved 
Budget  

Q3 
Changes  

2022/23 
Revised  
Budget 

2022/23 
Expected 
Out-Turn  

2022-23 
Expected 
Variance  

  £ £ £ £ £ 

Housing Standards           

Private Sector Grants 1,521,200           -    1,521,200   1,121,200    (400,000)  
Total Environmental Health   1,521,200            -      1,521,200    1,121,200    (400,000)  

Property Services           
Asset Management Plan  844,550           -    844,550      275,490    (569,060)  

 Total Property 844,550           -         844,550       275,490    (569,060)  
ICT 48,050           -    48,050 68,040 19,990 

 Total ICT        48,050            -           48,050         68,040         19,990  

 
          

Vehicle & Plant Purchase 691,220           -    691,220      451,190    (240,030)  
Fleet Management       691,220            -         691,220       451,190    (240,030)  

CCTV - Upgrade  56,140   56,140        56,140               -    
CCTV        56,140            -           56,140         56,140               -    

Regeneration           
Moorlands Partnership Grants  84,030           -    84,030 84,030              -    
Buttermarket Refurbishment       435,000            -    435,000              -      (435,000)  
Cheadle Market Hall  373,000           -    373,000              -      (373,000)  

Total Regeneration      892,030            -         892,030         84,030    (808,000)  
Community           
Forsbrook Community Facilities  200,000           -    200,000 200,000              -    

Total Community       200,000            -         200,000       200,000               -    
Leisure Services            
Sports Club Facilities Grants  42,800           -    42,800 8,530     (34,270)  
Hot Lane MUGA        35,000            -    35,000              -        (35,000)  
Birchall Sports Village       250,000            -         250,000         46,500    (203,500)  
Brough Park Improvements  100,840           -    100,840      100,840               -    
            

Total Leisure       428,640            -         428,640       155,870    (272,770)  
            

Total Programme 4,681,830           -    4,681,830 2,411,960 (2,269,870)  

Page 449



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

APPENDIX B 

 

 
 

2022/23 
 

Third Quarter 
 Procurement  

Review 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 451



 

1. Introduction 
 

1.1 A key element of the financial savings included in the Council’s Efficiency & 
Rationalisation Strategy is being met from Procurement activity which was agreed 

by Full Council in February 2017. 
 
1.2 The previous Procurement Strategy was developed in 2014 to ensure that its 

objectives linked closely with the Council’s overall strategic vision and aims and 
objectives.  The key actions included, delivery of cashable savings, development 

of a professional Procurement unit, updated Procurement Rules to support 
transparency and the implementation of electronic tendering processes and 
procurement systems. All of which have been achieved. 

 
1.3 The revised Joint Procurement Strategy is now approved. The revised strategy, 

covering 2022-2025 will focus on the following key objectives to support the aims 
of the Council’s Corporate plan and align with the LGA National Procurement 
Strategy: 

 

 Delivering Value for Money 

 Commercial focus and effective Contract Management 

 Maintaining Transparency and Ethical practices through effective leadership 

 Promoting Responsible and Sustainable Procurement  

 Supporting the Local Economy and Business Growth 

 Delivering Social Value (CSR) through our Contracts 

 
1.4 The Council will work to achieve these priorities by adopting and implementing 

the following key themes which underpin and will drive the strategy forward over 

the next three years: 
 

 Showing Leadership 

 Behaving Commercially 

 Achieving Community Benefits 

 Environmental Sustainability 

 Ethical Sourcing 
 
 

2. Third Quarter Completed Procurements 

2.1 The activity supported by the Council’s procurement team during the third quarter 
October 2022 to December 2022 is summarised below: 

Third Quarter   High Value 

(> £181,000) 

Low Value    

(< £181,000) 
Total 

SMDC Only 0 2 2 

JOINT (SM/HP) 2 5 7 

TOTAL   9 

 

2.2 Annex A provides details of the 9 procurements exercises reviewed and completed 

during Quarter three. 

 

Page 452



 

 
3.0  2022/23 Procurement Forward Plan & Projects 

 

3.1 The table below details the number of exercises which fall into either low or high 

value (profiled over full contract term) scheduled for completion or starting in 
2022/23. 

2022/23 Activity High Value 

(> 181,000k) 

 Low Value  

(< £181,000k) 
Total 

SMDC 

 

4 21 25 

JOINT (SM/HP) 4 24 28 

TOTAL   53 
 

In addition to the above, there are a further 85 listed entries brought forward from 

previous years (for review and completion for both HPBC and SMDC combined).  

3.2 Some of the more significant ‘high level’ procurement activity that is scheduled for 
delivery in 2022/23 includes:- 

 Facilities Management (Joint venture delivery model) - completed 

 Cornhill West Industrial Units Project (Subject to Approval) 

 Leisure Transformation programme 

 Levelling Up Funded projects – subject to application outcome 

 

Transforming Public Procurement Reforms 

 3.3 The Procurement Bill, which will reform the existing Public Sector Procurement 
  Rules, is now going through Parliament.  The reforms will: 

 

 create a fully transparent public procurement system, through a central 
digital platform; 

 aim to create a simpler and more flexible, commercial system that better 

meets our country’s needs while remaining compliant with our 
international obligations; 

 open up public procurement to new entrants such as small businesses 
and social enterprises so that they can compete for and win more public 
contracts. 

 

 3.4 The Bill is scheduled to receive Royal Ascent in Spring 2023 which will then 

  initiate a lead in six month comprehensive learning and development  

  programme for public sector Contracting Authorities.  Further information will be 

  prepared and presented as a separate Information Digest report as the  

  Bill progresses through the next stages in quarter four. 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 453



 

4. Procurement Performance 

4.1  This section reports on the Council performance in terms of procurement activity 
 

4.2  Performance for the third quarter is highlighted below:- 
 

Performance Indicator Target 

Performance at 

31 December 
2022 

% of Alliance Procurement 

Activity on Forward Plan 
 

70% 41% 

Annual contract spend as % 
of gross expenditure budget 

 

94% 94% 

Supplier (Creditor) spend 
within the local area as a % 

of total spend 
 

6% 6.5% 

% of Contracts awarded to 

local suppliers following 
submission of EOI (over 
£5,000) 

 

Contextual Contextual 

  

  

 Off track On Forward Plan PI commentary:  

 4.3 Recorded ‘on plan’ activity has decreased due to a number of influences over the 
  first two quarters of 2022/23.  Exercises that have been completed off plan 

  include sourcing activity in relation to Central Government  funding applications, 
  special events and projects that have required support in various professions 

  which could not be delivered in-house and were time critical, all have contributed 
  to the off plan activity count as they were not fully communicated to include on 
  the forward plan ahead of the sourcing activity.   

  
 4.4 Although a selection of the exercises could not have been anticipated in  

  advance, Procurement are now reviewing with all Heads of service the off plan 
  activity recorded during the first two quarters and looking ahead to Q4 to record 
  all known activity with procurement ahead of requirements in order to improve 

  the on plan activity reporting. Further training and guidance on the procurement 
  procedure rules will be rolled out over the remainder of the year. 

 

  

Page 454



 

 
ANNEX A 

Third Quarter Procurement Activity Completed - SMDC 

Contract Title Brief contract 
description 

Recurring 
or One Off  

Service Area  Procedure  Award Detail  Term  
Duration 

 Total 
Contract 
Value £ 

 
Arboricultural 
Services  

 
 
 

 

 
Wetley Moor 
Invasive Tree 

shrub clearance 

 
One off 

 
Service 
Commissioning 

 
Further 
competition 

under 
existing 
Framework 

 
N & J Tree 
Services Ltd 

 
One off 

 
8,380 

 
PPA Cheadle 
Road Upper 

Tean Keepmoat 
Homes 

 
Assessment of 
planning 

application. 
Delivery of 
committee 

report, draft 
decision, 
negotiation, 

Section 106 
 

 
One off 

 
Development 
Control 

 
RFQ 

 
Urban 
Imprints 

 
One off 

 
6,363 

 

Page 455



 

Third Quarter Procurement Activity Completed – JOINT (HPBC & SMDC) 

Contract Title Brief contract description Recurring 
or One Off  

Service Area  Procedure  Award Detail Term / 
Duration 

YRS 
 
 

 Total 
Contract 
Value £     

OD Strategy & 
Development 
Programme 
Support 
 

Consultancy Support Recurring Transformation Direct award 
Framework 

Camburg 
Collective Ltd 

2 + 
(1+1) 

 

450,000 

Digital 
Transformation 
Strategy 
Support 
 

Consultancy Support Recurring Transformation Direct award 
Framework  

Socitm 
Advisory Ltd 

2 255,902 

Telecoms - 
Mobile phones  

Supply new mobile phones 
and contracted voice /data 

Recurring Transformation Direct award 
Framework  

Daisy 
Communicatio
ns Ltd 

1 + 
(1+1) 

72,504 

Payroll Services Services contract Recurring Finance SLA – Public 
to Public 
Contract 
 

Stoke on Trent 
City Council 

3 56,778 

Local Council 
Tax Reduction 
 

Consultancy Support One off Revenues Single 
Source 
exemption 

ACS 
Consultancy 

1 14,595 

Grant finder 
Software 

Software – bolt on existing 
contract  

One off Communities Contract 
variation 

Grant Finder 
(IDOX) 
Software 

1 8,000 

Move More 
strategy  

Consultancy to support 
development of Move More 
Strategy 

One off Service 
Commissioning 

Open RFQ Power Box 
Creative 

10 wks 6,800 

 

 

 

Page 456



 

 

 

Staffs Moorlands Performance & Customer Feedback Report: 2022/23 (Q3) 

  

P
age 457



 

 

P
age 458



69% 

28% 

3% 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

On Track Off Track N/A

49% 

31% 

18% 

2% 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Better Weaker No Change N/a

Staffordshire Moorlands Q3 Summary  

The following report provides Councillors with an overview of performance at Staffs Moorlands for the period April to December 2022 in 

relation to the Council’s corporate plan priorities and the associated performance targets and projects . The report also provides an overview of 

the results from the Council’s customer feedback system in terms of how we handle and learn from complaints and the level of comments and 

compliments.        

Performance Overview  

There are 35 targeted measures against which the council reports on monthly or quarterly. The charts below show the results for both 

attainment and trend data as at the end of December 2022 with 69% of targets ‘on track’ at the end of Q3 and 67% of measures maintaining or 

improving on their performance compared to this point last year. The actions being taken to address the ‘off track’ measures are detailed at 

the end of this report. 

The report also provides an update on the progress of key projects that contribute to the priority actions outlined in the 2019-2023 Corporate 

Plan. The table on page 5 explains the colour coding used to describe the current status of these projects / actions.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Customer Feedback Overview  

The number of stage one complaints received is higher than at this point last year:  52 compared to 47. There have been no repeat complaints 

and all responses were handled in time. Further information is included in the report.    

P
age 459



0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

On Track Off Track

SM Aim 1: December Results 2022/23 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Better Weaker No Change

SM Aim 1: December Trends 2022/23  

Aim 1: Help create a safer and healthier environment for our communities to live and work  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Homelessness applications opened at the prevention stage, settled accommodation outcomes for discharges under the prevention and relief 

homelessness duties, and households in temporary accommodation in excess of 6 weeks (no families) still face challenges in context of the 

national picture. Market conditions continue to have an impact. The level of external sports funding achieved has been affected by other 

priority work within the team (levelling up bids) however a number of large projects are in progress and should be realised in Q4. 

 

Celebrating Success:  

At the end of Q3, the following performance indicators are outstripping their targets: 

 Processing benefit new claims and change of circumstances 

 

 

P
age 460



 

2019-2023 Corporate Plan Priority Actions – Progress Highlights 

 

 

Priority Actions Status Commentary 
Develop a strategy for further 
development of affordable and specialist 
housing 

 Information digest report has been prepared. 

Complete the review of the CCTV system 
and implement the agreed 
recommendations 

 All cameras in Biddulph and Cheadle are now operative. OpenView indicated that the work in 
Leek would be completed by 19 December. We are awaiting an update but do not believe 
that the works will be completed in full; however, the latest information shows that six 
cameras have now been brought on-line in Leek. 
 

Develop and implement an indoor leisure 
facilities improvement plan focused on 
improving the health and well- being of 
residents   

 Summary of costs for de-risking works on LTP projects in Brough Park and Biddulph have been 
received and officers are in the process of reviewing before drafting delegated/IED reports to 
seek approval to progress certain aspects in the New Year. 

Develop and implement an outdoor 
leisure facilities improvement plan 
focused around the 'sports village' 
concept 

 Project continues to be in development and delegated reports brought forwards at the 
appropriate time. 

Refresh the Council’s Communication 
Strategy in order to ensure that there is a 
more effective dialogue with residents  

 Development of the strategy is in progress. 

Review the Sport and Physical Activity 
Strategy in order to integrate 
communities and sports clubs into the 
delivery of its objectives 

 Individual project updates within the action: 
- Active Communities Plan - Contained within the Move More Strategy 
- Refresh sports & physical activity strategy -  Overall Strategies approved and are currently in 
the design phase with a  view to officially launching in Q1 of 2023. 

 Off Track 

 In danger of going off Track 

 On Track 

 Not yet started / Decision 

awaited 

 Complete / Closed 

P
age 461



Priority Actions Status Commentary 
Implement the Covid-19 Community 
Recovery Plan 

 Ongoing review. 
 
 

Influencing actions 
SM: Ensuring effective health provision 
particularly for the elderly 
 
 

Staffordshire Moorlands:  
The Health Overview & Scrutiny Panel met on 14 December 2022 and considered a performance update 
from the West Midlands Ambulance Service. The presentation was given by Mark Docherty, Executive 
Director of Nursing and Clinical Commissioning. An urgent item of business was discussed in regard to 
the possibility of beds being made available at Leek Moorlands Hospital. The Chair agreed to raise this 
matter at the next meeting of the County Council’s Health & Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee. 
The next meeting is scheduled for 8 March 2023. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 462



0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

On Track Off Track

 SM Aim 2 : December Results 2022/23 

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Better Weaker No Change

SM Aim 2 : December Trends 2022/23 

Aim 2: Meet financial challenges and provide value for money 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

There are only three areas of off-track performance under Aim 2: Number of twitter followers - numbers have remained static since Q2 - % 

procurement activity on the forward plan and % FOI responses within time frame. 

       

Celebrating Success:     

At the end of Q3, the following performance indicators are outstripping their targets: 

 IT systems and network availability 

 complaint handling and repeat complaints 

 customer interactions 

 invoice payment 

 portal accounts opened 

 internal audit recommendations implemented 

 

 

P
age 463



2019-2023 Corporate Plan Priority Actions – Progress Highlights 

Priority Actions Status Commentary 
Develop and implement a plan to 
identify new and innovative ways of 
generating income 
 

 Individual projects within the action:  
- Advertising/Sponsorship-Incorporated into new Efficiency & Rationalisation programme 
- Fees & Charges-  Updated as part of February MTFP and budget setting exercise 
- Trade Waste- Yet to commence in conjunction with AES and Commissioning - will form 
part of new programme referred to above. 

 - Empty Properties: Further meeting set for January  to look at recommendations with a 
view to reporting to scrutiny on 8.2.23. This includes resource, enforced sales policy and 
also a review of council tax discounts, specifically the levy for empty properties over 12 
months that comes into force 2024.  
 

Refresh and implement the Asset 
Management Plan, including a 
review of public estate, and ensure 
adequate facilities management 
arrangements are in place 

 Individual project updates within the plan: 
- Asset Management Plan: The Interim Assets Strategy Officer post has been secured and 
work has commenced. Base figures from stock condition and energy audit work are being 
compiled. Finance are working on revenue figures associated with each asset to create a 
base factual information template for each value.   
- Capital program : We are awaiting the first operational meeting with ANL to determine 
where the capital programme is under new arrangements. Discussions in the autumn 
required to determine next year’s projects. 1 contract award pending on General Fund. 

Develop a Joint Venture company 
with Norse to deliver housing 
repairs and facilities management 

 Following completion of Phase 1 (Development of Alliance Norse): Phase 2 is the 
introduction of the DFG function that sits with County Councils. Norse already has a model 
to deliver this: N-Able. 

Develop an Access to Services 
Strategy to ensure that Council 
services are accessible to all 

 Joint action plan produced, and delivery will commence shortly. 

Implement the Council’s Efficiency 
and Rationalisation Programme 
(This will focus on several projects 
including procurement, income 
generation, trading, advertising, 
and sponsorship, etc.) 

 Current programme delivered in full in 21/22.  Individual project updates within the 
action:  
- Refresh Efficiency & Rationalisation programme- First iteration of 23/24 MTFP produced - 
February update will incorporate new programme with outputs from Head of Service 
workshop and Members consultation sessions. 
- Hybrid mail-Post covid benchmark year being established in 22/23 with view to taking 
savings emerging from new working practices. 
 

Develop a new Organisational  Joint action plan produced; delivery will commence shortly. 

P
age 464



Priority Actions Status Commentary 
Development Strategy to ensure  
effective workforce development   
Develop a new procurement 
strategy with a focus on spending 
money locally 
 

 Strategy Approved - delivery plan in development and will share for comment in the New 
Year. 

Develop a new ICT strategy to 
enhance and support the delivery 
of services 

 Joint action plan produced, and delivery will commence shortly. 
Individual project updates within the strategy:  
 
- Civica Pay- Project to be reviewed with Transformation and Finance. 

 - Meetings AV equipment- Capital funding to be incorporated into 23/24 budget.  Project 
Mandate to be completed. 
- ILAP/Assure- On Hold - Contact has been made with NEC to resurrect this project. 
Awaiting confirmation of current status of software, resource availability and costs from 
NEC. 
- Civica Open Revenues- A review is underway, and some issues have been reported to our 
Civica Account Manager,  in particular around the reporting of changes for landlords. New 
software has been released which needs to undergo testing.  
- Env Health/Licencing- On Hold to be determined from ICT Strategy  
- ICT upgrade- SOCITM meeting to kick off the strategy work is scheduled for 21.12.2022. 
This will include working on the roadmap of all systems aligned with server  
End of life  dates , exploring 365 and use of SharePoint for intranet, development of Power 
for Procurement workflow which is a perfect candidate for change. 
-  Procurement Workflow and intranet upgrade- Trustmarque are re-visiting the quote to 
set up the workflow using M365 as the cost from the intranet provider is far in excess of 
TM's original quote. Possible candidate for M365 workflow. 

 -  Collective- Hand over meeting went well, briefing going to the Chief Executive with 
decisions needed at board level for future monitoring and novation of contract between 
HPSM & AES for Bartec system.  
Lessons learnt discussed & documented, key stages of the project evaluated, all included 
in supporting document which will be shared with the briefing. 
Ownership of benefits and future monitoring to be passed to Rob Wilks and Tony Morris . 
  

Implement the Covid 19   Ongoing review . 

P
age 465



Priority Actions Status Commentary 
Reinstating Service  Plan 
Implement the Covid-19 Financial 
Recovery Plan 

 

Implement the Covid-19 Positive 
Legacy Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 466



0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

On Track Off Track

SM Aim 3: December Results 2022/23  

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Better Weaker No Change

SM Aim 3 : December Trends 2022/23  

Aim 3: Help create a strong economy by supporting further regeneration of towns and 

villages   

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

All targets under Aim 3 remain ‘on track’ at the close of Q3.  

 

Celebrating Success:     

At the end of Q3, the following performance indicators are outstripping their targets: 

 Major and minor planning applications processed in time 

 Major and minor appeals defended 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 467



2019-2023 Corporate Plan Priority Actions – Progress Highlights 

Priority Actions Status Commentary 
Support the development of Cornhill 
and improved rail links 
 

 - Cornhill West -Lawyers from the parties are now in touch to finalise the agreement. 
- Cornhill East - Linked with Cornhill West. 
- Rail projects -The first revision of Leek Stoke SOBC was submitted to DfT Restoring your 
Railway on 4th November 2022. Working Technical Group and Project Board submit final 
feedback by 18th November 2022. Final SOBC submitted 25th November one week ahead of 
2nd December deadline. DfT project lead advised this will allow for extra time for the RyR Core 
Panel to review the submission. From the SOBC the option that meets the minimum viable 
product with a BCR > 1 is a combined freight and heavy rail passenger service (BCR 1.02). All 
other options, Light Rail, Very Light Rail / Tram, Heavy Rail passenger only service have BCR 
less than 1. 
There is no announced timeline for the decision from DfT for progression to development 
stage for the railway. Work is ongoing 

Influencing Action - Support the 
Churnet Valley Railway with their 
plans to bring trains back to Leek 

Support the development of the 
former Churnet Works site, Leek 

 Completed 
 
 

Develop and implement plans to 
extend the public market operations  

 Bid submitted with LUF. No further update. 

Develop a master plan for bringing 
redundant mills back into use 

 Leek Mills Commercial Demand Assessment - Awaiting  instruction regarding a potential report 
to Service Delivery Committee and cabinet to present first stage findings from Lambert Smith 
Hampton. 

Implement the Council’s growth 
strategy to bring about the 
regeneration of towns and rural 
communities 

 

 - Cheadle town centre masterplan  
•The second Cheadle community newsletter was delivered to households during April. 
•The Town Centre Delivery Board will assist the Council to take forward priority actions in 
Cheadle. 
•A project group is to be established to consider issues around a potential acquisition of the 
Cheadle market and adjoining marketplace, following the report to Cabinet in December 2021.      
Budget:  
The SMDC Housing Delivery Programme was approved by Cabinet on 29th March 2022 and 
includes budget provision of £10,000 to commission market demand assessments for council 
owned assets to explore housing development opportunities.     

Influencing Action - Expand the 

Growth Deal Partnership to 

provide inward investment 

P
age 468



Priority Actions Status Commentary 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
- Biddulph Wharf Rd masterplan- SMDC are not doing the master plan. Renew land have an 
agreement with the  main landowner and are currently looking to secure access. Once 
secured, we will approach other landowners and seek to prepare our own plan. SMDC meeting 
with Gallagher in January 2023.  
Investment & Acquisition strategy :   
- Tunstall Road -  St Modwen Homes have an agreement with one of the landowners and are 
now looking to secure other landowners. SMDC have met and have an undertaking from St 
Modwen to come back to us when they have more news. 
- Blythe Vale-Consultants Stantec (formerly Barton Willmore) have prepared a constraints and 
opportunities plan to inform development of the masterplan and set out an overview of the 
development economics findings. 

Develop a Tourism Strategy to 
maximise the positive impact to our 
communities 

 Draft strategy at comments stage - to go to Service Delivery Panel 21/1/23 

Joint – Implement the Covid-19 
Economic Recovery Plan 

 Ongoing review 

Influencing Actions                
Improve access and traffic flows to 
our town centre 

Continued liaison with Development Services and SCC regarding new development sites & key projects 
including Cheadle Town Centre masterplan and Blythe Vale. CRF bid submitted for development of Blythe 
Vale  'Long list' of projects identified as part of Green Infrastructure plan now being taken forward with 
partners. Awaiting outcome of bid submitted to the Department of Transport’s ‘Restoring Your Railway - 
Ideas Fund’ for a feasibility study for a Stoke-Leek Railway. Development Control officers continue to  
consult with highways on new schemes and S106 contributions towards town centre improvements are 
sought where appropriate. 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 469



0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

On Track Off Track N/A

SM Aim 4: December Results 2022/23 

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Better Weaker No Change N/a

SM Aim 4 : December Trends 2022/23 

Aim 4: Protect and Improve the Environment 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

The estimated % household waste sent for recycling to Q3 is 50% which is below the 57% target. However, we still await the confirmed data 

from SCC . The % of high risk premises inspected is off track, only 69 out of 90 inspections due to the end of Q3 have been c arried out. The 

result for the % routine premises inspected is unavailable (N/A) . 

 

Celebrating Success:     

At the end of Q3, the following performance indicators are outstripping their targets: 

 residual waste tonnages 

 missed bins 

 paper consumption  

 

 

 

 

P
age 470



2019-2023 Corporate Plan Priority Actions – Progress Highlights 

Priority Actions  Status Commentary 
Identify and implement an approach 
to reduce the cost of country parks  

 Transfer to SWT completed on 8.11 . We are In the process of finalising the purchase of 
the Ford Ranger to SWT. 

Develop a plan to improve Brough 
Park and John Hall Gardens 
 

 Individual projects within the action: 
- Brough Park improvement Plan : Scoping works relating to the John Hall Gardens aspect 
of the project is complete and we are planning the next steps. Vegetation works around 
the gardens are due to be completed by AES. Awaiting resurfacing works to start - Assets 
are leading on this. 

 - Tean Road, Cheadle Improvement Plan:  Report has been approved - currently 
observing call in period 

 - Play Strategy : Complete. 

Publish part 2 of the Climate Change 
Action Plan and commence delivery 
of the priorities contained within 
Parts 1 and 2 

 Part 2 of the Climate Change Action Plan published in December 2021. Delivery is on-
going. 

 - Green Infrastructure: Strategy was approved in May 2018. Further work will be 
incorporated into the development of the Plan for Nature that is being produced by the 
Wildlife Trust. 

Review the Council's waste and 
recycling arrangements to increase 
recycling and to respond to the 
emerging national strategy 

 We are still awaiting feedback from all of summer 2021's consultations. It is likely that 
this will not occur until after the May elections. 

Influencing Action - Provide waste 
and recycling centres across the 
district 

Review the Environmental 
Enforcement Policy in order to take 
steps to further reduce 
environmental crime 

 The policy will be complete once this has been approved with members. 

Develop a new Parking Strategy to 
ensure that our car parks meet the 
needs of residents and visitors 
 

 Individual project updates within the strategy: 
- Parking strategy : The strategy is complete. Have agreed an additional fee with Amey to 
move forward with the market engagement in advance of the formal procurement 
required to identify a delivery partner.  
 Influencing Action - The provision of 

accessible on street parking 

P
age 471



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 472



P
age 473



 

 

 

P
age 474



 

Areas for Improvement: December 2022  

Measure of Success (PI)  Aim / Objective Service Lead 
Target 

2022/23 

Result 
December 

2022 

Head of Service Commentary (reasons for 
performance / SMART actions to improve) 

% of initial homelessness 

applications opened at 

the prevention and relief 

duty stages 

Aim 1: Increased supply 
of good quality 

affordable homes 

Head of Housing 
Services 

60% 56% Continued challenges with the national 

picture , and market conditions continue to 

have an impact 

% of prevention duty 

discharges resulting in a 

settled accommodation 

outcome 

65% 63% 

% of relief duty 

discharges resulting in a 

settled accommodation 

outcome 

62% 42% 

Number of TA 

placements (including  

B&B made for families ) 

placed over 6 weeks 

0 10(no 

families) 

Level of external funding 

awarded to support the 

physical activity and sport 

strategy 

Aim 1: Provision of 
sports facilities and 
leisure opportunities 

focused upon improving 
health 

Head of Service 

Commissioning 

 

33% success 
rate, min 

£60k 

£0 A number of large projects are in progress 

and should be realised in Q4. 

P
age 475



Measure of Success (PI)  Aim / Objective Service Lead 
Target 

2022/23 

Result 
December 

2022 

Head of Service Commentary (reasons for 
performance / SMART actions to improve) 

FOI requests: % 

responded to within 

statutory time frame 

(include numbers in 

commentary) 

Aim 2: Ensure our 
services are easily 
available to all our 

residents in the 
appropriate channels 

and provided 'right first 
time' 

Head of Legal and 

Elections  

 

95% 61% 

(273/443) 

 

Turnaround times have been affected by the 

sheer volume of requests and a number of 

complex time consuming cases. 

Number of twitter 

followers 

Head of OD and 

Transformation 

Increase by 

240 (from 

2493) 

2592 Target is 2733, numbers have remained static 

in Q3, if this trend continues target will not 

be met. 

% of household waste 

sent for reuse, recycling 

and composting 

Aim 4: Effective 
recycling and waste 

management 

Head of Service 

Commissioning 

57% 50% Results are estimated as data has not been 

received from SCC relating to disposal 

tonnages from recycling  for December 

% of 'high risk' premises 

(A-C) inspected per 

annum 

Aim 4: Provision of high 
quality public amenities, 

clean streets and 
environmental health 

Head of 

Environmental 

Health 

100% 59.5% 69 out of 90 inspections due by the end of Q3 

have been carried out therefore the indicator 

is currently off track 

Joint Alliance Measures  

% of Procurement activity 

on forward plan (Joint 

Alliance measure) 

Aim 2: Effective 
procurement with a 

focus on local business  

Head of Service 
Commissioning 

70% 41% Recorded ‘on plan’ activity has decreased due 

to a number of influences over the first two 

quarters of 2022/23.  Exercises that have 

been completed off plan include sourcing 

activity in relation to Central 

Government  funding applications, special 

events and projects that have required 

support in various professions which could 

not be delivered in-house and were time  

P
age 476



Measure of Success (PI)  Aim / Objective Service Lead 
Target 

2022/23 

Result 
December 

2022 

Head of Service Commentary (reasons for 
performance / SMART actions to improve) 

     critical, all have contributed to the off-plan 

activity count as they were not fully 

communicated to include on the forward 

plan ahead of the sourcing activity.   

Although a selection of the exercises could 

not have been anticipated in advance, 

procurement are now reviewing with all 

Heads of Service the off-plan activity 

recorded during the first quarters. We are 

then looking to Q4  ahead of requirements in 

order to improve the on-plan activity 

reporting. Further training and guidance on 

the procurement procedure rules will be 

rolled out over the remainder of the year. 

 

For a full list of all performance measures and the Q3 results please visit the Performance Management page on the Intranet or click on this 

link.  

P
age 477

https://hpbc.alliance-online.org/system/files/documents/attachments/staffs_moorlands_performance_indicator_database_december_2022-23.pdf


T
his page is intentionally left blank



  

 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Cabinet 
 

14 February 2023 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
Appendix Attached 

 Appendix A (Medium Term Financial Plan 2023/24 to 2026/27) 

 Appendix B (Capital Strategy 2023/24) 

 Appendix C (Fees & Charges 2023/24) 

 Appendix D (Procurement Forward Plan 2023/24) 
 

 
1. Reason for the Report  

 
1.1      The purpose of the report is to present the proposed Budget for 2023/24, 

updated Medium-Term Financial Plan 2023/24 – 2026/27, Capital Strategy 

2023/24, proposed Fees and Charges for 2023/24 and Procurement Forward 
Plan 2023/24. 

 
2. Recommendations 

2.1 That Cabinet makes the following recommendations to Council: 
 

 Approves the General Fund Budget for 2023/24 as detailed in Appendix A 

(section 9) 

 

 Approves the revised Medium-Term Financial Plan (2023/24 to 2026/27) 
as detailed in Appendix A, including the revised Capital Programme 

(attached at Annex A) 

 
 Approves the Capital Strategy 2023/24 as set out in Appendix B 

 

 Approves the proposed Fees and Charges for 2023/24 as detailed in 
Appendix C 

 

TITLE: 2023/24 Budget & Medium Term Financial 
Plan 2023/24 to 2026/27 

 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER Cllr Worthington – Portfolio holder for 
Finance 

  
CONTACT OFFICERS: Keith Pointon – Head of Finance 
   

WARDS INVOLVED:  Non-Specific 

Page 479

Agenda Item 12.4

file:///C:/Users/chazeldene/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Documents%20and%20Settings/cstone/Local%20Settings/astokes/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/Temporary%20Internet%20Files/Content.Outlook/9RF23P99/SMDC%20-%20Budget%202012-13%20&%20MTFP%20App%20A%20(15-02-12).doc


  

 Approves the proposed Procurement Forward Plan for 2023/24, providing 
the authority to procure based on procurement activity detailed in 
Appendix D 

 

 Approves a Band D Council Tax of £163.14 for 2023/24 (0% change from 

2022/23) 
 

 Approves a Band D Council Tax of £52.92 for Leek and £10.64 for 

Biddulph for 2023/24 (0% change 2022/23) in respect of Special District 
Expenses 

 

 Notes the Chief Finance Officer's view that the level of reserves are 
adequate for the Council based on this budget and the circumstances in 
place at the time of preparing it (Appendix A, Annex C) 

 
 

3. Executive Summary 

 

3.1  This report makes recommendations to Council for the budget and the level of 
Council Tax for 2023/24. The report also provides an update on the Council’s 
medium-term financial position through to 2026/27.  Additionally, it establishes 

an overarching Capital Strategy, sets out the fees and charges that are 
proposed for 2023/24, and details the Procurement Forward Plan 2023/24. 

 
3.2      The budget setting and medium term financial planning process provides the 

Council with the opportunity to plan its delivery of public services in 

accordance with local priorities. There are also risks around the outcomes of 
national funding reviews (i.e. fair funding; business rates retention; and new 

homes bonus) which may have a detrimental impact on the future financial 
position. 

 

3.3 The current four year MTFP was updated in November 2022 to reflect further 
updated economic forecasts in order to begin to understand the medium term 

financial impact.  
 

3.4 This  version of the MTFP updates the November forecasts,  based on the 

provisional settlement information released in December, latest economic 
forecasts, and assumptions around the timing and level of capital and revenue 

expenditure and income. 
 

3.5      The 2023/24 local government finance settlement had some positive news, 

with additional one-off grant funding, but it was a one-year settlement, which 
maintains a level of uncertainty in the Plan and makes medium term financial 

planning more difficult.   
 

3.6   A new Funding Guarantee Grant was announced, the Council receives 

£354,960. The continuation of the Services Grant, which was new in 2022/23 
has been confirmed for 2023/24, where this was uncertain previously - the 

Council’s share is £101,868. The Council also receives an allocation of 
£63,440 in Rural Services Delivery Grant and £98,160 in Revenue Support 
Grant. Aside from the Funding Guarantee Grant, which is treated as a one-off, 

Page 480



  

the plan assumes that these grants will be ongoing throughout the life of the 
MTFP. 

 

3.7 Lastly, the Council receives £59,452 in New Homes Bonus for 2023/24. An 
assumption of the positive impact of growth on this grant is included in the 

following years of the MTFP.  
 

3.8 In terms of costs, the Council will incur costs higher than originally anticipated 

when setting the MTFP last year. The pay award for this year (2022/23) was 
£1,925 across all pay grades (an average of 6%) and is likely to be at least 4% 

next year. The current MTFP had anticipated a 2.50% pay increase. General 
inflation will also be higher than anticipated last year, with an average 
consolidated rate in the 2023/24 budget of 5.2%, rather than 3.3%.  

  

 
3.9 This leaves a balanced 2023/24 budget on both the revenue and capital side, 

but with greater uncertainty and risk in the MTFP for future years. Particularly 
so, as the outcomes from Government’s business rates review, fair funding 

review, or new homes bonus review are all unknown.  
 

3.10 In conjunction with stakeholders, the outputs of an ‘Ideas Lab’ exercise 

undertaken during the Autumn of 2022 are being developed and early 
expectations of the outputs of this to produce a new strategy are incorporated 
into this MTFP: a total of £690,000 is included in the plan, profiled across 

2023/24 £0, 2024/25 £200,000, 2025/26 £240,000, 2026/27 £250,000. 
 

3.11 The financial settlement allows for a 3% increase in Council Tax. It should be 
noted that Treasury’s published figures do assume all Authorities maximise 
the increase. The way capping (or “referendum limits”) works, if the maximum 

increase is not taken then that opportunity is lost forever (there is no way to 
catch up in subsequent years). However, a freeze of the Council Tax Band D 

equivalent at 0% increase from 2022/23 to 2023/24 is included in this budget. 
 

3.12 Having completed the annual budget exercise, a balanced budget for 2023/24 

has been achieved. The final General Fund budget proposal for 2023/24 
provides for a net budget of £11,694,640 and a Council Tax increase of £0.00 

on a Band D equivalent property (0%) with the Special District Expenses 
remaining at £52.92 (Leek) and £10.64 (Biddulph) respectively.    
 

3.13 A new financial year (2026/27) has been added to the MTFP and the overall 
financial assumptions have been updated for the four years. It must be 

stressed that there is a great deal of uncertainty in regard to this position, both  
from the uncertainty of outcomes of national funding reviews (i.e. fair funding; 
business rates retention; and new homes bonus) and the extreme volatility of 

inflation, interest rates and geo-political influences. 
 

3.14 The forecast predicts a balanced budget position by 2026/27 – on the basis 
the inflation and interest rates return to more normal levels and the Council 
can once again become self-sustainable (without reliance on reserves) – albeit  

with the risks identified above. 
 

Page 481



  

3.15 The Capital Strategy and the Capital Programme have been updated and 
allow for additional investment in priority areas. The Medium Term Financial 
Plan includes an updated Capital Programme of £23,721,000 over the period 

2022/23 – 2026/27.  
 

3.16 The Procurement Forward Plan sets out details of the expected activity during 
2023/24. 

  
4.       How this Report Links to Corporate Priorities  
 

4.1 The successful delivery of all corporate priorities is dependent upon the 
effective management of financial resources, which is the subject of this 
report. 

 
5.       Options and Analysis 

 

5.1 This  report recommends a Council Tax level and associated budget, Medium 
Term Financial Plan, Capital Strategy (and future capital programme) and 

Fees & Charges for 2023/24 designed to best deliver the Council’s  corporate 
priorities within a balanced budget. Other options are feasible, but any 

alternatives would need to robustly identify the service and financial 
implications, in order to satisfy the Council’s Section 151 Officer (under the 
Local Government Finance Act 1988, section 114) of the need to deliver a 

balanced budget.  
 

6.  Implications 

 
6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 

None. 
 

6.2 Workforce 

None. 
 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's Equality and 
Diversity policies. 

 
An Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) has been undertaken on the 

Corporate Plan, which feeds into budget plans. 
 

6.4 Financial Considerations 

There are substantial financial considerations contained throughout the 
report. 

 
6.5 Legal 

The Local Government Act 2000 states that it is the responsibility of the full 

Council, on the recommendation of the executive, to approve the budget and 
related council tax demand. The Local Government Act 2003, section 25 

requires the council’s Section 151 officer to report to the council on the 
robustness of the estimates made and the adequacy of the proposed 
financial reserves assumed in the budget calculations. The Local 

Page 482



  

Government Finance Act 1988, section 114 requires the Section 151 officer 
to report to all of the Authority’s councillors if there is likely to be an 
unbalanced budget. 

 
16.6 Sustainability 

An earmarked reserve has been established to support with climate change 
related activities. Climate Change considerations are indirectly included in 
many aspects of the MTFP – including capital programme projects focused 

on Council buildings and vehicle purchases, as well as being a consideration 
in procurement activity reflected in the Forward Plan. These are highlighted, 

wherever possible, in the MTFP report itself. 
 

6.7 External Consultation 

The Council’s budget plans have been subject to a consultation. 
 

6.8   Risk A Risk Assessment 
A full risk analysis has been undertaken which is contained within the plan. 
 

 
 

 
 

MARTIN OWEN 

Executive Director Finance and Customer Services (s151) 
 

Web Links and 

Background Papers 

Location Contact details 

 

Various background working papers 
 

Moorlands House 
 

Martin Owen 

Martin.Owen@highpeak.gov.uk 
07581 030522 
 
Keith Pointon 
Head of Finance 
Keith.Pointon@staffsmoorlands.gov.
uk 
01538 395400 Ext. 4193 

 
 

 
 

Page 483

mailto:Martin.Owen@highpeak.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A 

 

                               

 

 

STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 

  

 

 

 

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN  

2023/24 to 2026/27 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

February 2023 

  

Page 485



INDEX 

 
1 Introduction 

 

2 Strategic Priorities 
 

3 Current Spending Levels 
 
4 Pandemic, global issues and inflationary impact 

 
5 Transformation Programme 

5.1 Introduction 
5.2 Capital Strategy  
5.3 Capital Programme 

5.4 Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy 
5.5 Major Contracts 

 
6 Financial Forecasts 

6.1 Interest Rates 

6.2 Inflationary Projections 
6.3 Budgetary Demand 

6.4 Budget Growth 
6.5 Pensions 

 

7 Funding & Income Generation 

7.1 Council Tax  

7.2 Business Rates Retention  
7.3 Collection Fund 
7.4 Income from Government Grants 

7.5 Fees & Charges 
 
8 Risks, Contingencies & Use of Reserves  

 
9 Budget 2023/24 

 
10 General Fund Revenue Financial Position  

 
11 Consultation 
 

Annex A Proposed Capital Programme  
Annex B MTFP Principal Risks 

Annex C Chief Finance Officer Review of Contingencies/ Reserves 
Annex D Proposed Revenue Budget   

Page 486



1. Introduction 

 
1.1. The Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) is a key element of the Council’s 

budget and policy framework. It aims to ensure resources are directed 

effectively and efficiently towards delivery of the Corporate Plan. It describes 
the financial direction of the Council for planning purposes and outlines the 

financial pressures the Council is likely to experience over the next four years.  
 

1.2. The medium term financial planning process establishes how available 

resources will be allocated to services in line with Council priorities which have 
been determined following consultation with residents, councillors and other 

stakeholders. The process facilitates the Council in planning the prudent 
management of its finances, in building resilience and in providing for the needs 
of residents over the long term.   

 
1.3. The MTFP is updated regularly as part of the budget cycle. This review of the 

MTFP builds on the existing strategy and updates assumptions to reflect known 
changes to income, costs and funding. The plan incorporates revenue and 
capital financial projections over the four years 2023/24 to 2026/27. It also 

includes an assessment of key risks and a presentation of longer-term financial 
issues which have the potential to impact on the Council. 

 
1.4. The Council will demonstrate economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the 

application of its resources. Value for Money (VFM) is maximised when there is 

an optimum balance between economy, efficiency and effectiveness. 
 

 Economy: the price the Council pays for providing its services  

 Efficiency: how much the Council gets out of what is put in (productivity)  

 Effectiveness: value of the impact achieved (quantitative or qualitative)  
 

2. Strategic Priorities 
 

2.1. The Medium-Term Financial Plan is driven by local priorities. The Council’s 
spending strategy is set out in the Corporate Plan formally adopted by 
members of the Council. 

 

2.2. The delivery of the Corporate Plan is measured through the Performance 
Framework and monitored using a set of local performance indicators and 

targets established for the coming year. The Medium Term Financial Plan 
reflects the contents of the plan ensuring that resources are directed towards 
key priorities.  
 

2.3. The Council’s vision is expressed as:    
 
“Achieving Excellence in the delivery of high-quality services that meet the 

needs and aspirations of our communities”  
 

 This vision is articulated further by four aims: 
 

 Help create a safer and healthier environment for our communities to live 

and work 

 Effective use of resources and provide value for money 

Page 487



 Help create a strong economy by supporting further regeneration of 

towns and villages 

 Protect and improve the environment and respond to the climate 

emergency 
 

2.4. These aims are supported by a number of objectives which also provide the 
framework for the delivery of service plans. The Council’s objectives are 

summarised below:  
 

 Aim Objectives 

1 

Help create a 
safer and 
healthier 

environment for 
our 

communities to 
live and work 

 Increased supply of good quality affordable homes 

 Develop a positive relationship with communities 

 Effective relationship with strategic partners 

 Effective support of community safety arrangements including 
CCTV 

 Provision of sports facilities and leisure opportunities focused 
upon improving health 

2 

Effective use of 
resources and 
provide value 

for money 

 Effective use of financial and other resources to ensure value 
for money 

 Ensure services are easily available to all our residents in the 
appropriate channels and provided “right first time” 

 A high performing and well motivated workforce 
 More effective use of Council assets 

 Effective procurement with a focus on local business 

 Effective use of ICT 

3 

Help create a 
strong economy 

by supporting 
further 

regeneration of 
towns and 

villages 

 Encourage business start-ups and enterprises 
 Flourishing town centres that support the local economy 

 Encourage and develop tourism 

 High quality development and building control with an “open for 
business” approach 

4 

Protect and 
improve the 
environment 

and respond to 
the climate 
emergency 

 Effective recycling and waste management 

 Meeting the challenge of climate change 

 Provision of high-quality public amenities, clean streets and 
environmental health 

 Provision of quality parks and open spaces 

 Car parking arrangements that meet the needs of residents, 
businesses and visitors 

 

2.5. The Council is committed to playing the lead role in championing the local area. 
In so doing the Council recognises its community leadership role.  Fulfilling this 

role effectively means influencing partners in a number of key areas such as 
supporting the police and other partners to reduce crime; ensuring effective 
health provision, particularly for the elderly; and working with partners to 

improve the provision of local bus services in order to ensure that services are 
shaped and delivered around the needs and aspirations of citizens.  

 

2.6. The Plan identifies key priority outcomes, which will be the highest priority in the 

development of performance targets and key actions.  A significant proportion 
of the Council’s resources will be directed towards achieving them: 

 

Page 488



Aim Outcomes 

 

Help create a safer and healthier 
environment for our communities 

to live and work 
 

 Increased supply of quality affordable homes 

 Improved health 

 Improved community safety 

Effective use of resources and 
provide value for money 

 Council services provide value for money 

 High level of resident and customer 
satisfaction 

Help create a strong economy by 
supporting further regeneration of 

towns and villages  

 Sustainable towns and rural communities 

 Increased economic growth 

 Increased tourism 
Protect and improve the 

environment and respond to the 
climate emergency  

 High recycling rates 

 Reduction in carbon emissions 

 

2.7. The Council maintains a Strategic Alliance with High Peak Borough Council, 

formed around the principle of shared services in the pursuit of efficiency and 
realisation of savings. The Strategic Alliance has enabled the implementation 

and transformation of a joint management structure and services, consequently 
realising significant efficiency savings. The Council intends to continue to drive 
savings and service improvements through collaboration with its Alliance 

partner. 
 
3. Current Spending Levels 

 

3.1. The starting point for the development of the MTFP is the current level of 

spending and the approved capital expenditure commitments.  
 

3.2. The Council’s current year (2022/23) General Fund budget can be summarised 
as follows: 

 

 Income and Expenditure 
2022/23 

Budget 

  £ 

Employees 6,650,920 

Premises 2,312,230 

Transport 141,260 

Supplies & Services 7,569,450 

Benefits 5,010 

Borrowing 99,310 

Total Expenditure  16,778,180 

  

Fees and Charges / Other Income (5,905,900) 

Interest Receipts (79,390) 

Net Expenditure 10,792,890 

 
 
 

 
 

Page 489



 

3.3. The net expenditure is financed as follows:  
 

Financing 2022/23 

Budget 

  £ 

Council Tax        (5,882,250) 

Business Rates Retention   (4,344,950) 

Government Funding (361,850) 

New Homes Bonus       (255,050) 

Earmarked Reserves / Balances (914,280) 

Contingency Balances 120,230 

Collection Fund (Surplus)/ Deficit 845,260 

Total Financing   (10,792,890) 

 

3.4. The medium-term projection for capital commitments approved by Members 

in February 2022 is detailed below:  

Service Area  2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 Total  

  £ £ £ £ £ £ 
Asset Management Plan 508,660 734,260 1,509,790    717,700  2,824,390  6,294,800 
Housing Grants 1,523,200 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000  1,500,000     7,523,200  

Housing  10,000,000              -                 -                  -                  -     10,000,000  
ICT Strategy      122,000      20,000      50,000       50,000       40,560  282,560 
Fleet Management  1,062,630    774,070     320,000       15,000                -    2,171,700 

Other Schemes 740,890 473,000 171,920    170,000     120,000  1,675,810 

Total Programme 13,957,380 3,501,330 3,551,710 
   

2,452,700  
   

4,484,950  
   

27,948,070  

       
Financed by:-             
External Contributions  1,519,940 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000  7,519,940 

Capital Receipts    3,215,750       71,000       16,000       11,000                -    3,313,750 
Revenue Reserves    1,200,000               -                 -                  -                  -    1,200,000 
Earmarked Reserves   1,185,650               -                 -                  -                  -    1,185,650 

Borrowing 6,836,040 1,930,330 2,035,710 941,700 2,984,950  14,728,730 

Total Financing  13,957,380 3,501,330 3,551,710 2,452,700 
   

4,484,950  27,948,070 

 

Reserves 
 

3.5. The forecast general fund reserves position over the life of the current 
approved MTFP was estimated to be: 

 

Contingency reserve 
2021/22 
(Budget) 

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

   £ £ £ £ £ 
 

Balance at year end 5,522,300 5,642,530 5,578,630 5,527,640 5,527,640 
 

Minimum requirement  1,480,000 1,480,000 1,480,000 1,480,000 1,480,000 
 

Headroom 4,042,300 4,162,530 4,098,630 4,047,640 4,047,640 
 

 

 
 

Page 490



 
4. Pandemic, global issues and inflationary impacts 
 

4.1. The impact of the Coronavirus pandemic has receded from the position in 2021 

with the removal of all Government restrictions on public behaviour. The effects 
on the Council will continue to be monitored over the Winter with an expected 

rise in case numbers.   
 

4.2. The Covid-19 earmarked reserve of £600,000 remains in place to support with 

the financial impact on the Council, which given the effect Covid-19 has had on 
the Council’s costs will be utilised in 2023/24. 

 
4.3. The impacts of the conflict in Ukraine continue to be felt globally fuelling 

inflation in the energy markets and contributing to supply chain issues which 

have a tangible effect on the Council’s finances.  
 

4.4. The impact of recession, high inflation, increasing interest rates and cuts in 
Government spending all have an impact on the Council finances and demand 
for services. These threats are reflected in the assumptions made in this 

iteration of the MTFP. 
 

5. Transformation Programme 
 

5.1. Introduction  

 

 

5.1.1.   The delivery of transformation programme projects is monitored by the 
Transformation Board made up of Directors, along with key Heads of Service 
and officers.  A Director is allocated as ‘project executive’ and a full business 

case appraisal is completed for each project. 
 

5.1.2.   The progress and current financial projections of the transformation 
programme are explored below along with any potential revenue and capital 
consequences.  Any further work required to identify the financial implications 

of the programme are discussed and will feed into future MTFP updates. 
 

5.2. Capital Strategy  

 
5.2.1.   In accordance with the requirements of the 2017 edition of the Chartered 

Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Prudential Code for 
Capital Finance in Local Authorities, a Capital Strategy has been updated for 

2023/24. 
 
5.2.2.    The Strategy, which is being presented to members alongside this report, 

explains how capital expenditure and investment decisions are taken in line 
with the Council’s Corporate Plan and service objectives, taking account of 

stewardship, value for money, prudence, risk management, sustainability and 
affordability.  

 
5.2.3. The Capital Strategy is detailed in APPENDIX B. 
 

Page 491



5.3. Capital Programme  

 
5.3.1. The Capital Programme presented to Members in February 2022 has been 

reviewed, re-profiled and updated to reflect the latest position in terms of capital 

projections to 31st March 2027. The five-year capital programme (including the 
current year 2022/23) is forecast at £23,721,000. 

 
5.3.2. The latest capital projections, specifically identifying the major schemes, are 

summarised in the table below.  Full detail is attached in Annex A. 

 

Service Area  

2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 Total  

  £ £ £ £ £ £ 
Asset Management Plan 275,490 1,080,000 1,484,440     2,371,490        852,260  6,063,680 
Housing Grants 1,121,200 1,774,000 2,200,000     2,200,000      2,200,000      9,495,200  

ICT Strategy         68,040          50,000          62,780          40,560                 -    221,380 
Fleet Management  451,190       561,000        101,500          24,700      1,496,200  2,634,590 
Leisure  155,870     2,980,190        120,000          70,000                 -    3,326,060 

Regeneration  84,030         61,920        878,000          50,000          50,000  1,123,950 
Other Schemes 256,140 600,000                -                   -                   -    856,140 
Total Revised Programme 2,411,960 7,107,110 4,846,720     4,756,750      4,598,460    23,721,000  

Financed by:-             
External Contributions  1,117,940 3,736,420 2,200,000 2,200,000     2,200,000  11,454,360 
Planning Obligations                 -    210,000                -                   -                   -    210,000 

Capital Receipts          69,000                 -                   -                   -                   -    69,000 
Capital Reserve                -          900,000                 -                   -                   -          900,000  
Revenue Reserves          65,000          25,500          24,000            5,500                 -    120,000 

Earmarked Reserves         56,140                 -                   -                   -                   -    56,140 
Borrowing 1,103,880 2,235,190 2,622,720 2,551,250     2,398,460  10,911,500 
Total Revised  Financing  2,411,960 7,107,110 4,846,720 4,756,750     4,598,460  23,721,000 

 

 
5.3.3. The capital projections above include the carry forward of £495,500 capital 

budgets from 2021/22.  

 
Asset Management Plan (AMP)  

 
5.3.4. It is essential that the Council maintains an asset base that delivers the 

ambitions of the Corporate Plan whilst being affordable.  The Capital Strategy 

(presented alongside the MTFP in February 2023) sets out the outcomes and 
actions, including the potential capital and revenue financial implications, of 

maintaining the Council’s current property assets over a 30-year period, as 
summarised below: 

 
SMDC AMP Capital Investment & Revenue 

Consequence                                                             

(AS AT SEPT 2016) 

2016-17 – 

2019-20 

2020-21 – 

2045-46            

(26 years) 

TOTAL 

 £ £ £ 

Public Buildings 1,010,850 2,761,600 3,772,450 

Car Parks 754,000 4,293,431 5,047,431 

Public Conveniences 181,400 415,800 597,200 

Waterways & Infrastructure Assets 479,361 448,761 928,122 

Page 492



SMDC AMP Capital Investment & Revenue 

Consequence                                                             

(AS AT SEPT 2016) 

2016-17 – 

2019-20 

2020-21 – 

2045-46            

(26 years) 

TOTAL 

 £ £ £ 

Leisure Centres 310,000 10,005,995 10,315,995 

Depots and Parks Buildings 97,070 2,355,714 2,452,784 

Industrial Units 80,380 392,050 472,430 

TOTAL 2,913,061 20,673,351 23,586,412 

    
Revenue Consequences (cost of borrowing) 115,959 943,653 1,059,612 

    
 

5.3.5. The table below reflects the updated capital investment requirements as at 
January 2023, adjusted for 2021/22 actual outturn, any in-year re-profiling that 
has taken place in 2022/23 and changes to spending plans. This amends the 

overall forecast capital spend by £1,187,327 over the 30 years from the original 
position. 

 
5.3.6. The Council is developing an Asset Management Strategy to ensure the future 

delivery of efficient asset management.  This work is being progressed 
following the recent completion of condition surveys which have provided the 

30-year costs of maintaining the general fund asset stock. The above will then 
be reset. 
 

5.3.7. Any positive revenue implications of the asset management strategy, for 
example, reduced annual maintenance and utility costs due to fewer and/or 

more efficient buildings and income receipts from shared accommodation 
partners will be taken towards the efficiency programme. 
 

Housing Grants 
 

5.3.8. The District Council is the duty holder under the Housing Grants, Construction 
and Regeneration Act 1996 for the mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant (DFGs) 
and this status remains despite changes to funding arrangements. All eligible 

SMDC AMP Capital 
Investment  

2016-17 
(Actuals) 

2017-18 
(Actuals) 

2018-19 
(Actuals) 

2019-20 
(Actuals) 

2020-21 
(Actuals) 

2021-22 
(Actuals) 

MTFP 
   2027-28 
to 2046-47 

TOTAL 

              
   2022-
23 to 

2025-26 

    2026-

27    
(19 Years)    

  £ £ £ £     £ £ £ £ 

Public Buildings 70,020 410,000 387,460 12,120               -                  -    1,204,780 131,000 1,877,770 4,093,150 

Car Parks 
                 

-    1,290 4,660 394,620 99,890 100,130 1,012,940 268,430 3,099,781 4,981,741 

Public 
Conveniences 

                 
-    3,280               -    31,310 67,170 2,438 164,900 

              
-    297,000 566,098 

Industrial Sites  
                 

-                  -    3,810 58,580               -                  -    140,710 
              

-    269,200 472,300 

Waterways 
Infrastructure 5,270 261,090 1,790 84,640 14,500 3,575 294,000 420,000 343,761 1,428,626 

Leisure Centres 1,700 95,170 5,090 2,410 539,910 197,985 1,132,390 
              

-    6,293,763 8,268,418 

Depots Parks 
Cemeteries 

                 
-                  -    1,650 3,920 6,340 138,511 1,261,700 32,830 1,143,801 2,588,752 

Total 76,990 770,830 404,460 587,600 727,810 442,639 5,211,420 852,260 13,325,076 22,399,085 
Revenue 
Consequences  -  11,250 30,700 22,300 14,410 26,260 393,010 -38,210 719,840 1,179,560 

Page 493



applicants are entitled to receive mandatory funding for certain major 

adaptations to their properties.  
 

5.3.9. The funding for these adaptations has been given directly to the Council 

previously but from 2015/16, the funding has been incorporated into the Better 
Care Fund and paid to the County Council. The Better Care Fund is a single 

pooled fund for all health and social care provision and covers the whole range 
of services including public health, social care services and clinical 
commissioning groups. 

 
5.3.10. Government funding has increased each year since 2015/16. The Disabled 

Facility reserve at the end of 2021/22 was £4.6m.  A new service provider and 
fundamental changes to the way the DFG programme will be put in place from 
1st April 2023. It is intended that the new arrangements will enable a wider 

range of grant options to be delivered; offer more advice and improved 
promotional activities, to increase user uptake. 

 

ICT Strategy  

 
5.3.11. An updated IT Strategy is being developed currently, alongside an 

Organisational Development Strategy and Access to Services Strategy.  The 
aim is to drive a change in culture and deliver the systems, processes and skills 
required in an environment where information is shared seamlessly through 

connected systems.  This will potentially reduce costs of services through 
optimisation, improving online services and enabling customers to self-

serve.  This will also reduce manual administrative tasks, removing paper 
processes and allowing Officers to focus on high-value tasks.  
 

5.3.12. Consequently, estimated requirements have been included within the MTFP.  
There are other projects at initial business case or procurement stage. More 

accurate costings of these will be developed as business cases progress. 
 

5.3.13. There is also £450,000 set aside in an earmarked reserve which was 

established specifically to support with the implementation of the ICT Strategy. 
 

Fleet Management 
 

5.3.14. The Council’s Fleet management service is now provided by Alliance 

Environmental Services (AES) including procurement, whereas the 
responsibility for funding fleet acquisitions remains with the Council.  The 

capital programme contains a forward plan of fleet replacement requirements 
based on estimates of the useful lives of the existing fleet and future business 
needs.  

 
5.3.15. For the purposes of this report, it has been assumed that all replacement 

vehicle requirements over the next four years will be funded via direct capital 
purchase, but this will be subject to further funding options appraisals prior to 
purchase.   

 
5.3.16. The proceeds from the sale of vehicles will be used to fund future purchases 

and, where possible, funds are set aside and held within an earmarked 
reserve for the purpose of funding short-life capital purchase such as fleet. 

Page 494



This further reduces the overall cost of financing the vehicle fleet by reducing 

borrowing costs. 
 

New/Other Capital Commitments  
 

5.3.17.  The summaries below provide details and estimated costs of new capital 
schemes which the Council is aiming to progress during the 4-year MTFP 
period, as well as any other potential schemes being developed where further 

work is required to estimate costings: 
 

Levelling Up Fund (LUF) £600,000 
£600,000 was earmarked as match funding towards the Cheadle Leisure 
Centre Levelling Up Fund (LUF) round 2 bid that was unsuccessful. This 

amount remains earmarked towards any opportunities to match fund it 
with future funding, including a bid for LUF round 3 that the Government 

has indicated will open.  
 
Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme £2,175,000 

Funding of £1,910,000 has been secured under the above initiative for 
energy efficiency works at Biddulph Valley Leisure Centre. (Matched 

funding of 12% (£265,000) is required.) 
 
Hot Lane Biddulph – (Multi Use Games Area) £87,420 

The Football Foundation has awarded funding of £52,420 towards the 
above project to provide new play facilities   

 
Moorlands Partnership grant funding £50,000 
Moorlands partnership annual contribution: to support the board’s work 

in awarding grants to improve historic buildings and structures. 
 

Cheadle Town Council £140,000 
Remaining contribution towards refurbishment works at Tean Road 
Recreation ground, includes building refurbishments, provision of a 

Youth Shelter and extension of car park  
 

Financing the Capital Programme   
 
5.3.18. The capital programme can be funded from several options which include 

external grants and contributions from third parties comprising of, for example; 
Government and Lottery funding; capital receipts from asset sales as part of 

the asset management plan; earmarked revenue reserves and borrowing.  
 
5.3.19. The main area of spending within the current programme which is expected to 

be funded from external resources is support towards Disabled Facilities 
Grants. Revenue and capital reserves of £1.076m are forecast (at this stage) 

to be applied over the period.  
 
5.3.20. Where no other resources can be applied, borrowing becomes the funding 

option for the programme, optimised to minimise the impact of interest rates 
and finance charges.  The Council’s estimated borrowing requirement over the 

4 years is shown below: 

Page 495



Borrowing Requirement 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

  £ £ £ £ 

Total 2,235,190 2,622,720 2,551,250 2,398,460 

 

5.3.21. The Treasury Management Strategy sets the financing framework, goals and 
objectives for the Council and whether this is funded externally or internally - 
both options have a consequence on revenue either through reduced 

investment income or increased external interest liability as highlighted in the 
table in 5.3.23.   

 
5.3.22. It is proposed to utilise reserves allocated for capital spend (where possible) 

where an options appraisal on the acquisition of short-life assets such as 

vehicles, plant and equipment has been undertaken and suggests that the 
most financially viable option is to outright purchase.  

 
Revenue Consequences of the Capital Programme 
 

5.3.23. The capital investment proposals above will result in estimated revenue 
consequences as follows:   

 
5.4. Efficiency & Rationalisation Strategy 

 
5.4.1. The current Efficiency and Rationalisation Strategy was approved by Members 

in February 2017 and was due to finish in 2021/22. It had the effect of both 
reducing expenditure and increasing income. The need to grow income is now 
a growing priority as the Council moves more towards being self-financing 

(that is, not as reliant on direct government funding such as revenue support 
grant).  

 
5.4.2. The strategy was developed with the underlying principles of protecting 

frontline service delivery. It is also intended that the strategy is a tool to enable 

the Council to ensure that its service spending is determined by the 
established priorities set out in the Corporate Plan. It focused primarily on 

major procurements, the asset management plan, growth, income generation 
and rationalisation.  
 

5.4.3. Whilst the strategy was largely delivered, a savings target of £100,000 was 
incorporated into Year 4 of the 2022/23 MTFP approved in February 2022. 

This saving has subsequently been rolled into the following review of the 
strategy. 
 

Revenue Consequence                     

(changes year-on-year) 

 

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

 £ £ £ £ 

Investment Income 

 

 

 

22,490 33,940 27,350 29,690 

Borrowing Costs 25,220 42,000 53,650 51,630 
     
Total 47,710 75,940 81,000 81,320 
     

Page 496



5.4.4. In conjunction with stakeholders, the outputs of an ‘Ideas Lab’ exercise 

undertaken during the Autumn of 2022 are being developed and early 
expectations of the outputs of this to produce a new strategy are incorporated 
into this MTFP: a total of £690,000 is included in the plan, profiled across 

2023/24 £0, 2024/25 £200,000, 2025/26 £240,000, and 2026/27 £250,000. 
 

5.4.5. The Authority carries a longstanding reserve earmarked to support its 
Efficiency Strategy, which can be drawn on to offset one-off costs of delivering 
the efficiency programme, such as professional advice or redundancy costs. 

The reserve stands at £493,000. It has not been necessary to draw on this 
reserve in previous years, so it remains available to underwrite performance 

against the future savings targets in the Efficiency Programme. 
 

5.5. Major Contracts 

 
  Alliance Environmental Services 

 
5.5.1. Alliance Environmental Services (AES) delivers waste, fleet, street cleansing 

and grounds maintenance services to both Staffordshire Moorlands District 

Council and High Peak Borough Council. The company has three 
shareholders: Staffordshire Moorlands District Council, High Peak Borough 

Council and Ansa, which is a wholly owned subsidiary of Cheshire East 
Council.  

 

5.5.2. The contract fee for 2023/24 has been established following discussions 
between the Council and AES.  The contract fee is calculated based on the 

current year contract fee plus future inflation/growth items less forecast 
savings achieved.   

 

5.5.3. Change demand items flagged by AES which will affect the management fee 
include: national pay award in excess of previous assumptions; fuel inflation 

demand; and contract inflation. 
 
  Alliance Norse Limited 

 
5.5.4. A Joint Venture has been created between Norse Commercial Services 

Limited (a trading arm of the Norse Group which is wholly owned by Norfolk 
County Council) (75% ownership), Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
(12.5% ownership) and High Peak Borough Council (12.5% ownership) to 

deliver housing repairs, capital investment and facilities management services 
across the Councils’ property assets. Phase 1 of the project to deliver 

corporate cleaning and caretaking service went live on 1st April 2022; and 
phase 2 for the delivery of the remainder of the services on 4th July 2022. 
 

5.5.5. The management fee for 2023/24 has been set in conjunction with Norse and 
is uplifted from the current year fee by indices in accordance with the contract 

for costs in repairs, cleaning and caretaking; labour and salary costs are 
estimated pending the pay award settlement for the year. At this early stage in 
the relationship, the budget will be monitored against actuals and adjustments 

discussed should the need arise. 
 

6. Financial Forecasts 

Page 497



 

6.1. Interest Rates   
 

6.1.1. The Bank of England base rate has increased several times in quick succession 

since the start of the financial year: to 1.00% on 5th May 2022 (from 0.75% 
previously); then again to 1.25% on 16th June; to 1.75% on 4th August, to 2.25% 

on 22nd September, to 3.00% on 3rd November, and again to 3.50% on 15th 
December. 
 

6.1.2. The latest medium term forecast from Link1 (19th December 2022) shows 
continuing rises throughout 2022 and into 2023, peaking at 4.50%, with a 

reduction back to 2.50% by September 2025. The forecast is being constantly 
reviewed by Link during the year due to the extreme volatility in the current 
climate with so many outside influences impacting decisions of the Monetary 

Policy Committee in setting interest rates.  
 

6.1.3. A previous (September) version of the forecast had bank rates peaking at 
5.00%, but market expectations have calmed since then and the views of the 
Link Interest Rate Strategy Group recalibrated accordingly. However, it is noted 

that challenges ahead (i.e. the tight labour market, sustainable economic 
growth and geopolitical events) could see the Bank leave rates at an elevated 

level for longer, once the peak is reached. 
 

6.1.4. Forecast PWLB rates have also increased during this time. The interest rate 

forecast shows that external borrowing could be more affordable if it can be 
deferred until halfway through the medium term, although the opportunity cost 
of internal borrowing in the short term also needs to be considered.  

 
6.1.5. Based on the current forecasts, changes in investment income and borrowing 

costs (based on interest rate changes) are highlighted below: 
 

 
 

6.2. Inflationary Projections  

 
6.2.1. The Consumer Price Index (CPI), as at December 2022, stood at 10.5%.  

Inflation forecasts are made reflecting the composition of the Council’s 
expenditure, resulting in an inflation rate specific to the Council.  The current 
high levels of inflation arising out of the conflict in Ukraine, supply chain 

pressures, and increased energy prices along with the medium term outlook 
have informed the assumptions in the MTFP of potential increased service 

costs as contracts are renewed and uplifted. 
 

                                                                 

1
 Treasury management advisers  

Changes to treasury estimates 

based on interest rate changes 
2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

 £ £ £ £ 

Changes in Investment Income (739,540) 197,420 123,940 21,470 

Changes in Borrowing costs 116,980 (12,430) 64,000 93,000 

Page 498



6.2.2. At the end of 2021/22 the Council created an earmarked reserve to hedge 

against the unforeseen costs of inflation. This stands at £250,000 currently. 
 

6.2.3. The MTFP has been updated to reflect the latest forecasts on inflation and to 

roll forward a further 12 months to include the 2026/27 financial year. The full 
costs to the Council arising from inflation are forecast in the table below. 

 
 
 

Expenditure/Income 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

  £ £ £ £ 

Employee Costs 506,340 232,310 207,960 171,380 

Premises Costs 231,220 127,170 80,120 55,010 

Transport 1,410 1,430 1,440 1,460 

Supplies and Services 289,500 196,750 166,860 131,760 

          

In-Year Inflation Pressure 1,028,470 557,660 456,380 359,610 

          

 
 

6.3. Budgetary Demand  

 
6.3.1. The Medium Term Financial Plan presented to Council in February 2022 

analysed and projected forward both income and expenditure.  This has been 
revised to reflect known changes in budgetary demand: 

 
 

Increased / (Reduced) Budget Demand 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

  £ £ £ £ 
Uniforms – Customer Services       (2,500)         2,500    (2,500)      2,500 
Market Stall Arrangements      (53,000)     
Car Parks - LED Lighting upgrade   (134,000)       
Bio-Diversity Strategy     (25,000)       
ICT - Customer Services software     (11,000)       
ICT - Civica Banded Benefits software       12,410       
Community support funding      (20,000)     
Assets - Asbestos & Legionella surveys     (10,000)       
Assets - H&S Path Maintenance       (2,500)       
Assets - Asbestos works     (25,000)       
Assets - CCTV upgrade Moorlands House     (20,000)       
Assets - Feasibility works (Energy)       10,000     (10,000) 
Assets - Watercourses conditions survey       30,000    (30,000)     
Assets - Call out costs         1,000       
Assets - Benches & Street Furniture       50,000    (50,000)     
Assets - Housekeeping supplies       10,000       
Assets - Door Entry Pass         2,000      (2,000)     
Local Plan - Revision & Maintenance       35,000       20,000   150,000   
Grant rolled into RSG       98,160       
Cultural Strategy       20,000    (20,000)     
AES - Pay award impact     188,740       
AES - Fuel inflation demand     129,360       18,510     16,420    14,100 
AES - Contract inflation (net)       75,460       26,000     23,000    20,000 

Page 499



AES - Contract sum planned reduction     (25,000)    (25,000)  (25,000) (25,000) 
Elections Reserve adjustment       15,000       
OD HR Support       50,000    (50,000)   

 Total     472,130  (132,990)   111,920     1,600 

 

6.3.2. In the table above the following items merit further explanation: 

 Assets Feasibility works – relating to potential energy reduction 
measures. Costs to be incurred over 3 years. 

 Local Plan – Build-up of costs in maintaining and revising the Plan. 

 AES – adjustments to ensure the management fee is set at a realistic 

position for the company’s effective output. 

 OD HR support – development and delivery of the Organisational 

Development strategy. 
 
6.3.3. In addition to the above, there may be a requirement to include upfront 

increased budget demand in relation to climate change related projects in 
future years.  Some of these costs may already be included with the MTFP 

forecast – for example, schemes within the asset management plan and fleet 
purchase programme where environmental impact will be a significant 
consideration.  However, any additional costs will be assessed and included 

within future MTFP iterations once known and the business case has been 
developed.    

 
6.3.4. It may also be necessary to include increased budget provision as a result of the 

completion of service plans and in accordance with the Organisational 

Development Strategy. Additional staff resource or expertise may be necessary 
to deliver specific projects.  This will be reviewed by the Transformation Board 

as part of the business case process for each project.  
 
6.4. Budget Growth 

 
6.4.1. In previous years, very few additions in respect of budget growth have been 

included in the MTFP. It is assumed, considering the financial pressures faced 
by the Council, that any local issues that necessitate budget growth will be 
financed by internal spending reductions elsewhere. Occasionally, however, it 

is necessary to include budget growth to meet spending commitments. No 
such items are included in this iteration of the MTFP. 
 

6.5. Pensions  

 

6.5.1. The Pension Fund triennial valuation was undertaken during 2022 with the aim 
of determining the contribution rates payable by the Council during the period 

2023/24 to 2025/26. 
 
6.5.2.  The results from the valuation exercise have been received which show the 

overall funding position has improved from 84% in 2019 to 100% in 2022. 
 

6.5.3.  However, to maintain this position the actuary has indicated a need to increase 
the contribution rates payable by the Council with effect from 2023/24. The cost 
of this (approximately £90,000 per year) is reflected in the inflation figures at 6.2 

above. 

Page 500



 

 
7. Funding & Income Generation 

 

7.1. Council Tax   

 

7.1.1.   The Council has the capacity to vary Council Tax levels, following the abolition 
of capping.  However, the Council’s ability to increase Council Tax by more 
than a certain percentage is subject to referendum. For 2023/24, this 

percentage has been confirmed as 3%. 
 

7.1.2.  The MTFP has been updated to reflect that the Council Tax will be frozen at a 
0% increase from 2022/23 to 2023/24. In line with previous iterations of the 
MTFP, a 1.90% increase is assumed for the remainder of the plan from 

2024/25 to 2026/27 as the Government has not provided any indication of 
future year increases. 

 
7.1.3.   In addition to this, provision has been included within the plan to reflect 

anticipated growth in the Council Tax base over the next 4 years. The 

assumed level of Council Tax increase included within the current Plan over 
the next 4 years is shown in the table below: 

 

Increased Council Tax 
Income 

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

  £ £ £ £ 

Council Tax increase 
                    

0 
     

(111,240) 
    

(114,310) 
   (117,430) 

Revenue from future tax 
base growth 

           
27,380 

       
(50,000) 

      
(50,000) 

     (50,000) 

TOTAL 
           

27,380 
     

(161,240) 
    

(164,310) 
   (167,430) 

          

Council Tax Income 
Budget 

(5,854,870) (6,016,110) (6,180,420) (6,347,850) 

           
 

 
 

7.1.4.  There is an increased risk associated with non-payment as a result of the high 

levels of household inflation being experienced by residents, with some 
households potentially struggling to meet instalments. However, the financial 
impact will only be felt by the Council if outstanding debts are not collected in 

the medium term and are subsequently written off.  
 

7.1.5. The Council is intending to make  a change to the Local Tax Reduction Scheme 
(LCTRS) that will impact of this from April 2023, a reduction in the taxbase, is 
built into this plan.  

 
 

7.2. Business Rates Retention  

 

Page 501



7.2.1.  Under the 50% Business Rates Retention system, the Authority retains 40% of 

Business Rates income less a tariff that is payable into a pool made up of 
Staffordshire and Stoke-on-Trent Authorities. This amount is then compared to 
a Funding Baseline (£2,720,563 for 2023/24), any amount in excess of this 

Baseline is subject to a levy or, conversely, if the amount of retained Business 
Rates is below this Baseline, the loss is capped by a safety net payment. The 

MTFP does not anticipate the Council falling below the Baseline. 
 
7.2.2.  As part of the Staffordshire Pool, the levy or the safety net payment is made to 

or from the Pool instead of Central Government. If the Council was not in the 
Staffordshire Pool it would have to pay 50p in the £1 to the Government as a 

levy, effectively limiting the income the Council can gain from business rates 
growth. However, as part of the Pool, the Council retains 40% of this levy plus 
20% or a minimum amount; meaning that for every £1 achieved above the 

baseline at least 60% is retained by the Council with the remainder going to the 
Pool to be distributed within Staffordshire. The benefit to the Council of being 

part of the Pool arrangement is estimated to be £557,670 in 2023/24. 
 
7.2.3.  Whilst central government continues to review business rates, the MTFP 

forecasts the Council’s income from Business Rates Retention under the 
current system throughout the plan. Changes in the level of the Council’s 

business rates will be impacted by a range of factors, including the 
Staffordshire Pool’s success in generating new and retaining existing business 
within its area. At this stage, predicted levels of business rates income are 

based on expected changes to the current business rates listing including the 
effects of the Revaluation from 1st April 2023, with estimates of the effects of 

transitional arrangements, reliefs and increased appeals provisions.  
 
7.2.4. The Business Rates Multiplier is set by central government based on the 

preceding September CPI. This was 10.1% in 2022. However, the Government 
announced as part of the Autumn Statement 2022 that the multiplier would be 

frozen for businesses during 2023/24 at the level of the 2022/23 multiplier. 
Thus far, where collectible income is suppressed due to a freeze in multiplier or 
award of reliefs announced by the government (including increased small 

business rate relief, public convenience relief, and extended retail, and rural 
relief) the Council has been compensated with funding received under Section 

31 of the Local Government Act 2003. The assumption that this will continue 
throughout the life of the plan is included in the MTFP. 

 

Business Rates Retention 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

In year:         

   Baseline Funding (2,720,560) (2,764,910) (2,809,980) (2,855,780) 

 
   Achievement against Baseline 

              
952,960 

     
(457,580) 

      
(486,050) 

     
(536,360) 

 
   Section 31 Grant 

        
(3,115,860) 

  
(2,302,060) 

   
(2,352,590) 

  
(2,410,780) 

 
Total 

        
(4,883,460) 

  
(5,524,550) 

   
(5,648,620) 

  
(5,802,920) 

 
Change between years: 

        

 
   Business Rates retained 

              
211,190 

  
(1,454,890) 

        
(73,540) 

       
(96,110) 

Page 502



 
   Section 31 Grant 

           
(749,700) 

        
813,800 

        
(50,530) 

       
(58,190) 

 
Total 

           
(538,510) 

     
(641,090) 

      
(124,070) 

     
(154,300) 

 
 

 
 

7.3. Collection Fund  

 
7.3.1.  The Council maintains a Collection Fund to record the receipt of Council Tax 

and Business Rates and their distribution to precepting authorities. Any surplus 
or deficit generated is distributed or recovered from the preceptors in 

subsequent years. 
 

7.3.2. The Council’s share of the Council Tax surplus to be distributed in in 2023/24 is 

£102,860 
 

7.3.3. The Council’s share of the Business Rates surplus to be distributed in in 
2023/24 is £170,460 

 
7.3.4. These and future year movements are set out in the table below: 

 

Changes in Collection Fund 
Income 

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

  £ £ £ £ 

Council Tax 
        

(41,540) 
        

74,040 
        

(8,490) 
       

(2,840) 

Business Rates 
   

(1,077,040) 
      

170,460 
                 

0 
                

0 

TOTAL 
   

(1,118,580) 
      

244,500 
        

(8,490) 
       

(2,840) 

          

 

7.4. Income from Government Grants   

 
New Homes Bonus 

 

7.4.1.  The provisional Local Government finance settlement in December 2022 
included a New Homes Bonus of £59,450 for 2023/24, with no confirmation of 

the basis for future year receipts. 
 

7.4.2. With an anticipation of growth and the implementation of a new reformed 

scheme following consultation by central government, the MTFP assumes 
£80,000 in New Homes Bonus in the years following. 

 
Other Grant Support 

 
7.4.3. The Council receives the following grant awards in 2023/24: 

 

 Funding Guarantee Grant (£354,960) 

Page 503



 Services Grant (£101,870) 

 Rural Services Delivery Grant (£63,440) 

 Revenue Support Grant (£98,160) 

 
7.4.4. The MTFP assumes that the Funding Guarantee Grant is a one year only award 

and that the other grants will continue throughout the life of the plan at the 

levels stated above. 
 

Summary of Income from Government Grants  
 

7.4.5. The table below summarises the movement in Government funding over the 

MTFP period: 
 

Government Grant (gain) / 
loss of funding 

2022/23 
(Budget) 

2023/24 
(forecast) 

2024/25 
(forecast) 

2025/26 
(forecast) 

2026/27 
(forecast) 

  £ £ £ £ £ 

New Homes Bonus      (255,050)     (59,450)     (80,000)     (80,000)   (80,000) 

Lower Tier Service Grant       (117,630)     

Services Grant      (180,780)  (101,870)    (101,870)   (101,870)  (101,870) 

Funding Guarantee Grant   (354,960) - - - 

Revenue Support Grant     (98,160)    (98,160)    (98,160)   (98,160) 

Rural Services Delivery Grant       (63,440)     (63,440)     (63,440)     (63,440)   (63,440) 

Total 
        

(616,900) 

       

(677,880) 

      

(343,470) 

     

(343,470) 

          

(343,470) 

      
 

    

(Gain)/ Loss in Govt Funding  
 

   (60,980)    334,410             0 0 

            

 

7.5. Fees and Charges   

 
7.5.1. Charging for local services makes a significant contribution to the Council’s 

finances. The Council also uses charging to influence individual choices and 
behaviour, and to bring other benefits to local communities. The Council’s 

Charging Policy sets out the following principles for establishing the level of 
fees and charges:   
 

 The cost of providing services should be fully met by income 

 There is a standard approach to concessions for those on low incomes 

 Where a subsidy is agreed, this should be used to support the development of 
Council services in accordance with priorities 

 Subsidies should be reconfirmed annually 
 

7.5.2. Charges are set in line with the categories below: 
 

Charging Policy Policy Objective 

Full commercial 
Service is promoted to maximise revenue within an overall objective of generating a 
surplus from the service 

Fair charging 
Service is promoted to maximise income but subject to defined policy constraints 
including commitments made to potential customers on an appropriate fee structure  

Cost recovery Service generally available to all but without a subsidy 

Page 504



 
7.5.3. The proposed fees and charges for 2023/24 are presented in APPENDIX C to 

this report. 
 

7.5.4. The Medium Term Financial Plan would normally project that the Council will 
increase fees and charges (and other income) broadly in line with inflation.  
However, as well as taking in to account the high and volatile current inflation, it 

is also recognised that certain income streams (such as car parking, planning 
receipts) may not increase each year and that other income streams (such as 

grants and rental income) are fixed or subject to periodic review. 
 
7.5.5. The projected revenue from increased fees and charges (and other income) is 

summarised in the table below: 
 

Increased Fees and Changes 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

 £ £ £ £ 

Revenue from increased Fees and Charges (25,000) (50,000) (125,000) (50,000) 

     

     Total (25,000) (50,000) (125,000) (50,000) 

     
Total budgeted Income from Fees & Charges  (5,930,900) (5,980,900) (6,105,900) (6,155,900) 

     
 

 
8. Risks, Contingencies & Use of Reserves 

 

8.1. Risk Identification and Management 

 
8.1.1. The early identification and management of risks is critical to the Budget and 

Medium Term Financial Planning process. Risks are assessed, mitigated and 
actively managed to ensure that the Council delivers its services effectively 

within the funding at its disposal. The principal risks to the Medium Term 
Financial Plan are summarised in ANNEX B. 

 

8.1.2. Risk areas will be closely monitored and reviewed on an on-going basis and 
remedial action taken as appropriate.  Risks associated with specific projects 

will be identified within the project methodology documents and reviewed 
monthly by the Transformation Board. 
 

8.1.3. The table below highlights specific financial risks that are embedded within this 
Medium Term Financial Plan:  

 

Subsidised 
Service is widely accessible, but users of the service should make some contribution 
from their own resources 

Nominal Service to be fully available and a charge is made to discourage frivolous usage 

Free Service fully available at no cost 

Statutory Charges are set in line with legal obligations 

Revenue Risks Capital Risks 

Page 505



 

 
8.2. Contingencies   

 
8.2.1. The Medium Term Financial Plan is underpinned by a number of assumptions. 

These assumptions have been made in the light of currently available 

information. New information, when it emerges, may require the Council to alter 
its assumptions with a consequential effect on the Council’s financial position. 

 
8.2.2. Key risk areas will be closely monitored and reviewed on an ongoing basis and 

remedial action taken.  Members will receive quarterly updates on performance 

against the budget.  
 

8.2.3. The Council carries reserves as a contingency for situations where risks cannot 
be fully mitigated. Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 requires the 
Chief Finance Officer (CFO) to report on the robustness of the estimates 

included in the budget and the adequacy of the reserves that the budget 
provides.   
 

8.2.4. While there is no detailed guidance on calculating the level of general reserves 
the Council is encouraged to take into account the strategic, operational and 

financial risks facing the Council. These amounts are then moderated to 
acknowledge the likelihood of all risk events occurring together. The table below 
reflects the approach taken in calculating the minimum level of general reserve 

required. 
 

Risk Item Calculation Factor Value Reserve 

Requirement 

  £’m £ 

Expenditure Items (gross) – Employee Related 3% of value 5.92 178,000 

Expenditure Items (gross) – Other 3% of value 11.00 331,000 

 Inflationary assumptions 

 Interest rates 

 Revenue consequences of 
capital 

 Housing benefits 

 Fees and charges 

 Universal Credit 

 Business Rates Retention 

scheme 

 Council Tax collection 

 New Homes Bonus 

 Financial benefits from 
partnerships / shared services 

 Pension costs 

 Insurance costs 

 Waste management costs 
 

 Interest rates  

 External funding 

 Capital receipts 

 Capacity to deliver capital 

programme 

 Project overspend 

 Project overrun 

 External factors (e.g. 

planning objections, judicial 
reviews etc. leading to 
project delay) 

 Housing Joint Venture 

 Suppliers / Contractors / 

Contract Management 

 Weather  

 

Page 506



Housing Benefits  0.25% of value 11.50 29,000 

Fees and Charges 5.5% of value 4.75 261,000 

Interest Receipts/Payments 50% fall in average rate 0.54 277,000 

Efficiency Provisions 50% of value 0.69 207,000 

Council Tax Collection 2.5% of value 5.83 146,000 

Business Rates Retention 6% of value 2.16 130,000 

Development Services Income 6% of value 0.50 30,000 

Local Land Charges 6% income fall 0.14 8,000 

New Homes Bonus 50% income fall 0.12 40,000 

Total Requirement all events   1,637,000 

   Moderation 10% reduction  (163,700) 

Total Requirement   1,473,300 

 

8.2.5. These factors all remain valid, so it is proposed that the minimum general 
reserve contingency balance should remain unchanged at £1,478,000 to meet 

unforeseen expenditure and/or shortfalls in income.  
 

8.2.6. The level and utilisation of reserves is determined formally by the Council, 
having received the advice and judgement of the Chief Financial Officer (CFO). 

The Chief Financial Officer’s advice is:   
 

“In the view of the Executive Director & Chief Finance Officer (Section 151 
Officer), the budget includes estimates which take into account circumstances 

and events which are reasonably foreseeable at the time of preparing the 
budget. The view is therefore held, that the level of reserves are adequate for 
the Council based on this budget and the circumstances in place at the time of 

preparing it.”  
 

[Note: A formal record of the Chief Finance Officer’s advice is recorded in the 
minutes of the Council meeting.  In the unusual event that a Chief Finance 

Officer’s advice is not accepted by a Council, the rejection by a Council of the 
Chief Finance Officer’s advice must be recorded in the minutes]. 

 

8.2.7. Further detail of the CFO’s determination in regard to contingency balances and 
reserves is detailed in ANNEX C.   

 
 
 

 
8.3. Use of Reserves and Balances   

 
8.3.1. The February 2022 Medium Term Financial Plan included a £7,700 contribution 

per annum from General Fund Reserves in respect of Section 106 (Commuted 

Sum); a use of the Business Rates s31 reserve of £906,580 in 2022/23; and a 
net contribution of £5,340 into the General Fund contingency over the lifetime of 

the plan.  
 

Page 507



8.3.2. Following the 2021/22 outturn position and a net use of this and other 

earmarked reserves movements, the general fund contingency balance as at 
31st March 2022 reduced to £3.689million (£4.087million at 31st March 2021).   

 

8.3.3. The updated MTFP shows a forecast cumulative deficit position of £309,430 
over the four years – which represents the required use of reserves in order to 

balance the 4 year plan. The annual changes in the contingency reserve as well 
as other earmarked reserves from which it is planned to draw funding, are 
shown in the table below. 

 
 

8.3.4. With effect from 2023/24, the MTFP reflects a £309,430 draw on Contingency 
reserves over the next 4 years (2023/24 £602,570 contribution, 2024/25 

£209,610 usage, 2025/26 £384,980 usage, and 2026/27 £317,410 usage).  
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Reserve 
2022/23 

(Budget) 
2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

  £ £ £ £ £ 

Contingency Reserve       120,230 602,570 (209,610) (384,980) (317,410) 

Section 106 Monies        (7,700)     (7,700)      (7,700)     (7,700)          (7,700) 

Business Rates s31 Reserve    (906,580) 0               0              0 0 

Covid Recovery Reserve 0 (600,000) 0 0 0 

  
 

    
 

  

Total Contribution / (Usage)    (794,050) (5,130) (217,310) (392,680) (325,110) 

            

Change in use of reserves   788,920 (212,180) (175,370) 67,570 

            

 
 

8.3.5. The table below shows the revised level of contingency reserves over the life of 
the Medium Term Financial Plan: 

 

Contingency reserve 2022/23 
(Budget) 

2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 
  

  £ £ £ £ £ 

As at February 2023:           

Balance at year end 3,409,000 4,011,570 3,801,960 3,416,980 3,099,570 

            

Minimum requirement (8.2) 1,480,000 1,480,000 1,480,000 1,480,000 1,480,000 

            

Headroom 1,929,000 2,531,570 2,321,960 1,936,980 1,619,570 

            

 

8.3.6. At the end of year 4 of the plan (2026/27) there would be an estimated balance 
of £3.1million in General Fund Contingency reserves – which would be 

£1.62million above the required £1.48million minimum balance. 

Page 508



 

 
9. Budget 2023/24 

 

9.1. Budget preparation work has now been completed and an overall balanced 
budget position has been reached with the inclusion of a projected contribution 

into contingency reserves of £602,570 
 

Proposed Budget 
 

9.2. The proposed 2023/24 Budget is detailed below: 
 

 

Budget Heading 2023/24 

  £ 

Employees 7,157,260 

Premises 2,543,450 

Transport 142,670 

Supplies & Services 8,331,080 

Benefits 5,010 

Borrowing 549,510 

Total Expenditure 18,728,980 

    

Fees and Charges / Other Income (5,930,900) 

Interest Receipts  (1,103,440) 

Net Expenditure 11,694,640 

    

Council Tax (5,854,870) 

Business Rates Retention (4,883,440) 

Other Government Funding (618,430) 

New Homes Bonus (59,450) 

Earmarked Reserves (607,700) 

Contingency Balances 602,570 

Collection Fund (273,320) 

Total Financing (11,694,640) 

    

Cumulative Deficit / (Surplus) 0 

    

Efficiency Requirement 0 

    

In Year Deficit / (Surplus) 0 

    

 

 
Council Tax Requirement 2023/24 
 

9.3. The table below illustrates the Council Tax requirement for 2023/24:  
 

  2023/24 

  £ 

Page 509



Net Expenditure 11,694,640 

    

Efficiency Target 0 

New Homes Bonus (59,450) 

Government Funding (618,430) 

Business Rates Retention (4,883,440) 

Use of Reserves (5,130) 

Collection Fund (273,320) 

    

Net Requirement from Council Tax 5,854,870 

    

 
9.4. Members will be aware that the Council has adopted the following items of 

expenditure as Special District Expenses (SDEs) to be levied on specific 

parishes: 

 Leek – Brough Park, Birch Gardens, Recreation Grounds and Leek 

Cemetery; and 

 Biddulph – Recreation Grounds. 
 

9.5. Estimated net expenditure for 2023/24 in respect of Special District Expense 
items is set out in the table below: 

 

Special District Expense Net Cost 

  £ 
Leek  
Brough Park 99,000 
Recreation Grounds 80,820 
Birch Gardens 30,320 
Cemetery 133,210 
Total 343,350 
  

Biddulph  
Recreation Grounds 66,890 
Total 66,890 
  

TOTAL LEVY 410,240 
  

 
9.6. Members should note that overall Special District Expenses have been 

adjusted to stay within the 0% overall increase, to accord with the Council’s 
strategy for District Council Tax levels in 2023/24. 

 
9.7. The overall Council Tax requirement contained within these proposals is 

summarised in the table below. 
 

 
Budget 

Requirement 
£ 

Tax Base 
Band D 

Council Tax 
£ 

Increase/ 
(Decrease) 

% 
 

District Council Tax 
 

5,444,630 33,374 
 

163.14 
 

0% 

Special District Expense   
  

Page 510



Leek 
 

343,350 6,488 52.92 0% 

Biddulph 66,890 6,287 10.64 0% 

 
 

10. General Fund Revenue Position 

 
10.1. The medium term general fund revenue position is as set out in the table below, 

which summaries the impact of the discussions in the previous sections of the 
report: 

 
 
 

Summary Revenue Position 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 

  £ £ £ £ 

Revenue Consequences of Capital Spend (section 5.3.23) 
            

47,710 
           

75,940 
         

81,000 
         

81,320 

Interest Rate Changes (section 6.1.5) 
        

(621,560) 
         

184,990 
        

187,940 
       

114,470 

Inflation Pressures (section 6.2.3) 

       

1,028,470 

         

557,660 

        

456,380 

       

359,610 

Increased / (Reduced) Budget Demand (section 6.3.2) 

          

472,130 

       

(132,990) 

        

111,920 

          

1,600 

Budget Growth (section 6.4.1) 
                    

0 
                   

0 
                 

0 
                 

0 

Increased Council Tax Income (section 7.1.3) 
            

27,380 
       

(161,240) 
      

(164,310) 
     

(167,430) 

Business Rates Retention (section 7.2.4) 
        

(538,490) 
       

(641,090) 
      

(124,070) 
     

(154,300) 

Changes in Collection Fund Surplus (section 7.3.4) 
     

(1,118,580) 
         

244,500 
         

(8,490) 
        

(2,840) 

Reduction in Government Grant (section 7.4.5) 
          

(60,980) 
         

334,410 
                 

0 
                 

0 

Additional Fees and Charges (section 7.5.5) 
          

(25,000) 
         

(50,000) 
      

(125,000) 
       

(50,000) 

Contribution to/(Use of) Reserves & Balances (sect 8.3.4) 
          

788,920 
       

(212,180) 
      

(175,370) 
         

67,570 

In Year Change in Position 
                    

0 
         

200,000 
        

240,000 
       

250,000 

Efficiency & Rationalisation Plan (section 5.4) 
                    

0 
       

(200,000) 
      

(240,000) 
     

(250,000) 

Budget (Surplus) / Deficit 0 0 0 0 

Cumulative (Surplus) / Deficit 

                    

0 

                   

0 

                 

0 

                 

0 

 

10.2. The table above shows a balanced position over the life of the Medium Term 
Financial Plan assuming Efficiency Programme savings of £690,000 are 

achieved. 
 

10.3. The above position includes a £309,430 draw from contingency reserves during 

the life of the plan.  
 

 

Page 511



10.4. ANNEX D shows the indicative detailed revenue budget for the period 2023/24 

– 2026/27. 
 

 
11. Consultation 

 
11.1. The Council is committed to consulting with residents and other stakeholders to 

help inform the budget setting process and spending priorities/non-priorities. A 

variety of techniques have been used in the past and the approaches have 
been iterative, building year on year on what has gone before. The Council 

already holds comprehensive information gathered about residents’ spending 
priorities. Much of this information was gathered in times of rising expenditure. 
The financial challenges for the Council are now very different.  

 
11.2. With the significant uncertainties, volatility and risk within this MTFP update, it is 

extremely difficult to have any meaningful consultation in this climate. This will 
be considered in more depth over the coming months to inform next year’s 
budget setting and MTFP process. Access to consultation and social media 

platforms will assist in this process.  
 

 

Page 512



ANNEX A 

Proposed Capital Programme (2022/23 to 2026/27)   

 

Capital Schemes 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 Total 

  £ £ £ £ £ £ 
Asset Management Plan             
Public Buildings         50,000       600,000                  -         554,780       131,000   1,335,780  
Car Parks                 -         400,000       171,590       441,350       268,430   1,281,370  
Public Conveniences        64,900                  -           50,000         50,000                  -         164,900  
Infrastructure/Waterways                 -           80,000       214,000                  -         420,000       714,000  
Leisure Centres                 -                    -         353,340       779,050                  -     1,132,390  
Depots & Park Buildings       160,590                  -         695,510       405,600         32,830   1,294,530  
Industrial Units                 -                    -                    -         140,710                  -         140,710  
       275,490   1,080,000   1,484,440   2,371,490       852,260   6,063,680  
              
Private  Housing Grants 21,200                 -                    -                    -                    -    21,200 
              
              
Disabled Facilities Grants   1,100,000 1,774,000 2,200,000 2,200,000  2,200,000  9,474,000 
              
ICT Projects 68,040        50,000         62,780         40,560                  -    221,380 
              
Fleet Management  451,190 561,000      101,500  24,700  1,496,200  2,634,590 
              
Regeneration              
Conservation  84,030 61,920        70,000         50,000         50,000  315,950 
Market Town Regeneration                  -                    -         808,000                  -                    -    808,000 
  84,030 61,920 878,000 50,000 50,000 1,123,950 
Leisure              
BVLC Energy Efficiency Works                  -     2,175,000                  -                    -                    -     2,175,000  
Outdoor Sports Facilities         55,030       447,770                  -                    -                    -         502,800  
Public Parks/Play Facilities  100,840      357,420       120,000         70,000                  -    648,260 
  155,870 2,980,190 120,000 70,000 0 3,326,060 
Other Schemes              
CCTV        56,140                  -                    -                    -                    -    56,140 
Community Facilities       200,000                  -                    -                    -                    -    200,000 
Levelling Up Fund( Matched Funding)                  -         600,000                  -                    -                    -         600,000  
  256,140 600,000                 -                    -                    -    856,140 
              

TOTAL PROGRAMME 2,411,960 7,107,110 4,846,720 4,756,750 4,598,460 23,721,000 

              

CONTRIBUTIONS 1,117,940 3,736,420 2,200,000  2,200,000   2,200,000  11,454,360 
              

NET PROGRAMME 1,294,020 3,370,690 2,646,720  2,556,750   2,398,460  12,266,640 

Page 513



ANNEX B 

 
Medium Term Financial Plan – Principal Risks 

 

Risk Category Risk Mitigation and Controls 

 
Financial 
Implications 

 
Robustness of financial 
assumptions within Efficiency 
and Rationalisation Strategy 

 

 
Structured project management 
arrangements have been put in place with 
detailed business cases for each initiative – 
these will be strengthened in the service 
review process 

 
Financial 
Implications 

 
Additional financial pressures 
emerge – cost inflation & 
income  

 
The strategy is kept under constant review 
and adjustments will be made where 
necessary. 

 
Service 
Continuity 

 
Interruptions to key services or 
performance standards 

 

 
Resource implications and impact are 
identified as part of the business case 
process. Service continuity and 
maintenance of standards of service are 
key requirements of any new proposals. 

 
Corporate 
Governance 

 
Maintaining stakeholder 
confidence; lack of clarity on 
accountability 

 
Ongoing review of standards of internal 
control (e.g. Financial Procedure Rules 
reviewed and updated). Internal Audit Plan 
takes into account the new approach.   

 
Management of 
Change 

 
Management of corporate and 
local, cultural change; 
behavioural risks; residual 
effects of aggregation; 
proposed changes to 
organisational structure, roles 
& responsibilities 

 
Progress with achievement of aims will be 
monitored through an effective performance 
management structure. Investment has 
been made in a new approach to 
Organisational Development. 

 

 
People Risks 

 
Impact of cultural changes; 
assessment of skills; 
recruitment & retention; 
capacity issues 

 
Continuing communications process for the 
delivery of transformation programme 

 

 
Key Projects & 
Partnerships 

 
Managing changes to shared 
service delivery arrangements 

 

 
The project management methodology 
provides for an adequate transition where 
there are changes in service delivery   

 
Performance 
Management 

 
Adequacy of framework to 
monitor transition 

 
Risk management processes are 
embedded 

 
Reputation and 
Relationship 
Risks 

 
Maintaining existing partner 
confidence 

 
Continuing communications process for the 
delivery of transformation programme 

 
Programme 
Delivery 

 
Delays in implementation of 
efficiency savings 

 
Effective governance arrangements in place 
to monitor plans.  
 
Executive Directors and Senior Managers 

Page 514



Risk Category Risk Mitigation and Controls 
own delivery of efficiencies.  

 
Chief Executive Officer acts as programme 
director.  

 
Programme 
Delivery 

 
A number of the efficiency / 
rationalisation initiatives are 
not achieved 

 
Structured project management approach is 
in place for delivery including effective 
exception reporting 

 
The strategy is kept under constant review 

 
Identification of further efficiency / 
rationalisation opportunities through 
benchmarking / effective member working 
groups   

 
Political Support 

 
Lack of Members support for 
Plan 

 
Regular reporting and member briefings 
including effective scrutiny arrangements 

 

  

Page 515



ANNEX C 

 
Chief Finance Officer’s Review of Contingencies / Reserves 

Chief Finance Officer’s Section 25 Review 

 

The purpose of this statement is to provide councillors with information on the 

robustness of the estimates and the adequacy of reserves in the Medium Term 
Financial Plan (MTFP). 
 

Background  

 

The Council sets in budget in February each year. In setting the budget the level of 
Council Tax and other fees and charges are established. Decisions are based on a 
budget that sets out estimates of what the Council plans to spend on each of its 

services in the forthcoming year.  

 

The decision on the level of the income is taken before the financial year begins and it 
cannot be changed during the year, so allowance for risks and uncertainties that might 
increase service expenditure above that planned, must be made by:  

 
 Making prudent allowance in the estimates for each of the services; and  

 Ensuring that there are adequate reserves to draw on if the service estimates turn 
out to be insufficient.  

 

Section 25 of the Local Government Act 2003 requires that the Council’s Chief 
Finance Officer reports to Full Council when it is considering its Budget for the 

forthcoming financial year. The report must deal with the robustness of the estimates 
and the adequacy of the reserves allowed for in the budget proposals, so that 
councillors have professional, authoritative advice available to them when they make 

their decisions. Section 25 also requires members to have regard to this report in 
making their decisions.  
 
Robustness of Spending Forecasts  

 

Heads of Service in conjunction with the Council’s Head of Finance monitor detailed 
budgets throughout the year. This enables additional service pressures to be identified 

on an on-going basis.  
 
Reports are presented on a quarterly basis to the Resources Overview & Scrutiny 

Committee and Cabinet.  These reports highlight all variances between spending and 
budgets.  

 
The proposal for the 2023/24 Budget and updated MTFP are based on analysis and 
assurances from Heads of Service and their finance support staff. Cabinet Portfolio 

Holders have worked with their respective Executive Directors throughout the process. 
Resources Overview & Scrutiny Committee members scrutinised the progress of 

spending throughout the year and received a report on the draft MTFP in November 
2022.   
 

Extensive work has also been carried out to produce the MTFP. A range of broad 
assumptions have been utilised and robustly challenged as part of the process. 

Page 516



 

Forecasts take account of the financial commitments that emerge from the Council’s 
Corporate Plan.  
 

The Council has taken all reasonable and practical steps to identify and make 
provision for the Council’s commitments in 2023/24 in order to achieve a balanced 

budget.   
 
Robustness of Income Forecasts 

 
The level of Council Tax has been established with reference to the maximum 

increase allowed without requiring a referendum. A £0.00 (Band D equivalent) 
increase has been provided for in 2022/23, followed by a 1.9% increase in years 2-4 
of the MTFP. 

 
The forecasts of the business rates that will be retained by the Council have been 

calculated in line with the current Business Rates Retention Scheme. The forecasts 
taken account of the following: 
 

 The baseline income set by government, 

 Prudent forecast of the financial benefits of being a member of the Staffordshire 

pool arrangements, 

 The award of reliefs and the receipt of Section 31 grants to compensate, 

 Adequate provision to meet the impact of successful appeals, and 

 Predicted levels of business rates income are based on known and expected 

changes to the business rates listing.  
 
The level of fees and charges has been assessed in conjunction with Heads of 

Service. The proposed levels for 2023/24 take account of the following factors in line 
with the Council’s Charging Policy: 

 
 

 The cost of providing services should be fully met by income, 

 There is a standard approach to concessions for those on low incomes, 

 Where a subsidy is agreed, this should be used to support the 
development of Council services in accordance with priorities, and 

 Subsidies should be reconfirmed annually. 
 
Key Budget Risks  

 

The Government is expected to consult on a number of national reforms which will 
impact of the Council’s finances. These include: 
 

 Fair funding review; 

 The Business Rates Retention Scheme including resetting the baseline income; 

 Replacement of the New Homes Bonus Scheme. 
 

These changes will have a significant impact on the Council’s finances. 
 
The national economic situation remains challenging and unpredictable. The impacts 

of the  coronavirus pandemic have largely receded in economic magnitude, only to be 
replaced by the impacts of the Ukraine war. This conflict has had a major impact on 

Page 517



energy and supply contracts across Europe, fuelling inflation and leading to significant 

increase in the Council’s costs. The economic outlook will continue to be monitored 
particularly as to how this affects interest rates and asset valuations.    
 

Adequacy of Reserves  

 

The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Local Authority 
Accounting Panel (LAAP) has a guidance note on Local Authority Reserves and 
Balances (LAAP Bulletin 77) to assist local authorities in this process. This guidance is 

not statutory, but compliance is recommended in CIPFA’s Statement on the Role of 
the Finance Director in Local Government. It is best practice to follow this guidance.  

 
The guidance however states that no case has yet been made to set a statutory 
minimum level of reserves, either as an absolute amount or a percentage of budget. 

Each Local Authority should take advice from its Chief Finance Officer and base its 
judgement on local circumstances.  

 
Reserves should be held for three main purposes:  

 

 A working balance to help cushion the impact of uneven cash flows and avoid 
unnecessary temporary borrowing – this forms part of general reserves,  

 A contingency to cushion the impact of unexpected events or emergencies – this 
also forms part of general reserves, and 

 A means of building up funds known as ‘earmarked reserves’, to meet known or 

predicted funding requirements.  

 
The CIPFA Guidance highlights a range of factors, in addition to cash flow 

requirements, that Councils should consider including:  

 

 The treatment of inflation, 
 The treatment of demand led pressures, 
 Efficiency savings, 

 Partnerships, and  
 The general financial climate, including the impact on investment income.  

 
The guidance also refers to reserves being deployed to fund recurring expenditure 
and indicates that this is not a long-term option. If the Council chooses to use reserves 

as recommended within the Budget, appropriate action will need to be factored into 
the MTFP to ensure that this is addressed over time.  

 
The risk assessment process has identified a number of key risks which could impact 
on the Council’s resources. The Council continues to face significant funding 

reductions and on-going budget pressures.  
With these risks in mind, it is recommended that the Council adopts a policy for 

reserves as follows:  

 
 Set aside sufficient sums in earmarked reserves that it considers prudent. These 

reserves are established as are required and are reviewed regularly for both 
adequacy and purpose and levels are reporting appropriately in line with the 

established reporting processes; and 

Page 518



 General Reserves are maintained to be at least at the level of the contingency 

requirement calculated with reference to LAAP Bulletin 77 and reported to Council 
as part of the approved MTFP.   

 

Earmarked reserves have been established to provide resources for specific 
purposes.  

 
The proposals contained within this update require a £309,430 use of reserves over 
the period 2023/24 to 2026/27. 

 
 
Opinion 

 
In my professional view, if the Council were to accept the current MTFP then the level 

of risks identified in the budget process, alongside the Council’s financial management 
arrangements suggest that the level of reserves is adequate.  

 
 
Martin Owen 

Executive Director Finance & Customer Services (s151) 

Page 519



ANNEX D 

Proposed Revenue Budget (2023/24 to 2026/27) 

 

Budget Heading 2023/24  
Projection 

2024/25  
Projection 

2025/26  
Projection 

2026/27  
Projection 

  £ £ £ £ 

Employees 7,157,260 7,389,570 7,597,530 7,768,910 

Premises 2,543,450 2,670,620 2,750,740 2,805,750 

Transport 142,670 144,100 145,540 147,000 

Supplies & Services 8,331,080 8,194,840 8,233,620 8,116,980 

Benefits 5,010 5,010 5,010 5,010 

Borrowing 549,510 579,080 696,730 841,360 

Financing Costs 0 0 0 0 

          

Total Expenditure 18,728,980 18,983,220 19,429,170 19,685,010 

          

Fees and Charges / Other Income 
     

(5,930,900) 
     

(5,980,900) 
   

(6,105,900)   (6,155,900) 

Interest Receipts  
     

(1,103,440) 
       

(872,080) 
      

(720,790)      (669,630) 

Ascent LLP Income  

                    

0 

                   

0                  0                  0 

Recharges 
                    

0 
                   

0                  0                  0 

          

Net Expenditure 11,694,640 12,130,240 12,602,480 12,859,480 

          

Council Tax 
     

(5,854,870) 
     

(6,016,110) 
   

(6,180,420)   (6,347,850) 

Other Grant Funding 

        

(618,430) 

       

(263,470) 

      

(263,470)      (263,470) 

Business Rates Retention 
     

(4,883,440) 
     

(5,524,530) 
   

(5,648,600)   (5,802,900) 

New Homes Bonus 
          

(59,450) 
         

(80,000)        (80,000)        (80,000) 

Earmarked Reserves 

        

(607,700) 

           

(7,700)          (7,700)         (7,700) 

Contingency Balances 
          

602,570 
       

(209,610) 
      

(384,980)      (317,410) 

Collection Fund 
        

(273,320) 
         

(28,820)        (37,310)        (40,150) 

          

Total Financing 

    

(11,694,640) 

   

(12,130,240) 

 

(12,602,480) (12,859,480) 

          

Cumulative Deficit / (Surplus) 
                    

0 
                   

0                  0                  0 

          

In Year Deficit / (Surplus) 
                    

0 
                   

0                  0                  0 

          

 

Page 520



APPENDIX B 

 

                               
 

 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

CAPITAL STRATEGY  
2023/24 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

Page 521



 
1. Introduction & Background  

 
1.1. The 2017 edition of the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and 

Accountancy (CIPFA) Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local 
Authorities requires local authorities to produce a ‘Capital Strategy’ from 
2019/20. The purpose of the Capital Strategy is to demonstrate that the 

Council’s capital expenditure and investment decisions are taken in line with 
corporate priorities and properly take account of the following: 

 

 Stewardship 

 Value for money 

 Prudence 

 Sustainability, and 

 Affordability  
 

1.2. The Capital Strategy is intended to give a high level overview of how capital 
expenditure, capital financing and treasury management activity contribute to 

the provision of services along with an overview of how associated risk is 
managed and the implications for future sustainability. It allows authorities to 
give greater weight to local circumstances and explain their approach to 

borrowing and investment. 
 

1.3. The Strategy forms part of the Council’s integrated revenue, capital financial 
planning and sets out the long term context in which capital expenditure and 
investment decisions are made. It is an integral component of the Medium 

Term Financial Plan (MTFP) and is aligned with the Council’s: 
 

 Corporate Plan 

 Asset Management Strategy  

 Growth Strategy, and 

 Treasury Management Strategy 
 

1.4. The strategy will provide for a balanced, sustainable capital programme over 
the medium term planning period ensuring that limited resources are applied 

in the most effective, efficient and economical way to contribute to the 
achievement of the Council’s Corporate Plan.  

 

1.5. The strategy sets out how the Council will prioritise its capital spending plans 
within the resources available and indicates the action to be taken to 

maximise resources for capital spending. The strategy is strategic in nature 
and will focus upon the process for determining capital investment priorities.  

 

1.6. The strategy sets out the strategic approach to the management of debt and 
borrowing. The detailed implications of this are contained within the Treasury 

Management Strategy Statement (TMSS) which is updated annually. . 
 
1.7. The Capital Strategy will be updated annually alongside the Council’s MTFP. 

There will also be a fundamental review of the strategy alongside a revision 
of the Corporate Plan. 

 

Page 522



2. Corporate Priorities 

 

2.1. The Capital Strategy is driven by local priorities. The Council’s spending 
strategy is set out in the Corporate Plan formally adopted by the Council. 

 
2.2. Following the elections in May 2019, there was a fundamental review of the 

Corporate Plan focussing on the period 2019-2023 (up to the end of the 

current political administration).  The Corporate Plan was agreed by Council 
on 16th October 2019 with 2020/21 representing the first full year of the new 

Corporate Plan. 
 

2.3. The Council’s 4-year Corporate Plan (2019-2023) establishes the Council’s 

vision, corporate objectives and key priorities for the medium term.  It in 
effect establishes the Council’s commitment in the delivery of service and 

community leadership to the residents of the Staffordshire Moorlands.  
 
2.4. The Council’s vision is restated as: 

 
“Achieving Excellence in the delivery of high quality services that meet the 

needs and aspirations of our communities”  
 
2.5. This vision is articulated further by four aims: 

 

 Help create a safer and healthier environment for our communities to live 

and work 

 Effective use of resources and provide value for money 

 Help create a strong economy by supporting further regeneration of towns 
and villages 

 Protect and improve the environment and respond to the climate 

emergency 
 

2.6. These aims are supported by a number of objectives which also provide the 
framework for the delivery of service plans. The Council’s objectives are 
summarised below: 

 

 Aim Objectives 

1 

 

Help create a safer 
and healthier 

environment for our 
communities to live 

and work 
 

 Increased supply of good quality affordable homes 

 Develop a positive relationship with communities 

 Effective relationship with strategic partners 

 Effective support of community safety arrangements including 
CCTV 

 Provision of sports facilities and leisure opportunities focused 
upon improving health 
 

2 

 

Effective use of 
resources and 

provide value for 
money 

 
 

 Effective use of financial and other resources to ensure value for 
money 

 Ensure services are easily available to all our residents in the 
appropriate channels and provided “right first time” 

 A high performing and well motivated workforce 

 More effective use of Council assets 

 Effective procurement with a focus on local business 

 Effective use of ICT 
 

Page 523



 Aim Objectives 

3 

 

Help create a strong 
economy by 

supporting further 
regeneration of towns 

and villages  

 Encourage business start-ups and enterprises 

 Flourishing town centres that support the local economy 

 Encourage and develop tourism 

 High quality development and building control with an “open for 
business” approach 

 

4 

 

Protect and improve 
the environment and 

respond to the climate 
emergency  

 Effective recycling and waste management 

 Meeting the challenge of climate change 

 Provision of high quality public amenities, clean streets and 
environmental health 

 Provision of quality parks and open spaces 

 Car parking arrangements that meet the needs of residents, 
businesses and visitors 

 
2.7. The Council is committed to playing the lead role in championing the local 

area. In so doing the Council recognises its community leadership role.  

Fulfilling this role effectively means influencing partners in a number of key 
areas such as supporting the police and other partners to reduce crime; 

ensuring effective health provision, particularly for the elderly; and working 
with partners to improve the provision of local bus services in order to ensure 
that services are shaped and delivered around the needs and aspirations of 

citizens. 
 

2.8. The Plan identifies key priority outcomes, which will be the highest priority in 
the development of performance targets and key actions. A significant 
proportion of the Council’s resources will be directed towards achieving 

them: 
 

Aim Objectives 

 

Help create a safer and healthier 
environment for our communities 

to live and work 

 Increased supply of quality affordable homes 

 Improved  health 

 Improved community safety 
 

Effective use of resources and 
provide value for money 

 

 Council services provide value for money 

 High level of resident and customer 
satisfaction 

Help create a strong economy by 
supporting further regeneration of 

towns and villages  

 Sustainable towns and rural communities 

 Increased economic growth 

 Increased tourism 
Protect and improve the 

environment and respond to the 
climate emergency  

 High recycling rates 

 Reduction in carbon emissions 

 
3. Capital Spending Priorities 

 

3.1. The Council’s capital investment priorities are determined by the corporate 
priorities set out above. The key capital investment priorities for the Council 
are therefore as follows:  

 

Corporate Property – the Council will invest in maintaining the properties 

that support the delivery of services direct to residents.  
 

Page 524



Other Corporate Assets – the Council will invest in other assets that support 
the delivery of services e.g. transport fleet.   

 
Affordable Housing & Private Sector Housing Renewal – the Council will 

support the development of affordable housing and investment in the 
improvement in housing conditions throughout the district   
 

Enabling Growth – the Council will support the growth of business and 
employment opportunities within the district in addition to housing 

development in line with the commitments set out in the Local Plan   
 
Service Transformation – the Council will invest in projects that improve 

service performance or reduce service expenditure on an “invest to save” 
basis the will include investment in ICT  

 
4. Asset Management Planning 

 

4.1. The overriding objective of asset management is to ensure that the Council 
maintains a portfolio of property assets that is appropriate, fit for purpose 

and affordable. 
 
4.2. The council’s property portfolio consists of the following: 
 

 Operational property i.e. assets that support core business and service 
delivery 
 

 Investment properties held to support economic growth and / or to 

provide a financial return to the Council e.g. industrial units 
 

 Community assets e.g. parks, playgrounds and open spaces. 

 
4.3. Asset management is an important part of the counci l’s management 

arrangements and is crucial to the delivery of value for money services. The 

Council through production of its Asset Management Plan (AMP) is 
committed to: 

 

 Optimise the Council’s land and property portfolio through proactive estate 

management and effective corporate arrangements for the acquisition and 
disposal;  

 A regular review of the condition of retained properties including a long-
term (30-year) assessment of the necessary investment to maintain the 
assets fit for purpose; and 

 Realise the value of any properties that have been declared surplus to 
requirements in a timely manner, having regard to the market conditions. 

 
5. Service delivery & commercial activities and investments 
 

5.1. The revised Treasury Management Code 2021 requires all investments and 
investment income to be attributed to one of the following three purposes: 

 
Treasury management 
Arising from the organisation’s cash flows or treasury risk management 

activity, this type of investment represents balances which are only held until 
the cash is required for use. Treasury investments may also arise from other 

Page 525



treasury risk management activity which seeks to prudently manage the risks, 
costs or income relating to existing or forecast debt or treasury investments. 

 
Service delivery 

Investments held primarily and directly for the delivery of public services 
including housing, regeneration and local infrastructure.  Returns on this 
category of investment which are funded by borrowing are permitted only in 

cases where the income is “either related to the financial viability of the project 
in question or otherwise incidental to the primary purpose”. 

 
Commercial return 
Investments held primarily for financial return with no treasury management or 

direct service provision purpose.  Risks on such investments should be 
proportionate to an authority’s financial capacity – i.e., that ‘plausible losses’ 

could be absorbed in budgets or reserves without unmanageable detriment to 
local services. An authority must not borrow to invest primarily for financial 
return. 

 

5.2. Treasury management investments are considered in the Treasury 

Management Strategy Statement, whereas Service delivery and Commercial 
return are considered to be Non-Treasury investments and, as such, are 
considered here in the Capital Strategy. 

 
5.3. Service delivery investments could include projects contributing to the 

achievement of the Council’s Corporate Plan ambitions for example on  
housing and regeneration; or investments in a company in which the Council 
has a stake and is established for the delivery of Council services. 

  
5.4. Commercial investments may include investments explicitly taken with the 

aim of making a financial surplus for the Council, or be fixed assets which 
are held primarily for financial benefit or to support economic growth. 

 

5.5. The reasons for commercial investments are: 
 

 Financial returns to fund services to residents; 

 Reductions in service spending; 

 Pursuing the Council’s Growth Strategy; and 

 Economic development and regeneration activity in the district. 
 

5.6. The Council will consider options to invest prudently on a commercial basis 
and to take advantage of opportunities as they present themselves, 
supported by our robust governance process. 

 
5.7. Such investments do not always give priority to security and liquidity over 

yield. In these cases, such a decision will be explicit, with the additional risks 
set out and the impact on financial sustainability identified and reported. 
Before considering any such investments the Council will ensure:  

 

 That it has the appropriate legal powers to undertake such investments;  

 There is no wider detrimental impact to the Council in progressing a 
commercial investment (e.g. around overall borrowing powers) and 

 That any investment is proportionate of all investments in order to avoid an 
excessive level of risk.  

Page 526



 

5.8. The commercial investments may involve the acquisition of property. The 

Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) define 
investment property as property held solely to earn rentals or for capital 

appreciation or both. Historically, property has provided strong investment 
returns in terms of stable income. Property investment is not without risk as 
property values can fall as well as rise and changing economic conditions 

could cause tenants to leave with properties remaining vacant. These risks 
will continue to be identified and managed through the Council’s Risk 

Management Framework. 
 
6. Loans to Third Parties 

 

6.1. The council has discretion to grant loans to third parties for a number of 

reasons. These loans are treated as capital expenditure. In making loans the 
Council is exposing itself to the risk that the borrower defaults on 
repayments. The Council, in making these loans, will therefore ensure they 

are prudent and that the risks have been identified and fully considered.  
 

6.2. The Council will periodically review its loan portfolio in order to ensure that 
the cumulative exposure of the Council is proportionate and prudent. 

 

6.3. The Council will ensure that a full due diligence exercise is undertaken for 
each individual loan and will ensure that adequate security is in place. The 

business case for each loan will consider all of the benefits and the risks.  
 
6.4. It will be necessary to assess the level of risk attached to the provision of 

each individual loan and consequently build in a ‘risk premium’ into the 
interest rate charges to account for this. The factors taken into account in 

determining this premium: 
 

 the level of security 

 financial position and credit rating 

 the overall term of the loan, and  

 the value of the loan 
 
6.5. The step by step process undertaken is outlined below: 
 

STEP 1 – Assessing 

available market rates 
In liaison with the Council’s Advisors, the interest rate the third 

party would be expected to pay if accessing funding from the 
market (based on amount/loan term etc) is estimated.  This is to 
ensure the rate the Council is offering is competitive and not 

undercutting the market. Reference is also made in this 
consideration to subsidy (formerly known as state aid) 

implications.   
STEP 2 – Assessing 
credit quality 

The next consideration is credit quality – which may then 
consequently reduce/increase the rate.  Factors that are taken 
into account include:- credit ratings (if applicable), the financial 

position of the borrower, what security is available etc. 
STEP 3 – Assessment 
of Corporate Plan 

objectives 

Finally, there is an overall assessment of the purpose of the third 
party loan and linking this to the Council’s Corporate Plan 

objectives – local factors based on the outcomes of the loan 
may have an influence on the rate charged. 

Page 527



 

6.6. All loans are agreed by full Council in line with the Council’s constitution. All 

loans will also be subject to regular monitoring. 
 
7. Capital Expenditure 

 
7.1. Capital spending decisions will appropriately reflect the aspirations and 

priorities included within the Corporate Plan and its supporting strategies. 
 

7.2. Any scheme/ project to be added to the Capital Programme will be subject to 
a ‘gateway’ process and prioritised according to availability of resources and 
the longer-term impact on the Council’s financial position. The ‘gateway’ 

process will be undertaken in line with the Council’s agreed project 
management methodology with a robust business case being developed at 

the critical stages of project approval and initiation. This process will be 
overseen by the Council’s Transformation Board. 

 

7.3. The business case will include the following considerations: 
 

 A clear assessment of the cost of financing the capital scheme, net of 
revenue benefits, profiled over the lifetime of each scheme; and 

 Commissioning and procuring for capital schemes will comply with the 
requirements set out in the Council’s Procurement Procedure Rules. 

 
7.4. The Capital Strategy and the Capital Programme will be agreed by the 

Council in February each year as part of the budget setting process. The 

Medium Term Financial Plan, Asset Management Plan and Treasury 
Management Strategy will be considered at the same time.  In year 

variations of spend (subject to budget tolerance levels) and the re-profiling of 
schemes will be considered and approved by Cabinet.  

 

7.5. The Cabinet and the Resources Overview & Scrutiny Panel receive capital 
monitoring reports as part of the quarterly performance and financial 

monitoring reports. 
 
7.6. Cabinet considers and approves new bids for inclusion in the capital 

programme. Approval to spend on individual capital schemes will only be 
given once this approval has been achieved. 

 

7.7. Each approved scheme will be included in the Council’s Transformation 
Programme and one of the Council’s Alliance Management Team (AMT) will 

be assigned as Project Executive and will be responsible / accountable for 
the delivery of the scheme.  

 

7.8. Wherever possible the Council will take a long term view of plans in order to 
assess affordability and the demand on future capital resources. It is 

essential for example to consider the lifespan and fitness for purpose of 
assets. This will be considered through asset management planning 
(condition surveys) and wider service based exercises e.g. leisure centre 

provision evaluation.  
 

7.9. There is a clear demand for long term planning for capital and treasury 
management purposes. The council’s current debt portfolio contains loans 

Page 528



that mature up to 2032. The debt repayment profile needs to be managed 
alongside the longer term expectations for capital expenditure and funding 

forecasts. 
 

7.10. Long-term forecasts are not easily predicted and the accuracy of all financial 
estimates will be limited. However, long-term forecasting is valuable in 
informing strategic plans taking account of the cumulative sustainability and 

affordability of existing and planned investments which will need to be repaid 
over future periods. For major projects and investment the funding and 

financial implications need to be planned well in advance. 
 

8. Resourcing Capital Expenditure  

 
8.1. In order to fund its capital investment, the Council will have access to limited 

sources of funding. The main sources of funding are as follows:  
 

 Capital Receipts  

 
These will be yielded from the disposal of land and property. A programme of 

disposal will be agreed by the Cabinet. This will be informed by the asset 
management planning process. In considering disposals the Council will take 
account of the following: 

 
o Potential loss of income from investment properties  

o Projected saving in running costs, and capital costs of major investment 
required  

o Assessment against fitness of premises for purpose and current patterns 

of need  
 

The Secretary of State has allowed the flexible use of capital receipts. It is 
considered that individual local authorities will be best placed to decide which 
projects will be most effective for their area. The key criteria to use when 

deciding whether expenditure can be funded by the capital receipts flexibility 
is that it is forecast to generate ongoing savings. If the Council plans to use 

this funding option a proposal will be prepared setting out the planned use, 
listing the projects and the expected savings and / or improvements in service 
outcomes for each project, and the impact on the Council’s prudential 

indicators. 
 

 Borrowing  
 
Capital projects that cannot be funded from any other source can be funded 

from borrowing. Local Authorities can borrow to fund schemes where it is 
prudent to so. They need to consider their ability to pay for the borrowing. The 

levels of borrowing are determined by using the indicators set out in the 
Prudential Code. The borrowing repayment and interest charges on the loan 
need to be met from existing revenue budgets or identify them as new growth 

in the annual budget setting process and factor them into the MTFP. 
 

The Chief Finance Officer will make an assessment of the overall prudence, 
affordability and sustainability of the total borrowing requested and the impact 
of the Council’s borrowing will be reported in the Treasury Management 

Page 529



Strategy alongside the Prudential Indicators required by CIPFA’s Prudential 
Code for Capital Finance. 

 
The Chief Finance Officer will also determine whether the borrowing should 

be from internal resources or whether to enter into external borrowing. This 
decision making will be undertaken in line with the Council’s Treasury 
Strategy and will be reported to the Audit & Accounts Committee as part of 

the monitoring of treasury management activity.  
 

 Revenue Funding 
 

The Council may use revenue budgets to fund capital expenditure. This may 
be via a capital reserve which has been established to finance capital 

expenditure as an alternative to external borrowing. 
 
The Council will formally review such reserves and their application both as 

part of the budget setting process and at finalisation of the annual accounts.   
 

 S106 contributions  
 

The principal purpose of S106 agreements is to support individual planning 
applications in line with the Council’s planning policies. Wider contributions 
are constrained by legislation and have to be negotiated and justified. 

 
The Council will ensure these are where possible focussed towards corporate 

priorities subject to the legislative constraints. 
 

 External Grant Funding  
 

The Council has a history of success in bidding for grants from a number of 
sources. There is a risk of reacting to funding opportunities informed by 
external priorities rather than chasing those that match the Council’s priorities/ 

needs.  
 

The Council will seek to ensure that bids are submitted to support investment 
that is directed to the commitments made in the Corporate Plan.   

 

 Partnership Funding 
 

There are a number of examples where the Council has attracted third party 
funding from partners e.g. leisure centre investment from long-term 
contractor.     

 
The Council is aware of the need to be innovative and to work closely with the 

private, public and voluntary Sectors to deliver outcomes in line with the 
Corporate Plan priorities at a time when there will be reduced levels of capital 
resources. 

 
Any such investments will be considered only if they are more cost effective 

than the Council investing directly. 
 
9. Forecast Expenditure and Resources 

Page 530



 
9.1. The forecasted spend over the current financial planning period (2022/23 to 

2026/27) is as follows: 
 

Service Area  2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 Total  

  £ £ £ £ £ £ 

Asset Management Plan 275,490 1,080,000 1,484,440 2,371,490 852,260 6,063,680 

Housing Grants 1,121,200 1,774,000 2,200,000 2,200,000 2,200,000 9,495,200 

ICT Strategy 68,040 50,000 62,780 40,560 0 221,380 

Fleet Management  451,190 561,000 101,500 24,700 1,496,200 2,634,590 

Other Schemes 496,040 3,642,110 998,000 120,000 50,000 5,306,150 

Total Revised 
Programme 

2,411,960 7,107,110 4,846,720 4,756,750 4,598,460 23,721,000 

 

9.2. The individual projects that are included in the above include:   
 

 Asset Management Plan (AMP) – the costs identified in ensuring the 

Council’s property portfolio remain fit for purpose.  This includes: - 
- Public Buildings 

- Car Parks 
- Public Conveniences 

- Waterways & Infrastructure assets 
- Leisure Centres 
- Depots & Parks Buildings 

- Industrial Units 
 

 Housing Grants – the District Council is the duty holder for the mandatory 
Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG’s).  All eligible applicants are entitled to 
receive mandatory funding for certain major adaptations to their properties.  

Funding for this scheme is provided through the Better Care Fund via the 
County Council. It is intended that new service delivery arrangements from 

April 2023 will enable a wider range of grant options to be delivered; offer 
more advice and improved promotional activities, to increase user uptake. 

 

 ICT Strategy – an updated IT Strategy is being developed currently, 
alongside an Organisational Development Strategy and Access to 

Services Strategy.  The aim is to drive a change in culture and deliver the 
systems, processes and skills required in an environment where 
information is shared seamlessly through connected systems.  

 

 Fleet Management – the estimated costs of the replacement fleet 

programme are included within the capital programme.  However, options 
appraisals are undertaken prior to purchase to determine the most cost 

effective method of financing. Therefore, other funding models, for 
example, contract hire or leasing may be undertaken for some vehicles 
categories. 

 

Page 531



 Levelling Up Fund (LUF) – a successful external funding bid has been 
made under the LUF initiative to support a significant proposed project 

around the refurbishment of Leek Market Hall, Leek Leisure Centre and 
The Nicholson Institute.  

 

 Other schemes – include schemes such as park and play facility 
improvements, community facility improvements, conservation grants, 

public sector decarbonisation. 
 

9.3. Further detail of the above capital schemes is included within the main body 
of the Medium Term Financial Plan.  

 

9.4. The resources that are to be used to finance the Capital Programme are as 
follows: 

 

Service Area  2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 Total  

  £ £ £ £ £ £ 

External Contributions  1,117,940 3,736,420 2,200,000 2,200,000 2,200,000 11,454,360 

Planning Obligations    210,000       210,000 

Capital Receipts  69,000         69,000 

Capital Reserve   900,000       900,000 

Revenue Reserves  65,000 25,500 24,000 5,500   120,000 

Earmarked Reserves 56,140         56,140 

Borrowing 1,103,880 2,235,190 2,622,720 2,551,250 2,398,460 10,911,500 

Total Revised Financing  2,411,960 7,107,110 4,846,720 4,756,750 4,598,460 23,721,000 

 
9.5. The commercial investments held by the Council can be summarised as 

follows: 
 

 Industrial units – commercial units available for small and medium sized 

organisations to rent for the operation of their business 

 Property rentals – rental streams generated from sharing Council 

properties with partners/external organisations 

 Alliance Environment Services (AES) – a company established in 

partnership with High Peak Borough Council and ANSA (wholly owned 
company of Cheshire East Council)  to deliver waste, streets, fleet and 

grounds maintenance. 

 Alliance Norse Limited – a company established in partnership with High 
Peak Borough Council and Norse Commercial Services Limited (a trading 

arm of the Norse Group which is wholly owned by Norfolk County Council) 
to deliver housing repairs, capital investment and facilities management 

services to the Councils’ property assets. 
 
9.6. The following investments are currently being considered: 
 

Page 532



 Investment in key strategic land to enable housing and business 
development  

 The purchase of additional investment property 

 Alternative service delivery arrangements for the delivery of trading 

services 
 

10. Long-term Considerations 

 
10.1. There a number of functions where there are long term capital spending 

liabilities have been identified. 
 

Asset Management Plan  
 
10.2. The Council is developing an Asset Management Strategy to ensure the 

future delivery of efficient asset management.  This work is being progressed 
following the recent completion of updated  condition surveys which have 

provided the 30-year costs of maintaining the general fund asset stock. The 
output of this will influence the update of this current version plan as 
presented in the MTFP: 

 

SMDC AMP Capital Investment 2016-17 – 

2019-20 

2020-21 – 

2045-46            

(26 years) 

TOTAL 

 £ £ £ 

Public Buildings 1,010,850 2,761,600 3,772,450 

Car Parks 754,000 4,293,431 5,047,431 

Public Conveniences 181,400 415,800 597,200 

Waterways & Infrastructure Assets 479,361 448,761 928,122 

Leisure Centres 310,000 10,005,995 10,315,995 

Depots and Parks Buildings 97,070 2,355,714 2,452,784 

Industrial Units 80,380 392,050 472,430 

TOTAL 2,913,061 20,673,351 23,586,412 

    
 
10.3. The overall outcomes of the surveys can be summarised as follows: 
 

 A number of the Council’s operational assets are dated in appearance and 
require investment; 

 The Council’s car parks require capital investment; 

 There are structural issues associated with a number of the Council’s 

buildings  which require resolution; 

 There are urgent works related to health and safety requirements that 

need to be resolved; and 

 Investment is required to the electrical and mechanical infrastructure of a 
number of buildings.  

 
10.4. The results from these surveys have informed the development of the 

Council’s four-year Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP). Adjustments have 
been made to exclude any major investment in the Council’s leisure centres 
and operational depots where it is assumed that investment will be deferred 

pending the major decisions that linked to changes in the service delivery 
arrangements which are in progress.  

Page 533



 
10.5. The indicative investment for 30-years will have a significant impact on the 

Council’s future revenue budgets and the analysis showed that the Council’s 
property portfolio in its current form is unaffordable. The estimated impact of 

the indicative capital projections for the 30-year investment requirements at 
the point the surveys were completed is detailed below: 

 

SMDC Estimated Revenue Consequences - Cumulative 
Impact 

2016-17 - 
2019-20 

(MTFP) 

2020-21 - 
2045-46 (26 

Years) 

TOTAL 

 £ £ £ 

Fit for Purpose Standard works - Cumulative Cost       115,959     943,653     1,059,612  
Less Existing MTFP - Cumulative Cost (55,709) 175,657 119,948 

Potential Additional Budget Requirement 60,250  1,119,310  1,179,560 

    

 

10.6. The above analysis showed that providing the investment in the longer term 
to maintain the Council’s property portfolio in its current form is unaffordable.   

  

10.7. In order to address this, the Council agreed to a number of actions to reduce 
the impact of the necessary capital spending. It was agreed that the 

following are considered before investment in each of the assets is made:  
 

 Asset rationalisation  

 Shared use of assets  

 Reduction in specification and functionality 

 Generate additional capital receipts 

 Identify grants to support investment  

 Generate additional revenue from asset holdings  
 

Review of Strategic Land Holdings 
 
10.8. In order to address a number of the considerations above the Council 

agreed to review the Council’s strategic land holdings with a view to 
developing options to either generate additional capital receipts or 

opportunities to generate ongoing financial returns. The outcome of this 
review is reflected in the revised programme funding.    

 

Leisure Centres 
 

10.9. Given the age and condition of the leisure centres, significant capital 
investment is required over the next 30 years in order that these assets 
remain fit for purpose.  

 
10.10. The Council commissioned a review of its leisure centre provision in the 

context of its sports facility needs focusing on sports halls, swimming pools 
and other indoor provision. The purpose of undertaking this review was to 
inform the Council on options for future provision of council leisure centres 

and other sports facility based services.  
 

Page 534



10.11. The outcome from this review in effect set out a position statement on the 
suggested facility hierarchy and approach, along with recommendations for 

the phasing of future facility developments and rationalisation. The aim is to 
ensure that the Council can develop a more sustainable solution in relation 

to meeting customer needs, affordability and partner aspirations, whilst 
supporting the overall vision of the Council’s newly adopted Physical Activity 
& Sports Strategy. 

 
10.12. The effectiveness of the current leisure centre provision was also assessed. 

This assessment considered current income and expenditure benchmarks. 
The conclusion of the review was that the Council should consider the 
following investment requirements:  

 
 

 Replacement of South Moorlands Leisure Centre with smaller community 
pool and fitness offer 

 Refurbishment and essential works at Biddulph Valley Leisure Centre 

 Replacement pool at Brough Park Leisure Centre & 3G pitch development 

 Increased access to school sites for sports hall provision / club use, and 

 Development of 3G pitch provision – potentially linked to school sites 

 
10.13. The indicative capital cost for these investments would be in the region of 

£19.25m. At this stage the investment costs are significantly in excess of 

revenue savings, and consequently it will be necessary for the Council to 
identify additional sources of capital investment to deliver these 

improvements. Options are currently being explored in the on-going future 
Leisure Provision review. 

 

 Operational Depot Provision 
 

10.14. In 2017 established Alliance Environmental Services (AES) which was 
created jointly with High Peak Borough Council and ANSA (a company 
owned by Cheshire East Council) to deliver the Council’s waste collection, 

street cleansing, fleet and grounds maintenance services. The Council’s 
waste collection service was transferred to the company in July 2018 with 

the rest of functions transferred in April 2019.     
  
10.15. Major investments in the operational depot facilities which have been leased/ 

licensed to AES has been deferred until the opportunity has been taken to 
review the requirements of the new company in light of widening of the base 

of the services provided. 
 
11. Debt, Borrowing & Treasury Management 

 
11.1. Effective treasury management is critical to the safeguarding and 

management of the financial resources at the Council’s disposal.  Investment 
and borrowing decisions are made in accordance with the Council’s formally 
adopted Treasury Management Strategy. The Treasury Management 

Strategy is presented annually and approved by Full Council.   
 

11.2. There are key prudential indicators set in respect of the impact of capital 
expenditure. The report details the forecast borrowing requirement over a 

Page 535



four year period, the consequential borrowing costs and the impact of the 
Council’s capital financing requirement (CFR). The CFR is total outstanding 

capital expenditure which has not yet been paid for either from revenue or 
capital resources, essentially the Council’s underlying borrowing need.  

 
11.3. The table below summarises the impact of the Council’s capital expenditure 

plans on the CFR: 
 

Capital Financing 

Requirement (CFR) 

2021/22 

Actual 

2022/23 

Estimate 

2023/24 

Estimate 

2024/25 

Estimate 

2025/26 

Estimate 

2026/27 

Estimate 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Capital Financing 

Requirement 
10,271 11,164 13,166 15,511 17,732 19,749 

            
Movement in CFR (7,811) 893 2,002 2,345 2,221 2,017 

       Represented by:  

 

 

 

 

Net financing need for the 

year 
6,274 1,104 2,235 2,623 2,551 2,398 

Less Minimum Revenue 

Provision 
(85) (211) (233) (278) (330) (381) 

Reduction in CFR 

(repayment of capital service 

loan) 

(14,000)      

Movement in CFR (7,811) 893 2,002 2,345 2,221 2,017 

 

11.4. Where a borrowing requirement is identified, an assessment takes place on 

the most cost effective way to fund this.  This could result in ‘external 
borrowing’ from the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB), other Local 
Authorities, direct from the market or by utilising lease arrangements.   

 
11.5. Alternatively, ‘internal borrowing’ – the use of cash balances – could be used 

temporarily, particularly in the current interest rate climate where borrowing 
rates are currently high and predicted to fall towards the end of the MTFP.  
This is kept under careful review balancing temporary availability of cash 

reserves with interest rate forecasts. 
 

11.6. The Council’s forward debt projections are shown in the table below in 
relation to the CFR: 

 

 

March ’22 

Actual      

£000 

March ‘23 

Estimate 

£000 

March ‘24 

Estimate 

£000 

March ‘25 

Estimate 

£000 

March ’26 

Estimate 

£000 

March ’27 

Estimate 

£000 

External Borrowing 12,604 7,604 9,104 10,604 12,604 14,604 

Other long-term liabilities* 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Gross Debt at 31st March 12,604 7,604 9,104 10,604 12,604 14,604 

Change in Debt position (2,396) (5,000) 1,500 1,500 2,000 2,000 

Page 536



Capital Financing 

Requirement 
10,271 11,164 13,166 15,511 17,732 19,749 

(Under) / over borrowing 2,333 (3,560) (4,062) (4,907) (5,128) (5,145) 

*Other long-term liabilities will include Right-of-Use assets under accounting standard IFRS16 to be adopted 
from 2024/25. These are assets formerly known as operating leases which will be included on the balance 

sheet and therefore increase the CFR, similar to the former treatment of Finance Leases. The impact is 
expected to be immaterial therefore is not included at this stage. Should any changes be significant, the CFR 
limit and forecast will be revised during the year. 

 

12. Risk Management 

 

12.1. There are a number of key risks that will impact upon the successful 
implementation of the Council’s Capital Strategy.  

 
12.2. The Council operates effective risk management through its Risk 

Management Framework. Risk management is the process of identifying 

risks, evaluating their potential consequences and determining the most 
effective methods of managing them and/or responding to them. It is both a 

means of minimising the costs and disruption to the Council caused by 
undesired events and of ensuring that the element of risk in all activities is 
properly understood. 

 
12.3. In order to manage risk effectively, the risks associated with each capital 

project need to be systematically identified, analysed, influenced and 
monitored. It is important to identify the appetite for risk by each scheme and 
for the capital programme as a whole, especially when investing in capital 

assets held primarily for financial returns.  
 

12.4. An assessment of risk should therefore be built into each individual capital 
project and the major risks that identified should be recorded in the Projects 
Risk Register which is reported to the Council’s Audit & Accounts 

Committee.  
 

12.5. The risks associated with the Capital Strategy are detailed below with the 
mitigating actions: 

 

Risk Mitigating Actions 

Diminishing Resources   The Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) carefully monitored 
and managed 

 New grant / funding opportunities explored 

 Partnership opportunities explored to share investment 

Project Delivery  Spending / Funding closely monitored  

 Projects managed through the Council’s project management 

methodology 

 Major projects reported through the council’s performance 
framework  

Commercial Investments   Exposure to non-repayment carefully managed through the 
contract management arrangements 

 Disinvestment potential will be regularly considered 

VAT Partial Exemption  Each capital investment will be closely reviewed to assess its 
VAT implications. 

 

Page 537



This page is intentionally left blank



Environmental Health Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% increase

Animal Boarding Establishments (Kennels & 
Cateries) including Domestic Day Care & Over 
Night Licence (initial or renewal, excluding vet 
fees). Vets fees are charged in addition to 
these fees based on full cost recovery:

1-10 animals
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging Officer Time £150.00 £250.00 66.67%

11 + animals
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging Officer Time £200.00 £300.00 50.00%

25 Plus Animals
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging Officer Time £300.00 £400.00 33.33%

Animal boarding (Crèche Facility) - 
Commercial 

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging Officer Time £250.00 £300.00 20.00%

Keeping/Training Animals  Exhibition
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging Officer Time £150.00 £180.00 20.00%

Commercial Home Boarding (Host franchise) 
upto 5 Households 

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging Officer Time £400.00 £450.00 12.50%

Commercial Home Boarding (Host franchise) 
upto 5 - 10 Households 

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging Officer Time £600.00 £750.00 25.00%

Commercial Home Boarding (Host franchise) 
upto 10 Plus 

Price on 
Request

Price on 
Request

Approved Food Premises  
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £0.00 £0.00 0.00%

Camping Site Registration
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £0.00 £0.00 0.00%

Caravan & Camping Site Registration
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £0.00 £0.00 0.00%

Park Homes: New application
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £350.00 £357.00 2.00%

Fee per additional 
pitch

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging £10.50 £10.50 0.00%

Licence amendment
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £180.00 £183.50 1.94%

Transfer of Licence
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £120.00 £122.50 2.08%

Annual fee
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £190.00 £194.00 2.11%

Deposit of site rules
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £100.00 £102.00 2.00%

Contaminated Land Enquiry:
(Initial Enquiry 2 Hours 

Minimum Charge ) 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £110.00 £125.00 13.64%

Each subsequent 
hour or part thereof

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging £50.00 £60.00 20.00%

Cooling Tower Notification
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £0.00 £0.00 0.00%

Dangerous Wild Animals Licence (initial or 
renewal, excluding vet fees). Vets fees are 
charged in addition to these fees based on full 
cost recovery

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging Officer Time £400.00 £500.00 25.00%

Dog Breeding Establishments Licence (initial 
or renewal, excluding vet fees). Vets fees are 
charged in addition to these fees based on full 
cost recovery:

1-4 dogs
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging Officer Time £150.00 £300.00 100.00%

5 - 10 dogs
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging Officer Time £300.00 £400.00 33.33%

10 Plus
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging Officer Time £350.00 £600.00 71.43%

Environmental Health Pre-Application advice 
(minimum 2 hours) 

(Initial Enquiry 2 Hours 
Minimum Charge)

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging £100.00 £125.00 25.00%

Each subsequent 
hour or part thereof

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging £50.00 £60.00 20.00%

Environmental Permit Fees Set by DEFRA
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory

Copy of Register of Authorisations  (Permits): 
Copying Charge Plus officer time charged for 
photocopying per hour or part thereof.

per side of A4 (or 
equivalent electronic 

format)

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Cost recovery £0.25 £0.30 20.00%

Officer Time (EIR)
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £25.00 £30.00 20.00%

Export Health Certificate
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging Officer Time £130.00 £135.00 3.85%

Export Health Certificate Unlimited Yearly (Max 
25 Certificates) 

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging Officer Time £1,600.00 £2,000.00 25.00%

Export Health Certificate Unlimited Yearly (Max 
50 Certificates) 

£3,000.00 £4,000.00 33.33%

Export Health Certificate for Brewery/Artisan 
Products 

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging Officer Time £65.00 £70.00 7.69%

Page 539



Environmental Health Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% increase

Export Health Certificate Unlimited Yearly 
Brewery/Artisan Products (Max 25 Certificates)

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging Officer Time £600.00 £750.00 25.00%

Export Health Certificate (Samples/ Low Value 
goods up to £500 per consignment)

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging Officer Time £65.00 £70.00 7.69%

Amendment to Health Certificate
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £25.00 £30.00 20.00%

Amendment to Health Certificate 
(Artisan/Brewery Products)

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging £15.00 £20.00 33.33%

Food Hygiene Rating Scheme - Re-Rate within 
3 Months of Inspection 

Price On Application 
Officer Time hourly 

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging Officer Time £150.00 £175.00 16.67%

Enhanced Food Registration & Advice Visit 
with Safer Food Better Business Pack (upto 2 
hours) 

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging Officer Time £125.00 £150.00 20.00%

Enhanced Food Registration & Advice Visit 
with Safer Food Better Business Pack (upto 3 
hours) 

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging £175.00 £200.00 14.29%

Safer Food Better Business Pack Incl 2 Year 
Diary 

£20.00 £25.00 25.00%

Copy of Food Register (Full Copy of database) Full Register
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £175.00 £200.00 14.29%

One Copy of Any Entry in the Register
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £15.00 £20.00 33.33%

List of Food Premises In a Particular Category
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £75.00 £100.00 33.33%

Food Premises Registration
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £0.00 £0.00 0.00%

House in Multiple Occupation Licence: First application
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £385.00 £392.50 1.95%

 
Subsequent 

application/renewal by 
same landlord

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging £310.00 £316.00 1.94%

Change of ownership 
application

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging £310.00 £316.00 1.94%

Improvement Notice Fee
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Statutory £200.00 £200.00 0.00%

Immigration Housing Certificate per application
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £100.00 £125.00 25.00%

Hypnotism Registration
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £0.00 £25.00 0.00%

Land Drainage/Culvert Maintenance for 
Private Individuals or Companies 

Full Price On 
Application inc. Officer 

Time hourly 

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging Officer Time £55.00 £60.00 9.09%

Pet Shop Licence (initial or renewal) (excluding 
vet fees. Vets fees are charged in addition to 
these fees based on full cost recovery):

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging £180.00 £300.00 66.67%

Pleasure Boats & Pleasure Vessels to be let 
for hire or used for carrying passengers for 
hire (Exemption for such boats on any inland 
waterway owned or managed by the British 
Waterways Board)

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging £120.00 £140.00 16.67%

Riding Establishments Licence (initial or 
renewal, excluding vet fees). Vets fees are 
charged in addition to these fees based on full 
cost recovery:  (Annual Vet Inspection 
required)

1-10 animals
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £150.00 £250.00 66.67%

11-20 animals
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £175.00 £350.00 100.00%

21+ animals
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £200.00 £400.00 100.00%

Sex Shop & Cinema Licence (including Sexual 
Entertainment Venues of any type):

New Application
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £3,100.00 £4,000.00 29.03%

Renewal
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £1,700.00 £2,000.00 17.65%

Transfer
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £700.00 £750.00 7.14%

Special Treatments Registration (Premises) 
including: Massage; Manicure; Other Special 
Treatments e.g. Vapour, Sauna or Other Bath 
Treatments

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory £0.00 £25.00 0.00%

Statement of Officers Opinion: Initial Enquiry 2 Hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £105.00 £125.00 19.05%

subsequent hour or 
part thereof

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Full commercial £50.00 £60.00 20.00%

Page 540



Environmental Health Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% increase

Home/Mobile Tattooing, Piercing, Acupuncture 
Including 1 person 

Premises/ Person
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £200.00 £250.00 25.00%

Tattooing, Piercing, Acupuncture, Electrolysis 
Licence (initial or renewal):

Premises
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £150.00 £200.00 33.33%

Person
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £90.00 £100.00 11.11%

Guest Tattooist
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £50.00 £100.00 100.00%

Ear Piercing Only: Premises 
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £50.00 £100.00 100.00%

Person
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £25.00 £50.00 100.00%

Amendment (e.g. 
Change of address)

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging £25.00 £30.00 20.00%

Zoo Licence (excluding vet fees). Vets fees 
are charged in addition to these fees based on 
full cost recovery:

First (4 year licence)
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,250.00 £2,000.00 60.00%

Second & subsequent 
(6 year licence)

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory £1,250.00 £2,000.00 60.00%

Zoo Licence: Interim periodical
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory  

Vet fees as 
applicable 

only

Vet fees as 
applicable 

only

Renewal periodical
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory

Vet fees as 
applicable 

only

Vet fees as 
applicable 

only

Informal inspections
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory

Vet fees as 
applicable 

only

Vet fees as 
applicable 

only

Pest Control Officer Time/ Pesticides/ Transport

Contract Work (Commercial) Per hour Per officer
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £110.00 £115.00 4.55%

treatments in addition to contract agreement: Single treatment
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £110.00 £115.00 4.55%

up to 3 treatments
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £215.00 £225.00 4.65%

up to 5 treatments
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £315.00 £350.00 11.11%

Non Contract Work (Commercial) Per hour Per officer
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £150.00 £155.00 3.33%

Rodents (Rats) (Domestic) - up to three visits 
to treat:

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Free £0.00 £0.00 0.00%

Wasps Nest (Domestic Treatment):
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £65.00 £70.00 7.69%

Recipients of Means 
Tested Benefits 

(Housing Benefit/ 
LCTRS) & Vulnerable 

Adults

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Subsidised 50% reduction £32.50 £35.00 7.69%

Rodents (Mice) (Domestic) - up to three visits 
to treat:

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Full commercial £65.00 £70.00 7.69%

Recipients of Means 
Tested Benefits 

(Housing Benefit/ 
LCTRS) & Vulnerable 

Adults

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Subsidised 50% reduction £32.50 £35.00 7.69%

Bed Bugs:
2 bed house

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Full commercial £150.00 £200.00 33.33%

Recipients of Means 
Tested Benefits 

(Housing Benefit/ 
LCTRS) & Vulnerable 

Adults

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Subsidised 50% reduction £62.50 £100.00 60.00%

3 bed house
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £200.00 £300.00 50.00%

Recipients of Means 
Tested Benefits 

(Housing Benefit/ 
LCTRS) & Vulnerable 

Adults

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Subsidised 50% reduction £100.00 £150.00 50.00%

4 bed house
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £250.00 £400.00 60.00%

Page 541



Environmental Health Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% increase

Recipients of Means 
Tested Benefits 

(Housing Benefit/ 
LCTRS) & Vulnerable 

Adults

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Subsidised 50% reduction £125.00 £200.00 60.00%

>4 bed house
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £400.00 £600.00 50.00%

Recipients of Means 
Tested Benefits 

(Housing Benefit/ 
LCTRS) & Vulnerable 

Adults

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Subsidised 50% reduction £200.00 £300.00 50.00%

Fleas:
2 bed house

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Full commercial £100.00 £125.00 25.00%

Recipients of Means 
Tested Benefits 

(Housing Benefit/ 
LCTRS) & Vulnerable 

Adults

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Subsidised 50% reduction £50.00 £60.00 20.00%

3 bed house
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £125.00 £150.00 20.00%

Recipients of Means 
Tested Benefits 

(Housing Benefit/ 
LCTRS) & Vulnerable 

Adults

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Subsidised 50% reduction £62.50 £75.00 20.00%

4 bed house
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £150.00 £200.00 33.33%

Recipients of Means 
Tested Benefits 

(Housing Benefit/ 
LCTRS) & Vulnerable 

Adults

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Subsidised 50% reduction £75.00 £100.00 33.33%

>4 bed house
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £250.00 £300.00 20.00%

Ants 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial £70.00 £80.00 14.29%

Recipients of Means 
Tested Benefits 

(Housing Benefit/ 
LCTRS) & Vulnerable 

Adults

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Subsidised 50% reduction £35.00 £40.00 14.29%

Other insect pests (domestic):
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial

Benchmark with other Derbyshire 
Districts where info. Available on 
website

£70.00 £80.00 14.29%

Recipients of Means 
Tested Benefits 

(Housing Benefit/ 
LCTRS) & Vulnerable 

Adults

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Subsidised 50% reduction £35.00 £40.00 14.29%

Moles (Commercial Only)
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Full commercial

Price on 
Application

Price on 
Application

Appointment Missed/Cancelled (Site) £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Private Water Supply Charges

Risk Assessment: Upto 2 properties
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £300.00 £500.00 66.67%

Including Officer Time on Site 3-5 Properties £400.00 £500.00 25.00%
5 Plus Properties £500.00 £500.00 0.00%

Large Commercial £500.00 £500.00 0.00%

Sampling
Officer Time per 

Sample 
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £60.00 £100.00 66.67%

Investigation Per investigation 
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £120.00 £100.00 -16.67%

Analysing a sample under regulation 10 Re-Charge 
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging

Laboratory 
Charge

Laboratory 
Charge

Analysing a check monitoring sample 
Regulation 9

Re-Charge 
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging

Laboratory 
Charge

Laboratory 
Charge

Analysing an audit monitoring sample Re-Charge 
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging

Laboratory 
Charge

Laboratory 
Charge

Request from Search Company for Data 
relating to Private Water Supplies in a 
particular area. 

Hourly Rate 
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £60.00 £100.00 66.67%

Page 542



Environmental Health Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% increase

Stray Dogs Statutory fee
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Admin fee
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Kennel fee per day or 
part thereof

 
Fee set by 

kennel owner
Fee set by 

kennel owner

Page 543



Licensing Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% 
increase

Gambling Act

Bingo - New Application
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £2,500.00 £2,500.00 0.00%

Annual Fee
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,000.00 £1,000.00 0.00%

Application to Vary
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,500.00 £1,500.00 0.00%

Application to Transfer
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,200.00 £1,200.00 0.00%

Application for Reinstatement
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,200.00 £1,200.00 0.00%

Application for Provisional Statement
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £2,000.00 £2,000.00 0.00%

Application in respect of Provisional Statement 
Holder

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory £1,200.00 £1,200.00 0.00%

Notification of Change
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Copy of Licence
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Adult Gaming Centre - New Application
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £2,000.00 £2,000.00 0.00%

Annual Fee
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,000.00 £1,000.00 0.00%

Application to Vary
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,000.00 £1,000.00 0.00%

Application to Transfer
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,200.00 £1,200.00 0.00%

Application for Reinstatement
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,200.00 £1,200.00 0.00%

Application for Provisional Statement
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £2,000.00 £2,000.00 0.00%

Application in respect of Provisional Statement 
Holder

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory £1,200.00 £1,200.00 0.00%

Notification of Change
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Copy of Licence
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Family Entertainment Centre - New Application
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,500.00 £1,500.00 0.00%

Annual Fee
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £750.00 £750.00 0.00%

Application to Vary
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,000.00 £1,000.00 0.00%

Application to Transfer
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £950.00 £950.00 0.00%

Application for Reinstatement
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £950.00 £950.00 0.00%

Application for Provisional Statement
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,600.00 £1,600.00 0.00%

Application in respect of Provisional Statement 
Holder

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory £950.00 £950.00 0.00%

Notification of Change
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Copy of Licence
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Betting Premises (excluding Tracks) - New 
Application

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory £2,000.00 £2,000.00 0.00%

Annual Fee
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £600.00 £600.00 0.00%

Application to Vary
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,300.00 £1,300.00 0.00%

Application to Transfer
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,200.00 £1,200.00 0.00%

Application for Reinstatement
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,200.00 £1,200.00 0.00%

Page 544



Licensing Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% 
increase

Application for Provisional Statement
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £2,000.00 £2,000.00 0.00%

Application in respect of Provisional Statement 
Holder

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory £1,200.00 £1,200.00 0.00%

Notification of Change
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Copy of Licence
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Race Tracks - New Application
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £2,000.00 £2,000.00 0.00%

Annual Fee
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,000.00 £1,000.00 0.00%

Application to Vary
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £1,250.00 £1,250.00 0.00%

Application to Transfer
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £950.00 £950.00 0.00%

Application for Reinstatement
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £950.00 £950.00 0.00%

Application for Provisional Statement
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £2,000.00 £2,000.00 0.00%

Application in respect of Provisional Statement 
Holder

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory £950.00 £950.00 0.00%

Notification of Change
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Copy of Licence
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Gambling Act Permit Fees set by the 
Secretary of State 

Licensed Premises Automatic Notification 
Process: Payable on Notification

Up to 2 
machines

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Charges for Annual Licences (unless 
stated)

Small society Lotteries Application Application Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £40.00 £40.00 0.00%

Small Society Lotteries Annual Renewal Renewals Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £20.00 £20.00 0.00%

Street Trading Consent Annual Rate
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £3,100.00 £3,162.00 2.00%

Street Trading Consent - Upto 2 Days Annual Rate
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £1,600.00 £1,632.00 2.00%

Daily Street Trading consent Daily rate
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £40.00 £41.00 2.50%

Street Trading Change of Name & Address
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £10.50 £10.50 0.00%

Taxi Licences - Hackney Carriage & Private 
Hire Vehicles

Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle Licence (new & 
renewal) Including Brackets & Plates/Decals 
(The fee includes 10% for enforcement duties)

Yearly 
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery £180.00 £183.50 1.94%

Replacement Driver Badge or Vehicle Plate 
Per 

Plate/Badge
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery £10.00 £10.00 0.00%

Hackney Carriage Decals - Provided by 3rd 
party company 

Change of Vehicle Including Plate/Card
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery £50.00 £51.00 2.00%

New Licensed Driver/Renewal: Including 
Knowledge Test and Resit, Safeguarding 
Training & Driver Badge (The fee includes 
10% for enforcement duties)

Annual
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery £75.00 £76.50 2.00%

3 years
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery £150.00 £153.00 2.00%

Private Hire Operators Licence (The fee 
includes 10% for enforcement duties)

1 Year
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery £105.00 £107.00 1.90%

Page 545



Licensing Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% 
increase

Private Hire Operators Licence (The fee 
includes 10% for enforcement duties)

5 years
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery £315.00 £321.50 2.06%

Document Identification Check (Fee set by 
Crown Post Office

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Statutory
Price on 

Application
Price on 

Application

DBS Check by 3rd Party Company 
Price on 

Application
Price on 

Application

Re-Sit Knowledge Test 
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery £20.00 £20.50 2.50%

Taxi Test (Paid Directly to Garage) 
Price on 

Application
Price on 

Application

Scrap Metal Dealers

Collectors Licence
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £245.00 £245.00 0.00%

Variation to Collectors Licence 
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £95.00 £95.00 0.00%

Site Licence
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £390.00 £390.00 0.00%

Variation to Site Licence 
Non Business VAT (--

%)
£115.00 £115.00 0.00%

Variation to licence Change of Name or 
Address

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory £32.00 £32.00 0.00%

Copy of Licence
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £15.00 £15.00 0.00%

Licensing Act 2003

Premises Licences and Club Premises 
Certificates - First Year Fee:

Band A Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Band B Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £190.00 £190.00 0.00%

Band C Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £315.00 £315.00 0.00%

Band D Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £450.00 £450.00 0.00%

Band E Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £635.00 £635.00 0.00%

Premises Licences and Club Premises 
Certificates Annual Fee:

Band A Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £70.00 £70.00 0.00%

Band B Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £180.00 £180.00 0.00%

Band C Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £295.00 £295.00 0.00%

Band D Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £320.00 £320.00 0.00%

Band E Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £350.00 £350.00 0.00%

Personal  Licence (Application or Renewal) Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £37.00 £37.00 0.00%

Temporary Event Notice Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £21.00 £21.00 0.00%

Permitted Temporary Activities, Personal 
Licences and Miscellaneous:
Theft/ Loss, etc. of Premises Licence or 
Summary

Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £10.50 £10.50 0.00%

Application for a Provisional Statement where 
premises being built etc.

Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £315.00 £315.00 0.00%

Notification of change of name or address Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £10.50 £10.50 0.00%

Application to vary licence to specify individual 
as premises supervisor

Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £23.00 £23.00 0.00%

Application for transfer of premises licence Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £23.00 £23.00 0.00%

Interim authority notice following death etc. of 
licence holder

Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £23.00 £23.00 0.00%

Theft, loss etc. of certificate or summary Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £10.50 £10.50 0.00%

Page 546



Licensing Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% 
increase

Notification of change of name or alteration of 
rules of club

Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £10.50 £10.50 0.00%

Change of relevant registered address of club Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £10.50 £10.50 0.00%

Theft, loss etc. of temporary event notice Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £10.50 £10.50 0.00%

Theft, loss etc. of personal licence Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £10.50 £10.50 0.00%

Duty to notify change of name or address Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £10.50 £10.50 0.00%

Right of freeholder etc. to be notified of 
licensing matters

Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £21.00 £21.00 0.00%

Minor Variation Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £89.00 £89.00 0.00%

Licensed Premises Gaming Machine Permit

Grant Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £150.00 £150.00 0.00%

Existing Operator Grant Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Variation Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Transfer Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Annual Fee Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Change of Name Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Club Gaming Permits

Grant Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £200.00 £200.00 0.00%

Grant (Club Premises Certificate Holder) Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Existing Operator Grant Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Variation Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Renewal Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £200.00 £200.00 0.00%

Renewal (Club Premise Certificate Holder) Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Annual Fee Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Club Machine Permits

Grant Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £200.00 £200.00 0.00%

Grant (Club Premises Certificate Holder) Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Existing Operator Grant Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Variation Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Renewal Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £200.00 £200.00 0.00%

Renewal (Club Premise Certificate Holder) Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Annual Fee Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

Page 547



Licensing Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% 
increase

Family Entertainment Centre Gaming 
Permits

Grant Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £300.00 £300.00 0.00%

Existing Operator Grant Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Renewal Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £300.00 £300.00 0.00%

Change of Name Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Copies of all Permits Each Exempt from VAT (--%) Statutory £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Other Licences

Exempt from VAT (--%) Free No Cost £0.00 £0.00 0.00%

Road ClosuresEvents where there is a charge 
for participation or for spectators

65.00
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging N/a £65.00

Events that primarily benefit businesses or 
other commercial organisations

65.00
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging N/a £65.00

Carnivals/fetes or any other events that raise 
funds through collections/donations

23.50
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging N/a £23.50

Remembrance/well dressing or other 
commemorative parades

0.00
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Free N/a £0.00

Royal Events 0.00
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Free N/a £0.00

Registrations

Statement of Officers Opinion Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging Appropriate Fee Structure £55.00 £56.00 1.82%

Page 548



Land Charges Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% 
increase

LLC1 Residential
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £27.80 £28.50 2.52%

LLC1 Additional Parcels Residential
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £10.00 £10.00 0.00%

Con 29R Residential
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £39.60 £40.50 2.27%

(plus SCC fee incurred)
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery (plus recovery of SCC fee) TBC TBC

Con 29R Additional Parcels Residential
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £26.00 £26.50 1.92%

Full Standard Search (LLC1 + Con 29R) Part 
Con 29 (Inc. Vat)

Residential
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £67.40 £68.50 1.63%

(plus SCC fee incurred)
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery (plus recovery of SCC fee) TBC TBC

Full Standard Search Additional Parcels Part 
Con 29 (Inc. Vat)

Residential
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £36.00 £36.50 1.39%

Con 29O - Each Residential
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £9.00 £9.00 0.00%

Each Additional Enquiry Residential
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £18.00 £18.50 2.78%

Personal Search of the Land Charges 
Register

Residential
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £0.00 £0.00 0.00%

A search on each individual part of the Local 
Land Charges Register:

Parts 5, 7, 8 & 12 Residential - each
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Free £0.00 £0.00 0.00%

Parts 1, 2, 6, 9, & 11 Residential - each
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £1.00 £1.00 0.00%

Parts 4 & 10 Residential - each
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £4.00 £4.00 0.00%

Part 3 Residential - each
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £12.00 £12.00 0.00%

LLC1 Commercial
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £40.00 £41.00 2.50%

LLC1 Additional Parcels Commercial
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £24.00 £24.50 2.08%

Con 29R Commercial
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £82.80 £84.50 2.05%

(plus SCC fee incurred)
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery (plus recovery of SCC fee) TBC TBC

Con 29R Additional Parcels Commercial
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £42.00 £43.00 2.38%

Full Standard Search (LLC1 + Con 29R) Part 
Con29 (Inc. Vat)

Commercial
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £122.80 £125.50 2.20%

(plus SCC fee incurred)
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery (plus recovery of SCC fee) TBC TBC

Full Standard Search Additional Parcels Part 
Con29 (Inc. Vat) 

Commercial
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £66.00 £67.50 2.27%

Con 29O - Each Commercial
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £9.00 £9.00 0.00%

Each Additional Enquiry Commercial
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £18.00 £18.50 2.78%

Personal Search of the Land Charges 
Register

Commercial
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £0.00 £0.00 0.00%

A search on each individual part of the Local 
Land Charges Register:

Parts 5, 7, 8 & 12 Commercial - each
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Free £0.00 £0.00 0.00%

Parts 1, 2, 6, 9, & 11 Commercial - each
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £1.50 £1.50 0.00%

Parts 4 & 10 Commercial - each
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £4.50 £4.50 0.00%

Part 3 Commercial - each
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery Officer Time £18.50 £19.00 2.70%

Fees for access to individual Con 29R 
questions:

Con 29R Q1.1 a-j Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £4.80 £5.00 4.17%

Con 29R Q1.1 j-l Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £4.80 £5.00 4.17%

Con 29R Q1.2 Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £2.40 £2.50 4.17%

Con 29R Q2
Residential - request direct 

to SCC
SCC SCC

Page 549



Land Charges Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% 
increase

Con 29R Q3.1 Residential
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.2
Residential - request direct 

to SCC
SCC SCC

Con 29R Q3.3 a-c Residentail Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.4
Residential - request direct 

to SCC
SCC SCC

Con 29R Q3.5 a & b Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.6
Residential - request direct 

to SCC
SCC SCC

Con 29R Q3.7 (a-d, f) Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £2.40 £2.50 4.17%

Con 29R Q 3.7 e
Residential request direct 
to Staffordshire County 

SCC SCC

Con 29R Q3.8 Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.9 a-n Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £10.80 £11.00 1.85%

Con 29R Q3.10 a-h Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.11 a & b Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £2.40 £2.50 4.17%

Con 29R Q3.12 Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.13 a-c Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.14 Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

Con 29R Q3.15 a & b Residential Block 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £2.40 £2.50 4.17%

Con 29R Q1.1 a-l Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £12.00 £12.00 0.00%

Con 29R Q1.1 j-l Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £12.00 £12.00 0.00%

Con 29R Q1.2 Commericla Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £5.40 £5.50 1.85%

Con 29R Q2
Commercial - request direct 

to SCC
SCC SCC

Con 29R Q3.1 Commerical Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £2.40 £2.50 4.17%

Con 29R Q3.2
Commercial - request direct 

to SCC
SCC SCC

Con 29R Q3.3 a-c Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £2.40 £2.50 4.17%

Con 29R Q3.4
Commercial - request direct 

to SCC
SCC SCC

Con 29R Q3.5 a & b Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £2.40 £2.50 4.17%

Con 29R Q3.6
Commercial - request direct 

to SCC
SCC SCC

Con 29R Q3.7 a-d, f Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £5.40 £5.50 1.85%

Con 29 R Q 3.7 e
Commercial Request direct 

to SCC
SCC SCC

Con 29R Q3.8 Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £2.40 £2.50 4.17%

Con 29R Q3.9 a-n Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £18.00 £18.50 2.78%

Con 29R Q3.10 a-h Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £2.40 £2.50 4.17%

Con 29R Q3.11 a & b Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £5.40 £5.50 1.85%

Con 29R Q3.12 Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £2.40 £2.50 4.17%

Con 29R Q3.13 a-c Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £2.40 £2.50 4.17%

Con 29R Q3.14 Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £2.40 £2.50 4.17%

Con 29R Q3.15 a & b Commercial Block
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery £5.40 £5.50 1.85%

Page 550



Planning Enforcement Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

Justification for Charging Category
2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% 
increase

Desk-based history check requested by 
member of the public

Per check
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery £40.00 £41.00 2.50%

Site visit requested by member of the public Per visit
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Cost recovery £80.00 £81.50 1.88%

Service benefits applicant

Charges do not apply to alleged breaches of planning 
regulations which are provided free of charge

Page 551



Planning Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% 
increase

Householder PD check
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging Freeze - justification - in excess of costs £67.00 £68.50 2.24%

Listed Building enforcement check
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging Freeze - justification - in excess of costs £100.00 £102.00 2.00%

Copy of Tree Preservation Order Per hard copy
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Full commercial

Changed from 25 to 0.Have not supplied 
a charged for copy for a couple of years

£41.00 £42.00 2.44%

High Hedge Complaints Per complaint
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £510.00 £520.00 1.96%

COPYING

Decision Notice Per notice
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Freeze - justification - in excess of costs £47.00 £48.00 2.13%

A4 OS maps 4 Copies
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Freeze - justification - in excess of costs £31.00 £31.50 1.61%

Planning Applications (Current & Historic): First page
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Freeze - justification - in excess of costs £7.00 £7.00 0.00%

Additional 
pages

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Cost recovery Freeze - justification - in excess of costs £1.00 £1.00 0.00%

Planning Applications Plans - AO size Per copy
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Freeze - justification - in excess of costs £18.50 £19.00 2.70%

Planning Applications Plans - A3 size Per copy
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Freeze - justification - in excess of costs £13.50 £14.00 3.70%

Planning Applications Plans - A4 size Per copy
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Freeze - justification - in excess of costs £8.25 £8.50 3.03%

Weekly Planning List Per year
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Freeze - justification - in excess of costs £370.00 £377.50 2.03%

Informal or history Searches: First hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Freeze - justification - in excess of costs £51.25 £52.50 2.44%

Additionals
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Freeze - justification - in excess of costs £32.00 £32.50 1.56%

Postage:
Cost of 
Postage

Charge not VAT-able Cost recovery Freeze - justification - in excess of costs Postage Cost Postage Cost

Admin Charge
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery Freeze - justification - in excess of costs £8.25 £8.50 3.03%

PRE-APPLICATION ADVICE

Meetings

Strategic major applications

Over 50 
dwellings or 
10,000sqm 
commercial

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging
Freeze - Fees currently make profit ; do 
not want to deter applications 

£1,130.00 £1,152.50 1.99%

Major proposals 

Between 10 
and 50 

dwellings or 
1,000-

10,000sqm 
commercial

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging
Freeze - Fees currently make profit ; do 
not want to deter applications 

£845.00 £862.00 2.01%

Minor proposals and other 
structures/developments not in the above 
categories

Between 1 and 
9 dwellings or 

under 
1,000sqm 

commercial

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging
Freeze - Fees currently make profit ; do 
not want to deter applications 

£570.00 £581.50 2.02%

Written Advice

Strategic major applications

Over 50 
dwellings or 
10,000sqm 
commercial

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging
Freeze - Fees currently make profit ; do 
not want to deter applications 

£565.00 £576.50 2.04%

Major proposals

Between 10 
and 50 

dwellings or 
1,000-

10,000sqm 
commercial

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging
Freeze - Fees currently make profit ; do 
not want to deter applications 

£425.00 £433.50 2.00%

Page 552



Planning Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% 
increase

Minor proposals 

Between 1 and 
9 dwellings or 

under 
1,000sqm 

commercial

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging
Freeze - Fees currently make profit ; do 
not want to deter applications 

£285.00 £290.50 1.93%

Statutory Planning Fees Statutory
See Planning 

Portal
See Planning 

Portal

Page 553



Street Naming Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% increase

New Properties, small developments 
1-5 Properties 

(each)
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £72.00 £73.50 2.08%

New Properties, large developments 
6+ Properties 

(each)
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £42.00 £43.00 2.38%

New Street Name
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £215.00 £219.50 2.09%

Renaming Existing Properties
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £72.00 £73.50 2.08%

Confirmation of Postal Address
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £46.00 £47.00 2.17%

Benchmarked against other 
LAs and service providers

Page 554



Waste Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ 
freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% increase

Trade Waste & Recycling

Domestic Waste
All benchmarked to other 
LAs

Charge for supply & delivery of new or 
replacement waste or recycling bin of any size 
or colour  for use at a single domestic 
dwelling.

per bin
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Cost recovery to recover cost of service £31.50 £32.00 1.59%

Charge for supply & delivery of new or 
replacement 140l, 180l or 240l bin for use by 
multiple domestic dwellings or for a trade 
premise to replace a bin damaged by the 
customer.

per bin
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Cost recovery £44.00 £47.00 6.82%

Charge for supply & delivery of new or 
replacement 360l bin for use by multiple 
domestic dwellings or for a trade premise to 
replace a bin damaged by the customer.

per bin
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Cost recovery £70.00 £71.50 2.14%

Charge for supply & delivery of new or 
replacement 660l  bin for use by multiple 
domestic dwellings or for a trade premise to 
replace a bin damaged by the customer.

per bin
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Cost recovery £285.00 £313.50 10.00%

Charge for supply & delivery of new or 
replacement 1100l  bin for use by multiple 
domestic dwellings or for a trade premise to 
replace a bin damaged by the customer.

per bin
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Cost recovery £320.00 £345.50 7.97%

Purchase of one roll of blue sacks roll of 16
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial £3.95 £4.00 1.27%

Purchase of a paper garden waste sack Each
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial £0.70 £0.70 0.00%

Supply and delivery of additional Garden 
Waste Bin and ongoing collection

Each
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial £75.00 £75.00 0.00%

service charge is over and 
above cost to authority

To ensure that the Council remains competitive and is 
commercially focused, rates levied for trade waste and trade 
recycling collections will be calculated based upon volumes 
and demand ensuring at all times that they do not fall below the 
cost of service provision to the authority.

Page 555



Cemeteries Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ 
freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% increase

Burial Plots Exclusive right of burial & 
issue of certificate 

All benchmarked to other 
LAs

Purchase Fee

New Coffin Grave - Leek parish resident per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging Single fees £700.00 £714.00 2.00%

New Coffin Grave  (all other SMDC residents) per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging Double fees £1,400.00 £1,428.00 2.00%

New Coffin Grave  (residents from outside 
SMDC area)

per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging Triple fees £2,100.00 £2,142.00 2.00%

New Cremated remains Grave - Leek parish 
resident

per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging Single fees £350.00 £357.00 2.00%

New Cremated remains Grave  (all other 
SMDC residents)

per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging Double fees £700.00 £714.00 2.00%

New Cremated remains Grave (residents from 
outside SMDC area)

per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging Triple fees £1,050.00 £1,071.00 2.00%

Pre-purchased new coffin grave per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging £770.00 £785.50 2.01%

Pre-purchased cremated remains grave per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging £385.00 £392.50 1.95%

Interment/burial Fees

Coffin grave for three (Leek Cemetery only) per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging £954.00 £973.00 1.99%

Coffin grave for two per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging £822.00 £838.50 2.01%

Coffin grave for one per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging £734.00 £748.50 1.98%

Cremated remains casket burial per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging £241.00 £246.00 2.07%

Lawn burial of ashes per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging £154.00 £157.00 1.95%

Cremation Casket in Garden of Remembrance per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging £180.00 £183.50 1.94%

Out of area fees: per grave

Leek Parish residents only per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging Single fees Single fees

Re-opened graves for those not residing in the 
Leek Parish and
New graves for SMDC residents not residing in 
Leek Parish

per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging Double fees Double fees

Outside Staffs. Moorlands (newly dug graves 
only)

per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging Triple fees Triple fees

Interment/burial of a child (aged 0-15 years)

Child's grave or ashes grave per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Free

Free in line with 
recommended best practice 
nationally

Free Free

Child's new full size grave per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Subsidised Half fee £411.00 £419.25 2.01%

Child's reopened Grave per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Subsidised Half fee £367.00 £374.25 1.98%

Out of SMDC area  child's interment fee per grave
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Nominal £241.00 £241.00 0.00%

Memorial permits
We have separated out 
permits from memorials to 
aid the VAT query

Permit for a new upright memorial including 1st 
inscription

per permit
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial This is a permit £165.00 £168.50 2.12%

Permit for a memorial desk tablet/ vase 
including 1st inscription

per permit
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial This is a permit £117.00 £119.50 2.14%

Permit for a replacement memorial per permit
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial This is a permit £117.00 £119.50 2.14%

Page 556



Cemeteries Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ 
freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% increase

Permit for an additional inscription on 
memorial/ tablet/ vase etc.

per permit
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial This is a permit £70.00 £71.50 2.14%

Permit for a child's "single use" memorial on 
any grave type

per permit
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Free Policy Free Free 0.00%

Memorial items
We have separated out 
permits from memorials to 
aid the VAT query

Cast Bronze/ Granite memorial plaque (up to 
75 letters)

per plaque
Standard Rated 

VAT (20%)
Full commercial

This is for a memorial 
plaque

£390.00 £398.00 2.05%

Cast bronze sponsored tree plaque (existing 
tree only)

per plaque
Standard Rated 

VAT (20%)
Full commercial

This is for a memorial 
plaque

£390.00 £398.00 2.05%

Sponsored memorial bench & bronze plaque
50% deposit 

required before 
order

Standard Rated 
VAT (20%)

Full commercial
This is for a memorial 
plaque and bench

£1,356.00 £1,383.00 1.99%

Other Charges

Replacement or transfer of grave deed
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging

min increase proposed due 
to lack of demand

£49.00 £50.00 2.04%

Search fee Per half hour
Standard Rated 

VAT (20%)
Fair charging

min increase proposed due 
to lack of demand

£27.00 £27.50 1.85%

Grave selection requiring Cemetery Officer 
attendance 

Non Business 
VAT (--%)

Fair charging
min increase proposed due 
to lack of demand

£27.00 £27.50 1.85%

Large coffin (both dimensions over 6' 5" and 
25")

Non Business 
VAT (--%)

Fair charging
min increase proposed due 
to lack of demand

£72.00 £73.50 2.08%

Cancellation of funeral within 72 hours of burial
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging

min increase proposed due 
to lack of demand

£72.00 £73.50 2.08%

Coffin size not confirmed within 48 hours of 
burial

Non Business 
VAT (--%)

Fair charging
min increase proposed due 
to lack of demand

£72.00 £73.50 2.08%

Headstone not removed from grave when 
requested

Non Business 
VAT (--%)

Fair charging
min increase proposed due 
to lack of demand

£72.00 £73.50 2.08%

Paperwork not received in cemetery office 
before burial

Non Business 
VAT (--%)

Fair charging
min increase proposed due 
to lack of demand

£72.00 £73.50 2.08%

Late arrival of funeral at cemetery (>30 
minutes)

Non Business 
VAT (--%)

Fair charging
min increase proposed due 
to lack of demand

£72.00 £73.50 2.08%

Page 557



Horticulture Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% 
increase

Memorial bench purchase and installation in a 
public open space

Purchase & 
Installation

Standard Rated 
VAT (20%)

Full commercial
min increase proposed due to lack of 
demand

£1,050.00 £1,071.00 2.00%

Adoption of an existing memorial bench 
located in a public open space

Standard Rated 
VAT (20%)

Fair charging
min increase proposed due to lack of 
demand

£550.00 £561.00 2.00%

Parks & Open Space Concession

Sport / Fitness Classes Per session
Non Business 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging freeze to encourage phsical activity £7.00 £7.00 0.00%

Park /Open Space Event Charges

Commercial Fairs - Small (< 10 items) Admin Fee
Exempt from 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial £58.50 £59.50 1.71%

Commercial Fairs - Small (< 10 items) Day Rate
Exempt from 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial £230.00 £234.50 1.96%

Commercial Fairs - Large (> 10 Items) Admin Fee
Exempt from 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial £120.00 £122.50 2.08%

Commercial Fairs - Large (> 10 Items) Day Rate
Exempt from 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial £445.00 £454.00 2.02%

Commercial Circus - Small (1- 300) Admin Fee
Exempt from 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial £58.50 £59.50 1.71%

Commercial Circus - Small (1- 300) Day Rate
Exempt from 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial £143.00 £146.00 2.10%

Commercial Circus - Large (300 +) Admin Fee
Exempt from 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial £117.00 £119.50 2.14%

Commercial Circus - Large (300 +) Day Rate
Exempt from 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial £385.00 £392.50 1.95%

Commercial Event - Small (1-500) Admin Fee
Exempt from 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial £58.50 £59.50 1.71%

Commercial Event - Small (1-500) Day Rate
Exempt from 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial £140.00 £143.00 2.14%

Commercial Event - Medium (A) (500 - 1000) Admin Fee
Exempt from 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial £88.00 £90.00 2.27%

Commercial Event - Medium (A) (500 - 1000) Day Rate
Exempt from 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial £270.00 £275.50 2.04%

Commercial Event - Medium (B) (1000 - 2000) Admin Fee
Exempt from 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial £115.00 £117.50 2.17%

Commercial Event - Medium (B) (1000 - 2000) Day Rate
Exempt from 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial £400.00 £408.00 2.00%

Commercial Event - Large (2000 - 5000) Admin Fee
Exempt from 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial £230.00 £234.50 1.96%

Commercial Event - Large (2000 - 5000) Day Rate
Exempt from 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial £535.00 £545.50 1.96%

Commercial Event - Very Large (5000 - 
10,000)

Admin Fee
Exempt from 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial £285.00 £290.50 1.93%

Commercial Event - Very Large (5000 - 
10,000)

Day Rate
Exempt from 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial £700.00 £714.00 2.00%

Commercial Event - Major (+ 10,000) Admin Fee
Exempt from 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial £560.00 £571.00 1.96%

Commercial Event - Major (+ 10,000) Day Rate
Exempt from 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial £1,000.00 £1,020.00 2.00%

Charitable Event - Some Commercial 
Activity<1500

Admin Fee
Exempt from 

VAT (--%)
Subsidised £29.50 £30.00 1.69%

Charitable Event - Some Commercial 
Activity>1500

Admin Fee
Exempt from 

VAT (--%)
Subsidised £85.00 £86.50 1.76%

Community Event -Some Commercial Activity 
<1500

Admin Fee
Exempt from 

VAT (--%)
Subsidised £29.50 £30.00 1.69%

Community Event - Some Commercial Activity 
>1500

Admin Fee
Exempt from 

VAT (--%)
Subsidised £85.00 £86.50 1.76%

Charitable Event - No commercial activity Admin Fee
Exempt from 

VAT (--%)
Free maintains current charging position £0.00 £0.00 0.00%

Community Event -No Commercial Activity Admin Fee
Exempt from 

VAT (--%)
Free maintains current charging position £0.00 £0.00 0.00%

Commercial Filming Admin Fee
Exempt from 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial £58.50 £59.50 1.71%

NEW - Commercial Filming Hour rate
Exempt from 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial

New fee created as a result of demand 
for shorter filming

£83.00 £84.50 1.81%

Commercial Filming Day Rate
Exempt from 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial £665.00 £678.50 2.03%

Page 558



Horticulture Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% 
increase

Commercial photo shoot Admin Fee
Exempt from 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial £58.50 £59.50 1.71%

Commercial photo shoot  Half Day Rate
Exempt from 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial £335.00 £341.50 1.94%

Discretionary Commercial Event Admin Fee
Exempt from 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging £58.50 £59.50 1.71%

Discretionary Commercial Event Day Rate
Exempt from 

VAT (--%)
Fair charging £68.00 £69.50 2.21%

Educational Establishments Admin Fee
Exempt from 

VAT (--%)
Free £0.00 £0.00 0.00%

Catering concessions - leisure sites Admin Fee
Exempt from 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial £58.50 £59.50 1.71%

Catering concessions - leisure sites Day Rate
Exempt from 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial £27.00 £27.50 1.85%

New sites for concessions - amusements Admin Fee
Exempt from 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial £58.50 £59.50 1.71%

New sites for concessions - amusements
Day Rate / Per 

Item
Exempt from 

VAT (--%)
Full commercial £37.00 £37.50 1.35%

Page 559



Car Parks Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ 
freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% increase

Season tickets (long stay car parks)

Leek: Per annum
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £370.00 £370.00 0.00%

Half yearly
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £190.00 £190.00 0.00%

Quarterly
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £100.00 £100.00 0.00%

Cheadle: Per annum
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £320.00 £320.00 0.00%

Half yearly
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £170.00 £170.00 0.00%

Quarterly
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £90.00 £90.00 0.00%

Biddulph: Per annum
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £250.00 £250.00 0.00%

Half yearly
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £130.00 £130.00 0.00%

Quarterly
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £70.00 £70.00 0.00%

Smithfield Centre Per annum
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £350.00 £350.00 0.00%

California Car Park (proven Leek workers & 
Residents)

Per annum
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £55.00 £55.00 0.00%

Buxton Road Car Park (proven Leek workers 
only)

Per annum
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £220.00 £220.00 0.00%

Replacement Passes
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £10.00 £10.00 0.00%

Pay and Display

Leek: Brook Street Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.90 £1.90 0.00%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £2.80 £2.80 0.00%

Leek: Buxton Road Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.90 £1.90 0.00%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £2.80 £2.80 0.00%

Up to 10 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £3.50 £3.50 0.00%

Leek: High Street Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.90 £1.90 0.00%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £2.80 £2.80 0.00%

Up to 10 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £3.50 £3.50 0.00%

Leek: Joliffe Street Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.90 £1.90 0.00%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £2.80 £2.80 0.00%

Up to 10 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £3.50 £3.50 0.00%

Leek: Market Place Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

Page 560



Car Parks Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ 
freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% increase

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.90 £1.90 0.00%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £2.80 £2.80 0.00%

Leek: Market Street East Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.90 £1.90 0.00%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £2.80 £2.80 0.00%

Leek: Market Street West Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.90 £1.90 0.00%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £2.80 £2.80 0.00%

Leek: Moorlands House Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.90 £1.90 0.00%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £2.80 £2.80 0.00%

Leek: Queen Street Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.90 £1.90 0.00%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £2.80 £2.80 0.00%

Leek: Regent Street Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.90 £1.90 0.00%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £2.80 £2.80 0.00%

Leek: Silk Street Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.90 £1.90 0.00%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £2.80 £2.80 0.00%

Leek: Smithfield South Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.90 £1.90 0.00%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £2.80 £2.80 0.00%

Leek: Stockwell Street Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.90 £1.90 0.00%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £2.80 £2.80 0.00%

Leek: St Edward Street Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

Page 561



Car Parks Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ 
freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% increase

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.90 £1.90 0.00%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £2.80 £2.80 0.00%

Leek: Vicarage Road/ California Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.90 £1.90 0.00%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £2.80 £2.80 0.00%

Up to 10 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £3.50 £3.50 0.00%

Leek: West Street Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.90 £1.90 0.00%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £2.80 £2.80 0.00%

Up to 10 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £3.50 £3.50 0.00%

Cheadle:Tape Street Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.00 £1.00 0.00%

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.70 £1.70 0.00%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £2.50 £2.50 0.00%

Cheadle:Well Street Up to 1 hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £0.00 £0.00 #DIV/0!

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.50 £1.50 0.00%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £2.30 £2.30 0.00%

Up to 10 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £3.00 £3.00 0.00%

Biddulph: Wharf Road Up to 1 Hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £0.00 £0.00 #DIV/0!

Up to 2 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.20 £1.20 0.00%

Up to 3 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £1.80 £1.80 0.00%

Up to 10 hours
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £2.50 £2.50 0.00%

Penalty Charge Notices Off Street: Two tier 
system depending on the seriousness of the 
offence

Tier one: Per fine
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £50.00 £50.00 0.00%

If paid within 14 
days

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory £25.00 £25.00 0.00%

Tier two: Per fine
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Statutory £70.00 £70.00 0.00%

If paid within 14 
days

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Statutory £35.00 £35.00 0.00%

Charge levied for grant of parking waiver Vehicle per day
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Statutory £15.00 £15.00 0.00%

Charge levied for grant of parking waiver Bay per day
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Statutory £15.00 £15.00 0.00%

Page 562



Markets Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% 
increase

LEEK RETAIL MARKETS

Wednesday Outdoor (General Retail):

- Regular Traders Per day Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £20.00 £20.00 0.00%

- Regulars - non attendance Per day Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £10.00 £10.00 0.00%

- Casual Traders Per day Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £23.50 £23.50 0.00%

Wednesday Trestle (General Retail):

- Regular Traders Per day Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £21.50 £21.50 0.00%

- Regulars - non attendance Per day Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £10.75 £10.75 0.00%

- Casual Traders Per day Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £23.50 £23.50 0.00%

Friday Trestle (Franchised Archer Fairs)

- Per Stall Per day Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £16.00 £16.00 0.00%

Saturday Trestle (General Retail)

- Regular Traders Per quarter Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £192.00 £192.00 0.00%

- Casual Traders Per day Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £20.00 £20.00 0.00%

Saturday Outdoor Craft (Franchised Archer 
Fairs)

- Per Pitch Per day Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £17.50 £17.50 0.00%

Festival of Fine Food

- Per Stall Per day Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £26.00 £26.00 0.00%

- Per Stall
Per day 

(payment in 
advance)

Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £21.00 £21.00 0.00%

CHEADLE MARKETS

Cheadle Outdoor Market - Friday Per day Exempt from VAT (--%) Fair charging £20.00 £20.00 0.00%

Page 563



Lettings Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% increase

Moorlands House Leek

Churnet Room Full Day (9am - 5pm) - Monday-
Friday

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging £123.42 £126.00 2.09%

Churnet Room Full Day (9am - 5pm) - 
Saturday

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging £178.50 £182.00 1.96%

Churnet Room Full Day + Evening (9am - 
10pm) - Monday-Friday

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging £192.78 £196.50 1.93%

Churnet Room Full Day + Evening (9am - 
10pm) - Saturday

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging £283.56 £289.00 1.92%

Churnet Room Monday - Friday half day 
charge

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging £63.24 £64.50 1.99%

Churnet Room Saturday (9am-12noon)
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £90.78 £92.50 1.89%

Churnet Room Saturday (1pm-5pm)
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £111.18 £113.50 2.09%

Churnet Room Evening (6pm - 10pm) - 
Monday-Friday

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging £126.48 £129.00 1.99%

Churnet Room  Evening (6pm - 10pm) - 
Saturday

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging £177.48 £181.00 1.98%

Trent Room Full Day (9am - 5pm) - Monday-
Friday

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging £98.94 £101.00 2.08%

Trent Room Full Day (9am - 5pm) - Saturday
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £124.44 £127.00 2.06%

Trent Room Full Day + Evening (9am - 10pm) - 
Monday-Friday

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging £154.02 £157.00 1.93%

Trent Room Full Day + Evening (9am - 10pm) - 
Saturday

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging £199.92 £204.00 2.04%

Trent Room Monday - Friday half day charge
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £49.98 £51.00 2.04%

Trent Room Saturday (9am-12noon)
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £63.24 £64.50 1.99%

Trent Room Saturday (1pm-5pm)
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £111.18 £113.50 2.09%

Trent Room Evening (6pm - 10pm) - Monday-
Friday

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging £100.98 £103.00 2.00%

Trent Room Evening (6pm - 10pm) - Saturday
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £124.44 £127.00 2.06%

Dove Room Full Day (9am - 5pm) - Monday-
Friday

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging £111.18 £113.50 2.09%

Dove Room Full Day (9am - 5pm) - Saturday
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £160.14 £163.50 2.10%

Dove Room Full Day + Evening (9am - 10pm) - 
Monday-Friday

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging £173.40 £177.00 2.08%

Dove Room Full Day + Evening (9am - 10pm) - 
Saturday

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging £256.02 £261.00 1.95%

Dove Room Monday - Friday half day charge
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £58.14 £59.50 2.34%

Dove Room Saturday (9am-12noon)
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £82.62 £84.50 2.28%

Dove Room Saturday (1pm-5pm)
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £111.18 £113.50 2.09%

Dove Room Evening (6pm - 10pm) - Monday-
Friday

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging £113.22 £115.50 2.01%

Dove Room Evening (6pm - 10pm) - Saturday
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £160.14 £163.50 2.10%

Dove Room Excess Hours - 10pm - Midnight Per hour
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £47.94 £49.00 2.21%

Rooms in the One Stop Shop: Tean, 
Rudyard, etc 
Monday-Friday (Half day) between 9am and 
5pm

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging £27.54 £28.00 1.67%

Monday-Friday (Full day) 9am-5pm
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £51.00 £52.00 1.96%

Moorlands House  Other Facilities for Hire:

All Room Booking fees exclude optional extra Facilities  (Bar, 
Kitchen etc) - Charitable and Non Profit Making organisations 
subject to 20% discount - Bookings outside hours stated and 
commercial events by special arrangement

Page 564



Lettings Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% increase

Kitchen Per booking 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £23.46 £24.00 2.30%

Piano Per booking 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £18.36 £18.50 0.76%

Bar Per booking 
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £35.70 £36.50 2.24%

Portable Drinks Machine: Per session
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £35.70 £36.50 2.24%

Audio Visual Equipment: NB All prices are per 
booking/ session - am or pm. Whole day usage 
will be 2 x per item hired.

- Overhead Projector
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £23.46 £24.00 2.30%

- OHP Screen
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Fair charging £16.32 £16.50 1.10%

- Nobo Flipchart Easel with Paper (provide own 
markers)

Standard Rated VAT 
(20%)

Fair charging £16.32 £16.50 1.10%

Page 565



Finance Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 Charge % increase

Financial Services

Statement of Accounts
Per copy (plus 

postage)
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery

no subsidy as document 
available on line

£21.60 £22.00 1.85%

Committee Services

Agenda
Per copy (plus 

postage)
Standard Rated VAT 

(20%)
Cost recovery

no subsidy as document 
available on line

£10.00 £10.00 0.00%

Recovery Services - Summons costs 
recharged

Application for summons re Liability Order: Council Tax
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £60.00 £60.00 0.00%

Non-Domestic 
Rates

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging £65.00 £65.00 0.00%

Issue of Liability Orders: Council Tax
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £35.00 £35.00 0.00%

Non-Domestic 
Rates

Non Business VAT (--
%)

Fair charging £35.00 £35.00 0.00%

Committal summons
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £310.00 £310.00 0.00%

Arrest warrants
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging £150.00 £150.00 0.00%

Committal to prison
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Fair charging

Reasonable 
charge

Reasonable 
charge

Fee charged as a preventative 
measure for non-payment of 
CTAX/NNDR.  Income should 
cover costs of Recovery team

Page 566



Elections Unit VAT
Charging 
Category

-Rationale
-Benchmarking
-Reason for changes/ freezes

2022/23 
Current 
Charge

2023/24 
Charge

% increase

Purchase of Full Register (Data) 1.00
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Nominal  £138.50 £158.50 14.44%

Purchase of Rolling register Alterations (Data) 1.00
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Nominal £193.50 £387.00 100.00%

Purchase of list of overseas voters (Data) 1.00
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Nominal £23.00 £44.50 93.48%

Purchase of Full Register (Paper) 1.00
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Nominal £405.00 £415.00 2.47%

Purchase of Rolling Register Alterations 
(Paper)

1.00
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Nominal £135.00 £270.00 100.00%

Purchase of list of overseas voters (Paper) 1.00
Non Business VAT (--

%)
Nominal £20.00 £35.00 75.00%

Page 567



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX [ D ] 

 

                               
 

 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

PROCUREMENT FORWARD 
PLAN 2023/24 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

Page 569



1. Introduction  

 

1.1 The Procurement Procedure Rules, which support the Joint Procurement 
Strategy (to be updated and presented for approval shortly), are essential to 

the achievement of the Alliance Procurement Objectives and set out the 
processes that must be followed. 
 

1.2 A revised version of the Procurement Procedure Rules were presented and 
 approved by full Council on 11th October 2017.  The Rules were updated to 

reflect recent changes for example:- 

 the service review process has resulted in a fully resourced central 
procurement unit incorporating the whole purchase to pay stream 

(procurement activity through to the payment of supplier invoices)   

 Processes have been reviewed and electronic systems implemented 

with the procurement process now utilising online procurement web-
forms and an e-tendering system, removing paper records and 

improving efficiency. 
 

1.3 The opportunity was also taken to review the Rules as a whole, with specific 

amendments made to:- 

 Sourcing thresholds – advertising periods updated 

 Process for applying Performance Bonds / Parent Company Guarantees 

 Applying extensions/variations to contracts 

 Updated processes to include technology now utilised (for example, e-
webform platform and e-tendering system) 

 Additional references where necessary – for example, the requirements 

of the Transparency Code 

 Expansion of Contract Management responsibilities / processes 

 
1.4 In addition, consideration was given to how the authority to procure and award 

procurement activities is undertaken - with the aim of simplifying and ensuring 
the process is as efficient as possible.   

 
2.  Authorisation to Procure and Award 
 

2.1 It was proposed within the Rules that the Procurement Forward Plan would be 

reported as part of the Budget and Medium Term Financial Plan in February 
each year.   

 
2.2 This would identify all potential procurement activity to be completed in the 

following financial year (subject to business case), with approval sought to 

commence procurement of all activity listed.  Performance and activity 
(including confirmation of award) against the forward plan would then be 

monitored and reported within the Quarterly Procurement Report to 
Committee. 
 

2.3 The approval limits to be applied to then authorise the award of contracts and 
apply exemptions are in line with Public Contract regulations supplies and 

service thresholds which are refreshed every two years.  The latest revision to 

Page 570



thresholds were implemented in 01 January 2022, which was approved to 
implement to the Procedure rules in the 2022/23 report. 

 

2.4  Any procurement activity undertaken during the year which was not 
included on  the forward plan will also follow the authorisation rules (to 
procure/award) as  detailed above - and detail will be included within 

the Quarterly Procurement  Report.  
 

2.5       Irrespective of the total contract value, Committee reports may be 
presented to Executive to obtain authority to procure and award where 
considered appropriate due to the nature of the procurement or where it 

relates to a key decision. 
 

2.6   
 

3. Procurement Forward Plan 2023/24 
 

3.1 The Procurement Forward Plan, detailing all anticipated higher value 
procurement activity during 2023/24, is detailed at ANNEX A.  This includes 

activity specific to Staffordshire Moorlands D.C. and also any joint 
procurement activity with Alliance partner High Peak B.C.  Procurements 

which have already had approval in 2022/23 but not yet completed, will be 
progressed in addition to the programmed 2023/24 schedules. 

 

3.2 This report details a high level of activity that Procurement have consulted 
with  services for the next year’s programmes (23/24), however further work on this 

 is required due to determine the direct requirements for the larger strategic 
 projects.  Therefore, a supplementary plan will be presented as an  Appendix 
 to Quarter Four MTFP. 

 
4. Procurement undertaken by Agent 
 

4.1 In addition to procurement activity commissioned by the Council, there may 
also be procurement activity commissioned via an agent on behalf of the 

Council where appropriate to do so.  For example, the Leisure Centre contract 
allows provision for capital works required on the Leisure centres to be 

commissioned by the Contractor, but funded by the Council.  In this case, the 
Council would complete due diligence to ensure compliancy and value for 
money has been achieved. 
 

4.2 Similarly, ANSA on behalf of Alliance Environmental Services will be procuring 
fleet required by specific services, but this will be funded by the Council and 

appropriate due diligence undertaken.    Alliance Norse Ltd will complete all 
related Facilities Management and Capital projects procurements for the 

Council’s Assets under the new arrangements. 
 

4.3 Agents  delegated to  procure contracts on behalf of the Council, where the  

 Council  is the  Contracting Authority, will be required to procure in 
 compliance to Public Contract Regulations 2015 (PCRs15) for above 

 threshold  contracts and  for contracts for lower values  demonstrate that their 

Page 571



 procurement practice is as robust and transparent as that the Council would 
 apply. 

 
 

Page 572



5 
 

ANNEX A 

 PROCUREMENT FORWARD PLAN 2023/24 – SMDC  / JOINT  

Ref Auth Contract Title Brief contract description Capital / 
Revenue 

Service Area Total est. 
value of  

contract [£] 

1165 SMDC Leisure Centre Management / 
future service delivery 

Mgmt. Services contract  
TBC – alternative delivery model 

Revenue Service 
Commissioning 

TBC 

[ - ] SMDC UK Shared Prosperity fund External funding – Various 
Schemes 
 
Entered for reference to future 
activity – full scope for procurement 
TBC) 
 

Capital Regeneration TBC 

[ - ]  SMDC Decarbonisation Fund – Leisure & 
recreation 

External funding – Various 
Schemes 
 
Entered for reference to future 
activity – full scope for procurement 
TBC) 
 

Capital Service 
Commissioning 

TBC 

[ - ] SMDC Levelling Up Funding – Leek 
regeneration (leisure / Culture / 
markets) 

Full programme of deliverables for 
Leek centre  

Capital Regeneration 
Communities 
Service 
Commissioning 

TBC 

[ - ] SMDC Ecological Surveys Development Control Revenue Development 
Control 

20,000 

403 JOINT Bridges & structures repair 
programme 

Works contract 
(contracted to Alliance Norse TBC) 

Capital Assets Est £60-
100,000 

P
age 573



6 
 

1008 JOINT SOFTWARE  
CAIMS_Asset Management IT 
System 

Concerto renewal for further fixed 
term  

Revenue Assets 59,600 

433 JOINT Planning Consultancy Support  - 
Planning Applications Service 
Support 

Framework of professional services 
to increase capacity support for 
Planning Applications 

Revenue Development 
Control 

(Est) 40,000 
Variable on 

demand 

1052 JOINT CCTV Public Realm Maintenance 
Contract 

Service Maintenance Contract Revenue Communities 80,000 

999 JOINT Insurance Services Insurance contract renewal for both 
Councils (5 yr fixed term) 

Revenue Finance 1,880,000 

709 JOINT Treasury management advisory 
services 

Professional Financial services 
(fixed term) 

Revenue Finance 72,000 

1048 JOINT Intranet Hosing and Licence 
Support 

Rebuild new intranet / functionality 
and linked systems 

Revenue Transformation TBC 

 

P
age 574



  

 
 

STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 
Cabinet 

 
14 February 2023 

 

 
TITLE: 

 
Tourism Strategy  

 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER: 

 
Cllr Keith Flunder – Portfolio Holder for 
Tourism 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

 
Nicholas Lamb - Interim Head of 

Regeneration 
 
WARDS INVOLVED: 

 

 
ALL 

 
 

Appendix A – Project Plan 
Appendix B – Baseline Data Report 
Appendix C – Workshop Feedback 

Appendix D – Draft Tourism Strategy 
Appendix E – Town and Alton Towers High Level Objectives 

 
 
1. Reason for the Report 

 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide an update on the development of the 

Tourism Strategy and action plan for tourism delivery in the Staffordshire 
Moorlands over the next five years.  
 

2. Recommendation 

2.1 That Cabinet approves the Tourism Strategy. 

 
2.2 To note the actions taken for the effective delivery of this Strategy.  
 
3. Executive Summary 

 

3.1 The global pandemic has had a significant impact on the tourism sector with 
total visits to the Staffordshire Moorlands down approximately 49% on 2019 
figures with economic benefits down by over 50% on 2019 values. National 

forecasts are now suggesting that it will be the end of 2022 before domestic 
tourism recovers to 2019 levels. Given the reduction in visitor numbers, this 

Strategy is required to help the Council capture new markets, using the area’s 
cultural and natural assets to fuel growth and capitalise on the staycation 
demand and people’s desire for escape to and exploration of “the great 

Page 575

Agenda Item 13.1



  

outdoors”.  The key to success of the Strategy will be increasing overnight 
stays to maximise visitor spend in the Staffordshire Moorlands. 

 

3.2 In February 2022 Staffordshire Moorlands District Council issued a tender to 
appoint consultancy services for the preparation of a five-year Tourism 

Strategy and action plan for the Staffordshire Moorlands. In addition to this 
work a full review of the current tourism service for Staffordshire Moorlands 
District Council was commissioned to understand how it can help support the 

emerging Strategy and drive forward a modern tourism offer.   
 

3.3 Tourism specialists, Blue Sail Consultants were appointed in April 2022 to 
conduct stakeholder and wider consultation and draft the Strategy working 
closely with Officers.  

 
3.4 Blue Sail Consultants have held individual conversations with the people listed 

here: 
 

 SMDC Portfolio holder - Cllr Keith Flunder 

 Leek Town Councillors – Cllr Matt Swindlehurst 

 Biddulph Town Clerk -Sarah Haydon 

 Cheadle Town Clerk – David Mullington 

 SMDC Regeneration Officer – Clare Brookes and Joanna Bagnall 

 Destination Staffordshire – Charlotte Cain and Andrea Sammons 

 Marketing Peak District & Derbyshire – Jo Dilley 

 Alton Towers – Francis Jackson 

 James Lepke – Rudyard Lake Hotel 

 Helen Wilshaw – Biddulph Grange Gardens 

 David Smith – SMDC Head of Communities and Climate Change 

 Josie Muncaster and Jo Clough -Severn Trent 

 Julia Arnold – Caldon and Uttoxeter Canal 

 Ray Perry – Rudyard Lake 

 Thom Bateman – Flintlock of Cheddleton 

 Catherine Webster – Secret Cloud House Holidays 

 Joss Winter –Sustrans 

 Sarah Wilks – Peak District National Park Authority 

 
3.5 In addition a cross-section of businesses and town representatives took part in 

an online survey and participated in three ‘Town Hall’ meetings.  A summary of 
the online survey can be found at Appendix B and Town Hall meetings at 
Appendix C.  

 
3.6 The Baseline Report was delivered by Blue Sail in November 2022 and shared 

with key Regeneration Officers and the Portfolio Holder for Regeneration and 
Tourism for further input and feedback (Appendix B).  This report includes: 

 

 Current Tourism Performance 

 Comprehensive Product Audit 

 Regional and Local Strategy Review 

 Market Review 

 Best Practice (learning from others and case studies) 

Page 576



  

 Consultation and Engagement 

 Business Surveys 
 

3.7 As a result of consultation the four key priorities identified for growth are: 
 

 Alton Towers – unlocking investment to create a year-round driver of visits 

 Towns & Villages – animated hubs with distinct food & drink to increase dwell 

times 
 Active Experiences – developing cycling and walking routes, trails and 

events 
 Accommodation – expand, improve and encourage investment 

 

3.8 Following the three ‘Town Hall’ meetings, five high level objectives have been 
identified for growth and for consideration by each town and Alton Towers as 

one of the key attractions, these objectives can be found at Appendix E. 
 
Leek  

 

 Improve active travel links to the nearby countryside for both cyclists and 

walkers. 

 Build a stronger reputation for ‘local’ food and drink through markets and cafes 

and restaurants. 

 Help visitors move around the town easily with great signage and strengthen 
links from the town centre to the canal and proposed railway. 

 Strengthen animation across the day and into the evening with improved 
markets, events and food and drink. 

 Grow the accommodation base to serve visitors to Staffordshire Moorlands. 
 
Cheadle 

 

 Support accommodation development. Especially family accommodation, 

serviced and non-serviced. 

 Establish coach parking in a central location to accommodate groups and tie in 

with the experiences such as St Giles Church. 

 Strengthen links to walks and cycle trails and improve the responsible tourism 

offer. 

 Develop the evening economy, making use of vacant premises and improve 
animation of the town across the day and into the evening. 

 Stay focussed on essential facilities such as signage, toilets, parking, cleaning. 
 
Biddulph  

 

 Develop accommodation including campervan and camping sites and 
functional serviced/budget accommodation. 

 Improve signage and links to greenways and active travel opportunities and 

where possible use these to improve sustainable travel choices to nearby 
attractions. 

 Build the towns events programme to strengthen animation. 

 Improve the food and drink offer to encourage visitors to spend time and 

money into the evening. 

Page 577



  

 
Alton Towers TBC 

 

3.9 The five high level objectives were shared with each Town Council for 
consideration and further comment on 20th December 2022, the deadline for 

comment 3rd January 2023 
 
4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  

 

4.1 This Strategy supports the principles of the Staffordshire Moorlands Corporate 

Plan: 2019 - 2023 and has the potential to help deliver all four aims of the 
Corporate Plan. 

 

 Aim 1 – Help create a safer and healthier environment for our communities to 
live and work. 

 Aim 2 – To use resources effectively and provide value for money. 

 Aim 3 – To help create a strong economy by supporting further regeneration of 

towns and villages. 

 Aim 4 – To protect and improve the environment and respond to the climate 
change emergency. 

 
 5. Alternative Options 

 
5.1 To reject the draft Tourism Strategy.  

This is not considered the preferred option.  Baseline data and consultation 

provides evidence to suggest that the Staffordshire Moorlands lacks 
destination brand awareness.  A long-term strategic vision is required and a 

framework for service delivery to aid economic recovery following Covid and 
more recently with the Cost of Living Crisis. 

 Not recommended 

 
5.2 Approve draft Tourism Strategy.   

 Under this scenario, the Council would acknowledge the Baseline data 
findings to date and approve the proposed Tourism Strategy and action plan 
for the next five years, this will support and align with the work of DMO’s and 

reflect and build upon the work already achieved. 
 The main aim being to develop the Staffordshire Moorlands as a destination 

and a brand.  Promote the area nationally and internationally and deliver long 
term sustainable growth in the value of Staffordshire Moorlands’ visitor 
economy. 

 Recommended 

 

 
6. Implications 

 

6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
Long -term sustainable growth to the local economy will benefit the 

local community by reducing unemployment and crime. 
 

6.2 Workforce 

None at this stage, although it should be noted that the proposal to 

Page 578



  

relocate the TIC Leek would have implications to the Nicholson 
Museum and Art Gallery staffing. 
Regeneration team to provide tourism delivery in the short term 

with experience and expertise in delivering projects, events and 
tourism officer skills.  The Strategy requires the right kind of 

support in place to grow tourism sustainably working in partnership 
with other organisations.  Ensuring that marketing is delivered 
primarily via the DMO’s. 

 
6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 

The draft Strategy has been prepared in accordance with the 
Council's Diversity and Equality Policies. 
 

6.4 Financial Considerations 
Continuing DMO support/contribution will be required to develop 

and deliver the marketing elements of the Strategy.  Specific 
projects and activities will require funding either external to the 
Council or internal resources. 

 
6.5 Legal 

The report is to approve the draft Tourism Strategy and action plan 
and work carried out so far by Blue Sail Consultants.   
Legal advice will be sought to review the current arrangements with 

DMO’s and to consider available options for partnership 
arrangements with DMO’s for delivery proposals. 
 

6.6 Climate Change 
The draft Strategy has been developed with consideration given to 

the local and regional plans to support Climate Change, further 
details and national plans can be found on page 61 of the baseline 
report. (Appendix B). 

 Local Plan 2020,  

 Staffordshire Moorlands Corporate Plan 2019-2023 

 Staffordshire Moorlands Green Infrastructure Strategy 2018 

 Staffordshire Moorlands Sustainable Community Strategy 

2007-2020 

 Churnet Valley Master Plan 2014 

 Growth Strategy for Staffordshire Moorlands 2018 

 Peak District Management Plan 2018-2023 

 
6.7 
 

Consultation 
Appendix B and C outline the consultation carried out to date in the 

development of the draft Tourism Strategy. 
Consultation has been carried out with a wide range of public, 

private and third sector stakeholders.  Consultation took place face 
to face, by telephone on online from mid-May to end of June 2022. 
A Business Survey was carried out from mid-June to mid-July, 

these results can be seen in the Baseline Data Report (Appendix 
B).  

A series of ‘Town Hall’ meetings and one Parish Council meeting 
held with Leek, Cheadle and Biddulph Town Councillors and clerks 

Page 579



  

and other key tourism stakeholders, these meetings took place 
face to face in October and November 2022.  The feedback from 
these meetings can be seen at Appendix C. 

 
 

6.8 
 

Risk Assessment 
None at this stage. 
 

 
Neil Rodgers  

Executive Director (Place) 

  

  

 
 

7. Background and Detail 
 

7.1 Tourism is a significant economic sector employing approximately 6000 

people or around 18% of all jobs in Staffordshire Moorlands.  Visitors spend 
almost £335m, with about 42% generated by staying visitors who account for 

almost 10% of all visits. Half of all spend is on shopping, and food and drink - 
facilities and services which benefit and  are used by residents as well as 
visitors. 

 
7.2 The global pandemic has had a significant impact on the tourism sector with 

total visits to the Staffordshire Moorlands down approximately 49% on 2019 
figures with economic benefits down by over 50% on 2019 values. National 
forecasts are now suggesting that it will be the end of 2022 before domestic 

tourism recovers to 2019 levels. Given the reduction in visitor numbers, this 
Strategy is required to help the Council capture new markets, using the area’s 

cultural and natural assets to fuel growth and capitalise on the staycation 
demand and people’s desire for escape to and exploration of “the great 
outdoors”.  The key to success of the Strategy will be increasing overnight 

stays to maximise visitor spend in the Staffordshire Moorlands. 
 

7.3 In February 2022 Staffordshire Moorlands District Council issued a tender to 
appoint consultancy services for the preparation of a five-year Tourism 
Strategy and action plan for the Staffordshire Moorlands. In addition to this 

work a full review of the current tourism service for Staffordshire Moorlands 
District Council was commissioned to understand how it can help support the 

emerging Strategy and drive forward a modern tourism offer.   
 

7.4 Specific Requirements  

 
The tender was to develop a new Tourism Strategy and action plan for the 

Staffordshire Moorlands.  The Strategy to cover a 5-year (2022 – 2027) vision 
and framework for delivery and address the following objectives: 

  

 Provide a long-term strategic vision that clearly demonstrates growth 
ambitions for the visitor economy. 

Page 580



  

 Define the priority actions for delivery at a district and regional level, 
identifying opportunities for collaboration and partner destination 
Management Organisations and key stakeholders.        

 Identify the sector’s current positioning and consider emerging trends, 
opportunities and challenges in each district. This included a review of the 

evidence base including sector performance; recent growth trends and 
future forecasting; new and planned investments of significant scale.  

 Identify opportunities to embed performance and evaluation monitoring at 

an early stage. 
 
7.5  Outputs 
 

7.5.1 A Tourism Strategy and action plan for the next five years that reflects and 

builds upon work already achieved and aims to:  
 

 Develop the Staffordshire Moorlands as a destination and a brand.  

 Promote the area nationally and internationally. 

 Deliver long term sustainable growth in the value of the Staffordshire 
Moorlands’ visitor economy. 

 
7.5.2 Staffordshire Moorlands Tourism Service Review  
 

 A comprehensive review to be carried on the current service. This review 
will need to identify what support services are needed to deliver the 

Tourism Strategy and the potential role and function of the TIC within the 
service. 

 

7.6 An open tender call was published on 14th February 2022 and closed 14th 
March 2022, with 22 expressions of interest and six tenders received.  The 

tender was awarded in accordance with the Procurement Policy and Blue Sail 
Consultants appointed.   

             

7.7  Work commenced in April 2022 with Blue Sail Consultants with the first 
inception meeting held on 29th April 2022.   

 
7.8 Following this meeting a project timetable was developed with some 

suggested dates for key points in the project. (Appendix A) 

 
7.9 On the 10th May 2022 Blue Sail Consultants provided a Consultation 

Workbook. This workbook included detail on all consultees including tourism 
businesses, Parish Councils, key tourism contacts and Enjoy Staffordshire 
Award Winners 2022.  Further consultation detail is provided at 6.7 of this 

report. 
 

7.10 Blue Sail conducted site visits in the Staffordshire Moorlands on the 17 th and 

18th May 2022, this included Cheadle to Alton, Ilam, Hulme End, the Roaches 
and Tittesworth with an overnight stay at Rudyard Hotel. On the 18 th Leek, 
Nicholson Institute and Tourist Information Centre to Rudyard, Biddulph and 

Froghall. 
  

Page 581



  

7.11 The Strategy has been developed with engagement from a wide range of 
public, private and third sector stakeholders to set out a clearly articulated, 
refreshed vision for driving sustainable, innovative, resilient and inclusive 

sector recovery and growth.  In addition, a full review of the current tourism 
service for Staffordshire Moorlands District Council has been carried out to 

understand how it can help support the emerging Strategy and drive forward a 
modern tourism offer.   

 

7.12 From the research, consultation and analysis conducted in the development of 
this Strategy there are, naturally, areas of strength and opportunity to 

capitalise on. And areas of weakness and threat to try to address.  The full 
SWOT analysis can be seen on page 6 of the draft Tourism Strategy 
(Appendix D).  In summary the strengths of the Staffordshire Moorlands lie in 

the combination of successful visitor attractions and a landscape for being 
active in. Opportunities are about exploiting the growth plans of existing assets 

and making more of the area including the food and drink offer.  On the 
downside it’s constrained by a lack of destination awareness, poor public 
transport (into and around) a lack of investment in accommodation and towns 

which underperform.  The complexity of different layers of tourism support 
(county, destination management organisations (DMO), district, towns) 

requires more joining up and better engagement with businesses. 
 
7.13 Strategy Vision - Over the next five years Staffordshire Moorlands will become 

a stronger destination, unlocking its potential with an improved offer and a 
better reputation that results in more value from visitors. 

 

7.14  Baseline Data research carried out in the development of this draft Strategy 
indicates that day visitors dominate accounting for about 90% of the 5.6m 

visits but just 58% of the £335m spend. Staying visitors however account for 
42% of the total spend despite just being 10% of visits. This highlights the 
importance of overnight visits and extending the duration of visits.  The growth 

over the period 2014-2019 in visits shows there has been similar growth rates 
for day (10%) and staying (8%).  Alton Towers is an important driver of the 

Staffordshire Moorlands tourism economy accounting for a third of all visits 
and economic impact. Visiting an attraction is the primary reason for 48% of 
visitors to the Staffordshire Moorlands followed by walk/hike at 23%. 

 
7.15 Market Trends suggest there is uncertainty in the travel market, but discernible 

trends and related opportunities are emerging.  Five macro trends likely to 
influence travel patterns in the longer term have been identified along with 
their implications for the Staffordshire Moorlands as a destination.  Further 

detail on the implications for tourism in the Staffordshire Moorlands can be 
found on page 11 and 12 of the draft Tourism Strategy (Appendix D). 

 

 The Pursuit of Real 

 Fresh Adventures 

 Going Digital 

 All About Value 

 Journey to Net Zero 
 

Page 582



  

7.16 Six areas of particular focus formed the basis of the best practice examples 
which inform this Strategy are: 

 

 Active outdoors culture 

 Strategic events 

 Town centre development 

 Transport and cycling infrastructure 

 Alternative accommodation 

 Sustainable destination development 

 
7.17  Focussing on a small number of priorities is much more likely to lead to 

positive outcomes. Four areas of opportunity will provide that focus for the 

Staffordshire Moorlands.  These four areas are based on the strengths of 
Staffordshire Moorland’s tourism offer and the analysis of market prospects. 

They are not everything that can or will happen, rather they provide a focus for 
investment and development to unlock growth.  The four areas of opportunity 
are: 

 

 Alton Towers – unlocking investment to create a year-round driver of visits 

 Towns & Villages – animated hubs with distinct food & drink to increase 
dwell times 

 Active Experiences – developing cycling and walking routes, trails and 
events 

 Accommodation – expand, improve and encourage investment 

 
7.18 Underpinning the above four areas of opportunity is vital in that the right kind 

of support needs to be in place to deliver the Strategy, grow tourism 
sustainably and approach this work in partnership with other organisations; to 
influence, ensure alignment, efficiency and effective delivery of the Strategy 

and support for the tourism sector. We need to use these partnerships to 
ensure the quality of the visitor offer is improved and standards are 

maintained. 
 
7.19 It is recommended that a Tourism Partnership Forum is set up to ensure that 

the key organisations involved in the Staffordshire Moorland’s visitor economy 
work together. It will help to align priorities, programmes and activities, identify 

and take opportunities to enhance and build on what each organisation is 
doing, work to avoid duplication, and potentially establish new collaborations 
or projects which cut across geographical or organisational boundaries.  Areas 

of focus for this Forum to include: 
 

 Marketing 

 Visitor management – including transport, dispersal, pressure points etc 

 New capital or infrastructure developments 

 Business support and engagement 

 New funding streams, bids and opportunities for larger scale initiatives and 
projects. 

 

Page 583



  

7.20 Monitoring and evaluating progress of this Strategy will be carried out in two 
ways. The first by evaluating the outputs of each Action Area listed in this 
Strategy, these outputs can either be quantitative or qualitative. 

 
7.21 The second method is to monitor and evaluate the five key performance 

indicators in the draft Strategy, detail how they will be measured and to 
evidence why it’s important to measure the outcome.  Further detail can be 
found on page 24 of the draft Tourism Strategy (Appendix D).  Baselines for 

each of these performance indicators will be established in spring 2023 
through STEAM data.  The five key performance indicators are shown here: 

 

 Sector Growth - Proportion of visits that are ‘staying’ visits (overnight) 

 Average length of stay and spend per visit (holiday visits) 

 Visitor survey - Longer stays and spend during a visit will contribute to 
economic impact, business profitability and sustaining jobs. 

 Business Growth (% annual increase in turnover) 

 Visitor Satisfaction (from a visit)  

 
7.22 On approval of the draft Strategy and individual town high level objectives as 

detailed at 3.8, the Strategy will be published online and shared directly with 

key stakeholders including DMO’s, Town Councils, County Councils and other 
key consultees. 

 Further development work to continue on the tourism service review. 
 
  

 
 

Page 584



 
Blue Sail – High Peak and Staffs Moorlands Strategy 
 

Tasks April May June July August 

Inception 
 

  †     

Stage 1 Baseline  

Desk Based 
Audit 

       

Market 
Review 
 

        

Product Audit 
 

        

Destination 
Audit 

   17/18 
Site Visit 

    

1:1 
consultation 

        

Tourism 
Service review 

        

Baseline 
report 
 

       20th    

Stage 2 Strategy Development  

Best Practice 
 

        

Stakeholder 
Workshop 

     27th 
& 
28th 

  

Consultant/ 
client review 

       † 
20th 

  

Stage 3 Reporting  

Drafts for 
review 

       Drafts 
issued 
to 
client 
8th 

   

Final 
Strategies & 
reports 

       Comments 
back by 
19th 

† 
29th 

 
† Invoice schedule (40%:40%:20%) 
 
Suggested client review dates (times tbc): 
Baseline – Monday 20th June 
Outline Recommendations – Wednesday 20th July 
Final Report – Monday 29th August 
 
(Blue Sail Crew meeting on 29th June) 

Page 585



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS 

TOURISM STRATEGY BASELINE REPORT 
 

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 587



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 1 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 

CONTENTS 
 
 

1. TOURISM PERFORMANCE ................................................................ 2 

2. PRODUCT AUDIT ........................................................................... 15 

3. STRATEGY & POLICY REVIEW ......................................................... 61 

4. MARKET REVIEW ........................................................................... 88 

5. BEST PRACTICE .............................................................................. 99 

6. CONSULTATION & ENGAGEMENT ................................................ 113 

7. BUSINESS SURVEYS (STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS & HIGH PEAK)117 

 

P
age 588



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 2 
 

 

 

 

1. TOURISM PERFORMANCE 

KEY FINDINGS 
 

 The Covid pandemic is estimated to have resulted in visitor numbers and tourism economic impact in High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands 
being down by approximately 50% in 2020 compared to 2019. 

 In 2019, just over 5 million tourism visits were made to High Peak, generating £286 million for the local economy and supporting 3,707 full-time-
equivalent jobs.   

 5.6 million tourism visits were made to Staffordshire Moorlands, generating £335 million for the local economy and supporting 4,042 full-time-
equivalent jobs. 

 The combined tourism economic impact of both areas amounts to over £620 million. 
 For both High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands, the day visitor market accounts for approximately 90% of all trips and 60% of tourism economic 

impact. 
 Between 2014 and 2019, the number of day visits increased by 14% in High Peak and by 10% in Staffordshire Moorlands.  Over the same period, 

the number of staying visits increased by just 1% in High Peak and by 8% in Staffordshire Moorlands. 
 Shopping and Food & Drink together account for approximately half of direct visitor expenditure in both High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands, 

reflecting the high proportion of day visits. 
 The seasonal distribution of visits follows a broadly similar pattern to England as a whole, with July and August being peak months for both 

staying and day visits.  Staffordshire Moorland’s day visitor market appears to be relatively weak in the winter months, with just 19% of visits 
taking place in the four months from November to February, compared to 25% in High Peak and the England average of 32%.  

 For staying visits, average spend per night in both High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands is slightly higher than the England average.  Average 
length of stay in High Peak is similar to the England average but in Staffordshire Moorlands it is shorter – 2.1 nights compared to the England 
average of 3 nights. For tourism day trips, average spend per trip in both High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands is less than half the England 
average. 

 Data from ONS’s Business Register and Employment Survey (BRES) shows that tourism industry employment accounts for 13% of all industry 
employment in High Peak, 18% in Staffordshire Moorlands.  This is compared to the England average of 11%.  

P
age 589



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 3 
 

 

 

 

 Buxton attracts a third of the High Peak total visits and economic impact; Leek attracts 16% of Staffordshire Moorlands’ total visits and 13% of 
economic impact.   
 

 
COVID IMPACT 
 
Draft STEAM reports for 2020 present tourism volume and value figures, incorporating estimated impact resulting from the Covid pandemic.  They show 
that between 2019 and 2020, visitor numbers and tourism economic impact in High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands fell by approximately 50%. 

 
Table 1: Tourism volume & value 2020 

 Visitor Numbers (m) % change 2019-20 Economic Impact (£m) % change 2019-20 

High Peak     

Day visitors 2.53 -45% £101.05 -44% 

Staying visitors 0.18 -60% £44.69 -58% 
Total visitors 2.71 -46% £145.75 -49% 

     

Staffordshire Moorlands     
Day visitors  2.607 -48% £104.16 -47% 

Staying visitors  0.228 -59% £59.44 -57% 

Total visitors  2.84 -49% £163.31 -51% 

     

Total visitors (High Peak and 
Staffordshire Moorlands combined) 

5.5 -48% £309 -50% 

Source: STEAM 2020, High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands 

 
Given that 2020 was an extraordinary year, the analysis in the remainder of this section uses 2019 data to present the most representative 
picture of tourism in High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands. 

P
age 590



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 4 
 

 

 

 

TOURISM VOLUME & VALUE 2019 

 
In 2019, just over 5 million tourism visits were made to High Peak, generating £286 million for the local economy and supporting 3,707 full-time-
equivalent (fte) jobs.  5.6 million tourism visits were made to Staffordshire Moorlands, generating £335 million for the local economy and supporting 
4,042 fte jobs.  In both High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands, day visits accounted for approximately 90% of visitor numbers and 60% of economic 
impact.  These proportions are fairly typical of destinations which have large resident populations within a 90-minute drive. 

 
Table 2: Tourism volume & value 2019 

 Visitor Numbers (m) Economic Impact (£m)  Employment Supported (fte) 

High Peak    
Day visitors 4.603 £179.05 1,548 

Staying visitors 0.442 £107.23 2,158 

Total visitors 5.045 £286.28 3,707 
    

Staffordshire Moorlands    

Day visitors 5.046 £196.30 1,698 

Staying visitors 0.554 £139.14 2,345 
Total visitors 5.6 £335.44 4,042 

    

Total visitors (High Peak and 
Staffordshire Moorlands combined) 

10.645 £621.72 7,749 

Source: STEAM 2019, High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands 

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 591



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 5 
 

 

 

 

Five Year Trend 
 
Between 2014 and 2019, day visitor numbers increased by 14% to High Peak and by 10% to Staffordshire Moorlands.   Over the same period, staying 
visitor numbers increased by just 1% in High Peak and by 8% in Staffordshire Moorlands. 
 

 

  
 

Source: STEAM 2019, High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands 

 
 
  

P
age 592



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 6 
 

 

 

 

Impact of Alton Towers 
 
Alton Towers has a major impact on Staffordshire Moorlands’ tourism sector.  It attracts approximately 2 million visits per year, equating to 36% of all 
tourism visits to Staffordshire Moorlands (based on 2019 visitor number figures provided by STEAM).   
 
From the 2017 Staffordshire visitor survey, the primary motivation for visiting Staffordshire Moorlands was to visit an attraction (47% of respondents).  
(Note: the survey took place at key attractions in Staffordshire Moorlands – including Alton Towers and Biddulph Grange Gardens.) 
 
There is no data available to indicate what proportion of the theme park’s 2 million annual visits are overnight stays, but with 1,000 bedspaces available 
at the three Alton Towers hotels, it provides a significant proportion (50%) of Staffordshire Moorlands’ serviced accommodation bedspace supply (89% of 
the large hotel (50+ rooms) supply). 
 
Using the visitor number proportion (36%) and applying this to 2019 economic impact figures provided by STEAM, this translates into a tourism economic 
impact from Alton Towers of approximately £120 million.  

P
age 593



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 7 
 

 

 

 

Sectoral Analysis 
 
Shopping accounts for the highest share of visitor expenditure (30%/28%) followed by food & drink at 23%/22%).  This reflects the dominance of the day 
visitor market for which shopping and eating out are key components. 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Source: STEAM 2019, High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands 

 
 
  

P
age 594



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 8 
 

 

 

 

SEASONALITY 
 
The seasonal distribution of visits to High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands shows a broadly similar pattern to that of England a s a whole, although day 
visits appear to be more peaked, for Staffordshire Moorlands in particular - just 19% of visits take place in the four months from November to February, 
compared to the England average of 32%. This is likely to be a function of the rural nature of the area where the winter weather has a greater impact on 
day visitor activity compared to urban destinations. (Note: day visitor data for England comes from the national day visitor survey whereas High Peak and 
Staffordshire Moorlands data comes from STEAM.) 

 

 
 

 

Sources: STEAM 2019, High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands; GB Tourism Survey, GB Day Visitor Survey, Visit Britain 
Note: England Staying Visitor data is for domestic overnight visits only 

 
 
 

P
age 595



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 9 
 

 

 

 

AVERAGE SPEND AND LENGTH OF STAY: COMPARISON WITH OTHER DESTINATIONS 
 
National, domestic tourism surveys (GB Tourism Survey and GB Day Visits Survey) can be used to provide comparisons with other destinations and with 
England as a whole.  Sample sizes are small at a local level but the use of 3-year averages, combined with consistency in methodology across the country, 
allows useful comparisons to be drawn.  Note: Figures in the following tables are not comparable with STEAM due to different methodologies. 
 
Average spend per night in both High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands is slightly higher than the England average.  Average length of stay in High Peak is 
similar to the England average although below that in Allerdale and South Lakeland.  Average length of stay in Staffordshire Moorlands is low – 2.1 nights 
compared to the England average of 3 nights. 
 
Table 3: Domestic Overnight Trips (3-year averages, 2017-2019) 

District Volume of trips (000) Ave spend per trip Ave spend per night Average length of stay 
(nights) 

High Peak 364 £197.80 £67.42 2.93 

Staffordshire Moorlands 250 £144.00 £68.05 2.12 

Allerdale 837 £254.48 £67.83 3.75 

South Lakeland 1.459 £232.35 £71.32 3.26 

Derbyshire Dales 579 £188.26 £65.62 2.87 

Ribble Valley 114 £210.53 £84.81 2.48 

Craven 560 £142.86 £53.55 2.67 

Ryedale 279 £157.71 £52.19 3.02 

England 99,030 £194.70 £65.32 2.98 
Source: GB Tourism Survey, Visit Britain 

 
For tourism day trips, average spend per trip in both High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands is well below spend in other destinations and less than half 
the England average.  Rural destinations do typically attract lower levels of day visit spend compared to urban destinations.  From the 2019 GB Day Visits 
Survey, average spend per trip to village/rural locations in England was £29.65, compared to £53.18 in city/large town destinations. 

 

P
age 596



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 10 
 

 

 

 

Table 4: Tourism Day Trips (3-year averages, 2017-2019) 
District Volume of trips (m) Ave spend per trip 

High Peak 4.44 £15.54 

Staffordshire Moorlands 1.51 £13.91 

Allerdale 4.31 £31.55 

South Lakeland 7.61 £34.30 
Derbyshire Dales 6.89 £22.64 

Ribble Valley 3.28 £48.48 

Craven 4.33 £20.09 

Ryedale 2.73 £31.87 

England 1,442 £37.09 
Source: GB Day Visits Survey, Visit Britain 

 
 
TOURISM RELATIVE TO OTHER SECTORS 
 
Whilst STEAM and national tourism surveys are designed specifically to analyse demand and spending by tourists, a look at national employment data is 
helpful in providing an indication of tourism’s importance relative to other industries.  ONS’s Business Register and Employment Survey (BRES) is the 
official source of employee and employment estimates by detailed geography and industry.  It is a sample employer survey that records a job at the 
location of an employee’s work place.  In 2019, tourism industry employment in High Peak accounted for 13% of all industry employment; in Staffordshire 
Moorlands, tourism industry employment accounted for 18% of all industry employment.  The average for England as a whole is 11%. The definition of 
‘tourism industry’ used here is that used by Visit England and ONS for tourism sector economic analysis. A full list of SIC codes is provided at the end of 
this section. Note that tourism industry employment counts all employment within that tourism-defined SIC code. It does not allow differentiation 
between consumption by tourists and consumption by local residents.   
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 597



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 11 
 

 

 

 

Table 5: Employment in Tourism Industries, 2019 
 Tourism industry employment All industry employment Tourism Share 

High Peak 4,500 34,000 13% 

Staffordshire Moorlands 6,000 33,000 18% 

Allerdale 6,000 41,000 15% 

South Lakeland 13,000 57,000 23% 
Derbyshire Dales 7,000 36,000 19% 

Ribble Valley 4,000 31,000 13% 

Craven 4,500 33,000 14% 

Ryedale 4,500 29,000 16% 

England 2,908,000 27,149,000 11% 
Source: Business Register and Employment Survey 2019, ONS 

 
 
BUXTON & LEEK 
 
STEAM data is available for Buxton and for Leek and shows that Buxton attracts a third of the High Peak total visits and economic impact; Leek 
attracts 16% of Staffordshire Moorlands’ total visits and 13% of economic impact.   
 
Table 6: Tourism volume & value, Buxton 2019 

 Buxton High Peak  Buxton as proportion of High Peak 

Day Visits (m) 1.534 4.603 33% 
Staying visits (m) 0.144 0.442 33% 

Total visits (m) 1.679 5.045 33% 

Economic impact (£m) £94.02 £286.28 33% 

Employment (fte) 1,160 3,707 31% 

Serviced accommodation bedspaces 783 1,733 45% 

Non-serviced accommodation bedspaces 1,420 6,268 23% 
Resident population (2020) 22,399 92,600 24% 

P
age 598



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 12 
 

 

 

 

Source: STEAM 2019 
 

Table 7: Tourism volume & value, Leek 2019 
 Leek Staffordshire Moorlands  Leek as proportion of Staffordshire Moorlands 
Day Visits (m) 0.86 5.05 17% 

Staying visits (m) 0.064 0.554 12% 

Total visits (m) 0.92 5.6 16% 

Economic impact (£m) £43.5 £335.4 13% 

Employment (fte) 518 4,042 13% 

Serviced accommodation bedspaces 188 2,031 9% 
Non-serviced accommodation bedspaces 91 6,208 1.5% 

Resident population (2020) 20,028 98,400 20% 

Sources: STEAM 2019; www.citypopulation.de 

 
 
TOURISM SIC CODES 

 

Tourism Industries SIC2007 code Description 

Accommodation for visitors 55100 Hotels and similar accommodation 

  55202 Youth hostels 

  55300 Recreational vehicle parks, trailer parks & camping grounds 

  55201 Holiday centres and villages 

  55209 Other holiday and other collective accommodation 

  55900 Other accommodation 

Food and beverage serving activities 56101 Licensed restaurants 

  56102 Unlicensed restaurants and cafes 

  56103 Take-away food shops and mobile food stands 

P
age 599



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 13 
 

 

 

 

  56290 Other food services 

  56210 Event Catering Activities 

  56301 Licensed clubs 

  56302 Public houses and bars 

Railway passenger transport 49100 Passenger rail transport, interurban 

Road passenger transport 49320 Taxi Operation 

  49390 Other passenger land transport 

Water passenger transport 50100 Sea and coastal passenger water transport 

  50300 Inland passenger water transport 

Air passenger transport 51101 Scheduled passenger air transport 

  51102 Non-scheduled passenger air transport 

Transport equipment rental 77110 Renting & leasing of cars and light motor vehicles 

  77341 Renting & leasing of passenger water transport equipment 

  77351 Renting & leasing of passenger air transport equipment 

Travel agencies & other reservation services activities 79110 Travel agency activities 

  79120 Tour operator activities 

  79901 Activities of tour guides 

  79909 Other reservation service activities n.e.c. 

Cultural activities 90010 Performing arts 

  90020 Support Activities for the performing arts 

  90030 Artistic creation 

  90040 Operation of arts facilities 

  91020 Museums activities 

  91030 Operation of historical sites & buildings & similar attractions 

  91040 Botanical & zoological gardens and nature reserves activities 

P
age 600



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 14 
 

 

 

 

Sporting & recreational activities 92000 Gambling & betting activities 

  93110 Operation of sports facilities 

  93199 Other sports activities 

  93210 Activities of amusement parks and theme parks 

  93290 Other amusement and recreation activities nec 

  77210 Renting and leasing of recreational and sports goods 

Country-specific tourism characteristic activities 82301 Activities of exhibition and fair organisers 

  82302 Activities of conference organisers 

  68202 Letting and operating of conference and exhibition centres 

Source: Office for National Statistics 

 
 

P
age 601



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 15 
 

 

 

 

2. PRODUCT AUDIT 

KEY FINDINGS 
 

 High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands have many stand-out visitor experiences, predominantly featuring outdoor activities.  In this section we 
highlight these ‘signature experiences’ and their associated ‘hero’ products - themed clusters that present distinctive features.    

 Selected signature experiences for High Peak are: 
• Walking and hiking: High Peak has an outstanding walking offer, with countless, scenic paths and trails ranging from easy strolls to 

demanding hill climbs.  Of particular note are Kinder Scout, Mam Tor, Stanage Edge  (Derbyshire Dales) & Bamford Edge, Pennine Way and 
walks around Ladybower and Longdendale reservoirs. 

• Outdoor adventure: The geography of High Peak lends itself to adventurous outdoor activities, notably mountain biking, climbing and 
caving.  There are many activity providers offering courses and experiences. 

• Cycling: Hero products are: Trans Pennine Trail, Pennine Cycle Way, Monsall Trail, Winnats Pass. 
• Caverns and Caves: Show caves provide a unique High Peak visitor experience. Most popular are Poole’s Cavern, Treak Cliff Cavern, 

Speedwell Cavern and Peak Cavern. 
• Towns and villages: Hero products are Buxton, Castleton, Whaley Bridge, New Mills, Hayfield and Glossop. 
• Festivals and events: Hero products are Buxton International Festival, Hillhead quarrying exhibition, Tour of the Peak Sportive. 

 Selected signature experiences for Staffordshire Moorlands are: 
• Walking and hiking: Scenic and varied countryside walks, notably The Roaches, Dovedale & Ilam Park and the Staffordshire Way. 
• Cycling: Some attractive, traffic-free routes including The Manifold Way, Biddulph Valley Way, Caldon Canal, Oakamoor to Denstone 

Greenway and Leek to Rushton Spencer Greenway. 
• Water activities: A variety of water activities available on Rudyard Lake and Tittesworth Reservoir, as well as narrow boat hire on the 

Caldon Canal. 
• Family fun: Hero products – Alton Towers, Churnet Valley Railway, Foxfield Railway, Rudyard Lake Steam Railway, Peak Wildlife Park. 
• Gardens and nature attractions: Hero products – Biddulph Grange Garden, RSPB Coombes Valley and Consall Woods, National Trust 

Hawksmoor, Dimmingsdale, four country parks - Greenway Bank, Biddulph Grange, Deep Hayes and Ladderedge. 
• Towns and villages: Main places are Leek, Cheadle, Biddulph. 

P
age 602



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 16 
 

 

 

 

• Festivals and events: Include – Leek Show, Leek Arts Festival, Staffordshire Moorlands Walking Festival 
 High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands each have approximately 8,000 accommodation bedspaces, around a quarter of which are in serviced 

accommodation. Most serviced establishments are small, with 10 or fewer rooms.  The two large hotels (50+ rooms) in High Peak are The Palace 
Hotel (operated by Britannia) and the new, luxury Buxton Crescent Spa Hotel which opened in 2020 after a long period of redevelopment. In 
Staffordshire Moorlands, the three largest establishments are the theme park hotels at Alton Towers which together provide 1,000 bedspaces in 
500 rooms. 

 In 2019 there were 146 self-catering establishments (cottages, houses, apartments) in High Peak, 205 in Staffordshire Moorlands (down to 165 in 
2020). High Peak has 40 camping/caravan sites and 13 youth hostels; Staffordshire Moorlands has 37 camping/caravan sites and 10 youth hostels.   

 High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands each have around 400 private home rentals available through Airbnb, 60% on a full-time basis. 
 Findings from the 2019 Staffordshire Hotel & Visitor Accommodation Strategy (Hotel Solutions) suggest that there is strong demand in 

Staffordshire for boutique, luxury and 4-star B&Bs; a good market for high quality inns and pub accommodation; a clear need for additional non-
serviced accommodation to grow peak-season staying tourism across Staffordshire’s rural areas. (Note: the Strategy relates to all Staffordshire.) 

 For the conference market, Buxton has the striking Devonshire Dome and Pavilion Gardens offering capacities of 1,500/1,000 delegates. The 
Palace Hotel and The Buxton Crescent Health Spa Hotel can cater for 500 and 186 delegates respectively.  In Staffordshire Moorlands, Alton 
Towers Theme Park provides the largest conference spaces (up to 570 delegates).  

 
 
SIGNATURE EXPERIENCES 
 
In the tables below, we present signature experiences together with their hero products for High Peak and for Staffordshire Moorlands. Hero products 
have been selected using the following selection criteria: 

 Listed in travel guides/magazines/articles under best/leading/top 20 experiences of that type 

 Rates high in TripAdvisor and other similar platforms, relative to other similar places/sites/attractions in the region 

 Is part of a national network that gives it profile/positioning within certain markets, e.g. National Trust  

 Has a national status that sets it apart/is a mark of quality, e.g. National Trail 

 Is regionally/nationally well-known with an instantly recognisable name 

P
age 603



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 17 
 

 

 

 

 Is a distinctive feature of the area 

 It has a strong presence/following on Instagram/Twitter/Facebook 

Table 8: High Peak Signature Experiences 

Signature 
Experience 

Hero Products Location Description Meets Selection Criteria? 

Walking & hiking Kinder Scout Hayfield/ 
Edale 

Well known, popular hill walk, highest point in 
the Peak District (636m). Site of the 1932 Mass 
Trespass.  

National Trust, SSSI, National Nature 
Reserve 
No. 4 in AllTrails’ ‘best trails in 
England’ 
No. 6 in Trip Advisor’s Things to do in 
the Peak District National Park 

 Mam Tor Edale/ 
Castleton 

517m high hill. Well known, popular ridge walk.  No. 1 in AllTrails ‘best trails in 
England’ 
No. 4 in Trip Advisor’s Things to do in 
the Peak District National Park 

 Stanage Edge & 
Bamford Edge 

Bamford Stanage Edge (Derbyshire Dales) is a Gritstone 
edge stretching 4 miles. Bamford Edge is an 
overhang of gritstone rock. Both popular for 
walking and climbing + popular combined 
circular walk. 

No. 12 in AllTrails’ ‘best trails in 
England’ 
Stanage Edge – No. 13 in Trip 
Advisor’s Things to do in the Peak 
District National Park 

 Pennine Way From Edale National trail. 268 miles from Edale to Kirk 
Yetholm, Scottish borders. 

National Trail 

 Reservoir walks Ladybower 
Reservoir, 
Derwent Dam, 

Linear and circular walks around reservoirs. 
 

Derwent /Ladybower – No. 5 and No. 
12 in Trip Advisor’s Things to do in 
the Peak District National Park 

P
age 604



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 18 
 

 

 

 

Longdendale 
reservoirs 

   
Outdoor 
Adventure  

Mountain biking various Many mountain biking trails including the 
Pennine Bridleway and downhill paths at 
Ladybower Reservoir, Chinley Churn & Middle 
Moor, Jacob’s Ladder, Roych Clough. 

Pennine Bridleway – a National Trail 
Others are featured in ‘Top 5 Peak 
District mountain bike routes’, 
Mountain Bike Rider publication.  

 Climbing & 
Bouldering 

various Popular climbing location for beginners and 
advanced. Examples are Burbage North, 
Burbage South, Laddow Rocks, Kinder Downfall, 
Windgather Rocks. Indoor climbing wall at 
Bamford Adventure Hub. Also, significant 
climbing area (in adjacent Derbyshire Dales) 
incorporating, Stanage Edge, Froggatt Edge & 
Curbar Edge. 

Distinctive feature of the area.  
’10 routes to climb in the Peak 
District’, Go Outdoors blog 

 Caving Castleton area Major caving destination including Peak Cavern, 
P8 Jackpot, Giant’s Hole, Titan (UK’s largest 
natural underground shaft). 

Distinctive feature of the area 
Timeoutdoors.com, ‘Caving in the 
Peak District - Top 5 experiences’. 

P
age 605



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 19 
 

 

 

 

 Activity centres various Many outdoor centres and activity providers 
offering instructor-led courses/experiences (e.g. 
climbing, abseiling, caving, horse riding, 
mountain biking, high-wire (including Go Ape, 
Buxton). 

  

   
Cycling Trans Pennine Trail Through 

Glossop & 
Longdendale 

National, 215-mile coast-to-coast, multi-user 
route from Southport to Hornsea.  Mostly off-
road with mixture of surfaced, level paths and 
rougher sections.  Longdendale section is part 
of the National Cycle Network Route 62. 

National Trail, NCN Route 62 

 Pennine Cycleway Through 
Buxton & 
Longdendale 

355-mile route from Derby to Berwick-upon-
Tweed. Includes Buxton, New Mills, 
Charlesworth, Glossop, Longdendale Trail. Hilly 
route with mixture of quiet roads, railway 
paths, canal towpaths and forestry roads.   

Part of National Cycle Network, NCN 
Route 68 and Route 62 

 Monsal Trail Blackwell Mill 
to Bakewell 

8.5 mile traffic-free route along former Midland 
Railway line.  Easy level path. 

No. 1 in Trip Advisor’s Things to do in 
the Peak District National Park 
NCN route 680 

P
age 606



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 20 
 

 

 

 

 Winnats Pass Castleton Steep, narrow road through limestone valley. 
Challenging road-bike climb. Used for Tour of 
the Peak cycle race and National Hill Climb 
Championships.  

National Trust 

   
Caverns and 
Caves 

Poole’s Cavern & 
Country Park 

Buxton Spectacular limestone show cave with many 
chambers, passages, crystal stalactites.  

No. 3 in Trip Advisor’s Things to do in 
the Peak District National Park 

 Treak Cliff Cavern Castleton Unique show cave with famous Blue John stone, 
found only in Castleton. 

No. 8 in Trip Advisor’s Things to do in 
the Peak District National Park 

 Speedwell Cavern Castleton Underground cave system-journey by boat. No. 11 in Trip Advisor’s Things to do 
in the Peak District National Park 

 Peak Cavern Castleton Also known as the Devil’s Arse. Largest cave 
entrance in Britain, largest cave system in the 
Peak District. 

No. 14 in Trip Advisor’s Things to do 
in the Peak District National Park 

P
age 607



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 21 
 

 

 

 

    
Towns & villages.  Buxton Buxton Thermal spa town, highest market town in 

England. Beautiful Georgian and Victorian 
architecture. Buxton Opera House, Pavilion 
Gardens, Devonshire Dome. Population 22,000. 

In ‘Britain’s top 10 Georgian Spa 
towns’, Britain-magazine.com (Visit 
Britain) 

 Castleton Castleton Attractive village at the head of the Hope 
Valley, overlooked by Mam Tor. Popular for 
walking, show caves, Peveril Castle (English 
Heritage), shops, pubs. Population 600. 

Show caves all in top 20 Things to do 
in the Peak District National Park 

 Whaley Bridge Whaley Bridge Village at the head of the Peak Forest Canal. 
Known as the ‘Gateway to the Goyt Valley’.  
Centred around a conservation area and Grade 
II Listed Transhipment Warehouse. Bugsworth 
Basin was once one of the largest inland ports 
on the English canal system. Canalside walks, 
selection of shops, cafes, pubs and restaurants. 
Population 6,500. 

 

 New Mills New Mills Town set above a rocky gorge (The Torrs). 
Impressive viaduct and historic mill buildings. In 

 

P
age 608



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 22 
 

 

 

 

early 1800s, the town had 9 cotton mills, 3 
weaving mills and 3 printworks.  Millennium 
Walkway links Torrs Riverside Park to several 
walking and cycling routes. Independent shops, 
cafes, pubs. Population 12,000. 

 Hayfield Hayfield Attractive village at the foot of Kinder Scout. 
Birthplace of Arthur Lowe (Captain 
Mainwaring). Annual Country Show and Sheep 
Dog Trials. Population 2,000. 

Renowned Kinder Scout 

 Glossop Glossop Market town at the foot of the Snake Pass. 
Converted cotton mills, shops, pubs, weekly 
markets. Population 33,000. 

 

   
Festivals & events Buxton International 

Festival 
Buxton Annual international festival of opera, music 

and books.  Held in July. 
 

 Hillhead quarrying 
exhibition 

Buxton UK’s largest quarrying exhibition. Held in June 
at Hillhead quarry.  600 exhibitors, 20,000 
visitors. 

 

P
age 609



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 23 
 

 

 

 

 Tour of the Peak 
Sportive 

Bakewell to 
Hope Valley 

Challenging cycle road cycle race.  115 miles, 
steep climbs. Held in May. 

 

   
Source: Blue Sail online research. Source of photos: visitpeakdistrict.com, transpenninetrail.org.uk, komoot.com, peakdistrictkids.co.uk, letsgopeakdostrict.co.uk, 
highpeak.gov.uk, cyclosport.org 

 
Table 9: Staffordshire Moorlands Signature Experiences 

Signature 
Experience 

Hero Products Location Description Meets Selection Criteria? 

Walking and 
hiking 

The Roaches Leek Well known spot for walkers and climbers with 
dramatic gritstone edges, craggy rocks and 
panoramic views. 

No. 2 in AllTrails’ ‘Best trails in 
England. 
No. 19 in Trip Advisor’s Things to do 
in Staffordshire. 

 Dovedale & Ilam 
Park. 

Ilam Dovedale is a renowned beauty spot. 
Picturesque valley following the River Dove. 
Famous stepping stones.  Ilam Park is a country 
park and woodland on the banks of the River 
Manifold. Managed by the National Trust. 
Youth Hostel, small caravan site, NT shop. 

National Trust 
No. 33 in Trip Advisor’s Things to do 
in the Peak District 

P
age 610



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 24 
 

 

 

 

 Staffordshire Way Mow Cop, 
Cheshire to 
Kinver Edge, 
Stourbridge 

Long distance footpath (95 miles) which starts 
near Biddulph and passes by Rudyard Lake, 
along Caldon Canal and Churnet Valley. 

LDWA path 

   
Cycling The Manifold Way Hulme End to 

Waterhouses 
8-mile track for walkers, cyclists and horse 
riders following the route of the disused Leek 
and Manifold Light Railway.  Mostly traffic-free. 
Cycle hire available at Waterhouses. 

  

 
 

Biddulph Valley Way Stoke-on-
Trent to 
Congleton 

13-mile traffic-free path for walkers, cyclists and 
horse riders. Follows former Biddulph Valley 
railway line. Part of Route 55, National Cycle 
Network 

On National Cycle network (Route 
55) 

 Caldon Canal Stoke-on-
Trent to 
Froghall Wharf 

Built in 1776. Runs for 18 miles, with 17 locks, 
Froghall Tunnel. Canal path for walkers & 
cyclists.  Part of NCN Route 550 and NCN Route 
559. 

On National Cycle Network (Routes 
550 and 559) 

 Oakamoor to 
Denstone Greenway 

Oakamoor to 
Denstone 

6-mile path for walkers, cyclists and horse riders 
on disused railway. 

  

P
age 611



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 25 
 

 

 

 

 Leek to Rushton 
Spencer Greenway 

Leek to 
Rushton 
Spencer 

5-mile path on disused railway line. Goes 
alongside Rudyard Lake. Part of the 
Staffordshire Way. 

 

   
Water activities Rudyard Lake Rudyard 66-hectare reservoir with walking and cycling 

trails, rowing boats, canoeing, sailing, fishing, 
visitor centre, activity centre, café. 

No. 11 in ‘Best days out in 
Staffordshire’, dayoutinengland.com 

 Tittesworth 
Reservoir 

Near Leek 77-hectare reservoir (Severn Trent Water). 
Canoeing, kayaking and paddleboarding hire, 
taster sessions, self-launch, summer activity 
programs, British canoeing courses. Visitor 
centre, gift shop, restaurant.  100 hectares of 
wildlife habitat.  

No. 15 in ‘Best days out in 
Staffordshire’, dayoutinengland.com 

 Caldon Canal Stoke-on-
Trent to 
Froghall Wharf 

Narrow boat hire available from a number of 
companies. 

  

P
age 612



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 26 
 

 

 

 

   
Family fun Alton Towers Alton Major theme park. 2m annual visits UK’s biggest theme park. 

No. 4 in Trip Advisor’s top Theme 
Parks in England. 

 Churnet Valley 
Railway 

Froghall Heritage railway with steam train rides.  11-mile 
return journey from Froghall to Cheddleton.  
Dining trains, Grade II Listed Victorian station at 
Cheddleton and small museum. 

34,000 followers on Facebook 

 Foxfield Railway Blythe Bridge Steam railway. 3.6km train ride.  Cream Tea 
Trains, Footplate rides, Steam driver 
experience. Miniature railway, museum, gift 
shop, café, events. 

No. 30 in Trip Advisor’s Things to do 
in Staffordshire. 

 Rudyard Lake Steam 
Railway 

Leek Miniature railway with 3-mile return trip along 
the side of Rudyard Lake. 5 steam engines, 
special events, Santa specials, café. 

13,000 followers on Facebook 

 Peak Wildlife Park Winkhill, Leek Walkthrough areas with red squirrels, lemurs, 
penguins, wallabies, African village, animal 
experiences.  Indoor play, cafe. 

36,000 followers on Facebook 

P
age 613



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 27 
 

 

 

 

   
Gardens, nature 
& countryside 
attractions 

Biddulph Grange 
Garden 

Biddulph Victorian garden created by James Bateman 
with a Chinese garden, Italian garden and 
Scottish glen. Gift shop, plant centre, tearoom. 

National Trust 

 RSPB Coombes 
Valley and Consall 
Woods 

Bradnop, Leek 100-hectare woodland reserve. Oldest RSPB 
nature reserve in the Midlands. Nature trail. 

RSPB, SSSI 

 National Trust 
Hawksmoor 

Cheadle Ancient woodland National Trust 

 Dimmingsdale Alton Once part of the Earl of Shrewsbury’s Alton 
Towers estate, now a Forestry England beauty 
spot in Churnet Valley.  An SSSI. Award winning 
Ramblers Retreat tearoom. 

SSSI 
No. 2 in Trip Advisor’s Top 
Attractions in Staffordshire 

 Country Parks Near Biddulph 
and Leek 

Greenway Bank, Biddulph Grange, Deep Hayes 
and Ladderedge Country Parks all provide 
attractive countryside areas with woodland, 
meadows, ponds and paths. 

  

P
age 614



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 28 
 

 

 

 

   
Towns and 
villages 

Leek Leek Historic market town. Cobbled market square, 
independent shops, antique shops and markets, 
traditional markets, Nicholson Museum & Art 
Gallery, Foxlowe Arts Centre. 

 

 Cheadle Cheadle Market town near Alton Towers. Independent 
shops and cafes, indoor market, St Giles 
Catholic Church (Pugin’s Gem’). 

 

 Biddulph Biddulph Originally a mining town, now known as the 
Garden Town of Staffordshire. Award winning 
floral displays, artisan markets. 

 

P
age 615



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 29 
 

 

 

 

   
Festivals & events Leek Show Leek Annual agricultural show.  Held in July.  

 Leek Arts Festival Leek Arts festival held in May.  

 Staffordshire 
Moorlands Walking 
Festival 

Leek 11-day walking festival held at the end of 
April/early May.  40 free walks with guides and 
walk leaders. 

 

   
Source: Blue Sail online research 
Source of photos: visitpeakdistrict.com, peakdistrictkids.co.uk, enjoystaffordshire.com, rudyardlake.com, rspb.or.uk, inyourarea.co.uk, 
foxloweartscentre.org.uk, staffsmoorlandswalkingfestival.co.uk 
 
 

P
age 616



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 30 
 

 

 

 

VISITOR ACCOMMODATION: BEDSPACE SUPPLY 
 
High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands each have around 8,000 accommodation bedspaces, around a quarter of which are in serviced accommodation.  

 
 

  
Source: STEAM 2019 (with Travelodge Glossop added) 

 
 
  

P
age 617



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 31 
 

 

 

 

SERVICED ACCOMMODATION  
 
High Peak serviced accommodation 
In 2019 there were 121 serviced accommodation establishments in High Peak, supplying over 1,800 bedspaces. (Note: as with the tourism performance 
analysis above, the following table refers to 2019 data. With the opening of the new Buxton Crescent in 2020, there are now three large hotels in High 
Peak – The Palace Hotel, Buxton, the Buxton Crescent Hotel, and the Travelodge Glossop.)  Including the Buxton Crescent hotel, just 14% of total serviced 
stock have more than 10 rooms.   
 
Table 10: High Peak serviced accommodation stock, 2019 

 Number of establishments Number of bedspaces 
50+ rooms (see note above) 2 391 

11-50 rooms 15 547 

1-10 rooms 104 932 

Total 121 1,870 
Source: STEAM 2019 (with Travelodge Glossop added) 

 
Close to a third of serviced establishments are located in the Hope Valley (Castleton, Edale, Bamford, Hope), a quarter in Buxton, 15% in Glossop.  
Recorded quality ratings are (source: accommodation files 2020, STEAM):  
 

Quality rating (VB/AA) Number of establishments 
2-star 2  
3-star 20  
4-star 35 
5-star 2 
No VB/AA star rating 62 

 
Selected hotels and B&Bs are provided in the following table: 
  

P
age 618



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 32 
 

 

 

 

Table 11: Selection of hotels in High Peak 

Hotel Location Number of 
rooms 

Description Photo 

Buxton Crescent 
Health Spa Hotel 

Buxton 81 Grade I listed building built in the 1780s.  Buxton’s centre piece 
crescent.  Major redevelopment programme started in 2003. Now a 
luxury, 5-star health spa hotel which opened in October 2020, 
operated by Ensana Hotels. 

 
Palace Hotel Buxton 122 Grand Victorian building. Operated by Britannia Hotels. Popular 

conference & banqueting venue. Health club with pool, gym, beauty 
rooms.  Poor customer ratings on booking.com and Tripadvisor. 

 
Old Hall Hotel Buxton 35 3-star hotel. Oldest hotel in England. Operated by Ensana Hotels. 

 
Lee Wood Hotel Buxton 38 Best Western 3-star hotel. 

 
Roseleigh Guest 
House 

Buxton 14 4-star guest house in Grade II listed building. 

 
Losehill House 
Hotel & Spa 

Castleton 23 4-star hotel & spa. 

 

P
age 619



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 33 
 

 

 

 

Hotel Location Number of 
rooms 

Description Photo 

Yorkshire Bridge 
Inn 

Bamford 14 Family-owned, award winning, 4-star inn. 

 
Underleigh House Hope Valley 4 5-star B&B converted from a cottage and shippon in 1873. 

 
Ye Olde Nags Head Castleton  9 17th century coaching inn. 

 
Travelodge Glossop Glossop 62 Travelodge 

 
Windy Harbour 
Farm 

Glossop 6 Restaurant with 4-star B&B accommodation. 

 
Source: Blue Sail online research; STEAM 2020 
Photos: visitbuxton.co.uk, visitpeakdistrict.com, booking.com, Travelodge.co.uk  

 
  

P
age 620



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 34 
 

 

 

 

Staffordshire Moorlands serviced accommodation 
In 2019 there were 73 serviced accommodation establishments in Staffordshire Moorlands supplying just over 2,000 bedspaces.  The majority (84%) are 
small with 1-10 rooms.  (Note: In 2020 there were 24 fewer establishments (all <10 rooms).   
 
Table 12: Staffordshire Moorlands serviced accommodation stock, 2019 

 Number of establishments Number of bedspaces 

50+ rooms 4 1,126 

11-50 rooms 8 331 

1-10 rooms 61 574 

Total 73 2,031 
Source: STEAM 2019  

 
Three of the four hotels offering 50+ bedrooms are based at the Alton Towers theme park.  The other is a Premier Inn in Leek town centre.  
 
Recorded quality ratings are (source: accommodation files 2020, STEAM):  
 

Quality rating (VB/AA) Number of establishments 
2-star 1  
3-star 6  
4-star 19  
5-star 1 
No VB/AA star rating 30  

 
Hotels/guest houses that offer 8+ rooms and are of minimum 3-star standard, are shown in the following table:   
 
 
  

P
age 621



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 35 
 

 

 

 

Table 13: Selection of Hotels in Staffordshire Moorlands 

Hotel Location Number of 
rooms 

Description Photo 

Splash Landings 
Hotel 

Alton Towers 249 Theme park hotel 

 
Alton Towers Hotel Alton Towers 175 Theme park hotel 

 
CBeebies Land 
Hotel 

Alton Towers 76 Theme park hotel 

 
Premier Inn Leek 
Town Centre 

Leek 63 Premier Inn hotel 

 
Izaak Walton Hotel Ilam 38 3-star 17th century country house hotel 

 
Three Horseshoes 
Country Inn 

Blackshaw Moor 
nr Leek 

26 4-star boutique country inn and spa 

 

P
age 622



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 36 
 

 

 

 

Hotel Location Number of 
rooms 

Description Photo 

Hotel Rudyard Rudyard nr Leek 12 3-star country hotel 

 
White Heart Tea 
Room & 
Accommodation 

Leek 8 Tea room in Grade II Listed building in Leek town centre with 4-star 
accommodation. 

 
The Dog & 
Partridge Country 
Inn 

Nr Ashbourne 29 3-star, 17th century inn 

 
Heaton House 
Farm 

Rushton Spencer 15 Award winning, countryside wedding venue 

 
The Manifold Inn Hulme End 12 3-star coaching inn and restaurant 

 
The Manor Cheadle 11 4-star guest house 

 

P
age 623



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 37 
 

 

 

 

Hotel Location Number of 
rooms 

Description Photo 

Whiston Hall Hotel  Whiston 9 19th century hotel and golf resort  

 
Source: Blue Sail online research; STEAM 2020 
Photos: enjoystaffordshire.com, booking.com and individual property sites 

 
 
NON-SERVICED ACCOMMODATION  
 
High Peak non-serviced accommodation 
In 2019 there were 199 non-serviced establishments in High Peak, supplying over 6,200 bedspaces.   
 
Table 14: High Peak non-serviced accommodation stock, 2019 

 Number of establishments Number of bedspaces 

Self-catering (cottages, houses, apartments) 146 958 
Static caravans/lodges  

40 
246 

Touring caravans/camping 4,314 

Youth Hostels 13 750 

Total 199 6,268 
Source: STEAM 2019 
 
Key locations for self-catering properties are the Hope Valley, the Buxton area and High Peak.  Recorded quality ratings are (source: accommodation files 
2020, STEAM):  
  

P
age 624



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 38 
 

 

 

 

 
Quality rating (VB/AA) Number of establishments 
2/2-3-star 2 
3-star 14 
4-star 23 
5-star 8 
Applied 4 
No VB/AA star rating 95 

 
The area is well served for camping & touring caravans, with 40 sites providing over 4,000 bedspaces.  The larger sites are located in Buxton, Hayfield, 
Edale and Hope.   
 
The main glamping provision (based on online ‘glamping’ searches) is: 

• Edale Gathering, Edale Valley: 4 tented safari lodges with hot baths, 4-bed lodge and large gritstone hall for parties/weddings/corporate groups 

• Lime Tree Holiday Park, Buxton: 4 glamping pods 

• Hayfield Club Site, Hayfield: 3 glamping pods 

• Peak View Shepherd Huts, Glossop: 4 shepherd huts and 2 hot tubs 

• North Lees Campsite, north of Hathersage: 7 glamping pods 

 
Staffordshire Moorlands non-serviced accommodation 
In 2019, there were 252 non-serviced establishments in Staffordshire Moorlands supplying over 6,000 bedspaces.  (Note: in 2020 there were 40 fewer 
self-catering establishments.  
 
Table 15: Staffordshire Moorlands non-serviced accommodation stock, 2019 

 Number of establishments Number of bedspaces 

Self-catering (cottages, houses, apartments) 205 1,480 
Static caravans/lodges 37 457 

P
age 625



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 39 
 

 

 

 

Touring caravans/camping 3,735 

Youth Hostels 10 536 

Total 252 6,208 

Source: STEAM 2019 
 
The main centres for self-catering provision are the Leek, Buxton and Ashbourne areas.   Recorded quality ratings are (source: accommodation files 2020, 
STEAM):  
 

Quality rating (VB/AA) Number of establishments 
2-star 0 
3/3-4-star 16 
4-star 26 
4-5/5-star 3 
No VB/AA star rating 128 

 
From the high proportion of establishments without a VB/AA star rating, it is clear that these rating figures only provide a partial picture of quality.  A 
search on cottages.com for the Leek area lists 73 self-catering properties, of which 85% receive a 4 or 5-star, cottages.com rating. 

 
Caravan/camping sites provide over 4,000 bedspaces with principal locations being: Hulme End, Cheddleton, Longnor, Cheadle, Rudyard, Alton, Biggin-by-
Hartington, Fradley Junction, Blackshaw Moor, Freehay, Cauldon Lowe, and Grindon Moor.  
 
The main glamping provision (based on online ‘glamping’ searches) is: 

• Alton Towers Theme Park: glamping pods 

• Longnor Wood Holiday Park (adult-only), Longnor: glamping pods 

• Secret Cloud House Holidays, Cauldon: 5 glamping yurts with hot tubs 

• Scaldersitch Farm Boutique Camping near Hartington: 3 yurts and 2 tipis, all with hot tubs 

• Peak Glamping Hideaway, Quarnford (near Buxton): 2 yurts and a 1 shepherd’s hut 

P
age 626



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 40 
 

 

 

 

• Upper Hurst Farm, Hulme End: 1 yurt with hot tub 
 
Airbnb 
AirDNA (provider of short-term rental data for Airbnb and Vrbo) reports approximately 400 private home rentals for both High Peak and Staffordshire 
Moorlands, with around 60% available on a full-time basis. 
 
Table 16: AirDNA data 

 High Peak Staffordshire Moorlands 
Entire home 336 361 

Private room 79 37 

Total active rentals 415 398 

Entire home rentals as percentage of total active rentals 80% 90% 
% available full time 61% 60% 

Average rental size (bedrooms) 2.1 2.1 

Average rental size (guests) 4.5 5 
Airbnb ratings (% at least 4.5 overall) 93% 89% 

Source: AirDNA 

 
Staffordshire Hotel & Visitor Accommodation Strategy 
A number of findings from the 2019 Staffordshire Hotel & Visitor Accommodation Strategy (Hotel Solutions) are worth highlighting here (note: the 
Strategy relates to all Staffordshire): 
 

 There is very limited provision in terms of boutique hotels, aparthotels and country house hotels, and there has been no take up of hotel products 
being actively developed in other locations such as budget boutique hotels, lifestyle hotels, branded aparthotels, university conference hotels, 
and golf resorts. 

 Budget hotel performance is strong across the county, with capacity often reached on Saturdays & Sundays between April and October, as well as 
Tuesday and Wednesday nights throughout the year.  Performance is particularly strong in Hanley, Leek, Lichfield and Uttoxeter.   

P
age 627



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 41 
 

 

 

 

 There is strong demand for boutique, luxury and 4-star B&Bs, with evidence of shortages of such accommodation at weekends between April and 
October, and during the week in the peak summer months. 

 There is a good market for high quality inns and pub accommodation: existing such pub accommodation businesses are frequently trading at full 
capacity, especially in the summer and in Lichfield and Staffordshire Moorlands. 

 There is a strong but seasonal market for all types of non-serviced accommodation, with clear evidence of shortages of all categories of such 
accommodation (because existing businesses are fully booked) at weekends between April and October and throughout the week between June 
and September. 

 Additional non-serviced accommodation is clearly needed to grow peak season staying tourism across Staffordshire’s rural areas. While the 
season is gradually extending as non-serviced accommodation businesses weatherproof their offer, the market remains largely seasonal, with 
plenty of availability at off-peak times. Care is needed therefore not to dilute off-peak business by increasing peak season capacity too quickly 

 
 
CONFERENCE VENUES 
 
Buxton is the principal location for conference activity, with The Devonshire Dome and Pavilion Gardens offering impressive spaces, catering for 1,500 and 
1,000 delegates respectively.  The Palace Hotel and The Buxton Crescent Health Spa Hotel both have a number of meeting rooms with maximum 
capacities of 500 and 186.  In Staffordshire Moorlands, Alton Towers Theme Park provides the largest conference spaces (up to 570).  A selection of 
larger-capacity venues is provided below. 
 
Table 17: Selection of Conference Venues 

Venue Location Description Max capacity 
(theatre style) 

High Peak    

The Devonshire Dome Buxton Grade II Listed 18th Century former stable block.  Spaces: The Dome 
(capacity 1,500/1,300 sq. ft exhibition space), Devonshire Business Suite 
(capacity 300), lecture theatre (capacity 110), 13 further meeting rooms 
(max 140). 

1,500 

P
age 628



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 42 
 

 

 

 

Pavilion Gardens Buxton Grade II Listed Victorian venue. Spaces: The Octagon – Grade II Listed 
Victorian concert hall (capacity 1,000) 
The Pavilion Arts Centre - home of Buxton Cinema (capacity 360 main 
room + 93 studio theatre) 
3 meeting rooms (capacities 120, 35, 12) 

1,000 

The Palace Hotel Buxton 4-star hotel with 8 meeting rooms 500 

Buxton Crescent Health Spa Hotel Buxton 5-star hotel with 7 meeting rooms 186 

Lee Wood Hotel Buxton 3-star hotel with 7 meeting rooms 120 

Torr Vale Mill New Mills Grade II Listed former cotton mill. Events/conference room 300 

Losehill House Hotel & Spa Castleton 4-star hotel with 3 meeting rooms and a marquee 120 
YHA Castleton Castleton Youth hostel with 2 meeting rooms 80 

Staffordshire Moorlands    

Alton Towers Theme Park 
 

Alton Towers Range of flexible meeting room spaces 570 

Three Horseshoes Country Inn & 
Spa 

Blackshaw Moor 
nr Leek 

4-star country hotel with 1 dividable meeting room 180 

The Izaak Walton Country House 
Hotel 

Ilam Country house hotel with 5 meeting rooms 130 

YHA Ilam Ilam Youth hostel with 3 meeting rooms 100 
Source: Blue Sail online research 
 

P
age 629



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 43 
 

 

 

 

HIGH PEAK FAM DESTINATION AUDIT MAY 2022 

 
Towns & Villages Visited  

 Glossop 

 Castleton 

 Whaley Bridge 

 New Mills 

 Hayfield  

 Buxton 

 
Other than Buxton, all are essentially villages. 
 
 
Access/Orientation 
Across all towns and villages signage and orientation was excellent. 
Signage from main roads and between towns was good (although 
presumably less important these days with satnav) and once within each town, signage to car parks, and primary points of interest were comprehensive 
and easy to follow. There were lots of brown tourist signs directing to visitor attractions. Finger posts signed to attractions and points of interest were 
multiple and well-placed. And in the main well maintained (with a few exceptions).  
 
Interpretation boards telling the story of the town and particular attractions were common and well done, many following the same design and 
presentation.  A number of the older style ones, would benefit from cleaning and/or refreshing.  
 
Walking trails around the smaller towns and villages (not Buxton) are common, well signed and well interpreted.  
Signs were variously produced by Derbyshire County Council, High Peak Borough Council and the relevant town councils. 

P
age 630



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 44 
 

 

 

 

 
   

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 631



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 45 
 

 

 

 

Visitor Services & Facilities 
In all towns and villages there were pleasant public realm, public toilets (well-signed in the main), seats and benches. 
There was plenty of car parks – many of them with EV charging stations. Payment was in cash or (recently introduced) phone/app, rather than card 
payment. Prices were cheap even in Buxton – less than £1 for an hour; in New Mills first hour was free.  There was a lot of on street parking. 
 
Other than Buxton, there was a range of independent cafes, restaurants and pubs as well as a range of mid-brand options (Costa, Wetherspoons etc in 
the bigger places). The cafes had character and served lunches, coffees, cakes which were homemade but not exciting. Many of the restaurants were 
ethnic and/or mainstream. The pubs looked pleasant and fairly traditional, some (e.g. in Glossop) were community run. 
 
There was a good range of independent shops, mostly serving the local community. In each there was at least one gallery, antique shop, craft shop, often 
a few. Glossop had a range of perhaps five or six outlets/galleries for local craftspeople.  
 
There was very little accommodation evident within the towns. Glossop had a Travel Lodge, Hayfield had the prominent and attractive looking Royal 
Hotel plus a couple of smaller guest houses. A number of the older hotels seemed to have reverted to pubs. In Whaley Bridge the empty and neglected 
Jodrell Arms beside the station had scaffolding around. 

 
  

P
age 632



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 46 
 

 

 

 

   

 

 
  

 

 
  

P
age 633



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 47 
 

 

 

 

Attractiveness & Atmosphere 
Generally one could spend a couple of hours in each of the towns, possibly longer if a meal was included. They are pleasant, tidy, well kept places. The old 
mills have been repurposed or demolished, they are set in attractive, wooded locations, often beside water. There is a sense of strong, (relatively) 
prosperous communities.  
 
There are no significant attractions – small museums, heritage buildings, town trails and walks.  The stories of the place are well told through 
interpretation boards, and sense of place is strong. 
 
Glossop 
Glossop is very near Manchester and has the reputation of being a place that creatives from Manchester move to. Its 
on a direct train line (goes as far as Bramford, one step further than Glossop). It’s creativity is evident – the Creative 
Trust has workspace and there are several arty shops and galleries exhibiting work of designer and makers. Its main 
square (see pic above) is attractive and the old market hall which faces directly onto the square is being refurbished 
and will rehouse the market with arts space above. The external space at the rear of the market hall would make a 
good events space.  
 
There are two new (small) retail parks – one in the centre of town and the other at the end of the (long) high street. 
The one in the centre has vacancies. These retail and entertainment spaces don’t appear to have adversely affected 
the town centre. 
 
There is a walkway by the waterway that goes through the town. It doesn’t seem to be passable the whole way (a section goes under a road) and is 
largely underused and would not be evident to a visitor.  

P
age 634



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 48 
 

 

 

 

Castleton 
Castleton is the most obviously touristy of the towns and villages (other than Buxton). 
It’s small and pleasant village, with the main road running through the middle and a few 
eating places and tourist/outdoor orientated shops. It’s home to the Peak District 
National Park Visitor Centre – which is large and impressive - and jumping off point for 
visiting a number of the caverns. The caverns are in stunning locations with great views, 
but certainly Speedwell Cavern looked a bit tired.  
 
 
 
 
Whaley Bridge 
Another pleasant High Peak town. The main attraction is the Canal Basin and walks along the canal and through the village via old 
routes past Goyt Mills and the Whaley incline (an old tramway, now a walk).  
 
 
 
 
New Mills 
Similar in feel to Whaley Bridge, the main attraction is Torr Mills, the millennium walkway and various themed routes through the village and along the 
river, including the Sett Valley trail which links to Hayfield (2.5 miles).  It has a heritage centre – which although well signed 
was not to be found! 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 635



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 49 
 

 

 

 

Hayfield  
Hayfield is a tiny village cut in two by the A624. Despite this it’s very pleasant with quirky feel, a couple of shops, some 
accommodation. It’s claim to fame is the starting point of the mass trespass of Kinder Scout. Derbyshire County Council had 
an office there – now empty but still with public toilets, parking and walks (including Sett Trail to New Mills and Pennine 
Bridleway).  
 
 
Buxton 
Buxton is very different from the other High Peak villages. Its Georgian buildings – the Opera House, the Pavilion and the Crescent plus the Pavilion 
Gardens and the Slopes are lovely and clearly attract a lot of visitors. The new Ensana Spa Hotel within the refurbished Crescent is impressive and a range 
of small deli/restaurants, wine bars, craft beer shops appear to be cropping up around it.  
 
The pump room hosts a very attractive visitor centre run the Crescent Trust. 
 
The station is nearby and links to Manchester.  
 
What lets Buxton down is its retail and its independent eating/drinking. Spring Gardens – the new pedestrianised area and covered mall feels shabby with 
poor shopfronts and merchandise spilling out onto what should be a pleasant al fresco area. Upper Buxton, supposedly home to independent shopping is 
the High Street with a range of very ordinary shops, eating places and pubs. The only attraction might be Scriveners Bookshop. The outdoor market is held 
on the High Street every Tuesday and Thursday. The covered mall which is part of the Crescent is a lovely space with a stained glass roof but the shops 
have mass produced items – jewellery, clothing, bags.  
 
The public space is a clutter of advertising banners and boards. 
 
Other than a visit to the Pavilion and Gardens it’s hard to see what would keep a visitor long in Buxton. 

P
age 636



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 50 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 
OTHER OBSERVATIONS 
 

 Scenery is lovely – Snake Pass from Glossop to Castleton passes over the Pennines with a variety of dramatic scenery down to the 
reservoir at Heatherdene run by Severn Trent Water (served by a large visitor car park and various walks).  

 Otherwise the scenery is a mix of hills, woodlands, waterways with views to the higher peaks/moorlands. 

 Towns and countryside appear well cared for and maintained – no litter. 

 Traffic a big problem through the villages which are mostly strung along main roads – lots of lorries, vans as well as cars – which doesn’t 
create a pleasant atmosphere.  

 Despite the plethora of reasonably priced or free car parks, there is a lot of on-street (free) car parking in the smaller villages which 
affects the public realm and atmosphere. 

 There are lots of other even smaller villages – Bamford, Hope, Chapel en le Firth – which have some facilities but no real reason to visit. 

 There is a range of eating places and accommodation in the rural area – and a few signposts to camping sites. 

P
age 637



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 51 
 

 

 

 

 Bike & Boot Hotel are building a new 65 room hotel in the Hope Valley between Hope and Castleton. It’s due to open in 2022 

 There were a lot of cyclists – road bikes and off road – solo and small groups. Also walkers. Also some bikers. 

 In Buxton market largely older couples/groups – 70+. 

 In other locations the market appeared to be older couples (50+) and couples with pre-school children out and about, walking, visiting 
the caverns. 

 There are no big attractions (other than the caverns) – the offer essentially comprises Georgian Buxton, walking and cycling. 

 The area is relatively easily accessed by train from west (Manchester) and east (Sheffield); and by road from all directions; buses also in 
evidence between the villages, although not clear how easy it would be to get around. 

 

P
age 638



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 52 
 

 

 

 

STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND DESTINATION AUDIT MAY 2022 
 
Towns & Villages Visited  

 Cheadle 

 Froghall 

 Oakamoor 

 Alton 

 Ilam 

 Hulme End 

 Rudyard 

 Biddulph/Biddulph Moor 

 Leek 

The largest town is Leek (20,000) with almost the same number in Biddulph. Cheadle 
is approximately half that and most of the other locations visited were villages. 
 
Access/Orientation 
Signage and orientation to towns and villages including brown on white signs for major attractions was very good. In the towns parking seemed plentiful 
and signage to it mostly good with the exception of Cheadle where signage marking the entry to the car park is absent. 
It is surprising that all car parking (Staffordshire Moorlands, Staffordshire County Council, Severn Trent, National Trust) required cash payments for pay 
and display. There were no app or card payment options available. The costs of parking were reasonable. 
In the main towns, signs in or near parking provided information/interpretation on the destination, finger posts to main attractions and services e.g. 
toilets. The signs were all clean and well maintained. Some were getting old and tired and could be renewed but by and large they were good. 

P
age 639



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 53 
 

 

 

 

At many sites with trails and walks there was plenty of information regarding the route options (e.g. Froghall Wharf, Tittesworth Water) and blue heritage 
plaques were evident across Leek. 

 
 
 

P
age 640



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 54 
 

 

 

 

Visitor Services & Facilities 
In Leek, Cheadle and Biddulph the public realm was clean and well-presented. Public toilets were easy to locate and well maintained. There were plenty 
of bins, benches and in some instances street dressing (bunting in Cheadle for example). 

Parking was plentiful and well signed and prices for pay and display were reasonable (mainly £0.60-£1 for up to one hour, £1-£1.90 for 2-3 hours). Parking 
was cheapest in Biddulph and most expensive in Leek. Machines however only took cash and no card or app payments were available. 

Visitor information in the form of interpretation panels were evident in the towns and in Leek a Tourist Information Centre is open Wednesday-Friday 
(10-4) and two Saturdays a month. 

The food and drink offer in each of the towns varied with the greatest range and choice available in Leek. This was mainly made up of independent cafes 
and restaurants, take-aways and a few national brands (Costa, Wetherspoons). In Cheadle a range of small independent cafes were spread along the High 
Street and apart from a Wetherspoons there were no obvious high street brands. Biddulph offered a more basic range of food and drink establishments 
with a number of high street pubs, takeaways and a handful of restaurants. 

Retail in the three towns followed a similar pattern to food and drink with a more extensive offer in Leek (including an indoor and outdoor market) mostly 
made up of independent retailers. Cheadle had a good range of independent retailers with very few vacant premises and Biddulph provided more 
functional retail. The overall retail offer looked to mostly be serving a local audience with Leek providing the greatest variety and appeal to visitors. 
Outside of the food and drink establishments, there does not appear to be many places where local produce can be bought by visitors and the retail offer 
lack a real distinctiveness and authenticity. 

There is a limited range of visitor accommodation in Cheadle and Biddulph (a few guest house/B&Bs) while Leek has more volume and range and a 63 
room Premier Inn in the town centre. 

  

P
age 641



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 55 
 

 

 

 

 

Cheadle 

 

Biddulph 
 

  

P
age 642



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 56 
 

 

 

 

Leek 

 

 
 
Attractiveness & Atmosphere 
The towns are not the main reason for visiting Staffordshire Moorlands. To varying degrees they are there to service visitors who are coming here to 
enjoy the landscapes, nearby family attractions, walks and trails. They all seem well managed, clean and tidy and capable of meetings visitors needs in 
terms of essential supplies, food and drink and some evening meals and entertainment. 
 
The towns themselves tend not to have the major attractions. St Giles (Cheadle) is perhaps the main exception. The Nicholson Institute Art Gallery and 
Museum (Leek) is small and contains permanent exhibits that feel a little neglected and which lack interpretation relating them to the town. The gallery 
was vibrant and busy. 
 
The architecture in Leek and Cheadle in particular is very pleasant with many heritage buildings (commercial, residential ,ecclesiastical) that are attractive. 
The gothic architecture by Sugden is very evident in Leek and includes the Nicholson Institute and the War Memorial. 
 
 

P
age 643



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 57 
 

 

 

 

Leek 
Leek has a very pleasant town centre with a lovely market square and main retail street (Derby Street) that is largely car free. There are a number of long 
and short stay car parks that surround the town centre. 
 
The architecture of the town is very pleasant with plenty of impressive heritage buildings and there is a traditional indoor market off the main market 
square. Getliffe’s Yard off Derby Street is a former 19th century yard that is now covered and provides a shopping and dining alley that is very attractive. 
 
The war memorial is a dominant feature at the eastern end of Derby Street and sits next to the Premier Inn. The Nicholson Institute on the north of the 
town centre contains the library, museum, art gallery and TIC. It sits alongside the Buxton & Leek college and is easy to locate from the centre and main 
car parks. 
 
While Leek has a good range of retail and dining options and some accommodation, may visitors would be unlikely to spend more than 1-2 hours here.  
Live music and art is a feature of Leek with a number of town centre venues and a prominent arts centre (The Foxlowe) which is opposite the market 
square and is the main venue for the Leek Arts Festival which takes place in May. 
 
Cheadle 
Cheadle is a small but pretty market town that is close to Alton Towers. A one way system encircles the main centre with a retail high street and large pay 
and display car park inside the road system. 
 
The High Street contains a mix of small independent retail and cafes alongside some lower quality national brands, charity shops and services such as a 
gym. There is a small indoor market which has a pretty exterior and is next to a small market square which contains some stalls. The retail mix however is 
quite functional with some specialist (e.g. saddlery). Many stalls were closed or unoccupied on the day visited. 
 
It is an attractive centre with pretty planting, clean and well maintained but will mainly serve local markets. A visitor would be most likely to come to visit 
St Giles (Pugin’s gem) and may spend some time in local cafes and gift shops but stays are unlikely to be longer than 60-90 minutes. There was bunting 
strung along the High Street but vehicles dominated this space and the road was busy. 
 
 

P
age 644



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 58 
 

 

 

 

Biddulph 
The edges of the town accommodate the main attractions and accommodation with a few guest houses, access to the Biddulph Valley way and Biddulph 
Grange Garden and the Country Park. The town has a reputation for green gardens and planting with the Grange Gardens as the main local attraction and 
a prominent ‘Biddulph in Bloom’.  
 
OTHER OBSERVATIONS 
 
 The landscape is delightful with rolling hills and valleys to the south rising to the moorlands and deeper dales in the north. The Roaches provides 

striking views across Staffordshire Moorlands but there are many landscape highlights spread across the district. 

 The destination is clean and well managed. A noticeable absence of roadside litter along the carriageways and at laybys. Towns and villages are clean 
and looked after. 

 Roads were relatively quiet (note: May visit) and driving was courteous and friendly where narrow lanes required stopping at passing places. There 
was evidence of the friction that can occur at honeypots especially the Roaches with more controls evident. 

 Traffic in the towns is busy and dominates high streets with large vehicles and high volumes of traffic. This diminishes the atmosphere in places such 
as Cheadle High Street and to a lesser extent Leek. 

 The destination has plenty of accessible trails for all ages using the former railway lines, canals and reservoirs. This is pleasant and easy walking 
country while also offering more challenging walking as you reach the National Park. 

 Smaller villages (Hulme End, Froghall, Ilam, Oakamoor etc) are pleasant and have facilities for visitors (parking, toilets, pubs/cafes) as well as notable 
experiences. 

 Accommodation was noticeable throughout the destination – small units in rural villages, pubs and farms, some campsites and larger inns, B&Bs in 
the towns with a Premier Inn in Leek. 

 The markets most in evidence appeared to be older couples (60+), groups (young/school) taking part in activities and visiting heritage sites and 
families (mainly Alton Towers and family attractions) 

 There were fewer road cyclists but plenty of use of the off-road trails by locals and visitors. 

P
age 645



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 59 
 

 

 

 

 Aside from the landscape and associated sites (Roaches, Thors Cave, Caldon Canal, Manifold Valley, Tittesworth, Rudyard Lake) the main attractions 
are family (Alton Towers, Peak Wildlife Park), heritage (Ilam Park, Biddulph Grange) and a number of steam rail attractions (Churnet Valley, Leek & 
Rudyard and Foxfield). 

 Access into the destination is limited by rail and most visitors need a car to experience the Staffordshire Moorlands. 

 There is not a strong ‘local’ food offer in the produce, ingredients and dishes available and which might otherwise help this destination stand apart 
from other places. It is quite hard for a visitor to taste ‘Staffordshire’. 

  

P
age 646



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 60 
 

 

 

 

 

P
age 647



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 61 
 

 

 

 

3. STRATEGY & POLICY REVIEW 

KEY FINDINGS 

 Tourism has been one of the hardest hit sectors of the UK economy by COVID-19 and recovery is at the forefront of strategic planning, 
nationally, regionally and locally. The UK government is transitioning its Industrial Strategy to its ‘Build Back Better: Our plan for growth’; DCMS 
launched its Tourism Recovery Plan in June 2021; D2N2’s Recovery and Growth Strategy supersedes their Local Industrial Strategy, recasting it in 
the light of Covid-19, Brexit and Climate Change. 

 Post-pandemic plans aim for recovery of domestic and international visits with improved use of technology, better dispersal of the benefits of 
tourism around the nation and regions, and a more sustainable sector, tackling climate change. 

 National, regional and local strategies in this section are: 
 

National strategies/plans Build Back Better: our plan for growth, HM Treasury, March 2021 
 Visit Britain/Visit England Strategy 2020 - 2025 
 DCMS Tourism Recovery Plan, June 2021  
 The de Bois Review: an independent review of Destination Management Organisations, DCMS, Sept 2021 
 Glasgow Declaration on Climate Action in Tourism, UNWTO, 2021 
Regional strategies/plans D2N2 Recovery and Growth Strategy 
 D2N2 Strategic Economic Plan: Vision 2030 
 Stoke-on-Trent & Staffordshire Enterprise Partnership: Strategic Economic Plan (Refresh, April 2018) 
 Stoke-on-Trent & Staffordshire Enterprise Partnership: Local Industrial Strategy (April 2020) 
 Marketing Peak District & Derbyshire’s 5-Year Destination Plan: The Rescue and Rebuilding of Peak District 

and Derbyshire’s Visitor Economy 
 Peak District National Park Management Plan (2018-2023) 
Local strategies/plans Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan 2020 

Staffordshire Moorlands Green Infrastructure Plan 2018 
Churnet Valley Masterplan 2014 

P
age 648



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 62 
 

 

 

 

Staffordshire Moorlands Sustainable Community Strategy 2007-2020 
Staffordshire Moorlands Corporate Plan 2019-2023 
Growth Strategy for High Peak 2017 

 Buxton Visitor Economy Strategy 2020 
 Buxton Future High Street Fund Masterplan 2020 & High Street Heritage Action Zone 
 Buxton Design Strategy 2009 
 Goyt Valley Tourism Plan 2022 (draft) 

 
NATIONAL STRATEGIES/PLANS 

Build Back Better: Our Plan for Growth, HM Treasury, March 2021 
This new plan supersedes the Government’s 2017 Industrial Strategy. It sets out the Government’s plans to support growth through significant 
investment in infrastructure, skills and innovation, and to pursue growth that levels up every part of the UK, enables the transition to net zero, and 
supports the vision for Global Britain. 
 
VisitBritain/VisitEngland Strategy 2020 - 2025 
Tourism in Britain contributes 9% of GDP and accounts for 10% of all jobs.  It has been recognised as a leading sector in the Government’s future 
economic planning, with the granting of a Tourism Sector Deal as part of its Industrial Strategy.  The VisitBritain/VisitEngland Strategy sets out how it will 
support the delivery of the Tourism Sector Deal. Within this, VisitEngland’s 5-year strategy (2020-25) has these aims: 
 

 Developing regional English tourism product 
 Distributing and promoting product to our domestic and international customers 
 Helping businesses to grow through business advice and support 
 Growing the business events industry 

 
Excerpt from VisitEngland’s 2020-25 Strategy: 
Grow value - Through stepping up our domestic marketing activity, we will address the balance of trade deficit and encourage more people to holiday at 
home. We will focus on younger customers (aged 18-34), whose domestic tourism activity is in decline, and families, who are both essential for the long-

P
age 649



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 63 
 

 

 

 

term growth of the industry.  Through developing our customer segments for the domestic market, we will ensure we reach the right customers with the 
right content. Through our work in the delivery of the Tourism Sector Deal, we will support Government’s ambition to make the UK the most accessible 
destination in Europe. 
 
Support productivity - Our priority will be to support the development of the England product, this will extend the season for an international and 
domestic audience and enable the distribution of this product in international markets building on the success of the Discover England Fund. By helping the 
industry build digital skills, we will ensure that product is researchable and bookable online. Our focus on winning business events for England will see us 
work closely with venues and locations and matching them with international opportunities, providing them with platforms to meet international buyers 
and supporting them through the bidding process. 
 
Drive regional dispersal - Working in partnership with Destination Management Organisations (DMOs), we will grow visits and value of our leisure and 
business travel across England. This will be supported by the development of regional product that addresses domestic and international market gaps and 
address product gaps through the distribution platform Tourism Exchange Great Britain (TXGB). In addition, we will build our partnerships and expertise in 
route development to grow connectivity to regional England. Through our work on the delivery of the Tourism Sector Deal we will identify new Tourism 
Zones, supported by central Government, and a biddable funding process, to drive visitor numbers across the country, extend the season and to tackle 
local barriers to tourism growth. 
 
Be the expert - We will ensure that VisitEngland is seen as a trusted partner in delivering on the Government agenda and provide and distribute statutory 
research, data and analysis that informs our own, industry and Government decision-making.  Supporting and working together with DMOs and the wider 
England industry our assets, market plans and intelligence will be shared for national benefit. We will also provide platforms and events that enable us to 
share best practice and celebrate business excellence across English tourism. 
 
Our customers - Our global segments, nuanced by markets, are: 

• Buzzseekers – younger, free-spirited and spontaneous, they like holidays full of action and excitement 

• Explorers – older, they enjoy the outdoors, sightseeing and embracing local culture at a more relaxed pace 

• Culture buffs – image and brand-conscious, travel is seen as a status symbol; they like well-known safe destinations 

• Free and easy mini-breakers – similar to buzzseekers, this younger domestic audience love the opportunity to take short breaks where they can 
either let loose or unwind 

P
age 650



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 64 
 

 

 

 

 
Our markets: 
UK Domestic – Drive regional and seasonal dispersal increasing volume and value of short breaks in the shoulder season.  Increase focus from one to two 
target audiences to address long term growth and short-term opportunity. 
 
Overseas – Our most beneficial overseas market by some distance, and the market showing the most profitable growth, is the USA, followed by value 
growth from China. These are two of our markets that we uplift investment in using the GREAT funds – we add to that Australia, France, Germany, GCC, 
India and UK. Our secondary markets for value include the rest of Europe, Canada, Brazil and South Korea. Lower growth (among our core markets) is 
projected from Hong Kong, Japan, Russia and Austria. For each market we have developed and refined a market strategy that focuses on the best 
prospects for driving tourism growth. 
 
DCMS Tourism Recovery Plan, June 2021 
Tourism has been one of the sectors of the UK economy hit hardest by COVID-19.  Oxford Economic predicts that tourism in the UK will not return to 
2019 levels of volume and expenditure until 2025. The Tourism Recovery Plan sets out the role that the UK Government will play in assisting and 
accelerating the tourism sector’s recovery from COVID-19.  The aim is to: 
 

 Recover domestic overnight trip volume and spend to 2019 levels by the end of 2022, and inbound visitor numbers and spend by the end of 2023 – 
both at least a year faster than independent forecasts predict.  

 Ensure that the sector’s recovery benefits every nation and region, with visitors staying longer, growing accommodation occupancy rates in the 
off-season and high levels of investment in tourism products and transport infrastructure.  

 Build back better with a more innovative and resilient industry, maximising the potential for technology and data to enhance the visitor experience 
and employing more UK nationals in year-round quality jobs. 

 Ensure the tourism sector contributes to the enhancement and conservation of the country’s cultural, natural and historic heritage, minimises 
damage to the environment and is inclusive and accessible to all.  

 Return the UK swiftly to its pre-pandemic position as a leading European destination for hosting business events. 

 
As part of ‘building it back better’, the Tourism Recovery Plan refers to the review of Destination Management Organisations:  
 

P
age 651



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 65 
 

 

 

 

The de Bois Review: an independent review of Destination Management Organisations in England, DCMS 
The review, commissioned by DCMS and published in September 2021, examined and assessed how DMOs across England are funded and structured and 
how they perform their roles, in order to establish whether there may be a more efficient and effective model for supporting English tourism at the 
regional level. 
 
The Government issued its response to the review in July 2022 and recognised the important role tourism can play in the Government’s levelling up 
agenda and the way in which DMOs are crucial in supporting that. The government has decided that DMOs will be known as Local Visitor Economy 
Partnerships (LVEPs) and that a national accreditation scheme will be created to identify high performing partnerships with a tiered model of others 
that sit underneath this top level. 
 
The De Bois recommendations and the government’s response as follows:  
 

De Bois Recommendation Government Response 

 Recommendation 1: The Government should bring coherence to 
England’s DMO landscape via a tiering approach, using an 
accreditation process to create a national portfolio of high performing 
Destination Management Organisations that meet certain criteria. I 
would also suggest a move away from the confusing ‘DMO’ term and 
call these nationally accredited Tourist Boards.  

 

The government agrees with this recommendation. 
The government agrees with de Bois’ assessment that the current DMO 
landscape in England is fragmented and complex. The government also 
agrees with his assessment of the negative consequences for England’s 
visitor economy, in particular making it less likely that key players across 
the private and public sectors will engage with their local DMO, diluting 
private sector investment and making it harder for DMOs to get a ‘seat at 
the table’ when it comes to important decisions with an impact on the 
tourism sector. 
To address this, the government will introduce a new structured system 
for England’s DMOs, whereby DMOs that successfully meet clear 
requirements will become part of a ‘national portfolio’. 

 Recommendation 2a: The national portfolio should then be split into 
two tiers – a top tier of accredited Tourist Boards acting as 
‘Destination Development Partnerships’ or as leaders of them, (these 

The government partially agrees with this recommendation. 
The government recognises that DMOs have been placed in a difficult 
funding situation as a result of the pandemic and that reliance on 

P
age 652



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 66 
 

 

 

 

De Bois Recommendation Government Response 

could be described as ‘hubs’) and a second tier of accredited Tourist 
Boards acting as members of these Partnerships (‘spokes’).  
Destination Development Partnership status could be awarded to 
either an individual accredited Tourist Board covering a large enough 
geography (e.g. a city region) or to a coalition of willing accredited 
Tourist Boards within an area that come together under a lead Board. 

commercial membership fees can skew priorities towards marketing at 
the expense of management. The government will pilot de Bois’ proposed 
tiering model and the recommendation of multi-year core funding in a 
region of England, in order to give that Destination Development 
Partnership the space and firm foundation to engage in a wide range of 
destination management type activities as well as prompt increased 
private sector investment. 
There are several reasons why the government has decided to pilot the 
approach. Firstly, the current complex and fragmented nature of the DMO 
landscape means not all parts of the country would be ready to take on 
public funding if it were made available. Time is needed to address this. 
Secondly, the de Bois review notes that ‘robust quantifiable evidence on 
DMO impact is lacking’. This makes it hard to be confident that the 
provision of taxpayer funding will yield a strong return on investment. A 
pilot will allow the government to collect evidence to understand how 
effective the proposed model can be and to support any funding 
considerations.  

 Recommendation 2b: The Government should then provide core 
funding to each Destination Development Partnership. The funding 
should be focused on activities that ensure their destination remains 
sustainable, competitive and responsive to high level strategic 
challenges identified by the Government such as those around 
sustainability, skills, inclusive tourism and levelling up. The Destination 
Development Partnership would be expected to pass down a degree of 
funding to accredited Tourist Boards amongst its coalition and work 
collaboratively with them to deliver a shared vision.  

 

 Recommendation 3: DMOs that do not meet the national accreditation 
criteria should be automatically considered as part of a ‘third tier’. 
These are likely to be small, localised Destination Marketing 
Organisations and the Government should minimise its engagement 
with them.  

The government agrees with this recommendation. 
The government agrees with the argument of the de Bois review that 
neither DCMS or VisitEngland can have a one-to-one relationship with 
every DMO, and should instead focus engagement on those undertaking 
strategic management as well as marketing activities. As de Bois 
recognises, best practice internationally is for national governments to 
engage with strategically important DMOs, with more limited engagement 
with smaller and hyper-local organisations. Going forward, DCMS, 
VisitEngland and other government departments and agencies should 

P
age 653



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 67 
 

 

 

 

De Bois Recommendation Government Response 

focus their engagement primarily with accredited LVEPs that are part of 
the national portfolio. 

 Recommendation 4: As it is England’s National Tourist Board, with the 
statutory responsibility for growing tourism at an England level, the 
Government should charge VisitEngland with responsibility for 
creating, maintaining and supporting this new tiered structure. It 
should receive sufficient funding and resources to do this.  

The government agrees with this recommendation. 
As set out above, VisitEngland will have responsibility for designing and 
administering the system for classifying DMOs as part of the national 
portfolio. However, the final decision on admission or removal from the 
portfolio will sit with the Tourism Minister, following the advice of the 
VisitEngland Advisory Board. VisitEngland will also be responsible for 
administering and evaluating the funding model pilot in the chosen area. 
The government’s view is that VisitEngland is the best placed body to 
carry out these duties. The proposals are wholly in-keeping with their 
statutory function to promote England as a tourist destination and 
develop its tourist amenities and facilities. 
The government will provide VisitEngland with additional funding to carry 
out this leadership role. The government has allocated a budget of up to 
£4 million across the 2022-2025 Spending Review period. Any future 
funding will be considered as part of the next Spending Review. 

 Recommendation 5: The Government must also change its approach, 
in order to maximise the success of the new system. There is currently 
insufficient appreciation of the importance and promise of the visitor 
economy at the top of government, leading to unfilled potential in 
DMOs and the wider tourism landscape. In practice, responsibility for 
tourism policy cuts across multiple departments, creating a confusing 
picture. Practical measures to address these issues could include 
elevating the Tourism Minister to a Minister of State position and 
either reallocating responsibilities from other departments to sit under 
that Minister or making the Minister responsible for the activities of 

The government disagrees with this recommendation. 
The government does not accept that there is insufficient appreciation of 
the importance and promise of the visitor economy within government 
policy making. In the 24 months between April 2020 and March 2022 at 
least £37 billion was provided to the leisure, hospitality and tourism 
sectors in the form of grants, loans, tax breaks and wage subsidies to 
support businesses and workers through the pandemic. During 2021, 
comprehensive cross-government sector recovery plans were published, 
including the government’s Tourism Recovery Plan and the Hospitality 
Strategy: Reopening, Recovery and Resilience. These plans recognise the 

P
age 654

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/tourism-recovery-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/hospitality-strategy-reopening-recovery-resilience
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/hospitality-strategy-reopening-recovery-resilience


BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 68 
 

 

 

 

De Bois Recommendation Government Response 

teams within multiple departments – this latter suggestion is an 
established practice already in other policy areas which cut across 
Whitehall departments.  

importance of the sector, and set out detailed recovery frameworks and 
accompanying policy interventions. 
The government does, however, accept that the pandemic has highlighted 
the need for a more joined-up and consistent approach to the visitor 
economy across government than has previously been the case. Given the 
breadth and complexity of the visitor economy, it is unsurprising that 
almost all government departments hold policy levers with the ability to 
affect the fortunes of the sector. 

 Recommendation 6: In order to help DMOs and Local Authorities take 
decisions on how best to develop the visitor economy in their local 
area, the Government should improve access to quality data by 
introducing the proposed Tourism Data Hub as a matter of urgency 

The government agrees in principle with this recommendation. 
The government recognises how important data is to actors across the 
visitor economy, who rely on it for both strategic and tactical decisions 
including product pricing, investment and establishing target markets. The 
government also recognises that there are a number of issues with 
current visitor economy data sources such as the International Passenger 
Survey, which does not produce robust data at a regional or local level. 
That is why the government remains committed to exploring the potential 
for a Tourism Data Hub, along the lines set out in the 2019 Tourism Sector 
Deal. However, introducing the proposed Tourism Data Hub is complex 
and, as of yet, unfunded. Under these proposals, the government would 
need to work with the private sector to acquire, clean, analyse and 
disseminate anonymised data they hold on consumer behaviour. 

 Recommendation 7: DMOs must accept that they also have a role to 
play in driving forward change; it cannot just be left to the 
government. To maximise the success of the new structure, DMOs will 
need to take a less territorial approach, have a greater focus on 
collaboration, and recognise that the current fragmentation is holding 
them back from acting as effective advocates for the visitor economy. 

The government agrees with the de Bois report’s finding that the 
fragmentation and confusing picture of the current DMO landscape is 
detrimental to the ability of DMOs to engage effectively with actors across 
the public and private sector. The creation of a national portfolio will help 
address this issue, but in some parts of the country where there is 
excessive geographical overlap and fragmentation, rationalisation may be 

P
age 655



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 69 
 

 

 

 

De Bois Recommendation Government Response 

needed. This will need to be led by the DMOs themselves and DMOs 
should not expect the government to act as an arbitrator between DMOs 
competing to represent the same territory. 

 Recommendation 8: DMOs should seek to diversify their income 
streams, and should share and learn from examples of best practice. 

The de Bois report covered a wide range of ways in which DMOs might 
consider expanding their commercial revenue sources. The government is 
supportive of DMOs doing this. A commitment to doing so will be part of 
the accreditation criteria for membership of the national portfolio, and 
LVEPs will be expected to evidence progress in order to maintain their 
accreditation. 

 Recommendation 9: DMOs should have a rigorous focus on keeping 
the skill sets and expertise of their own staff up-to-date, particularly 
with respect to digital skills, so as to ensure their destination’s offer 
continues to be sustainable and competitive. 

The government agrees with de Bois’ assessment that DMO staff are 
passionate, dedicated and knowledgeable. However, the government also 
agrees that in some areas, such as digital skills and understanding of the 
international travel trade, sales and distribution, there is room for 
development. VisitEngland has worked with DMOs in recent years to 
develop skills in these areas and will continue to do so as part of its suite 
of business support activities. Having additional resources to facilitate 
DMO knowledge-sharing will also help with this. 
De Bois’ report also referred to the potential for DMO staff to act as 
ambassadors for the tourism and hospitality industry, for example by 
going into schools, colleges and universities to promote job and career 
opportunities. A strategic focus on skills will be an important element of 
any funding pilot. 

 Recommendation 10: DMOs should have more diverse boards that 
fully represent their communities as well as their businesses and 
visitors. 

As set out in the Public Appointments Diversity Action Plan, the 
government is committed to improving the representation of individuals 
from underrepresented backgrounds on public boards. The government 
agrees with de Bois that the governance structure of a LVEP should strive 
to reflect the visitor economy it represents - businesses and current 

P
age 656



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 70 
 

 

 

 

De Bois Recommendation Government Response 

consumers, but also potential future consumers - and that it can be 
helpful to have multiple perspectives informing decisions. We welcome 
efforts from DMOs (as they are currently known) to attract a diverse range 
of views to inform their governance. 

 Recommendation 11: Local enterprise partnerships (LEPs) must realise 
the value of tourism, ensure the visitor economy is fully integrated into 
their economic strategies and play their full role as partners in the 
activities of their accredited LVEPs and Destination Development 
Partnerships. They should recognise that LVEPs are best placed to 
drive growth in regional tourism and they should actively support 
them. 

The government recognises the vital role that LEPs can play in supporting 
both their local visitor economy and the work of LVEPs, including through 
forming formal partnerships. Following the conclusion of the recent LEP 
Review, the government has set out a clear list of functions that can be 
provided by LEPs. 
In addition to embedding a strong, independent business voice into local 
decision making, LEPs should continue to carry out strategic economic 
planning in partnership with local leaders in a way that clearly articulates 
their area’s economic priorities and sectoral strengths. This should include 
working closely with LVEPs, where appropriate, to increase investment, 
jobs and growth in the visitor economy. 

 Recommendation 12: Local government — be that a District Council, 
County Council, Mayoral Combined Authority or any other formulation 
— must also realise the value of tourism and should strive to play their 
part in supporting accredited LVEPs and Destination Development 
Partnerships. They should accept that for LVEPs to be at their best, 
they need to be public/private/community partnerships, not based 
solely in a Local Authority but working in partnership with them. They 
should also involve their LVEP in any policy decision-making affecting 
the visitor economy. 

The government agrees with de Bois recommendation that for LVEPs to 
perform at their best, they must work in partnership with public and 
private sector partners who hold the policy levers and funding needed to 
achieve the full potential of their local visitor economies. Close 
partnership working between LVEPs and all levels of local government will 
be key to levelling up, driving local economic growth and spreading 
opportunity more equally across the UK. 
Although tourism is not a statutory responsibility of local authorities, the 
government agrees that local governments can play an important role in 
supporting the role and work of LVEPs and that — as the report points out 
— this is often achieved most effectively when local government and 

P
age 657



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 71 
 

 

 

 

De Bois Recommendation Government Response 

DMOs (as they are currently known) work together at a higher strategic 
level of geography (e.g. over a County or a Combined Authority area). 

  
 
 
Glasgow Declaration on Climate Action in Tourism UNWTO 
The Glasgow Declaration is a catalyst for increased urgency about the need to accelerate climate action in tourism and to work towards net zero 
emissions. It was launched at COP26 in Glasgow in November 2021 and organisations and destinations are urged to sign up to the Declaration. The 
Declaration is being led by UNWTO (UN World Tourism Organisation) in collaboration with the Travel Foundation, and within the network of the One 
Planet Network and Tourism Declares a Climate Emergency initiatives. 

All tourism stakeholders can become signatories of the Glasgow Declaration.  The initiative supports its signatories by sharing knowledge and resources to 
better implement their commitments; fostering and supporting the work at a destination level to develop and implement climate action plans; tracking 
and disclosing progress; and providing international recognition and visibility.  

Signatories agree to implement the commitments detailed in the plan, notably: 

 Support the global commitment to halve emissions by 2030 and reach Net Zero as soon as possible before 2050. 
 Deliver climate change action plans within 12 months of becoming a signatory (or updating existing plans) and implement them. 
 Align plans with the five pathways of the Declaration (Measure, Decarbonise, Regenerate, Collaborate, Finance) to accelerate and co-ordinate 

climate action in tourism. 
 Report publicly on an annual basis on progress against interim and long-term targets, as well as on actions being taken. 
 Work in a collaborative spirit, sharing good practices and solutions, and disseminating information to encourage additional organisations to 

become signatories and supporting one another to reach targets as soon as possible. 
 
 

  

P
age 658



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 72 
 

 

 

 

REGIONAL STRATEGIES/PLANS 

D2N2 Recovery and Growth Strategy 
The D2N2 LEP works with 19 local authorities across Derbyshire and Nottinghamshire, including High Peak Borough Council. The Recovery and Growth 
Strategy (RGS) builds on and supersedes the Local Industrial Strategy.  It is D2N2’s key strategic document to 2030 and focuses on three key propositions: 
Low Carbon Growth; Productivity; Connectivity and Inclusion. 
 
‘Quality of Place’ is one of three priorities for action under the ‘Connectivity and Inclusion’ proposition: 
 
Quality of Place: use our economic and skills investments in our cities, towns, rural areas and growth corridors to improve the quality of life for our 
residents, workers and visitors. Led by our Place Advisory Board. 

 
The Place Advisory Board specification includes: Devises compelling place marketing for visitors and investors; Maximises the opportunities of the 
visitor economy to support wider place-making. 
 
The Place Strategy states: We are committed to working with local partners to establish place-based growth strategies and improve the performances 
of our towns and city centres. 
 
An example is a £5.5m project, working with High Peak Borough Council to redevelop Glossop’s civic buildings and £2M to redevelop Buxton Crescent. 
 
D2N2 Strategic Economic Plan: Vision 2030 
The Strategic Economic Plan has three themes: Productive and Growing Businesses; Skills and Knowledge for the Future; Quality of Place. 
Under Theme 1 (Productive and Growing Businesses) the Visitor Economy is an Opportunity Sector within D2N2’s 11 priority sectors.   The Plan states:  
 
There are opportunities to boost the value and productivity of the sector by targeting new markets, offering higher value experiences, extending the 
‘season’ and increasing the global market share of international leisure visits, business visits and the events sector. 
 

P
age 659



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 73 
 

 

 

 

We not only need the scale and quality of ‘product’ to support high value visitor spend, our businesses need to be ‘international ready’. We need effective 
marketing of our key destinations and products, the roll out and effective utilisation of enhanced digital connectivity, and the development of a skills and 
careers approach to provide for an escalator of roles and support. D2N2 will continue to work with partners to take advantage of emerging opportunities, 
such as the designation of a Tourism Action Zone in the D2N2 LEP area. 
 
Place Making & Marketing is an investment priority under Theme 3 (Quality of Place): 
Empower communities across D2N2 as great places to live, work, study and visit; and undertake compelling place-marketing in order to attract inward 
investment and talent to the area, and to drive up visitor spend.  
 
Stoke-on-Trent & Staffordshire Enterprise Partnership (SSLEP): Strategic Economic Plan (Refresh, April 2018) 
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council is one of Stoke-on-Trent & Staffordshire LEP’s partners.   Their Strategic Economic Plan states as its vision: 
 
“An economic powerhouse driven by the transformation of Stoke-on-Trent into a truly competitive and inspiring Core City and enabling the growth of a 
thriving economy throughout the connected county of Staffordshire where everyone has the opportunity to access a better job.” 
A connected area, with a competitive economy, which works collaboratively with local partners to complement their activities. 
 
The LEP’s economic growth agenda is based on recognised strengths in key aspects of advanced manufacturing. The visitor economy is one of three 
sectors recognised as having growth potential. Alton Towers and Drayton Manor Park are considered to be anchor destinations within the county and 
these, combined with Cannock Chase, the National Forest and the Peak District contribute to the overall visitor appeal and branding of the area. 
 
The sector’s priority is to make more consumers aware of Staffordshire as a destination for a short break, so encouraging greater volume of overnight 
stays, increased revenue and more employment in the industry. 
 
The Plan states that there is an opportunity to develop the business tourism offer within the area, particularly through the development of new and 
increased use of existing conferencing facilities.  

 
 
  

P
age 660



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 74 
 

 

 

 

Stoke-on-Trent & Staffordshire Enterprise Partnership: Local Industrial Strategy (April 2020) 
In its Local Industrial Strategy, SSLEP identifies the visitor economy as a major opportunity for the region; an area that had been growing strongly prior to 
lockdown with future capacity to grow and respond to trends such as micro-breaks and UK green tourism. It specifies a number of interventions to 
improve place: 
 
 Strengthen our inward investment offer and promotion, actively targeting potential investors with the strong commercial premises offer in our town 

and city centres and rural areas, reflecting growing demand for office space and high-quality commercial units 
 Further developing and enhancing our culture offer 
 Improve public transport and accessibility within our town and city centres and rural areas 
 Tackle persistent deprivation and joblessness, by better linking up skills provision with specific business opportunities locally 
 Protect and enhance our natural and built environment assets including our excellent leisure offer 
 Build on and expand our existing visitor economy strengths to increase spend 

 
 
Marketing Peak District & Derbyshire’s 5-Year Destination Plan: The Rescue and Rebuilding of Peak District and Derbyshire’s Visitor Economy 
“Visitors can choose between top class offers ranging from the stunning outdoors and some of the best walking, cycling and rock climbing that England 
has to offer. A cultural heritage experience with visits to castles, stately homes, festivals and events, art galleries and museums.  The cultural and heritage 
sector and natural landscape play a unique role in creating the ‘sense of place’ that makes this region a great area to live, work, learn, invest and do 
business. “ 
 
Core audience 55+. 
 
The Destination Plan outlines 10 strategic priorities and a roadmap for recovery:  The Priorities are: 
 
 boost domestic tourism to the Peak District and Derbyshire 
 position the Peak District and Derbyshire as a destination for the corporate sector 
 support businesses to bounce back, rebuild and grow 
 rebuild international connectivity and grow inbound tourism 

P
age 661



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 75 
 

 

 

 

 become a destination for active travel and transport connectivity  
 lead the way with sustainable tourism (eg manage visitors at honey pots and disperse, create new experiences, local purchasing) 
 bid to become a Tourism Zone 
 promote the sector as a place to be proud to work within 
 work with partners to revitalise market towns (eg marketing, dispersal strategies, local events, food and drink, transport connectivity, walking and 

cycling) 
 support our local authority partners to deliver their Tourism Strategies. 
  
 
Peak District National Park Management Plan (2018-2023) 
The Peak District National Park Management Plan has as its vision: The Peak District National Park: where beauty, vitality and discovery meet at the heart 
of the nation, incorporating three aspirations: 
 
 An enhanced, diverse, working and cherished landscape (to deliver the Park’s first statutory purpose) 
 A sustainable, welcoming and inspiring place for all (to deliver the Park’s second statutory purpose) 
 Thriving and sustainable communities and economy 
 
The Plan specifies six Areas of Impact: preparing for a future climate; ensuring a future for farming and land management; managing landscape 
conservation on a big scale; a National Park for everyone; encouraging enjoyment with understanding; supporting thriving and sustainable communities 
and economy.  ‘A National Park for Everyone’ includes intentions to overcome both physical and perceived barriers to accessing the National Park. 
‘Encouraging enjoyment with understanding’ includes intentions to: balance opportunities for enjoyment with conserving a fragile environment; ensure 
shared responsibility (e.g encouraging visitors to feel they can contribute to the Park’s future through a programme of visitor giving and volunteering); 
develop an awareness and understanding of the benefits of the Peak District National Park. 
 

 
  

P
age 662



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 76 
 

 

 

 

LOCAL STRATEGIES/PLANS 

Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan. Adopted Sept 2020. 

The Local Plan is the main planning policy document for the district, except for the area covered by the Peak District National Park Authority as they are 
the planning authority for that area. 
 
The Local Plan identifies tourism as an important driver for the local economy, helping build greater economic sustainability and strengthening the 
District’s wider role. The plan also highlights the importance of the natural environment and the need to enhance and protect it. The viability of town 
centres is identified as a significant challenge alongside a high dependence on private cars and poor public transport. 
 
The Local Plan Vision says: ‘Tourism will be a key element in the diversification of the District’s economy and will also contribute significantly to raising the 
environmental quality and the regeneration of the District. Its market towns will each have their own unique selling point for attracting visitors. The 
diversity and quality of the District’s natural and historic assets will have improved and greater use will be made of the opportunities they provide for 
recreation and tourism, particularly around the Churnet Valley which together with Alton Towers will be a significant tourist attraction.’ 
 
A vision for Rural Areas also includes specific references to tourism: ‘Well managed, sustainable tourism will be a major driver in regenerating the rural 
areas and enhancing their character and quality. Major redundant sites in the countryside will have been redeveloped for new uses, improving the 
environment and diversifying the rural economy. In the countryside, the richness of the District’s landscape, heritage and its biodiversity will continue to 
be valued, maintained and protected in a way which sensitively accommodates the needs of farmers, rural businesses, visitors and residents…... Public 
access to the countryside will be extended with new walking, cycling and horse riding routes developed. Green infrastructure and open space will protect 
and enhance the environment whilst providing recreational opportunities alongside sport and improvements to health and well being.’  
 
Spatial Objective 7 (SO7) in the plan states ‘To protect, provide and enhance the tourism, cultural, sport and recreation and leisure opportunities for the 
District’s residents and visitors.’  
 
Spatial Strategy 5 (SS5) which covers Leek has a specific action to ‘Increase tourist opportunities for visitors through additional high quality 
accommodation, promoting links with the Peak District and the development of new tourist attractions linked to the Churnet Valley.’  
 

P
age 663



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 77 
 

 

 

 

Spatial Strategy 6 (SS6) which covers Biddulph has an action: ‘Improve the image and identity of Biddulph and strengthen its role as a visitor destination 
by:  

• Regenerating and improving the streetscape of the town centre.  

• Upgrading the general environment of the town through landscaping and the improvement and creation of green spaces.  

• Strengthening and promoting links between the town and countryside in particular with the Biddulph Valley Way, Biddulph Grange Garden and 
the Country Parks. This will include the implementation of the Green Infrastructure Strategy.  

• Improving the main approaches to the town from the south.  

• Protecting and enhancing the setting and historic character of the town, including heritage assets.  
 
Spatial Strategy 7 (SS7) which covers Cheadle includes an action: ‘Promoting the role and historic character of the town, including the protection of 
heritage assets and its links with the Churnet Valley as a visitor destination.’  
 
Spatial Strategy 11 (SS11) covers the Churnet Valley and has a number of actions.  
 
‘The Churnet Valley is identified as an area for sustainable tourism and rural regeneration. The Churnet Valley Masterplan provides a comprehensive 
framework for development in the Churnet Valley and development should be in accordance with the Masterplan. Within this area particular support will 
be given to the following forms of development and measures:  

• short stay and long stay visitor accommodation;  

• the expansion of existing tourist attractions and facilities and the provision of compatible new tourist attractions and facilities;  

• measures to enhance, protect and interpret the landscape character and heritage assets of the Churnet Valley;  

• measures to remediate and restore derelict land, buildings and features including the appropriate redevelopment of sites;  

• actions to protect and enhance the biodiversity of the valley, including the maintenance, buffering and connection of designated sites and actions 
to mitigate climate change; 

• measures that support and integrate the heritage transport infrastructure of the valley, sympathetically with enhancing and developing links to 
strategic footpaths, cycle and horse riding routes.  

• measures to improve connectivity and accessibility to and within the Churnet Valley by sustainable transport means having regard to the Green 
Infrastructure Strategy.  

P
age 664



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 78 
 

 

 

 

 
Development policies relating to the economy include Policy E4 ‘Tourism & Cultural Development’. This policy states that ‘New tourism and cultural 
development which complements the distinctive character and quality of the District will be supported having regard to the Area Strategies in Policies SS 
5 to SS 10 and and Churnet Valley Strategy Policy SS 11.  
In addition:  

• New tourist, visitor and cultural accommodation, attractions and facilities should be developed in locations that offer, or are capable of offering 
either:  
A) good connectivity with other tourist destinations and amenities, particularly by public transport, walking and cycling; or  
B) in locations in or close to settlements where local services, facilities and public transport are available; or  
C) in areas specifically identified for tourism development in the Churnet Valley Masterplan or other relevant documents.  

• Developments in other locations may be supported where a rural location can be justified. New accommodation, attractions and facilities should:  
A) support the provision and expansion of tourist, visitor and cultural facilities in the rural areas where needs are not met by existing facilities; and  
B) all development shall be of an appropriate quality, scale and character compatible with the local area, protect the residential amenity of the 
area, enhance the heritage, landscape and biodiversity of the area and shall not harm interests of acknowledged importance.  

 
  

P
age 665



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 79 
 

 

 

 

Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan. Green Infrastructure Strategy 2018. 

Developed as a background strategy in support of the Local Plan, the Green Infrastructure Strategy has a 
vision which aims to develop a network of green corridors and green spaces that, among other aims: 

• Supports access and green travel– by creating appropriate access for a wide range of users to 
enjoy the countryside, including creating improved linkages to services and facilities, as well as 
formal and informal recreation opportunities. Promotes health and well-being– by supporting 
the provision and improvement of open space, sport and recreational facilities to: facilitate 
opportunities for walking, cycling and horse riding; support people's interaction with nature; and 
to encourage young children into green space 

• Unlocks economic development potential– by contributing to the diversification of the local 
economy through the enhancement of existing, and provision of new tourist facilities; 
supporting new opportunities for rural businesses such as the provision of wood fuel through 
habitat management and creating and improving green travel links to areas of employment and 
the visitor economy infrastructure 

 
The main principles of the strategy are: 

• Protecting and enhancing green infrastructure 

• Developing and extending the green infrastructure to create a network of connected green 
spaces 

 
Eleven strategic corridors and areas are identified in the strategy and each has specific and detailed 
actions, however some general approaches are advocated which include: 

• Improving the network and making it more accessible to different users 

• Enhancing links between different parts of the wider network and the towns and villages 

• Conserving and enhancing heritage assets within the network   
 

P
age 666



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 80 
 

 

 

 

Churnet Valley Masterplan. Supplementary Planning Document 2014 

The masterplan highlights the opportunity which the Churnet Valley has to act as a sub-regional asset and to ease pressure on the neighbouring Peak 
District National Park. The Churnet Valley covers a large part of the centre of the district. 
The masterplan acknowledges the following strengths and weaknesses for the area. Strengths include: 

• High quality landscape and environment 

• Good road access 

• Existing attractions serving two broad markets (1. ‘Countrysiders’ who are visiting the area for a combination of experiences, activities, discovery/ 
sightseeing, and rest and relaxation. Outdoor activities will be the main activity but the natural environment and scenery will be a key 
underpinning appeal. 2. 'Family fun' - fun day out with the family. Typically visiting an attraction. Alton Towers is the primary attraction). 

• Recognition that the assets with national significance are ‘Alton Towers’ and the ‘Peak District’. 

• Important heritage assets including St Giles in Cheadle as well as the industrial heritage. 
 
Weaknesses: 

• Poor links between attractions and reliance on the private car. 

• Towns lack a national profile (in comparison say to Buxton) 

• Poor awareness of the area 

• Limited provision for cycling and horse riding 

• Limited visitor accommodation other than at Alton Towers 

• Lack of a ‘year-round’ offer 
 
Opportunities: 

• Leek and Cheadle as potential gateways with potential for more serviced accommodation 

• Better linking of experiences (conceptually and physically) to create more coherence 

• Enhanced walking and cycling networks 

• Encouraging more events 

• Potential development of unused or brownfield sites for different tourism activity 
 

P
age 667



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 81 
 

 

 

 

The masterplan draws on the 2011 tourism study to highlight the need to create an offer that is distinctive. It recognises that a pre-occupation with brand 
and identity is perhaps unhelpful in the context of Staffordshire Moorland and the Churnet Valley and that specific products and experiences will often be 
the motivating driver for a visit. It advocates for a market focus with ‘Countrysiders’ being the primary target and ‘Family Fun’ a secondary focus. 
To achieve sustainable tourism in the Churnet Valley, the masterplan identified main opportunities as: 

• Promoting a series of gateways into the Churnet Valley from which visitors can then travel, by more sustainable modes where possible, into the 
valley. 

• Promoting a number of gateway visitor hubs based on existing centres of interest from which visitors can explore the local area. 

• Improving connectivity and accessibility between hubs and attractions in the area 

• Developing the visitor offer aimed primarily at the countrysider market including families under the framework of Wise Growth. 

• Increasing overnight stays 

• 'Going green' through the promotion of Staffordshire Environmental Quality Mark 
 

Staffordshire Moorlands Sustainable Community Strategy 2007-2020 

The vision within the strategy is: ‘By 2020 Staffordshire Moorlands will be recognised as a vital part of a regenerated North Staffordshire sub-region. All 
our communities will enjoy an excellent quality of life, including access to affordable housing and excellent public services. Our vibrant market towns will 
be home to a range of successful retail, visitor and knowledge based businesses. We will have a highly skilled and entrepreneurial workforce. Our natural 
environment will be protected and our carbon emissions reduced. 

The analysis within the strategy concluded that the most obvious potential for the growth of service sector businesses and employment in Staffordshire 
Moorlands was tourism - building on the core attraction of Alton Towers, the assets of the Cauldon Canal corridor, Biddulph Grange, Peak District 

P
age 668



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 82 
 

 

 

 

National Park, the wider countryside and the Town Centres. This, it was thought, could provide the area with the opportunities for further modest growth 
in employment and business opportunities. Though a concern was raised about simply adding to the stock of low paid and low skilled jobs. 

 

Staffordshire Moorlands Corporate Plan 2019-2023 

Aim 3 of the Corporate Plan is ‘To help create a strong economy by supporting further regeneration of towns and villages’. Within this Aim was a 
commitment to prepare a tourism strategy, as well as the regeneration of key sites, improved access including support for the re-introduction of train 
services to Leek. 

 

Growth Strategy for High Peak 2017 

Ambition to drive £700M investment by 2031 
 
Specific tourism target  

• £59m pa additional spend in local economy 

• Double number of overnight visitor stays during the week 
 
Growth priorities inc: 

• Enhancing Visitor Experience (Outdoor play/festival venue) 

• Enhancing leisure and culture offer  

• Niche retail and evening economy  

• Pedestrian and cycle connections  

• Promoting festivals and events  

• Quality hotel accommodation and tourism experience 
 

P
age 669



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 83 
 

 

 

 

Delivery mechanisms – include town centre plans for Buxton – England’s leading spa town. Cultural destination.  
 
Heritage and regen projects include  

• Buxton Crescent 

• Station Gateway 

• Town centre enhancement 

• Town hall 

• Palace hotel 

• Pavilion gardens 

• Connectivity, routes, green infrastructure etc 
 
Glossop – creative industries – media, digital, performing arts 
Heritage and regen projects include  

• Market hall 

• Woods mill 

• Victoria mill 

• town centre enhancement and public realm 

• pedestrian and cycle connectivity 
 
A6 enterprise corridor 

• Whaley bridge canal basin 

• Torr vale mill 

• canal network and cycle path to Manchester 

• Peak Forest tramway link 
 
… distinctive character of High Peak in which picturesque towns and villages are set against a dominant weathered gritstone landscape in the north or the 
softer limestone landscape in the south. These towns include Buxton with its Georgian and Victorian spa heritage, the former mill towns of Glossop and 

P
age 670



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 84 
 

 

 

 

New Mills; Whaley Bridge, where the Cromford and High Peak Railway transferred it’s goods on to Peak Forest Canal; and Chapel en le Frith, the Capital of 
the Peak. A key challenge is investment in protection and enhancement of these assets. 
 
Growth potential – Link to Peak Park, Buxton Crescent and rise in cycling + outdoor leisure activities.  
Key constraints – Quality of accommodation, diversity of offer and skill gap 
 
Travel by car Glossop to Manchester - 37 mins Buxton to Manchester - 1 hr 5 mins Chapel-en-le-Frith to Manchester - 53 mins Chapel-en-le-Frith to 
Sheffield - 53 mins Glossop to Sheffield - 45 mins Buxton to Sheffield - 55 mins 
Travel by train Glossop to Manchester - 32 mins half-hourly daytime service to Manchester Piccadilly and every 20 minutes during rush-hour. Buxton to 
Manchester - 56 mins hourly service daily and about half-hourly during rush-hour. Chapel to Manchester - 46 mins hourly service daily and about half-
hourly during rush-hour. 
 
159.7km of cycle paths and bridle ways in the High Peak 
 
Challenges 
Vacant and under-used heritage assets • Poor town centre retail (availability of right size of premises, absence of high end operators, lack of diversity) • 
High disparity in income levels • Low productivity and gross value added • Poor public transport and connectivity, weather dependency • Low level of 
start-ups and growth of small businesses • Shortage of quality hotel accommodation • Lack of evening economy in main towns 
 
Strengths  
• Key link between Greater Manchester and Sheffield City Region • Connectivity to Manchester, Cheshire, Sheffield and Derby • Peak Park, natural assets 
• Distinctive built heritage • Well established leisure offer (to be reinforced by the Crescent) • High Peak- the incubator for high-growth businesses • 
Advanced manufacturing, aggregates and logistics businesses • Creative businesses in Glossop (Manchester media city connection) 
 
 
  

P
age 671



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 85 
 

 

 

 

Buxton Visitor Economy Strategy 2020 
 
Transformative elements: 

• Brand – Buxton repositioned as gateway to Peak District. The town’s unique characteristics of water, arts, heritage and well-being should inform a 
consistent narrative. 

• Culture – build on International Festival for year round programming 

• Place -reinvigorate streetscapes, orientation and interpretation 

• Visitor experience – enhanced and accessible for all 

• Leadership – act as one destination – one new leadership entity 
 
Refreshingly Buxton brand and guidelines developed from this – Buxton is a place to revive, recharge and revitalise 
 
Buxton Design Strategy 2009 
Place making action plan focusing on approaches, gateways, arrival, signage, information, trails and key routes. 
 

• Higher Buxton - An independent ‘village’ within the town centre with a diverse and interesting range of businesses including shops, galleries, 
cafés, bars and restaurants 

• Spring Gardens - A ‘smart high street’ area that contains a number of national multiples, as well as local retailers, to serve Buxton and its 
hinterland 

• The station ‘green gateway’ to the town centre, both in terms of landscape and sustainable transport, where change has the potential to create a 
high quality new piece of town 

• The Quadrant ‘cosmopolitan’ area with an interesting high quality mix of businesses including independent and branded shops, restaurants and 
bars 

• The Crescent – A ‘premium’ area at the heart of the town centre focused on the Crescent and new spa, with links to both the University and 
Palace Hotel 

• Pavilion Gardens - A ‘green’ leisure and cultural area focused on the Pavilion and the Opera House within an historic park setting 
 

P
age 672



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 86 
 

 

 

 

Buxton Future High Street Fund Masterplan & High Street Heritage Action Zone 2020 
 
A Town Centre Investment Programme was approved by High Peak Borough Council in February 2019. The programme outlined proposals to support the 
development of high streets and town centres, and recommended submission of funding bids (including the Future High Streets Fund, Heritage Lottery 
Fund and Highways England Designated Fund) to support delivery. 
 
The key deliverables under this scheme include: 

• Shop front restoration grants for heritage buildings 

• Grant funding to support viability gaps to bring forward empty heritage properties 

• Offer of a complementary facelift scheme to allocate small grants towards modern units to improve colour scheme and signage  

• Community engagement and cultural programme development 

• Exploration of the restoration and continuation of the missing colonnade around the Cavendish Arcade 

• Heritage interpretation at key visitor entrance points  
 
Strengths include: 

• Excellent heritage context 

• Strong townscape character 

• Gateway to the Peak District 

• Strong tourism offer 

• Easily accessible by public transport 
 
Weakness 
Public realm, weak gateway and arrival at station, poor linkage through study area. 
 
Buxton was selected as one of a number of towns across the country to receive a share of the grant and has secured £926,700 to deliver HAZ programme.  
Grant funding programme run by Historic England. Runs to end March 2024. 
All buildings within the HSHAZ area are eligible for grant funding of 75% towards conservation-led repairs and restoration. 

P
age 673



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 87 
 

 

 

 

 
Goyt Valley Masterplan 2022 (draft) 
 
Central High Peak around Whaley Bridge – open moorlands, reservoirs, walks, villages, pubs, eating places, walking, cycling. 
Acknowledges not a coherent destination or brand but suggests it has potential to be. “Challenge is to form a compelling narrative” 
 
Home to 

• beautiful landscapes and outdoor adventures 

• cycling routes of all levels 

• local food and drink 
• arts and literature – Buxton International, New Mills Festival 

Transport – good links to Sheffield and Manchester – Hope Valley Explorer bus (July-Oct), cycle routs, Peak Forest tramway. 
New creative concept ‘Find your Happy Place’ – offering a place of joy and relaxation, welcoming local community, exploration slightly off beaten track. 
Mixture of history and contemporary accommodation and eating. 
 
Marketing campaign delivered by MPDD. Targeting pre-school/young families, 50+ couples, outdoor enthusiast couples. 90 min drive time, focus on 
Manchester conurbation. Web pages on MPDD website, social media campaign (runs to summer 2022), visitor map, promo video and images. 
 
5 strategic priorities  

• marketing – soft adventures – itineraries – no car required – overnight stays 

• place shaping – destination experience - activities and events – peer networking – max proximity to Glossop and Buxton and wider HP 

• business engagement – upskilling – digital – bookable product – marketing – cross promotion 

• visitor services – active travel, transport – cycling hubs 

• skills- links to education, partnership with FE/HE – local employment initiatives 
 

P
age 674



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 88 
 

 

 

 

4. MARKET REVIEW 

EXISTING MARKETS 

 
Staffordshire Moorlands 
Visitor profile 
For Staffordshire Moorlands, the existing visitor market derives primarily from UK domestic visitors on a day trip.  Visitor survey data undertaken at 
locations across Staffordshire during May – September 2017 shows that 76% of respondents visiting Staffordshire Moorlands were domestic day visitors.  
Other visitors to the area were domestic overnighters (19%), and domestic visitors touring the UK (4%).  Only 2% were visiting from overseas.  
  
Motivations to visit 
The primary motivation for visiting Staffordshire Moorlands is to visit an attraction (47%).  However, it should be noted that the visitor survey was served 
to respondents at key attractions in Staffordshire Moorlands – including Alton Towers and Biddulph Grange Gardens.  Therefore, the survey methodology 
should be taken into account when interpreting these results.  Just under a quarter (23%) of Staffordshire Moorlands primarily visited for walking/hiking, 
a further 8% for a specific event and 7% for leisure cycling.  These activities all over-index versus the Staffordshire county average and suggest that visitors 
are engaging with a variety of activities in the Moorlands area. 

 
Visitor demographics 
In terms of demographic profile, 52% of Staffordshire Moorlands visitors are family groups (34% of visitors arriving with children); and a further 31% are 
adult couples. The area attracts a greater skew to adult couples than the rest of the county, and relatively more retirees at 21% against a Staffordshire 
average of 13%.  Visitors to Staffordshire Moorlands are relatively more affluent too with 43% categorised as the ‘AB’ socio-economic group versus the 
county average of 36%. 
 
The day visitor audience for Staffordshire Moorlands is localised: 50% are visitors from across Staffordshire, with a further 14% from Derbyshire and 14% 
from Cheshire.  The overnight visitor profile differs in that main markets are visitors from the South East (21%) and North West (21%).  Important 
secondary overnight markets are provided by the East Midlands (19%) and Yorkshire (14%).  It should also be noted that though the majority of visitors to 

P
age 675



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 89 
 

 

 

 

Staffordshire Moorlands are arriving for a day visit, 18% choose the area for a short break – more than double the proportion for the rest of the county at 
8%.   
 
Choice of Accommodation 
For those staying on a break in Staffordshire Moorlands, a hotel is the most popular form of accommodation (32% - in line with the average for the 
county).  However, there is relatively greater use of self-catering and non-serviced accommodation with visitors booking self-catering trips (24% vs. Staffs 
avg. 10%), or camping (11% vs. Staffs avg. 6%) and caravanning (10 vs. Staffs avg. 5%).   

 
Visitor enjoyment 
More than nine in ten visitors to Staffordshire Moorlands are repeat visitors. In this context it is perhaps unsurprising that there are high levels of 
enjoyment with, and likelihood to recommend, the area as a destination.  Visitors to Staffordshire Moorlands have the highest levels of enjoyment 
compared to all other areas surveyed in the county (80% ‘very high’ enjoyment vs. Staffs avg. 55%), 89% would recommend visiting and 93% would be 
‘very likely’ to visit again.  Therefore, Staffordshire Moorlands is an effective ambassador for the reputation of ‘Staffordshire’ as a visitor destination. 

 
High Peak 
Visitor profile  
Data from Marketing Peak District & Derbyshire (MPDD) in the recent Recovery Report stated that 90% of visitors to the MPDD catchment area are day-
trippers and with a skew to those aged 55+ years.  This profile aligns with demographic data from MPDD’s consumer survey into post-Covid tourism in 
late 2020.  Respondents from that survey were mainly located in the East Midlands (33%), other notable catchment areas were the South East (16%), 
North West (14%), Yorkshire & Humber (13%) and West Midlands (11%). The South East notwithstanding, this suggests a visitor base that is majority 
located within a 90-minute drivetime.  Data quoted here is for the broader MPDD area; visitors to High Peak specifically cannot be isolated. 
 
Reaching a broader visitor profile 
MPDD’s Recovery Report is clear in its aspiration to broaden the current visitor base to bring new visitors to the Peak District.  Plans involve the active 
targeting of pre-nesters and pre-school families to immerse themselves in the great outdoors and enjoy the associated wellbeing benefits.  The DMO also 
aims to increase the Peak District’s appeal as a destination for Millennials (born between 1981-1996) by highlighting the area’s experiential offer (e.g. 
festivals, camping, nightlife).   
 

P
age 676



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 90 
 

 

 

 

Web analytics suggest that visitors to the visitpeakdistrict.com website are skewed to a young and urban demographic looking for walks and activities in 
the area.  Therefore, this suggests that recent marketing activity is helping to target a new audience outside of the mature daytripper cohort that has 
traditionally been the core audience.  A further aspiration is to increase the propensity of daytrippers to stay overnight in the Peak District in order to 
maximise the value they can deliver by increasing the range of activities undertaken and time spent in the area.  Similarly, re-connecting with inbound 
visitor markets in Germany, the Netherlands and USA is designed to increase overnight visits and engagement with varied itineraries in the area. 
 
EXISTING MARKETING/EXTERNAL PERCEPTIONS  
DMO channels are the most prominent in promoting both Staffordshire Moorlands and High Peak as visitor destinations.  However, there are also a 
number of community-run websites and social media pages that showcase towns and villages in both areas to visitors.   
  
Online, both Staffordshire Moorlands and High Peak appear as appealing visitor destinations.  Imagery of both areas depicts towns and villages with 
attractive built heritage surrounded by green spaces and rolling hills.  Language used to promote these towns and village on DMO and other destination 
websites focuses on history and landscape and how both have shaped the individual characteristics of locations across Staffordshire Moorlands and High 
Peak that visitors can experience today.  It is important to note that visitors are searching for individual locations and attractions within Staffordshire 
Moorlands or High Peak.  They are not navigating the destinations by their political boundaries.  Therefore, the opportunity is to amplify the sense of 
place in each area through its key locations and attractions.  Any new destination brand for each area should amplify the profile of the locations and 
attractions for visitors that make Staffordshire Moorlands and High Peak unique, not obscure them. 
  
Places are often described as ‘thriving’ and ‘bustling’, with their historic markets celebrated and independent businesses highlighted.  Proximity to the 
landscape is also a common feature of how Staffordshire Moorlands and High Peak towns and villages are described online, giving locations the 
opportunity to appeal to a broad range of visitors; be it those wishing to enjoy the built environment, or those wanting to experience life outdoors.  Given 
the quality of the landscape in Staffordshire Moorlands and High Peak, it is perhaps unsurprising that outdoor attractions are the most salient and highly 
rated activities online in both localities.   
  
B&Bs are the most prominently featured accommodation online in both Staffordshire Moorlands and High Peak.  Accommodation generally appears to be 
less distinctive in character than the food scene in both areas.  Leek is an exemplar of food quality in Staffordshire Moorlands; in High Peak it is Buxton, 
Whaley Bridge and Hayfield that are seen as having a quality food offer.  

P
age 677



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 91 
 

 

 

 

  
Community-run websites and social media pages suggest proud residents who are invested in civic and cultural life of their towns and villages as 
exemplified by the variety local events and activities on offer across locations.  Community-run channels can play a role in demonstrating the vibrancy of a 
local community and act as a testament to the local quality of life.  Therefore, it is important that those managing community-run channels are cognisant 
of, and in sympathy with, the vision and aims of a new tourism strategy in both local authority areas.  Leadership from the local authority with support 
from the DMO in each area is likely to enable community-run platforms to coalesce around a shared vision and narrative for each area.  A situation where 
local platforms are seen to be competing to promote a destination is to be avoided in order to prevent confusion for potential visitors and perceptions of 
a lack of community cohesion around a destination. 

  
Staffordshire Moorlands 
Enjoy Staffordshire target markets 
Enjoy Staffordshire content is designed to promote Staffordshire as a short break destination.  Stated target markets are families, as well as the recently 
retired and pre-nesters given the variety of experiences on offer across the county and within Staffordshire Moorlands, specifically.  Search terms driving 
traffic to enjoystaffordshire.com are primarily for towns and attractions outside of Staffordshire Moorlands.  The most frequently used search terms 
driving traffic to enjoystaffordshire.com is ‘café near me’ which may suggest that a daytripper audience is primarily interacting with the website more 
than an overnight market and echoes the visitor profile detailed above.   
  
Social content and engagement 
Enjoy Staffordshire has an active presence on social media via both Facebook (16k followers) and Twitter (16k followers).  The DMO’s Instagram following 
is currently modest (0.4k), but is a growth opportunity if attractive photography and video content can be produced.  Enjoy Staffordshire social channels 
appear to be used for both corporate and consumer updates.  Not leveraging these channels to focus solely on consumers may affect response to content 
across the channel, as recent posts – even those aimed at consumers – do not appear to have gained traction in terms of engagement.   
  
Opportunities for collaboration 
Alongside enjoystaffordshire.com, visitpeakdistrict.com plays a role in highlighting key towns in Staffordshire Moorlands as visitor destinations.  There are 
variations in both photographic content and copy for the same towns featured across the two websites (examples here and here).  Photography is 
generally more vibrant and copy more inviting on visitpeakdistrict.com.  This suggests an opportunity for consolidation and consistency to deliver a clear 
message to visitors.   

P
age 678

https://www.enjoystaffordshire.com/information/product-catch-all/leek-p739931
https://www.visitpeakdistrict.com/explore/towns-and-villages/leek-p682001


BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 92 
 

 

 

 

 
  
Local and community-run platforms 
Leek, Biddulph and Cheadle are supported by a combination of community-run websites and social channels to promote local businesses and attractions.  
Totally Locally Leek (website and social media) publicises the town’s local markets and businesses – giving visitors a flavour of what a visitor can expect in 
the town.  Enjoy Staffordshire’s Leek webpage links directly to the Totally Locally Leek website.  In Biddulph the town council’s website acts as a portal for 
local events and activities, and within Cheadle two community-run Facebook pages signpost town news and latest what’s on.  The community pages for 
Cheadle appear to have been designed for residents, rather than visitors.  However, there may be an opportunity to share DMO-authored content with 
toolkits and editorial guidelines via these pages in order to reach potential visitors who are seeking information about the town on social media. 
 
Distinctive ‘assets’ communicated online 
Leek, Biddulph and Cheadle are portrayed online (across DMO platforms, other destination sites and TripAdvisor) as homes to independent businesses 
with thriving traditional markets and hubs of community-run events: 
  
Leek: 

• A market town proud of its history 
• Gateway to The Roaches 

• A quality food offer 
  
Biddulph: 

• 'Biddulph in Bloom’, civic planting and flowers 
• An active calendar of community-run events 
• Outdoor attractions including Biddulph Grange Gardens and Knypersley Reservoir 

  
Cheadle: 

• St Giles Church - ‘a hidden gem’ 
• Heritage architecture in town centre 
• Proximity to wildlife (e.g. Hales Hall Pool, RSPB Combes Valley) 

  

P
age 679



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 93 
 

 

 

 

The combination of ‘town and country’ experiences in each area looks to be a key factor in driving the appeal of these places within the Staffordshire 
Moorlands tourism offer from evidence on TripAdvisor.  Linking to ratings and displaying accolades such a Travellers’ Choice Awards on 
enjoystaffordshire.com may reinforce perceptions of quality and variety to potential visitors. 
  
Accommodation featured on TripAdvisor across the three towns skews to B&Bs with average scores of 4.0/5.0.  Of the three towns, Leek appears to have 
the strongest food offer via a mix of pubs and Italian and Indian restaurants.  Eight of the top ten places to eat in Leek featured on TripAdvisor are 
Travellers’ Choice award-winners, which suggest a good quality and vibrant culinary scene. 
 
High Peak 
Marketing Peak District & Derbyshire (MPDD) target markets 
MPDD is ‘the official tourist board for the Peak District and Derbyshire, tasked with promoting the area nationally and internationally to grow and support 
the visitor economy’.  MPDD works with local tourism businesses on a number of campaigns and promotional opportunities to showcase High Peak 
destinations among others.  Campaigns appear to be designed around families, mature visitors with time and disposable income, as well as pre-families 
looking for active pursuits.  The DMO encourages businesses to create organic content on social media with campaign toolkits, as well as providing a 
range of paid-for marketing opportunities and consultancy on developing high-quality content.   
  
Visit Peak District & Derbyshire (VPDD) social media presence 
The consumer-facing work of MPDD (as VPDD) has built a prominent social media profile across major platforms: Instagram (93.5k followers), Facebook 
(66.5k) and Twitter (40k).  The prioritising of Instagram as the DMO’s key social channel enables the targeting of a <35 years old audience via imagery and 
video that can showcase the natural beauty of the landscape.  Photography and copy are attractive and engaging.  The clear focus on consumer-facing 
content is also likely to support engagement across social platforms.  The strategy appears to be successful given the matching profile of website visitors 
as suggested by the results of analytics. 
  
Community-run platforms 
In High Peak there is much community-driven content online with Visit Buxton and Explore Buxton as key exemplars in the town across the web and social 
media.  Visit Buxton content in particular gives a flavour of what visitors might experience in the town across attractions and the events programme.  
Community voices are active in promoting Glossop as a creative hub and New Mills for its cultural scene and quality of landscape.  Such platforms 
demonstrate the ‘character’ of a place, as well as showcase local businesses and community events that can attract visitors.  Community platforms in High 

P
age 680



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 94 
 

 

 

 

Peak strike an appropriate balance between celebrating a place and its local community, whilst being open and welcoming to visitors in terms of tone and 
content.  Creating the conditions where local platforms can work together to support their destination in a cohesive way is likely to be key  in the 
successful roll out of a new tourism strategy in High Peak. 
  
Distinctive ‘assets’ communicated online 
Of the six High Peak towns and villages analysed, geology, local culture, and food and drink were key features mentioned online that give each place a 
distinctive character.  Mentions have been taken from DMO sites, other destination sites and TripAdvisor. 
  
Buxton: 

• Thermal spa that inspired unique architecture and social history 
• Local festivals and events 
• Gateway to the Peak District  

  
Castleton: 

• Mam Tor and its dramatic landscape 
• Caverns and Blue John (unique geology) 
• Quality of local accommodation 

  
New Mills: 

• Millennium Walkway and ‘curated’ trails 
• Quality independent shops 
• A proud community organising local events 

  
Glossop: 

• A creative community 
• Independent businesses and bustling high street 
• Proximity to the Dark Peak 

  
Whaley Bridge: 

• Gateway to the Goyt Valley 

P
age 681



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 95 
 

 

 

 

• Industrial heritage (Bugsworth Basin) 
• Quality food offer 

  
Hayfield: 

• Sett Valley Trail 
• Gateway to Kinder Scout 
• Quality food offer 

  
Buxton may be well placed to act as a gateway town for High Peak with its distinctive spa history and architecture, events, and views over the Peak 
District.  Across High Peak towns and villages, the benefits of actively engaging with the outdoors are clearly communicated, both in terms of visitor 
wellbeing and sustainable tourism.  From online reviews, High Peak’s food offer appears to be particularly strong in Whaley Bridge and Hayfield which 
may allow these places to stand out relatively on this feature.  Castleton and New Mills have distinctive geological features and Glossop appears to be 
characterised by its creative spirit and proudly independent businesses. 
 
MARKET TRENDS  

 
Coming out of Covid: Remaining impact 
Global Travel - The travel industry has suffered enormously as a result of the global pandemic – in June 2021 a United Nations Conference on Trade and 
Development (UNCTAD) report indicated that the crash in international tourism due to the coronavirus pandemic could cause a loss of more than $4 trillion to 
the global GDP for the years 2020 and 2021. The estimated loss has been caused by the pandemic’s direct impact on tourism and its ripple effect on other sectors 
closely linked to it. The report, jointly presented with the UN World Tourism Organization (UNWTO), says international tourism and its closely linked sectors 
suffered an estimated loss of $2.4 trillion in 2020 due to direct and indirect impacts of a steep drop in international tourist arrivals. The report warns that a similar 
loss may occur this year, noting that the tourism sector’s recovery will largely depend on the uptake of COVID-19 vaccines globally. 

Inbound Travel - VisitBritain’s (VB) most recent inbound research (September 2021) shows that inbound travel to the UK is beginning to recover with the 

number of inbound flight bookings to the UK now back to about 50% and arrivals at about 25% of 2019 levels. VB expects inbound tourism levels to return 

to around half of normal by mid next year. Oxford Economics forecasts a multi-speed recovery with most of the volume and value from Europe regained 

in 2023, stretching to 2024/25 for long haul markets. 

P
age 682



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 96 
 

 

 

 

According to VB, post-Covid, the most popular destinations are: 
 Cities (Spain, Ireland, Nordics) 
 Coastal (Germany) 

 Multi-destination (Australia, Italy) 

Domestic Travel - 2021 has seen a staycation boom due to the international traffic light system. Hotel occupancy levels have recovered to almost pre-

pandemic levels across the UK (except London) and in some destinations, such as Wales, even higher.  The medium-term outlook as to whether this will 

continue into 2022 is still clouded due to the returning ease of international travel and other impending financial hits such as the National Insurance hike 

and uncertainty around universal credit. 

Business Travel - According to a survey conducted by Deloitte1, the extent to which business travel will make a comeback may be fairly modest in the 
coming years despite it being on the rise in the second half of 2021. Total spend in Q4 2021 is projected to reach somewhere between 25%-35% of 2019 
levels. Research carried out for the business software company SAP2 found that after a long period of restricted travel opportunities, 89% of people 
surveyed said they intend to mix business with pleasure by tacking untaken holiday days on to work trips. 
 

 
  

 

 

 
1 Deloitte Corporate Travel Survey, 2021 
2 SAP Concur organization research, April – May 2021 

P
age 683

https://www2.deloitte.com/us/en/insights/focus/transportation/future-of-business-travel-post-covid.html


BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 97 
 

 

 

 

MACRO TRENDS  
In addition to the short-term Covid-related factors above, other macro trends in tourism are also worth considering as these will influence travel patterns 
in the longer term and have implications for Staffordshire Moorlands and High Peak as destinations.  With a core proposition around the outdoors and 
wellbeing, both Staffiorshire Moorlands and High Peak should be well placed to respond to and take advantage of these trends:  
 

 
 
 

P
age 684



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 98 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

P
age 685



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 99 
 

 

 

 

5. BEST PRACTICE 

KEY FINDINGS 
 
Every destination is different and so ideas from elsewhere cannot always be easily transferred and adopted. Nonetheless, we have sought out examples 
which illustrate good practice in areas in which we think there are opportunities for Staffordshire Moorlands and High Peak. Some important lessons from 
these examples are:  
 

 Don’t start from scratch. There are lots of insights and tools from elsewhere which can quickly and easily be adopted to progress actions in both 

local authority areas.  

 A clear policy environment guides actions. Spending some time thinking about what is most important to each destination from a tourism point of 

view will help to decide on priorities and actions.  

 As well as benefitting visitors, successful interventions can bring positive value to local businesses and communities.  

 Use interventions and actions to connect-up the offer across towns and villages to make it easier for visitors to experience more of the 

destination and keep them in the area for longer.  

 Continue to work across political boundaries where it makes sense to visitors, especially in marketing. Use SLAs to encourage collaboration 

between DMOs. 

 Engage businesses in the planning and development of actions so they buy into what the local authority in each destination wants to achieve.  

 Use events – particularly those that centre around outdoors life – to animate each destination and attract new visitors.  

 
 

  

P
age 686



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 100 
 

 

 

 

AN ACTIVE OUTDOORS CULTURE  

Staffordshire Moorlands and High Peak have some of the most striking landscapes in Britain.  The outdoors is a defining aspect of the offer in both areas.  
Events that celebrate the outdoors present an opportunity to experience the landscape in new and exciting ways: either by bringing together the beauty 
of the natural environment with music, food, and entertainment; or by appealing to people’s desire for a sense of achievement.  Two examples are: 

 
EXEMPLAR 1: LOVE TRAILS FESTIVAL    

A four-day trail running and outdoor adventures event with live music and entertainment in the beautiful Gower Peninsula.  Trail 

running takes places on the trails and coastal paths of the Gower Peninsula (AONB) and is strictly non-competitive.  Participants can 

experience a range of different challenges, depending upon ability.  Additional adventure activities are also on offer over the weekend 

from local specialist companies.  The Festival also has a prominent wellbeing aspect, including yoga classes, workshops, and talks from 

wellbeing practitioners.  Target audiences are pre-families and families with school-aged children who want to embrace the best of 

outdoors life in unexpected ways.  The event is part of the ecolibrium initiative which encourages investment in climate solutions 

What it does well                                                            Learning for Staffordshire Moorlands and High Peak  

 Attracts to the local area a young and adventurous audience who are willing 

to invest in experiences  

 Brings the best of the local landscape, culture, and cuisine together 

 Supports local vendors (e.g. outdoor experience providers, hospitality 

businesses, and accommodation providers) 

 Consider opportunities to collaborate with experienced event organisers 

who can bring new audiences via existing IP 

 Identify sites where events can be held safely and sustainably 

 Consider when and how such an event can complement the existing 

events programme in each destination 
   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 687

https://www.lovetrailsfestival.co.uk/
https://ecolibrium.earth/about-2/


BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 101 
 

 

 

 

 

EXEMPLAR 2: DURTY EVENTS    

Based in the Scottish Borders, Durty Events host a range of muti-discipline active outdoors events across scenic landscapes in Scotland and the 

North of England.  Events include runs, triathlons, and orienteering with people of all abilities participating at their own pace.  Each event is run 

in collaboration with local authorities, landowners, businesses, and local residents.  Overnight event participants are encouraged to camp in 

the local area as responsible visitors, given Durty Event’s focus on sustainability.  

What it does well                                                           Learning for Staffordshire Moorlands and High Peak  

 A collaborative model of community participation (from landlord permissions 

to volunteer marshalls)  

 Sustainability/responsible tourism is front and centre (e.g. stringent policies 

around waste) 

 Creates a regular outdoors events ‘scene’ in an area and enhances its profile 

as a destination for an adventurous and active audience 

 Collaboration is essential to deliver these kinds of events and requires 

the buy-in of multiple stakeholders 

 Likely to encourage cross-border visits with routes through the Peaks 

 Can encourage visitor traffic in shoulder seasons with events hosted ‘off -

peak’ 

   

 
  

P
age 688

https://durtyevents.com/
https://durtyevents.com/about/durty-sustainability/


BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 102 
 

 

 

 

STRATEGIC EVENTS DEVELOPMENT 

Events, including outdoor events, have the potential to bring positive impacts for a destination. They animate the place for visitors and locals alike; they 
can bring economic impacts by attracting day and staying visitors at times of the year when demand is lower. A local authority can enable and support the 
delivery of successful events, rather than become the main organiser/deliverer.   To do this, a strategic approach is required that has:  

 Policy – a clear strategic events policy to identify what Staffordshire Moorlands and High Peak want events to deliver in each area 

 Operational Plans – sets out where and under what conditions each local authority will support events and what it wants organisers to do in 
planning and delivering events  

 Sites – clearly identify all of the suitable sites for outdoor events (council and other)  

 Safety Advisory Group – put in place an agreed network of the main agencies that are needed to support the delivery of events (blue light 
services, highways, stewarding, licensing)  

  
EXEMPLAR 3: WORTHING    
To develop a robust events calendar, Worthing introduced a new events policy in 2020 covering council-owned land. The policy sets out what the council wants to achieve in 

maximising the benefits from events while ensuring that they are safe and well managed. The council has a full-time events officer.  

What it does well                                            Learning for Staffordshire Moorlands and High Peak  

 Worthing has been actively looking to grow and develop its outdoor events programme, 
which has seen a range of new events introduced and developed in recent years including: 
Mass participation events e.g. running; Outdoor concerts; Food festivals; Christmas events 
e.g. ice rink and big wheel  

 The policy includes all the necessary information an 
organiser would need: How to apply; Licensing, 
Permissions and insurance; Approval criteria; 
Consultation and the role of the safety advisory group; 
Fees and charges   

 The policy also sets out clear expectations in operating 

sustainable events.  

 Events animate the destination for visitors and local people  

 They help create an attractive destination that relates positively to 
wider objectives including inward investment.  

 As the policy was updated in 
2020 it contains useful 
references for delivering events 
during Covid   

 
The Time For Worthing website is used to 

promote the destination to investors as well 

as visitors and students  

    

P
age 689

https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/media/Media,151894,smxx.pdf
https://www.adur-worthing.gov.uk/media/Media,151894,smxx.pdf
https://timeforworthing.uk/
https://timeforworthing.uk/
https://timeforworthing.uk/


BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 103 
 

 

 

 

 
EXEMPLAR 4: LONDON BOROUGH OF CROYDON    

Croydon has developed an over-arching Events Policy to support the development of events. The main benefits are seen as promoting the destination as a place 

of business, culture and community, which also draws visitors in and improves the image of the borough.   
What it does well                                                                                          Learning for Staffordshire Moorlands and High Peak  

Croydon has a clear events policy (2018) which:   

 Categorises events (by size and type e.g. commercial or 
charity)  

 Sets out the timeframes for applying (bigger events take 
longer)  

 Explains the role of the Safety Advisory Group in 
reviewing the event safety – which is separate from the 
landlord consent  

 Requires the development of event management safety 
plan  

 Lays out conditions and legislation surrounding events  

 Explains limitations and exclusions of the types of 
events not usually permitted  

As well as the policy there are a number of other 

supporting documents available to organisers: 

 Guide to organising safe events 

 Application form and risk assessment forms  

 A clear policy or strategy makes it clear to 
event organisers and local stakeholders 
what Runnymede wants to get from 
events, and makes it clear to members and 
officers the sorts of events to actively 
support or resist  

 Clear timeframes and requirements help 
organisers understand how decisions will 
be made as landlord (assuming events are 
held on council land)  

 Sets out how to work with partners on 
event planning and illustrates the 
important role of an event Safety Advisory 
Group  

    

P
age 690

https://www.croydon.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Business%20licences%20and%20tenders/Health%20and%20safety/Guidance_Organising_Events_Croydon.pdf
https://www.croydon.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Business%20licences%20and%20tenders/Health%20and%20safety/Guidance_Organising_Events_Croydon.pdf
https://www.croydon.gov.uk/business-licences-and-tenders/health-and-safety-and-food-safety/health-and-safety/organising-safe-events
https://www.croydon.gov.uk/business-licences-and-tenders/health-and-safety-and-food-safety/health-and-safety/organising-safe-events


BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 104 
 

 

 

 

TRANSPORT & CYCLING INFRASTRUCTURE  

Even before Covid, outdoor activity had been growing as a leisure pastime and as a visitor experience. A burgeoning variety of trails for walking and 
cycling and greenways have been created. These range from relatively short routes, which are ideal for younger families, to long-distance trails for 
touring. They have been helpful in re-vitalising the communities that they pass through.  E-bikes are also becoming increasingly popular in areas such as 
the Lake District and at attractions such as Waddesdon Manor where they offer a sustainable way for visitors to travel car-free.  
 
Roads and parking facilities are likely to be under most pressure during peak seasons, especially around bank holidays when bus services to key 
attractions in Staffordshire Moorlands and High Peak have reduced services.  Shuttle bus services and commercial bus tour providers could provide 
additional transport capacity and encourage car-free travel.  
 

EXEMPLAR 5: GREAT WESTERN GREENWAY – COUNTY MAYO   

One of the first of several Greenways developed in Ireland, this 42 km former railway line provides a traffic route for locals and visitors to explore the 

countryside and coast.  

What it does well                                                     Learning for Staffordshire Moorlands and High Peak 

 Since opening it attracts ¼m visitors a year and has created 200 new jobs  

 It is used to link together different towns and attractions  

 It cost €6.7m to develop the 42 km route  

 It generates €40m of annual economic impact  

 It includes a 7 km town greenway loop at Westport which links 
communities to local facilities, schools, shops and recreation  

 25% of visitors are from overseas  

 78% of users are cyclists  

 Evidence desire for active 
outdoor adventures and 
impact on employment  

 Highlights international 
appeal in addition to 
providing a resource for 
local communities  

 Connects different spaces, 
attractions and towns  

    
 
  

P
age 691

https://lakedistrictbikes.com/product-category/hybrid-e-bikes/
https://www.ianvisits.co.uk/articles/review-the-waddesdon-greenway-e-bike-hire-scheme-45830/


BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 105 
 

 

 

 

EXEMPLAR 6: HOP-ON/HOP-OFF BUS TOURS, SCOTTISH BORDERS   

Run by City Sightseeing, the Scottish Borders service runs three times each day from the end of May to the end 
of August.  Buses take a circular route beginning at Galashiels transport interchange and make eight stops at key 
attractions along the 1.5 hour route.  Users are able to hop on/off the service over a 24-hour period.   

What it does well                                                     Learning for Staffordshire Moorlands and High Peak 

 Encourages car-free travel in a scenic area 

 Highlights and links key attractions, creating a sense of place 

 Enables people to explore the destination flexibly 

 Explore partnerships with commercial travel providers 

 Consider partnership agreements/discount schemes with local businesses 

and attractions for bus users to encourage car-free travel 

 Consider how to combine bus tickets with bike hire to create an  

integrated transport offer for visitors 

    

 
  

P
age 692



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 106 
 

 

 

 

TOWN CENTRE DEVELOPMENT  

Successful town centres are valued and used by their local communities, as well as providing facilities and services for visitors from further afield. They 
offer a mix of commercial, cultural and community activities. This increases the dwell time of all customers (locals and visitors) which increases spend and 
vibrancy, and ultimately attracts more investment.   
  

EXEMPLAR 7: FROME, SOMERSET    

Frome is a traditional market town in Somerset. In the last decade it has invested in a series of imaginatively funded community, 
cultural and environmental projects that have injected vitality into the town centre. Working with English Heritage, county and 
district councils, and attracting entrepreneurs with its business-friendly welcome and relatively low start-up costs, the historic 
Catherine Hill has been transformed from a relatively rundown shopping street with 60% vacancy levels to what National  
Geographic describes as “Frome’s beating heart ... where you can stock up on life’s beautiful things”.  Some of the town’s success 

in recent years is attributed to the growth of the Frome Independent – a monthly market and street entertainment event that 

transforms the centre of the town into a festival-like atmosphere on the first Sunday of every month from March to December. 

Describing itself as “a curated, destination street market with a difference”, it has very clear criteria for its 200 traders, to ensure 

local and creative distinctiveness. Another Frome town centre success story is Share – A Library of Things, the UK’s first Share 

Shop, established in 2015 with the support of the town council, and since emulated by other towns.  

What it does well                                                     Learning for Staffordshire Moorlands and High Peak 

 Emphasis on community decision-making and public/private/voluntary 
partnerships; practical projects and engagement at grassroots level  

 Bringing council-owned land and buildings into community use  

 Creating a welcoming place to set-up a business  

 Making happiness & wellbeing the focus for their Neighbourhood Plan   

 Support and develop genuine engagement and partnership at grassroots 
level between community, commercial and cultural sectors    

 Identify and strengthen local distinctiveness in terms of heritage, 
environment, culture, creativity  

 Encourage innovative and creative business investment  

    

 
  

P
age 693

https://www.nationalgeographic.co.uk/travel/2021/06/what-to-do-in-frome-somersets-most-exciting-market-town
https://www.nationalgeographic.co.uk/travel/2021/06/what-to-do-in-frome-somersets-most-exciting-market-town
https://www.nationalgeographic.co.uk/travel/2021/06/what-to-do-in-frome-somersets-most-exciting-market-town
https://www.nationalgeographic.co.uk/travel/2021/06/what-to-do-in-frome-somersets-most-exciting-market-town
https://thefromeindependent.org.uk/trade-with-us/
https://thefromeindependent.org.uk/trade-with-us/
https://sharefrome.org/history-of-share/
https://sharefrome.org/history-of-share/
https://sharefrome.org/history-of-share/
https://sharefrome.org/history-of-share/
https://sharefrome.org/history-of-share/
https://sharefrome.org/history-of-share/


BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 107 
 

 

 

 

EXEMPLAR 8: CLONAKILTY, REPUBLIC OF IRELAND    

Clonakilty is a small market town in County Cork. It went into decline in the 1960s as industry declined and its rail 

link was closed. While other local authorities abandoned the practice (common in the Republic up to the 1960s), 

Clonakilty retained a Town Architect who established the Town Development Plan and encouraged locals to take an 

interest in the look of the urban environment and get involved in the decision-making process. This continues into 

the 21st century, with a creative approach to urban development, sensitive restoration – and in some cases 

repurposing – of historic buildings, conservation of shopfronts, and high-quality public realm with spaces for people 

to gather socially. Clonakilty’s distinctive sense of place and local pride has attracted creative people, innovative 

thinkers and entrepreneurs, and the town has developed a reputation as a place that is open to new ideas. This has 

put it in a good position to benefit from county and national tourism initiatives in the last few years – especially West Cork’s focus on local produce, and the 

national tourism authority’s Wild Atlantic Way initiative.   

What it does well                                                    Learning for Staffordshire Moorlands and High Peak 

 Long-term Development Plan led by a Town Architect, resulting in a 
coherent aesthetic and a distinctive sense of place  

 Involving locals in decisions about urban development, especially the look 
and feel of the place  

 Investment in high-quality public realm and repurposing historic buildings  

 Have a long-term vision and development plan for each town centre  

 Encourage locals to take an active interest in the look and feel of the town 
centres  

 Encourage social, creative and cultural elements (alongside the 

commercial) through repurposing buildings and investing in high-quality 

public realm  

    
 
  

P
age 694



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 108 
 

 

 

 

SUSTAINABLE DESTINATION DEVELOPMENT  

Tourism contributes 8% of global carbon emissions and, following the recent COP26 conference in Glasgow, the focus is shifting to how destinations can 
reduce carbon. In most events this necessitates a baseline evaluation of the current impacts, from which progress can be measured. A destination has a 
number of levers it can use to make positive changes and these are centred on:  
  

 Businesses – helping the local tourism sector operate more sustainably, including supporting skills and employment to drive recruitment and 

retention within the sector 

 Visitors – guiding and advising visitors to help them reduce their impact on the local environment  

 Destination – policy and operational changes at a local authority level that reduce impacts  

 

EXEMPLAR 9: THANET    

As a relatively small district in NE Kent, Thanet has a small tourism team that supports destination management and marketing. As part of the council declaring 

a climate and biodiversity emergency in 2019, the tourism team has developed a Green Tourism Toolkit for local tourism businesses.  

What it does well                                                   Learning for Staffordshire Moorlands and High Peak 

The tourism website has a page of advice and guidance for tourism businesses  

https://www.visitthanetbusiness.co.uk/green-tourism/ 
The recently published green toolkit helps businesses by:  

 Making the market case for investment, with the latest research  

 Providing easy-to-adopt suggestions across four areas of Water, Waste, 
Energy and Supply Chains (these show the relative ease and cost in 
adopting the change)  

 Offering examples of best practice among small businesses  

 Pointing towards different certification schemes  

 A lot of the advice and guidance is common to all 
destinations so no need to start from scratch  

 There are lots of easy-to-adopt ideas that don’t 
cost much  

 A collective ambition and action plan that cuts 
across public and private sectors  

 Helps the destination to be recognised as a front-
runner in tackling climate change  

 

    

 

P
age 695

https://www.visitthanetbusiness.co.uk/green-tourism/
https://www.visitthanetbusiness.co.uk/green-tourism/
https://www.visitthanetbusiness.co.uk/green-tourism/
https://www.visitthanetbusiness.co.uk/green-tourism/
https://www.visitthanetbusiness.co.uk/green-tourism/
https://www.visitthanetbusiness.co.uk/green-tourism/green-tourism-toolkit/
https://www.visitthanetbusiness.co.uk/green-tourism/green-tourism-toolkit/


BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 109 
 

 

 

 

EXEMPLAR 10: PLUMPTON COLLEGE, SUSSEX    

Plumpton College farms over 2,500 acres of land and has grown to become one of the leading centres for land-based education in the UK.  Established in 1926, 
the College has built a curriculum and business support framework across the south-east, delivering vocational skills training and education to over 3,500 
students and 2,500 businesses.  Whilst agriculture is Plumpton’s flagship curriculum, it is also renowned for being the UK’s centre for excellence in wine 
education and research as well as offering highly-regarding courses in food science.  Plumpton works with employers and businesses across Sussex to develop 
programmes (including an apprenticeship recruitment service) to ensure new entrants develop the right skills and attributes to pursue a successful career in 
farming, food and drink, and tourism .  Plumpton is a key pillar in supporting Sussex’s profile as a centre of excellence for food and drink, contributing to the 
strength of the local supply chain with a highly skilled workforce. 
What it does well                                                   Learning for Staffordshire Moorlands and High Peak 

 Offers a variety of specialist courses including apprenticeships, and FE and 

HE level learning around land management, food and drink 

 Effective partnerships with Brighton & Hove Council, South Downs 

National Park, and employers to offer learning and skills that are relevant 

to the market 

 Puts the latest practice around sustainability at the heart of its courses 

 Enhances the reputation of hospitality as a desirable sector in which to 

work and develop a lifelong career 

 Contributes to placemaking for Sussex as a destination known for 

innovative and high quality local food and drink 

  

 Showcase success stories of local hospitality 
providers to raise the profile of the sector across 
Staffordshire Moorlands & High Peak, enhancing 
each area’s reputation for food culture 

 Consider ways to encourage local education 
providers to raise the profile and reputation of 
hospitality and tourism qualifications (e.g. via the 
Peak District & Derbyshire Hospitality Charter) 

 Consider incentives and marketing to encourage 
student recruitment/apprenticeships and attract 
new people to hospitality/tourism sector  

    

 
  

P
age 696

https://www.plumpton.ac.uk/
https://www.plumpton.ac.uk/business-services/apprenticeships-for-employers/apprenticeship-recruitment-support/
https://www.visitpeakdistrict.com/industry/business-support/a-great-place-to-work/hospitality-charter


BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 110 
 

 

 

 

EXEMPLAR 11: PLATE UP FOR GLASGOW    

Plate up for Glasgow, a hospitality industry-led campaign coincided with COP26 in November 2021.  Piloted by Glasgow Chamber of Commerce through its 
Circular Glasgow initiative and funded by Experience Glasgow Food and Drink Regional Group, the campaign aimed to highlight and encourage hospitality 
businesses to act upon the global issue of food waste and its impact on climate change. 
 
The campaign’s ambition was to challenge traditional and wasteful dining and takeaway business models with the goal of sending as little organic waste as 
possible to landfill. Specific ‘Plate up for Glasgow’ dishes were created by venues and added to menus to encourage diners to consciously choose the ‘low 
waste’ option.  It is hoped that businesses can rebuild the local economy, while collaborating on how to become more sustainable and profitable. Some of the 
city's best chefs also shared tips and advice on how to reduce food waste as well as highlighting the many benefits of buying locally and seasonally. 
What it did well                                                   Learning for Staffordshire Moorlands and High Peak 

 Fostered collaboration across industry, the third sector and local 

government to highlight best practice in minimising food waste across the 

supply chain at a time when Glasgow was centre stage during COP26 

 Showcased the best of Scottish cuisine in a new way to a global audience 

 Legacy: 88% of venues committed to keeping the low waste dish on their 

menu beyond the campaign 

 Created a conversation between staff and customers, and between in-

house teams about food waste and how people’s choices make an impact 

 Made a strategic link between food waste and climate impact while 

giving consumers practical advice on how to avoid food waste at home 

 Consider how collaboration and 

strategic partnerships can support 

the local supply chain to minimise 

food waste and sustainability 

 PR success stories across channels 

– including DMOs to create the 

sense of a sustainable ‘food scene’ 

in the area 

 Consider incentives for exemplar businesses (investment/grants) 

 Work with local suppliers to set targets to minimise food waste and create 

case studies around best practice  
    

 
 

P
age 697

https://plateupforglasgow.co.uk/about/


BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 111 
 

 

 

 

 

 

THE RISE OF ‘ALTERNATIVE’ AND HOME-SHARING ACCOMMODATION  

In line with people’s increased desire to invest in authentic and distinctive experiences, the market for ‘alternative’ accommodation (e.g. glamping, yurts, 
and ecopods) and home-sharing (e.g. Airbnb) is growing via new entrants to the market and continued innovation in listings and booking technology.  
Visitors with income to spend on overnight stays appear to be consciously choosing accommodation that is a signifier of their individual lifestyles and 
tastes.  Data also indicates a growing trend for people choosing a destination based on the unique character of accommodation available there, rather 
than location: 
 

 According to the Great Britain Tourism Survey stays in alternative and home-sharing lets were two of the fastest growing types of 

accommodation in England between 2017 and 2019.  In 2019 a total of 1.18m holiday nights were spent in alternative accommodation (+432k vs. 
2017) and 2.58m holidays in home-sharing accommodation (+438k) over the same period. 

 Airbnb reported a 94% increase in Q1 2021 in users who searched via its ‘Flexible Destinations’ functionality which allows people to look for 

accommodation based on its distinctiveness, rather than its specific location.  However, Staffordshire Moorlands and High Peak are well placed to 

offer accommodation that is unique in how it reflects the landscape and natural environment 

 An increased appetite for hands-on learning can also link unique accommodation to unique learning experiences rooted in a destination’s natural 
environment 

 

  

  

P
age 698



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 112 
 

 

 

 

 

EXEMPLAR 12: THE GATHERING, EDALE    

High Peak has an exemplar glamping site in The Gathering at Edale. With an average of 5*on TripAdvisor and featured as one of the ‘Top 10 Back-to-Nature 
Stays’ in The Guardian, the site offers luxury tented safari lodges equipped with fully-fitted kitchens, wood-burning stoves and Hypnos beds.  The site also offers 
weddings and corporate events with space for up to 90 attendees. The Gathering website also includes a guide for local activities that are either on the 
doorstep, within half an hour, or an hour to encourage visitors to stay and spend in the local area. 
What it does well                                                   Learning for Staffordshire Moorlands and High Peak 

 A unique proposition – luxury safari lodges in the Peak District 

 Celebrates the local area and highlights local activities 

 Collaborates with other local businesses to create special experiences for 

visitors (e.g. Watson’s of Hope butchers) and showcases local places to eat 

and drink 

 A vehicle promote the breadth of quality experiences available in the local 

area to a broad visitor demographic 

 An opportunity to encourage more ‘glamping’ sites 
like this through planning 

  Showcase similar businesses more prominently 
(e.g. publication on trails) 

 

 

    

 

 

P
age 699

https://edalegathering.com/
https://www.theguardian.com/travel/2016/aug/30/10-best-back-to-nature-stays-england
https://www.theguardian.com/travel/2016/aug/30/10-best-back-to-nature-stays-england
https://edalegathering.com/location/what-do-area
http://www.watsonsfarmshop.com/
https://edalegathering.com/location/eating-out


BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 113 
 

 

 

 

6. CONSULTATION & ENGAGEMENT 

STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS 
 
Interviewees: 
 
Matt Swindlehurst, Leek Town Council 
Sarah Haydon, Biddulph Town Council 
Dave Mullington, Cheadle Town Council 
Charlotte Cain and Andrea Sammons, Destination Staffordshire 
Cllr. Flunder Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Francis Jackson, Alton Towers 
Catherine and Ian Hine, Secret Cloud House Holidays 
James Lepke, Rudyard Lake Hotel 
Helen Wilshaw, Biddulph Grange Gardens 
David Smith, Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Joanna Bagnall, Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Josie Muncaster and Jo Clough, Severn Trent (Tittesworth) 
Julie Arnold, Caldon & Uttoxeter Canal Trust 
Ray Perry, Canal & River Trust 
 

Opportunities and Positives Challenges and Issues 

 Known for Alton Towers and the Peak District 
 Good range of heritage, cultural, landscape experiences 
 Good walking, cycling and outdoor activity offer and picturesque 

countryside and landscape 

 Lack of awareness of Staffordshire Moorlands (individual assets better 
known e.g. Alton Towers, The Roaches) 

 Good range of community events but not strong enough for visitors 

P
age 700



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 114 
 

 

 

 

Opportunities and Positives Challenges and Issues 

 Use of redundant assets in canals and railways 
 Towns all have something to offer (Leek is lively, Cheadle has Pugins 

Gem, Biddulph has the Grange & Gardens) 
 Clear audiences: Family fun and Empty Nesters 
 Great green infrastructure which could be better connected 
 Potential for better packaging – ‘stay an extra night’ to show what 24 

or 48 hours has to offer 
 Two DMOs (MPDD and Destination Staffordshire) so can use them 

both to lever benefits for SM 
 Staffordshire Peak District works for visitors more than Staffordshire 

Moorlands as it aligns to the better known asset 
 Potential for better connectivity between the many visitor assets (for 

visitors and workers) 
 There is plenty of ‘local’ food and drink which could be made more of. 
 Events could be used to animate the destination (in Towns and at 

other sites) 
 Potential to expand year round offer through Alton Towers 

development and leisure development at campsites for example 
 Spend and stays are not as long as they should be. Need to increase 

value. 

 Not enough accommodation and the range/quality of what is there 
has not kept pace with changing market needs 

 Planning challenges – seen as a barrier to investment 
 Lack of good public transport and weak links between green/active 

travel networks 
 The different towns feel in competition with each other and have 

concerns about being overlooked 
 Not much ethnic diversity in the visitor markets despite nearby 

populations 
 The tourism industry does not appear joined up – they don’t network 

or work with other enough. Businesses felt isolated from the District 
Council and in many cases from Destination Staffordshire too. 

 Signage, wayfinding and orientation not good enough – absence of 
Brown/White tourism signs to main assets 

 Customer service not always visitor focussed e.g. serving times for 
food (afternoon closures and early evenings) 

 Recruitment challenges linked to poor public transport and lack of 
housing for seasonal staff 

 Not clear enough to visitors that there is enough to do (there is) so 
issue is awareness/information 

 Surprisingly few branded hotels 
 TIC and Nicholson feels dated and lacking purpose 

 

 
  

P
age 701



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 115 
 

 

 

 

HIGH PEAK 

 
Interviewees: 
 
Jo Dilley, Marketing Peak District & Derbyshire 
Alison Foote, Derbyshire County Council 
Simon Fussell, Buxton Civic Association/Poole’s Cavern 
Ben Green, Buxton Opera House 
Helen Illingworth, Yorkshire Bridge Inn 
Roddie MacLean, Visit Buxton 
Stephen Owen, Buxton Crescent Trust 
Sally Potter, Marketing Buxton, Café No.6, ex Old Hall Hotel 
Paul Roden, Losehill House Hotel & Spa 
Lindsay Rae, Marketing Peak District & Derbyshire 
Mark & Jackie Sweeney, Live for the Hills guided tours 
Sarah Wilks, Peak District National Park Authority 
 

Opportunities and Positives Challenges and Issues 
 Lots of beautiful, relatively undiscovered places which have appeal – 

adventure and escape 

 Towns & villages could take on gateway role – Buxton in particular 

 Buxton has strong culture, heritage and events offer 

 Strength of Peak District brand 

 Need to focus on younger, active, family and cultural segments – 

staying longer and overnight 

 Relationships among public agencies are good and MPDD is strong 

lead – potential to build on this to do even more 

 Planning restricts opportunities to expand and diversify – residents 

frequently object – particularly in national park area 

 Lack of high quality accommodation 

 Limited evening eating & drinking options 

 Public transport and connectivity limited outside rail links to towns 

 Too many day visitors 

 Staff recruitment major problem 

 Economic pressures 

P
age 702



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 116 
 

 

 

 

Opportunities and Positives Challenges and Issues 
 Strong and active communities and communities of interest in towns 

and villages 

 Creative clusters could form cultural hubs 

 More could be made of running, walking and cycling, canals & 

waterways – car free exploration 

 Events are an opportunity 

 Apart from culture and heritage Buxton under delivers wrt a rounded 

offer and public realm 

 Lack of focus in Buxton despite commitment and passion – too many 

groups pulling in different directions 

 Buxton consultees report lack of effective collaboration with HPBC 

 Lack of unity and collaboration across towns and villages - and 

businesses – little cross-promotion 

 MPDD are thinly stretched – and project based funding is challenging 

 Cycling and walking routes are OK – but need to connect better and 

safer 

 Car traffic and parking 

 
 

P
age 703



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 117 
 

 

 

 

7. BUSINESS SURVEYS (STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS & HIGH PEAK) 

During July surveys were distributed to the tourism sector via the council and partners including Destination Staffordshire and Marketing 
Peak District and Derbyshire. The overall response rates are surprisingly low and the findings should be considered in that context. The low 
response rates, especially in Staffordshire Moorland, are perhaps indicative of the challenges that have been raised during consultation of a 
‘lack of a joined up sector’ and a lack of engagement.  
 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS KEY FINDINGS 

 
 Outdoors life was considered to be what Staffordshire Moorlands is best known for in the minds of visitors, as well as landscape & 

nature and visitor attractions. 
 The three leading aspects that should stand out more to attract visitors were outdoors life, visitor attractions, and range and quality 

of accommodation. 
 Staffordshire Moorlands should aim to attract more intergenerational families (top selection) as well as pre-family couples, mature 

couples, families with school-aged children and friendship groups of mature people.  
 When asked which activities they would like to see visitors do more, all 5 respondents to this question selected ‘use independent 

businesses rather than ‘chains’’.  Next most popular choices were ‘come back for a repeat visit’, ‘stay overnight rather than just visit 
for the day’, ‘experience a range of different attractions on a visit’ and ‘behave in a mindful way to protect the natural environment’. 

 5 out of 6 respondents strongly agreed that local tourism businesses provide a warm welcome for visitors.   
 Combining ‘agree slightly’ and ‘agree strongly’, 5 out of 6 respondents agreed that the availability and quality of accommodation in 

the area is good. 4 out of 6 respondents agreed that tourism businesses do a good job of helping visitors to understand the variety of 
experiences available in the local area. 

 The most important factor in supporting the future growth of tourism in the area was ‘developing a Staffordshire Moorlands tourism 
brand’. Next was ‘an improved retail offer in local towns and villages’ followed by ‘attracting more people to work in tourism and 

P
age 704



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 118 
 

 

 

 

hospitality’ and ‘incentives and support for businesses to adopt green initiatives’. The only statement that was not rated with some 
degree of importance was ‘investment in an improved transport infrastructure and public transport’. 

 Suggestions put forward for business support and sustainable growth were: availability of trained staff; more assistance/grants in 
obtaining green credentials, charging points at all B&Bs and hotels; a much stronger strategic tourism plan; a town centre tourist 
information centre in Leek. 

 Two additional comments were provided: the need for an improved welcome and tourist information centre at Leek bus station; the 
need for information about accessible places to visit and stay – similar to Accessible Derbyshire. 

 

Introduction 

As part of the consultation and engagement process to support the development of the Staffordshire Moorlands Tourism Strategy, a short 
survey was sent via Survey Monkey.  6 responses were received – 3 accommodation providers, 1 parish/town councillors, 1 transport 
provider and 1 unspecified ‘other’ business/organisation.   

Aspects of Staffordshire Moorlands as a visitor destination 

From a given list of features, respondents were asked to select any that they thought Staffordshire Moorlands is best known for in the minds 
of visitors. There were 5 responses to this question and all 5 selected ‘outdoors life’.  Next most popular selections were ‘landscape and 
nature’ and ‘visitor attractions’, chosen by 4 out of the 5 respondents.  The one ‘other’ response suggested ‘antique shops’ as an aspect that 
Staffordshire Moorlands is best known for as a destination. 
 
 Q.1: In the minds of visitors, what do you think Staffordshire Moorlands is best known for as a destination? 

Answer choices Number of responses Percentage of total 
respondents 

Landscape and nature 4 80% 
Outdoors life (e.g walking, cycling, hiking) 5 100% 

P
age 705



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 119 
 

 

 

 

Unique geology (e.g caverns, rocks) 1 20% 

Characterful towns and villages 1 20% 

History and heritage 2 40% 

Visitor attractions (e.g theme parks, museums, galleries, heritage sites, nature 
reserves) 

4 80% 

Food and drink 0 0% 

Range and quality of accommodation 0 0% 
Arts and culture 1 20% 

Festivals and events 1 20% 

Shopping/independent retail 0 0% 

Other (please specify) 1 20% 

Total answered 5  
 

Aspects that should stand out more to attract visitors in the future 

Question 2 asked about aspects that should stand out more to attract visitors.  The top three selections here (chosen by 3 out of the 5 
respondents) were ‘outdoors life’, ‘visitor attractions’, and ‘range and quality of accommodation’. 
 
Q.2: And what aspects of Staffordshire Moorlands as a destination do you believe should stand out more to attract visitors in the future? 

Answer choices Number of responses Percentage of total 
respondents 

Landscape and nature 0 0% 

Outdoors life (e.g walking, cycling, hiking) 3 60% 
Unique geology (e.g caverns, rocks) 1 20% 

Characterful towns and villages 1 20% 

P
age 706



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 120 
 

 

 

 

History and heritage 0 0% 

Visitor attractions (e.g theme parks, museums, galleries, heritage sites, nature 
reserves) 

3 60% 

Food and drink 1 20% 

Range and quality of accommodation 3 60% 
Arts and culture 0 0% 

Festivals and events 1 20% 
Shopping/independent retail 1 20% 

Other (please specify) 0 0% 

Total answered 5  

 

Type of visitor that Staffordshire moorlands should aim to attract  

Intergenerational families was the top selection when considering the type of visitor that Staffordshire Moorlands should aim to attract more 
of (5 out of the 6 respondents).  Next were pre-family couples and mature couples (4 respondents), followed by families with school-aged 
children and friendship groups of mature people (3 respondents).  
 
Q.3: Looking at the list below, which type(s) of visitor should Staffordshire Moorlands aim to attract more of? 

Answer choices Number of responses Percentage of total 
respondents 

Pre-family couples 4 67% 
Families with school-aged children 3 50% 

Intergenerational families (e.g parents, children & grandparents) 5 83% 
Mature couples (55 years+) 4 67% 

Friendship groups of young people (up to 34 years old) 2 33% 

P
age 707



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 121 
 

 

 

 

Friendship groups of mature people (55 years+) 3 50% 

Other (please specify) 1 17% 

Total answered 6  

 
Question 4 asked respondents to state why they had provided their answer to question 3 regarding target markets for Staffordshire 
Moorlands.  This was a free-response question with 5 responses.  3 out of the 5 respondents expressed the need to attract all ages/all 
people/more tourists. One respondent stated that there is more to do for mature people than for youngsters and children. 
 
Q.4: Why do you say that? 

 

They are most in need of a holiday 

The county needs to attract ‘all ages’ with different interests 
Need to attract all people 

We need more tourists full stop to sustain the economy & support our local businesses 

There is more to do for mature people than youngsters and children 
 

Visitor behaviours  

Respondents were asked which activities they would like visitors to do more in Staffordshire Moorlands.  All 5 respondents for this question 
selected ‘use independent businesses rather than ‘chains’’. Next most popular choices were ‘come back for a repeat visit’ (4 out of the 5 
respondents), ‘stay overnight rather than just visit for the day’, ‘experience a range of different attractions on a visit’ and ‘behave in a 
mindful way to protect the natural environment’ (each selected by 3 respondents). 
 
Q.5: And thinking about visitor behaviours, which of the following activities would you like visitors to do more when they come to 
Staffordshire Moorlands? 

P
age 708



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 122 
 

 

 

 

Answer choices Number of responses Percentage of total 
respondents 

Stay overnight rather than just visit for the day 3 60% 

Stay for more nights 2 40% 

Experience a number of different towns or villages on a visit 3 60% 
Come back for a repeat visit 4 80% 

Experience a range of different attractions on a visit 2 40% 
Undertake more outdoor activities 1 20% 

Behave in a mindful way to protect the natural environment 3 60% 

Use private cars less 0 0% 

Use independent businesses rather than ‘chains’ 5 100% 

Dine/drink in cafes, pubs or restaurants 3 60% 
Don’t know 0 0% 

Total answered 5  

 

About the tourism sector in Staffordshire Moorlands  

A number of statements were provided about the Staffordshire Moorlands tourism sector, for respondents to express their 
agreement/disagreement.  5 out of the 6 respondents strongly agreed that local tourism businesses provide a warm welcome for visitors.  
This was the statement with the highest level of agreement.   Combining ‘agree slightly’ and ‘agree strongly’, 5 out of the 6 respondents 
thought that the availability and quality of accommodation in the area is good.  4 out of the 6 respondents agreed that tourism businesses do 
a good job of helping visitors to understand the variety of experiences available in the local area. 
 
Q.6: Looking at the statements below, how strongly do you feel each applies to the tourism sector in Staffordshire Moorlands? 

 Number of responses 

P
age 709



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 123 
 

 

 

 

Answer choices Disagree 
strongly 

Disagree 
slightly 

Neither 
agree nor 
disagree 

Agree 
slightly 

Agree 
strongly 

Total 
answered 

Local tourism businesses provide a warm welcome for visitors 0 0 1 0 5 6 

Tourism businesses do a good job of helping visitors to 
understand the variety of experiences available in the local area 

1 0 1 2 2 6 

The local tourism and hospitality workforce is skilled and 
motivated 

0 1 2 2 1 6 

Destination marketing has good reach among potential visitors 
and creates a desire to visit 

2 0 2 1 1 6 

The availability and quality of accommodation in the area is 
good 

0 1 0 3 2 6 

Local networks provide tourism business with effective 
opportunities to collaborate 

1 1 1 2 1 6 

Destination Staffordshire understands the needs of tourism 
businesses and provides appropriate support 

0 2 0 1 2 6 

The local authority understands the needs of tourism businesses 
and provides appropriate support 

0 2 0 2 1 6 

 

Supporting future growth of tourism in Staffordshire Moorlands  

In question 7, respondents were asked to rate the importance of a number of factors in supporting the future growth of tourism in the area. 
‘Developing a Staffordshire Moorlands tourism brand’ received the highest number of ‘extremely important’ responses (5 out of the 6 
respondents). ‘An improved retail offer in local towns and villages’ was rated ‘extremely important by 4 respondents and very important by a 
further 1 respondent.  ‘Attracting more people to work in tourism and hospitality’ and ‘incentives and support for businesses to adopt green 

P
age 710



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 124 
 

 

 

 

initiatives’ were each rated ‘extremely important’ by 4 respondents.  All respondents rated ‘raising the profile and people’s understanding of 
what’s unique about the towns and villages in the area’ as either ‘very’ or ‘extremely important’.  The only statement that was not rated with 
some degree of importance was ‘investment in an improved transport infrastructure and public transport’. This contrasts with the equivalent 
business survey undertaken for High Peak, where 95% of respondents considered transport improvements to be ‘very’ or ‘extremely 
important’. 
 
Q.7: How important do you think each of the following factors are in supporting the future growth of tourism in the area? 

 Number of responses 

Answer choices A distraction – 
will divert from 
other priorities  

Neutral – will 
make no 
difference 

Quite 
important 

Very 
important 

Extremely 
important 

Total 
answered 

Local education providers doing more to provide 
training and qualifications for people working in 
tourism and hospitality 

0 0 1 2 3 6 

Attracting more people to work in tourism and 
hospitality 

0 0 2 0 4 6 

Incentives and support for businesses to adopt green 
initiatives (e.g electric car charging points, zero 
landfill waste management) 

0 0 2 0 4 6 

Developing a Staffordshire Moorlands tourism brand 0 0 0 1 5 6 
Investment in an improved transport infrastructure 
and public transport 

0 2 1 1 2 6 

Improved availability and quality of accommodation 0 0 2 2 2 6 

An improved retail offer in local towns and villages 0 0 1 1 4 6 

Better visitor insights and research 0 0 2 2 2 6 

P
age 711



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 125 
 

 

 

 

Local networks that help businesses to support and 
promote each other 

0 0 2 3 1 6 

Raising the profile and people’s understanding of 
what’s unique about the towns and villages in the 
area 

0 0 0 3 3 6 

 

Business support 

Question 8 was a free-response question which asked respondents for suggestions on support that would help their business/organisation to 
grow sustainably, or support tourism in Staffordshire Moorlands. There were 5 responses: 
 
Q.8: What kind of support, if any, would help your business/organisation to grow sustainably, or better support tourism in Staffordshire 
Moorlands? 

 

Availability of trained staff 

More assistance/ grants in obtaining green credentials 
Charging points at all B&B and hotels 

A much stronger strategic tourism plan 

We need a town centre tourist information office in Leek with the full range of leaflets. The current one is inaccessible and never has the 
full range of leaflets 

 

Additional comments 

2 respondents provided some additional comments:   
 

P
age 712



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 126 
 

 

 

 

Q.8: Is there anything else you think we should consider which has not been covered in the previous questions? 

 

Visitors to the area by coach are dropped at leek bus station - not the best first impressions of the town.  
The Tourist information centre should be stationed at the bus station to greet / inform visitors what leek has to offer. Maybe pre booked 
coaches and Town Crier to meet and greet.   
Information about accessible places to visit and stay - similar to Accessible Derbyshire 

 
 
 
  

P
age 713



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 127 
 

 

 

 

HIGH PEAK KEY FINDINGS 

 
 Landscape & nature and Outdoors life were considered to be top of mind for visitors to High Peak. 
 The three leading aspects that should stand out more to attract visitors were ‘food and drink’, ‘characterful towns and villages’ and 

‘outdoors life’. 
 High Peak should aim to attract more pre-family couples and mature couples as well as families with school-aged children and 

intergenerational families. 
 When asked which activities they would like to see visitors do more, the top two selections were ‘behave in a mindful way to protect 

the natural environment’ and ‘use independent businesses rather than ‘chains’’.  
 86% of respondents agreed that local tourism businesses provide a warm welcome for visitors.   
 55% agreed that tourism businesses do a good job of helping visitors to understand the variety of experiences available in the local 

area. 
 55% agreed that the availability and quality of accommodation in the area is good.   
 Just one respondent agreed (slightly) that ‘the local authority understands the needs of tourism businesses and provides appropriate 

support’.    
 The most important factor in supporting the future growth of tourism in the area was ‘investment in an improved transport 

infrastructure and public transport’. 
 A number of suggestions were put forward for business support and sustainable growth, with key themes being around travel and 

public transport, marketing and promotion, visitor information, financial support, training and information for businesses, and the 
need to develop the conference and exhibitions market. 

 When asked for additional comments, the major issue was around public transport and provision for car parking. 
 
 
  

P
age 714



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 128 
 

 

 

 

Introduction 

As part of the consultation and engagement process to support the development of the High Peak Tourism Strategy, a short survey was sent 
via Survey Monkey.  22 responses were received – 3 accommodation providers, 3 café/restaurant/pub/bar, 3 visitor attractions, 2 
parish/town councillors, 2 information service/destination marketing platform/online community portal, 1 shop/retailer, 1 brewery, 3 local 
residents, 1 freelance, 1 local guide, 1 placemaker and food consultant, 1 festival organiser. 
 

Aspects of high peak as a visitor destination 

From a given list of features, respondents were asked to select any that they thought High Peak is best known for in the minds of visitors. 
There was a high degree of agreement on this question, with 21 out of the 22 respondents (95%) selecting ‘Landscape and nature’ and 
‘Outdoors life (e.g walking, cycling, hiking)’.  Next highest were ‘unique geology (e.g caverns, rocks)’ and ‘characterful towns and villages’, 
each selected by 15 respondents (68%).  ‘Range and quality of accommodation’ was selected by just 3 out of the 22 respondents (14%). 
 
Q.1: In the minds of visitors, what do you think High Peak is best known for as a destination? 

Answer choices Number of responses Percentage of total 
respondents 

Landscape and nature 21 95% 

Outdoors life (e.g walking, cycling, hiking) 21 95% 

Unique geology (e.g caverns, rocks) 15 68% 

Characterful towns and villages 15 68% 

History and heritage 9 41% 
Visitor attractions (e.g theme parks, museums, galleries, heritage sites, nature 
reserves) 

1 5% 

Food and drink 2 9% 

Range and quality of accommodation 3 14% 

P
age 715



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 129 
 

 

 

 

Arts and culture 1 5% 

Festivals and events 4 18% 

Shopping/independent retail 0 0% 

Other (please specify) 0 0% 

Total answered 22  
 

Aspects that should stand out more to attract visitors in the future 

Question 2 asked about aspects that should stand out more to attract visitors.  This generated a more mixed response, the top three being 
‘food and drink’, ‘characterful towns and villages’ and ‘outdoors life’, each selected by at least half of respondents. Aspects with the fewest 
responses were ‘unique geology’ and ‘range and quality of accommodation’, each selected by just 4 respondents (18%).  
 
Q.2: And what aspects of High Peak as a destination do you believe should stand out more to attract visitors in the future? 

Answer choices Number of responses Percentage of total 
respondents 

Landscape and nature 8 36% 
Outdoors life (e.g walking, cycling, hiking) 11 50% 

Unique geology (e.g caverns, rocks) 4 18% 

Characterful towns and villages 12 55% 

History and heritage 8 36% 

Visitor attractions (e.g theme parks, museums, galleries, heritage sites, nature 
reserves) 

6 27% 

Food and drink 13 59% 
Range and quality of accommodation 4 18% 

Arts and culture 8 36% 

P
age 716



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 130 
 

 

 

 

Festivals and events 7 32% 

Shopping/independent retail 6 27% 

Other (please specify) 0 0% 

Total answered 22  

 
 

Type of visitor that high peak should aim to attract  

Pre-family couples and mature couples were the top selections when considering the type of visitor that High Peak should aim to attract 
more of (14 respondents (64%)).  Next were families with school-aged children, intergenerational families (each selected by 11 respondents 
(50%)) and friendship groups of mature people (10 respondents (45%)).  From the two respondents selecting ‘other’, one suggested that all 
people should be targeted, the other thought that the age of visitor doesn’t matter. Rather it should be their interests and values, for 
example a priority segment should be those people who care about the natural environment and enjoy the outdoors. 
 
Q.3: Looking at the list below, which type(s) of visitor should High Peak aim to attract more of? 

Answer choices Number of responses Percentage of total 
respondents 

Pre-family couples 14 64% 

Families with school-aged children 11 50% 

Intergenerational families (e.g parents, children & grandparents) 11 50% 

Mature couples (55 years+) 14 64% 
Friendship groups of young people (up to 34 years old) 8 36% 

Friendship groups of mature people (55 years+) 10 45% 
Other (please specify) 2 9% 

Total answered 22  

P
age 717



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 131 
 

 

 

 

 
Question 4 asked respondents to state why they had provided their answer to question 3 regarding target markets for High Peak.  This was a 
free-response question with 17 responses.  A common theme was the need to attract those with disposable income.  There was some 
concern expressed about younger groups, saying that they contribute less to the local economy (they walk and leave) and that they can 
create tension with local young people. One comment about groups in general was the limited parking available for locals at weekends, and 
therefore large groups should only be encouraged to come by public transport. Further comments included the need for more family 
activities and the potential to attract a more diverse demographic. 
 
Q.4: Why do you say that? 

 

Because the type of person is more important than their age. 

Too many young people in the area and the local young ones don’t like intruders so it causes tension with them 
High Peak is a diverse locality with plenty to entertain people who love being outside, sampling local produce and experiencing the arts 
and culture of the area. 

We are an ageing nation and need more people living in the villages to revive them. 
Walking and enjoying the countryside appears to be predominantly teens/early twenties.  They do not contribute significantly to the 
economy of the area, they walk and leave.  Other groups invest in food and accommodation. 
Before we moved here, everyone in South knows Peaks for views, walks and well dressing. 

Limited in the area, lacking also in developing activities for local families by developing more of a family market there will be more 
activities and child friendly venues for locals 
I live in a small village and parking is extremely limited for locals at weekends. Therefore, I wouldn't encourage big groups to come unless 
via public transport 

Intergenerational like the world is. 

"Pre-family couples"?? Even the phrasing of this question is idiotic. 

P
age 718



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 132 
 

 

 

 

We need to move away from the National Trust stereotype of middle aged and retired white people.  Since the pandemic, the visitor 
demographic in the White Peak has noticeably diversified. 

The area appeals to a wide demographic. We should focus on the demographic with the most disposable income. 

They are more likely to be those with disposable income which is getting to be a smaller and smaller group 

I believe we should be attracting more of all the above groups 
Mature couples tend to have more disposable income and enjoy our landscape and walking as do young couples and mature groups. 
Couples with children and groups of young people are generally not that interested in what we have here 
Growth potential 

Older demographic currently visit 

 

Visitor behaviours  

Respondents were asked which activities they would like visitors to do more in High Peak.  20 out of the 22 respondents (91%) selected 
‘behave in a mindful way to protect the natural environment’. 18 respondents (82%) selected ‘use independent businesses rather than 
‘chains’’.  The majority of respondents wanted visitors to dine/drink in cafes/pubs/restaurants, stay overnight, stay for more nights, and 
come back for a repeat visit. Activities selected least were ‘experience a range of different attractions on a visit’ (selected by 4 respondents) 
and ‘undertake more outdoor activities’ (7 respondents). 
 
Q.5: And thinking about visitor behaviours, which of the following activities would you like visitors to do more when they come to High 
Peak? 

Answer choices Number of responses Percentage of total 
respondents 

Stay overnight rather than just visit for the day 13 59% 
Stay for more nights 14 64% 

Experience a number of different towns or villages on a visit 9 41% 

P
age 719



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 133 
 

 

 

 

Come back for a repeat visit 15 68% 

Experience a range of different attractions on a visit 4 18% 

Undertake more outdoor activities 7 32% 

Behave in a mindful way to protect the natural environment 20 91% 

Use private cars less 11 50% 
Use independent businesses rather than ‘chains’ 18 82% 

Dine/drink in cafes, pubs or restaurants 16 73% 
Don’t know 0 0% 

Total answered 22  

 

About the tourism sector in high peak  

A number of statements were provided about the High Peak tourism sector, for respondents to express their agreement/disagreement.  19 
of the 22 respondents (86%) agreed that local tourism businesses provide a warm welcome for visitors.  This was the statement with the 
highest level of agreement.   The statement with the highest level of disagreement (14 out of 22 respondents (64%)) was that ‘the local 
authority understands the needs of tourism businesses and provides appropriate support’.   The equivalent statement about Marketing Peak 
District & Derbyshire generated a more balanced response, with just 7 respondents (32%) disagreeing. 
 
12 out of 22 respondents (55%) agreed that tourism businesses do a good job of helping visitors to understand the variety of experiences 
available in the local area, and the same percentage (55%) agreed that the availability and quality of accommodation in the area is good.   
 
Q.6: Looking at the statements below, how strongly do you feel each applies to the tourism sector in High Peak? 

 Number of responses 

P
age 720



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 134 
 

 

 

 

Answer choices Disagree 
strongly 

Disagree 
slightly 

Neither 
agree nor 
disagree 

Agree 
slightly 

Agree 
strongly 

Total 
answered 

Local tourism businesses provide a warm welcome for visitors 0 1 2 14 5 22 

Tourism businesses do a good job of helping visitors to 
understand the variety of experiences available in the local area 

0 4 6 7 5 22 

The local tourism and hospitality workforce is skilled and 
motivated 

1 6 5 7 2 21 

Destination marketing has good reach among potential visitors 
and creates a desire to visit 

0 8 7 6 1 22 

The availability and quality of accommodation in the area is 
good 

1 4 5 8 4 22 

Local tourism networks provide tourism business with effective 
opportunities to collaborate 

3 3 8 6 2 22 

Marketing Peak District & Derbyshire understands the needs of 
tourism businesses and provides appropriate support 

3 4 8 1 6 22 

The local authority understands the needs of tourism businesses 
and provides appropriate support 

6 8 7 1 0 22 

 

Supporting future growth of tourism in high peak  

In question 7, respondents were asked to rate the importance of a number of factors in supporting the future growth of tourism in the area.  
Standing out was ‘investment in an improved transport infrastructure and public transport’.  17 out of the 22 respondents (77%) rated this as 
‘extremely important’, with a further 4 saying it was ‘very important’ (total 95%).  ‘Incentives and support for businesses to adopt green 
initiatives’ was considered either very or extremely important for 16 respondents (73%).  ‘Local networks that help businesses to support and 

P
age 721



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 135 
 

 

 

 

promote each other’ was also rated very or extremely important by 16 respondents.  Combining the ‘quite’, ‘very’ and ‘extremely important’ 
ratings, ‘attracting more people to work in tourism and hospitality’ and ‘raising the profile and people’s understanding of what’s unique 
about the towns and villages in the area’ were both selected by 21 out of the 22 respondents (95%).  Provision of training and qualifications 
for people working in tourism and hospitality was considered to be very or extremely important by 14 respondents (64%). 
 
6 respondents (27%) thought that developing a High Peak tourism brand would be a distraction. 
 
Q.7: How important do you think each of the following factors are in supporting the future growth of tourism in the area? 

 Number of responses 

Answer choices A distraction – 
will divert from 
other priorities  

Neutral – will 
make no 
difference 

Quite 
important 

Very 
important 

Extremely 
important 

Total 
answered 

Local education providers doing more to provide 
training and qualifications for people working in 
tourism and hospitality 

1 2 5 10 4 22 

Attracting more people to work in tourism and 
hospitality 

1 0 7 7 7 22 

Incentives and support for businesses to adopt green 
initiatives (e.g electric car charging points, zero 
landfill waste management) 

1 3 2 8 8 22 

Developing a High Peak tourism brand 6 2 5 4 5 22 

Investment in an improved transport infrastructure 
and public transport 

0 1 0 4 17 22 

Improved availability and quality of accommodation 1 2 7 9 2 21 

An improved retail offer in local towns and villages 2 2 5 9 4 22 

P
age 722



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 136 
 

 

 

 

Better visitor insights and research 2 4 6 8 2 22 

Local networks that help businesses to support and 
promote each other 

2 1 3 12 4 22 

Raising the profile and people’s understanding of 
what’s unique about the towns and villages in the 
area 

0 1 7 7 7 22 

 

Business support 

Question 8 was a free-response question which asked respondents for suggestions on support that would help their business/organisation to 
grow sustainably, or support tourism in High Peak. There were 15 responses with the key themes being around travel and public transport, 
marketing and promotion, visitor information, financial support, training and information for businesses, and the need to develop the 
conference and exhibitions market with a focus on Buxton.  The full verbatim responses are provided below: 
 
Q.8: What kind of support, if any, would help your business/organisation to grow sustainably, or better support tourism in High Peak? 

 
A strong online presence 
Funding to support our organisations aims 
Focus on being inclusive and welcoming to diverse audiences 

Tourist information centres especially in summer, better toilet facilities, cafes staggering opening days, we need a bakery in hayfield 

The area needs a joined-up strategy for travel into the area and car parking.  County, Borough and Parish should sign with one voice 
Promotion of villages and their independent hospitality and retail and regional food 

More joined up approach, more marketing opportunities outside of the DMO. A great marketing campaign and rebrand for the area- i.e 
family destination, area of culture (Buxton festival) 

An umbrella list of activities, natural attractions in each town / village in High peak replicated throughout 

P
age 723



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 137 
 

 

 

 

Sensible business rates 

Pointers to information to help start-ups. Easy to follow basic stuff. 

HPBC are very risk averse & consequently, their strategies and action plans often don't go far enough nor are they easily accessible by the 
full range of SME & micro-businesses in the area.  Training & networking is delivered at times & in locations that ignore the needs of 
small businesses (especially sole traders) or how the topography of the Borough impacts travel times.  A one-hour training session in 
Buxton may mean 3 hours travel time for some people.  More needs to be done online & be recorded so it can be accessed fully.  MPDD 
are inflexible and competitive with any other organisation wanting to work with them.  They use far too many consultants from outside 
the borough when there are highly qualified locals available.  Blue Sail are from Brighton.  How can the borough have faith in an 
organisation that actively ignores local businesses in this way?  It is time to consider moving the procurement system to something closer 
to the Preston Model. 

Much improved public transport and affordable car parking options. Most visitors travel by car but we need a park and ride system to 
accommodate the volume of cars 
Grants for business expansion, more interaction from HPBC Tourism team (if there even is one anymore), more engagement/promotion 
on social media, stock photography of the area to use for free, support and resources for local business networks so they can do more 

The High Peak needs to become a destination for conferences and exhibitions, Buxton could be a Harrogate of the peak. 
When Hillhead Show is on all accommodation providers and restaurants get a massive boost. 
If the High Peak was to get a dedicated conference and exhibition coordinator to push these type of events in our area it could really help 
in the quieter months of the year, making us less seasonal and therefore improving our chances of attracting more quality businesses, 
this in turn would attract more tourism throughout the year. 

Better public transport, better broadband 

Aggregated booking, shopping and local eco deliveries. 

Financial, infrastructure 

 
 

P
age 724



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 138 
 

 

 

 

Additional comments 

14 respondents provided some additional comments.  The stand-out issue is the need for better public transport and provision for car 
parking.  Other mentions included the lack of accommodation, lack of skilled building-trade workers, the importance of broadband, the need 
to develop a food culture, link up cycle routes, develop wheelchair/scooter hire services. The full verbatim responses are provided below: 
 
Q.8: Is there anything else you think we should consider which has not been covered in the previous questions? 

 
When developing a tourism strategy, priority must be given to the natural environment.  
When encouraging more visitors, how these visitors travel into and around the local area must be prioritised. Current infrastructure is 
not sufficient. e.g. country roads and parking provision unable to cope with extra cars, train schedule already busy in summer months. 

Diversity and inclusion 

We need to have affordable homes for young people and better transport links into Manchester, there is no bus route after 6.30, tourists 
can just pop to next village as can't get back without a car and young people don't always have one, more bungalows would free up 
larger houses of which there are many with only one person living there, and empty homes should be sold to make way for smaller 
affordable homes 
Provision of parking for cars etc so they do not park on streets in small villages causing ill feeling from residents.  A vast improvement of 
public transport should be made and not just for visitors. 
Accommodation is the biggest issue locally. We frequently get visitors asking us for suggestions of where to stay, and there's just nothing, 
especially for those travelling with dogs 

Greater access for dog walking off lead 
Unavailability of skilled workers to complete modifications to accommodation. A severe shortage of skilled labour (builders/ plumbers/ 
electrician/ painters) stifling expansion plans 

If your primary catchment area lives within a day's travelling distance, then improving the accommodation stock won't have an impact.  I 
feel the quality and value of what we have is high.  But who is available Mon-Thurs outside of school holidays?  Middle class white people 
and non-national tourists, who we hardly welcome.  No menus in Mandarin for instance, rampant racism in small towns and villages...  

P
age 725



BLUE SAIL  HIGH PEAK & STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND BASLELINE REPORT 
 

                      NOVEMBER 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 139 
 

 

 

 

 
Tourism destination decisions are often driven by knowledge of local foods and quality eateries https://www.visitbritain.org/inbound-
food-drink-research (not Michelin wannabees, high quality and good value).  High Peak doesn't really have a food culture, so it will need 
to create one and properly promote it (not via MPDD).   
 
Parking needs to be sorted for outdoor activities.  Walkers and cyclists completely shut down the mill towns and villages, which weren't 
built for cars.  Don't chase visitors before you provide them with accessibility that does not negatively impact upon your rate-paying 
residents. 
 
The transport question is a red herring.  HPBC have done nothing to protect rural bus routes, sometimes the only transport option for the 
underprivileged and more heavily used by women than men (see https://www.cpre.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/CPRE_Every-
village-every-hour_report.pdf for ideas).  They can have no real impact on national travel strategy and, as I imagine that the vast majority 
of senior decision makers (& councillors) do not have to rely on public transport, they have no idea of the cost and reliability of the 
system we currently have.  

Make getting here more environmentally friendly and easy - increase and improve rail and bus services including services between tourist 
hotspots, such as Buxton, Chatsworth and Castleton, establish park and rides by train/bus stations, link up the cycle networks and loops, 
improve/instigate wheelchair/scooter hire services, improve parking meters to accept cards/fix them so they work, increase the number 
of disabled parking spaces in certain car parks, install bicycle racks at suitable locations, 

You haven't mentioned broadband once and given how rural and remote much of the Peak district is this is essential. You also talk about 
High Peak brand when we already have a brand in The Peak District. The last thing that we need is in fighting between Councils trying to 
establish competitive brands. If you want examples to follow then look at what they do in The Lake District and Yorkshire. 

Focus on experience 
Value of visitor information centre(s) 

 
 

P
age 726



 

 

Parish/District/Town 
Council  

On a scale of 
1-10, how 

important is 
tourism to 

your 
town/village? 

(where 1 is 
not very 

important 
and 10 is 

extremely 
important 

Why do you 
think that? 

What are the 
main visitor 

attractions in 
your 

town/village? 
List them in 

order of 
importance? 

What additional 
facilities, services 

or 
accommodation 

are needed in 
your 

town/village to 
attract more 

visitors (day and 
staying)? 

What issues 
prevent visitors 

coming, stop them 
having a good time 

in your 
town/village, or 

restrict new 
tourism projects? 

Do you have any 
additional 

comments or 
suggestions to 

improve the visitor 
offer in your 

town/village and 
across 

Staffordshire 
Moorlands? 

 Leek 10 

Lost its main 
manufacturing 
industry in the 
1980’s and a 

higher paying 
employer 
(Britannia 
Building 

Society) more 
recently, 

although Leek 
does retain 

some 
industry, 

tourism will 
help to fill in 

that gap 

Foxlowe Arts 
Centre 

Nicholson 
Museum and 

Art Gallery 
Local 

independent 
shops, cafe, 
markets and 

pubs 
Saturday 
Antiques 

market and 
the Sunday 
Supplement 
Brough park 

Leisure 
Centre 

Brindley Mill 
Canals 

Roaches 

Enhanced 
performance 

space at 
Foxlowe Arts 

Centre, 
 Improve 
museum 

experience at 
the Nicholson 

Institute, 
Foxlowe and 

Nicholson could 
have a link via 
an improved 

piazza outside 
Moorlands 

House 
reception 
Include a 

Lack of investment  

A link to the town 
to the new 

Heritage Train 
Station and Canal 

Marina, 
A stricter planning 

code for shop 
fronts, 

Open the back of 
Moorlands House 

car park to the 
public to attract 

more visitors who 
are here for the 

markets/activities,  
Have an archive 

room and 
rentable office 

spaces at 

P
age 727



 

 

Rudyard Lake 
Tittesworth 

sculpture trial 
that includes 
the Challinor 
Fountain and 
the Lion from 
Alton Towers, 
Another big 

hotel   
Space for 

campervans  

Moorlands House, 
in reception  

Self-service coffee 
machine with a 

seating area,  
Signposts for the 
gallery between 

Foxlowe and 
Nicholson, 

A leaflet called A 
Week in Leek 

created by Chris 
Thompson   

 Leek 8 

Number of 
visitors that 

come to blues 
festival and 

markets  

  

Better signage, 
Dropped kerbs,  

Broader range of 
accommodation, 
2 Day Market of 
plants, books, 

antiques  

Traffic 
Parking 

Poor bus service  
Lack of Information 

about events  
Lack of pedestrians 

crossings 

  

P
age 728



 

 

 leek 10 

Lots of shops, 
buildings and 
architecture  
Only town 
with banks 

(Cheadle has 
none) 

Market 
Independent 

shops  
Nicholson 

institute and 
memorial 
Pubs and 
nightlife 

Restaurants 
Cafes culture 

Charity 
shopping 

Town crier 
Peak District  

Hotels/Spa  
Pedestrianised 

street 
Tourist 

information 
office 

Evening markets 
Wedding venue  

Concert hall  

No late night 
clubs/entertainment 

(except winking 
man)  

Transport  

Leek Canal Basin - 
more brown 

tourism signage  

 Leek 10 

Bring 
employment, 
investment, 

improvement 
and 

regeneration   

Markets 
(Indoor & 
Outdoor)  
Heritage  

Plants around 
town 

Arts and 
culture offer  

Flags 
Charity shops 

Nicholson 
All Saints 
Foxelowe 

Monument  

Later opening 
Better F & B offer 

Hotels 
Town Crier  

Open-air venues 
Open access 

public toilets at 
nights  

Free parking/low 
cost  

Entertainment 
centres  

Market place - 
make event 

space and street 
seating  

Access issues  
Low value  

Traffic 
Bus routes  
Unknown   

Improve TIC 
webpage  

Weekend events  
Strategy of sheep 
market - improve 

pedestrian 
Traffic  

Brown signs  
Car parking 

(multistorey) 
Improve Bus station 

or move it  
Road access  

Pedestrians zones  
Improve notice 

board  
Town strategy  

P
age 729



 

 

 Leek 10 

Bring money 
to help 

Regeneration 
with 

improvements 
and 

infrastructure  

Markets 
(Indoor & 
Outdoor) 

Built Heritage 
- buildings, 
churches, 

history, mills, 
cafes 

Rest areas - 
facilities  

Unique shops  

Clean public 
toilets with rest 
areas outside for 

elderly and 
parents  
Cinema 
Bowling  

Car parking 
(multistorey)  

Litter  
Poor planting  

Poor cycle networks  

Activities  
Better facilities  

Clean and secure 
town centre  

 Leek 4 

Bring 
employment, 
investment 

and improved 
facilities  

Totally Locally 
markets  
Heritage  

Countryside 
nearby  

Low cost parking  
Free parking 

during events  
Events and 

festivals  
Camping/Caravan 
tourism facilities  

Parks  
Auditoriums 

TIC/Apps/Publicity  
Low engagement 

from Town Council 
events  

Improve 
communication 

with tour operators 
Provide content in 
travel magazines  

Active website for 
tourism  

Invite and host 
influencers  

Improve notice 
boards  

Leek  10 

Bring 
employment 
and business 
opportunities  

Blues and 
Americana 

Festival  
Markets  

Bus services 
Signage  

Camping facilities  

Planning issues  
Parking 

Accommodation  
Signage  

  

Leek South Ward  6 
Tourism is 

very 
important  

Quality 
independent 

shops 
Markets 

especially 
Totally Locally 

More 
Accommodation 

(big chain) 
Camping, 
glamping  
Better bus 

Traffic  
Congestion 

Parking 
Lack of hotel 

accommodation  

Tourist Information 
Centre needs 

moving back to 
town centre 

location  
Dedicated tourism 

P
age 730



 

 

Sunday 
Supplement  

Cafes, 
restaurants, 
pubs (real 

ales) 
Events at 

Foxlowe and 
Maud  

Countryside 
nearby  

service and more 
accommodating 
bus station with 

good toilet 
facilities  

website, not SMDC 
website  

Better signage on 
the canals  

Leek North  10 

Sharing the 
great 

historical 
significance, 
markets and 
independent 

shops with 
the visitors is 

very 
important for 

the town's 
development 

and 
community  

Historic 
buildings 

Monument 
Art school  

Library  
Museum  
Markets  

Independent 
shops  

Bars and 
Restaurants  
Town crier  

Conservation 
centre of the 

town  
Churches  

Improve public 
transport  

Improve facilities 
for walkers and 

cyclists  
More 

accommodation  

Poor public 
transport  

Poor signage for 
parking  

No facilities at bus 
station  

Poor access to 
tourist information  
Lack of policing and 
CCTVs at weekends 

in the evening 

Investment in town 
centre assets and 

street scene 
maintenance 

Support for Totally 
Locally and business 

re advice etc. 
Improve road 
maintenance 

Provide support for 
local history, arts 

and culture 
organisations and 
individuals with 

talent  
Overarching 
platform of 

environmental 
protection 

Council 
collaboration across 

town and District 

P
age 731



 

 

Information 
available that is 

inclusive and up to 
date 

 

BIDDULPH 

 

Parish/District/Town 
Council  

On a scale of 
1-10, how 

important is 
tourism to 

your 
town/village? 

(where 1 is 
not very 

important 
and 10 is 

extremely 
important 

Why do you 
think that? 

What are the 
main visitor 

attractions in 
your 

town/village? 
List them in 

order of 
importance? 

What additional 
facilities, 

services or 
accommodation 
are needed in 

your 
town/village to 

attract more 
visitors (day and 

staying)? 

What issues 
prevent visitors 

coming, stop 
them having a 
good time in 

your 
town/village, or 

restrict new 
tourism 

projects? 

Do you have any 
additional 

comments or 
suggestions to 
improve the 

visitor offer in 
your 

town/village and 
across 

Staffordshire 
Moorlands? 

P
age 732



 

 

 Biddulph 5 
Likes to travel, 

needs more 
accommodation 

National 
Trust 

Biddulph 
Grange  
C Park 

Biddulph 
Valley Way 

Old Hall 
Horse riding 

moor  
Mow cop 
The Cloud  

Accommodation  
Bus service  

Signage  
Promotion  

Lack of 
promotion 

Poor high street 
offering 

Accommodation  

  

Biddulph  6 

Nice to see 
visitors, local 
people like to 

show off 
Biddulph  

Vicinity of 
Three 

National 
Trust sites  
Biddulph 

Valley Way 
The Cloud 
Gritstone 

Train  

Mobile home 
parking and 

services 
Caravan site  

More 
accommodation 

Develop 
planning 

regulations of 
Green Lanes  

Accommodation 
Offers for 

Cafes/Food 
Make town hall 

and frontage 
events based  

Better 
connectivity 

network 
Improve town 
entrance and 
broader areas 

Signage   

 Biddulph 5 

Needs more 
promotion 

Biddulph isn't 
recognised 
enough on 

what it offers  

Biddulph 
Grange 

Gardens  
Knypersley 
Reservoir  

Moreton Hall  
Biddulph 

Country Park  
Mow Cop  

More 
Accommodation 
Electric parking  

Cycle routes  

Signage  
Lack of 

transport links 
from Leek and 

Cheadle  

  

P
age 733



 

 

 Biddulph 3-4   

Biddulph 
Grange 

Gardens 
 Biddulph 

Country Park  
Knypersley 

Pool 
Premier 

cycling route  
Walking 
routes  

More 
Accommodation  

Bike hire  
Café hub 

Town events 

  
Accommodation  

Bike Hire  
Café Hub  

 Biddulph 5 

Low population  
Great benefit 
for the local 
businesses  

Biddulph 
Grange 

Gardens 
 Biddulph 

Grange 
Country Park  

Biddulph 
Valley Way  
Greenway 

Country Park  
Mop Cop  

Accommodation  
Bus links to 
other towns  

Electric parking  
Cycle hire  

Campervan 
parking in town  

Lack of 
accommodation  

Lack of 
cafes/restaurant 

choices  

Range of 
accommodations 

for visitors  
Transport links  

Public transport 
and cycling  

Biddulph  5 
Lack of 

attractions  

Biddulph 
Grange 

National 
Trust   

Biddulph 
Grange 

Country Park   
Knypersley 

Pool  

Accommodation  
Co-operation 
with Cheshire 

border  

Lack of 
accommodation  

Budget hotel in 
the town 

Biddulph Grange 
Country Park 
taken over by 

BTC not Wildlife 
Trust  

 Biddulph 5 
Likes to travel, 

needs more 
National 

Trust 
Accommodation  

Bus service  
Lack of 

promotion 
  

P
age 734



 

 

accommodation Biddulph 
Grange  
C Park 

Biddulph 
Valley Way 

Old Hall 
Horse riding 

moor  
Mow cop 
The Cloud  

Signage  
Promotion  

Poor high street 
offering 

Accommodation  

 Biddulph 6 

Nice to see 
visitors, local 
people like to 

show off 
Biddulph  

Vicinity of 
Three 

National 
Trust sites  
Biddulph 

Valley Way 
The Cloud 
Gritstone 

Train  

Mobile home 
parking and 

services 
Caravan site  

More 
accommodation 

Develop 
planning 

regulations of 
Green Lanes  

Accommodation 
Offers for 

Cafes/Food 
Make town hall 

and frontage 
events based  

Better 
connectivity 

network 
Improve town 
entrance and 
broader areas 

Signage   

Biddulph  5 

Needs more 
promotion 

Biddulph isn't 
recognised 
enough on 

what it offers  

Biddulph 
Grange 

Gardens  
Knypersley 
Reservoir  

Moreton Hall  
Biddulph 

Country Park  
Mow Cop  

More 
Accommodation 
Electric parking  

Cycle routes  

Signage  
Lack of 

transport links 
from Leek and 

Cheadle  

  

Biddulph  3-4   

Biddulph 
Grange 

Gardens 
 Biddulph 

More 
Accommodation  

Bike hire  
Café hub 

  
Accommodation  

Bike Hire  
Café Hub  

P
age 735



 

 

Country Park  
Knypersley 

Pool 
Premier 

cycling route  
Walking 
routes  

Town events 

 Biddulph 5 

Low population  
Great benefit 
for the local 
businesses  

Biddulph 
Grange 

Gardens 
 Biddulph 

Grange 
Country Park  

Biddulph 
Valley Way  
Greenway 

Country Park  
Mop Cop  

Accommodation  
Bus links to 
other towns  

Electric parking  
Cycle hire  

Campervan 
parking in town  

Lack of 
accommodation  

Lack of 
cafes/restaurant 

choices  

Range of 
accommodations 

for visitors  
Transport links  

Public transport 
and cycling  

 Biddulph 5 
Lack of 

attractions  

Biddulph 
Grange 

National 
Trust   

Biddulph 
Grange 

Country Park   
Knypersley 

Pool  

Accommodation  
Co-operation 
with Cheshire 

border  

Lack of 
accommodation  

Budget hotel in 
the town 

Biddulph Grange 
Country Park 
taken over by 

BTC not Wildlife 
Trust  

 

CHEADLE 

 

P
age 736



 

 

Parish/District/Town 
Council  

On a scale of 
1-10, how 

important is 
tourism to 

your 
town/village? 

(where 1 is 
not very 

important 
and 10 is 

extremely 
important 

Why do you 
think that? 

What are the 
main visitor 

attractions in 
your 

town/village? 
List them in 

order of 
importance? 

What additional 
facilities, services or 
accommodation are 

needed in your 
town/village to attract 
more visitors (day and 

staying)? 

What issues 
prevent visitors 

coming, stop 
them having a 
good time in 

your 
town/village, or 

restrict new 
tourism 

projects? 

Do you have 
any additional 
comments or 

suggestions to 
improve the 

visitor offer in 
your 

town/village 
and across 

Staffordshire 
Moorlands? 

 Cheadle 10 

Increase 
employment, 

investment 
and 

improvement  

Pugin’s Gem 
Alton Towers 
Gateway to 

Churnet Valley  
Independent 

shops  
Wetherspoons 

Nature 
reserves  
Fishing  

Hotels 
More restaurants  

Functioning market  
Improved public 

transport  
Social media promotion 

Heritage centre  
Theatre/cinema  

Tourist information site  

Lack of overnight 
accommodation  
Poor marketing  

Poor public 
transport  

Lack of 
investment and 
council support  

A branding of 
Cheadle as The 

Gateway to 
Churnet Valley - 

increase 
tourists  

Celebration 
activity for 

Heritage 
railways and 

canals  
Better 

marketing of 
the town  

A connection to 
access and use 

Trip Advisor  
More 

networking 
events for 
businesses  

P
age 737



 

 

 Cheadle 10 

To keep the 
businesses 
thriving and 

increase 
revenues  

Peak District 
Alton Towers  

Trentham 
Gardens  

Independent retailers  
Local farmers market  

Traffic  
Road System 

Lack of car park 
signs  

Merchandised 
shop - 

JCB/Alton 
Towers  

Cheadle  10 
To help the 
town thrive  

Dovedale  
Churnet Valley 

Railway 
The Catholic 

Church 
Peak Wildlife  

Crazy golf  
Traffic  

Car park signs  

Lower rent to 
encourage new 

businesses  
More local 

walks  

 Cheadle 10 

To bring more 
businesses to 
our pub and 

b&b, and 
other local 
businesses  

Pugin’s Gem 
Huntley Wood  

Blakehall 
Fisheries  

Free parking on the 
main carpark 

Parking and transport to 
and from Alton Towers  

Lack of transport 
links e.g. to 

Alton Towers  
Lack of sit-in 
restaurants  

Lack of activities 
for families  

  

Cheadle  2 
Has no 

attractions for 
visitors  

Pugin’s Gem  
Few hotels for Alton 

Towers visitors  

Attractions  
Market  

Use the church  

Hotel for Alton 
Towers visitors 
with some low 

cost/free 
parking 

Bank hub  
Have 

government 
officers on High 

Street  

P
age 738



 

 

Cheadle  10 
Brings new 

businesses to 
town  

Pugin’s Gem  
Hales Hall/Les 

Oakes  
Countryside  

Hotels 
Cocktail bar  

Branded high street 
shops  

Restaurants  
Free Parking  

Cash machines  

No quality places 
to eat and drink  
No secure free 

parking  
Too many 

charity shops  
Lack of 

accommodation  

Royal Oak 
building is an 

eyesore - 
maybe invest it 

into a hotel, 
restaurant, bar 

Cheadle  10 

To grow the 
local economy 

and create 
opportunities 

for young 
people  

Alton Towers  
Peak District  

Markets  
Cycling/walking 

routes  
Peak wildlife 

park  
Tea rooms  

Accommodation  
Public transport  

Active travel routes  
Electric charging points  

More cafes  

Lack of electric 
charging points  

Lack of 
accommodation 
Lack of transport 

links  
Poor parking  

Bigger focus on 
eco-tourism  

Cheadle  10 
Tourism is very 

important 

Leek markets  
History 

Entertainment 
at Foxlowe  

Antique shops  
The Roaches  
2 Churches  

Pugin’s Gem  

Coach parking 
Coach driver facilities 

(free lunch) 
Park and Ride  

Not being known  

Highlight public 
footpaths  
Improve 

Wedgewood, 
Moorcroft, 

churnet railway 
etc.  

Cheadle  6 
To help the 

town 
financially  

Pugin’s Gem 
Churnet Valley 

Railway 
Alton Towers  

Steam Railway 
& Canals  

Independent 
retailers  

Countryside  

Accommodation  
Local History 
Information 

Improve car park signs  

Lack of ATMs  
Lack of bus 

service  
  

P
age 739



 

 

Cheadle  6 

Tourism is very 
important and 

needs to be 
encouraged at 

every 
opportunity to 
keep Cheadle 

on the map  

Pugin’s Gem  
Catholic 
Church  
Local 

independent 
shops  

Alton Towers  

Improve car park signs 
from A521 High Street 
Insufficient night time 

economy  
Needs hotels, 

restaurants and 
additional 

entertainment  

Car park signs 
Lack of 

accommodation 
Lack of food and 

drinks  
Poor road 

infrastructure  
Dearth of a 

simple 
marketing 

strategy   

More seating 
areas required  
Always the least 

rated town 
Delayed 

responses from 
the council for 

funding and 
decisions  

 Cheadle 10 

Lack of 
employment 

Lack of 
knowledge of 

the town 
Parking 

Orientation  

Churnet Valley 
Railway 

Pugin’s Gem  

Improve signage and 
itineraries  

Poor car park 
signs  

Lack of electric 
charging points  

Lack of 
affordable 

accommodation  
Lack of rural 

public transport  
Digital 

infrastructure 
(fibre)  

  

 Cheadle 10 

Tourists bring 
the revenues 

to town 
Cheadle isn't 
appreciated 
enough by 

locals 

Pugin Gems  
Independent 

shops  
Creative 

Cheadle pop-
up events 

Cheadle annual 
carnival  

Walking and 
cycling routes  

Affordable hotel  
Improve car park signs  

Restaurants 
Wine bars 

Public houses  
Bank hub 

Information boards  

Lack of hotels  
No big spaces for 

evening 
entertainment  

Support from 
the council on 

organising 
events and 

working with 
community 

groups  

P
age 740



 

 

Alton Towers  

Cheadle  10 

Increase 
employment, 

investment 
and 

improvement 

Pugin’s Gem 
Cecily Brook 
Independent 

retailers  
Nationwide 
cycle route  

Alton Towers  
Countryside  

Evening economy  
Accommodation  

Restaurant  
Improve public 

transport  
Improve car park and 

tourist attraction signs  
Cheadle tourism 

office/information 
centre with paid staff  

Lack of Tourism 
information  

Lack of 
communication 

with town & 
district council 
Improve public 

transport  
Zero 

accommodation  
  

Lack of publicity 
on Cheadle as 

it's close to 
Alton Towers 

and Peak 
District 

Hotel for Alton 
Towers visitors  

Cheadle  10 

Have lots of 
tourists visiting 
in summer for 
Alton Towers 
or the church  

Alton Towers  
Pugin’s Gem  

Hotels 
Improve car park signs  

Improve toilets  

Car parking 
charges  

Lack of signs  
Lack of funds  

  

Cheadle  10 

Tourism is 
important to 
build by day 

and night 
economy. 
Build the 

businesses 
back up 

Independent 
retailers 

Pugin’s Gem 
Alton Towers  

More car park signs  
More restaurants 

Cocktail bar  
Hotels 

Cash machines  
ATM's  

Lack of signs for 
parking, need to 

be clear  
Lack of hotels  

No seen or free 
cash machines  

Clean the town 
More seating 

required  

P
age 741



 

 

 Cheadle 10 

Tourists bring 
the revenues 

to town for 
local people 

and businesses  

Pugin’s Gem 
Alton Towers  

Hotels 
Cash machines 

Evening entertainment 
and eateries  

Expensive 
parking charges  

Lack of 
accommodation  

Spread the 
money to all 

towns, not just 
Leek  

 Cheadle 10 

Increase 
revenues, 

promotion of 
local 

businesses and 
growth  

Alton Towers  
Independent 

shops 
Leisure centre  

More renowned 
businesses/brands  

Hotels  

Lack of 
promotion  

More online 
promotion on 
Cheadle offers  

Encourage 
brands to be 

more modern 

Cheadle  8 
Increase 

employment  

South 
Moorlands 

Leisure Centre  
Alton Towers  

25m/50m swimming 
pool at Cheadle Leisure 
Centre, promote to do 
competitions here - give 

the town a boost 

Lack of places to 
visit  

More 
promotion 

towards Alton 
Towers visitors  

Creation of 
local businesses 
to bring growth  

Cheadle  2 

Not suitable 
take away 

town 
infrastructure  

Lack of car 
parks on High 

Street  
Lack of 

commendation 
Car parking 
hours too 
short - not 

long enough to 
go town for 

food 

Alton Towers  
Church 

Steam railways 
Fishing 
Nature 

reserves 
Staffordshire 
wildlife park 

Antique centre 
Independent 

shops  
Market  

Signage 
Good quality 
restaurants 

Social media promotion 
specifically focused on 

Cheadle 
More accommodations  
Growth/parking (free or 

revised hours) 
High Street furniture 

Lack of cash 
machines 
Signage 

Entrance to 
parking should 

be off High 
Street 
Traffic   

Market in wrong 
place 

Increase range 
of 

accommodation  
 green tourism 

should be 
promoted and 

training 
provided 

Less planning 
restrictions and 

improve 
timescales to 

unlock 
investment 
Have a town 

P
age 742



 

 

Centre co-
ordinator 

Improve public 
transport links 

Improve 
evening 
economy 

 Cheadle 9 

Isolated town 
Bring revenues 
to shops, pubs, 

businesses  

Alton Towers  
Pugin’s Gem  

Hotel - Alton Towers 
Trade  

Early closures on 
beer gardens  

Cost of parking  

Needs a 
McDonalds  

 Cheadle 9 

Have lots of 
passing trades 

from Alton 
Towers  

Alton Towers  
Master Potter  

The Ship  
Cheadle town 

and rangers 
games  

JCB events  

Restaurant - not 
takeaway or pub  

Promotion on 
accommodations  

More accommodations  
More entertainment  

Better public transport  

Space restrict 
projects  

Anti-social 
behaviour  

Early closures 
from pubs, 
restaurants  

Lack of 
accommodation/ 
or too far away  

Need Kingfisher 
bus service 

back  

 Cheadle 9 

Have lots of 
passing trades 

from Alton 
Towers  

Bring new 
people to 

town  

The reck  
Alton Towers  

JCB events  
Carnival  

More accommodations  
Fast food restaurant  

Lack of 
accommodation  

Lack of spaces 
for attractions  

Anti-social 
behaviour  

Bus service to 
other towns  

P
age 743



 

 

 Cheadle 10 

Have lots of 
attractions to 
show off that 

no one is 
aware off  

Alton Towers  
Churnet Valley 

railway  
Peak District  

Uttoxeter 
racecourse  

More accommodations  
More evening 

entertainment/activities  
Cocktail bar, live music  

More promotion on 
local attractions  

Lack of 
bars/cafes  

Lack of 
accommodation  

Planning 
department - 

need to make it 
easier for locals  

Better transport  
Bus service to 

main 
attractions  

Leaflets  
Signs to 

attractions  

Cheadle  10 

Lot to offer to 
visitors and 

bring revenues 
to local 

businesses  

Alton Towers  
Pugin’s gem  

Steam railways  
Hales Hall 
Caravan & 

Camping park  

More accommodation  
Free parking in town 

centre  
Promote local 

attractions  

    

 

 

 

PARISH 

 

Parish 
Council   

On a scale of 
1-10, how 

important is 
tourism to 

your 
town/village? 

(where 1 is 
not very 

important 
and 10 is 

extremely 

Why do 
you think 

that? 

What are the 
main visitor 

attractions in 
your 

town/village? 
List them in 

order of 
importance? 

What additional 
facilities, 

services or 
accommodation 
are needed in 

your 
town/village to 

attract more 
visitors (day 

and staying)? 

What issues 
prevent visitors 

coming, stop 
them having a 
good time in 

your 
town/village, 

or restrict new 
tourism 

projects? 

Do you have 
any 

additional 
comments 

or 
suggestions 
to improve 
the visitor 

offer in your 
town/village 

and across 

P
age 744



 

 

important Staffordshire 
Moorlands? 

Draycott-
in-the-
Moors  

4 
No shops  

Lack of 
restaurants  

2 restaurants  
Historic 
church 

Good public 
rights of way  
Church hall 
Cricket club  
Tennis club  

Café  
Public transport  
Transport link to 

other towns  

Traffic  
No green space 

(limited)  
No public 

toilets  

  

Brown 
Edge  

7 
Lack of 
shops  

Marshes hill  
Village 

traditional 
festivals  

Old miner 
tracks  
Wells  

Accommodation  
Bus service  

Church run 
down 

Lack of public 
transport  
No public 

toilets  

More brown 
tourism signs 
pointing to 
attractions  

Kingsley  4   

Kingsley 
Falconry 
Centre  

Kingsley 
Moor 

Shooting 
Ground 
Churnet 

valley railway  

More 
accommodation  

Make village 
halls active  

Churnet valley 
celebration with 

leek/Cheadle  

Lack of 
accommodation  

  

P
age 745



 

 

Boundary  7 
Offers air 
b&b and 

local pubs  

Foxfield 
railway  

Alton Towers  
Peak District  
National park  

Street signs  
Lack of road 

signs pointing 
to Red Lion pub  

Local bus 
service  

Boundary  10 

Rely on 
tourists to 
keep the 
business 

going  

Pub 
Public 

footpaths  
Rural location  
Alton towers  

More 
accommodation  
More signage to 
attract visitors 
to stop and go 

to Red Lion pub  

Lack of road 
signs pointing 

to Red Lion pub   

Improve 
footpaths, 

Better 
transport 

links,  
Planning 

department - 
make it easy 

for locals. 
Verges need 
to be mowed 

to be 
attractive  

Clear litter  
 

 

 

P
age 746



Tourism Strategy for Staffordshire Moorlands

2022-2027

Tourism Strategy for 
Staffordshire Moorlands

Photo by Simon Forster on Unsplash

P
age 747



Tourism Strategy for Staffordshire Moorlands

CONTENTS

1. STARTING POINT 3

2. VISION FOR TOURISM IN STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS 7

3. MARKET OVERVIEW 9

4. PRIORITIES FOR GROWTH 14

5. EVALUATING PROGRESS 22

2

P
age 748



Tourism Strategy for Staffordshire Moorlands

1. STARTING POINT

3Photo of Rudyard Lake by Blue Sail

P
age 749



Tourism Strategy for Staffordshire Moorlands

1. STARTING POINT

Staffordshire Moorlands has a 
delightful landscape with gentle 
countryside rising up to the Peaks, 
interspersed with market towns and 
villages, ancient river valleys, canals 
and reservoirs.

Located close to Stoke-on-Trent and with one third 
of the district in the Peak District National Park, 
Staffordshire Moorlands attracts around 5.6m 
visitors each year (1). (Although these numbers 
were estimated to have halved during 2020/21 
due to pandemic restrictions).

Tourism is a significant economic sector employing 
approximately 6000 people or around 18% of all 
jobs in Staffordshire Moorlands (2). Visitors spend 
almost £335m, with about 42% generated by 
staying visitors who account for almost 10% of all 
visits. Half of all spend is on shopping, and food 
and drink - facilities and services which benefit and 
are used by residents as well as visitors(3). 

Staffordshire Moorlands has strong natural and built 
attractions, with Alton Towers theme park perhaps 
the best known and most significant. Other 
attractions are well-distributed across the district.

The main towns (Leek, Biddulph and Cheadle) are 
not major drivers of visits, though each do service 
visitors. Of these Leek is the most rounded from a 
visitor perspective with a stronger retail, dining and 
accommodation offer. Many of the smaller villages 
and settlements are delightful with a number 
providing accommodation and services for visitors. 

The area is located close to major urban settlements 
and has good road connections outside the district 
which worsen the closer you get. Public transport 
links are weak. 

Day visitors are mainly local with 78% coming 
from Staffordshire, Derbyshire and Cheshire, 
while staying visitors travel from further afield 
(42% from the South East and North West).

Consultation with partners and stakeholders 
reinforced the post-pandemic fragility of 
businesses facing rising costs, uncertainty among 
visitor markets and recruitment challenges.   
Consultees were optimistic about prospects for 
the destination, with a view that a more 
supportive environment for investment and 
development as well as better market awareness 
could unlock growth. 

Consultees suggest opportunities lie in:
Generating more staying visitors/longer stays
Focussing on family groups and adult couples
Using canals and former railways to expand 
greater green infrastructure
Helping current experiences to develop and 
grow to create more impact
Providing more variety and choice in visitor 
accommodation
Elevating local food and drink experiences
Creating a stronger, more-rounded offer in 
the towns

4
1. STEAM 2019
2. Business Register & Employment Survey, ONS, 2019
3. STEAM 2019

P
age 750



Tourism Strategy for Staffordshire Moorlands

Policy Context

There are many strategies, plans and 
policies locally, regionally and 
nationally which directly or indirectly 
impact on tourism in Staffordshire 
Moorlands. 

The development of this Strategy has taken 
account of these and seeks to align approaches 
wherever possible. Sometimes this means 
influencing others to ensure the needs of the 
visitor are taken into account. In other cases it 
means picking up on priorities to achieve an 
integrated and coherent approach making best use 
of resources. 

The main strategies and plans include those 
produced:

Nationally by the Government and Visit 
Britain/VisitEngland
Regionally by SSLEP and Peak District National 
Park Authority
Locally by Staffordshire Moorlands District 
Council

A recently launched ‘Visitor Economy Action Plan 
2022-2025’ from Enjoy Staffordshire has been 
developed at the same time as this strategy but 
there is close alignment in the analysis and 
approaches between both documents.

The key reference points for this Strategy from these 
various plans, many of which are due for updating, 
are shown in the box here. 

Greater collaboration across destination 
organisations and political boundaries
Focus on sustainability and Net Zero carbon 
emissions is increasing and there is a need to 
ensure sustainable economic growth
Post-pandemic drive for economic recovery, 
growth and jobs are imperatives for the 
region – hence the focus on increasing 
overnight stays and spend
Planning policies which are supportive of 
appropriate tourism development included in 
specific masterplans e.g. Churnet Valley
Need to attract more staying visitors who 
spend more
Desire for stronger and more sustainable 
rural communities
Improved network of walking and cycling 
(green) infrastructure
Additional high quality visitor accommodation
Improved town centres as hubs and gateways 
for visitors
Better public transport and accessibility which 
is more sustainable
Consider business tourism offer as well as 
leisure

5Photo by Andrea Davis on Unsplash

P
age 751



Tourism Strategy for Staffordshire Moorlands

Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities & Threats

From the research, consultation and 
analysis done for this Strategy there 
are, naturally, areas of strength and 
opportunity to capitalise on. And 
areas of weakness and threat to try to 
address. 

In summary the strengths of Staffordshire 
Moorlands lie in the combination of successful 
visitor attractions and a landscape for being active 
in. Opportunities are about exploiting the growth 
plans of existing assets and making more of the 
area including the food and drink offer. 

On the downside it’s constrained by a lack of 
destination awareness, poor public transport (into 
and around) a lack of investment in 
accommodation and towns which underperform.
The complexity of different layers of tourism 
support (county, destination management 
organisations (DMO), district, towns) requires 
more joining up and better engagement with 
businesses.

6

Lack of destination awareness and 
weak destination identity (not a well 
known tourism brand)
Capacity and capability impeding 
progress of previous plans
Lack of coherence among public sector 
partners
Lack of accommodation investment
Day visitors dominate (low av. spend)
Towns require further development 
for visitors to dwell
Public transport – hard to get to and 
get around

Pace of change – getting left behind 
and competition
Cost of living and impact on businesses 
and visitors
Losing market focus  - something for 
everyone

Significance of tourism 5.6m visits 
and £335m spend
Attack brands – Alton Towers and 
Peak District
Landscape and gentle activity 
(cycling & walking)
Clean and well-managed 
environment
Supportive policy environment
Area appeals to important segments 
(Family Fun/ Countrysiders). Lots of 
these visitor segments nearby

More staying visitors and short 
breaks, year round creating jobs
Active/outdoor experiences and a 
network of trails for target markets
Development of experiences, 
accommodation, events and towns
Sustainable principles embedded
Leverage DMO marketing activity
District as ’enabler’ not ‘deliverer’
Sector engagement (insights, data, 
training, business support)

P
age 752



Tourism Strategy for Staffordshire Moorlands

2. VISION FOR TOURISM IN STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS

7Photo of Froghall Wharf by Blue Sail

P
age 753



Tourism Strategy for Staffordshire Moorlands

Over the next five years Staffordshire 
Moorlands will become a stronger 
destination, unlocking its potential  
with an improved offer and a better 
reputation that results in more value 
from visitors.

Staffordshire Moorlands is fortunate to have a 
wealth of attractions and experiences with Alton 
Towers being nationally significant. Further 
investment in attractions and accommodation will 
help Staffordshire Moorlands to become a year 
round destination attracting higher value visitors 
that create quality jobs.

Green and active experiences in an outstanding 
landscape are evident. Adding to these, expanding 
their appeal and joining them up as an integrated 
network will grow the destination’s reputation and 
give visitors a reason to stay longer. The towns will 
become stronger, coherent visitor hubs providing 
essential services and a reason to dwell.

The destination is not well known so it 
must lever the work of Destination 
Staffordshire, and Marketing Peak 
District and Derbyshire and their 
respective destination brands to cut 
through to visitors. 

This Strategy requires closer working 
among all the public sector 
organisations and tourism businesses. 
Ultimately it is the ability of businesses 
to deliver an outstanding product and 
service that will determine the 
destination’s success. How the public 
sector helps businesses do that will 
require practical and policy support 
and a ‘One-Staffordshire Moorlands’ 
commitment from everyone.

Given how important the natural 
environment is to this destination, it is 
of paramount importance that tourism 
develops sustainably.

Sustainable 
Tourism 
Growth

Vibrant and 
animated 
towns & 
villages

Investment in 
attractions and 
accommodation

Network of 
outdoor 

experiences

Improved 
destination 
awareness

Strong 
network of 

business and 
public sector

2. VISION FOR TOURISM IN STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS

8

P
age 754



Tourism Strategy for Staffordshire Moorlands

3. MARKET OVERVIEW

9Photo by Mark Timberlake on Unsplash

P
age 755



Tourism Strategy for Staffordshire Moorlands

Our Visitors

Visitor markets have been far from 
typical in the past two years but 
Staffordshire Moorlands has a well-
defined audience.

The most recent data tells us that day visitors 
dominate accounting for about 90% of the 5.6m 
visits but just 58% of the £335m spend. Staying 
visitors however account for 42% of the total 
spend despite just being 10% of visits. This 
highlights the importance of overnight visits and 
extending the duration of visits.

The growth over the period 2014-2019 in visits 
shows there has been similar growth rates for day 
(10%) and staying (8%).

Alton Towers is an important driver of 
Staffordshire Moorlands tourism economy 
accounting for a third of all visits and economic 
impact. Visiting an attraction is the primary reason 
for 48% of visitors to Staffordshire Moorlands 
followed by walk/hike at 23%.

Families and adult couples are the most prevalent 
visitor groups in Staffordshire Moorlands accounting 
for 51% and 31% of all visits. This is reflected in two 
of the main market segments targeted by 
Destination Staffordshire. Data suggests that visitors 
to Staffordshire Moorlands are more affluent than 
the rest of Staffordshire with 43% from the ‘AB’ 
socio-demographic groups compared to 36% for 
Staffordshire. All of this points to a clear market 
focus on Families and ‘Country Loving’ Empty 
Nesters.

Average spend by staying visitors to Staffordshire 
Moorlands is however lower than the England 
average with spend/trip at £144 (compared to £195 
for England) although this is in part due to lower

than average length of stay (2.12 nights v 2.98 
for England) as spend/night is in fact higher than 
the England average £68.05 v £65.32).

Day trips which are the largest volume of visits 
have a very low average spend (£13.91) 
compared to the England average of £37.09.

10Photo credit Peak District National Park Authority

P
age 756



Tourism Strategy for Staffordshire Moorlands

Market Trends

There is uncertainty in the travel 
market, but discernible trends and 
related opportunities are emerging.

Five macro trends likely to influence travel 
patterns in the longer term have been identified 
along with their implications for Staffordshire 
Moorlands as a destination.

With a core proposition around family attractions, 
the outdoors and activities, Staffordshire 
Moorlands is well placed to respond to these 
trends. 

11

TREND IMPLICATIONS FOR TOURISM IN 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS

Trend 1: The Pursuit of Real

Investing in experiences over material possessions looks set 
to be re-ignited post-pandemic. 

People want to get ‘under the skin’ of a destination and 
feeling almost as if they are living as a ‘local’. Many are 
looking for time away from home and for destinations that 
offer a distinctive contrast.

The line between being at work and not is increasingly 
blurred with many working while on holiday. ‘Respite’ by 
being immersed in a destination during down-time 
becomes even more important. 

Emphasise unique assets (e.g. landscape, 
architecture, events, local food and drink)
Quality of accommodation needs to be as good, if 
not better than home
High speed broadband and workspaces important in 
accommodation
Towns and villages may be more vibrant because of 
working from home – an opportunity to attract 
visitors from nearby cities to experience the quality 
of life in Staffordshire Moorlands

Trend 2: Fresh Adventures

Increased appeal of the outdoors was evident during the 
pandemic and looks set to continue.

Walking, stargazing, off-road cycling, nature photography 
were just some of the outdoor pursuits the pandemic 
encouraged. 

Visitors are becoming more aware of the physical and 
mental wellbeing benefits of being outdoors, especially if the 
backdrop is a pleasing landscape. 

Staffordshire Moorlands has fantastic natural 
landscapes for both ‘doing’ and simply ‘being’ 
Camping and motorhome trips have grown in 
popularity but can burden local 
communities/infrastructure unless well managed
Strategies to disperse visitors across towns and 
villages will prove advantageous; some outdoor 
honeypot destinations have suffered from over-
crowding in the past two summers

P
age 757



Tourism Strategy for Staffordshire Moorlands

12

TREND IMPLICATIONS FOR TOURISM IN 
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS

TREND IMPLICATIONS FOR TOURISM IN
STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS

Trend 3: Going Digital Trend 5: Journey to Net Zero

An accelerated use of digital during the 
pandemic; changes from video conferencing to 
booking flexibly are likely to persist and evolve.  
This reduces the need for human interaction.

While technology may assist those with a 
disability, it can be a barrier for people who do 
not feel digitally ‘savvy’. 

‘Effective use’  – driven by benefits, rather than 
features – will be the measure success. 

Online planning and booking will bring 
continued advantages, enabling visitors 
to discover more about a destination 
and build an itinerary
Help/advice for businesses to  collect 
visitor data appropriately from digital 
channels to gain audience insights
Fast, reliable internet connectivity is 
expected.  Locations/businesses not 
able to offer this may struggle to 
compete

The UK Government has set targets to achieve 
Net Zero carbon emissions by 2050. 

Tourism is a contributor to human-made climate 
change (carbon impact of transportation) and 
will need to reduce its impacts.

Despite widespread acceptance, this is yet to 
translate into sustained and consistent changes 
in business practice or consumer choices.

Nationally, new strategies, policies, funding 
and practices are being developed to guide 
and support a coherent approach
Responses will be required by the destination 
(target markets, transport infrastructure), 
businesses (waste and energy reduction) and 
visitors (car-free travel, ‘responsible’ choices 
such as locally-produced food & drink)

Trend 4: All about Value

Whether in economically good or bad times, 
value for money is crucial in destination choice. 
With inflation at a high, disposable income is 
being squeezed and the cost of travel is set to 
increase. 

Those who saw their savings grow during 
lockdowns may have money to spend but be 
more sensitive to increased living expenses. 

Price matters, but value matters even 
more.  Quality of service and 
distinctiveness of experience at all price 
points is crucial
Increased volume of visitors may not 
result in increased spend
Tight labour market and inflation will 
put upward pressure on wage costs

Photo of Staffordshire Moorlands as it appears on http://enjoystaffordshire.com

P
age 758



Tourism Strategy for Staffordshire Moorlands

Lessons from Elsewhere

There is no need to start from 
scratch, there are lots of insights and 
tools from elsewhere that can 
quickly and easily be adopted to 
progress actions.

Six areas of particular focus formed the basis of 
the best practice examples which inform this 
Strategy.

Active outdoors culture
Strategic events
Town centre development
Transport and cycling infrastructure
Alternative accommodation
Sustainable destination development

Detailed case studies on each of these from multi-
disciplinary active outdoor events in the south of 
Scotland to sustainable town centre development 
in Frome, Somerset, to a green tourism toolkit for 
Thanet businesses, were undertaken and are 
available separately. 

A summary of some general principles around the 
approach are shown here.

13

Take opportunities to work in partnerships with and through other organisations and across 
political boundaries to support tourism 
A clear policy environment guides actions. Time thinking about what is important from a tourism 
perspective helps influence and inform priorities and actions across all policy agendas – from 
transport to events
Successful interventions bring positive value to local businesses and communities, as well as 
visitors, and should always be integral to the decision-making and implementation process
Use interventions to connect-up the offer across towns and villages: make it easier for visitors to 
experience more of the destination and stay for longer
Engage businesses in the planning and development of actions so they help to inform/develop what 
you want to achieve
Events – particularly those that centre around outdoors and activities – are powerful destination 
animators and attract new visitors and lengthen stays, integrating local culture, food and drink 
wherever possible
Alternative accommodation – glamping, yurts, ecopods – tell a new a story about a destination and 
help to attract new audiences while developing budget accommodation addresses value for money

P
age 759



Tourism Strategy for Staffordshire Moorlands

4. PRIORITIES FOR GROWTH

14Photo of Ilam Moor by Blue Sail

P
age 760



Tourism Strategy for Staffordshire Moorlands

4. PRIORITIES FOR GROWTH

Focussing on a small number of 
priorities is much more likely to lead 
to positive outcomes. Four areas of 
opportunity will provide that focus for 
Staffordshire Moorlands. 

These four areas are based on the strengths of 
Staffordshire Moorland’s tourism offer and the 
analysis of market prospects. They are not 
everything that can or will happen, rather they 
provide a focus for investment and development 
to unlock growth.

The four areas of opportunity are:
1. Alton Towers – unlocking investment to create 

a year round driver of visits
2. Towns & Villages – animated hubs with 

distinct food & drink to increase dwell times
3. Active Experiences – developing cycling and 

walking routes, trails and events  
4. Accommodation – expand, improve and 

encourage investment

The following pages provides more detail on each of 
these four areas of opportunity, outlining the 
strategic interventions and how they can support the 
vision in this Strategy.

It is fully recognised that no one organisation can 
deliver this Strategy. Tourism is indeed the 
business and concern of many. So, following the 
detail on the four areas of opportunity, the 
approach which will be taken to working in 
partnership is set out.

15Photo of Ilam Park by Blue Sail

P
age 761



Tourism Strategy for Staffordshire Moorlands

Action Area 1: Alton Towers

16

Aim – support aspirations to develop Alton Towers as a 365 day a year resort unlocking major private sector 

investment and generating hundreds of new jobs and benefits for the local community

Approach – work with Alton Towers on a 10 year masterplan which has the backing and support of the District Council

and local communities to broaden the offer and market appeal including an expanded entertainment, accommodation 

and conferencing offer

Actions:

Jointly commission and support development of a 10 year masterplan that plots the major investment projects 

which have clear market appeal and help spread the benefits of the site across the year, which align to planning 

policy and accelerate delivery of potential projects

Work on solutions to current and potential challenges including employee housing, public transport and active 

travel links with a shared commitment from public and private sector partners

Create a stronger link back to Staffordshire Moorlands and Cheadle in particular, finding ways to magnify the 

benefits from visitors to Alton Towers by getting visitors to stay in local accommodation and make use of local 

shops, pubs and restaurants. Develop joint marketing materials and improved signage to support this.

Get visitors to stay longer in the area by developing itineraries that combine Alton Towers with other experiences 

especially ‘Activities’ and ‘Attractions’, moving from a day visit to an overnight, or a 1 night to a 2 night visit

Photo by jonny Gios on Unsplash

P
age 762



Tourism Strategy for Staffordshire Moorlands

Action Area 2: Towns & Villages

17

Aim – Ensure Cheadle, Biddulph and Leek strengthen their role as visitor hubs delivering animated places with a warm 

welcome, rounded visitor services with benefits for local businesses and communities

Approach – produce bespoke plans for each town which show how each place will support the delivery of the Staffordshire 

Moorlands Tourism Strategy and meet the needs of visitors

Actions:

Develop and produce a visitor plan for each town focussing on ‘Visitor Welcome, Visitor Management and Product 

Development’

Deliver ‘brilliant basics’ (parking, toilets, baby-changing facilities, waste, welcome, information)

Develop events and activity that are coordinated between the towns to animate them year round and lengthen stays. 

Input to the emerging Arts & Culture Strategy (for development in 2023)

Develop active travel links from the towns to main attractions/experiences and which expand the walking and cycling 

infrastructure

Encourage accommodation development – small scale, quality, catered & self-catered that keeps visitors in the local area

Secure funding to support public realm improvement and improve the look and feel of towns including support for 

lighting and street dressing

Support independent businesses including retail, food & drink and accommodation to provide a distinctive and authentic 

experience for visitors

Photo of Buttermarket by Blue Sail

P
age 763



Tourism Strategy for Staffordshire Moorlands

Action Area 3: Cycling & Walking

18

Aim – develop and expand cycling and walking experiences across Staffordshire Moorlands to encourage visitors to stay 

longer, spend more and dig deeper into what the area has to offer and which establishes a reputation as a place to get 

active in the great outdoors

Approach – improved packaging and presentation of existing routes to create itineraries, and development of new and 

improved routes that bridge gaps and connect the offer together into a coherent experience

Actions: 

Work across District, Parish and County Council along with communities to review, develop and expand the routes 

and trails from hub towns & villages for walkers and cyclists

Improve connections, wayfinding and orientation between the existing trails, greenways and attractions

Promote trail concepts/brands to improve recognition e.g. Churnet Valley Trail, Manifold Valley Trail etc 

Expand the active offer at existing sites e.g. a new cycle trail at Tittesworth Reservoir in collaboration with Severn 

Trent

Support development of events which promote use of these trails and networks including cycling and running 

events, family events and which benefit the physical and mental wellbeing of visitors and local communities 

Encourage support services and infrastructure in gateway & hubs, such as accommodation welcoming walkers & 

cyclists, cycle hire & servicing, tour operators etc 

Photo by Mark Stosber on Unsplash

P
age 764



Tourism Strategy for Staffordshire Moorlands

Action Area 4: Accommodation

19

Aim – expand, improve and encourage the development of accommodation to attract visitors to stay overnight and 

keep their spending in the local area rather than losing it to neighbouring regions

Approach – unlock private sector investment with a clear policy environment that encourages suitable 

accommodation development and improvement in Staffordshire Moorlands

Actions:

Encourage accommodation development in the towns/villages, at existing sites (where services are already in place 

e.g. Alton Towers, Rudyard Hotel) and to support rural/farm diversification

Ensure planning within the Council is supportive and enabling with access to pre-app advice and clear policies that 

encourage economic growth

Improve the quality and facilities of existing accommodation including adding to the leisure offer at camping sites 

and expand the provision of alternative or glamping accommodation

Undertake a hotel and accommodation study to determine future supply needs which can inform planning policy

Photo of Hotel Rudyard by Blue Sail and glamping hut by  Annie Spratt on Unsplash

P
age 765



Tourism Strategy for Staffordshire Moorlands

Action Area 5: Underpinning 

20

Aim – ensure the right kind of support is in place to deliver the Strategy and grow tourism sustainably

Approach – work in partnership with other organisations to influence, ensure alignment, efficiency and effective delivery of the Strategy and support for the 

tourism sector. Use these partnerships to ensure the quality of the visitor offer is improved and standards are maintained

Actions:

Marketing - ensure marketing is delivered primarily via Destination Staffordshire and Marketing Peak District & Derbyshire and that the focus is in 

ensuring they have rich content about Staffordshire Moorlands to feature in their activity e.g. itineraries, events, attractions, news stories and images

Partnership – establish a high level Tourism Partnership Forum involving Staffordshire Moorlands District Council, Staffordshire County Council, 

Destination Staffordshire, Marketing Peak District & Derbyshire, Peak District National Park Authority – to meet quarterly to plan, coordinate, align 

strategy and activity, address problems common to the wider region e.g. public transport, skills and workforce development

Partnership - work with Destination Staffordshire and Marketing Peak District & Derbyshire to convene an Annual Tourism Event bringing together 

businesses and providers across Staffordshire Moorlands to update, inform and listen as well as providing opportunities for networking and collaboration; 

involve different departments of the Council as appropriate e.g. Planning

Sustainability - support businesses in reducing carbon emissions through waste and energy management and retrofitting; ensure new builds meet highest 

standards of environmental impact; expand EV charging points.  Conserve and protect the special sites and natural landscapes of Staffordshire Moorlands

Advocacy – ensure the voice for tourism is represented across all Council policies and strategies, and with other regional partner organisations such as the 

Local Enterprise Partnership and the County Council

P
age 766



Tourism Strategy for Staffordshire Moorlands

Tourism Partnership Forum

It is worth saying a little more about 
the proposed new Tourism 
Partnership Forum. 

The aim of the Tourism Partnership Forum is to 
ensure that the key organisations involved in 
Staffordshire Moorland’s visitor economy work 
together.  It will aim to align priorities, programmes 
and activities, identify and take opportunities to 
enhance and build on what each organisation is 
doing, work to avoid duplication, and potentially 
establish new collaborations or projects which cut 
across geographical or organisational boundaries. 

Areas of focus could include:

Marketing
Visitor management – including transport, 
dispersal, pressure points etc
New capital or infrastructure developments
Business support and engagement
New funding streams, bids and opportunities for 
larger scale initiatives and projects

As well as being desirable in its own right, the 
proposed Forum reflects the direction of tourism and 
destination support and development at a national 
level. A new national approach arising from the de 
Bois review is being implemented by Visit England via 
early pilots – and could form the basis of future 
policy and funding support.

Forum meetings should aim to be short – quarterly in 
the first instance, potentially moving to half-yearly. 
They should be attended by senior officers. How 
these are convened should be decided by the group 
– one possibility is for each organisation to take the 
lead for one year i.e. 2/4 meetings.

Initial meetings should focus on the sharing of plans 
and identification of opportunities for collaboration 
based around the tourism strategies produced for 
Staffordshire Moorlands and High Peak during 2022.

21

P
age 767



Tourism Strategy for Staffordshire Moorlands

5. EVALUATING PROGRESS

22Photo by Rob Bates on Unsplash

P
age 768



Tourism Strategy for Staffordshire Moorlands

Progress in the Action Areas

Monitoring and evaluating progress of this 
Strategy falls into two types. The first is on 
outputs i.e. the achievements within each of the 
Action Areas of this Strategy. These can be 
quantitative or qualitative and are shown in the 
table here.

The second type of evaluation looks at 
outcomes and is more concerned with the 
bigger picture and overall impact of the 
Strategy. These measures are shown on the 
next page.

23

ACTION AREA OUTPUTS

Alton Towers 1. 10 year masterplan prepared
2. Improved spread of visitors across the year
3. Proportion of visitors extending stay in Staffordshire 

Moorlands and enjoying experiences other than Alton Towers
4. Solutions identified and implemented to improve public 

transport and access and employee housing

Towns & Villages 1. Town tourism plans for Cheadle, Biddulph and Leek
2. Quality of essential visitor services improves
3. Increased volume of visitor accommodation
4. Expanded events program to animate the towns

Cycling & Walking 1. New and improved routes linking towns/gateways
2. Increased on and off road cycle routes available for visitors
3. Support infrastructure improved
4. New events

Accommodation 1. Increased range, diversity and types of accommodation
2. Hotel supply study completed
3. Improved access to pre-application advice 

Underpinning 1. Tourism Partnership Forum established and working well
2. Annual Tourism Event established and working well
3. Businesses supported in reducing carbon emissions

Photo of Rudyard Hotel Grounds by Blue Sail

P
age 769



Tourism Strategy for Staffordshire Moorlands

Overall Progress on Outcomes

It makes sense to have a few key indicators 
which are relatively easy to collect data on. 
Indicators which are relevant to the overall 
vision for the Strategy. 

Five key performance indicators are shown in 
the table here, along with how they will be 
measured and why they are worth measuring.

Baselines for each should be established in 
spring 2023. 

24

WHAT HOW WHY

Sector Growth
(% annual increase in 
visitor spend)

Economic 
Impact Study 
e.g. STEAM, 
Cambridge

Once the national surveys recommence a target annual 
growth rate will be set to monitor progress and 
benchmark against other areas.

Proportion of visits 
that are ‘staying’ 
visits (overnight)

Visitor survey Staying visits currently account for 10% of visits and 
40% of spend. Growing staying visits will have a larger 
overall benefit to local communities.

Average length of 
stay and spend per 
visit (holiday visits)

Visitor survey Longer stays and spend during a visit will contribute 
economic impact, business profitability and sustaining 
jobs.

Business Growth
(% annual increase in 
turnover)

Local business 
survey

Monitors how businesses are doing overall as well as 
gathering intelligence on investment plans, challenges 
etc to inform policy.

Visitor Satisfaction 
(from a visit)

Sentiment 
research

Measures and tracks actual experience of visitors 
measuring satisfaction, likelihood of repeat visits and 
recommendations.

Photo of Tittesworth Reservoir Visitor Centre by Blue Sail

P
age 770



Tourism Strategy for Staffordshire Moorlands

Consultation & Engagement

Sincere thanks to those who took 
time to input information, thoughts 
and comments which informed the 
development of this strategy.

Individual conversations took place with the 
people listed here. In addition a cross-section of 
businesses and town representatives took part in 
an online survey and participated in three ‘town 
hall’ meetings.

Cllr Keith Flunder, SMDC
Clare Brookes, SMDC
Matt Swindlehurst, Leek Town Council
Sarah Haydon, Biddulph Town Council
Dave Mullington, Cheadle Town Council
Charlotte Cain, Destination Staffordshire
Richard Swancott, Destination Staffordshire
Jo Dilley, Marketing Peak District & Derbyshire
Frances Jackson, Alton Towers
Catherine Webster, Secret Cloud House Holidays
James Lepke, Rudyard Lake Hotel
Helen Wilshaw, Biddulph Grange Gardens
Davis Smith, SMDC
Joanna Bagnall, SMDC
Josie Muncaster and Jo Clough, Severn Trent
Julia Arnold, Caldon & Uttoxeter Canal
Ray Perry, Rudyard Lake
Thom Bateman, Flintlock at Cheddleton
Joss Winter, Sustrans
Sarah Wilks, Peak District National Park Authority

25

P
age 771



Tourism Strategy for Staffordshire Moorlands

This strategy has been produced by Blue Sail for Staffordshire Moorlands District Council.

P
age 772



Tourism Strategy for Staffordshire Moorlands

APPENDIX

1 Photo of Cheadle, Leek and Biddulph by Blue Sail

P
age 773



Tourism Strategy for Staffordshire Moorlands

Town Plans

One of the key areas of action 
in the Staffordshire Moorlands 
Tourism Strategy are the 
Towns and Villages.

The Strategy advocates development of 
bespoke plans for each of the three main 
towns of Leek, Biddulph and Cheadle 
which will show how each town can 
support the delivery of the Tourism 
Strategy, meet visitors needs and benefit 
local communities.

While each of these plans should be 
developed by the local community, we 
have received a lot of input, thoughts and 
suggestions from community 
representatives and businesses as part of 
this work and there are some emerging 
areas of focus which are shown here.

2

TOWN HIGH LEVEL OBJECTIVES

Cheadle

As gateway to the Churnet Valley, the 
home of Pugin’s Gem and the closest 
town to Alton Towers, Cheadle has clear 
opportunities. However it is often 
overlooked and passed through on the 
way to somewhere else and the plan 
needs to find a way to keep visitors in 
the town for longer.

Support accommodation development. Especially family accommodation, serviced and non-
serviced.
Establish coach parking in a central location to accommodate groups and tie in with the 
experiences such as St Giles Church.
Strengthen links to walks and cycle trails and improve the sustainable tourism offer.
Develop the evening economy, making use of vacant premises and improve animation of the 
town across the day and into the evening.
Stay focussed on essential facilities such as signage, toilets, parking,  street cleaning.

Biddulph

Biddulph has excellent attractions 
outside the town centre and is between 
Stoke-on-Trent to the south and 
Cheshire to the north.  The towns 
dynamism is exemplified by the events 
that it delivers. 

Develop accommodation including campervan and camping sites and functional 
serviced/budget accommodation.
Improve signage and links to greenways and active travel opportunities and where possible 
use these to improve sustainable travel choices to nearby attractions.
Build the towns events programme to strengthen animation.  Also, enhance promotion of the 
town through distribution of literature and other advertising.
Improve the food and drink offer to encourage visitors to spend time and money into the 
evening.

Leek

A town with many heritage buildings 
and a gateway to the Peak District, Leek 
has a strong offer for visitors with food, 
drink, accommodation, entertainment 
and is close to major natural and built 
attractions. 

Improve active travel links to the nearby countryside for both cyclists and walkers.
Build a stronger reputation for ‘local’ food and drink through markets and cafes and 
restaurants.
Help visitors move around the town easily with great signage and strengthen links from the 
town centre to the canal and proposed railway.
Strengthen animation across the day and into the evening with improved markets, events and 
food and drink.
Grow the accommodation base to serve visitors to Staffordshire Moorlands.

P
age 774



Tourism Strategy for Staffordshire Moorlands

Alton Towers

Alton Towers is a major driver 
for visits to Staffordshire 
Moorlands.

The Strategy proposes close working with 
Alton Towers to establish it as a stronger 
365 day a year resort and to ensure that it 
brings clear benefits to the surrounding 
community and destination.

Linking up experiences outside the resort 
pay barrier will be a major test of the 
success of the approach.

3

ACTIONS HIGH LEVEL OBJECTIVES

Masterplan

A shared 10 year masterplan that 
accelerates the development of projects 
and investment which can help achieve 
the objectives of creating a 365 day a 
year resort.

TO BE CONFIRMED
TO BE CONFIRMED

Management

Finding solutions to the challenges such 
as active travel links, employee housing, 
water supply and public transport.

TO BE CONFIRMED
TO BE CONFIRMED

Joined-up offer

Widening the offer to include links to 
surrounding experiences and 
accommodation.

TO BE CONFIRMED
TO BE CONFIRMED

P
age 775



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 777

Agenda Item 15.1
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the previous meeting (previously circulated)
	8.1 Forward Plan
	8.2 Developer Contributions Supplementary Planning Document (SPD)
	Appendix 1
	Contents
	1. Introduction
	2. Legislation and Policy
	National Planning Policy
	Local Planning Policy
	Sustainability Appraisal

	3. Council Approach to Developer Contributions
	Pre-application stage
	Planning Applications
	Triggers / Payment of Contributions
	Indexation
	Prioritisation of Contributions
	Viability
	Monitoring

	4. Planning obligations guidance
	Affordable Housing
	First Homes
	Calculating Commuted Sums
	Space Standards for Affordable Housing
	Registered Providers
	Vacant Building Credit
	Rural Exceptions Sites
	Open Space, Sport and Recreation
	Open Space
	Outdoor Sports and Playing Pitches
	Built Facilities
	Informal Recreation
	Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure
	Retail and Town Centres
	Health
	Training and Employment
	Transport Infrastructure
	Education
	Air Quality
	Climate Change
	Carbon Offsetting
	Other Greenhouse Gas Emissions
	Walking, Cycling and Public Transport Infrastructure
	Electric Vehicle Charging
	Decentralised, Low Carbon and Renewable Energy Networks
	Flood Protection
	Water Quality & Efficiency
	Sustainable Design and Construction
	Heritage


	Appendix 2
	1 Introduction
	2 Legislative Background
	3 Developer Contributions SPD
	4 Assessment
	5 Conclusions

	Appendix 3

	8.3 Checkley Neighbourhood Development Plan - Regulation 15 Submission
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 1a
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3

	9.1 Climate Change Six Monthly Update
	Appendix A
	Appendix B

	10.1 Empty Property Strategy Update
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C

	11.1 EV Charge Strategy
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2

	12.1 Revised Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme
	12.2 Council Tax Support Fund 2023-24
	12.3 Third Quarter Financial, Procurement and Performance Review 2022/23
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C

	12.4 2023/24 Budget & Medium Term Financial Plan 2023/24 to 2026/27
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C
	Appendix D

	13.1 Tourism Strategy
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	1. TOURISM PERFORMANCE
	KEY FINDINGS
	 For staying visits, average spend per night in both High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands is slightly higher than the England average.  Average length of stay in High Peak is similar to the England average but in Staffordshire Moorlands it is shorte...
	 Data from ONS’s Business Register and Employment Survey (BRES) shows that tourism industry employment accounts for 13% of all industry employment in High Peak, 18% in Staffordshire Moorlands.  This is compared to the England average of 11%.
	Covid Impact
	tourism volume & value 2019
	seasonality
	average spend and length of stay: comparison with other destinations
	For tourism day trips, average spend per trip in both High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands is well below spend in other destinations and less than half the England average.  Rural destinations do typically attract lower levels of day visit spend comp...
	Source: GB Day Visits Survey, Visit Britain
	tourism relative to other sectors
	Whilst STEAM and national tourism surveys are designed specifically to analyse demand and spending by tourists, a look at national employment data is helpful in providing an indication of tourism’s importance relative to other industries.  ONS’s Busin...
	Sources: STEAM 2019; www.citypopulation.de
	tourism SIC CODES

	2. PRODUCT AUDIT
	KEY FINDINGS
	 High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands each have approximately 8,000 accommodation bedspaces, around a quarter of which are in serviced accommodation. Most serviced establishments are small, with 10 or fewer rooms.  The two large hotels (50 rooms) i...
	 In 2019 there were 146 self-catering establishments (cottages, houses, apartments) in High Peak, 205 in Staffordshire Moorlands (down to 165 in 2020). High Peak has 40 camping/caravan sites and 13 youth hostels; Staffordshire Moorlands has 37 campin...
	 High Peak and Staffordshire Moorlands each have around 400 private home rentals available through Airbnb, 60% on a full-time basis.
	 Findings from the 2019 Staffordshire Hotel & Visitor Accommodation Strategy (Hotel Solutions) suggest that there is strong demand in Staffordshire for boutique, luxury and 4-star B&Bs; a good market for high quality inns and pub accommodation; a cle...
	 For the conference market, Buxton has the striking Devonshire Dome and Pavilion Gardens offering capacities of 1,500/1,000 delegates. The Palace Hotel and The Buxton Crescent Health Spa Hotel can cater for 500 and 186 delegates respectively.  In Sta...
	signature experiences
	visitor Accommodation: bedspace supply
	serviced Accommodation
	non-serviced Accommodation
	conference venues
	High peak fam destination audit may 2022
	Other Observations
	STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLAND DESTINATION AUDIT may 2022
	Other Observations

	3. STRATEGY & POLICY REVIEW
	key FINDINGS
	national strategies/plans
	REGIONAL strategies/plans
	LOCAL strategies/plans
	Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan. Adopted Sept 2020.
	Staffordshire Moorlands Local Plan. Green Infrastructure Strategy 2018.
	Churnet Valley Masterplan. Supplementary Planning Document 2014
	Staffordshire Moorlands Sustainable Community Strategy 2007-2020
	Staffordshire Moorlands Corporate Plan 2019-2023


	4. market REVIEW
	EXISTING MARKETS
	EXISTING MARKETING/EXTERNAL PERCEPTIONS
	market trends
	MAcro Trends

	5. BEst practice
	key findings
	AN ACTIVE OUTDOORS CULTURE
	STRATEGIC EVENTS DEVELOPMENT
	TRANSPORT & CYCLING INFRASTRUCTURE
	TOWN CENTRE DEVELOPMENT
	SUSTAINABLE DESTINATION DEVELOPMENT
	THE RISE OF ‘ALTERNATIVE’ AND HOME-SHARING ACCOMMODATION


	6. CONSULTATION & ENGAGEMENT
	STAFFORDSHIRE MOORLANDS
	High peak

	7. Business surveys (Staffordshire moorlands & high peak)
	Staffordshire Moorlands Key findings
	Introduction
	Aspects of Staffordshire Moorlands as a visitor destination
	Aspects that should stand out more to attract visitors in the future
	Type of visitor that Staffordshire moorlands should aim to attract
	Visitor behaviours
	About the tourism sector in Staffordshire Moorlands
	Supporting future growth of tourism in Staffordshire Moorlands
	Business support
	Additional comments

	High Peak Key Findings
	Introduction
	Aspects of high peak as a visitor destination
	Aspects that should stand out more to attract visitors in the future
	Type of visitor that high peak should aim to attract
	Visitor behaviours
	About the tourism sector in high peak
	Supporting future growth of tourism in high peak
	Business support
	Additional comments



	Appendix C
	Appendix D
	Appendix E

	15.1 Leisure Facilities Improvement Plan and Operating Model Proposals

